
 
 
 

Cabinet 
 
 

Date Wednesday 15 January 2020 

Time 10.00 am 

Venue Committee Room 2, County Hall, Durham 

 

Business 
 

Part A 
 

Items during which the press and public are welcome to attend - 
members of the public can ask questions with the Chairman's 

agreement 
 
1. Public Questions   

2. Minutes of the meeting held on 11 December 2019  (Pages 5 - 6) 

3. Declarations of interest   

Key Decisions: 
 
4. Selective Licensing Scheme - Report of Corporate Director of 

Regeneration and Local Services [Key Decision: REAL/05/19]  
(Pages 7 - 114) 

5. Leisure Transformation - Report of Corporate Director of 
Regeneration and Local Services [Key Decision: REAL/11/19]  
(Pages 115 - 510) 

6. Roads and Street Works Permit Scheme - Report of Corporate 
Director of Regeneration and Local Services [Key Decision: 
REAL/10/19]  (Pages 511 - 554) 

Ordinary Decisions: 
 
7. High Needs Block Funding for SEND and Inclusion Support - 

Joint Report of Corporate Director of Children and Young 
People's Services and Corporate Director of Resources  (Pages 
555 - 736) 

8. Council Activity Report - Report of Chief Executive  (Pages 737 - 
754) 

9. Local Lettings Agency - Report of Corporate Director of 
Regeneration and Local Services  (Pages 755 - 772) 



10. County Durham Enhanced Engagement with Children and Young 
People - Report of Corporate Director of Children and Young 
People's Services  (Pages 773 - 792) 

11. WASPI Concessionary Travel Scheme - Report of Corporate 
Director of Regeneration and Local Services  (Pages 793 - 816) 

12. Environment and Sustainable Communities Overview and 
Scrutiny committee's review of Durham County Council's 
proposed allotment policy - Report of Corporate Director of 
Resources  (Pages 817 - 864) 

13. Humanitarian Support in County Durham - Report of Corporate 
Director of Adult and Health Services  (Pages 865 - 878) 

14. Health Protection Assurance Annual Report 2018-19 - Joint 
Report of Corporate Director of Adult and Health Services and 
Director of Public Health  (Pages 879 - 900) 

15. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the 
meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration.   

16. Any resolution relating to the exclusion of the public during the 
discussion of items containing exempt information.   

Part B 
 
Items during which it is considered the meeting will not be open 

to the public (consideration of exempt or confidential information) 
 
Key Decisions: 
 
17. Leisure Transformation - Report of Corporate Director of 

Regeneration and Local Services [Key Decision: REAL/11/19]  
(Pages 901 - 1302) 

18. North East First Credit Union Financial Support - Joint Report of 
Corporate Director of Resources and Corporate Director of 
Regeneration and Local Services [CORP/R/20/01]  (Pages 1303 - 
1328) 

19. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the 
meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration.   

 
 
 

Helen Lynch 
Head of Legal and Democratic Services 

 
County Hall 
Durham 
7 January 2020 
 
 
 
 



 
To: The Members of the Cabinet 

 
 Councillors S Henig and A Napier (Leader and Deputy Leader 

of the Council) together with Councillors J Allen, O Gunn, 
L Hovvels, C Marshall, A Patterson, K Shaw, B Stephens and 
A Surtees 

 
 

Contact: Ros Layfield Tel: 03000 269708 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

At a Meeting of Cabinet held in the Main Hall, The Glebe Centre, Murton, 
Seaham, Co. Durham, SR7 9BX on Wednesday 11 December 2019 at 10.00 am 

 
Present: 
 

Councillor S Henig (Leader of the Council) in the Chair  

 

Cabinet Members: 

Councillors J Allen, L Hovvels, C Marshall, A Napier, A Patterson, K Shaw,             
B Stephens and A Surtees  
 
Apologies: 
Councillor O Gunn  
 
Also Present: 

Councillors J Clare and B Kellett  

 

1 Public Questions  
 
There were no public questions. 

  
2  Minutes  

 
The minutes of the meeting held on 13 November 2019 were confirmed as a 
correct record and signed by the Chair.  
 

3 Declarations of interest  
 
In relation to item 6 Councillor Patterson declared an interest as a school 
governor of Howden-le-Wear Primary School. 
 

4 Quarter Two, 2019/20 Performance Management Report  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of Resources 
which presented progress towards achieving the key outcomes of the 
council’s corporate performance framework (for copy see file of minutes). 
 
Resolved: 
 
That the recommendations in the report be approved. 
 

5 Update on the delivery of the Medium Term Financial Plan 9 
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Transformation and 
Partnerships which provided an update on the position of the delivery of the 
2019/20 Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP9) (for copy see file of minutes). 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



 
Resolved: 
 
That the recommendations in the report be approved. 
 

6 Mainstream Primary and Secondary Formula Funding 2020-21 
 
The Cabinet considered a joint report of the Corporate Director of Children 
and Young People’s Services and the Corporate Director of Resources which 
updated Members on the mainstream primary and secondary formula 
funding arrangements for the coming financial year.  The report 
recommended that Cabinet approve the proposed approach to setting the 
local formula for mainstream primary and secondary funding 2020/21 (for 
copy see file of minutes). 
 
Resolved: 
 
That the recommendations in the report be approved. 
 

7 Exclusion of the Public   
 
Resolved: 
 
That under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public 
be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on the 
grounds that they involved the likely disclosure of exempt information as 
defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act. 
 

8 Variation to Existing Agreement at Merchant Park, Heighington 
Lane Industrial Estate     
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of Regeneration 
and Local Services which sought endorsement of the action taken to agree a 
to an existing agreement on land located at Heighington Lane Industrial 
Estate (for copy see file of minutes). 
 
Resolved: 
 
That the recommendation in the report be approved.  
 
 

Page 6



           

        

 Cabinet 

 15 January 2020 

 Selective Licencing Scheme 

Key Decision No. REAL/05/19 

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Ian Thompson, Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local 
Services 

Councillor Kevin Shaw, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Strategic 

Housing and Assets 
 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide. 

Purpose of the Report 

1 This report will propose a Selective Licencing Scheme (SLS) for homes 
which are privately rented in parts of County Durham.  The proposed 
scheme currently covers 64% of the private rented sector (PRS) in the 
county and, as this is over 20%, it is a legislative requirement to obtain 
Government approval.  Prior to the application being made to 
Government, the Council is required to consult on the proposals and 
take account of that consultation. 

2 The percentage of PRS covered is subject to change as data continues 
to be analysed prior to consultation. 

3 Details of the reasons for implementing the scheme, the proposed 
scope of the scheme, the costs of licencing, the high-level operational 
structure of the scheme and the proposed timetable are contained in the 
report.  Subject to Cabinet approval these will form the basis of a 
statutory consultation exercise. 

Executive Summary 

4 The County Durham Housing Strategy 2019 to 2024 has four 
objectives: 

(a) to provide housing advice, assistance and support for vulnerable 
people; 

(b) to improve access to housing; 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



(c) to deliver homes to meet housing need and demand; and 

(d) to maintain and improve standards across County Durham’s 
housing stock and the wider housing environment. 

5 The fourth objective detailed above specifically includes raising 
standards in the PRS, developing an approach to selective licencing, 
addressing empty homes, improving energy efficiency of properties and 
supporting and maintaining communities. 

6 Table 1 detailed below provides a summary of the increase in numbers 
of households in the county since 2001.  It also clearly indicates the 
significant increase in the size and strategic importance of the PRS in 
the county. 

Table 1 

  Population Households Social 
Rented 

Private 
Rented 

Private 
rented as a 

% of 
Households 

2001 
Census1 

493,470 207,438 52,757 10,452 5.0% 

2011 
Census2 

513,242 223,803 45,004 28,142 12.6% 

Current 
Estimates3 

523,662 241,506 42,303 56,232 23.3% 

% change 
since 2001 

6.1% 16.4% -19.8% 438.0% - 

% change 
since 2011 

2.0% 7.9% -6.0% 99.8% - 

1. Office for National Statistics 2001 
2. Office for National Statistics 2011 
3. Office for National Statistics 2017 population estimates; DCC Household 
    and PRS estimates (further details in the PRS section below). 

 
7 In County Durham the PRS is significant with a total of 56,232 

properties representing 22.7% of the total homes in the county. 

8 Whilst there are a number of good quality homes available in the PRS 
the current market is dominated by smaller terraced properties offering 
two to three bedrooms.  Much of this stock is older, thermally inefficient 
and in need of repair or refurbishment.  As a consequence, low demand 
in some communities exists. 

9 In addition, the lack of access to good quality housing is known to be a 
contributing factor to inequalities in health, educational attainment and 
disposable income (poverty). 

Page 8



10 The Council’s aim is to raise the standard and quality of housing 
available in the PRS.  A SLS would provide a significant opportunity for 
the Council to introduce quality standards to be met by landlords in the 
PRS and would complement a wider range of initiatives in other sectors 
seeking to achieve the same housing and community outcomes. 

11 There are many benefits linked to selective licencing including: 

• providing tenants with a greater choice of safe, good quality and 
well managed homes; and 

• better community and cross tenure relations, reduced anti-social 
behaviour and help to stabilise and improve local 
neighbourhoods. 

12 Management standards of PRS properties will improve through 
establishing clear minimum physical and management standards which 
can be controlled through the licencing framework.  Proactive 
enforcement action will be taken against both unlicensed properties 
and/or where there are breaches to the licencing conditions. 

13 The SLS will make a significant contribution to a wider strategy of 
improving the county’s towns and villages by improving both housing 
conditions and access to quality housing.  Other initiatives including 
Registered Social Landlords (RSL) new development, Local Lettings 
Agency (LLA), Buy to Lease Scheme, Rough Sleepers Initiative (RSI) 
and Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO) Licencing are closely aligned 
to the ambition to improve the ability to access a good quality home in 
the county. 

14 The key elements of the SLS in Durham will be: 

• 36,119 properties covering 64% of the PRS stock meet the 
Government criteria and will be included in the scheme; 

• licence designed to promote good landlord practice and be 
capable of being enforced; 

• mandatory licence application for every PRS property within the 
defined scheme; 

• landlords must pass a ‘fit and proper person’ test in advance of 
receiving a licence; 

• appropriate staffing structure in place to support scheme 
administration, inspection and enforcement; 

• property inspection regime in place; 

Page 9



• support for landlords to comply with the licence; and 

• enforcement in cases where appropriate. 

15 Under the Housing Act 2004 Part 3 (Selective Licencing of other 
Residential Accommodation), the Council can designate an area, or 
areas, within which the SLS will operate.  All private landlords operating 
within the designated area are required to obtain a licence from the 
Council for each property which is rented out.  The conditions of the 
licence ensure that the property is managed effectively, and tenants will 
have added protection against poor landlords.  When applying, 
proposed licence holders will be required to prove that they are 'fit and 
proper persons' to hold a licence, and that they have satisfactory 
management arrangements in place including for dealing with anti-
social behaviour. 

16 There are areas within the county that do not form part of the proposal 
for selective licensing.  At this point in time they do not meet the 
guidance criteria set out by the Secretary of State.  Officers will monitor 
various datasets relating to these areas and, should any meet the 
criteria in the future, Cabinet will be asked to consider a separate 
application to the Secretary of State to extend the scheme in the county. 

17 The licence will last for five years and the Council will set a charge that 
the landlord must pay for each property in ownership that is rented.  A 
licence fee of between £390-590 is proposed (expected to be around 
£500) and based on a SLS of 36,119 properties an income of 
£16,000,000-18,000,000 is estimated over a five-year period. 

18 The income received from the SLS will fund the staffing infrastructure 
and associated costs that will be put in place to ensure the scheme 
operates successfully.  The body of the report will provide a high-level 
understanding of the staffing and support infrastructure that will be put 
in place. 

19 The process for declaring a SLS in an area(s) is determined within 
legislation. 

20 Part 3 of the Housing Act 2004 gives local authorities the powers to 
designate either part or the whole of their area as selective licencing 
providing certain conditions are met.  A SLS applies to private rented 
properties and those managing or in control of private rented 
accommodation will need to obtain a licence. 

21 The Selective Licencing of Houses (Additional Conditions) (England) 
Order 2015 advises that a selective licencing designation may only be 
made if the area satisfies one or more conditions. 

Page 10



22 The proposed SLS will be subject to a 10-week statutory consultation 
exercise and the Council must finalise its submission to the Secretary of 
State.  The SLS will then consider the application and make a 
determination. 

23 If the Council makes a designation covering 20% or more of its 
geographical area or affects more than 20% of the private rented stock, 
then an application will need to be submitted to the Secretary of State 
for approval. 

24 The application to the Secretary of State must be robust and clearly 
demonstrate the tests and criteria set out in the Government guidance 
have been met: 

25 The application must include: 

• introduction: 

(i) strategic significance; and 

(ii) details of the proposed area (including the number and types 
of properties affected, and a map of the area); 

• confirmation that the Council’s proposal affects more than 20% of 
privately rented homes in the area and how this was calculated; 

• rationale for adopting a large-scale scheme i.e. over 20%; 

• current position in Durham with regards to tackling: 

(i) low housing demand; 

(ii) anti-social behaviour; 

(iii) poor property conditions; 

(iv) an influx of migration; 

(v) a high level of deprivation 

(vi) high levels of crime; and 

(vii) demonstrating how the area would benefit from the 
combination of existing policies and selective licencing. 

• conclusion: 

(i) addressing the relevant issues that were raised in the 
stakeholder consultation and details regarding what the 

Page 11



long-term impact of the scheme will be on the proposed 
area; 

• in addition, the Council must include with the application: 

(i) a copy of the consultation document and the published 
summary of the responses; 

(ii) details of the fees that will be charged; 

(iii) a copy of the designation and minutes of the Council 
meeting resolving to make the designation; 

(iv) a copy of the local housing authority’s strategy to ensure 
compliance with the scheme and enforcement against 
those who do not comply; and 

(v) information on the level of compliance with other licencing 
schemes it operates, including mandatory House of 
Multiple Occupation licencing. 

26 Significant work has been undertaken to establish what areas within the 
county fall into the criteria within the Government guidance. 

27 Middle Super Output Areas (MSOAs) have been used as the basis for 
data collection and analysis.  There are 66 MSOAs in the county. 

28 To help analyse areas within the county it was decided to use the Office 
for National Statistics Middle Super Output Area (MSOA), Census 
defined geographical areas, as this would provide a robust and stable 
basis against which analysis and future monitoring could be applied.  
Within County Durham there are 66 MSOAs. 

29 It will not be possible to achieve selective licensing across 100% of the 
private rented sector in County Durham, as some MSOAs do not meet 
the criteria stipulated by central government; and other areas would not 
benefit from selective licensing as although they may indicate some 
issues, they do not relate to management within the private rented 
sector. 

30 Subject to authorisation from Cabinet, the information detailed below 
represents an achievable implementation timetable.  It is important to 
note that the Council is not in control of all the elements and that the 
Ministry of Housing and Local Communities (MHCLG) is responsible for 
determining the application. 

  

Page 12



Issue Responsibility Period Date 

Statutory consultation DCC 10 weeks Late January 
2020 to early 
Apr 2020 

Consultation analysis 
& review 

DCC 3 weeks End of April 
2020 

Cabinet review of 
consultation and 
agree final scheme 
then submission to 
MHCLG 

DCC - May 2020 

Determination of 
application 

MHCLG 8 to 16 
weeks 

Aug 2020 to 
October 2020 

SLS Go Live and 
operational 

DCC - Sept 2020 to 
November 2020 

Implementation preparations: scope of service, structure, 
appointments, accommodation, service standards and policies, IT, 
staff training, landlord training and support, partnership arrangements 
and communications plan etc. 

Implementation 
Preparations  

DCC 10 
months 

December 2019 
to September/ 
December 2020 

 
31 It should be noted that some of the detailed implementation work will be 

at risk as it will have been started significantly in advance of final 
determination by the Secretary of State. 

32 The scheme will benefit from close partnership working both internally 
(HMO licencing, private sector housing, etc.) and externally (Safe 
Durham Partnership, Police, Fire & Rescue Service, Probation Service 
and housing providers etc.). 

Recommendations 

33 Cabinet are recommended to authorise: 

(a) the proposed areas to be designated within the SLS as detailed in 
the report; 

(b) the proposed licence fee of £390 to £590 (expected to be around 
£500); 

(c) the SLS service proposals outlined in the report; 

(d) to formally consult on these proposals over a 10-week period; 

Page 13



(e) the commencement of work to prepare for the introduction of the 
SLS in advance of formal approval from the Secretary of State; 
and 

(f) to receive a further report detailing the results of the consultation 
exercise with a view to reviewing the proposals and submitting a 
formal application to the Secretary of State to set up a SLS in 
Durham. 

  

Page 14



Background 

34 This report will propose a SLS for homes which are privately rented in 
parts of County Durham.  The proposed scheme covers 64% of the 
PRS in the county and, as this is over 20%, it is a legislative 
requirement to obtain Government approval.  Prior to the application 
being made to Government the Council is required to consult on the 
proposals and take account of that consultation. 

35 The report will address the following: 

• demographic change and tenure; 

• strategic context; 

• benefits of introducing SLS; 

• Government guidance and consultation; 

• the proposed designated area; 

• SLS operational structure; 

• SLS operational costs and proposed licence fee; 

• consultation process; and 

• implementation timetable. 

Demographic Change and Tenure 

36 The PRS in Durham is significant and continues to grow.  It is an 
important tenure choice for many households. 

37 Since 2001, as predicted in Office for National Statistics (ONS) 
population projections and in line with neighbouring authorities, there 
has been an increase in both the county’s population and number of 
households.  However, as detailed in the table below, most of the 
population growth in the last 18 years was between 2001 and 2011 
(6.1%) with only 2% growth since 2011. 

38 This contrasts with the steady growth in residential properties in the 
county of 16.4% from 2001, with half of this growth (7.9%) since 2011.  
This indicates that the number of smaller household units (single or 
couples only) has increased over this time period. 

39 During the same period the rental market has changed significantly.  
The number of socially rented properties has fallen by nearly one fifth 
(19.8%) since 2001 which is in part due to properties being sold under 

Page 15



the ‘Right to Buy’ legislation, the selling of properties to private 
companies and the transfer of housing stock to registered social 
housing providers. 

40 The take up and volume of privately rented stock has grown significantly 
since 2001 with growth of over 400%.  Between the two census periods 
the number of privately rented stock nearly trebled with some of this 
growth likely to be from the sale of socially rented stock under the 
schemes detailed above. 

41 The PRS is now a significant tenure within the county and many 
households rely on the PRS to meet their housing needs. 

42 These changes are detailed in the table below and the estimated 
distribution of the PRS in County Durham is detailed in the maps below. 

Change in Population, Households and the PRS in County Durham since 
2001 
  Population Households Social 

Rented 
Private 
Rented 

Private rented as a 
% of Households 

2001 
Census1 

493,470 207,438 52,757 10,452 5.0% 

2011 
Census2 

513,242 223,803 45,004 28,142 12.6% 

Current 
Estimates3 

523,662 241,506 42,303 56,232 23.3% 

% change 
since 
2001 

6.1% 16.4% -19.8% 438.0% -  

% change 
since 
2011 

2.0% 7.9% -6.0% 99.8% -  

1. Office for National Statistics 2001. 

2. Office for National Statistics 2011. 

3. Office for National Statistics 2017 population estimates; DCC Household and 
    PRS estimates (further details in the PRS section below). 

 
43 The map detailed below shows the percentage change in the PRS by 

MSOAs across the whole of the county.  The darker the shading for the 
MSOA indicates the higher the percentage change.  As can be seen the 
most of MSOAs have increases of over 40% with a majority 
experiencing an increase of over 80%. 51 out of 66 MSOAs have 
experienced an increase of over 120% of homes in the PRS. 

  

Page 16



Map 1: Percentage Change in PRS by MSOAs 

 

44 Table 3 below detailed the estimated distribution of private rented stock 
by MSOA. 

Map 3:  Distribution of PRS Stock 

 

Page 17



45 In summary the estimated number of households within the county has 
increased steadily by 34,068 since 2001.  This is a 16.4% increase over 
the period.  During the same timeframe there has been a 19.8% 
(10,454) reduction in social rented homes however the PRS has 
increased by a massive 438% to 56,232. 

46 This increase in the numbers of properties being let in the private sector 
is not uniform across the county and the maps above provide a 
graphical depiction of the distribution of properties in the PRA by 
MSOA. 

Strategic Context 

47 The County Durham Housing Strategy 2019 to 2024 has been 
developed in partnership to consider and address a range of housing 
issues across County Durham.  There are four objectives included 
within the strategy: 

(a) to provide housing advice, assistance and support for vulnerable 
people; 

(b) to improve access to housing; 

(c) to deliver homes to meet housing need and demand; and 

(d) to maintain and improve standards across County Durham’s 
housing stock and the wider housing environment.  This aim 
addresses raising standards in the PRS, developing an approach 
to selective licencing, addressing empty homes, improving energy 
efficiency of properties and supporting and maintaining 
communities. 

48 The proposal to introduce selective licencing is a significant practical 
policy intervention and is complimentary to other actions in the strategy.  
The scale and nature of the proposal will operate alongside other 
initiatives to address homelessness, poverty, health and community 
development.  This will be achieved by working with key partners 
including the Police, Fire & Rescue Service, health, housing providers, 
private landlords and the voluntary sector. 

49 One of the biggest challenges for the Council relates to the limited 
number of good quality homes available in the PRS.  The current 
growing market is dominated by smaller terraced properties offering two 
to three bedrooms.  Much of the existing stock is older, thermally 
inefficient and in need of repair or refurbishment. 

Page 18



50 Despite household numbers increasing this poor housing stock is, in 
many instances, often not providing the right housing offer and 
consequently low demand exists in some villages. 

51 This can lead to empty, abandoned and neglected dwellings in 
communities and these tend to be concentrated in areas of deprivation 
and where the housing market is weak.  This is difficult to address, with 
housing renewal funding being reduced considerably over the last few 
years and funding available to tackle poor conditions being limited. 

52 In addition, the lack of access to good quality housing is accepted to be 
a contributing factor to inequalities in health, educational attainment and 
disposable income (poverty). 

53 The introduction of a SLS directly supports several Council priorities 
included in several plans, strategies and existing actions, as detailed in 
the evidence report. 

54 With growth of 438% in the PRS since 2001 and indications that the 
sector will continue to grow the recently approved Housing Strategy for 
County Durham recognises the strategic importance of the PRS.  One 
of the aims/outcomes in the strategy is to raise standards in the PRS 
and a SLS will make a significant contribution to this. 

55 Its direct value will be enhanced by ensuring synergy with strategies 
such as homelessness, empty homes and other activities leading to 
mixed, balanced and sustainable communities. 

56 The Council will encourage the development of a more professional 
PRS through advice, guidance and negotiation and the introduction of 
initiatives including: 

• advice and information: this is provided to both landlords and 
tenants regarding their rights and responsibilities of renting a 
property; 

• empty homes: working with property owners through engagement 
and encouragement including the provision of financial assistance 
such as targeted loans and grants to bring empty properties back 
into use; 

• financial assistance: currently under review; 

• accreditation: voluntary scheme whereby landlords state that they 
are of good character and sign up to a code of conduct, they are 
offered benefits such as advice and support, tenant referencing, 
training, landlords forum and quarterly newsletters as well as 
template documentation; 

Page 19



• targeted intervention: time limited projects incorporating regular 
multi-agency intervention through the Safe Durham Partnership 
and Community Action Team.  This includes a range of Council 
services and partners working together to address specific 
ongoing problems or where an area needs some additional 
support and focus.  This is a mixture of engagement and targeted 
enforcement; and 

• support services: both low level and intense support is available 
to tenants whose behaviour impacts on their tenancy or the 
surrounding neighbourhood, providing help with managing 
tenancies, help with finances, substance misuse and 
homelessness. 

57 In addition, the Council have several initiatives currently being 
introduced that will assist with some of the challenges in local 
communities; these measures will work in conjunction with the Council’s 
selective licencing proposals.  These include: 

• local lettings agency; 

• buy to lease; 

• tenant training; and 

• rough sleepers’ initiative. 

58 The Council’s aim is to raise the standard and quality of housing 
available in the PRS.  A SLS would provide the opportunity for the 
Council to introduce quality standards than can be effectively regulated.  
Landlords would be required and given support to comply with the terms 
of the licence and an inspection and enforcement service would ensure 
compliance. 

59 There are many benefits linked to selective licencing including: 

• providing tenants with a greater choice of safe; 

• good quality and well managed homes; 

• better community and cross tenure relations; 

• reduced anti-social behaviour; and 

• help to stabilise and improve local neighbourhoods. 

60 The standards of PRS properties will improve through establishing clear 
minimum physical and management standards which can be controlled 

Page 20



through the licencing framework.  Proactive enforcement action will be 
taken against both unlicensed properties and/or where there are 
breaches to the licencing conditions. 

61 The SLS will make a significant contribution to a wider strategy of 
improving the county’s towns and villages by improving both housing 
conditions and access to quality housing. 

62 The key elements of the SLS in Durham will be: 

• 36,119 properties covering 64% of the PRS stock meet the 
Government criteria and will be included in the scheme; 

• licence is designed to promote good landlord practice in terms of 
management and maintenance and is capable of being enforced; 

• mandatory licence application for every PRS property within the 
defined scheme; 

• landlords must pass a ‘fit and proper person’ test in advance of 
receiving a licence; 

• appropriate staffing structure will be put in place to support 
scheme administration, inspection and enforcement; 

• property inspection regime in place; 

• support for landlords to comply with licence; and 

• enforcement in cases where appropriate. 

Co-ordinating Services / Optimising Partnership Work 

63 The Council has several initiatives currently being introduced that will 
assist with some of the challenges in our local communities.  These 
measures will work in conjunction with the Council’s selective licencing 
proposals. 

Local Lettings Agency 

64 In July 2019, Cabinet gave permission for the Council to establish an 
LLA to provide general needs for housing to rough sleepers and those 
unable to access mainstream housing.  An LLA is a general term 
applied to schemes that secure access to decent, affordable private 
rental accommodation for households in need and on low incomes who 
would previously have been unlikely to access housing.  The Council 
has been successful in obtaining funding of £252,538 from MHCLG 

Page 21



under the Rapid Rehousing Pathway (RRP) to support the setup of a 
LLAs. 

65 The LLA must provide 70 properties by July 2020.  This will be done via 
a leasehold scheme with the LLA leasing properties from owners 
assuming full management then renting to those in need. 

Buy to Lease 

66 The Council will provide at least 20 properties via funding from Homes 
England and capital funding totalling £1,200,000 by March 2021.  
Properties will be purchased and refurbished via the funding with the 
LLA managing the properties as part of a rental scheme.  These 
properties will be used specifically to free up supported accommodation 
providing homes with support for those ready for semi-independent 
living. 

Tenant Training  

67 The Council’s adult learning service have developed a tenancy skills 
course aimed at helping those unable to access, manage or starting a 
first-time tenancy to develop the necessary skills.  This will be available 
to DKO applicants and LLA tenants.  In addition, the Council is working 
with Crisis to provide a tenancy skill course to excluded groups, 
including those in prison.  Both courses will run as pilots and be 
evaluated for future development. 

Rough Sleepers Initiative 

68 The Council received £700,000 from MHCLG to co-ordinate services to: 

• support rough sleepers across the North East region; as part of 
this, 2 rough sleeper co-ordinators have been employed; 

• establish a Housing First Provision in Gateshead, Sunderland 
and South Tyneside; and 

• employ three outreach workers for Northumberland and North 
Tyneside and one outreach worker for Sunderland. 

69 Durham has benefited through RSI funding by providing an outreach 
worker via Changing Lives to engage with rough sleepers across the 
county.  There are now accommodation officers based in HMP Durham 
and Holme House to provide housing assistance while offenders are 
serving sentences/on remand increasing housing options on release.  In 
addition, three substance misuse workers are being provided across 
Durham & Tees Valley to engage with rough sleepers, homeless and 
those at risk of homelessness that have substance misuse issues. 

Page 22



70 The funding will allow the Council and other North East local authorities 
to target and engage with rough sleepers more effectively allowing 
options and housing pathways to be developed. 

71 All these projects will work in conjunction with selective licencing, 
assisting in the development of sustainable communities and providing 
additional support to tenants who need it, enabling them to manage a 
tenancy independently and reducing the impact on the tenancy and 
local community. 

Legislation: Statutory Provisions  

72 The Housing Act 2004 introduced licencing in relation to privately rented 
properties. 

73 There are three different types of schemes; one mandatory, a national 
scheme that applies to certain HMOs and two discretionary schemes 
that allow local authorities to designate at local level. 

Mandatory HMO Licencing 

74 Part 2 of the Housing Act 2004 provides for licencing of HMOs if they 
meet the definition of an HMO as prescribed under Section 55 of the 
Act. 

75 The original mandatory licencing scheme introduced in April 2006 
applied to HMOs with three or more storeys and five or more persons 
forming two or more households.  From October 2018 licencing was 
extended to all HMOs occupied by five persons or more in two or more 
households, regardless of the number of storeys, and where the 
householders lack or share amenities such as a toilet, personal washing 
facilities or cooking facilities.  It also applies to purpose-built flats where 
there are up to two flats in the block and one or both are occupied as an 
HMO. 

Additional HMO Licencing (Discretionary) 

76 Part 2 also makes provision to introduce additional licencing where local 
authorities believe that a significant proportion of HMOs that do not fall 
into mandatory HMO licencing, are not being managed effectively and 
causing problems for either the occupants or members of the public.  In 
2012 the Council engaged the Building Research Establishment to 
survey, review and report on the physical condition and management 
standards in non-licenced HMO’s within the county.  Its conclusion was 
that additional licencing was not justified. 

 

Page 23



Option Appraisal 

77 The evidence report details alternative measures that are available to 
deliver the scheme objectives.  It also indicates where the additional 
powers of selective licencing will help to achieve improvements to local 
communities.  There is no single intervention that will achieve an overall 
solution to a problem and each will have its limitations.  Selective 
licencing will provide improved interventions by introducing a co-
ordinated partnership approach. 

78 Following review of the options detailed above, it is not considered that 
they would achieve the same outcome as selective licencing for the 
reasons highlighted.  The alternative options would not meet the 
Council’s objectives in the Housing Strategy and achieve the 
improvements required for residents living in the PRS. 

Government Guidance & Consultation 

79 The legal powers to set up a scheme for the licencing of properties in 
the PRS is contained in Part 3 of the Housing Act 2004.  This allows a 
local housing authority the ability to designate an area which will be 
subject to selective licencing.  The scheme will last for five years. 

80 Since April 2015 it is required to apply to the Secretary of State for 
approval of any scheme which covers more than 20% of the privately 
rented homes in the local authority area.  This is the case in Durham 
and, in order to introduce the scheme proposed in this report, Secretary 
of State approval is required. 

81 A Guide for local authorities ‘’Selective Licencing in the Private Rented 
Sector’’ was published by DCLG in March 2015.  It is important that the 
Council’s application to the Secretary of State closely aligns with the 
published guidance.  The guide is detailed at Appendix 2. 

82 A SLS for an area can be made if it satisfies one or more of the 
following criteria: 

• low housing demand; 

• a significant and persistent problem caused by ASB; 

• poor property conditions*; 

• high levels of migration*; 

• high levels of deprivation*; and 

• high levels of crime*. 

Page 24



83 If an authority wishes to make a designation for those criteria detailed 
above highlighted with an asterix it can only do so if the designated area 
has a high proportion of property in the PRS.  Guidance indicates that 
as at March 2014 the benchmark for this is 19.46%. 

84 The local authority must be clear on its objectives for introducing a SLS 
and must also consider options to achieve the outcomes other than a 
SLS.  Only where there is no practical and beneficial alternative to a 
designation should a scheme be made. 

85 It is important that the proposed designation is consistent with the 
Council’s Housing Strategy and is supported by a co-ordinated 
partnership approach to dealing with homelessness, empty properties 
and ASB. 

86 The guidance requires a local authority to provide robust evidence in 
relation to the grounds it is seeking designation, to support their 
application.  It is also required to assess what outcomes will be 
delivered by the SLS and coordinated partnership working. 

87 For each of the criteria identified above the guidance provides more 
details of the evidence that is required. 

88 In advance of applying to the Secretary of State the guidance requires 
that the Council must take reasonable steps to undertake a full 
consultation exercise to consult people likely to be affected by the SLS 
designation. 

89 The consultation should include local residents including tenants, 
landlords and managing agents.  It should also include other members 
of the community who live or operate or provide services within the 
proposed designated area. 

90 The proposed consultation exercise will use the following channels of 
communication: 

• online information webpage; 

• online consultation questionnaire; 

• hard copies of consultation questionnaire to be made available in 
various Council customer access points and libraries; 

• specific events to target relevant groups (i.e. landlords); 

• drop-in sessions in various geographic locations across the 
county; and 

Page 25



• direct correspondence to stakeholders including Town and Parish 
Councils, registered housing providers, neighbouring local 
authorities and Members of Parliament. 

91 At the end of the consultation, which must take at least 10 weeks, the 
Council is required to consider any representations made as part of the 
consultation. 

92 Once the Council has considered the consultation results and, if 
appropriate, reviewed the proposed scheme, it can then make an 
application to the Secretary of State for confirmation. 

93 The application must include: 

• introduction: 

(i) strategic significance; and 

(ii) details of the proposed area (including the number and 
types of properties affected, and a map of the area); 

• confirmation that the Council’s proposal affects more than 20% of 
privately rented homes in the area and how this was calculated; 

• rationale for adopting a large-scale scheme i.e. over 20%; 

• current position in Durham with regards to tackling: 

(i) low housing demand; 

(ii) anti-social behaviour; 

(iii) poor property conditions; 

(iv) an influx of migration; 

(v) a high level of deprivation; 

(vi) high levels of crime; and 

(vii) demonstrating how the area would benefit from the 
combination of existing policies and selective licencing; 

• conclusion addressing the relevant issues that were raised in the 
stakeholder consultation and details regarding what the long-term 
impact of the scheme will be on the proposed area; 

• in addition, the Council must include with the application: 

Page 26



(i) a copy of the consultation document and the published 
summary of the responses; 

(ii) details of the fees that will be charged; 

(iii) a copy of the designation and minutes of the Council 
meeting resolving to make the designation; 

(iv) a copy of the local housing authority’s strategy to ensure 
compliance with the scheme and enforcement against 
those who do not comply; and 

(v) information on the level of compliance with other licencing 
schemes it operated including mandatory HMO licencing. 

94 The guidance states that MHCLG will aim to decide on the application 
within eight weeks.  Experience of other local authorities that have 
made such applications indicates that a longer period may be needed to 
deal with the application. 

95 Should Cabinet approve the proposals in this report the consultation 
process will commence within a short period of time. 

Proposed Designated Area 

96 We propose all PRS properties in the following areas be designated 
under the stated condition: 

Low Demand 

• Annfield Plain South and South Moor 

• Langley Park, Cornsay and Satley 

• Esh Winning and Ushaw Moor West 

• Sacriston and Waldridge 

• Annfield Plain North and Dipton South 

• Leadgate North and Consett East 

• Pelton and Grange Villa 

• Cornforth and Ferryhill 

• Crook North, Howden-le-Wear and Tow Law 

• Crook South and Willington North 

• Cockton Hill and Etherley Dene 

• St Helens Auckland and West Auckland 

• Henknowle and Woodhouse Close 

• Stanley North and Kip Hill 

• Delves and Leadgate South 

• Bearpark and Witton Gilbert 

• Cassop and Coxhoe 

• Fishburn and Trimdon 

Page 27



• Byers Green and Spennymoor 

Anti-social behaviour (ASB) 

• Chester-le-Street and Pelton Fell 

• Dalton-le-Dale and Deneside 

• Acre Rigg and Peterlee Central 

• Passfield and Shotton 

• Craghead and South Stanley 

• Sherburn and West Rainton 

• Gilesgate Moor 

• Aycliffe Village, Newton Aycliffe South 

• Consett West and Castleside 

Low Demand and ASB – both 

• Dawdon and Seaham Harbour 

• Murton South and South Hetton 

• Easington Colliery North 

• Thornley Deaf Hill and Wheatley Hill 

• Bishop Auckland and South Church 

• Chilton and Ferryhill Station 

• Hutton Henry and Wingate 

Deprivation 

• Shotton Colliery 

• Easington Colliery South and Eden Hill 

• Blackhalls 

• Horden 

• Coundon and Willington South 

• Newton Aycliffe Central 

• Spennymoor Green Lane and Dean Bank 

• Shildon 

97 In the two designations of low demand and ASB there is a small number 
of MSOAs that are weaker than others in terms of meeting the criteria 
set out by Government.  MHCLG have stated that if any one area within 
a designation fails to meet the criteria set out in the Government’s 
guidance the whole designation will be rejected. This represents a 
significant risk to the success of the Council’s application to the 
Secretary of State. The final decision on the areas to be included in the 
application will not be taken until after the statutory consultation in the 
spring of 2020.  In advance of this final decision by Cabinet the 
following will be put in place: 

Page 28



• continued discussions with MHCLG officials; 

• review any decisions made by MHCLG on current applications by 

other Local Authorities (e.g. Liverpool City Council); 

• continued analysis of data and relevant intelligence; and 

• specific review of any consultation feedback relating to the areas 

in question. 

98 In view of the complex nature of the data analysis and the need to 
satisfy compliance with legislation and government guidance associated 
with the application process, a barrister has been commissioned to 
provide advice and support. 

99 There are areas within the county that do not form part of the proposal 
for selective licensing.  At this point in time they do not meet the 
guidance criteria set out by the Secretary of State.  Officers will monitor 
various datasets relating to these areas and, should any meet the 
criteria in the future, Cabinet will be asked to consider a separate 
application to the Secretary of State to extend the scheme in the county. 

Selective Licencing Scheme Operational Costs and Proposed 
Licence Fee 

100 The scale of the proposed scheme requires a robust operational 
infrastructure, and this will include: 

• staffing; 

• office accommodation; 

• IT software and hardware; 

• professional support (legal, financial and marketing etc.); and 

• associated close down costs. 

101 Detailed work on the operational costs of the service is ongoing, 
however initial indications show that it will be in the region of 
£16,000,000 to £18,000,000 over 5 years. 

102 The scheme costs can be met from the fees paid for the licences 
granted.  The Council is unable to make a profit from the licence fees 
but can fully fund the operational costs. 

Implementation Timetable 

103 Subject to authorisation at Cabinet the table detailed below represents 
an achievable implementation timetable.  It is important to note that the 

Page 29



Council is not in control of all the elements and that the MHCLG is 
responsible for determining the application. 

Issue Responsibility Period Date 

Statutory 
consultation 

DCC 10 
weeks 

Late January 2020 to 
early April 2020 

Consultation 
analysis and review 

DCC 3 
weeks 

End of April 2020 

Cabinet review of 
consultation and 
agree final scheme 
then submission to 
MHCLG 

DCC - May 2020 

Determination of 
application 

MHCLG 8 to 16 
weeks 

August 2020 to October 
2020 

SLS Go Live and 
operational 

DCC - September 2020 to 
November 2020 

Implementation preparations: scope of service, structure, appointments, 
accommodation, service standards and policies, IT, staff training, landlord 
training and support, partnership arrangements and communications plan etc. 

Implementation 
preparations  

DCC 10 
months 

December 2019 to 
September/December 
2020 

 
104 It should be noted that, in order to achieve the targeted go live date 

some of the detailed implementation work will be undertaken at risk as it 
will have been started significantly in advance of final determination by 
the Secretary of State. 

Conclusion 

105 The introduction of a SLS across significant geographic areas of County 
Durham provides the opportunity to introduce regulation into this sector 
and, as a result, lead to long term improvements in the quality of life for 
private sector tenants and improvements to our communities in our 
towns and villages. 

106 The final decision to apply to MHCLG will be made by Cabinet following 
a 10-week consultation process which will take place during February 
2020 and March 2020. 

107 As the proposed area represents more than 20% of the PRS the final 
decision on the declaration of the scheme must be made by the 
Secretary of State. 

Page 30



108 The staffing infrastructure will be significant to enable the scheme to 
operate successfully and the costs will be met in full by the income 
received from licence fees associated with the scheme. 

Background papers 

• Selective Licensing Evidence Report (including Appendices A 
and B) 

• EqIA for Selective Licensing consultation 

Other useful documents 

• None. 

Contact 

Geoff Paul, tel 03000 266223 

Stuart Timmiss, tel 03000 267334 

 

  

Page 31



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

The legislation supporting the introduction of the SLS is detailed in paragraph 

14 of the report.  Prior to applying to the Secretary of State the Council must 

undertake a consultation process in accordance with guidance issued by 

MHCLG. 

Finance 

Licence fee income over the period of the scheme will fully cover the 

operational costs. 

Consultation 

There is a 10-week statutory consultation period prior to submission of the 

Council’s final proposals to MHCLG. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

None. 

Climate Change 

None. 

Human Rights 

The scheme aims to ensure that private sector tenants benefit from the 

protection offered in their tenancy agreements. 

Crime and Disorder 

By introducing this scheme, it is anticipated that there will be positive benefits 

in relation to crime and disorder and antisocial behaviour. 

Staffing 

A new staffing structure will require to be agreed and implemented in advance 

of the scheme commencing. 

Accommodation 

Accommodation for the new staff will be required during 2020. 

Risk 

Cabinet will be asked to consider risks in advance of making the final decision 

to submit a proposal to the Secretary of State. 

Page 32



Procurement 

There is a requirement to procure a bespoke IT system to support the 

operation of the scheme. 

  

Page 33



Appendix 2:  Department for Communities and Local Government 
Selective Licensing in the Private Rented Sector Guide for Local 
Authorities 

 

 

Page 34



 

Page 35



 
Page 36



 

Page 37



 
Page 38



 
Page 39



 Page 40



 Page 41



 Page 42



 

Page 43



 

Page 44



 
Page 45



 

Page 46



 

Page 47



 

Page 48



 

Page 49



 

Page 50



 

Page 51



 

Page 52



 

Page 53



 Page 54



 

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank



        

    

 

 

 

 

 

Selective Licensing Evidence Report and 
Proposal 

 

November 2019 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 Page 57



 

 

 

 

Contents 

 

1. Introduction 

2. The strategic case for Selective Licensing in County Durham 

3. Alternative measures in County Durham 

4. Our proposal for Selective Licensing 

5. Licence Conditions 

6. Charges and Fees 

7. Outcomes 

8. Summary 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Page 58



This is the evidence base for public consultation which will support the proposal of a business 

case for the introduction of selective licensing within County Durham.  

Introduction 

County Durham is a large and diverse area, and a place of distinctive character with a strong 
sense of its own identity. Situated in the heart of the North-East of the England, the county covers 
an area of approximately 862 square miles and has an estimated population of 526,000 (ONS mid 
2018 estimates).  Home to over half a million people, it is, in terms of population size, the largest 
local authority in the North-East and the seventh largest single tier local authority in England.   

The County varies in character from remote and sparsely populated areas in the west to former 
coalfield communities in the centre and east, where villages tend to accommodate thousands 
rather than hundreds. It shares a border with eight other local authorities; Sunderland, Gateshead, 
Northumberland, Cumbria, North Yorkshire, Darlington, Stockton-on- Tees and Hartlepool. 

Map 1: County Durham and neighbours 

 

In the nineteenth century the growth of the mining industry transformed the landscape and the 
population of the county.  Colliery villages sprang up everywhere and migrant workers from all 
parts of the UK swelled the workforce. 

Coal production peaked in 1913 and in 1923 there were an estimated 170,000 miners working in 
County Durham.  The industry declined in the county after the Second World War and many pits 
closed in the 1950s and 1960s.  The last colliery in the Durham coalfield closed in 1994. 

The scanned image below, is of a hand drawn map showing the extent of the County Durham and 
Northumberland coalfield. 

 

 

Page 59



Map 2: County Durham Coalfield 1950 to 1994 

 

These colliery villages grew around a core of densely packed terraced housing which can still be 
seen in many of our towns and villages, leaving a legacy of poor quality older terraced housing 
with a lasting public health impact.  The 2011 Census estimated that 38.5% (89,800 dwellings) of 
all dwelling types in the county were terraced, higher than both the region (30.5%) and England 
(24.6%).  

Demographic change in County Durham since 2001 

Since 2001, as predicted in Office for National Statistics (ONS) population projections and in line 

with neighbouring authorities, there has been an increase in both the county’s population and 

number of households.  However, as detailed in Table 1 (next page), most of the population 

growth in the last eighteen years was between 2001 and 2011 (6.1%), with only 2% growth since 

2011.   

This contrasts with the steady growth in residential properties in the county of 16.4% from 2001, 

with half of this growth (7.9%) since 2011.  This would suggest that the number of smaller 

household units (single or couples only) has increased within this time period and are residing in 

these additional properties and that potentially some will be renting privately. 

In addition, the rental market since 2001 has changed significantly.  The number of socially rented 

properties has fallen by nearly one fifth (19.8%) since 2001. Page 60



The volume of privately rented stock grew significantly between 2001 and 2011, with growth of 

nearly 78% to over 28,000 dwellings.  Current estimates suggest that the county’s privately rented 

stock has doubled since 2011 to an estimated 56,200 properties (see Appendix A for the 

methodology on ‘Identifying the PRS in County Durham’). 

The 2011 census indicated that 12.6% of all household spaces in County Durham were privately 

rented, evidence suggests that the sector is continuing to grow with recent work carried out to 

identify the private rented sector in County Durham estimating this has increased to 23.2%. 

These changes are detailed in the table below: 

Table 1: Change in population, households and the PRS in County Durham since 2001 

  Population 
Occupied 
Dwellings 

Social Rented Private Rented 

Private rented 
as a % 

occupied 
dwellings 

2001 Census1 493,470 207,436 52,757 15,825 7.6% 

2011 Census2 513,242 223,803 45,004 28,142 12.6% 

Current Estimates3 523,662 241,506 42,303 56,232 23.3% 

% change 2001 - 
2019 

6.1% 16.4% -19.8% 355%   

% change 2011 - 
2019 

2.0% 7.9% -6.0% 99.8%   

1. Office for National Statistics 2001. 

2. Office for National Statistics 2011. 

3. Office for National Statistics 2017 population estimates; DCC Household and PRS estimates (further details 
in the PRS section below). 

To help analyse areas within the county it was decided to use the Office for National Statistics 

Middle Super Output Area (MSOA) - Census defined geographical areas - as this would provide a 

robust and stable basis against which analysis and future monitoring could be applied.  Within 

County Durham there are 66 MSOAs. 

Of the 66 MSOAs, 41 have higher proportion of private rented sector (PRS) properties than the 

national average for private rented (19.46%), with this expected to increase further. This means 

62% of County Durham’s MSOAs are above the national average for PRS.  

 

The graph below shows these 66 MSOAs and the percentage of PRS properties in each area: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 61



Graph 1: PRS percentage per MSOA 

 

 

 

 

 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70
D

u
rh

am
 C

it
y

G
ile

sg
at

e 
M

o
o

r

A
n

n
fi

e
ld

 P
la

in
 S

o
u

th
 a

n
d

 S
o

u
th

 M
o

o
r

B
is

h
o

p
 A

u
ck

la
n

d
 a

n
d

 S
o

u
th

 C
h

u
rc

h

La
n

gl
e

y 
M

o
o

r 
an

d
 N

ev
ill

es
 C

ro
ss

H
o

rd
en

Sp
en

n
ym

o
o

r-
G

re
en

 L
an

e 
an

d
 D

ea
n

 B
an

k

Sh
ild

o
n

Ea
si

n
gt

o
n

 C
o

lli
er

y 
N

o
rt

h

D
aw

d
o

n
 a

n
d

 S
e

ah
am

 H
ar

b
o

u
r

Le
ad

ga
te

 N
o

rt
h

 a
n

d
 C

o
n

se
tt

 E
as

t
N

e
w

to
n

 A
yc

lif
fe

 C
en

tr
al

P
el

to
n

 a
n

d
 G

ra
n

ge
 V

ill
a

C
h

ilt
o

n
 a

n
d

 F
er

ry
h

ill
 S

ta
ti

o
n

Es
h

 W
in

n
in

g 
an

d
 U

sh
aw

 M
o

o
r 

W
es

t

B
o

w
b

u
rn

 a
n

d
 S

h
in

cl
if

fe
Fr

am
w

el
lg

at
e

 M
o

o
r 

an
d

 P
it

y 
M

e

B
o

w
es

 a
n

d
 M

id
d

le
to

n
-i

n
-T

e
es

d
al

e
C

o
ck

to
n

 H
ill

 a
n

d
 E

th
er

le
y 

D
en

e

B
la

ck
h

al
ls

C
o

rn
fo

rt
h

 a
n

d
 F

e
rr

yh
ill

M
u

rt
o

n
 S

o
u

th
 a

n
d

 S
o

u
th

 H
et

to
n

St
an

le
y 

N
o

rt
h

 a
n

d
 K

ip
 H

ill
A

n
n

fi
e

ld
 P

la
in

 N
o

rt
h

 a
n

d
 D

ip
to

n
 S

o
u

th

C
ro

o
k 

So
u

th
 a

n
d

 W
ill

in
gt

o
n

 N
o

rt
h

Sh
o

tt
o

n
 C

o
lli

er
y

B
ye

rs
 G

re
e

n
 a

n
d

 S
p

en
n

ym
o

o
r

La
n

gl
e

y 
P

ar
k 

C
o

rn
sa

y 
an

d
 S

at
le

y
C

ro
o

k 
N

o
rt

h
 H

o
w

d
e

n
-l

e-
W

ea
r 

an
d

 T
o

w
 L

aw

Ea
si

n
gt

o
n

 C
o

lli
er

y 
So

u
th

 a
n

d
 E

d
en

 H
ill

C
o

u
n

d
o

n
 a

n
d

 W
ill

in
gt

o
n

 S
o

u
th

C
h

e
st

e
r-

le
-S

tr
ee

t 
W

e
st

 a
n

d
 P

el
to

n
 F

el
l

C
ra

gh
ea

d
 a

n
d

 S
o

u
th

 S
ta

n
le

y
St

 H
e

le
n

s 
A

u
ck

la
n

d
 a

n
d

 W
es

t 
A

u
ck

la
n

d

Th
o

rn
le

y 
D

ea
f 

H
ill

 a
n

d
 W

h
ea

tl
e

y 
H

Ill

B
ar

n
ar

d
 C

as
tl

e
 a

n
d

 S
ta

rt
fo

rt
h

D
el

ve
s 

an
d

 L
e

ad
ga

te
 S

o
u

th

C
o

n
se

tt
 W

es
t 

an
d

 C
as

tl
es

id
e

B
ea

rp
ar

k 
an

d
 W

it
to

n
 G

ilb
er

t

C
h

e
st

e
r-

le
-S

tr
ee

t 
So

u
th

H
u

tt
o

n
 H

en
ry

 a
n

d
 W

in
ga

te

A
yc

lif
fe

 V
ill

ag
e 

N
ew

to
n

 A
yc

lif
fe

 S
o

u
th

H
en

kn
o

w
le

 a
n

d
 W

o
o

d
h

o
u

se
 C

lo
se

Sa
cr

is
to

n
 a

n
d

 W
al

d
ri

d
ge

A
cr

e
 R

ig
g 

an
d

 P
et

er
le

e 
C

e
n

tr
al

Fi
sh

b
u

rn
 a

n
d

 T
ri

m
d

o
n

s
H

am
st

er
le

y 
an

d
 S

ta
in

d
ro

p

N
e

w
to

n
 A

yc
lif

fe
 E

as
t

St
an

h
o

p
e

 a
n

d
 W

o
ls

in
gh

am

B
u

rn
o

p
fi

el
d

 D
ip

to
n

 N
o

rt
h

 a
n

d
 T

an
to

b
ie

C
as

so
p

 a
n

d
 C

o
xh

o
e

Sh
er

b
u

rn
 a

n
d

 W
e

st
 R

ai
n

to
n

D
al

to
n

-l
e-

D
al

e 
an

d
 D

e
n

es
id

e
B

o
u

rn
m

o
o

r 
an

d
 G

re
at

 L
u

m
le

y
M

id
ri

d
ge

 a
n

d
 W

o
o

d
h

am
 V

ill
ag

e
B

ra
n

d
o

n
B

el
m

o
n

t 
an

d
 C

ar
vi

lle
C

h
e

st
e

r-
le

-S
tr

ee
t 

N
o

rt
h

M
ed

o
m

sl
ey

 a
n

d
 S

h
o

tl
ey

B
ra

ss
id

e
 a

n
d

 N
ew

to
n

 H
al

l
P

as
sf

ie
ld

 a
n

d
 S

h
o

tt
o

n

Sp
en

n
ym

o
o

r 
N

o
rt

h
 a

n
d

 T
u

d
h

o
e

La
n

ch
es

te
r

B
is

h
o

p
 M

id
d

le
h

am
 a

n
d

 S
ed

ge
fi

e
ld

B
ea

m
is

h
 O

u
st

o
n

 a
n

d
 U

rp
et

h
Se

ah
am

 N
o

rt
h

 a
n

d
 S

ea
to

n
P

age 62



The following map shows the distribution of those 41 MSOAs set against the distribution of the 

PRS in the county. 

Map 3: MSOAs in County with a PRS proportion higher than England 

 

All the indications are that the sector continues to grow both in absolute terms and relative to other 

tenures. The PRS has now replaced social housing as the second largest tenure in the city. There 

has been a rapid and substantial growth in the both the number and proportion of households 

living in the PRS across Great Britain – the number of households living in the PRS doubled 

between the 2001 and 2011 Census. 

The County Council has commissioned a stock condition survey across the county which will 

include indicators such as category 1 hazards and disrepair, where in general the private sector 

does not tend to perform as well as owner occupied properties. 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 63



The strategic case for Selective Licensing in County Durham 

The County Durham Housing Strategy was subject to consultation earlier in the year and was 

adopted on the 10th July 2019. It has been developed to consider housing issues in the County 

and to provide a strategic framework to inform actions and investment to result in positive 

outcomes for housing related themes in the County. 

In response to changing market and policy conditions, the council needs to have a Housing 

Strategy that is responsive and maintains an element of flexibility in order to respond positively to 

opportunities and promptly to housing market issues or changes in national policy. 

The strategy contains a series of ‘key messages’ which serve to articulate the council’s and its 

partners housing delivery priorities and approach to housing issues. One of the key messages in 

the strategy is to continue to focus on raising standards in the private rented sector and seek 

greater licencing powers in order to tackle poor landlords, as well continuing engagement with 

landlords and extending the Accredited Landlord Scheme for responsible landlords. 

The strategy framework sets out aims, objectives and detailed outcomes that align with its key 

messages. These set out what the council and its partners are seeking to achieve through the 

delivery of the Housing Strategy and align with the key messages. As part of its aim for ‘More and 

Better Homes’, through the Objective to ‘maintain and improve standards across County Durham’s 

housing stock and wider housing environment’, the Strategy has a detailed outcome to ‘Develop 

an approach to selective licencing in County Durham’  

The Housing Strategy details that the council’s approach to seeking to progress selective licensing 

is complimentary to other actions set out in the Housing Strategy and will be coordinated with the 

approaches to address homelessness, empty homes and other activities to support mixed and 

balanced communities. 

The Housing Strategy is also a delivery focused strategy that is supplemented by a strategic 

action plan. An action to develop a business case for selective licensing across County Durham is 

part of the action plan to raise standards within the private rented sector. 

One of the biggest challenges for Durham County Council is the limited number of good quality 
homes available in the Private Rented Sector. There are issues across the County with many 
areas experiencing large numbers of empty, abandoned and neglected dwellings. A large 
proportion of these properties tend to be concentrated in areas of deprivation and where the 
housing market is weak.  This is proving difficult to address, with housing renewal funding being 
reduced considerably over the last few years. Durham County Council is continuing to work in 
partnership to improve housing conditions particularly in the Private Rented Sector. 
 
In addition, evidence suggests that poor quality housing in County Durham is a possible 
contributory factor to poverty, homelessness and poor health conditions for some of our residents. 
 
The County Durham Housing Strategy 2019 to 2024 has been developed to consider and address 
housing issues across County Durham. There are four objectives included within the strategy: 

1. To provide housing advice, assistance and support for vulnerable people 
2. To improve access to housing 
3. To deliver homes to meet housing need and demand 
4. To maintain and improve standards across County Durham’s housing stock and the 

wider housing environment. This aim covers raising standards in the private rented 
sector, developing an approach to selective licensing, addressing empty homes, 
improving energy efficiency of properties and supporting and maintaining 
communities.  

Page 64



The Council’s approach to propose to introduce selective licensing is complimentary to other actions 
in the Housing Strategy and will be coordinated with the Council’s existing approach to addressing 
homelessness, poverty and health. This will be coordinated by working with key partners including 
the police, fire, health, housing providers, private landlords and the voluntary sector. 

The introduction of a Selective Licensing Scheme directly supports several council priorities 

included within several plans, strategies and existing actions.  

The empty homes policy and private rented sector policy will set out in detail those actions Council 

intends taking in order to address the existing levels of empty homes and poor housing stock in 

the private rented sector, particularly those properties empty for six months or more. Selective 

licensing will compliment this in terms of improving property condition and management and 

reducing empty properties. 

The financial assistance policy will offer several tools including low interest loans to owners to 

improve their properties. If selective licensing is implemented, landlords can access these loans 

which will result in an improved housing offer and a better standard of accommodation. 

The private rented sector is becoming difficult for local people to access particularly where there is 

a support need. Central Government is encouraging Local Authorities to provide alternate housing 

options, including setting up a local letting agencies (LLA). Working jointly with private landlords to 

help find tenants and in many cases bringing longstanding empty properties back into the letting 

market will be a key part of this and selective licensing will assist with the delivery due to the 

increased engagement and partnership working and the requirement that such landlords will need 

to have empty properties back into the letting market will be a key part of this and selective 

licensing will assist with the delivery due to the increased engagement and partnership working 

and the requirement that such landlords will need to have obtained a licence in respect of each of 

their properties to be able to access the LLA’s facilities. This will mean an increase in properties 

available and will contribute towards the prevention of homelessness and rough sleeping. 

If selective licensing is introduced, all those tenants housed in the licensed properties will benefit 

from services as landlords will be working closely with council staff. 

If selective licensing is introduced, early intervention should increase with landlords able to 

highlight tenancy issues and additional support needs. For those clients needing more support this 

will be made available to assist with tenancy sustainment. 

If the standards of accommodation are raised due to the introduction of selective licencing then 

this will have the added effect of tenants feeling more secure, at home and with them experiencing 

far fewer tenancy issues and, therefore, tenants will generally experience improved health and 

wellbeing 

Partnership working will make landlords aware of ongoing energy efficiency schemes. This will 

lead to improved housing in the private rented sector and reduced fuel poverty (affordable 

warmth). 

Landlords who are licensed will aim to work with local groups to address and manage anti-social 

behaviour. 

Housing has an important role to play in supporting wider health and wellbeing objectives and that 

health requirements inform differing housing needs. Impacting their risk of illnesses, quality of life 

and access to appropriate support services, housing plays an integral part in the health of 

individuals and the general population.  

The Public Health England (PHE) Housing and Health Memorandum of Understanding sets out 

some features of the right home environment including that it is free from hazards, safe from harm 
Page 65



and promotes sense of security. This would include work that contributes to the reduction of and 

protects against health harms. Examples include slips, trips and falls in the home (elderly) and 

accidents in the home (children).  

Children are also particularly vulnerable to poor housing in relation to respiratory health (cold 

homes, poor ventilation, second-hand smoke and proximity to major roads) and household injuries 

but often only represented by-proxy unless they have a specific disability. Whether people have a 

long-term condition, are experiencing social or health inequalities or simply have changing needs 

as they get older, it is important that all homes in County Durham provide a safe, inclusive and 

secure environment for people to live and grow within their local community.  

There are also increasing pressures on low income families following welfare reform.  The various 

changes limit the amount of housing benefit payable towards housing costs. Families and single 

people have been affected by this and their housing options have become more limited. The 

introduction of universal credit has resulted in people falling into rent arrears whilst waiting for their 

first payment.  

County Durham is also diverse from a health and wellbeing perspective. Overall health and 

wellbeing have improved significantly in County Durham over time, but it remains below the 

England average. In addition, large health inequalities remain across County Durham, especially 

with regards to breastfeeding, babies born to mothers who smoke, childhood obesity and 

premature deaths. 

The health and wellbeing of County Durham’s population is shaped by a wide variety of social, 

economic and environmental factors (such as poverty, housing, ethnicity, place of residence, 

education and environment). The wider or social determinants of health can be described as ‘the 

causes of the causes of health inequalities. These are the conditions in which people are born, 

grow, live, work and age, and are central to our health and wellbeing. 

14% of households in County Durham are fuel poor (in bands E, F and G) compared to 13.8% in 

the North-East region. Evidence has determined that proportions of people in fuel poverty varies 

across County Durham. The evidence noted that the lower super output areas (LSOA) with the 

highest proportion of fuel poor households are in the west of County Durham. This can often be a 

symptom of households in some areas of County Durham not having access to the main gas 

network which results in them having to make use of more expensive alternative heating systems.  

Durham’s ambition for the Private Rented Sector 
 
The private rented sector in Durham has increased significantly since the census 2001 and 

evidence indicates that this sector is still growing. In 2001 an estimated 7.6% of all households in 

the county were living in privately rented properties, which increased to 12.6% in 2011 (Census 

estimate), increasing the number of privately rented properties to over 28,000. It is now estimated 

to be at 23.2%. 

Private rented accommodation is a valuable part of the housing market and the recently approved 

Housing Strategy for County Durham recognises this.   One of the aims/outcomes in the Housing 

Strategy is to raise standards in the private rented sector and the standard requirements of 

selective licensing will contribute to this.  Selective licensing will be co-ordinated with strategies 

such as homelessness, empty homes, and other activities to support mixed, balanced and 

sustainable communities. 

Durham County Council aims to encourage a more professional private rented sector through 

advice, guidance and negotiation and initiatives such as: 

• Advice and information – provided to both landlords and tenants regarding their 

rights and responsibilities of renting a property. Page 66



• Empty Homes – working with property owners through engagement and 

encouragement including the provision of financial assistance such as targeted loans 

and grants to bring empty properties back into use. 

• Financial Assistance Policy – the policy complements the range of measures 

employed by the Council, aimed at improving and maintaining healthy living 

conditions within the existing housing stock. It specifically seeks to help homeowners 

to improve, repair and adapt their properties. Other assistance is also available to 

help and support people with housing needs. Whilst the policy will target assistance 

at those who are elderly, disabled or on a low income, assistance will also be 

targeted at preventing decline within neighbourhoods in need of support. 

• Accreditation – this is a voluntary scheme whereby landlords state they are of good 

character and sign up to a code of conduct.  As part of this they are offered benefits 

such as advice and support, tenant referencing, training, access to a Council run 

landlords’ forum and quarterly newsletters, as well as template documentation. 

Landlords can also advertise via the Durham Key Options website, which is the local 

authority’s portal for housing options including social housing and low-cost home 

ownership. 

• Targeted intervention – time limited projects incorporating regular multi-agency 

intervention through the Safe Durham Partnership and Community Action Team. This 

includes a range of council services and partners working together to address 

specific ongoing problems or where an area needs some additional support and 

focus. This is a mixture of engagement and targeted enforcement on a short-term 

basis. 

• Support Services – both low level and intense support is available to tenants whose 

 behaviour impacts on their tenancy or the surrounding neighbourhood, providing 

help with managing tenancies, help with finances, substance misuse and 

homelessness. 

In addition, Durham County Council have several initiatives currently being introduced that will 

assist with some of the challenges in our local communities, these measures will work in 

conjunction with the Council’s selective licensing proposals. 

Local Lettings Agency 

In July 2019, Cabinet gave permission for Durham County Council to establish an LLA to provide 
general needs housing to rough sleepers and those unable to access mainstream housing. As 
LLA) is a general term applied to schemes that secure access to decent, affordable private rental 
accommodation for households and individuals in need and on low incomes who would previously 
have been unlikely to access housing. Durham County Council has been successful in obtaining 
£252,538 funding from the Ministry of Housing and Local Communities (MHCLG) under the Rapid 
Rehousing Pathway (RRP) which has been made available in order to support the setting up of 
local lettings agencies by Local Authorities. The LLA must provide 70 properties by July 2020, this 
will be done via a leasehold scheme with the LLA leasing properties from owners, assuming part 
management, then renting to those in need. 

Buy to Lease 

Durham County Council will acquire at least 20 properties via funding from Homes England and 

capital funding totalling £1,200,000 by March 2021. Properties will be purchased and refurbished 

utilising the funding, with the LLA managing the properties as part of a rental scheme. These 

properties will be used specifically to free up existing supported accommodation, by providing 

additional homes with support for those ready for semi-independent living (i.e. reducing ‘bed-

blocking’). 

Page 67



Tenant Training  

Durham County Council’s Adult Learning Service have developed a Tenancy Skills course aimed 

at helping those unable to access or manage a first-time tenancy or know how to develop the 

necessary skills. This will be available to Durham Key Options (Durham’s housing register) 

applicants and LLA tenants. In addition, Durham County Council are working with Crisis to provide 

a tenancy skill course to excluded groups, including those in prison. Both courses will run as pilot 

and be evaluated for future development. 

Rough Sleepers Initiative (RSI) 

Durham County Council received £700,000 from MHCLG to coordinate services to rough sleepers 

across the North-East region. Durham has benefited through RSI funding by providing an 

Outreach Worker to engage with rough sleepers across the County. There are now 

Accommodation Officers based in HMP Durham and Holme House to provide housing assistance 

while offenders are serving sentences/on remand increasing housing options on release. In 

addition, three Substance Misuse Workers are being provided across Durham & Tees Valley to 

engage with rough sleepers, those at risk of homelessness and those already homeless, that have 

substance misuse issues. 

All projects will work in conjunction with selective licensing, assisting in the development of 
sustainable communities and providing additional support to tenants who need it enabling them to 
manage a tenancy independently and reducing the impact on the tenancy and local community. 

Interim measures for the former selective licensing areas in County Durham 

Following discussions with partners and landlords we have put the following measures in place 
when three previous designations (see ‘Alternative measures’ below) came to an end, to ensure 
engagement with landlords in the area and to attempt to prevent the areas reverting to their former 
position. These measures include monthly multi-agency walkabouts, free accreditation, and a 
single point of contact at the Council. 

 

  

Page 68



Alternative measures in County Durham 

Former designated selective licensing areas 

Durham County Council had three former selective licensing designations since 2008, Dean Bank, 

Ferryhill, Chilton West and Wembley, Easington Colliery. The original selective licensing 

designations were introduced under the former district councils, in conjunction with their housing 

market renewal programmes. 

The three areas were once thriving communities before the reduction of the coal industry. They 

have since suffered from below average property prices and high levels of empty properties along 

with other issues such as anti-social behaviour, crime and environmental issues. 

All three areas were designated across two 5-year schemes. And have now come to a natural 

end. 

Dean Bank and Chilton West 

Properties here consist of a high proportion of poor quality older terraced housing and above 

average levels of private rented accommodation. 

Selective licensing was introduced in 2008 to complement other measures identified in the former 

Sedgefield Masterplan, including selective demolition, new build, group repair and environmental 

improvements.  

The areas have been supported in terms of renewal and investment for selective demolition, group 

repair and environmental improvements. Due to changes in the economic climate, some of the 

physical elements identified have not been delivered but improvements to properties and the 

environment are continuing.   

Wembley 

Selective Licensing was first introduced in February 2009 by the former Easington District Council, 

of which Durham County Council is the successor. The area was suffering from high levels of 

empty homes, poor housing conditions and low property prices, resulting in high levels of private 

rented accommodation. 

Investment in the area went alongside the selective licensing scheme with capital investment 

being used for extensive group repair works which were carried out over three phases. This was 

intended to improve property condition, the local environment and increase housing demand. 

During the lifespan of the two former selective licensing schemes there have been various 

measures of enforcement carried out in relation to either failing to obtain the necessary licence or 

breaching the set licence conditions. 

Below is a summary of enforcement carried out, some of which resulted in both prosecution and a 

fine for the landlords involved: 
 

Table 2: Summary of enforcement 

Area Non-compliance Breach of licence 
conditions 

Formal Warnings Informal 
Warnings 

Dean Bank 7 2 5 4 

Chilton 
West 

3 1 1 2 

Wembley 4 2 9 11 

Total 14 5 15 17 

 

Page 69



Evaluations carried out at the end of the schemes identified that selective licensing had made a 

positive impact within these areas with a reduction in reported crime and anti-social behaviour and 

positive improvements being seen in both the condition and management of private rented 

properties. However, some issues still exist, as presented in this evidence report. 

Legal powers 

Part 1 Housing Act 2004 enforcement  

Improvements by way of formal notice being served. Landlords can be prosecuted or civil penalty 

if notice not complied with and council can do work in default. Process is time consuming with 

appeal provisions extending the time for compliance. There is no obligation on the landlord to be 

proactive in improving the property conditions. Work in default can be effective but expensive and 

adds the risk of costs not being recovered. Prosecutions often do not cover the council’s costs and 

do not necessarily achieve improvements in property condition.   

Anti-social Behaviour (ASB) powers 

Formal notices can be served to the occupant which will resolve ASB if notice complied with. 

Premises closures – respite for community short term but doesn’t improve landlord practices 

longer term. Action available is usually on the tenant and there is no provision to place any 

obligation on landlords to proactively manage their properties to reduce or prevent ASB in their 

properties. 

Prosecutions and civil penalties for housing offences 

As well as penalising landlords for their poor practices can also act as a deterrent to other 

landlords operating in a similar manner. Prosecutions or civil penalties do not secure 

improvements to property conditions or place any obligation on the landlord to be proactive in 

improving conditions. The absence of licensing reduces the scope for the Council to impose civil 

penalties for identified housing breaches. 

Landlord accreditation 

Voluntary scheme - can secure improvements in property condition and management practice for 

those landlords who choose to become a member. As it requires voluntary engagement rogue or 

poor landlords are unlikely to participate. In Durham there have been a relatively low number of 

landlords who have joined the scheme in comparison to the overall number of private rented 

properties across the County despite organising several landlord events to promote the scheme. 

Empty homes initiatives 

The Council already charge a premium rate of council tax for long term empty properties to deter 

owners from leaving them empty and have recently consulted on raising this premium further. 

The Council are already proactive in their approach for tackling empty homes, often using a multi-

agency approach as well as offering loans and grants to assist homeowners to bring properties 

back to a decent standard. We have exceeded empty homes targets and believe selective 

licensing will allow us to build on the improvements already made. 

HMOs and the Student Population in County Durham 

County Durham is home to Durham University which is regularly ranked in the top ten in the 

University Guide League nationally, and in the top 100 internationally, and as such attracts many 

students from around the country and the world.  In recent years the University has also expanded 

Page 70



its capacity increasing the number of registered students1 to 18,700 in total from 14.300 in 

2003/04. 

This has led to an increased demand for off-site accommodation mainly found in the form of local 

residential properties that have been registered as HMOs.  More recently there has also been an 

increase in building single large-scale developments of privately owned and run accommodation 

blocks within the Durham City area. 

Current figures show that there are 790 registered HMOs within County Durham with the majority 

located in and around the city centre.  The three MSOAs of Durham City, Gilesgate Moor and 

Langley Moor & Nevilles Cross MSOAs contain 766 registered HMOs. 

While these areas are covered by a separate HMO licensing scheme, detailed in the sections 

below, there is still an estimated 39% of properties that have been identified as potential privately 

rented in the area.   

Targeted area-based intervention 

Various time limited projects are ongoing within our communities, using a targeted multi agency 

approach to deal with a range of local issues. This intervention is resource intensive and often only 

provides improvements in the short term. 

Having reviewed the options above, it is not considered that they would provide the mechanism to 

deliver the same level of improvements as selective licensing and meet the objectives in the 

Housing Strategy. We believe that selective licensing would work alongside these other measures 

to achieve the needed improvements and have a positive impact on residents living in the private 

sector as well as the wider community. 

There is no single intervention that will achieve an overall solution to a problem, and each 

measure will have its limitations. Selective Licensing will provide a co-ordinated approach for 

strong effective partnerships that links agencies and services using a range of interventions. 

Licensing options for local authorities 

The Housing Act 2004 introduced licensing in relation to privately rented properties.  

There are three different types of schemes, one mandatory (i.e. a national scheme that applies to 

certain Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs)) and two discretionary schemes that each allow 

Local Authorities to designate areas within those schemes at a local level. 

Mandatory HMO Licensing 

Part 2 of the Housing Act 2004 provides for licensing of HMOs if they meet the definition of a HMO 

as prescribed under section 55 of the act.  

The original mandatory licensing scheme introduced in April 2006 applied to HMOs with three or 

more storeys and five or more persons forming two or more households. From October 2018 

licensing was extended to all HMOs occupied by five persons or more in two or more households, 

regardless of the number of storeys, and where the householders lack or share amenities such as 

a toilet, personal washing facilities and/or cooking facilities. It also applies to purpose-built flats 

where there are up to two flats in the block and one or both are occupied as an HMO. 

Additional HMO Licensing (discretionary) 

Part 2 also makes provision to introduce Additional Licensing where Local Authorities believe that 

a significant proportion of HMOs that do not fall into mandatory HMO licensing are not being 

                                                           
1 Durham University Summary Statistics: https://www.dur.ac.uk/student.registry/statistics/summary/1.1summary/ Page 71

https://www.dur.ac.uk/student.registry/statistics/summary/1.1summary/


managed effectively and are, as a result, causing problems for both the occupants and members 

of the public. In 2012 Durham County Council engaged the Building Research Establishment to 

survey, review and report on the physical condition and management standards in non-licensed 

HMO’s within the county. Their conclusion was that additional licensing was not justified. 

Selective Licensing (discretionary) 

Part 3 of the Housing Act 2004 gives Local Authorities the powers to designate either part or the 

whole of their area as selective licensing providing certain conditions are met. A Selective 

Licensing Scheme applies to private rented properties and, where there is such a scheme, those 

managing or in control of private rented accommodation will need to obtain a licence directly from 

the Local Authority for each property they let.  

The Selective Licensing of Houses (Additional Conditions) (England) Order 2015 advises that a 

selective licensing designation may only be made if the area satisfies one or more of the following 

conditions: 

The area must be experiencing one or more of the following- 

• Low housing demand 

• Significant and persistent anti-social behaviour 

• Poor property conditions* 

• High levels of migration* 

• High levels of deprivation* 

• High levels of crime* 

*In addition, if this condition applies then the designated area must have high levels of private 

rented accommodation. 

  

Page 72



Our proposal for Selective Licensing 

This report addresses the key points above and details the evidence to demonstrate which of the 

criteria is satisfied in each of the proposed designated areas within County Durham.  

Guidance has been produced by the Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG), 

advising that the Council must identify the objectives a designation will help to achieve and 

whether there are other courses of action that would achieve the same objective. 

It also states that to be considered, any Selective Licensing Scheme must form part of the 

Council’s overall housing strategies including homelessness, anti-social behaviour and empty 

homes. 

If the Council makes a designation covering 20% or more of its geographical area or affects more 

than 20% of their private rented stock, then an application will need to be submitted to the 

Secretary of State for approval. 

The Council must consult on its proposals for at least 10 weeks prior to making an application to 

introduce selective licensing. 

There are many benefits linked to selective licensing including providing tenants with a greater 

choice of safe, good quality and well managed homes, better community and cross tenure 

relations, reduced anti-social behaviour, and help to stabilise and improve local neighbourhoods 

This will be achieved by focussing on improving management standards of properties through 

establishing clear minimum physical and management standards which can be controlled through 

the licensing framework. This will be supported by proactive enforcement action taken against 

both unlicensed properties and/or where there are breaches to the licensing conditions with a ‘light 

touch’ for good professional landlords who are operating effectively. 

In the absence of a wide selective licensing process and given that the next Census is not due 

until Spring 2021, with results available from mid-2022, a modelling process was developed to 

estimate the current proportion of households likely to be privately rented.  This process is like 

processes used by other authorities looking to, or having, implemented selective licensing within 

their boundaries, to estimate and develop an understanding of their Private Rented Sector (PRS). 

Starting with a countywide extract form the National Land and Property Gazetteer (NLPG) and 

matching the residential address held within this dataset to authority datasets an initial estimate of 

the number of PRS properties was calculated.  The authority datasets included address lists of 

socially rented properties for exclusion, housing benefit records for inclusion and council tax 

records for verification.  Other smaller internal datasets were also used to refine and assess the 

output from this process. 

The council has carried out extensive data collection and analysis against each of the conditions 

set out in the Housing Act 2004 and the General Approval 2015. 

The council are proposing to introduce a selective licensing scheme into 43 areas across the 

county where we feel we can meet the necessary conditions set out and that the scheme will 

contribute to the overall objectives in the Council Vision for 2035 and the County Durham Plan, 

which are intrinsically linked; along with the Housing Strategy and Homelessness Strategy. 

The Council is seeking four designations on the conditions of: 

• low housing demand; 

• anti-social behaviour; 

• deprivation; and 

• low demand and ASB (both conditions).  
Page 73



We propose all PRS properties in the following areas be designated under the stated condition: 

Low Demand 

• Annfield Plain South and South Moor 

• Langley Park, Cornsay and Satley 

• Esh Winning and Ushaw Moor West 

• Sacriston and Waldridge 

• Annfield Plain North and Dipton South 

• Leadgate North and Consett East 

• Pelton and Grange Villa 

• Cornfortjh and Ferryhill 

• Crook North, Howden-le-Wear and Tow Law 

• Crook South and Willington North 

• Cockton Hill and Etherley Dene 

• St Hellens Auckland and West Auckland 

• Henknowle and Woodhouse Close 

• Stanley North and Kip Hill 

• Delves and Leadgate South 

• Bearpark and Witton Gilbert 

• Cassop and Coxhoe 

• Fishburn and Trimdons 

• Byers Green and Spennymoor 

Anti-social behaviour (ASB) 

• Chester-le-Street and Pelton Fell 

• Dalton-le-Dale and Deneside 

• Acre Rigg and Peterlee Central 

• Passfield and Shotton 

• Craghead and South Stanley 

• Sherburn and West Rainton 

• Gilesgate Moor 

• Aycliffe Village, Newton Aycliffe South 

• Consett West and Castleside 

Low Demand and ASB – both 

• Dawdon and Seaham Harbour 

• Murton South and South Hetton 

• Easington Colliery North 

• Thornley Deaf Hill and Wheatley Hill 

• Bishop Auckland and South Church 

• Chilton and Ferryhill Station 

• Hutton Henry and Wingate 

Deprivation 

• Shotton Colliery 

• Easington Colliery South and Eden Hill 

• Blackhalls 

• Horden 

• Coundon and Willington South Page 74



• Newton Aycliffe Central 

• Spennymoor Green Lane and Dean Bank 

• Shildon 

 

Areas not included for designation 

There are 23 MSOAs which are not included in the proposals for designation.  

We have chosen not to include in our proposal the western geographical area of County Durham 

following analysis of the data, as we did not feel it would benefit from selective licensing:  

• Barnard Castle, Stanhope and Wolsingham, Hamsterley and Staindrop and Bowes and 

Middleton-in-Teesdale.  

Although two of these MSOAs may meet the conditions for poor property, we believe this is related 

to the type of stock and limited access to cost effective heating and so acknowledge selective 

licensing may not be the best course of action to address these issues. One MSOA is above 

average for low demand properties when compared to the North-East but comparative to other 

areas in County Durham cannot be confidently evidenced to be in low demand - and many of the 

homes in this area (as with other areas in the west) are second homes. 

14 of the 23 MSOAs not included in the proposal do not meet any criteria for selective licensing 

designation. 

A further 5 MSOAs, although meeting some criteria when compared to the North-East data, may 

not meet the required test when compared with other areas in County Durham. This includes 

Durham City, which is the main university student accommodation area and is largely covered by 

existing HMO schemes. 

The evidence for our proposals is summarised in the pages below. 

The comprehensive evidence to support this proposal, the data analysis in relation to other 

conditions (available for designating areas for selective licensing) and the full list of areas not 

included in our proposals can be found in Appendix A. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 75



The graph below shows all 66 MSOAs in County Durham and the criteria for selective licensing that they meet when compared to the relevant 

area (either to the North-East or to the County average, depending on the data available). 

Graph 2: All MSOAs in County Durham by criteria met 

 

A
n

n
fi
e

ld
 P

la
in

 S
o
u

th
 a

n
d
 S

o
u

th
 M

o
o

r

B
is

h
o

p
 A

u
c
k
la

n
d

 a
n

d
 S

o
u

th
 C

h
u

rc
h

B
la

c
k
h

a
lls

C
h
ilt

o
n
 a

n
d
 F

e
rr

y
h

ill
 S

ta
ti
o

n

C
o
u

n
d

o
n
 a

n
d
 W

ill
in

g
to

n
 S

o
u

th

E
a

s
in

g
to

n
 C

o
lli

e
ry

 N
o

rt
h

H
o

rd
e
n

H
u

tt
o
n

 H
e

n
ry

 a
n

d
 W

in
g

a
te

S
h

o
tt

o
n

 C
o
lli

e
ry

T
h

o
rn

le
y
 D

e
a
f 

H
ill

 a
n
d

 W
h
e

a
tl
e

y
 H

Il
l

A
n

n
fi
e

ld
 P

la
in

 N
o
rt

h
 a

n
d

 D
ip

to
n
 S

o
u

th

C
o
rn

fo
rt

h
 a

n
d

 F
e

rr
y
h

ill

D
a
w

d
o
n

 a
n
d

 S
e

a
h

a
m

 H
a

rb
o
u

r

E
a

s
in

g
to

n
 C

o
lli

e
ry

 S
o

u
th

 a
n

d
 E

d
e

n
 H

ill

M
u

rt
o

n
 S

o
u

th
 a

n
d

 S
o

u
th

 H
e

tt
o

n

S
h

ild
o

n

S
p

e
n

n
y
m

o
o
r-

G
re

e
n

 L
a

n
e
 a

n
d
 D

e
a

n
…

B
y
e
rs

 G
re

e
n

 a
n
d

 S
p

e
n

n
y
m

o
o

r

C
ra

g
h
e

a
d
 a

n
d
 S

o
u

th
 S

ta
n
le

y

G
ile

s
g

a
te

 M
o

o
r

L
e
a

d
g

a
te

 N
o

rt
h

 a
n
d

 C
o

n
s
e

tt
 E

a
s
t

P
e

lt
o

n
 a

n
d

 G
ra

n
g

e
 V

ill
a

S
t 

H
e
le

n
s
 A

u
c
k
la

n
d

 a
n

d
 W

e
s
t 

A
u

c
k
la

n
d

S
ta

n
le

y
 N

o
rt

h
 a

n
d
 K

ip
 H

ill

A
y
c
lif

fe
 V

ill
a
g

e
 N

e
w

to
n

 A
y
c
lif

fe
 S

o
u

th

C
h
e

s
te

r-
le

-S
tr

e
e

t 
W

e
s
t 
a

n
d

 P
e

lt
o
n

 F
e
ll

C
o
c
k
to

n
 H

ill
 a

n
d

 E
th

e
rl

e
y
 D

e
n
e

C
o
n

s
e

tt
 W

e
s
t 

a
n
d

 C
a

s
tl
e

s
id

e

C
ro

o
k
 N

o
rt

h
 H

o
w

d
e

n
-l

e
-W

e
a

r 
a
n

d
…

C
ro

o
k
 S

o
u
th

 a
n

d
 W

ill
in

g
to

n
 N

o
rt

h

D
e

lv
e

s
 a

n
d
 L

e
a

d
g

a
te

 S
o
u

th

D
u
rh

a
m

 C
it
y

E
s
h
 W

in
n

in
g

 a
n
d

 U
s
h
a

w
 M

o
o

r 
W

e
s
t

H
e
n

k
n

o
w

le
 a

n
d

 W
o
o

d
h
o

u
s
e

 C
lo

s
e

L
a
n

g
le

y
 P

a
rk

 C
o
rn

s
a
y
 a

n
d

 S
a
tl
e

y

N
e
w

to
n
 A

y
c
lif

fe
 C

e
n
tr

a
l

S
h

e
rb

u
rn

 a
n

d
 W

e
s
t 

R
a
in

to
n

A
c
re

 R
ig

g
 a

n
d
 P

e
te

rl
e

e
 C

e
n

tr
a
l

B
a

rn
a

rd
 C

a
s
tl
e
 a

n
d

 S
ta

rt
fo

rt
h

B
e

a
rp

a
rk

 a
n

d
 W

it
to

n
 G

ilb
e

rt

B
o

u
rn

m
o
o

r 
a

n
d

 G
re

a
t 

L
u

m
le

y

B
o

w
b
u
rn

 a
n
d

 S
h

in
c
lif

fe

B
o

w
e
s
 a

n
d

 M
id

d
le

to
n

-i
n
-T

e
e

s
d

a
le

B
u

rn
o

p
fi
e

ld
 D

ip
to

n
 N

o
rt

h
 a

n
d
 T

a
n
to

b
ie

C
a
s
s
o

p
 a

n
d
 C

o
x
h

o
e

D
a
lt
o

n
-l
e

-D
a
le

 a
n

d
 D

e
n

e
s
id

e

F
is

h
b
u

rn
 a

n
d

 T
ri

m
d
o

n
s

F
ra

m
w

e
llg

a
te

 M
o

o
r 

a
n

d
 P

it
y
 M

e

H
a

m
s
te

rl
e

y
 a

n
d

 S
ta

in
d

ro
p

P
a

s
s
fi
e

ld
 a

n
d
 S

h
o

tt
o

n

S
a

c
ri

s
to

n
 a

n
d

 W
a

ld
ri

d
g
e

S
p

e
n

n
y
m

o
o
r 

N
o

rt
h
 a

n
d
 T

u
d
h

o
e

B
e

a
m

is
h

 O
u
s
to

n
 a

n
d
 U

rp
e

th

B
e

lm
o

n
t 

a
n
d

 C
a

rv
ill

e

B
is

h
o

p
 M

id
d

le
h

a
m

 a
n
d

 S
e

d
g

e
fi
e

ld

B
ra

n
d

o
n

B
ra

s
s
id

e
 a

n
d

 N
e
w

to
n

 H
a

ll

C
h
e

s
te

r-
le

-S
tr

e
e

t 
N

o
rt

h

C
h
e

s
te

r-
le

-S
tr

e
e

t 
S

o
u
th

L
a
n

c
h
e

s
te

r

L
a
n

g
le

y
 M

o
o
r 

a
n

d
 N

e
v
ill

e
s
 C

ro
s
s

M
e

d
o

m
s
le

y
 a

n
d
 S

h
o

tl
e

y

M
id

ri
d

g
e

 a
n

d
 W

o
o

d
h

a
m

 V
ill

a
g
e

N
e
w

to
n
 A

y
c
lif

fe
 E

a
s
t

S
e

a
h

a
m

 N
o

rt
h

 a
n

d
 S

e
a

to
n

S
ta

n
h

o
p
e

 a
n
d

 W
o
ls

in
g

h
a

m

Low Demand ASB Poor Property Condition Deprivation Crime

P
age 76



Detailed analysis 

The map below shows all areas within County Durham meeting the criteria for low demand and/or 

ASB. 

Map 4: PRS, ‘Low Demand’ and ‘ASB’ by MSOA 

 

Appendix A contains a full table of all 66 MSOAs in the county and which criteria each satisfies.   

Low demand in County Durham  

An area can be designated under low demand, if it can demonstrate that the area suffers from low 

housing demand or is likely to become such an area. The local authority should consider the 

following: 

 

• Average House Price - the value of residential premises in the area in comparison to the 

value of similar premises in other areas which the authority considers to be comparable; 

• Vacancy Rate – the number of premises left vacant and the length of time they remain 

vacant; 

• Turnover Rate – the rate at which the occupiers change in the residential premises. 

• Number or residential properties available to rent or buy and the length of time they remain 

unoccupied; 

• The general appearance of the locality and number of boarded up shops and properties. 

Low demand is dictated by lower average house prices and higher vacancy rates - turnover is 

used as supplementary evidence as an area does not necessarily need to have high turnover 

rates to be designated. An area with high turnover may indicate low demand but in some areas 

with low turnover this may be due to high numbers of empties where people do not wish to move – 

this link will be explained where it occurs, later in the report.  

We should compare against values from similar areas and we have decided to predominantly 

compare against the North-East region. Due to County Durham being unique in its demography Page 77



and geography it is difficult to compare to a matching area.  As we have decided to use the (Office 

of National Statistics) MSOA defined geographical areas to build our selective licensing areas- and 

that many of the datasets we have used are internal datasets- it was not always possible to 

compare data to the North-East region. Therefore, it was decided that for: 

• internal datasets, comparisons would be made against the county average and, 

• for datasets available nationally, comparisons would be made against the North-East 

region. 

In accordance with the General Approval guidance, the below are the tests that local authorities 

should apply when seeking designation for selective licensing based on low demand 

The value of residential premises in the area, in comparison to the value of similar premises in 
other areas which the authority considers to be comparable (whether in terms of type of housing, 
local amenities, availability of transport): 
 

• The average house price in County Durham is £121,143 compared with £147,149 for the 
North-East region. 52 of the 66 MSOA areas (79%) are below the North-East average. 
Property prices range from £63,605 (Horden) to £218,005 in Langley Moor and Nevilles 
Cross. 

• The average house price in 39 areas is below the County average. 

• The median house price for County Durham is similar to the mean average (£119,000) but 
North-East median house price is £133,000 which is some way lower than the average. 
Despite this, 46 of the 66 (70%) areas in County Durham are still below this median figure. 

• 38 % of properties within the county are terraced properties with 72% falling into the lower 
council tax bands of A and B.  

• The average median monthly rent in the North-East of England, is £4952. In County 
Durham it is £450, nearly 10% lower. 

 
The number of residential premises which are available to buy or rent, and the length of time for 
which they remain unoccupied: 

• The overall vacancy rate across the county is 4.6% which is higher than both the national 
and regional average with 2.6% being vacant for 6 months or more 

The latest data used (see table below) in this analysis covered up to 31st March 2019 and showed 

that in total there were 11,178 empty homes in County Durham out of a potential 241,600 

residential addresses, (4.6%); of these empty homes, 55.3% have been vacant for over 6 months 

(6,184). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                           
2 Rental market statistics: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/private-rental-market-summary-statistics-april-2018-to-march-2019 Page 78

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/private-rental-market-summary-statistics-april-2018-to-march-2019
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/private-rental-market-summary-statistics-april-2018-to-march-2019


Table 3: Vacant Dwellings        

 
  County Durham North-East (2018) 

All vacant 
Count 11,178 44,672 

% of homes in the 
area 

4.6 3.6 

Vacant >6 
months 

Count 6,184 16,979 

% of homes in the 
area 

2.6 1.4 

% of all vacant 55.3 38.0 

Vacant >12 
months 

Count 4,410 - 

% of homes in the 
area 

1.8 - 

% of all vacant 39.5 - 

 

The turnover of occupiers of residential premises (in both rented and owner-occupied properties): 

• The total number of sales in 2018 was 8288 (3.4% of total properties, all tenure type), 
compared with 41,281 in the North-East (3.4% of total properties, all tenure type). 

• Over this period nearly 27,000 dwellings had two or more changes of occupier in County 
Durham, (a rate of 1094.1 per 10,000 residential dwellings).   

 

The turnover rate is the rate at which the occupiers in a residential dwelling change and as 

explained above following advice from MHCLG can be used a supplemental evidence instead of a 

statutory measure of ‘Low Demand’.   

The turnover rate in County Durham was estimated using council tax data by looking at the 

number of changes of a dwellings status within the council tax database.  Over the three-year 

period April 2016 to March 2019 dwellings that showed two or more changes in occupier were 

counted and aggregated up to MSOA, proposed licensing area and the county.   

The general appearance of the locality and the number of boarded up shops and properties: 
 
When considering the appearance of each locality, we will take the following into consideration. 
 

• Vacant properties  

• Fly tipping 

• Pests 
 

Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB) in County Durham 

An area can be designated under ASB if it can be shown the area is experiencing a significant and 

persistent problem caused by anti-social behaviour.  In seeking a ‘ASB’ designation we have 

considered the following: 

• Police ASB – three years of data covering 2015/16 to 2017/18 for comparison purposes 

with the North-East, with data available for 2018/19 for persistence analysis detailed below, 

• Fire Brigade Secondary Fires - three years of data covering 2016/17 to 2018/19 for 

comparison purposes with the North-East, 

• Durham County Council (DCC) – ASB and noise complaints (July 2016 to July 2019 and 

2016/17 to 2018/19 respectively). 

We have used the most up to date information available - in the case of Police ASB, data covering 

2015/16 to 2017/18 was used to enable comparisons against the region, as regional data was not 

Page 79



available for 2018/19 at the time of this analysis.  In addition, the DCC ASB was extracted from a 

new system which came online in July 2016. 

Each of these three datasets contain further indicators to sub-divide ASB into categories.  In some 

cases, these categories do not directly relate to this selective licensing process and so were 

removed before the analysis was undertaken. 

Over the three-year time period detailed above there were an estimated 71,958 incidents 

categorised under ASB across County Durham equalling a rate of 1374 incidents per 10,000 

residents.   

Overall 59% of authority ASB complaints were categorised under ‘Personal’, 51% of noise 

complaints were for barking dogs, 64% of Police ASB were around nuisance incidents and 53% of 

secondary fire incidents were around Loose refuse fires. 

Graph 3: Relationship between private rented sector and ASB by MSOA in County Durham 

 

Although Police ASB rates in County Durham has fallen slightly, the data shows that over this 

three-year period there have been increases in local authority ASB and noise complaints, and 

secondary fires. 

Over the three-year period, the proportion of incidents by year remained stable, however, the 

proportion of authority ASB incidents increased from 24.7% to 58.7% of total authority ASB, noise 

from 30% to 36.3% of total noise complaints and secondary fires from 26.4% to 38.7% of total 

secondary fires.  Only Police ASB proportions fell from 37.5% to 29.7% of all ASB incidents.  The 

following table and chart detail these changes. 

Table 4: Change over time by ASB category – proportions and rates 

  

Proportion of ASB Incidents 
by category 

Rate per 10,000 residents 

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 

DCC ASB 24.7% 16.6% 58.7% 31.4 21.0 74.5 

DCC Noise 30.0% 33.7% 36.3% 37.0 41.4 44.7 

Police ASB 37.5% 32.8% 29.7% 34.7 292.8 265.1 

Secondary 
Fires 

26.4% 34.9% 38.7% 36.1 40.0 430.4 

Overall 34.5% 31.4% 34.0% 430.4 391.4 424.3 

 

R² = 0.199

0.0

10.0

20.0

30.0

40.0

50.0

60.0

70.0

0.0 500.0 1000.0 1500.0 2000.0 2500.0 3000.0 3500.0

%
 P

R
S

ASB rate per 10,000 residents

Relationship between private rented sector and ASB

Page 80



Graph 4: ASB percentage totals between 2016 and 2019 in County Durham 

 

Deprivation 

The guidance states that an area can be designation under the ‘Deprivation’ criteria if: 

• that the area is suffering from a high level of deprivation, which affects a significant number 

of the occupiers of properties. 

For the purposes of this analysis the Index of Deprivation 20153 was used as a basis to evaluate 

the areas experiencing higher levels of deprivation and it was determined, using this indicator, that 

this area does in fact experience higher levels of deprivation. 

Of the 66 MSOAs in County Durham, 33 were in the top 30% most deprived MSOAs nationally 

and they cover 47% of the resident population in the County.  Of these 33 MSOAs, ten are in the 

top 10% of deprived MSOAs nationally and represent 14% of the resident population.   

Eight of these ten MSOAs in the top 10% of deprived areas nationally have higher levels of PRS 

properties and have been included in our designation area for meeting the condition of deprivation, 

and these are listed on pages 18 and 19 of this report. 

Supplemental Evidence 

Although the proposal is to designate on the ‘Low Demand’, ‘ASB’ and ‘Deprivation’ criteria, 

County Durham also experiences issues with the other criteria of ‘Poor Property Conditions’, and 

‘Crime’. 

Migration is not considered to be a significant feature of the housing market in Durham and 

so this condition has not been included in the evidence base. 

Note: To designate on one of more of these additional criteria the area also must have higher 

proportions of PRS. 

 

                                                           
3 Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government Index of Deprivation 2015: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/english-indices-of-deprivation  

 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

DCC ASB DCC Noise Police ASB Secondary Fires Overall

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3

Page 81

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/english-indices-of-deprivation
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/english-indices-of-deprivation


Migration 

The guidance states that an area can be designation under the ‘Migration’ criteria if: 

• that area has recently experienced or is experiencing an influx of migration into it, and 

• that a significant number of the properties referred to above are occupied by those 

migrants. 

There is no evidence to support the second of these requirements, however, through the analysis 

of the Office for National Statistics 2017 Population Estimates and births/deaths data, it is possible 

to estimate overall levels of migration in or out of an area. 

The analysis showed that 21 MSOAs have seen outward migration since 2011, contrary to the 

requirements in the guidance.  11 of these 21 MSOAs also have higher estimated PRS.  

Poor Property Conditions 

In addition to ‘DCC ASB complaints’, two other datasets were used to identify areas with poorer 

property conditions than the rest of the county; these were: 

• Low Income Families – As it is difficult to estimates the number of families on low incomes 

for small areas (in this case MSOA) a proxy measure was used by analysing the HM 

Revenues and Customs: Children in low-income family’s local measure, also known as the 

local child poverty measure, 

• DCC Household Energy Efficiency Rating: Households in Fuel Poverty April 2019.  This 

dataset looks to assess each residential property in County Durham using the Department 

for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy - Standard Assessment Procedure4 (SAP).  Each 

property is given an SAP score which relates to the energy efficiency of the property.  

Properties that fall in the lower categories of ‘E’, ‘F’ and ‘G’ are assumed to be in fuel 

poverty.  This can be for several reasons including the type and construction method of the 

building, wall type (solid, cavity wall, etc.) and type of heating system/fuel used. 

Crime 

To designate an area under the ‘Crime’ criteria the guidance states that to qualify: 

• that the area suffers from high levels of crime and that the criminal activity affects those 

living in the properties. 

• The datasets used in this analysis were Police Crime and Fire Brigade Primary Fire 

incidents and showed that: 

 

 

  

                                                           
4 https://www.gov.uk/guidance/standard-assessment-procedure Page 82

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/standard-assessment-procedure
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/standard-assessment-procedure


Licence Conditions 

 

The licence conditions will include mandatory conditions set out in schedule 4 (Appendix B) of the 

Housing Act 2004 as well additional licence conditions designed to assist in meeting the objectives 

of the scheme. We will seek views on these conditions during the formal consultation process. 

Exemptions to Selective Licensing 

There are some exemptions to selective licensing, a full list is available in the Selective Licensing 

of Houses (specified exemptions) (England) order 2006. Examples include HMO’s that are 

required to be licensed under part 2 of the Housing Act 2004, business lets, long term leases and 

tenancies let under certain family arrangements. 

Consequences of failing to apply for a licence or breaching the licence conditions 

Failure to apply for a licence is an offence and upon summary conviction the landlord could be 

face an unlimited fine. If a landlord breaches any of the licence conditions upon summary 

conviction could face an unlimited fine per offence.  

As an alternative to prosecution the landlord could face a civil penalty notice up to £30,000. 

In addition, the local authority or the tenant can apply for a Rent Repayment Order if a property 

has not been licenced. Up to 12 months’ rent can be claimed from the landlord by making an 

application for the First Tear Residential Property Tribunal. 

Charges and fees 

The Council has developed a fee structure for the scheme and is proposing the following fees for 

the licence period. 

In accordance with the EU Services Directive we have had regard to the local government 

guidance listed on the Local Government Associations “Open for business” webpage. 

 Total 

Standard Fee 
 
 

tbc 

 
Accreditation Fee 
 

tbc 

 

Outcomes 

We would expect the following outcomes from our designated schemes: 

• Improving Management Standards – some landlords are simply not aware of the minimum 

requirements or their responsibilities as providers of housing and selective licensing will 

allow us to support and assist these landlords, provide training and share good practice 

which will lead to an improvement in the overall quality and management of these 

properties.  

• Improvement of property standards - selective licensing would allow the authority to access 

properties and ensure necessary improvements around disrepair and unfitness removing 

the need for the tenant to make a complaint. 

• Reduction in anti-social behaviour – through the licence conditions landlords will be 

responsible for responding to complaints of anti-social behaviour within their properties  

 

 
Page 83



Summary 

The PRS provides a valuable resource and we want to encourage and support good landlords 

whilst tackling landlords who offer unsatisfactory accommodation and tenancy management to 

some of our most vulnerable residents. 

The objectives in the housing strategy are to improve quality and standards in the private rented 

sector and selective licensing along with other measures will contribute to this.  

Selective Licensing will help tackle issues in the private rented sector by raising management 

standards which in turn will provide greater confidence to prospective tenants. Private tenants can 

expect a better-quality home with robust monitoring of the set standards.  

Owner occupiers may be prepared to stay in the area if they can see the improvements in the PRS 

with issues being addressed and preventing the area falling into further decline. 

For investors it will create a level playing field, regulation will encourage landlords to raise their 

standard, with those unwilling to do so potentially leaving the market. 

 

 

Page 84



        

    

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix A: The data 

 

November 2019 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
Page 85



Identifying the PRS in County Durham 

This initial work estimated that across the County 18.36% (44,365 properties) of residential 

properties were privately rented, below the current national average of 19.46%1.  However, looking 

across the 66 MSOAs covering the county, some areas indicated that the percentage was as high 

as 38.36%, (the MSOA estimates ranged from a minimum of 8.7% to a maximum of 38.36%), with 

24 MSOAs having a higher proportion than the national average. 

This dataset was further refined and verified using data obtained from ‘RightMove’ which 

contained over 12,000 records after data cleansing and the removal of duplicate records was 

carried out.  In addition, further analysis was carried out on the authority’s council tax database to 

identify properties that were estimated to be privately rented through changes in their council tax 

status over a two-year period.  Following a quarterly update from ‘RightMove’ the PRS estimate for 

County Durham has increased to 23.24%, higher than the England average of 19.46%, with the 

number of MSOAs higher than the English average increasing to 41.   

Map 5: Rural Urban Classification by MSOAs in County Durham 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                           
¹ Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government, (2019), English Household Survey 2017/18: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/817277/EHS_2017-
18_PRS_Ch1_tables.xlsx Page 86

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/817277/EHS_2017-18_PRS_Ch1_tables.xlsx
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/817277/EHS_2017-18_PRS_Ch1_tables.xlsx
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/817277/EHS_2017-18_PRS_Ch1_tables.xlsx
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/817277/EHS_2017-18_PRS_Ch1_tables.xlsx


 

Map 6: Population Density by MSOA (ONS 2017 Population Estimates) 

 

Table 6: Datasets by Criteria 

Criteria Dataset Period Covered Comparison Area 

Low Demand 

Average House Price 

2016/17 to 2018/19 
North-east 

Property Vacancies 

Property Turnover County Durham 

Anti-social Behaviour 

Police ASB 
2015/16 to 2017/18 North-east 

Fire Brigade - Secondary Fires 

Durham County Council (DCC) ASB 
and Noise Complaints 

2016/17 to 2018/19 County Durham 

Poor Property Condition 

DCC Environmental Health 
Complaints 

2016/17 to 2018/19 County Durham 

DCC Household Energy Efficiency 
ratings 

2019 County Durham 

Migration 
ONS Population Estimates; Births 
and Deaths data 

2017 County Durham 

Deprivation Index of Deprivation 2015 2015 England 

Crime 
Police Crime 

2015/16 to 2017/18 North-east 
Fire Brigade - Primary Fires 

 

We have broken some of the evidence into four larger geographical areas within County Durham 

to enable data to be easily analysed and explained in consultation. This is solely for presentation 

reasons and no decision or proposal is based on these four areas, nor any comparison made 

within these four areas. 

These four areas are Mid-Durham, East Durham, North Durham and South Durham. 

 
Page 87



Map 7a: Change in the PRS by MSOA (2011 to 2019) 

 

Map 7b: Estimated Distribution of Privately Rented Stock by MSOA (2019) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Page 88



Map 8: Estimated Distribution of HMOs by MSOA (2019) 

 

Map 9: MSOAs in County with a PRS proportion higher than England 

 

 

 

 

 
Page 89



Table 7: ASB datasets and categories 

Police ASB 
categories  

Fire - ASB 
categories 

DCC - ASB 
categories 

DCC - Noise Categories 

Environmental Secondary Fires Environmental Noise-Alarm                    

Nuisance   Nuisance Noise-Barking Dog              

Personal   Personal Noise-Music                    

     Noise-Other Animals and Birds  

     Noise-Party                    

      Noise-People                   

      Noise-TV/Radio                 

      Noise-Unidentified/other       

      Noise-Vehicle repairs          

      Noise-Vehicles                 

      Noise-Vehicles / Transport     
 

Table 8: Main ASB incident types by dataset in County Durham 

Datasets Main Categories Key Points 

DCC Environmental 
Complaints 

Environmental 
Nuisance 
Personal 

Of these three incident types, Personal ASB 
incidents account for 59% of all DCC ASB 
complaints in the area. 

DCC Noise 
Complaints 

Barking Dogs 
Music 
People 

These three incident types account for 84% 
of all Noise complaints. 
Barking dogs accounts for 51% of all Noise 
complaints. 

Police ASB 
Environmental 
Nuisance 
Personal 

Nuisance incidents account for 64% of Police 
ASB 

Fire Brigade 
Secondary Fires 

Loose refuse (inc. Garden) 
Scrub Land 
Small refuse/rubbish/recycle 
container (excluding wheelie bin) 
Wheelie Bins 

These four types account for 78% of all 
secondary fire incidents. 
Over half (53%) are under the 'Loose refuse' 
category. 

 Total incidents in these categories 63,285 

 

Graph 5: Distribution of ASB incidents by main categories in County Durham - % of all main ASB incidents 

 

47.4%

14.9%
11.8% 10.5%

5.3% 4.6% 2.6% 1.2% 0.8% 0.5% 0.4%
0.0%
5.0%

10.0%
15.0%
20.0%
25.0%
30.0%
35.0%
40.0%
45.0%
50.0%

A
SB

 N
u

is
an

ce

A
SB

 P
e

rs
o

n
al

A
SB

 E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l

A
n

ti
 S

o
ci

al
 B

eh
av

io
u

r

N
o

is
e-

B
ar

ki
n

g 
D

o
g

Lo
o

se
 r

e
fu

se
 (

in
cl

 in
 g

ar
d

e
n

)

N
o

is
e-

M
u

si
c

Sc
ru

b
 la

n
d

N
o

is
e-

P
eo

p
le

Sm
al

l
re

fu
se

/r
u

b
b

is
h

/r
ec

yc
le

co
n

ta
in

e
r 

(e
xc

lu
d

in
g

W
h

ee
lie

 B
in

%
 o

f 
re

le
va

n
t 

d
at

as
et

Main ASB Incidents - %

Page 90



Graph 6: Distribution of ASB incidents by main categories in Mid-Durham - % of all main ASB incidents 

 

Table 9: Rates per 10,000 resident population by MOAS and % PRS 

   Rates per 10,000 Resident Population 

MSOA %PRS 
Overall ASB 

Rate 

DCC 
Environmental 

and Noise 
Police ASB 

Fire - 
Secondary 

Fires 

Gilesgate Moor 42.1 1640.4 169.5 1422.2 80.6 

Bowburn and Shincliffe 26.2 975.8 213.0 728.1 45.3 

Cassop and Coxhoe 17.0 1055.1 272.1 724.3 64.9 

Sherburn and West Rainton 16.9 1387.0 277.9 980.8 129.7 

Mid-Durham 23.9 1323.4 255.5 974.9 98.1 

County Durham 23.2 1374.1 250.3 1024.3 103.6 

North East - - - 1423.7 109.1 

National 19.5 - - 887.6 31.3 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

46.6%

16.5%
12.3% 10.4%

5.4% 4.4%
1.7% 1.0% 0.8% 0.6% 0.3%

0.0%
5.0%

10.0%
15.0%
20.0%
25.0%
30.0%
35.0%
40.0%
45.0%
50.0%

A
SB

 N
u

is
an

ce

A
SB

 P
e

rs
o

n
al

A
SB

 E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l

A
n

ti
 S

o
ci

al
 B

eh
av

io
u

r

Lo
o

se
 r

e
fu

se
 (

in
cl

 in
 g

ar
d

e
n

)

N
o

is
e-

B
ar

ki
n

g 
D

o
g

N
o

is
e-

M
u

si
c

Sc
ru

b
 la

n
d

Sm
al

l
re

fu
se

/r
u

b
b

is
h

/r
ec

yc
le

co
n

ta
in

e
r 

(e
xc

lu
d

in
g…

N
o

is
e-

P
eo

p
le

W
h

ee
lie

 B
in

%
 o

f 
re

le
va

n
t 

d
at

as
et

Main ASB Incidents - %

Page 91



Graph 7: Proportion of the PRS and ASB rates by MSOA in Mid-Durham 

 

Graph 8: Distribution of ASB incidents by main categories in East Durham - % of all main ASB incidents 

 

Table 10: Rates per 10,000 resident population by MOAS and % PRS 

   Rates per 10,000 Resident Population 

MSOA %PRS 
Overall 

ASB Rate 

DCC 
Environmental 

and Noise 
Police ASB 

Fire - 
Secondary 

Fires 

Horden 35.4 2391.0 420.2 1616.4 347.0 

Easington Colliery North 31.1 2206.7 368.1 1536.3 311.2 

Dawdon and Seaham Harbour 30.5 1605.3 328.8 1171.4 119.3 

Blackhalls 25.0 1677.3 385.3 1082.6 190.9 

Murton South and South Hetton 24.6 1512.7 257.2 1140.9 113.2 

Shotton Colliery 23.5 2277.2 312.3 1614.2 387.7 

Easington Colliery South and Eden Hill 22.8 2570.7 494.3 1711.7 351.4 

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

1600

1800

0.0

5.0

10.0

15.0

20.0

25.0

30.0

35.0

40.0

45.0

G
ile

sg
at

e 
M

o
o

r

B
o

w
b

u
rn

 a
n

d
 S

h
in

cl
if

fe

C
as

so
p

 a
n

d
 C

o
xh

o
e

Sh
er

b
u

rn
 a

n
d

 W
e

st
 R

ai
n

to
n

R
at

e 
p

er
 1

0
,0

0
0

 r
es

id
en

ts

%
 P

R
S

%PRS ASBRate

45.1%

12.9% 12.3% 11.5%
7.7%

4.7%
2.2% 1.5% 0.7% 0.7% 0.7%

0.0%
5.0%

10.0%
15.0%
20.0%
25.0%
30.0%
35.0%
40.0%
45.0%
50.0%

A
SB

 N
u

is
an

ce

A
SB

 E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l

A
SB

 P
e

rs
o

n
al

A
n

ti
 S

o
ci

al
 B

eh
av

io
u

r

Lo
o

se
 r

e
fu

se
 (

in
cl

 in
 g

ar
d

e
n

)

N
o

is
e-

B
ar

ki
n

g 
D

o
g

N
o

is
e-

M
u

si
c

Sc
ru

b
 la

n
d

N
o

is
e-

P
eo

p
le

Sm
al

l
re

fu
se

/r
u

b
b

is
h

/r
ec

yc
le

co
n

ta
in

e
r 

(e
xc

lu
d

in
g

W
h

ee
lie

 B
in

%
 o

f 
re

le
va

n
t 

d
at

as
et

Main ASB Incidents - %

Page 92



Thornley Deaf Hill and Wheatley HIll 21.3 1980.4 393.0 1285.2 294.0 

Hutton Henry and Wingate 19.6 1688.2 269.5 1253.6 169.1 

Acre Rigg and Peterlee Central 18.4 1674.2 340.1 1184.1 159.1 

Dalton-le-Dale and Deneside 16.1 1493.3 302.1 969.3 209.6 

Passfield and Shotton 14.3 2225.6 237.4 1818.5 144.6 

Seaham North and Seaton 13.1 814.6 166.6 563.3 83.3 

East Durham 22.6 1817.7 324.9 1276.9 214.7 

County Durham 23.2 1374.1 250.3 1024.3 103.6 

North East - - - 1423.7 109.1 

National 19.5 - - 887.6 31.3 
 

Graph 9: Proportion of the PRS and ASB rates by MSOA in East Durham 

 

Graph 10: Distribution of ASB incidents by main categories in North Durham -% of all main ASB incidents 

 

 

 

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

0.0

5.0

10.0

15.0

20.0

25.0

30.0

35.0

40.0

H
o

rd
en

Ea
si

n
gt

o
n

 C
o

lli
er

y 
N

o
rt

h

D
aw

d
o

n
 a

n
d

 S
e

ah
am

H
ar

b
o

u
r

B
la

ck
h

al
ls

M
u

rt
o

n
 S

o
u

th
 a

n
d

 S
o

u
th

H
et

to
n

Sh
o

tt
o

n
 C

o
lli

er
y

Ea
si

n
gt

o
n

 C
o

lli
er

y 
So

u
th

an
d

 E
d

en
 H

ill

Th
o

rn
le

y 
D

ea
f 

H
ill

 a
n

d
W

h
ea

tl
ey

 H
Ill

H
u

tt
o

n
 H

en
ry

 a
n

d
W

in
ga

te

A
cr

e
 R

ig
g 

an
d

 P
et

er
le

e
C

en
tr

al

D
al

to
n

-l
e-

D
al

e 
an

d
D

en
es

id
e

P
as

sf
ie

ld
 a

n
d

 S
h

o
tt

o
n

Se
ah

am
 N

o
rt

h
 a

n
d

Se
at

o
n

R
at

e 
p

er
 1

0
,0

0
0

 r
es

id
en

ts

%
 P

R
S

%PRS ASBRate

44.0%

16.5%
12.3% 10.5%

6.2%
3.9% 2.8% 2.4% 0.9% 0.3% 0.2%

0.0%
5.0%

10.0%
15.0%
20.0%
25.0%
30.0%
35.0%
40.0%
45.0%
50.0%

A
SB

 N
u

is
an

ce

A
SB

 E
n

vi
ro

n
m

en
ta

l

A
SB

 P
e

rs
o

n
al

A
n

ti
 S

o
ci

al
 B

eh
av

io
u

r

Lo
o

se
 r

e
fu

se
 (

in
cl

 in
 g

ar
d

e
n

)

N
o

is
e-

B
ar

ki
n

g 
D

o
g

N
o

is
e-

M
u

si
c

Sc
ru

b
 la

n
d

N
o

is
e-

P
eo

p
le

Sm
al

l
re

fu
se

/r
u

b
b

is
h

/r
ec

yc
le

co
n

ta
in

e
r 

(e
xc

lu
d

in
g

W
h

ee
lie

 B
in

%
 o

f 
re

le
va

n
t 

d
at

as
et

Main ASB Incidents - %

Page 93



Table 11: Rates per 10,000 resident population by MOAS and % PRS 

   Rates per 10,000 Resident Population 

MSOA %PRS 
Overall 

ASB Rate 

DCC 
Environmental 

and Noise 
Police ASB 

Fire - 
Secondary 

Fires 

Annfield Plain South and South Moor 41.9 1919.0 344.3 1351.8 236.7 

Leadgate North and Consett East 29.6 1441.8 261.5 1109.1 58.1 

Pelton and Grange Villa 27.3 1789.4 331.7 1365.1 113.0 

Esh Winning and Ushaw Moor West 26.3 1132.9 278.1 798.2 67.0 

Framwellgate Moor and Pity Me 25.9 877.1 158.4 632.0 85.7 

Stanley North and Kip Hill 24.4 1771.3 211.2 1415.6 149.4 

Annfield Plain North and Dipton South 24.0 1246.2 264.2 819.3 158.3 

Langley Park Cornsay and Satley 23.1 731.7 207.0 517.3 16.7 

Chester-le-Street West and Pelton Fell 22.5 2043.5 334.7 1589.1 118.8 

Craghead and South Stanley 22.0 1424.5 285.7 1049.7 103.0 

Delves and Leadgate South 20.9 1102.6 227.8 815.5 69.4 

Consett West and Castleside 20.5 1395.8 213.5 1109.3 94.0 

Bearpark and Witton Gilbert 20.1 952.6 297.7 584.6 68.8 

Sacriston and Waldridge 18.6 1310.2 319.7 901.2 91.7 

Burnopfield Dipton North and 
Tantobie 

17.1 610.3 129.3 425.2 61.5 

Bournmoor and Great Lumley 16.0 979.4 191.3 714.2 67.8 

North Durham 23.9 1323.4 255.5 974.9 98.1 

County Durham 23.2 1374.1 250.3 1024.3 103.6 

North East - - - 1423.7 109.1 

National 19.5 - - 887.6 31.3 

 
Graph 11: Proportion of the PRS and ASB rates by MSOA in North Durham 

 

 
 

 

 

0.0

500.0

1000.0

1500.0

2000.0

2500.0

0.0

5.0

10.0

15.0

20.0

25.0

30.0

35.0

40.0

45.0

A
n

n
fi
e

ld
 P

la
in

 S
o
u

th
 a

n
d

S
o

u
th

 M
o

o
r

L
e
a

d
g

a
te

 N
o

rt
h

 a
n
d

C
o
n

s
e

tt
 E

a
s
t

P
e

lt
o

n
 a

n
d

 G
ra

n
g

e
 V

ill
a

E
s
h
 W

in
n

in
g

 a
n
d

 U
s
h
a

w
M

o
o

r 
W

e
s
t

F
ra

m
w

e
llg

a
te

 M
o

o
r 

a
n

d
P

it
y
 M

e

S
ta

n
le

y
 N

o
rt

h
 a

n
d
 K

ip
H

ill

A
n

n
fi
e

ld
 P

la
in

 N
o
rt

h
 a

n
d

D
ip

to
n

 S
o
u

th

L
a
n

g
le

y
 P

a
rk

 C
o
rn

s
a
y

a
n
d

 S
a

tl
e

y

C
h
e

s
te

r-
le

-S
tr

e
e

t 
W

e
s
t

a
n
d

 P
e

lt
o

n
 F

e
ll

C
ra

g
h
e

a
d
 a

n
d
 S

o
u

th
S

ta
n
le

y

D
e

lv
e

s
 a

n
d
 L

e
a

d
g

a
te

S
o

u
th

C
o
n

s
e

tt
 W

e
s
t 

a
n
d

C
a
s
tl
e

s
id

e

B
e

a
rp

a
rk

 a
n

d
 W

it
to

n
G

ilb
e

rt

S
a

c
ri

s
to

n
 a

n
d

 W
a

ld
ri

d
g
e

B
u

rn
o

p
fi
e

ld
 D

ip
to

n
 N

o
rt

h
a

n
d

 T
a

n
to

b
ie

B
o

u
rn

m
o
o

r 
a

n
d

 G
re

a
t

L
u
m

le
y

R
a
te

 p
e
r 

1
0
,0

0
0
 r

e
s
id

e
n
ts

%
 P

R
S

%PRS ASBRate

Page 94



Graph 12: Distribution of ASB incidents by main categories in South Durham - % of all main ASB incidents 

 

Table 12: Rates per 10,000 resident population by MOAS and % PRS 

   Rates per 10,000 Resident Population 

MSOA %PRS 
Overall 

ASB Rate 

DCC 
Environmental 

and Noise 
Police ASB 

Fire - 
Secondary 

Fires 

Bishop Auckland and South Church 39.8 3021.9 462.3 2324.6 270.1 

Spennymoor-Green Lane & Dean Bank 33.8 2305.6 349.7 1934.3 72.6 

Shildon 31.9 1887.8 363.5 1444.4 91.9 

Newton Aycliffe Central 29.1 2763.1 438.4 2020.3 285.9 

Chilton and Ferryhill Station 26.6 1622.1 336.3 1198.5 94.1 

Cockton Hill and Etherley Dene 25.7 1835.8 274.5 1468.2 87.9 

Cornforth and Ferryhill 24.9 1511.6 260.2 1202.1 38.7 

Crook South and Willington North 23.7 1512.1 326.5 1127.9 59.5 

Byers Green and Spennymoor 23.1 1461.7 243.8 1178.6 47.9 

Crook North Howden-le-Wear and Tow 
Law 

23.0 1265.6 262.3 944.0 65.6 

Coundon and Willington South 22.7 2219.6 539.2 1565.4 93.5 

St Helens Auckland and West Auckland 22.0 1785.7 248.8 1324.2 207.0 

Aycliffe Village Newton Aycliffe South 19.3 1602.0 269.9 1250.8 90.0 

Henknowle and Woodhouse Close 19.0 1683.6 231.3 1355.8 83.0 

Fishburn and Trimdons 18.4 1182.8 225.8 898.3 66.1 

Hamsterley and Staindrop 17.8 876.0 158.9 648.7 61.1 

Newton Aycliffe East 17.6 1276.4 152.4 1071.9 45.3 

Midridge and Woodham Village 16.0 762.5 121.7 553.7 87.4 

Brandon 15.9 1162.1 272.2 795.5 86.4 

Spennymoor North and Tudhoe 14.0 780.4 157.8 583.3 38.7 

South Durham 23.4 1588.2 280.5 1212.2 96.2 

County Durham 23.2 1374.1 250.3 1024.3 103.6 

North East - - - 1423.7 109.1 

National 19.5 - - 887.6 31.3 

 
 

49.7%

15.5%
10.8% 10.3%

5.5% 3.7% 2.1% 0.7% 0.6% 0.5% 0.4%
0.0%

10.0%

20.0%

30.0%

40.0%

50.0%

60.0%

A
S

B
 N

u
is

a
n
c
e

A
S

B
 E

n
v
ir

o
n
m

e
n

ta
l

A
S

B
 P

e
rs

o
n

a
l

A
n

ti
 S

o
c
ia

l 
B

e
h

a
v
io

u
r

L
o
o

s
e
 r

e
fu

s
e

 (
in

c
l 
in

g
a
rd

e
n

)

N
o

is
e

-B
a
rk

in
g

 D
o

g

N
o

is
e

-M
u

s
ic

S
c
ru

b
 l
a

n
d

N
o

is
e

-P
e
o

p
le

S
m

a
ll

re
fu

s
e
/r

u
b

b
is

h
/r

e
c
y
c
le

c
o
n

ta
in

e
r 

(e
x
c
lu

d
in

g

W
h

e
e

lie
 B

in

%
 o

f 
re

le
v
a
n
t 

d
a
ta

s
e
t

Main ASB Incidents - %

Page 95



Graph 13: Proportion of the PRS and ASB rates by MSOA in South Durham 

 

Table 13: All MSOAs in County Durham by criteria met 

MSOA PRS >20% Low Demand ASB Property Condition Deprivation Crime 
Acre Rigg and Peterlee 
Central      

Annfield Plain North and 
Dipton South      

Annfield Plain South and 
South Moor      

Aycliffe Village Newton 
Aycliffe South      

Barnard Castle and 
Startforth      

Beamish Ouston and 
Urpeth      

Bearpark and Witton 
Gilbert      

Belmont and Carrville      

Bishop Auckland and 
South Church      

Bishop Middleham and 
Sedgefield      

Blackhalls      

Bournmoor and Great 
Lumley      

Bowburn and Shincliffe      

Bowes and Middleton-in-
Teesdale      

Brandon      

Brasside and Newton Hall      

Burnopfield Dipton North 
and Tantobie      

Byers Green and 
Spennymoor      

Cassop and Coxhoe      

Chester-le-Street North      

Chester-le-Street South      

Chester-le-Street West 
and Pelton Fell      

0.0

500.0

1000.0

1500.0

2000.0

2500.0

3000.0

3500.0

0.0

5.0

10.0

15.0

20.0

25.0

30.0

35.0

40.0

45.0

B
is

h
o

p
 A

u
c
k
la

n
d

 a
n

d
…

S
p

e
n

n
y
m

o
o
r-

G
re

e
n

…

S
h

ild
o

n

N
e

w
to

n
 A

y
c
lif

fe
 C

e
n
tr

a
l

C
h

ilt
o

n
 a

n
d
 F

e
rr

y
h

ill
…

C
o

c
k
to

n
 H

ill
 a

n
d

…

C
o

rn
fo

rt
h

 a
n

d
 F

e
rr

y
h

ill

C
ro

o
k
 S

o
u
th

 a
n

d
…

B
y
e
rs

 G
re

e
n

 a
n
d

…

C
ro

o
k
 N

o
rt

h
 H

o
w

d
e

n
-…

C
o

u
n
d

o
n
 a

n
d
 W

ill
in

g
to

n
…

S
t 

H
e

le
n

s
 A

u
c
k
la

n
d

 a
n

d
…

A
y
c
lif

fe
 V

ill
a
g

e
 N

e
w

to
n

…

H
e

n
k
n

o
w

le
 a

n
d

…

F
is

h
b
u

rn
 a

n
d

 T
ri

m
d
o

n
s

H
a

m
s
te

rl
e

y
 a

n
d

 S
ta

in
d

ro
p

N
e

w
to

n
 A

y
c
lif

fe
 E

a
s
t

M
id

ri
d

g
e

 a
n

d
 W

o
o

d
h

a
m

…

B
ra

n
d

o
n

S
p

e
n

n
y
m

o
o
r 

N
o

rt
h
 a

n
d
…

R
a
te

 p
e
r 

1
0
,0

0
0
 r

e
s
id

e
n
ts

%
 P

R
S

%PRS ASBRate

Page 96



Chilton and Ferryhill 
Station      

Cockton Hill and Etherley 
Dene      

Consett West and 
Castleside      

Cornforth and Ferryhill      

Coundon and Willington 
South      

Craghead and South 
Stanley      

Crook North Howden-le-
Wear and Tow Law      

Crook South and 
Willington North      

Dalton-le-Dale and 
Deneside      

Dawdon and Seaham 
Harbour      

Delves and Leadgate 
South      

Durham City      

Easington Colliery North      

Easington Colliery South 
and Eden Hill      

Esh Winning and Ushaw 
Moor West      

Fishburn and Trimdons      

Framwellgate Moor and 
Pity Me      

Gilesgate Moor      

Hamsterley and Staindrop      

Henknowle and 
Woodhouse Close      

Horden      

Hutton Henry and 
Wingate      

Lanchester      

Langley Moor and 
Nevilles Cross      

Langley Park Cornsay 
and Satley      

Leadgate North and 
Consett East      

Medomsley and Shotley      

Midridge and Woodham 
Village      

Murton South and South 
Hetton      

Newton Aycliffe Central      

Newton Aycliffe East      

Passfield and Shotton      

Pelton and Grange Villa      

Sacriston and Waldridge      

Seaham North and 
Seaton      

Sherburn and West 
Rainton      

Shildon      

Shotton Colliery      Page 97



Spennymoor North and 
Tudhoe      

Spennymoor-Green Lane 
and Dean Bank      

St Helens Auckland and 
West Auckland      

Stanhope and 
Wolsingham      

Stanley North and Kip Hill      

Thornley Deaf Hill and 
Wheatley HIll      

 

Table 14: All areas included in a designation by MSOA and household numbers  

Areas Included by MSOA Households Private 
Rented 

Pelton & Grange Villa 3131 948 

Sacriston & Waldridge 3529 718 

Stanley North & Kip Hill 3758 948 

Annfield Plain North & Dipton South 3491 882 

Annfield Plain South & South Moor 3530 1654 

Leadgate North & Consett East 5253 1596 

Delves & Leadgate South 3896 851 

Consett West & Castleside 3816 883 

Langley Park, Cornsay, Satley 2878 701 

Bearpark & Witton Gilbert 3256 744 

Sherburn & West Rainton 4118 740 

Gilesgate Moor 2957 1404 

Esh Winning & Ushaw Moor West 2644 805 

Cassop & Coxhoe 3293 615 

Dawdon & Seaham Harbour 3662 1198 

Murton South & South Hetton 3337 874 

Easington Colliery North 2588 897 

Shotton Colliery 2713 742 

Horden 2913 1117 

Blackhalls 2742 762 

Thornley, Deaf Hill & Wheatley Hill 3084 716 

Hutton Henry & Wingate 3113 644 

Fishburn & Trimdons 3192 614 

Spennymoor, Green Lane & Dean Bank 2929 1239 

Cornforth & Ferryhill 3264 872 

Byers Green & Spennymoor 4037 1077 

Chilton & Ferryhill Station 3029 942 

Shildon 4812 1691 

Aycliffe Village, Newton Aycliffe South 3244 645 

Crook North, Howden le Wear & Tow Law 4081 1001 

Crook South, Willington North 4378 1108 

Coundon Willington South 3135 774 

Bishop Auckland & South Church 3409 1635 

Cockton, Etherley Dene 3313 896 

St Helens Auckland & West Auckland 3891 908 

Henknowle & Woodhouse Close 3247 643 

Chester le Street & Pelton Fell 4412 1055 

Dalton le Dale & Deneside 3769 620 

Easington Colliery South & Eden Hill 3722 947 

Acre Rigg & Peterlee Central 3115 608 Page 98



Passfield & Shotton 2807 413 

Newton Aycliffe Central 2401 722 

Craghead & South Stanley 3913 942 

Total 142,153 36,119 
 

Table 15: All areas not included in a designation by MSOA and household numbers 

Areas excluded by MSOA Households Private Rented 

Beamish, Ouston & Urpeth 2518 356 

Chester le Street North 3523 568 

Chester le Street South 3655 745 

Medomsley & Shotley 4178 687 

Lanchester 2681 387 

Brasside & Newton Hall 2987 471 

Belmont & Carville 3409 560 

Langley Moor & Nevilles Cross 3845 1758 

Brandon 3554 581 

Seaham North & Seaton 3851 516 

Bishop Middleham & Sedgefield 2997 423 

Middridge & Woodham Village 3474 610 

Newton Aycliffe East  2492 462 

Bowes & Middleton in Teesdale 2344 621 

Barnard Castle & Startforth 3012 690 

Stanhope & Wolsingham 3700 706 

Durham City 2363 1944 

Bournmoor and Great Lumley 3213 528 

Burnopfield Dipton North and Tantobie 3550 621 

Framwellgate Moor and Pity Me 2769 780 

Bowburn and Shincliffe 2666 817 

Spennymoor and Tudhoe 3195 459 

Hamsterley and Staindrop 5755 1067 

Total 75,731 16,357 

 

 

Page 99



This page is intentionally left blank



Housing Act 2004 (c. 34)
SCHEDULE 4 – Licences under Parts 2 and 3: mandatory conditions
Document Generated: 2019-12-06

1

Changes to legislation: Housing Act 2004, SCHEDULE 4 is up to date with all changes known to be in force on or before
06 December 2019. There are changes that may be brought into force at a future date. Changes that have been made

appear in the content and are referenced with annotations. (See end of Document for details) View outstanding changes

S C H E D U L E S

SCHEDULE 4 Sections 67 and 90

LICENCES UNDER PARTS 2 AND 3: MANDATORY CONDITIONS

Conditions to be included in licences under Part 2 or 3
1 (1) A licence under Part 2 or 3 must include the following conditions.

(2) Conditions requiring the licence holder, if gas is supplied to the house, to produce
to the local housing authority annually for their inspection a gas safety certificate
obtained in respect of the house within the last 12 months.

(3) Conditions requiring the licence holder—
(a) to keep electrical appliances and furniture made available by him in the

house in a safe condition;
(b) to supply the authority, on demand, with a declaration by him as to the safety

of such appliances and furniture.

(4) Conditions requiring the licence holder—
[F1(za) where the house is in England—

(i) to ensure that a smoke alarm is installed on each storey of the
house on which there is a room used wholly or partly as living
accommodation, and

(ii) to keep each such alarm in proper working order;]
(a) [F2where the house is in Wales,] to ensure that smoke alarms are installed in

the house and to keep them in proper working order;
(b) [F3in either case,] to supply the authority, on demand, with a declaration by

him as to the condition and positioning of such alarms.

[F4(4A) Where the house is in England, conditions requiring the licence holder—
(a) to ensure that a carbon monoxide alarm is installed in any room in the house

which is used wholly or partly as living accommodation and contains a solid
fuel burning combustion appliance;

(b) to keep any such alarm in proper working order; and
(c) to supply the authority, on demand, with a declaration by him as to the

condition and positioning of any such alarm.]

(5) Conditions requiring the licence holder to supply to the occupiers of the house a
written statement of the terms on which they occupy it.

[F5(6) In sub-paragraph (4A) “room” includes a hall or landing.

(7) For the purposes of sub-paragraphs (4) and (4A), a bathroom or lavatory is to be
treated as a room used as living accommodation.]

Page 101



2 Housing Act 2004 (c. 34)
SCHEDULE 4 – Licences under Parts 2 and 3: mandatory conditions

Document Generated: 2019-12-06
Changes to legislation: Housing Act 2004, SCHEDULE 4 is up to date with all changes known to be in force on or before

06 December 2019. There are changes that may be brought into force at a future date. Changes that have been made
appear in the content and are referenced with annotations. (See end of Document for details) View outstanding changes

Textual Amendments
F1 Sch. 4 para. 1(4)(za) inserted (E.) (1.10.2015) by The Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarm (England)

Regulations 2015 (S.I. 2015/1693), regs. 1(1), 15(1)(a)(i) (with reg. 15(2))
F2 Words in Sch. 4 para. 1(4)(a) inserted (E.) (1.10.2015) by The Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarm

(England) Regulations 2015 (S.I. 2015/1693), regs. 1(1), 15(1)(a)(ii) (with reg. 15(2))
F3 Words in Sch. 4 para. 1(4)(b) inserted (E.) (1.10.2015) by The Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarm

(England) Regulations 2015 (S.I. 2015/1693), regs. 1(1), 15(1)(a)(iii) (with reg. 15(2))
F4 Sch. 4 para. 1(4A) inserted (E.) (1.10.2015) by The Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarm (England)

Regulations 2015 (S.I. 2015/1693), regs. 1(1), 15(1)(b) (with reg. 15(2))
F5 Sch. 4 para. 1(6)(7) inserted (E.) (1.10.2015) by The Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarm (England)

Regulations 2015 (S.I. 2015/1693), regs. 1(1), 15(1)(c) (with reg. 15(2))

Commencement Information
I1 Sch. 4 para. 1 wholly in force at 16.6.2006; Sch. 4 para. 1 not in force at Royal Assent see s. 270(4)(5);

Sch. 4 para. 1 in force for E. at 6.4.2006 by S.I. 2006/1060, art. 2(1)(a) (with Sch.); Sch. 4 para. 1 in
force for W. at 16.6.2006 by S.I. 2006/1535, art. 2(a) (with Sch.)

[F6Additional conditions to be included in licences under Part 2: floor area etc

Textual Amendments
F6 Sch. 4 paras. 1A-1C inserted (1.10.2018) by The Licensing of Houses in Multiple Occupation (Mandatory

Conditions of Licences) (England) Regulations 2018 (S.I. 2018/616), regs. 1(1), 2 (with reg. 1(2))

1A. (1) Where the HMO is in England, a licence under Part 2 must include the following
conditions.

(2) Conditions requiring the licence holder—
(a) to ensure that the floor area of any room in the HMO used as sleeping

accommodation by one person aged over 10 years is not less than 6.51 square
metres;

(b) to ensure that the floor area of any room in the HMO used as sleeping
accommodation by two persons aged over 10 years is not less than 10.22
square metres;

(c) to ensure that the floor area of any room in the HMO used as sleeping
accommodation by one person aged under 10 years is not less than 4.64
square metres;

(d) to ensure that any room in the HMO with a floor area of less than 4.64 square
metres is not used as sleeping accommodation.

(3) Conditions requiring the licence holder to ensure that—
(a) where any room in the HMO is used as sleeping accommodation by persons

aged over 10 years only, it is not used as such by more than the maximum
number of persons aged over 10 years specified in the licence;

(b) where any room in the HMO is used as sleeping accommodation by persons
aged under 10 years only, it is not used as such by more than the maximum
number of persons aged under 10 years specified in the licence;

(c) where any room in the HMO is used as sleeping accommodation by persons
aged over 10 years and persons aged under 10 years, it is not used as such

Page 102

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2015/1693
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2015/1693
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2015/1693/regulation/1/1
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2015/1693/regulation/15/1/a/i
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2015/1693/regulation/15/2
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2015/1693
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2015/1693
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2015/1693/regulation/1/1
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2015/1693/regulation/15/1/a/ii
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2015/1693/regulation/15/2
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2015/1693
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2015/1693
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2015/1693/regulation/1/1
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2015/1693/regulation/15/1/a/iii
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2015/1693/regulation/15/2
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2015/1693
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2015/1693
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2015/1693/regulation/1/1
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2015/1693/regulation/15/1/b
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2015/1693/regulation/15/2
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2015/1693
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2015/1693
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2015/1693/regulation/1/1
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2015/1693/regulation/15/1/c
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2015/1693/regulation/15/2
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2006/1060
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2006/1060/article/2/1/a
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2006/1060/schedule
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2006/1535
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2006/1535/article/2/a
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2006/1535/schedule
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/2004/34/schedule/4/paragraph/1A
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2018/616
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2018/616
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2018/616/regulation/1/1
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2018/616/regulation/2
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2018/616/regulation/1/2


Housing Act 2004 (c. 34)
SCHEDULE 4 – Licences under Parts 2 and 3: mandatory conditions
Document Generated: 2019-12-06

3

Changes to legislation: Housing Act 2004, SCHEDULE 4 is up to date with all changes known to be in force on or before
06 December 2019. There are changes that may be brought into force at a future date. Changes that have been made

appear in the content and are referenced with annotations. (See end of Document for details) View outstanding changes

by more than the maximum number of persons aged over 10 years specified
in the licence and the maximum number of persons aged under 10 years so
specified.

(4) Conditions which apply if—
(a) any of the conditions imposed pursuant to sub-paragraph (2) or (3) have been

breached in relation to the HMO,
(b) the licence holder has not knowingly permitted the breach, and
(c) the local housing authority have notified the licence holder of the breach,

and which require the licence holder to rectify the breach within the specified period.

(5) In sub-paragraph (4) the specified period means the period, of not more than
18 months beginning with the date of the notification, which is specified in the
notification.

(6) Conditions requiring the licence holder to notify the local housing authority of any
room in the HMO with a floor area of less than 4.64 square metres.

(7) In this paragraph a reference to a number of persons using a room in an HMO
as sleeping accommodation does not include a person doing so as a visitor of an
occupier of the HMO.

(8) For the purposes of this paragraph a room is used as sleeping accommodation if it is
normally used as a bedroom, whether or not it is also used for other purposes.

(9) Any part of the floor area of a room in relation to which the height of the ceiling is
less than 1.5 metres is not to be taken into account in determining the floor area of
that room for the purposes of this paragraph.

(10) This paragraph does not apply to an HMO which is managed by a charity registered
under the Charities Act 2011 and which—

(a) is a night shelter, or
(b) consists of temporary accommodation for persons suffering or recovering

from drug or alcohol abuse or a mental disorder.

Time for compliance with conditions under paragraph 1A(2) and (3)
1B. (1) This paragraph applies in relation to an HMO in England in respect of the first licence

granted on or after 1st October 2018 in relation to the HMO, regardless of whether
a licence was in force in relation to the HMO immediately before that date.

(2) If the local housing authority consider that, at the time the licence is granted, the
licence holder is not complying with one or more of the conditions of the licence
imposed pursuant to paragraph 1A(2) and (3), the authority must when granting the
licence provide the licence holder with a notification specifying the condition or
conditions and the period within which the licence holder is required to comply with
the condition or conditions.

(3) The period specified in the notification must not exceed 18 months from the date of
the notification.

(4) Within the period specified in the notification—
(a) the local housing authority may not revoke the licence for a breach (or

repeated breach) of any condition of the licence specified in the notification,

Page 103



4 Housing Act 2004 (c. 34)
SCHEDULE 4 – Licences under Parts 2 and 3: mandatory conditions

Document Generated: 2019-12-06
Changes to legislation: Housing Act 2004, SCHEDULE 4 is up to date with all changes known to be in force on or before

06 December 2019. There are changes that may be brought into force at a future date. Changes that have been made
appear in the content and are referenced with annotations. (See end of Document for details) View outstanding changes

(b) the licence holder does not commit an offence under section 72(3) in respect
of any failure to comply with such a condition, and

(c) the local housing authority may not impose a financial penalty under
section 249A on the licence holder in respect of such a failure.

(5) Sub-paragraphs (2) to (4) do not apply if, before the licence was granted, the licence
holder was convicted of an offence under section 72(2) or (3) in relation to the HMO.

Additional conditions to be included in licences under Part 2: household waste
1C. Where the HMO is in England, a licence under Part 2 must include conditions

requiring the licence holder to comply with any scheme which is provided by the
local housing authority to the licence holder and which relates to the storage and
disposal of household waste at the HMO pending collection.]

Additional conditions to be included in licences under Part 3
2 A licence under Part 3 must include conditions requiring the licence holder to

demand references from persons who wish to occupy the house.

Commencement Information
I2 Sch. 4 para. 2 wholly in force at 16.6.2006; Sch. 4 para. 2 not in force at Royal Assent see s. 270(4)(5);

Sch. 4 para. 2 in force for E. at 6.4.2006 by S.I. 2006/1060, art. 2(1)(a) (with Sch.); Sch. 4 para. 2 in
force for W. at 16.6.2006 by S.I. 2006/1535, art. 2(a) (with Sch.)

Power to prescribe conditions
3 The appropriate national authority may by regulations amend this Schedule so as

to alter (by the addition or removal of conditions) the conditions which must be
included—

(a) in a licence under Part 2 or 3, or
(b) only in a licence under one of those Parts.

Commencement Information
I3 Sch. 4 para. 3 wholly in force at 16.6.2006; Sch. 4 para. 3 in force for certain purposes at Royal Assent

see s. 270(2)(b); Sch. 4 para. 3 in force for E. at 6.4.2006 by S.I. 2006/1060, art. 2(1)(a) (with Sch.);
Sch. 4 para. 3 in force for W. at 16.6.2006 by S.I. 2006/1535, art. 2(a) (with Sch.)

Interpretation
4 In this Schedule “the house” means the HMO or Part 3 house in respect of which

the licence is granted.

Commencement Information
I4 Sch. 4 para. 4 wholly in force at 16.6.2006; Sch. 4 para. 4 not in force at Royal Assent see s. 270(4)(5);

Sch. 4 para. 4 in force for E. at 6.4.2006 by S.I. 2006/1060, art. 2(1)(a) (with Sch.); Sch. 4 para. 4 in
force for W. at 16.6.2006 by S.I. 2006/1535, art. 2(a) (with Sch.)

Page 104

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2006/1060
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2006/1060/article/2/1/a
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2006/1060/schedule
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2006/1535
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2006/1535/article/2/a
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2006/1535/schedule
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2006/1060
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2006/1060/article/2/1/a
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2006/1060/schedule
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2006/1535
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2006/1535/article/2/a
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2006/1535/schedule
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2006/1060
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2006/1060/article/2/1/a
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2006/1060/schedule
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2006/1535
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2006/1535/article/2/a
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2006/1535/schedule


Housing Act 2004 (c. 34)
Document Generated: 2019-12-06

5

Changes to legislation: 
Housing Act 2004, SCHEDULE 4 is up to date with all changes known to be in force on or
before 06 December 2019. There are changes that may be brought into force at a future date.
Changes that have been made appear in the content and are referenced with annotations.
View outstanding changes

Changes and effects yet to be applied to the whole Act associated Parts and Chapters:
Whole provisions yet to be inserted into this Act (including any effects on those
provisions):
– s. 66(1A) inserted by 2016 c. 22 s. 125(3)(a)
– s. 66(3A)(3B) inserted by 2016 c. 22 s. 125(3)(c)
– s. 89(1A) inserted by 2016 c. 22 s. 125(6)(a)
– s. 89(3A)(3B) inserted by 2016 c. 22 s. 125(6)(c)
– s. 139(7A)(7B) inserted by 2016 c. 22 s. 127(3)

Page 105

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/2016/22
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/2016/22/section/125/3/a
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/2016/22
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/2016/22/section/125/3/c
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/2016/22
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/2016/22/section/125/6/a
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/2016/22
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/2016/22/section/125/6/c
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/2016/22
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/2016/22/section/127/3


This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

Durham County Council Equality Impact Assessment 

NB: The Public Sector Equality Duty (Equality Act 2010) requires Durham County 

Council to have ‘due regard’ to the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination, 

harassment and victimisation, advance equality of opportunity and foster good 

relations between people from different groups. Assessing impact on equality and 

recording this is one of the key ways in which we can show due regard. 

Section One: Description and Screening 

Service/Team or Section 
 

REAL – Housing Solutions 

Lead Officer 
 

Joanne Thompson 

Title 
 

Project Co-ordinator 

MTFP Reference (if 
relevant) 
 

NA 

Cabinet Date (if relevant) 
 

17th October 2019 

Start Date 
 

15th March 2019 

Review Date 
 

? 

 

Subject of the Impact Assessment 

Please give a brief description of the policy, proposal or practice as appropriate (a 
copy of the subject can be attached or insert a web-link): 
 

 
Selective Licensing was introduced under part 3 of the Housing Act 2004 which 
allows local authorities to designate an area or areas for selective licensing, 
providing certain criteria are met.  
 
Landlords operating in a selective licensing area would need to apply to the local 
authority for a licence and prove they are a “fit and proper person”. 
 
The Council recognises that most landlords provide good quality accommodation 
that it managed correctly however there are some private rented properties that 
are in poor condition and poorly managed. 
 
The Council is now considering introducing selective licensing across the County 
and has given approval for the detailed work to be carried out and produce a 
business case. The result of this work, along with any proposals will be submitted 
to cabinet later in the year. 
 

Page 107



 2 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

The Introduction of selective licensing is intended to improve management 
standards and property conditions in the private rented sector as well as allowing 
the Council to tackle anti-social behaviour, poor property conditions, crime and 
deprivation. 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Who are the main stakeholders? (e.g. general public, staff, members, specific 
clients/service users): 
 

General public, private landlords, managing agents/estate agents, private rented 
tenants, local community, landlord associations, local businesses, Police, Fire and 
Rescue Service   
 
 
 
 

Screening 

Is there any actual or potential negative or positive impact on the following 
protected characteristics? 
 

Protected Characteristic Negative Impact 
Indicate: Y = Yes, 
N = No, ? = unsure 
 

Positive Impact 
Indicate: Y = Yes, 
N = No, ? = unsure 
 

Age 
 

N ? 

Disability 
 

N ? 

Marriage and civil partnership  
(workplace only) 

N ? 

Pregnancy and maternity 
 

N ? 

Race (ethnicity) 
 

N ? 

Religion or Belief 
 

N ? 

Sex (gender) 
 

N ? 

Sexual orientation 
 

N ? 

Transgender 
 

N ? 

 

Page 108



 3 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

Please provide brief details of any potential to cause adverse impact. Record full 
details and analysis in the following section of this assessment. 
 

 
Private Sector landlords and their tenants in the proposed areas will be affected 
though we anticipate that most residents will be positively affected by the proposal 
 
Vulnerable tenants on low incomes could be affected as landlords may increase 
rents as a direct result of licence fee 
 
Landlords may evict tenants legally or illegally to prevent them having to obtain a 
licence or may decide to sell the property. This could also result in tenant 
displacement 
 

Properties which do not meet required standards could incur improvement notices 
or prohibition orders. Landlords may sell or leave property empty rather than carry 
out the improvements  
 
Households living in overcrowded conditions would need to be found alternative 
appropriate accommodation which may impact on housing services 
 
 
 

 

How will this policy/proposal/practice promote our commitment to our legal 
responsibilities under the public sector equality duty to: 

• eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation,  

• advance equality of opportunity, and  

• foster good relations between people from different groups? 
 

The scheme aims to improve the quality of accommodation and management in 
the private rented sector. Tenants will benefit from the additional requirements 
imposed on licenced landlords. 
 
There is also a rationale within the provisions of the licensing scheme for the 
elimination of discriminatory practices by landlords.  
 
Aims to assist with community cohesion and tackle exclusion 
 
Improves quality of life by reducing anti-social behaviour and environmental issues 
such as fly tipping. 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Page 109



 4 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

Evidence 

What evidence do you have to support your findings?  
Please outline your data sets and/or proposed evidence sources, highlight any 
gaps and say whether or not you propose to carry out consultation. Record greater 
detail and analysis in the following section of this assessment. 
 

 
The Private Rented Sector has grown in size over the last two decades and is 
likely to continue to grow in order to meet housing need. It is now the second 
largest tenure group  
 
One of the key tenant groups in the private rented sector are single males, 60% of 
representations to Housing Solutions for assistance came from this group in the 
last year. 
 
Single parents with young children and ethnic minority residents are also over 
presented in the private rented sector as well as disproportionate levels of families 
with young children. (Rugg Report) 
 
Properties in the private rented sector are lore likely to be in poor condition, and 
tenants are often reluctant to ask for repairs for fear of eviction. The private rented 
sector has higher levels on non-decent homes than those in the owner occupied 
and social housing sector. 
 
Selective Licensing is likely to have a positive impact as some of these groups are 
more likely to be living in private rented accommodation and will benefit from the 
improvements to their living conditions this scheme aims to deliver. 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Screening Summary 

On the basis of this screening is there: 
 

Confirm which 
refers (Y/N) 

Evidence of actual or potential impact on some/all of the protected 
characteristics which will proceed to full assessment? 
 

 

Page 110



 5 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

No evidence of actual or potential impact on some/all of the 
protected characteristics? 
 

 

 

Sign Off 

Lead officer sign off: 
 
 

Date: 

Service equality representative sign off: 
 
 

Date: 

 

If carrying out a full assessment please proceed to section two. 

If not proceeding to full assessment please return completed screenings to your 

service equality representative and forward a copy to equalities@durham.gov.uk 

If you are unsure of potential impact please contact the corporate research and 

equalities team for further advice at equalities@durham.gov.uk 

 

Page 111

mailto:equalities@durham.gov.uk
mailto:equalities@durham.gov.uk
mailto:equalities@durham.gov.uk
mailto:equalities@durham.gov.uk


 6 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

Section Two: Data analysis and assessment of impact 

Please provide details on impacts for people with different protected characteristics 

relevant to your screening findings. You need to decide if there is or likely to be a 

differential impact for some. Highlight the positives e.g. benefits for certain groups, 

advancing equality, as well as the negatives e.g. barriers for and/or exclusion of 

particular groups. Record the evidence you have used to support or explain your 

conclusions. Devise and record mitigating actions where necessary. 

Protected Characteristic: Age 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Record of evidence to support 
or explain your conclusions on 
impact. 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

 
 
 
 

  

 

Protected Characteristic: Disability 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

 
 
 
 

  

 

Protected Characteristic: Marriage and civil partnership  (workplace only) 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

 
 
 
 

  

 

Protected Characteristic: Pregnancy and maternity 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

 
 
 
 

  

 

Page 112



 7 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

Protected Characteristic: Race (ethnicity) 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

 
 
 
 

  

 

Protected Characteristic: Religion or belief 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

 
 
 
 

  

 

Protected Characteristic: Sex (gender) 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

 
 
 
 

  

 

Protected Characteristic: Sexual orientation 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

 
 
 
 

  

 

Protected Characteristic: Transgender 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

 
 
 
 

  

 

Page 113



 8 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

Section Three: Conclusion and Review 

Summary 

Please provide a brief summary of your findings stating the main impacts, both 
positive and negative, across the protected characteristics. 
 

 
 

 
 

Will this promote positive relationships between different communities? If so how? 

 
 
 

 

Action Plan 

Action Responsibility Timescales for 
implementation 

In which plan will 
the action appear? 

    

    

    

    

    

 

Review 

Are there any additional assessments that need to be 
undertaken? (Y/N) 

 

When will this assessment be reviewed? 
Please also insert this date at the front of the template 

 

 

Sign Off 

Lead officer sign off: 
 
 

Date: 

Service equality representative sign off: 
 
 

Date: 

 

Please return the completed form to your service equality representative and forward 

a copy to equalities@durham.gov.uk 

Page 114

mailto:equalities@durham.gov.uk
mailto:equalities@durham.gov.uk


 

             

 Cabinet 

15 January 2020 

Leisure Transformation 

Key Decision REAL/11/19 

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Ian Thompson, Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local 
Services 

Councillor Carl Marshall, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Economic 

Regeneration 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide. 

Purpose of the Report 

1 The purpose of this report is to highlight the importance placed on 
physical activity and sport within County Durham and the proposed 
transformation programme for leisure centres which will work to 
improve health and wellbeing outcomes for residents and further build 
the leisure economy. 

2 The report sets-out the case for change for the Council’s leisure centre 
offer; proposing an outline programme which would include building 
new leisure centre facilities, refreshing existing buildings and ultimately 
progressing towards an extensive new programme of activities and 
amenities which will work towards improving health/wellbeing 
outcomes and creating a prosperous leisure economy for County 
Durham. 

3 An in-principle agreement is sought to the approach and authority to 
move to the next stage of planning and implementation. 

Executive summary 

4 The Council has, over the last 18 months, undertaken a review of its 
leisure centre provision with a view to transforming the offer within the 
wider context of the existing physical activity infrastructure embedded 
in local communities.  The transformation will work towards creating a 
healthier population, providing a higher quality offer for residents and 
be more cost effective in its delivery through increased footfall and 
better meeting the needs of families in County Durham. 

 

Page 115

Agenda Item 5



5 A leading leisure transformation specialist (Alliance Leisure Services) 
has been contracted to work with DCC to maximise learning from other 
national sites of best practice and to provide independent scrutiny of 
the work required for County Durham to transform the offer to 
residents. 

6 The work to date has included: 

(a) understating the health and wellbeing needs of County Durham 
residents through Durham Insights; 

(b) taking into consideration national and local strategic policy and 
guidance for physical activity and the role / added value of 
leisure centres in communities; 

(c) reviewing the existing physical activity assets in communities 
and understanding the provision and utilisation of each centre 
and the flow of people using the centres currently; 

(d) assessing the market for existing and potentially new activities to 
determine likely/potential demand and improved social impact; 

(e) considering the required investment to enable the potential new 
demand to be realised and to determine how best to attract 
those currently not using leisure centres to be drawn in and 
attracted to increased leisure opportunities; 

(f) gaining an understanding of the wider implications of 
undertaking the changes, including revenue and business 
planning. 

7 The work to date has identified the opportunity to maximise health gain 
and through a return on investment approach how to be more cost 
effective in delivery.  Two core areas to focus on include: 

(a) introducing a range of new activities as well as building on 
existing ones to meet the diverse needs of families, across the 
life course, thus ensuring there is universal access for all as well 
as offering more targeted opportunities for the harder to reach 
segments of the population; 

(b) raising service standard and quality across the offer to maintain 
use for existing service users and significantly increase new 
service use. 

8 Taking all of the learning above into account and in the context of the 
existing breadth of physical and sporting opportunities across County 

Page 116



Durham, it is proposed that the leisure centre offer can be transformed 
through five approaches to improvement.  These are laid out below: 

(a) Approach 1: Refreshing the existing offer: This would take 
place in four of the existing leisure centres: 

• Consett 

• Newton Aycliffe 

• Wolsingham 

• Teesdale. 

Whilst Consett is a new centre and Newton Aycliffe has been 
recently refurbished, there are opportunities to refresh the offer 
and attract different and additional residents to access the 
opportunities available.  Wolsingham is to be transferred into 
Culture, Sport & Tourism management in September 2020 and 
will require some refresh work, whilst Teesdale would benefit 
from a refreshed ‘look and feel’ along with the introduction of the 
Thrive branding throughout the centre. 

(b) Approach 2: Refurbishment / new installations: Five of the 
current leisure centres are to be refurbished and / or change 
their programme to introduce new activities.  The five being: 

• Abbey 

• Freemans Quay 

• Louisa Centre 

• Peterlee 

• Spennymoor. 

These centres will require a range of works from the installation 
of new equipment to substantial refurbishment to accommodate 
new and/or additional activities. 

(c) Approach 3: The replacement of Leisure Centres facilities.  
This would impact on three current sites: 

• Woodhouse Close 

• Chester-le-Street 

• Seaham. 

Page 117



The current layout, condition and location of these centres 
requires consideration regarding the replacement of these 
facilities to maximise health and wellbeing benefits for the 
population of County Durham and the economic vibrancy of the 
leisure offer. 

Health impact assessments (HIA) would be undertaken on each 
of the proposed new locations to determine the maximum health 
gain opportunities and to ensure the transformed leisure offer 
would be seen as adding value to the wider physical activity 
infrastructure. 

(d) Approach 4: Retain a leisure offer and create greater links 
with other services and the community:  Two leisure centres 
would benefit from this approach: 

• Meadowfield 

• Shildon. 

There are opportunities to either expand service offers within 
these buildings and develop closer links with the community.  
This would make the buildings more viable from a cost 
effectiveness perspective and increase footfall due to the co-
location of services and greater community involvement. 

(e) Approach 5: A partnership development.  One leisure centre 
has the opportunity to become part of another organisation’s 
infrastructure: 

• Riverside. 

To work in partnership with Durham County Football Association 
and other key users would improve opportunities for the 
population to gain access to increased coaching opportunities 
and increase uptake in the use of facilities overall. 

Proposed operating model 

9 A move to a single operating model for all indoor leisure centres is the 
proposal.  This would be via contract negotiation and expiry of: 

• Competition Line income share contracts; 

• 1Life leisure management contracts. 

10 There are three operating models in place currently: direct Council 
management, Council management with an income share partner and 

Page 118



management via a contract.  The move to a single model will require 
the early termination of the income share agreements and the 
insourcing of the leisure management contract. 

Funding 

11 In order to deliver the transformation as highlighted above a capital 
budget of up to £62.8 million would be required.  It is recommended 
that the forecast additional income generated from this investment of 
£1.63 million is utilised to finance £38 million of the required borrowing.  
The remaining £24.8 million of capital investment to be funded from the 
MTFP (10) and MTFP (11) capital programmes. 

12 In addition, a one-off revenue budget would be required to terminate 
the Competition Line income share agreements.  The detail of these 
agreements is set out in the part B report.  This investment is forecast 
to generate an annual net saving.  It is recommended that the one-off 
budget is funded from available surplus budget in 2020/21 with the 
forecast saving contributing to MTFP (10) savings. 

13 An additional 33.29 full time equivalent posts will also be created if this 
total transformation project is delivered as currently proposed. 

14 This is a major investment programme and there will be opportunities 
for community engagement within the next phases of the process to 
ensure residents and members get the chance to further shape the 
proposals. 

15 Whilst there is further advanced feasibility work to be undertaken 
before actual transformation can begin, approval is required to 
progress with the project at the current levels of financial commitment. 

Recommendation(s) 

16 It is recommended that: 

(a) an in-principle agreement is given to the overall programme of 
change for leisure centres, as set-out in this report: 

i. Note that the detailed financial information and commercially 
sensitive information is provided in a corresponding part B 
report. 

ii. Capital investment of £62.8 million is included in MTFP(10) 
and MTFP (11) capital bids with £38 million being funded on a 
self-financing basis.  The remaining £24.8 million being 
financed from the broader capital programme. 

Page 119



iii. A one-off revenue investment is utilised to buy out the 
Competition Line income share agreements.  Funded from 
available surplus budget in 2020/21 with the forecast saving 
being utilised to support MTFP(10). 

iv. Note is taken of the VAT Partial Exemption impact of the 
programme. 

v. The Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local Services, 
and the Corporate Director of Resources, in consultation with 
the portfolio holders for Economic Regeneration and Deputy 
Leader and Finance, be given delegated powers to approve: 

i. The transformation works for all refurbishment and 
realigning of services once detailed capital and revenue 
implications of individual projects are known. 

ii. The negotiated early termination of the Competition Line 
UK income-share agreements. 

vi. The Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local Services 
and the Corporate Director of Resources present a further 
report on new build options once the advanced feasibility work 
is complete which will include the health impact assessment. 

  

Page 120



Background 

Need and context 

17 Leisure covers a wide range of activities and pastimes which vary, not 
only from person to person, but also throughout an individual’s life.  To 
set a scope for this project the focus is upon transforming active leisure 
which is facilitated by Durham County Council primarily within its 
Leisure Centre stock.  However, to maximise any impact upon the 
health and wellbeing of our residents and grow the leisure economy 
the review considers the wider context of: playing pitches, parks & 
countryside, play areas, schools, outreach work, community provision 
including Durham County Council transferred assets and both private 
and voluntary sector provision.  It also considers how the Durham 
County Council offer is perceived and recognised by its residents and 
users i.e. its brand. 

18 It is well evidenced that physical activity maintains good health and 
reduces the risk of long-term conditions such as heart disease, 
diabetes and obesity.  It is beneficial for mental health and can reduce 
the need for the medication of conditions such as depression and 
anxiety.  Physically active people are more likely to be in work 
contributing to the economy of County Durham and are less likely to be 
socially isolated if participating in activity.  Some people find it harder 
to undertake physical activity and it is the role of public health and 
partners to understand the barriers to participation and consider ways 
to enable the population to access opportunities and increase 
participation. 

19 There are known inequalities in relation to access to opportunity and 
uptake of physical activity (taken from national active lives survey 
2017/18): 

(a) 61.9% of adults in County Durham are achieving the 2019 Chief 
Medical Officer’ss (CMO) guidance of an average 150 minutes 
of moderate intensity activity per week.  The England average is 
66.3%; 

(b) 15.8% of County Durham children and young people in school 
years 1 – 11 are achieving the CMO guidance of 60 minutes or 
more every day (approximately 9,300 children).  This is below 
the England average of 17.5%; 

(c) 27.8% of children (approx. 16,500) in years 1-11 in County 
Durham do an average of 60 minutes or more a day but not 
every day; 

Page 121



(d) 39.9% of children and young people are doing 30 plus minutes 
of physical activity within school and only 32% are active every 
day both at and outside of school. 

20 There is evidence nationally on how physical activity levels vary 
depending on age, gender and social background: 

(a) adult men are more likely to be active than women; 

(b) activity levels generally fall with age with the sharpest decline at 
ages 75-84 years; 

(c) nationally for children and young people, boys (20%) are more 
likely to be active every day than girls (14%); and 

(d) activity levels decrease as deprivation increases.  Inequalities in 
activity levels exist based on family income, 39% of children in 
the least affluent families do fewer than 30 minutes of activity a 
day, compared to 26% of children from the most affluent 
families. 

21 Active Durham is the multi-agency strategic group driving forward 
plans to reduce the physical activity gap.  The leisure centre 
transformation is part of the strategic plan to improve participation and 
health outcomes. 

22 Whilst this report deals with investment for leisure centres the Council 
is committed to continue to invest in the wider offer in order to support 
a geographically wide and diverse variety of leisure opportunities in 
both the built and natural environment. Parks and the countryside 
estate, playing pitches and play areas all play a significant role along 
with the vast number of community facilities across the County. 

23 This creates a breadth of physical activity opportunities including 
substantial run, walk and cycle programmes, grass roots sporting 
teams, multi-use games areas in communities and elite sporting 
grounds such as the Emirates cricket ground.  Leisure centres play a 
critical role within the wider physical activity infrastructure and offer 
many health, social and wellbeing benefits to residents and visitors 
alike. 

24 Leisure centres are places where families and communities can come 
together to play and socialise, be it sport or less formal activity, to learn 
new skills through a variety of coached activities from learning to swim 
or to practice yoga.  People can become physically active either in 
group exercise or individual programmes tailored to individual needs.  
Leisure centres are also a place where people can socialise and enjoy 
leisure time with friends and family. 

Page 122



25 Leisure centres benefit a wide range of corporate objectives such as 
the regeneration of towns and neighbourhoods, address social 
isolation, improve health and wellbeing and provide opportunities to 
avoid crime and anti-social behaviour. 

Measuring impact 

26 One measure used to determine the impact leisure has on the above is 
known as ‘social value’.  There are also return on investment tools 
developed by the National Institute for Clinical Excellence (NICE) 
which are to be further explored going forward.  The NICE return on 
investment tool will be part of the health impact assessment work at a 
later date.  For this report Alliance Leisure has focused on the social 
value calculation. 

27 The social value calculator has been developed by Sheffield Hallam 
University, Experian and 4Global in partnership with a number of 
leading leisure industry organisations using a national model for 
measuring social return on investment in sport in England. (see 
appendix 2 UK Active physical activity report). 

28 The measures of success for this leisure centre transformation project 
will be: 

(a) a reduction in health inequalities, as measured by health equity 
audits across the sites; 

(b) an increase in physical activity within the population with an 
emphasis on more vulnerable groups; 

(c) an overall improvement in social value as measured by the 
social value calculator; 

(d)  a reduction in revenue subsidy; and 

(e) contribution to regeneration programmes and visitor attractions. 

Changes in society’s expectations of leisure centres 

29 The leisure centre has historically been the main means through which 
the above outcomes have been realised from a physical activity 
perspective.  The nature, scope and popularity of leisure activities has, 
however, changed considerably in recent times, and certainly since the 
majority of the Council’s provision was developed.  Whilst there has 
been a decline in many traditional sports hall related activities together 
with other areas such as squash, some other activities remain popular 
but within a context of a significantly changed level of customer 
expectations.  (Appendix 3 Sport England - Active Lives Adult Survey 

Page 123



Nov 2017/18 presentation and spreadsheet showing decline in 
traditional sport).  Similarly, other new more appealing and interactive 
activities are beginning to gain popularity. 

30 The current facilities offer a very traditional mix of sport activities; this 
is in need of refreshing with the introduction of activities that are 
attractive to new and wider audiences.  If the health, wellbeing, social 
value and the efficiency of the service is to improve, transformation 
must attract new participants whilst retaining those who are already 
using the centres. 

Current position 

31 Most of the leisure centres in County Durham were built over thirty 
years ago; Consett, Freemans Quay and an extension to the Louisa 
Centre being the only exceptions.  Whilst some have benefitted from 
major refurbishment (Newton Aycliffe and Spennymoor) to either 
accommodate additional services or provide a more modern feel, the 
majority do not meet the expectations of leisure centre users of today 
and do not attract the population who are furthest away from 
participating in physical activity.  There is decline in racket and other 
traditional sports and a rising trend in adventure type activities 
(Appendix 3). 

32 The latest condition surveys place an estimated capitalised 
maintenance cost for the current 5-year period at £6,816,056 
(Appendix 4) and, with centres such as Woodhouse Close now over 
fifty years old, these costs are not expected to reduce unless a 
replacement strategy is agreed. 

33 The centres and their traditional mix of activities currently attract over 4 
million visits per annum.  There is much opportunity going forward to 
more smartly identify who our users are and how we better attract 
residents and visitors into leisure centres who have previously not 
attended regularly.  This current and potential expanded usage has a 
significant health, wellbeing and social value. 

34 In order to measure benefit from this project and related investments, 
the current social value has been measured for 10 of the 14 leisure 
centres (Appendix 5 - these centres are those proposed for significant 
investment).  This provides a baseline for which the value of any 
investment can be assessed against any increase in the social value 
measure. 

35 In addition to these completed calculations, further work going forward 
will be to consider the NICE return on investment tool for physical 

Page 124



activity and to track changes in the health and wellbeing of our 
population through the key public health outcome measures. 

Social value calculation for County Durham 

36 Social value is calculated using a database of research which 
considers local demographics, current users, types of activity and the 
numbers of, as well as how regularly, people engage in participation.  
The database can compare this data with data from other areas and 
develop a social value based on 4 key categories. 

37 The current total social value is £22,798,858; this is broken down into 4 
categories as follows: 

• Improved subject-wellbeing £16,897,282 

• Improved health £  4,990,651 

• Increased educational attainment £     887,242 

• Reduction in crime  £       23,683 

Sport England performance comparison 

38 The Council has also benchmarked its performance with the Sport 
England National Benchmarking Service (SENBS).  The table below 
shows SENBS averages in comparison to DCC averages for the 
2017/18 financial year. 

 

2017/18 
SENBS 

Durham 
average 

Difference 
+/- 

Income per Station £9,456 £4,607 £4,850 - 

Swimming Income per m2 £1,102 £829 £273 - 

Main Hall income per Badminton Court £20,484 £11,310 £9,174 - 

Income per Visit £4.24 £2.21 £2.03 - 

Staff Costs as % of Income 55% 95% -40% - 

Total Cost per Visit £4.02 £4.59 -£0.57 - 

R&M per m2 £21.33 £13.81 £7.53 + 

Utilities per m2 £33.33 £27.01 £6.33 + 

Cost Recovery 110% 53% 57% - 

Subsidy per Visit -£0.30 £2.38 -£2.68 - 

 

39 Our income performance is significantly below the SENBS for all key 
income indicators.  Whilst the economic climate in the region will affect 
this, the difference in our income per visit - effectively customer spend 
per visit - is significant.  The available disposable income of residents 
and visitors in County Durham and associated poverty must be taken 
into consideration when only comparing to England.  Nonetheless 
there are significant opportunities to increase DCC’s income through a 
vibrant, cost effective leisure centre offer. 

Page 125



40 Staff costs account for 95% of the income compared to just 55% 
SENBS.  The leisure economy is across public sector, private sector 
and voluntary community sector.  This will account in part for the 
variation in staff costs when comparing to Sport England data.  Many 
organisations run with zero-hour contracts and minimum wage.  In 
DCC there is a contractual requirement required for paying staff 
enhancements, for unsocial hours for example.  The poor income 
performance also significantly impacts upon this indicator. 

41 We also fall below the SENBS average for gym income per station 
which is an indication that our gym and fitness product is in need of 
change and has opportunities for improvement and increased usage. 

42 Sports hall income is also significantly low which is an indication of 
oversupply and poor activity use/programming.  The Sport England 
Facility Planning (appendix 6) Model also suggests there is an 
oversupply of sports halls in County Durham.  This is part of the re 
modelling of offer proposed and how we better engage residents and 
visitors in participation of physical activity. 

43 Swimming income is below the SENBS average and, whilst our 
general swim and learn to swim performance is improving, there is 
scope to significantly improve in this area. 

Local spend 
 

44 The 2019/20 budget for delivering services across the fourteen leisure 
centres is £5,300,581.  This consists of an income budget of 
£7,808,029 and a gross expenditure £13,106,610. 

45 Repairs and maintenance budgets are managed separately as part of 
a much wider Facilities Management budget.  The actual cost of 
maintaining the leisure centres over the last five years was: 

2018/19 2017/18 2016/17 2015/16 2014/15 

£840,502 £576,215 £607,881 £521,483 £571,986 

46 When these costs are combined, and assuming 2019/20 R&M costs 
remain at 2018/19 levels, the overall expenditure of the service 
increases to £13,947,112 giving a net cost for the service of 
£6,139,083. 

Complex operating model governance 
 

47 Despite a programme of harmonisation projects since Local 
Government Review there remain three different operating models 
across the 15 leisure centres; these are: 

Page 126



(a) direct DCC management; 

(b) DCC Managed with Fitness income share partner; 

(c) managed via a contract. 

Direct DCC 
management 

DCC with income 
share partner 

Managed Via 
contract 

Abbey Freemans Quay Peterlee 

Chester-le-Street Newton Aycliffe Seaham 

Consett Shildon  

Meadowfield Spennymoor  

Woodhouse Close Wolsingham  

Riverside The Louisa Centre  

 Teesdale  

 

48 The above table shows which centres fall into each category of 
management.  The income share partner, Competition Line UK 
(CLUK), has agreements in place from pre-LGR, and which vary in 
length; the Freemans Quay agreement is due to end in the 2028/29 
financial year, the Louisa Centre in 2024/25 and the others in 2025/26. 

49 The two sites managed via contract are currently managed by 1Life 
which is contracted to operate the centres until 31 March 2022. 

50 In conclusion we have a mix of operating models, the majority of the 
stock is old and requires investment.  This project provides an 
opportunity to invest and invigorate a new exciting offer for residents 
with DCC taking firm leadership of this transformation.  The alternative 
would be a managed decline of our leisure centre provision. 

Considering a Future Leisure Offer – work to date 

51 In order to robustly assess the benefits and impact of a transformed 
leisure centre offer, Alliance Leisure Services (ALS) a leading industry 
specialist in leisure transformation was procured through the OJEU 
compliant UK Leisure Framework (see Appendix 7).  The reports 
produced by ALS are commercially sensitive and are included in a 
separate report in part B of the agenda for this meeting of Cabinet. 

Page 127



52 Through this arrangement a two phased approach was agreed which 
gives consideration to: 

 

Phase 1 

(a) reviewing our existing provision and performance, the national 
and local strategic context and assessing the catchment for each 
centre; 

(b) assessing the market for existing and potentially new activities to 
determine likely/potential demand and social value impact, 
essentially determining a new activity mix/offer. 

Phase 2 

(a) considering the required investment in facilities required to 
ensure that the identified demand can be realised; 

(b) gaining an understanding of the wider implications of 
undertaking the changes, including revenue and business 
planning. 

53 Effective transformation requires us to fully understand not only where 
we are today, our current performance and core users, but also to 
understand our potential users, the demographics and resident profiles 
of our communities for each facility.  By starting to gather this 
information we now understand the types of activities that will best 
deliver the outcomes for this project on a centre by centre basis and 
further work will be done on understanding how we can maximise 
health impact and reduce health and wellbeing inequalities both in 
uptake of use and increasing physical activity levels. 

54 This knowledge allows the consideration of a new facility mix by 
ensuring capital investments are made in areas that will have the 
greatest impact. 

55 The initial phase 1 market assessment work identified the opportunity 
to introduce new activities and enhance and grow existing ones.  The 
work included a region wide competition analysis; studying the 
demographics of each facility catchment, along with mosaic profiling, 
and utilising the leisure data hub to establish the latent demand for 
specific activities. 

56 From a strategic context there is an oversupply of sports halls within 
the county and unmet demand for swimming; this was evidenced 
within the Sport England Facility Planning work undertaken in phase 1. 
(See Appendix 6).  The Football Association, Local Football Facilities 

Page 128



Plan (LFFP) (Appendix 8) identifies a shortfall of ten artificial grass 
pitches.  This project will seek to address some of these issues. 

57 The outcome of phase 1 was reported to Transformation Programme 
Board in March 2019 and it was approved to progress phase 2 work 
with 11 of the 14 centres within the initial scope.  Wolsingham has 
been added into the scope of this project following the Cabinet 
decision on 13 November 2019, in relation to the school joining the 
Advanced Learning Partnership. 

58 10 of the 11 facilities are included in the work being undertaken with 
ALS, whilst the eleventh, Riverside Sports Pavilion, was approved to 
develop in partnership by working with Durham County Football 
Association (DCFA). 

59 However, as the initial phase 1 work also identified some opportunities 
to grow participation at the three remaining centres and the Council 
wishes to transform all of its leisure centres, all 14 with the inclusion of 
Wolsingham are within the scope of the project and the 
recommendations of this report. 

60 Having established the need for a new offer and an understanding of 
what that offer should provide, phase 2 work was undertaken to 
explore how the facilities could be changed to accommodate the new 
mix of activities.  Concept designs have been developed to provide 
outline capital costs along with an understanding of how the 
introduction of new activities will impact upon existing provision. 

61 Revenue business plans based upon the assumptions of all of the 
previous work have now been developed and are to be considered in 
part B.  This work allows us to make assumptions on the future 
revenue requirements, both income and expenditure, any movement in 
social value and changes to staffing requirements post transformation.  
This can then be considered alongside the capital investment required 
to transform the centres, providing the Council with significant 
assurance regarding any capital investment decisions and the return 
on those investments. 

Proposed New Leisure Centre Offer 

62 Having undertaken the above it is proposed that a programme of work 
be undertaken that essentially seeks to introduce new activities, 
enhance existing activities and standards as well as repositioning 
some services across the county; these are comprised of: 

(a) the introduction of a range of new activities targeted towards 
specific audiences.  The activities have been market tested and 

Page 129



subjected to competition and catchment analysis to ensure they 
reach the targeted audiences; 

(b) enhancing the offer across a range of existing activities including 
swimming, gym and class programmes: 

• meeting the unmet demand for swimming by creating 
additional water space; 

• providing additional artificial grass playing pitches; 

• improving the leisure pool offer with additional features; 

• developing new fitness suites with the latest equipment 
that meet the demands of today’s market; 

• increasing and improving the exercise class programme; 

(c) Raising service standard and quality across the offer: 

• introduce the ‘Thrive Branding’ themes and values at all 
leisure centres; 

• move to a single operating model for all leisure centres 
ensuring consistent standards; 

• ensure maintenance programmes and budgets are in 
place to maintain the standards. 

63 In order to realise this offer will require a programme of investment that 
will deliver a mix of new leisure centres, refurbishment and refreshing 
existing centres, new partnerships with DCFA and the early termination 
of the income share agreements to enable a move to a single 
operating model. 

64 Introducing new activities and changing the offer at five leisure centres 
at Abbey, Louisa Centre, Freemans Quay, Peterlee and Spennymoor: 

(a) the work has identified the opportunity to change and/or add to 
the offer at these sites by developing within the existing building.  
The cost of adapting these centres to accommodate the new 
offer provides a significant return against the investment.  The 
buildings are in a good condition and can accommodate the new 
activities; 

(b) the £9.5 million required to introduce new activities includes the 
costs of building adaptations along with the installation of all 

Page 130



equipment.  This work can be progressed quickly as there are 
few or no planning issues; 

(c) however, four of the five sites are managed under income share 
or contract arrangements and this will impact upon programming 
work. 

65 Refreshing the existing offer at four leisure centres at Consett, Newton 
Aycliffe, Wolsingham and Teesdale: 

(a) these centres have a limited opportunity to improve the revenue 
position and grow social value by providing new activities.  
However, there is scope to improve the offer by raising the 
standards and developing new programmes for existing activities 
that can meet customer expectations; 

(b) as Consett is a new site and Newton Aycliffe has undergone 
considerable refurbishment, the majority of this work is at 
Wolsingham and Teesdale and would require bringing forward 
any capitalised maintenance work and introducing the ‘Thrive’ 
branding. 

66 The replacement of three existing leisure centres in Bishop Auckland, 
Chester-le-Street and Seaham: 

(a) the feasibility research undertaken to date suggests that we 
explore the potential for New Build Opportunities at Chester-le-
Street, Seaham and Woodhouse Close.  The work has identified 
a number of new activities at these centres that would increase 
the measure for health, wellbeing, social value and reduce 
revenue costs.  However, the age, condition and footprints of the 
existing building bring into question the transformation of the 
offer at these centres by refurbishing existing buildings. 

(b) the following sets out the various options for consideration 
before presenting a new build proposal for the three areas.  
These proposals will require further consideration as the process 
moves forward.  To understand the options and potential costs 
involved, ALS have provided options.  The options are based on 
the following three models: 

• Core+ 1, a 2,300 sq m wet and dry facility estimated cost 
£14.8 million and comprising of: 

a. 25 metre 6 lane pool; 

b. Learner Pool; 

Page 131



c. Wet Change; 

d. Café/reception; 

e. Dry Change; 

f. Fitness Suite; 

g. Studios; 

h. Spectator Seating; 

• Core+ 2 a 3,600 sq m wet and dry facility estimated cost 
£16 million and comprising of all of the above plus: 

a. 4 court sports hall with associated storage (this 
space would be utilised to accommodate the new 
activities, alternatively additional space can be 
added in addition to the sports hall); 

• Pool & Health Club model 1,300 sq m estimated cost £6.5 
million comprising of: 

a. 25 metre 6 lane pool; 

b. Wet Change; 

c. Reception & Admin; 

d. Dry Change; 

e. Fitness Suite; 

f. Studio; 

g. Spectator Seating; 

(c) the current anticipated budget for new build replacement is  
£39 million based upon two Core + 2 centres and one Pool & 
Health Club model.  Further consideration also needs to be 
given to the potential wider economic benefit, costs could rise 
when taking into consideration regeneration priorities, land 
issues, build standards such as BREEAM and the inclusion of 
other services, i.e. co-location and One Public Estate 
considerations.  A capital bid for £48 million has therefore been 
submitted. 

(d) initial consideration has been given to potential sites and these 
require further feasibility and full health impact assessments 

Page 132



(HIA) undertaken to understand how to maximise health gain 
and reach for residents and visitors, prior to consultation.  Both 
Woodhouse Close and Seaham are currently located in areas of 
high deprivation and physical inactivity, therefore their existing 
location places them in an area in which they can have a greater 
impact on social value measures thus significantly working to 
address unacceptable heath inequalities; 

(e) the report recommendation for advancing the feasibility and HIA 
for these three sites will allow costs to be explored further and 
the consideration of wider outcomes such as regeneration and 
tourism opportunities at Seaham in particular; 

(f) the advanced feasibility will be completed by April 2020, and a 
further report would be presented prior to commitment to 
develop new build options further. 

67 Improving the quality of provision and realigning with other services - 
projects at two of the leisure centres at Meadowfield and Shildon. 

68 A Development Partnership at one leisure centre: 

(a) Durham County Football Association (DCFA) has expressed an 
interest in developing the Riverside site in partnership with the 
Council.  Work is ongoing with DCFA, Durham County Cricket 
Club, Park View Academy and the Football Foundation to further 
establish the feasibility of this proposal; 

(b) DCFA have undertaken feasibility on the construction elements 
of the project and have an outline costing of £4.8 million, they 
are seeking £2 million in match funding from the Council.  
Further work is required to establish the sustainability of the 
proposals as well as the wider community benefit and financial 
revenue benefit of the project; 

(c) the proposal includes the construction of two new artificial grass 
pitches which will assist in the delivery of both the Local Football 
Facilities Plan (LFFP) and the Durham County Playing Pitch 
Strategy (PPS). 

69 A move to a single operating model at all leisure centres: 

(a) the early termination of Competition Line income share 
agreements is a key enabling factor in progressing with this 
work, moving to a single operating model and meeting revenue 
savings; 

Page 133



(b) the arrangements with 1Life would remain in place until the 
contract expires in March 2022. 

Impact of a transformed leisure centre offer 

70 The measure of success for this project will be the improved health 
and wellbeing outcomes for County Durham, in particular an increase 
in physical activity and a reducing in the inequalities across age, 
gender, ethnicity and social gradient together with a reduction in 
revenue subsidy.  In order to make decisions regarding future capital 
investments it is important to understand the impacts transformation 
will have on these measures in comparison with the levels of 
investment. 

71 The Alliance Leisure work outlined in section 50 above has provided 
both a baseline and projected analysis on the social value, capital 
costs and revenue implications for the 10 centres that are proposed for 
significant investment by either replacement, the introduction of new 
activities and repositioning of services. 

Social Value Outcomes 

72 The social value report (Appendix 5) outlines the current social value 
across the 10 centres that have undergone both phases of the ALS 
work at £22,798,858. 

73 By applying the assumptions that have been developed through the 
process, it has been calculated that the social value would grow by 
£8,618,266 if the transformation as proposed is delivered.  This 
represents an increase of 38%. 

74 The assumed future social value for the 10 centres broken down into 
the 4 categories is: 

• Improved subject-wellbeing £23,295,330 

• Improved health £  6,880,411 

• Increased educational attainment  £  1,219,067 

• Reduction in crime £       33,316 

Total £31,427,124 

Financial Requirements 

75 The table below provides a summary of the capital and revenue 
investment required to transform the leisure offer.  All costs at this 
stage are based upon either Gross Internal Floor Area (GIFA) 
calculations or a cost comparison with similar projects.  The total 

Page 134



capital investment is up to £62.8 million with circa £48 million of this 
relating to the three new builds. 

76 The significant investment will increase costs in the centres by  
£2.127 million.  At the same time additional annual income of  
£3.762 million is expected to be generated resulting in a net overall 
saving of £1.63 million.  This revenue saving could be utilised to 
finance £38 million of prudential borrowing thus reducing the overall 
requirement for capital financing from the MTFP to £24.8 million. 

77 It is to be noted that these figures are representative at the time of this 
report, and that inflationary elements will apply at the time of 
construction.  These will be offset, in part, by the increased RPI within 
the revenue business plans.  With reference to new build options the 
cost of demolition of the existing site has not been considered. 

Category and facilities Capital 
investment 

Replace existing facilities 
Chester-le-Street 
Seaham 
Woodhouse Close 

Up to 
£48,000,000 

 

Introducing new activities and changing the offer 
Abbey 
Louisa 
Peterlee 
Freemans Quay 
Spennymoor 

£9,510,000 

Refreshing the existing offer 
Consett 
Newton Aycliffe 
Wolsingham 
Teesdale 

£500,000 

Reposition Services  
Meadowfield 
Shildon 

£2,810,000 

Develop under partnership 
Riverside  

£2,000,000 

TOTAL CAPITAL £62,820,000 

 

78 The revenue assumptions are predicated on the growth in both income 
and expenditure from the delivery of new and enhanced activities.  The 
new build advanced feasibility work will allow the potential for further 
growth to be explored and therefore the revenue implications within 
this report are considered prudent. 

Page 135



VAT Partial Exemption 

79 Local authorities are able to recover all of the net VAT incurred as part 
of its activities.  There are areas of activity however where the Council 
may have opted not to tax certain income activities and exempted itself 
from the need to charge VAT.  The VAT foregone in these areas or the 
VAT received from any capital expenditure in such areas contributes to 
the Council’s Partial Exemption calculation.  As long as this sum is 
below 5% of total VAT incurred the Council does not incur any costs. 

80 If an authority breaches the 5% limit in any individual year they are 
able seek dispensation from HMRC to utilise a seven year average 
figure. If this average is below 5% then this is allowable. 

81 The Council made the decision as part of MTFP(9) to benefit from the 
ability to no longer charge VAT on income in leisure centres.  This 
generated a £0.6 million MTFP saving.  The VAT foregone in this area 
and any capital expenditure on leisure centres must be included in the 
Partial Exemption calculation. 

82 The Council is presently recovering VAT on behalf of the £20 million 
Remaking Beamish capital development which has placed significant 
pressure upon the 5% Partial Exemption limit.  This pressure will be 
heightened if the Council invests up to £62.8million capital in leisure 
centres whilst also generating additional exempt income. 

83 The Council’s tax advisors, Ernst Young, have analysed the Council’s 
forecast partial exemption position based upon the projected capital 
investment and services to be provided.  It is forecast that the Council 
will breach the 5% partial exemption limit in a number of years.  The 
analysis has indicated however the Council will not breach the 7 year 
average position.  In this circumstance the Council will need to seek 
approval from the HMRC in terms of utilising this dispensation. 

Other Considerations 

84 The business planning assumptions have also looked at the staffing 
levels and operating hours of the current provision.  The proposed new 
activities will create an additional 33.29 full time equivalent posts and 
require the development of new skills within our workforce. 

85 The transformation project sets out significant changes to the current 
provision; this will not be achievable without significant disruption to 
services whilst the transformation work takes place.  Financially this 
will impact upon income as old activities are lost whilst new ones are 
created. Local consultation events will also take place to engage with 
current users, local residents and members to mitigate any disruption 
and help shape the proposals.  

Page 136



Next steps 

86 The next steps within the project are: 

(a) complete further advanced feasibility work and health impact 
assessment on the three proposed new leisure centres, to 
assess the size, cost, additional benefits and location reporting 
back to Transformation Programme Board April 2020; 

(b) commission Alliance Leisure under the existing UK Leisure 
Framework procurement route to progress the development of 
the 5 centres within the ‘Introduce new activities and change to 
offer’ facility group through to cost confidence.  Health equity 
audits (HEA) will be undertaken on these to understand our 
current demographic from an inequalities perspective and then a 
re-audit in three years’ time to determine if we are actively 
attracting the right people into our centres; 

(c) complete the feasibility work with DCFA with regard to the 
Riverside and report back to Transformation Programme Board 
March 2020; 

(d) develop a programme of works which can deliver transformation 
timely and will draw down capital investments within a managed 
financial process; 

(e) undertake negotiations with Competition Line UK with regards to 
an early termination of the income share agreements; 

(f) meet with AAPs to consult in more detail on the transformation 
project and the impacts with a view to further consider the local 
context; 

(g) undertake local engagement events targeted at residents and 
current users to help shape the proposals. 

87 Before progressing with the next steps Members are asked to be 
mindful of the potential costs and benefits of this project.  Whilst there 
are substantial gains in health, wellbeing, social value, working to 
reduce inequalities, as well as net revenue savings and employment 
growth, the financial benefits are significantly reduced when the cost of 
borrowing is taken into consideration.  However, taken in totality this is 
an invest to save model and will radically improve the leisure centre 
offer for residents as well as provide a vibrant leisure economy for 
visitors. 

88 Whilst moving through the next stages will require further cost in 
developing more detailed design and costing, these costs are not 

Page 137



additional as they would form part of any design and build process.  
They only become a risk should the project or any part of it be aborted. 

Background papers 

• National Active Lives survey 2017/18. 

Other useful documents 

• None. 

Authors 

Nigel Dodds  Tel:  03000 264599 

  

Page 138



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

The Council has the power under s19 of the Local Government 

(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 to provide, and charge for, such 

recreational facilities as are outlined within the report.  Local leisure facilities 

are not generally thought to distort trade between member states and 

therefore there are unlikely to be any State Aid implications from this 

proposed investment. 

Finance 

The report identifies a need for up to £62.8 million of capital investment.  The 

capital investment is forecast to generate a net annual saving of  

£1.63 million.  It is recommended that this sum is utilised to prudentially 

borrow £38 million to assist in funding the capital. 

Discussions will be required with HMRC to agree to the utilisation of the 

seven year average dispensation on the Partial Exemption Limit. 

Consultation 

Local consultation events will be held with members, AAPs, service users 

and residents as part of the next phase of this transformation programme.  

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

The investment outlined within this report will have a positive impact on the 

council equal opportunities duty. Individual Equality Impact assessments will 

be undertaken alongside Health Impact assessments as and where 

necessary. 

Climate Change 

Refurbishments and new builds would be to new environmental standards. 

Human Rights 

None. 

Crime and Disorder 

The programme will have a positive impact upon crime and disorder as 

outlined within the Social Value impact of the report. 

  

Page 139



Staffing 

Increased 33.29 FTE. 

Accommodation 

None. 

Risk 

There are risks with any invest to save project, this has been mitigated by 

procuring the services of a leisure transformation specialist to work on this 

programme.  The risks are further mitigated by the partners’ agreement to 

work with the Council until the business assumptions are achieved, this 

would be at the partners cost and it is for this reason that the assumed 

figures are prudent and achievable. 

Procurement 

All procurement in relation to this transformation programme will be 

undertaken under the Councils Contract Procurement Rules. 

  

Page 140



Appendix 2:  UK Active Physical Activity Report  

 

See attached document. 

  

Page 141



Appendix 3:  Sport England - Active Lives Adult Survey Nov 
17/18 

 

 

See attached presentation slide 13 and attached spreadsheet tab 5. 

  

Page 142



 

Appendix 4:  ALS Durham – Stage 2 Condition Review Costs 

 

The attached appendix provides an overview of the current condition survey 

costs for the leisure centres. 

  

Page 143



 

Appendix 5:   Durham County Council Social Value Report 

 

The attached report which has been commissioned independently to the 

Alliance work provides the social value measure for the current and proposed 

provision. 

  

Page 144



 

Appendix 6:  Sport England Facilities Planning Model Report  

 

Provides an overview of the UK Leisure Procurement Framework. 

  

Page 145



 

Appendix 7:  UK Leisure Framework 

 

The attached file includes the report and appendices. 

  

Page 146



 

Appendix 8:  Local Football Facilities Plan 

 

Attached file is the plan. 

Page 147



This page is intentionally left blank



Physical Activity - A Social Solution

Page 149



2ukactive Social Value 2017

What do we value most in our lives? I hazard a guess it’s a combination of a number of things: 
the welfare of the people closest to us, the health and happiness of our children as they grow up 
to become adults, and the quality and safety of our homes, the streets we live in, and the 
strength of the wider local community where we work and relax.

The things we value are the backbone of our daily life, a life many of us now live at 100mph with 
unrelenting pressures on our collective time. And yet when we can get off the hamster wheel of 
daily life, it’s the things we value that are our refuge, our harbour in the storm. 

We’d be unwise not to protect them beyond anything else, right? 

Foreword
Baroness Tanni Grey -Thompson (Chair, ukactive)

When I called last year for a £1bn investment into community leisure to support the future of 
the NHS, I did so from a position of complete belief in the value of community facilities and 
assets across the country.  This new research on the social value of physical activity within our 
sector validates my belief. It shows that community leisure facilities are hugely valuable, even 
essential, not only to the physical health of the nation, but also for the positive impact they have 
on wider agendas such as education, crime, and general wellbeing. 

You will hear both myself and the team at ukactive describing physical activity as the “golden 
thread” that runs through the nation’s psyche, positively influencing national issues, and being 
one of the solutions to the collective health and wellbeing of the nation.  This is a message that 
ukactive is taking to Government and Parliament as a whole, offering our sector’s active 
involvement in supporting the work required to address some of the more complex, multi-lay-
ered, issues we face as a nation.  

The ukactive Research Institute will continue to lead the drive to bridge the evidence gap 
between research and real world interventions – giving the sector the confidence it needs to 
make decisions from an informed and evidence based potion. This is central to supporting our 
collective ambition to get more, people more active, more often.

As yet there has been too little emphasis, 
and for far too long, on what contributes 
to the health and happiness of a person, a 
family, a community. In addition, the bite 
of sustained austerity has stripped  
communities of places, venues and 
facilities that encouraged health, social 
cohesion, and the personal development 
of our youngest citizens. 

Let’s redress that. 

   Powered by DataHub

This is an important report and I encourage 
you to work with me and ukactive and use 
these findings to support the drive to ensure 
physical activity has the focus, status, and 
attention it urgently requires.

Page 150



Social value now sits at the heart of strategic investment into sport and physical activity, and 
rightly so. Every delivery and commissioning organisation should have a consistent, credible, 
accurate and up to date understanding of what good looks like and how to deliver it locally, 
accounting for different environments and opportunities. 

The DataHub opens up relevant, sector-wide intelligence on these areas of growth for every 
organisation. Working in collaboration with strategic partners around the DataHub means that 
this potential is already being realised across every corner of the UK – there is a much clearer 
line of sight between investment and impact. If physical activity is the vehicle for achieving so 
many wider strategic objectives, then data is becoming the new fuel. 

Developed in partnership with Experian, Sheffield Hallam University and 4 global, the Social 
Value Calculator uses evidence based academic research linked to intelligence from the   
DataHub to accurately measure and value the impact of sports and physical activity offered in 
leisure facilities. Operators using the DataHub's Social Value Calculator are successfully   
tendering for new contracts with key intelligence on what community savings can be   
generated to hand, and they have a clear pathway by which to deliver this value.

This year has seen a pivotal change in the sector, one that has been a long time in coming. Unlike 
other sectors, until now we have not had a comprehensive and representative set of data, 
collated in one place, which can be compared with other cross-departmental datasets on an 
individual level but at a scale. For example, investment into youth employment leads to savings 
against crime – both government departments understand the data, agree on the conclusions, 
and therefore from a national to local level are prepared to back the modelling with investment, 
knowing what the likely returns will be, every time. 

For the first time in our sector this is now becoming a reality and discussions are taking place on 
how the DataHub opens this door, and by doing so enables a fundamental pivot, which will 
benefit every single organisation that is funding or delivering activity. This report represents 
one of many small but exciting steps on this journey, on which every organisation is welcome 
on board! 

3ukactive Social Value 2017

Foreword
Utku Toprakseven (Director, DataHub)

   Powered by DataHub

Page 151



Key Findings:

     The report demonstrates the major value that leisure centres provide to the communities that 
they serve.

     Community leisure in the UK contributes £3.3bn in social value. A figure which takes into 
account improved health, reduced crime, increased educational attainment and improved life 
satisfaction (subjective wellbeing).

     Swimming provided almost a quarter of a billion pounds (£229 million) in social value in 2017, 
the most of all activities taking place in leisure centres, which was closely followed by fitness 
(£202 million).

     At an individual level, members of leisure facilities generate greater social value (£431) than 
casual users (£424).

     Frequent members (visiting 4+ times a month for 9-12 months in the last year) generate over 
£1,000 more Social Value per person than infrequent members.

     As an activity, Group Workouts provide the highest social value per person at £431 each year.

     Football is the activity which has by far the largest social impact on education and crime.

     Golf and Group Workouts are the two activities with the largest social impact on health and 
wellbeing.

     The overall Social Value generated by the 651 sites has increased by £49 million over the last 
year. 

Executive Summary

4ukactive Social Value 2017

Methodology: 

     Drawing on data from over 1.8m people across 651 leisure facilities over the past two   
years – this document takes an unprecedented look at the impact of public leisure on wider 
society, including calculating the social value of specific activities including football, swimming 
and group workouts.

     The total Social Value for the UK Public Leisure Sector (£3.3bn) has been estimated by scaling 
the figure of £779m generated from the 651 sites in the sample by the total number of Public 
Leisure facilities in the UK from the 2017 State of the Industry Report.

     Collected from the membership management systems of leisure centre operators, then stand-
ardised and processed by the DataHub, this document includes insights on activities which have 
the largest social impact, the bearing of leisure membership on social value and the regions 
which garner most social value from leisure centres.

   Powered by DataHub

Page 152



5ukactive Social Value 2017

     Produced by The ukactive Research Institute in conjunction with activity insight platform the 
DataHub, this report is the first to put a definitive number on the importance of public leisure to 
communities, particularly at a time when local authority budgets are under threat. 

    The Social Value Calculator (SVC) has been developed using a national model, for measuring 
Social Return on Investment in sport in England.  The national model was developed by SIRC 
with support from DCMS and Sport England.

     A relationship between sport, physical activity and four categories of social impact can now 
be evidenced. The four categories that make up social value are: Improved health, Reduced 
crime, Increased educational attainment, Improved life satisfaction or 'subjective wellbeing'.

Recommendations:

     The magnitude of these numbers serves to highlight the importance of keeping those who are 
already active moving and encouraging the inactive to participate in exercise. To  support this, 
Government should champion significant investment in community leisure provision,   
facilitating the injection of public/private funding into vital community assets that would  
deliver both long-term economic productivity and support ambitions for a healthier and fairer 
society.  

   Powered by DataHub

Page 153



Social Value 2017 researchinstitute.ukactive.com   |   www.datahubclub.com  1

Social Value of the Sector

DataHub 
sites:
651

£737.5 million

HEALTH

£786.5 million

+7% 2016/72015/6

UK Public 
Leisure facilities:

2,709*

*2017 State of the 
Industry Report

£3.3 billion

Extrapolated Social 
Value for UK Public 

Leisure (2017)

SUBJECTIVE
WELLBEING

EDUCATION

CRIME

£715 million

£2.4 billion

£123 million

£2.4 million

Chart Title

1 2 3 4

Health

Subjective Wellbeing

Education

Crime

22%

74%

4%
<1%

Data has been taken from 651 public leisure facilities across the UK and processed using the DataHub 

used for calculations runs from October to September.

How does this figure breakdown into the four components of Social Value?

UK Public Leisure Sector has 
been estimated by scaling the 
figure of £779m generated 
from the 651 sites in the sample 
by the total number of Public 
Leisure facilities in the UK from 
the 2017 State of the Industry 
Report.

moving and encouraging the inactive to participate in exercise.

6ukactive Social Value 2017    Powered by DataHub

Page 154



Social Value 20172 researchinstitute.ukactive.com   |   www.datahubclub.com

Social Value of an Individual

£738 million

£787 million2016/7

2015/6
1,717,364
 people*

        £427.51

         £429.35

HEALTH

SUBJECTIVE
WELLBEING

EDUCATION

CRIME

£93

£317

£16

£0.31

£94 

£320 

£15

-

£96 

£326 

£17

£0.65

      £428      £430      £440

1,839,656
 people*

What contribution does one person make to the overall Social Value?

What is the difference between male and female contributions in 2017?

 increased by £49 million over 
the last year. 

Social Value per person has dropped slightly by less than £2 due to a slight decrease 
in frequency of use per user.

is £10 higher than that of a female.  Contributions are higher for males across all four 
components. Crime is modelled only on male demographics so no value is recorded for 

+£10

52% of sample 48% of sample

7ukactive Social Value 2017    Powered by DataHub

Page 155



Social Value 2017 researchinstitute.ukactive.com   |   www.datahubclub.com  3

Social Value of a Member

MEMBER

      £431

                4+ times a month in 
                                 1-4 months in the last year

         121,265       £1,261

         171,363       £730

        690,412       £205

INFREQUENT

                4+ times a month in 
                                 5-8 months in the last yearMODERATE

               4+ times a month in 
                                 9-12 months in the last yearCORE

What is the difference between members and casual visitors in 2017?

How does the frequency of member visits impact Social Value in 2017?

Members of the facilities 
generate a higher 
Social Value than casual 

£7 per person.

generated increases 
massively as visit 
frequency increases. 

Core members generate 
over £1,000 more Social 
Value per person than 
infrequent members.

INFREQUENT                    MODERATE
      £525 increase in Social Value

  INFREQUENT                    CORE
£1,056 increase in Social Value

  MODERATE                   CORE
£531 increase in Social Value

CASUAL

      £424

Turning a casual user (non member) into a moderate member generates 1.8x more 
social value

Turning an infrequent member to a core member generates 6.1x more social value

ACQUISITION VS RETENTION

8ukactive Social Value 2017    Powered by DataHub

Page 156



Social Value 20174 researchinstitute.ukactive.com   |   www.datahubclub.com

£0.00 £100.00 £200.00 £300.00 £400.00 £500.00

Dance

Swimming

Squash

Badminton

Tennis

Fitness

60+ Activities

Golf

Football

Group Workout

Chart Title

£341

£431

£413

£363

£342

£372

£412

£398

£328

Social Value of Sports

£229 million

£172 million

£26 million

£19 million

£10 million

£6 million

£3 million

Swimming

Group Workout

Football

Badminton

Squash

Tennis

Golf

£3 million60+ activities

£2 millionDance

60+

£0                 £100                   £200                   £300  £400

Sport

Which sports provide the highest Social Value in 2017 in public leisure facilities?

Social Value per person by sport in 2017

£388£202 millionFitness

60+

Group Workouts 
provided the highest 

Social Value per 
person in 2017 at 

over £430

generated per sport is driven by the 
difference in participation frequency 
of users and their demographic and 

Mosaic profiles rather than differences 
in the social return per sport. An 

individual can contribute Social Value to 
more than one sport so the sum of all 
sports will be greater than Total Social 

Value.

Swimming provided 
almost a quarter of a 

billion pounds of 
Social Value in 2017

9ukactive Social Value 2017    Powered by DataHub

Page 157



Social Value 2017 researchinstitute.ukactive.com   |   www.datahubclub.com  5

Social Value of Sports
Which Sports provide the highest Social Value in each of the components in 2017?

Overall Social Value (in 2017) is broken down into its four component parts - Health, Subjective Wellbeing, 

each of the four components based on the participation frequency of participants and their demographic 
and Mosaic segments.

Swimming

Group Workout

Football

Badminton

Squash

Tennis

Golf

60+ activities

Dance

60+

Overall £93 £317 £16 £0.31

£78 £260 £4 £0.11

£95 £321 £15 £0.14

£82 £285 £45 £0.92

£80 £275 £8 £0.24

£75 £259 £8 £0.20

£85 £282 £5 £0.24

£99 £311 £3 £0.09

£92 £306 £0 £0.00

£73 £242 £13 £0.01

Fitness £83 £284 £20 £0.44

Group Workouts 
contribute the 

biggest amount to 
Wellbeing

Football contributed 
the biggest amount 

to Education and 
Crime

contributions to 

10ukactive Social Value 2017

     Produced by The ukactive Research Institute in conjunction with activity insight platform the 
DataHub, this report is the first to put a definitive number on the importance of public leisure to 
communities, particularly at a time when local authority budgets are under threat. 

    The Social Value Calculator (SVC) has been developed using a national model, for measuring 
Social Return on Investment in sport in England.  The national model was developed by SIRC 
with support from DCMS and Sport England.

     A relationship between sport, physical activity and four categories of social impact can now 
be evidenced. The four categories that make up social value are: Improved health, Reduced 
crime, Increased educational attainment, Improved life satisfaction or 'subjective wellbeing'.

Recommendations:

     The magnitude of these numbers serves to highlight the importance of keeping those who are 
already active moving and encouraging the inactive to participate in exercise. To  support this, 
Government should champion significant investment in community leisure provision,   
facilitating the injection of public/private funding into vital community assets that would  
deliver both long-term economic productivity and support ambitions for a healthier and fairer 
society.  

   Powered by DataHub

The table below highlights the two sports that have the highest contributions

Page 158



6 researchinstitute.ukactive.com   |   www.datahubclub.com

users and their demographic and Mosaic profiles rather than differences in the social return per region. 

Social Value by Region

YORKSHIRE
£1.3 million

£429

EAST MIDLANDS
£1.0 million

£490

SOUTH WEST
£1.0 million

£465

EAST OF ENGLAND
£1.0 million

£466

LONDON
£1.9 million

£428

SOUTH EAST
£1.5 million

£452

NORTH WEST
£0.9 million

£418

WEST MIDLANDS
£0.9 million

£457

NORTH EAST
£0.8 million

£476

How does Social Value differ by Region?

WALES
£0.6 million

£448

SCOTLAND
£1.9 million

£451

Average social value for one site

Average social value for one person

11ukactive Social Value 2017    Powered by DataHub

Page 159



12ukactive Social Value 2017

Social Value Calculator module in the DataHub has been developed with sector-recognised 
leading partners, to ensure robustness and credibility of results:

Sheffield Hallam University: the leading academic institution in the UK for measuring the social 
value of sport. With support from DCMS and Sport England, recently developed a national model 
for measuring the Social Return on Investment of sports participation in England. The   
methodology for measuring the social value component of the national model has been adapted 
for this DataHub module. Sheffield Hallam University will provide ongoing support to ensure the 
evidence base that underpins the model is as relevant and robust as possible.

Experian: the largest socio-economic and credit data provider in the UK.Through their Mosaic 
database they have a detailed understanding at an individual and household level of lifestyle 
and life stages, and therefore someone’s risk profile across a range of social indicators. This 
involves over 300 indicators on every individual in the UK. The Mosaic database is updated 
every 2 years.

4 global: on behalf of a sector representative DataHub Steering Group, which includes the main 
NGBs, operators, leisure management systems and agencies such as ukactive and CSPN, 
 developed and now manage the DataHub, partner modules and integrations.

Sport, physical activity and social value: Historical perspective

Sport and physical activity are widely perceived to generate social benefits to society. There is a 
long history of academic and evaluation research into the social impacts of sport and recreation 
but attempts at measuring and valuing these impacts in monetary terms has been more limited.

Sport, physical activity and social value: Growing evidence

“Sport might be seen to have 'turned a corner' from the previous state which was criticised by 
many as being under researched” (DCMS, 2015).

A relationship between sport, physical activity and 4 categories of social impact can now be 
reliably evidenced:

Improved health
Reduced crime
Increased educational attainment
Improved life satisfaction or 'subjective wellbeing'.

Calculating social value: Relevance and opportunities 

The SVC has been developed using a national model, for measuring Social Return on Investment 
in sport in England. The national model was developed by the Sport Industry Research Centre 
(SIRC) in Sheffield Hallam University with support from DCMS and Sport England. 

Guidance Document for the 
Social Value Calculator (SVC)

   Powered by DataHub

Page 160



13ukactive Social Value 2017

Giving operators, governing bodies and other stakeholders an indication of social value created 
from investment in sport and physical activity, and making these monetary figures consistent 
and relative across the sector, allowing for benchmarking;

Accountability to funders and customers;

Enhanced opportunities for targeting funding to support activities that drive participation and 
with it social value for communities.

Calculations for Social Value Generation

Social Value is only generated by repeat behaviour so the prerequisite for any facility user to 
contribute to the social value generated by a leisure centre in a month is that the person partici-
pates in physical activity 4 times or more in the month (proxy equivalent of once per week). The 
physical activity must involve exercise so watching an event or visiting the café do not count.

Members: Members are defined as facility users with an active subscription to use the facility 
and has a unique identifying number (memberID), demographic (age, gender) and postcode 
information in the DataHub extracts. Based on the monthly frequency of visit in the last 12 
months, each individual is provided a frequency classification:

Core Members: 4+ times a month in 9-12 months in the last year

Moderate Members: 4+ times a month in 5-8 months in the last year

Infrequent Members: 4+ times a month in 1-4 months in the last year

Customer Profiling: The age, gender and postcode (if collected) from each member is used for 
customer profiling, along with the encrypted membership number. From this information 
Experian can categorise anyone within the UK population into 66 Mosaic segments. These 66 
segments have been grouped into 5 Social Value Mosaic segments.

   Powered by DataHub

Page 161



14ukactive Social Value 2017

These 66 segments have been grouped into 5 Social Value Calculator segments: 
Young: H, O
Down: I, J, K
Mid: D, F, G, M, N
Old: E, L
Up: A, B, C
Missing (if unable to code client postcode or address)

Based on the customer profile of each person, a multiplier is then applied to the health value 
generated for each individual to capture the difference in benefits for demographic groups, e.g. 
the old and down market groups generating higher benefits than the young or affluent as a 
result of the same type of physical activity. This has been based on extensive research under-
taken by Sheffield Hallam University. These ratios will remain aligned with the latest sector 
findings, and will always be subject to academic and peer to peer scrutiny.

Non-Members: Non-members are all facility users without an active subscription using the 
facility to do physical activity occasionally or regularly. The information about these users is 
limited compared to members as they don’t have a unique identifier to track frequency of visit 
and no demographic and postcode information is kept about these users in most cases. All 
participants using the facility through a school, club or corporate booking (e.g. club swimming, 
corporate basketball sessions, etc.) or attending an activity booked by a member (e.g. 5-a-side 
football, badminton court booking for 4 players, etc.) are captured in this group.

For the social value calculation of non-members of the facility in a month, a model has been 
developed to estimate the unique-member-equivalent participation from the overall through-
put using data collected from leisure card holders and these ratios are then used to calculate the 
total social value generated by non-member participation. The ratios applied in the non-mem-
ber social value calculation are reviewed regularly through the growing sample size of facility 
users within the DataHub.

Assumptions

 The Social Value Calculator (SVC) assumes that participants take part for a duration of 12  
 months or more.

 The Social Value Calculator (SVC) assumes that participants undertake activity in the   
 required frequency (4 times or more) primarily at one venue.

References

 DCMS. (2015). A review of the social impacts of culture and sport. https://www.gov  
 .uk/government/publications/a-review-of-the-social-impacts-of-culture-and-sport

 Davies, L., Taylor, P. , Ramchandani, G. and Christy,E. (2016) Social Return on Investment in  
 Sport: A participation wide model for England. https://www.shu.ac.uk/research/   
 specialisms/sport-industry-research-centre/news/       
 social-return-on-investment-in-sport

   Powered by DataHub

Page 162



Page 163



Page 164



Page 165



Page 166



Page 167



Page 168



Page 169



Page 170



1

active lives
adult survey

November 17/18 
report

Published April 2019

P
age 171



welcome contents

▪ Levels of activity

▪ Types of activity

▪ Volunteering

key information
This report presents data from the 

Active Lives Adult Survey for the 

period mid-November 2017 to mid-

November 2018. Data is presented 

for adults aged 16+ in England. 

release dates

This release: 11 April 2019

Next release: 17 October 2019

find out more
For further information on the data 

presented in this report, please visit 

the Active Lives area of our website. 

3

12

14

2

Now with a third full year of data, this Active Lives report provides an updated 

comprehensive overview of adult (age 16+) sport and physical activity in England in

the 12 months from November 2017 to November 2018.

The positive news is that in the 12 months to November 2018, the number of adults who 

were regularly active has increased by almost 500,000, whilst the number of inactive adults 

has fallen by 185,000. These results have primarily been driven by an increase in the number 

of women who are regularly active. As a result, the gender gap between men and women 

has narrowed by over 90,000, from 352,000 to 258,000.

Activity levels are also up for disabled people and those with a long term health condition.

There is, however, much still to be done, with persistent inequalities for those from the lowest 

income families, black and South Asian backgrounds and disabled adults or those with long 

term health conditions – particularly those with three or more impairments.

This report brings together:

• How people are choosing to get active

• The picture of volunteering in sport and physical activity

• The link between engaging in sport and physical activity and the social outcomes 

identified in the government’s Sporting Future strategy.

Once again, this report provides the headlines, with links to more in-depth data tables.

You can also carry out your own analysis of the data via activelives.sportengland.org.

Finally, the next Active Lives Adult Survey will be published on 17 October 2019,

while on 5 December, we will be publishing the second Active Lives Children and

Young People report (academic year 2018/19).

Lisa O’Keefe  Insight Director

▪ Notes 24

▪ Local level data 22

▪ Definitions 23

▪ Outcomes 18

P
age 172

https://www.sportengland.org/activelives/
http://activelives.sportengland.org/


3

levels
of activity

this chapter presents 
information on three 
levels of activity:

• inactive (less than 30 

minutes a week)

• fairly active
(30-149 minutes a week)

• active (at least 150 

minutes a week)

definition

Note: We count most sport and physical activity, but exclude gardening. 

However, Public Health England does include gardening in its local level 

physical activity data. You can view the PHE data here.

THE GRAPHIC BELOW SHOWS THE ACTIVITIES WE INCLUDE – AND WHEN 
THEY COUNT (FOR ADULTS AGED 16+):

WHAT DO WE MEAN BY PHYSICAL ACTIVITY?

P
age 173

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/physical-activity
http://www.sportengland.org/adultnov1718tables


4

levels of activity

Our data shows that in November 2017/18, just over 6 in 10 adults (28.2m) achieved 150+ minutes of 

activity a week, a 12-month increase of 498,000, or 0.8%

12.3% 62.6%25.1%

25.1% of people (11.3M)
did less than 30 
minutes a week

12.3% (5.5M) were fairly
active but didn’t reach
150 minutes a week

62.6% (28.2m) did 150 minutes
or more a week

headlines

P
age 174

http://www.sportengland.org/adultnov1718tables


5

summary of change

The proportion of people reporting 

that they were active has increased 

by 0.8% over the past 12 months 

(an increase of 498,100 active 

adults in England). Since 

November 15/16, there are 

607,400 more active adults.

Similarly, inactivity has decreased 

by 0.5% (185,000) over the past 12 

months.

These improved results have been 

driven by women and older adults 

(aged 55+).

For details on how we measure change, see the notes pages.

levels of activity

P
age 175

http://www.sportengland.org/adultnov1718tables


6

summary of demographic differences

Our data shows there are significant inequalities:

socio-economic groups

Those in routine/semi-routine 

jobs and those who are long 

term unemployed or have 

never worked (NS-SEC 6-8), 

are the most likely to be 

inactive (33%) and the least 

likely to be active (54%).

gender

Men (65% or 14.2m) are 

more likely to be active than 

women (61% or 13.9m), with 

a gap of 258,000 between 

them (down 93,700 on 12 

months ago).

disability and long term health condition

age

Inactivity levels generally 

increase with age, but the 

sharpest increase comes at 

ages 75-84 (to 47%) and 

age 85+ (to 70%).

ethnicity

Activity levels are highest 

for mixed (72%) and white 

other (67%) adults, and 

lowest for South Asian 

(56%), other (56%) and 

black (57%) adults.

2

1

4

3

5

6

levels of activity

* See our definitions page for the full definition 

of disability and long term health conditions.

Inactivity is more common for 

disabled people or those with a 

long term health condition* (42%) 

than those without (21%). 

Furthermore, it increases sharply 

as the number of impairments an 

individual has increases – 51% of 

those with three or more 

impairments are inactive.

P
age 176

http://www.sportengland.org/adultnov1718tables


7

gender
There has been an increase (1.1%) in the proportion of women who are active, with an additional 286,000 women taking 

part for 150 minutes or more a week compared to 12 months ago. Conversely, there has been a decrease of 146,100 

(0.7%) women who are inactive.

As a result, the gender gap for those who are active has narrowed by just over 90,000, and currently stands at 258,000.

active inactive

levels of activity

P
age 177

http://www.sportengland.org/adultnov1718tables


8

socio-economic groups
Our data shows there are significant disparities 

between different socio-economic groups:

• People who are in routine/semi-routine jobs and 

those who are long term unemployed or have never 

worked (NS-SEC 6-8) are the most likely to be 

inactive (33%) and the least likely to be active 

(54%). This has not changed in the past 12 months.

• People who are in managerial, administrative and 

professional occupations (NS-SEC 1-2) are the 

least likely to be inactive (16%) and this has fallen 

over the past 12 months. They are the most likely to 

be active (72%).

Note: Full details of what 

the NS-SEC categories 

mean can be found on the 

definitions page.

active

inactive

levels of activityP
age 178

http://www.sportengland.org/adultnov1718tables


9

age
Activity levels have recovered following drops seen between November 2015/16 and November 2016/17 amongst the 

16-34 age group, with an increase compared to 12 months ago.

Activity levels continue to increase amongst the 55-74 and 75+ age groups, with further increases compared to 12 

months ago. Similarly, the proportion who are inactive has decreased for those aged 55-74 compared to 12 months 

ago. While we can’t report a further decrease for those aged 75+, the proportion who are inactive remains down 

compared to our first data point in November 2015/16.

active inactive

levels of activity

P
age 179

http://www.sportengland.org/adultnov1718tables


10

There has been an increase in the proportion of 

disabled adults or those with a long term health 

condition who are active (+1.2%) and a decrease in 

those who are inactive (-1.4%) compared to 12 

months ago. This was driven by adults with two 

impairments, with no change seen for those with 

three or more impairments.

Inactivity is more common for those with a disability 

or long term health condition (42%) than those 

without (21%). Furthermore, it increases sharply as 

the number of impairments an individual has 

increases – 51% of those with three or more 

impairments are inactive.

This is important because over half of all disabled 

people or those with a long term health condition 

(52%) have three or more impairments, while 21% 

have two impairments and 26% have just one 

impairment (of 14 impairment types): source,

Life Opportunities Survey June 09/12.

active

inactive

disability and long term
health conditions

levels of activityP
age 180

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/life-opportunities-survey
http://www.sportengland.org/adultnov1718tables


11

levels of activity

ethnicity
We’ve seen only small fluctuations 

in the proportions who are active 

and inactive amongst the different 

ethnic groups.

Mixed and white other adults 

continue to have the highest 

activity levels, while South Asian, 

black and those with other ethnic 

origins are the least likely to be 

active.

After white British, the largest 

ethnic groups within the English 

adult population are South Asian 

(6%) and white other (5%). The 

Chinese and other ethnic group 

populations are much smaller 

(less than 1%), therefore caution 

should be applied when looking at 

change for these groups.

active

inactive

levels of activity

P
age 181

http://www.sportengland.org/adultnov1718tables


12

types 
of activity

this chapter presents 
data broken down by 
activity group and looks 
at those who have 
participated at least 
twice in the last 28 days. 

looking at participation at least twice in the last 28 

days provides:

• an entry level view of participation overall

• a useful measure of engagement in different sports 

and physical activities

• an understanding of the contribution of activities to 

achieving 150+ minutes a week

participation – our definitionP
age 182

http://www.sportengland.org/adultnov1718tables


13

types of activity

adults achieving 150+ minutes of activity

a week do so through a blend of activities 

Analysis of the number of people 

engaging in activities at least 

twice in the last 28 days helps 

us understand the contribution of 

different activities to overall 

levels of activity.

The overall growth in numbers 

has been driven by increases in 

walking and adventure sports (a 

category which includes hill and 

mountain walking, climbing and 

orienteering). 

Fitness activities remain a big 

contributor, while swimming has 

stabilised. There are, however, 

fewer people cycling.

taken part at 

least twice in 

the last 28 

days (age 16+) 

for selected 

activity groups

fitness activities and cycling for 

leisure and sport data for Nov 

15/16 is not available. please see 

the notes page for further details.

P
age 183

http://www.sportengland.org/adultnov1718tables


14

Creating a lifelong sporting habit

definitionvolunteering 
at least twice in the
last 12 months

A volunteer makes all the 

difference. And volunteering 

benefits both the volunteer and 

the person receiving the 

support. Whether it’s serving 

refreshments, coaching a 

player or assisting people with 

disabilities to take part, the 

sport and activity sector needs 

people to give their time. 

THEY HAVE TAKEN PART IN A 
VOLUNTEERING ROLE TO 
SUPPORT SPORT/PHYSICAL 
ACTIVITY

WE COUNT A PERSON AS HAVING VOLUNTEERED IF:

A PERSON HAS VOLUNTEERED 
AT LEAST TWICE IN THE LAST 
12 MONTHS

(A full list of roles can be

found in our definitions at the

end of this report on page 23).

P
age 184

http://www.sportengland.org/adultnov1718tables


15

volunteering

Our data shows that 14% of adults (6.2m) are giving their time to 

support sport and physical activity. Many undertake more than one 

role, with providing transport and coaching being the most common.

headlines

P
age 185

http://www.sportengland.org/adultnov1718tables


16

Volunteering levels remain 

unchanged in the past six months. 

This follows the drops seen six 

months ago, which means there is a 

decrease over the past 12 months 

(down 0.9%, 364,400 fewer adults).

The overall decrease in volunteering 

came from those refereeing, umpiring 

or officiating and providing any other 

help. In contrast, there was an 

increase in those stewarding or 

marshalling.

summary of change

volunteering
volunteering levels

volunteering roles

P
age 186

http://www.sportengland.org/adultnov1718tables


17

summary of demographic profile

Our data shows there are significant inequalities:

17

volunteering

* See our definitions page for the full definition 

of disability and long term health conditions.

gender

Men are more likely to 

volunteer to support 

sport than women, 

comprising 59% of

all volunteers.

1

disability and long term

health condition

Disabled people or those with a long 

term health condition* account for 

12% of volunteers, despite accounting 

for 21% of the population as a whole.

4

age

Volunteering is more popular 

among two key age groups: 

those aged 16-24 and those in 

the 45-54 bracket. Combined, 

these groups account for 40% 

of all volunteers (but only 30% 

of the population).

3

ethnicity

The volunteer profile 

across ethnic groups is 

generally reflective of the 

wider population. However, 

there are inequalities within 

sub-groups. For instance, 

females from South Asian 

backgrounds are under-

represented.

5

socio-economic groups

People from lower socio-

economic backgrounds 

(NS-SEC 6-8) are 

under-represented in 

volunteering, comprising 

just 11% of all sport 

volunteers but 31% of 

the adult population.

2

17

P
age 187

http://www.sportengland.org/adultnov1718tables


18

Creating a lifelong sporting habit

understanding the outcomessporting future 
outcomes

Sport and physical activity – and 

volunteering to support it – has the 

power to improve lives.

In addition to capturing the behaviour 

of adults when it comes to sport and 

physical activity, Active Lives also 

captures data designed to better 

understand impact against four of the 

five social outcomes identified within 

the government’s sport and physical 

activity strategy – Sporting Future.

Chapter one of this report covered 

the first of those outcomes – physical 

wellbeing. This chapter will focus on 

mental wellbeing, individual 

development and social & community 

development.

For further details on the outcomes, 

see our evidence review.

18

Sport Satellite

Accounts.

P
age 188

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/486622/Sporting_Future_ACCESSIBLE.pdf
https://www.sportengland.org/media/11717/sport-outcomes-evidence-review-report-summary.pdf
http://www.sportengland.org/adultnov1718tables
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/sport-satellite-account-for-the-uk-statistics
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/sport-satellite-account-for-the-uk-statistics


19

wellbeing, individual and 
community development

mental wellbeing 
When looking at activity levels amongst adults, we can see 

that those who are active have a better life satisfaction 

score than those who are fairly active, who in turn have a 

better score relative to those who are inactive. This shows a 

positive link between being more active and mental 

wellbeing, and holds across all four wellbeing measures.

individual development
Similarly, we see that those who are active are more likely 

to report they can achieve the goals they set themselves 

and keep trying when they find things difficult than those 

who are fairly active, who in turn have better scores than 

those who are inactive. 

social and community development
We see that those who are active report higher levels of 

social trust than those who are fairly active, who in turn 

have better scores than those who are inactive.

some activity is good, more is better

mental wellbeing

individual development social and community 

development

P
age 189

http://www.sportengland.org/adultnov1718tables


20

wellbeing, individual and 
community development

volunteering is positively linked with
mental wellbeing

Across all four measures of mental wellbeing, those who 

volunteered at least twice in the last 12 months reported better 

outcomes than those who did not, with the exception of anxiety, 

where no difference is seen. 

volunteering is positively linked with 

individual and community development

People who volunteered reported higher levels (compared to 

those who did not volunteer) of:

• Feeling able to meet the goals they set themselves

• Continuing to try when they find things difficult

• Feeling that people in their local area can be trusted.

mental wellbeing

individual development social and community 

development

P
age 190

http://www.sportengland.org/adultnov1718tables


21

wellbeing, individual and 
community development

people who take part and volunteer have even higher scores across all outcome measures

mental wellbeing
The combination of both being active and 

volunteering is associated with higher scores 

across the mental wellbeing measures. 

individual development
Those who were active and volunteered 

reported they were more likely to meet the 

goals they set themselves and to keep trying 

when they find things difficult, compared to 

those who did one and not the other.

social and community development
Those who were active and volunteered 

reported they were more likely to trust people 

in their local area, compared to those who did 

one and not the other.

average levels of agreement to individual development 

and social trust questions (out of 5) by whether they 

are active and/or have volunteered

P
age 191

http://www.sportengland.org/adultnov1718tables


22

Data for local areas, including, 

nine regions, 44 Active 

Partnerships, and 353 local 

authorities are available for the 

following measures:

• levels of activity 

• volunteering at least 
twice in the last 12 months

Overall

local 
level data

activity across EnglandP
age 192

http://www.sportengland.org/adultnov1718tables


23

definitions moderate activity is defined as 

activity where you raise your heart 

rate.

vigorous activity is where you’re 

out of breath or are sweating (you 

may not be able to say more than 

a few words without pausing for 

breath).

NS-SEC groups are defined as:

Higher (NS-SEC 1-2): 

Managerial, administrative and 

professional occupations (e.g. 

chief executive, doctor, actor, 

journalist).

Middle (NS-SEC 3-5): 

Intermediate, lower supervisory 

and technical occupations; self 

employed and small employers 

(e.g. auxiliary nurse, secretary, 

plumber, gardener, train driver).

Lower (NS-SEC 6-8): 

Semi-routine and routine 

occupations; long term 

unemployed or never worked (e.g. 

postman, shop assistant, bus 

driver).

Students and other (NS-SEC 9).

limiting disability and long term health 

conditions is defined as an individual reporting 

they have a physical or mental health condition or 

illness that has lasted or is expected to last 12 

months or more, and that this has a substantial 

effect on their ability to do normal daily activities.

Impairment types cover matters that limit day to 

day life, including chronic health conditions

(e.g. diabetes and cancer), physical disability

(e.g. mobility and dexterity), mental health

(e.g. depression and anxiety) and sensory 

impairments (e.g. hearing and vision). 

volunteering roles are all in relation to supporting 

sport or physical activity and/or a sports 

organisation or event. They are defined as:

• Provided transport to help people other than 

family members take part

• Coached or instructed an individual or team(s) 

other than solely for family members

• Refereed, umpired, or officiated at a match, 

competition or event

• Administrative or committee role e.g.  

chairman, treasurer, social secretary, first 

aider, welfare officer

• Stewarded or marshalled

• Provided any other help e.g. helping with 

refreshments, sports kit or equipment.

Link to more information on
measures and demographics

P
age 193

http://www.sportengland.org/media/13886/active-lives-survey-full-y3-technical-note-apr-2019.pdf
http://www.sportengland.org/media/13886/active-lives-survey-full-y3-technical-note-apr-2019.pdf


24

notes

Link to more information on
measures and demographics

sample and weighting
the achieved sample was 179,747 (16+). 

data have been weighted to Office for National Statistics (ONS) population 

measures for geography and key demographics.

confidence intervals can be found in the linked tables. These indicate that if 

repeated samples were taken and confidence intervals computed for each 

sample, 95% of the intervals would contain the true value. Only significant 

differences are reported within the commentary. Where results are reported 

as being the same for two groups, any differences fall within the margin of 

error.

significance tests can be found in the linked tables. The tests indicate that if 

repeated samples were taken, 95% of the time we would get similar findings, 

i.e. we can be confident that the differences seen in our sampled 

respondents are reflective of the population. When sample sizes are smaller, 

confidence intervals are larger, meaning differences between estimates need 

to be greater to be considered statistically significant. 

population totals are estimated values and have been calculated using ONS  

mid-2015, mid-2016 and mid-2017 estimates. Confidence intervals also apply 

to these. More detail can be found here.

the active lives adult survey 

is a push-to-web survey
Carried out by Ipsos MORI, it 

involves postal mailouts inviting 

participants to complete the 

survey online. The survey can be 

completed on mobile or desktop 

devices. A paper questionnaire is 

also sent out to maximise 

response rates. More information 

on the survey can be found here.

P
age 194

http://www.sportengland.org/media/13886/active-lives-survey-full-y3-technical-note-apr-2019.pdf
http://www.sportengland.org/media/13886/active-lives-survey-full-y3-technical-note-apr-2019.pdf
http://www.sportengland.org/media/13886/active-lives-survey-full-y3-technical-note-apr-2019.pdf
http://www.sportengland.org/activelives


25

notes

Link to more information on
measures and demographics

data considerations

how we measure change

Active Lives figures are based on the response of 179,747 adults, which we 

then scale up to provide an England-wide picture. That means there will 

naturally be small fluctuations when we compare the figures we have now with 

12 months ago. 

In accordance with Government Statistical Service good practice guidance, we 

highlight changes within the report where we are confident that there are 

genuine differences. If the data is showing only small differences which are 

within the margin of error, they are noted as “no change”.

suppressed data

During the first six months of surveying, a number of respondents were double 

counting a gym session and the individual activities that they did within the gym. 

We resolved this problem by rewording the question from May 2016. Due to 

exercise bike being counted within cycling for leisure and sport, this means we 

cannot report November 15/16 data for either fitness activities or cycling for 

leisure and sport.

sport spectating
Whilst not covered in this report, data tables showing the number of people 

attending live sports events form part of this release.

P
age 195

http://www.sportengland.org/media/13886/active-lives-survey-full-y3-technical-note-apr-2019.pdf
http://www.sportengland.org/media/13886/active-lives-survey-full-y3-technical-note-apr-2019.pdf
http://www.sportengland.org/adultnov1718tables


T
his page is intentionally left blank



Site Condition Total (5 Year) Planned Commitments 2019 Condition Total (15 Year)

Abbey LC £221,291.00 Requiring LifeCycle Analysis

Chester Le Street £841,044 Requiring LifeCycle Analysis

Freemans Quay £374,588.00 Requiring LifeCycle Analysis

Louisa Centre £1,646,195.00 £1,030,603.00 Requiring LifeCycle Analysis

Meadowfield £868,079.00 Requiring LifeCycle Analysis

Peterlee £641,417.00 Requiring LifeCycle Analysis

Seaham £399,787.00 Requiring LifeCycle Analysis

Shildon Sunnydale £341,180.00 Requiring LifeCycle Analysis

Spennymoor LC £820,166.00 Requiring LifeCycle Analysis

Woodouse Close £662,309.00 Requiring LifeCycle Analysis

CONDITION SURVEY REVIEW - DURHAM
EXISTING DCC CONDITION SURVEY

P
age 197



Centre Summary of Condition Survey Report
Cost of Condition Survey 

Works (over 5 years)
Based on the Building Condition would Investment be viable?

•    All aspects of the roof are in reasonable condition.

•    The walls are in reasonable condition. However, there is one area to be investigated further

as a result of a possible leak.

•    Windows and doors are in reasonable condition.

•    Some isolated mastic pointing is cracked and requires renewal.

•    A programme of external redecoration is required at 5 years.

•    Internal ceilings require some isolated repairs and renewals.

•    Repairs and renewals are required to some of the floor coverings.

•    Some internal glazing requires update to safety glass.

•    Sanitary ware in reasonable condition. Kitchen units are in poor condition.

•    Décor is reasonable – requires a 5-year programme of redecoration.

•    Some snagging issues on MUGA but generally in reasonable condition.

ABBEY LEISURE CENTRE - DURHAM

EXISTING DCC CONDITION SURVEY

Abbey Leisure Centre £221,291

The majority of cost is for internal works, which could be dealt with as part of 

an investment programme.  The structure and external elements of the 

building are all sound and would therefore be ideal for investment.

P
age 198



Centre Summary of Condition Survey Report
Cost of Condition Survey 

Works (over 5 years)
Based on the Building Condition would Investment be viable?

•   Premises will require re-roofing in the shorter term.

£841,044 – however, it is 

anticipated that some of this 

cost will be removed following 

the investment into the 

changing area

•   Walls in reasonable condition.

•   Windows and doors in reasonable condition.

The largest proportion of 

costs is for mechanical works 

(39.7%)

•   Mastic pointing is cracked and requires renewal.

•   Programme of external redecoration required at 5 years.
Roof replacement is also a 

significant cost at £195k.

•   Carbonation on concrete retaining wall at the rear of building which requires remedial work.

•   Isolated repairs and renewals required for the ceilings.

•   Further investigative work required into the concrete deck, walls and frame in the 

basement.

•   Some repairs and renewals required to floor coverings.

•   Walls in reasonable condition.  Some issues in pool areas, however some of these may 

have been rectified in the changing room refurbishment.

•   Most glazing not marked as safety glass and therefore needs updating to meet legislation.

CHESTER LE STREET - DURHAM

EXISTING DCC CONDITION SURVEY

Chester-le-Street Leisure Centre

There are some significant costs outlined, including the roof replacement, 

boiler replacement, plant control replacement and a number of items for 

renewal for the heating and gas distribution pipework.  It is not known if any 

of these have been dealt with to date, however, they will need to be factored 

into any investment project to make the centre sustainable in the long term.

P
age 199



Centre Summary of Condition Survey Report
Cost of Condition Survey 

Works (over 5 years)
Based on the Building Condition would Investment be viable?

•   Roof is in reasonable condition, there is latent defect issues which the main contractor 

should be rectifying.
£374,588

•   Some cracking to external concrete panels which require further investigation.

•   Windows and doors in reasonable condition.

The highest proportion of the 

cost is for redecorations 

(77.29%)

•   Programme of external redecoration required every 5 years.

•   Generally, ceilings in reasonable condition.

•   Isolated repairs and renewals required to floor coverings.

•   Walls in reasonable condition, some water penetration and potential carbonation issues 

that require investigation.

•   Doors and glazing in reasonable condition.

•   Kitchen units require renewal in short term.

•   Sanitary ware in reasonable condition.

•   Décor in reasonable condition.

FREEMANS QUAY - DURHAM

EXISTING DCC CONDITION SURVEY

Freemans Quay Leisure Centre

Given the majority of costs are related to redecoration this could be 

managed through an investment project where there would be redecoration 

anyway, the centre is therefore suitable for investment. 

P
age 200



Centre Summary of Condition Survey Report
Cost of Condition Survey 

Works (over 5 years)
Based on the Building Condition would Investment be viable?

•   Roofs in reasonable condition. £1,646,195

There are some major items requiring replacement as they reach the end of 

their economic life, for example the electrical system within the building and 

the heating pipework.

•   Most walls in reasonable condition - some minor repairs required.

•   Some expansion joints require renewal in the short/medium term.

Mechanical works account for 

nearly £1m of this cost and 

electrical nearly £500k.

For the building to be sustainable these works will need to be completed.

•   Windows are in reasonable condition, some cracked which need replacing.

•   Doors are reasonable with some renewals required in the short term.
The majority of the works are 

due in 2018 and post 2018.
However, the structure, roof etc. is sound.

•   Some suspended ceilings need renewing in the short term and some of the steel framework 

needs a fire-retardant coating.

•   Flooring varies in condition, ongoing replacement of floor coverings required.

•   Minor repairs required to internal walls.

•   Isolated renewals and repairs needed to internal doors.

•   Kitchens and sanitary ware are in reasonable condition.

•   Internal redecoration programme required every 5 years.

LOUISA CENTRE - DURHAM

EXISTING DCC CONDITION SURVEY

The Louisa Centre

P
age 201



Centre Summary of Condition Survey Report
Cost of Condition Survey 

Works (over 5 years)
Based on the Building Condition would Investment be viable?

•   Roof covering will require renewal in the longer term. £868,079

•   Metal gutters leaking at joints, requiring attention in the short term.

•   Isolated repairs to external walls required, some cracking requires further investigation.

Most significant cost is for the 

roof (£662k), followed by 

redecoration at £110k.

•   Isolated timber frames for external windows and doors need renewal in the short term.

•   External redecoration required every 5 years.
Most of these works due post 

2019

•   Isolated repairs and renewals required to internal ceilings.

•   Repairs and renewals required for the floor coverings.

•   Internal walls in reasonable condition.

•   Internal glazing needs marking as safety glass.

•   Some repairs and renewals to internal doors required.

•   Sanitary ware in reasonable condition.

MEADOWFIELD - DURHAM

EXISTING DCC CONDITION SURVEY

Meadowfield Leisure Centre

This is a fairly significant cost for a relatively small dryside facility with limited 

income potential, although some redecoration would be picked up as part of 

any investment programme.

P
age 202



Centre Summary of Condition Survey Report
Cost of Condition Survey 

Works (over 5 years)
Based on the Building Condition would Investment be viable?

•   Roof is in reasonable condition. £641,417

•   External walls in reasonable condition.

•   External doors are in reasonable condition.

Redecoration makes up 

£436k of the total cost, 

however there is currently 

refurbishment works taking 

place to the reception and 

changing which may reduce 

this cost.

•   External redecoration required every 5 years.

•   Internal ceilings in reasonable condition, some water staining which requires investigation.

•   Isolated repairs and renewals required to floor coverings.

•   Isolated repairs and renewals required to internal walls.

•   Isolated repairs and renewals required to internal doors and glazing.

•   Kitchen units require renewal in the short term.

•   Sanitary ware in reasonable condition.

•   Décor is in reasonable condition, 5-year redecoration programme required.

PETERLEE - DURHAM

EXISTING DCC CONDITION SURVEY

Peterlee Leisure Centre
There are no major issues at the site and investment is already taking place, 

therefore further investment should be viable.

P
age 203



Centre Summary of Condition Survey Report
Cost of Condition Survey 

Works (over 5 years)
Based on the Building Condition would Investment be viable?

•   Roofs in reasonable condition. £399,787

•   Profiled steel sheeting on external walls is corroding and will require renewal in the short 

term and patch pointing is required to brick work. Isolated expansion joints also require 

remaking.

•   External windows in reasonable condition, roller shutters require overhauling.

Costs generally spread over 

all categories, redecoration 

£135k, external Walls, 

windows and doors £103k, 

mechanical £71.5k.

•   External timber doors require renewal.

•   Programme of external redecoration required every 5 years.

•   Ceilings in reasonable condition but some water staining that requires investigation.

•   Isolated repairs and renewals required to floor coverings.

•   Internal walls in reasonable condition, majority of wall tiles are cracked and crazed requiring 

renewal in the short term.

•   Internal doors and glazing in reasonable condition.

•   Kitchen units require renewal in short term.

•   Sanitary ware in reasonable condition.

SEAHAM - DURHAM

EXISTING DCC CONDITION SURVEY

Seaham Leisure Centre
Some works required for ongoing sustainability e.g. mechanical, but 

structurally sound and would therefore support investment.

P
age 204



Centre Summary of Condition Survey Report
Cost of Condition Survey 

Works (over 5 years)
Based on the Building Condition would Investment be viable?

•   Roof is in reasonable condition. £341,180

•   External walls in reasonable condition, some patch pointing required.

•   External windows and doors in reasonable condition, timber frames in poor condition 

requiring renewal.

Highest proportion of cost is 

for redecoration (163k).

•   External redecoration required every 5 years.

•   Water staining to ceilings requires investigation, numerous suspended ceiling tiles are 

damaged and need replacing.

•   Some floor coverings have reached the end of their economic life.

•   Damp is evident to some walls requiring investigation.

•   Internal doors and glazing are in reasonable condition.

•   Kitchen and sanitary ware in reasonable condition.

•   Décor is reasonable and requires a 5-year redecoration programme.

SHILDON- DURHAM

EXISTING DCC CONDITION SURVEY

Shildon-Sunnydale Leisure Centre

Structure is sound with decoration requiring the highest spend, some of which 

would be picked up through any investment programme.  Based on the 

condition of the building investment would be viable.

P
age 205



Centre Summary of Condition Survey Report
Cost of Condition Survey 

Works (over 5 years)
Based on the Building Condition would Investment be viable?

•   Majority of the roof is in reasonable condition, with minor repairs required, the flat felt roofing 

will require replacement.
£820,166

•   External walls are in reasonable condition, isolated bricks require replacing and expansion 

joints require renewing.

•   External doors and windows are in reasonable condition, isolated timber windows will require 

replacement.

Largest cost is redecoration at 

£382k followed by mechanical 

at £214k.

•   External redecoration programme required every 5 years.

•   Ceilings are in good/reasonable condition.

•   Majority of floor coverings are in good/reasonable condition, remainder are in poor condition.

•   Internal walls are in reasonable condition.

•   Internal doors and glazing are in reasonable condition.

•   Sanitary ware is in reasonable condition.

•   Décor is reasonable and requires a 5-year redecoration programme.

SPENNYMOOR - DURHAM

EXISTING DCC CONDITION SURVEY

Spennymoor Leisure Centre
Structurally good, with decoration requiring the highest spend, some of which 

would be picked up through any investment programme.

P
age 206



Centre Summary of Condition Survey Report
Cost of Condition Survey 

Works (over 5 years)
Based on the Building Condition would Investment be viable?

•   The mineral felt roofing will require re-roofing in the short/medium term. £662,309

•   Isolated repairs required to external walls.

•   External glazing and doors in mixed condition with some repairs required, however it is noted 

that some glazing has been replaced over the years.

Largest cost for redecoration 

(£275k) followed by 

mechanical (£164k), no costs 

required for electrical 

elements

•   External redecoration programme required every 5 years.

•   Ceilings in reasonable condition, isolated repairs and renewals required, water stained areas 

need investigation.

•   Repairs and renewals required to floor coverings.

•   Internal walls in reasonable condition, some cracking requires further investigation, some 

wall tiling in poor condition in pool area.

•   Internal doors and glazing in reasonable condition, glazing needs to be upgraded to safety 

glass.

•   Kitchen and sanitary ware in reasonable condition.

•   Décor in reasonable condition, 5-year redecoration programme required.

WOODHOUSE CLOSE - DURHAM

EXISTING DCC CONDITION SURVEY

Woodhouse Close Leisure Centre
Whilst some further investigation required, generally the centre is in 

reasonable condition and therefore would be suitable for investment.

P
age 207



T
his page is intentionally left blank



  

 

1 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

PREPARED BY: 
  

Page 209



  

 
 

2 

  

Page 210



  

 
 

3 

Dl4  

 

LATENT DEMAND REPORT 
 
 

SCENARIO ANALYSIS: Social Value Projections 

SITES:    
Abbey Leisure Centre (DH1 5DQ) 

 Chester-le-Street Leisure Centre (DH3 3QH) 
 Freeman’s Quay Leisure Centre (DH1 1SW) 
 Meadowfield Leisure Centre (DH7 8RG) 
 Shildon Leisure Centre (DL4 2EP) 
 Spennymoor Leisure Centre(DL16 6FB) 
 Woodhouse Close Leisure Complex (DL14 6JX)  
 Louisa Centre (DH9 0TE) 
 Peterlee Leisure Centre (SR8 1AF) 
 Seaham Leisure Centre (SR7 8NP) 

  

PREPARED FOR: Durham County Council 

 

REPORT STRUCTURE: 

1. INTRODUCTION:  
About 4global and DataHub 

2. SOCIAL VALUE GENERATION 

a. The estimated Social Value generated annually from the current 
user population 

b. The estimated Social Value generated annually from the future 
projected user population  

 

3. SERVICE ATTRIBUTES: 
Description of model and approach 

4. CONTACT DETAILS 

5. APPENDICES 

Page 211



  

 
 

4 

Without exception, every investor and operator should have the most accurate 
and up to date intelligence available to make informed decisions. Powered by 

the DataHub, 4global enables all partners to grow participation outcomes, 
commercial returns and social value. 

A data driven return on investment. A more active and healthy nation. 
 

4global  
4global is an international sports business with offices in London, Istanbul, Rio de 
Janeiro and Sydney providing information management solutions and consultancy 
services to governments, event organisers, national and international sports governing 
bodies, facility operators and other sports delivery partners since 2002. 

The latent demand model in this report is developed by the 4global Sport Planning 
team using the intelligence generated by the DataHub – the largest data repository 
within the sports and leisure sector in the UK. The model is further enhanced with the 
social value projections from the Social Value Calculator – the award-winning DataHub 
solution, aligned to the DCMS model developed by Sheffield Hallam University and 
using Experian risk profiling datasets. 

 
DataHub 
The DataHub initiative was launched in 2013 as an automated way for all sport, leisure 
and physical activity providers across the sector to securely bring their data together, 
align it with consistent sector data standards and then access and share business 
intelligence and best practice, at the point of decision.  

As of September 2018, the DataHub tracks and generates insight from over 525 million 
visits of 7+ million participants to 1600 leisure centres and sports venues in the UK. 
This is unprecedented intelligence for the sector and enables detailed outcome and 
impact modelling. 

It is this data that means the latent demand model accurately reflects real world 
participation and commercial outcomes. This also enables our team to constantly 
refine the model, ensuring it aligns with known and checked outcomes received back 
by the DataHub. This de-risks investment decisions. We continue to strive for better! 

 

Thank you for partnering with 4global, ukactive and the DataHub, and using sector 
intelligence to assess your investment options 

 

 

 

Page 212



  

 
 

5 

INTRODUCTION 
As part of Durham County Council’s leisure facility re-development strategy, a review of 
the current and future social value of physical activity has been commissioned, to provide 
a greater understanding of the effect a refurbishment of 10 facilities would have in terms 
of annual community savings. 

4global has been commissioned to deliver a social value report for each of the 10 sites, 
showing a current and future scenario view. The key outputs of the analysis are a 
projection of the total social value at each facility, split into the 4 core categories (Improved 
Health, Improved Subject-wellbeing, increased educational attainment and reduction in 
crime) and then into granular sub-categories as highlighted below: 

• Improved health 

o CHD stroke 

o Breast Cancer 

o Colon Cancer 

o Diabetes 

o Dementia 

o Good Health 

• Increased educational attainment  

o 11-18 educational attainment 

o Enhanced Human capital 

• Improved subject wellbeing  

o No sub categories  

• Reduction in crime 

o No sub categories 

Furthermore, an analysis of the membership base has been undertaken to provide insight 
into the frequency of member participation, the monetary value per person in each 
category, the effect pay and play visits has on social value generation and the per person 
social value split for site comparisons.  

Definitions of membership types are below: 

• Core (4-time participation per month for 9-12 months annually) 

• Moderate (4-time participation per month for 5-8 months annually) 

• Infrequent (4-time participation per month for 1-4 months annually) 

• Non-members (casual/pay and play individuals who do not have a membership) 

Page 213



  

 
 

6 

In order to complete the analysis, live membership and annual throughput data from each 
site has been incorporated into the projections, alongside sector wide averages and the 
provided increase in throughput and membership for the future scenario (Year 3 projected 
figures used). Details of these core inputs are provided at the start of each section.  

The surrounding 20 minute catchment has also been identified, highlighting the top mosaic 
groups in the near proximity. The accompanying PDF outlines core features of these 
groups and can provide some further detail around the membership population and also 
the differences in annual social value generation per person. 

For more information on Social Value please use the following link to the recent ukactive 
report, powered by DataHub: 

 

https://web.datahubclub.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/09/Physical-Activity-A-Social-
Solution-2017.pdf  

 

OUR PARTNERS: 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  

Page 214



  

 
 

7 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
The table below provides a summary of the headline figures calculated as part of the social 
value analysis. The total number of unique users has been presented for the current and 
future scenario, as well as the subsequent social value that it is expected will be created.  

 Current position Future projection 

 No. of 
active 
unique 
users 

Social value 
projections - 

per year 

No. of 
active 
unique 
users 

Social 
value 

projections 
- per year 

Increase 
in social 

value 

Abbey Leisure 
Centre 2,362 £1,047,516 3,632 £1,595,229 52% 

Chester-le-
Street Leisure 

Centre 
5,684 £2,524,846 8,455 £3,736,986 48% 

Freeman's 
Quay Leisure 

Centre 
10,353 £4,581,478 11,607 £5,144,031 12% 

Meadowfield 
Leisure Centre 3,383 £1,477,179 6,310 £2,727,476 85% 

Shildon 
Leisure Centre 2,162 £924,102 3,302 £1,418,074 53% 

Spennymoor 
Leisure Centre 7,856 £3,433,657 8,827 £3,848,307 12% 

Woodhouse 
Close Leisure 

Centre 
5,314 £2,287,241 7,598 £3,268,566 43% 

Louisa Centre 6,514 £2,859,068 10,662 £4,656,067 63% 

Peterlee 
Leisure Centre 5,606 £2,361,804 7,250 £3,057,099 29% 

Seaham 
Leisure Centre 2,972 £1,301,967 4,524 £1,975,289 52% 

Total 52,206 £22,798,858 72,167 £31,427,124  

The table shows the headline figures for each facility, with the increase in the social value 
driven by both the scale of the projected growth in usage, as well as the specific 
demographic profile of each facility.  

To provide further detail on the individual areas of social value, the table overleaf provides 
a breakdown of the total figures, by parameter. 

 

Page 215



  

 
 

8 

 
Current position Future position Increase in Social 

value 

Improved Health £4,990,651 £6,880,411 38% 

Improve subjective 
well-being £16,897,282 £23,295,330 38% 

Increased educational 
attainment £887,242 £1,219,067 37% 

Reduced crime £23,683 £32,316 36% 

Total £22,798,858 £31,427,124 
 

The above table shows the total combined breakdown into the 4 core categories across 
all sites.  

It should be noted that current social value calculations reflect the existing facility mix at 
each facility, while the social value future projections taking into consideration the future 
facility mix.  

When providing a total social value figure across all facilities, the modelling assumes that 
members are not able to attend multiple facilities as part of a single membership. If it is 
possible for members to access multiple facilities, data is required to understand the 
behaviours of members and how many use multiple facilities, however this is not 
envisaged to make a significant impact as consistent cross-facility usage is rare across 
the rest of the sector. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 216



  

 
 

9 

In addition to the social value analysis, national data from the DataHub, along with local 
population statistics for Durham, have been used to create a ‘risk of inactivity’ map for the 
local area. This map, shown below, provides a spatial analysis of the risk of being inactive, 
in line with Sport England’s definitions.  

This map, which is closely linked to factors such as the Indices of Multiple Deprivation and 
all of the contributing factors, also identifies how the facilities will service local residents, 
with some centres, such as Woodhouse Close LC and Seaham LC being located in areas 
of high inactivity, or close-by to large areas of high-risk residents.   

  

Page 217



  

 
 

10 

 

 
 

 

SOCIAL VALUE ANALYSIS 

- ABBEY LEISURE CENTRE 

 

Page 218



  

 

11 

 ABBEY LEISURE CENTRE 
Social Value Projections are calculated using the current facility mix, membership 
numbers (both monthly and yearly) and the annual throughput of the site in question. 

 

 

 20 MINUTE CATCHMENT PROFILE OVERVIEW  

Mosaic Group Percentage of surrounding population 

L Vintage Value 13.7% 

J Transient Renters 11.3% 

F Suburban Stability 10.9% 

I Family Basics 9.9% 

M Modest Traditions 9.2% 

K Municipal Challenge 9.0% 

E Senior Security 8.2% 

H Aspiring Homemakers 7.7% 

G Domestic Success 7.4% 

B Prestige Positions 5.1% 

O Rental Hubs 3.4% 

D Rural Reality 2.8% 

C Country Living 1.0% 

A City Prosperity 0.2% 

N Urban Cohesion 0.1% 

 Current Site Future Scenario 

Annual Throughput  95,471 206, 835 

Membership (month) 869 1,049 

Annual number of members 1,825 2,203 

% of throughput by members 72% 66% 

Page 219



  

 
 

12 

CURRENT: 

  

 
 

Number of active 
unique users 

  

 
 

Social value per 
individual user  

 

 
 

Social Value 
projections - per 

year 
  

Total unique users 2,362 £443.49 £1,047,516 

 Category Social Value projections 

Improved health £227,881 

Improved subjective well-being £771,068 

Increased educational attainment £47,525 

Reduced crime £1,042 

Total £1,047,516 

FURTHER BREAKDOWN: 

MEMBER BREAKDOWN 

Category Social Value projections 

CHD stroke £44,251 

Breast Cancer £6,543 

Colon Cancer £3,284 

Diabetes £10,509 

Dementia £96,712 

Good Health £66,582 

11-18 educational attainment £161 

Enhanced Human Capital £47,364 

Type People Value Value per person 

Core  271 £295,764 £1091.38 

Moderate 341 £247,585 £726.06 

Infrequent 1,213 £276,779 £228.18 

Non-members 537 £227,389 £423.44 

Page 220



  

 
 

13 

FUTURE: 

  

 
 

Number of active 
unique users 

  

 
 

Social value per 
individual user  

 

 
 

Social Value 
projections - per 

year 
  

Total unique users 3,632 £439.22 £1,595,229 

 Category Social Value projections 

Improved health £347,030 

Improved subjective well-being £1,174,234 

Increased educational attainment £72,374 

Reduced crime £1,591 

Total £1,595,229 

FURTHER BREAKDOWN: 

 

MEMBER BREAKDOWN: 

Category Social Value projections 

CHD stroke £67,388 

Breast Cancer £9,964 

Colon Cancer £5,001 

Diabetes £16,003 

Dementia £147,279 

Good Health £101,395 

11-18 educational attainment £245 

Enhanced Human Capital £72,129 

Type People Value Value per person 

Core  328 £357,024 £1,088.49 

Moderate 412 £298,866 £725.40 

Infrequent 1,464 £334,105 £228.21 

Non-members 1,429 £605,234 £423.54 

Page 221



  

 
 

14 

SECTOR BENCHMARKS 

To provide an understanding of how much current and future social value the facility 
is projected to generate and how these compare to the sector, the graphics below 
show where the facility currently sits, as well as where it is projected to get to 
following investment. 

The graphs are split into 4 quartiles, with the 1st quartile (red) representing the lowest 
performing sites in the sector, through to the highest performing 4th quartile (green).  

The dotted blue lines represent the total current and future social value figures of 
£1,047,516 and £1,595,229 respectively.  

 

CURRENT POSITION  

 

 

 

 
FUTURE POSITION  

 

 

 
 

 

Page 222



  

 

15 

 

 

 
SOCIAL VALUE ANALYSIS 

- CHESTER-LE-STREET LESIURE CENTRE 

 

Page 223



  

 

16 

CHESTER-LE-STREET LEISURE CENTRE 
Social Value Projections are calculated using the current facility mix, membership 
numbers (both monthly and yearly) and the annual throughput of the site in question. 

 

 

20 MINUTE CATCHMENT PROFILE OVERVIEW  

Mosaic Group Percentage of surrounding population 

L Vintage Value 14.8% 

K Municipal Challenge 13.7% 

I Family Basics 11.6% 

J Transient Renters 10.6% 

F Suburban Stability 8.9% 

M Modest Traditions 8.3% 

E Senior Security 8.3% 

H Aspiring Homemakers 7.3% 

G Domestic Success 6.0% 

O Rental Hubs 3.9% 

B Prestige Positions 3.6% 

D Rural Reality 1.9% 

C Country Living 0.5% 

N Urban Cohesion 0.4% 

A City Prosperity 0.1% 

 Current Site Future Scenario 

Annual Throughput  318,251 444,150 

Membership (month) 1,672 2,221 

Annual number of members 3,511 4,664 

% of throughput by members 66% 57% 

Page 224



  

 
 

17 

CURRENT: 

  

 
 

Number of active 
unique users 

  

 
 

Social value per 
individual user  

 

 
 

Social Value 
projections - per 

year 
  

Total unique users 5,684 £444.20 £2,524,846 

 Category Social Value projections 

Improved health £558,557 

Improved subjective well-being £1,892,420 

Increased educational attainment £71,894 

Reduced crime £1,975 

Total £2,524,846 

FURTHER BREAKDOWN: 

MEMBER BREAKDOWN: 

Category Social Value projections 
CHD stroke £108,605 

Breast Cancer £15,332 

Colon Cancer £8,060 

Diabetes £25,791 

Dementia £237,358 

Good Health £163,411 

11-18 educational attainment £292 

Enhanced Human Capital £71,602 

Type People Value Value per person 

Core  531 £596,789 £1,123.90 

Moderate 657 £478,450 £728.23 

Infrequent 2,323 £529,180 £227.80 

Non-members 2,173 £920,427 £423.54 

Page 225



  

 

18 

FUTURE: 

  

 
 

Number of active 
unique users 

  

 
 

Social value per 
individual user  

 

 
 

Social Value 
projections - per 

year 
  

Total unique users 8,455 £441.99 £3,736,986 

 Category Social Value projections 

Improved health £826,711 

Improved subjective well-being £2,800,942 

Increased educational attainment £106,409 

Reduced crime £2,924 

Total £3,736,986 

FURTHER BREAKDOWN: 

MEMBER BREAKDOWN: 

Category Social Value projections 
CHD stroke £160,744 

Breast Cancer £22,692 

Colon Cancer £11,929 

Diabetes £38,173 

Dementia £351,311 

Good Health £241,862 

11-18 educational attainment £432 

Enhanced Human Capital £105,977 

Type People Value Value per person 

Core  706 £792,772 £1,122.91 

Moderate 873 £635,572 £728.03 

Infrequent 3,085 £702,961 £227.86 

Non-members 3,791 £1,605,681 £423.55 

Page 226



  

 
 

19 

SECTOR BENCHMARKS 

To provide an understanding of how much current and future social value the facility 
is projected to generate and how these compare to the sector, the graphics below 
show where the facility currently sits, as well as where it is projected to get to 
following investment. 

The graphs are split into 4 quartiles, with the 1st quartile (red) representing the lowest 
performing sites in the sector, through to the highest performing 4th quartile (green).  

The dotted blue lines represent the total current and future social value figures of 
£2,524,846 and £3,737,986 respectively.  

 

CURRENT POSITION  

 

 

 

 
FUTURE POSITION  

 

 

 
 

 

 

Page 227



  

 

20 

 

 
 
SOCIAL VALUE ANALYSIS 

- FREEMAN’S QUAY LEISURE CENTRE 

 

Page 228



  

 

21 

FREEMAN’S QUAY LEISURE CENTRE 
Social Value Projections are calculated using the current facility mix, membership 
numbers (both monthly and yearly) and the annual throughput of the site in question. 

 

 

20 MINUTE CATCHMENT PROFILE OVERVIEW  

Mosaic Group Percentage of surrounding population 

L Vintage Value 11.8% 

J Transient Renters 11.6% 

F Suburban Stability 10.5% 

K Municipal Challenge 10.0% 

M Modest Traditions 8.8% 

I Family Basics 8.2% 

G Domestic Success 7.8% 

E Senior Security 7.7% 

H Aspiring Homemakers 7.6% 

D Rural Reality 6.2% 

B Prestige Positions 5.1% 

O Rental Hubs 3.0% 

C Country Living 1.4% 

A City Prosperity 0.2% 

N Urban Cohesion 0.1% 

 Current Site Future Scenario 

Annual Throughput  429,495 515,376 

Membership (month) 3,451 3,999 

Annual number of members 7,247 8,398 

% of throughput by members 64% 69% 

Page 229



  

 
 

22 

CURRENT: 

  

 
 

Number of active 
unique users 

  

 
 

Social value per 
individual user  

 

 
 

Social Value 
projections - per 

year 
  

Total unique users 10,353 £442.53 £4,581,478 

 Category Social Value projections 

Improved health £994,983 

Improved subjective well-being £3,366,753 

Increased educational attainment £214,909 

Reduced crime £4,833 

Total £4,581,478 

FURTHER BREAKDOWN: 

MEMBER BREAKDOWN: 

Category Social Value projections 
CHD stroke £193,215 

Breast Cancer £28,548 

Colon Cancer £14,339 

Diabetes £45,884 

Dementia £422,278 

Good Health £290,719 

11-18 educational attainment £714 

Enhanced Human Capital £214,195 

Type People Value Value per person 

Core  1,075 £1,173,198 £1,091.35 

Moderate 1,353 £987,860 £730.13 

Infrequent 4,819 £1,105,191 £229.34 

Non-members 3,106 £1,315,229 £423.45 

Page 230



  

 

23 

FUTURE: 

  

 
 

Number of active 
unique users 

  

 
 

Social value per 
individual user  

 

 
 

Social Value 
projections - per 

year 
  

Total unique users 11,607 £443.18 £5,144,031 

 Category Social Value projections 

Improved health £1,117,155 

Improved subjective well-being £3,780,153 

Increased educational attainment £241,297 

Reduced crime £5,426 

Total £5,144,031 

FURTHER BREAKDOWN: 

MEMBER BREAKDOWN: 

Category Social Value projections 
CHD stroke £216,940 

Breast Cancer £32,053 

Colon Cancer £16,099 

Diabetes £51,518 

Dementia £474,129 

Good Health £326,416 

11-18 educational attainment £801 

Enhanced Human Capital £240,496 

Type People Value Value per person 

Core  1,246 £1,359,531 £1,091.12 

Moderate 1,568 £1,144,756 £730.07 

Infrequent 5,584 £1,280,772 £229.36 

Non-members 3,209 £1,359,022 £423.50 

Page 231



  

 
 

24 

SECTOR BENCHMARKS 

To provide an understanding of how much current and future social value the facility 
is projected to generate and how these compare to the sector, the graphics below 
show where the facility currently sits, as well as where it is projected to get to 
following investment. 

The graphs are split into 4 quartiles, with the 1st quartile (red) representing the lowest 
performing sites in the sector, through to the highest performing 4th quartile (green).  

The dotted blue lines represent the total current and future social value figures of 
£4,581,478 and £5,144,031 respectively.  

 

CURRENT POSITION  

 

 

 

 
FUTURE POSITION  

 

 

 
 

Both the future and current position are compared nationally against all DataHub 
sites with the same facility mix as the Durham sites on the Social Value generated 
per site. 

 

Page 232



  

 

25 

 

 
 
SOCIAL VALUE ANALYSIS 

- MEADOWFIELD LEISURE CENTRE 

 

Page 233



  

 

26 

MEADOWFIELD LEISURE CENTRE 
Social Value Projections are calculated using the current facility mix, membership 
numbers (both monthly and yearly) and the annual throughput of the site in question. 

 

20 MINUTE CATCHMENT PROFILE OVERVIEW  

Mosaic Group Percentage of surrounding population 

J Transient Renters 13.7% 

M Modest Traditions 10.2% 

K Municipal Challenge 9.1% 

G Domestic Success 9.1% 

L Vintage Value 9.0% 

F Suburban Stability 8.7% 

D Rural Reality 8.5% 

H Aspiring Homemakers 7.6% 

I Family Basics 6.6% 

E Senior Security 6.5% 

O Rental Hubs 4.9% 

B Prestige Positions 4.1% 

C Country Living 1.7% 

A City Prosperity 0.3% 

N Urban Cohesion 0.1% 

 

 Current Site Future Scenario 

Annual Throughput  151,203 183,340 

Membership (month) 989 1,230 

Annual number of members 2,077 2,583 

% of throughput by members 57% 64% 

Page 234



  

 
 

27 

CURRENT: 

  

 
 

Number of active 
unique users 

  

 
 

Social value per 
individual user  

 

 
 

Social Value 
projections - per 

year 
  

Total unique users 3,383 £436.65 £1,477,179 

 Category Social Value projections 

Improved health £316,628 

Improved subjective well-being £1,070,040 

Increased educational attainment £88,922 

Reduced crime £1,589 

Total £1,477,179 

FURTHER BREAKDOWN: 

MEMBER BREAKDOWN: 

Category Social Value projections 
CHD stroke £61,409 

Breast Cancer £9,470 

Colon Cancer £4,557 

Diabetes £14,583 

Dementia £134,211 

Good Health £92,398 

11-18 educational attainment £264 

Enhanced Human Capital £88,658 

Type People Value Value per person 

Core  301 £324,837 £1,079.19 

Moderate 388 £281,122 £724.54 

Infrequent 1,388 £318,163 £229.22 

Non-members 1,306 £553,057 £423.47 

Page 235



  

 
 

28 

FUTURE: 

  

 
 

Number of active 
unique users 

  

 
 

Social value per 
individual user  

 

 
 

Social Value 
projections - per 

year 
  

Total unique users 6,310 £432.25 £2,727,476 

 Category Social Value projections 

Improved health £584,626 

Improved subjective well-being £1,975,730 

Increased educational attainment £164,186 

Reduced crime £2,934 

Total £2,727,476 

FURTHER BREAKDOWN: 

MEMBER BREAKDOWN: 

Category Social Value projections 
CHD stroke £113,386 

Breast Cancer £17,486 

Colon Cancer £8,415 

Diabetes £26,926 

Dementia £247,808 

Good Health £170,605 

11-18 educational attainment £487 

Enhanced Human Capital £163,699 

Type People Value Value per person 

Core  375 £403,974 £1,077.26 

Moderate 482 £349,609 £725.33 

Infrequent 1,726 £395,674 £229.24 

Non-members 3,727 £1,578,219 £423.46 

Page 236



  

 
 

29 

SECTOR BENCHMARKS 

To provide an understanding of how much current and future social value the facility 
is projected to generate and how these compare to the sector, the graphics below 
show where the facility currently sits, as well as where it is projected to get to 
following investment. 

The graphs are split into 4 quartiles, with the 1st quartile (red) representing the lowest 
performing sites in the sector, through to the highest performing 4th quartile (green).  

The dotted blue lines represent the total current and future social value figures of 
£1,477,179 and £2,727,476 respectively.  

 

CURRENT POSITION  

 

 

 

 
FUTURE POSITION  

 

 

 
 

 

Page 237



  

 

30 

 

 

 

 

 

SOCIAL VALUE ANALYSIS 

- SHILDON LEISURE CENTRE 

 

Page 238



  

 

31 

SHILDON LEISURE CENTRE 
Social Value Projections are calculated using the current facility mix, membership 
numbers (both monthly and yearly) and the annual throughput of the site in question. 

 

20 MINUTE CATCHMENT PROFILE OVERVIEW  

Mosaic Group Percentage of surrounding population 

J Transient Renters 17.0% 

H Aspiring Homemakers 10.4% 

M Modest Traditions 9.3% 

K Municipal Challenge 9.1% 

G Domestic Success 9.1% 

L Vintage Value 8.5% 

E Senior Security 8.3% 

I Family Basics 7.5% 

D Rural Reality 7.2% 

F Suburban Stability 6.7% 

B Prestige Positions 4.0% 

C Country Living 2.1% 

O Rental Hubs 0.6% 

N Urban Cohesion 0.3% 

A City Prosperity 0.0% 

 

 Current Site Future Scenario 

Annual Throughput  133,461 206,332 

Membership (month) 404 921 

Annual number of members 848 1,934 

% of throughput by members 51% 67% 

Page 239



  

 
 

32 

CURRENT: 

  

 
 

Number of active 
unique users 

  

 
 

Social value per 
individual user  

 

 
 

Social Value 
projections - per 

year 
  

Total unique users 2,162 £427.43 £924,102 

 Category Social Value projections 

Improved health £202,425 

Improved subjective well-being £685,875 

Increased educational attainment £34,685 

Reduced crime £1,117 

Total £924,102 

FURTHER BREAKDOWN: 

MEMBER BREAKDOWN: 

Category Social Value projections 
CHD stroke £39,362 

Breast Cancer £5,542 

Colon Cancer £2,921 

Diabetes £9,348 

Dementia £86,027 

Good Health £59,225 

11-18 educational attainment £148 

Enhanced Human Capital £34,537 

Type People Value Value per person 

Core  126 £132,630 £1,052.62 

Moderate 158 £111,039 £702.78 

Infrequent 565 £124,156 £219.75 

Non-members 537 £556,277 £423.49 

Page 240



  

 
 

33 

FUTURE: 

  

 
 

Number of active 
unique users 

  

 
 

Social value per 
individual user  

 

 
 

Social Value 
projections - per 

year 
  

Total unique users 3,302 £429.46 £1,418,074 

 Category Social Value projections 

Improved health £310,629 

Improved subjective well-being £1,052,505 

Increased educational attainment £53,227 

Reduced crime £1,713 

Total £1,418,074 

FURTHER BREAKDOWN: 

MEMBER BREAKDOWN: 

 

Category Social Value projections 
CHD stroke £60,402 

Breast Cancer £8,505 

Colon Cancer £4,483 

Diabetes £14,344 

Dementia £132,011 

Good Health £90,884 

11-18 educational attainment £228 

Enhanced Human Capital £52,999 

Type People Value Value per person 

Core  286 £302,484 £1,057.64 

Moderate 359 £253,243 £705.41 

Infrequent 1,288 £283,157 £219.84 

Non-members 1,368 £579,190 £423.38 

Page 241



  

 
 

34 

SECTOR BENCHMARKS 

To provide an understanding of how much current and future social value the facility 
is projected to generate and how these compare to the sector, the graphics below 
show where the facility currently sits, as well as where it is projected to get to 
following investment. 

The graphs are split into 4 quartiles, with the 1st quartile (red) representing the lowest 
performing sites in the sector, through to the highest performing 4th quartile (green).  

The dotted blue lines represent the total current and future social value figures of 
£924,102 and £1,418,074 respectively.  

 

CURRENT POSITION  

 

 

 

 
FUTURE POSITION  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 242



  

 
 

35 

 

 
 
SOCIAL VALUE ANALYSIS 

- SPENNYMOOR LEISURE CENTRE 

 

Page 243



  

 

36 

SPENNYMOOR LEISURE CENTRE 
Social Value Projections are calculated using the current facility mix, membership 
numbers (both monthly and yearly) and the annual throughput of the site in question. 

 

 

20 MINUTE CATCHMENT PROFILE OVERVIEW  

Mosaic Group Percentage of surrounding population 

J Transient Renters 15.0% 

M Modest Traditions 9.9% 

K Municipal Challenge 9.7% 

D Rural Reality 8.5% 

L Vintage Value 8.5% 

G Domestic Success 8.5% 

H Aspiring Homemakers 7.9% 

F Suburban Stability 7.8% 

I Family Basics 6.9% 

E Senior Security 6.6% 

O Rental Hubs 4.7% 

B Prestige Positions 4.0% 

C Country Living 1.6% 

A City Prosperity 0.3% 

N Urban Cohesion 0.1% 

 Current Site Future Scenario 

Annual Throughput  530,741 573,155 

Membership (month) 1,812 1,868 

Annual number of members 3,805 3,923 

% of throughput by members 62% 57% 

Page 244



  

 
 

37 

CURRENT: 

  

 
 

Number of active 
unique users 

  

 
 

Social value per 
individual user  

 

 
 

Social Value 
projections - per 

year 
  

Total unique users 7,856 £437.07 £3,433,657 

 Category Social Value projections 

Improved health £751,448 

Improved subjective well-being £2,543,988 

Increased educational attainment £134,125 

Reduced crime £4,096 

Total £3,433,657 

FURTHER BREAKDOWN: 

MEMBER BREAKDOWN: 

Category Social Value projections 
CHD stroke £145,998 

Breast Cancer £21,188 

Colon Cancer £10,835 

Diabetes £34,671 

Dementia £319,082 

Good Health £219,674 

11-18 educational attainment £545 

Enhanced Human Capital £133,580 

Type People Value Value per person 

Core  565 £619,744 £1,096.89 

Moderate 709 £519,533 £732.77 

Infrequent 2,531 £578,816 £228.69 

Non-members 4,051 £1,715,564 £423.49 

Page 245



  

 
 

38 

FUTURE: 

  

 
 

Number of active 
unique users 

  

 
 

Social value per 
individual user  

 

 
 

Social Value 
projections - per 

year 
  

Total unique users 8,827 £435.97 £3,848,307 

 Category Social Value projections 

Improved health £842,191 

Improved subjective well-being £2,851,201 

Increased educational attainment £150,323 

Reduced crime £4,592 

Total £3,848,307 

FURTHER BREAKDOWN: 

MEMBER BREAKDOWN: 

Category Social Value projections 
CHD stroke £163,628 

Breast Cancer £23,747 

Colon Cancer £12,143 

Diabetes £38,858 

Dementia £357,614 

Good Health £246,201 

11-18 educational attainment £611 

Enhanced Human Capital £149,712 

Type People Value Value per person 

Core  582 £638,964 £1,097.88 

Moderate 731 £535,644 £732.76 

Infrequent 2,610 £596,767 £228.65 

Non-members 4,904 £2,076,932 £423.52 

Page 246



  

 
 

39 

SECTOR BENCHMARKS 

To provide an understanding of how much current and future social value the facility 
is projected to generate and how these compare to the sector, the graphics below 
show where the facility currently sits, as well as where it is projected to get to 
following investment. 

The graphs are split into 4 quartiles, with the 1st quartile (red) representing the lowest 
performing sites in the sector, through to the highest performing 4th quartile (green).  

The dotted blue lines represent the total current and future social value figures of 
£3,433,657 and £3,843,307 respectively.  

 

CURRENT POSITION  

 

 

 

 
FUTURE POSITION  

 

 

 
 

Both the future and current position are compared nationally against all DataHub 
sites with the same facility mix as the Durham sites on the Social Value generated 
per site. 

 
  

Page 247



  

 
 

40 

 

 

 

 

 

SOCIAL VALUE ANALYSIS 

- WOODHOUSE CLOSE LEUSRE COMPLEX 

 

Page 248



  

 

41 

WOODHOUSE CLOSE LEISURE COMPLEX 
Social Value Projections are calculated using the current facility mix, membership 
numbers (both monthly and yearly) and the annual throughput of the site in question. 

 

 

20 MINUTE CATCHMENT PROFILE OVERVIEW  

Mosaic Group Percentage of surrounding population 

J Transient Renters 14.9% 

K Municipal Challenge 10.9% 

D Rural Reality 10.0% 

H Aspiring Homemakers 9.8% 

M Modest Traditions 9.5% 

L Vintage Value 8.5% 

G Domestic Success 8.4% 

I Family Basics 7.6% 

E Senior Security 7.1% 

F Suburban Stability 6.7% 

C Country Living 3.3% 

B Prestige Positions 3.1% 

O Rental Hubs 0.2% 

A City Prosperity 0.1% 

N Urban Cohesion 0.0% 

 Current Site Future Scenario 

Annual Throughput  252,722 361,036 

Membership (month) 1,757 2,437 

Annual number of members 3,690 5,118 

% of throughput by members 68% 58% 

Page 249



  

 
 

42 

CURRENT: 

  

 
 

Number of active 
unique users 

  

 
 

Social value per 
individual user  

 

 
 

Social Value 
projections - per 

year 
  

Total unique users 5,314 £430.42 £2,287,241 

 Category Social Value projections 

Improved health £502,432 

Improved subjective well-being £1,700,510 

Increased educational attainment £81,762 

Reduced crime £2,537 

Total £2,287,241 

FURTHER BREAKDOWN: 

MEMBER BREAKDOWN: 

Category Social Value projections 
CHD stroke £97,591 

Breast Cancer £14,296 

Colon Cancer £7,242 

Diabetes £23,176 

Dementia £213,288 

Good Health £146,839 

11-18 educational attainment £339 

Enhanced Human Capital £81,423 

Type People Value Value per person 

Core  549 £578,716 £1,054.13 

Moderate 685 £481,544 £702.98 

Infrequent 2,456 £539,068 £219.49 

Non-members 1,624 £687,913 £423.59 

Page 250



  

 
 

43 

FUTURE: 

  

 
 

Number of active 
unique users 

  

 
 

Social value per 
individual user  

 

 
 

Social Value 
projections - per 

year 
  

Total unique users 7,598 £430.19 £3,268,566 

 Category Social Value projections 

Improved health £717,998 

Improved subjective well-being £2,430,103 

Increased educational attainment £116,841 

Reduced crime £3,624 

Total £3,268,566 

FURTHER BREAKDOWN: 

MEMBER BREAKDOWN: 

Category Social Value projections 
CHD stroke £139,462 

Breast Cancer £20,429 

Colon Cancer £10,350 

Diabetes £33,119 

Dementia £304,798 

Good Health £209,840 

11-18 educational attainment £484 

Enhanced Human Capital £116,357 

Type People Value Value per person 

Core  762 £802,675 £1,053.38 

Moderate 950 £667,898 £703.05 

Infrequent 3,406 £747,683 £219.52 

Non-members 2,480 £1,050,310 £423.51 

Page 251



  

 
 

44 

SECTOR BENCHMARKS 

To provide an understanding of how much current and future social value the facility 
is projected to generate and how these compare to the sector, the graphics below 
show where the facility currently sits, as well as where it is projected to get to 
following investment. 

The graphs are split into 4 quartiles, with the 1st quartile (red) representing the lowest 
performing sites in the sector, through to the highest performing 4th quartile (green).  

The dotted blue lines represent the total current and future social value figures of 
£2,287,241 and £3,268,566 respectively.  

 

CURRENT POSITION  

 

 

 

 
FUTURE POSITION  

 

 

 
 

Both the future and current position are compared nationally against all DataHub 
sites with the same facility mix as the Durham sites on the Social Value generated 
per site. 

 

 

Page 252



  

 

45 

 
 
 

SOCIAL VALUE ANALYSIS 

- LOUISA CENTRE 

 

Page 253



  

 

46 

LOUISA CENTRE 
Social Value Projections are calculated using the current facility mix, membership 
numbers (both monthly and yearly) and the annual throughput of the site in question. 

 

20 MINUTE CATCHMENT PROFILE OVERVIEW  

Mosaic Group Percentage of surrounding population 

L Vintage Value 12.5% 

J Transient Renters 12.3% 

M Modest Traditions 10.1% 

E Senior Security 9.7% 

I Family Basics 9.4% 

F Suburban Stability 9.1% 

H Aspiring Homemakers 8.9% 

G Domestic Success 7.8% 

K Municipal Challenge 7.7% 

B Prestige Positions 5.0% 

D Rural Reality 3.0% 

O Rental Hubs 2.7% 

C Country Living 1.1% 

N Urban Cohesion 0.6% 

A City Prosperity 0.1% 

 Current Site Future Scenario 

Annual Throughput  397,247 611,210 

Membership (month) 1,658 2,603 

Annual number of members 3,482 5,466 

% of throughput by members 62% 58% 

Page 254



  

 
 

47 

CURRENT: 

  

 
 

Number of active 
unique users 

  

 
 

Social value per 
individual user  

 

 
 

Social Value 
projections - per 

year 
  

Total unique users 6,514 £438.91 £2,859,068 

 Category Social Value projections 

Improved health £632,927 

Improved subjective well-being £2,142,822 

Increased educational attainment £80,966 

Reduced crime £2,353 

Total £2,859,068 

FURTHER BREAKDOWN: 

MEMBER BREAKDOWN: 

Category Social Value projections 
CHD stroke £122,975 

Breast Cancer £17,824 

Colon Cancer £9,126 

Diabetes £29,204 

Dementia £268,765 

Good Health £185,033 

11-18 educational attainment £341 

Enhanced Human Capital £80,625 

Type People Value Value per person 

Core  521 £579,497 £1,112.28 

Moderate 649 £470,789 £725.41 

Infrequent 2,312 £524,723 £226.96 

Non-members 3,032 £1,284,059 £423.50 

Page 255



  

 
 

48 

FUTURE: 

  

 
 

Number of active 
unique users 

  

 
 

Social value per 
individual user  

 

 
 

Social Value 
projections - per 

year 
  

Total unique users 10,662 £438.34 £4,656,067 

 Category Social Value projections 

Improved health £1,030,738 

Improved subjective well-being £3,489,642 

Increased educational attainment £131,855 

Reduced crime £3,832 

Total £4,656,067 

FURTHER BREAKDOWN: 

MEMBER BREAKDOWN: 

Category Social Value projections 
CHD stroke £200,268 

Breast Cancer £29,027 
Colon Cancer £14,862 

Diabetes £47,559 
Dementia £437,691 

Good Health £301,331 

11-18 educational attainment £555 
Enhanced Human Capital £131,300 

Type People Value Value per person 

Core  817 £909,687 £1,113.45 

Moderate 1,019 £739,039 £725.26 

Infrequent 3,630 £823,704 £226.92 

Non-members 5,156 £2,183,637 £423.51 

Page 256



  

 
 

49 

SECTOR BENCHMARKS 

To provide an understanding of how much current and future social value the facility 
is projected to generate and how these compare to the sector, the graphics below 
show where the facility currently sits, as well as where it is projected to get to 
following investment. 

The graphs are split into 4 quartiles, with the 1st quartile (red) representing the lowest 
performing sites in the sector, through to the highest performing 4th quartile (green).  

The dotted blue lines represent the total current and future social value figures of 
£2,859,068 and £4,656,067 respectively.  

 

CURRENT POSITION  

 

 

 

 
FUTURE POSITION  

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Page 257



  

 
 

50 

 
 

 
SOCIAL VALUE ANALYSIS 

- PETERLEE LEISURE CENTRE 

 

Page 258



  

 

51 

PETERLEE LEISURE CENTRE 
Social Value Projections are calculated using the current facility mix, membership 
numbers (both monthly and yearly) and the annual throughput of the site in question. 

 

 

 20 MINUTE CATCHMENT PROFILE OVERVIEW  

Mosaic Group Percentage of surrounding population 

K Municipal Challenge 14.4% 

J Transient Renters 13.9% 

I Family Basics 13.3% 

L Vintage Value 12.1% 

M Modest Traditions 9.7% 

F Suburban Stability 8.0% 

H Aspiring Homemakers 7.4% 

G Domestic Success 6.4% 

D Rural Reality 5.6% 

E Senior Security 4.8% 

B Prestige Positions 2.2% 

C Country Living 1.5% 

O Rental Hubs 0.5% 

N Urban Cohesion 0.0% 

A City Prosperity 0.0% 

 Current Site Future Scenario 

Annual Throughput  221,728 333,850 

Membership (month) 1900 2,062 

Annual number of members 3990 4,330 

% of throughput by members 62% 56% 

Page 259



  

 
 

52 

CURRENT: 

  

 
 

Number of active 
unique users 

  

 
 

Social value per 
individual user  

 

 
 

Social Value 
projections - per 

year 
  

Total unique users 5,606 £421.30 £2,361,804 

 Category Social Value projections 

Improved health £518,504 

Improved subjective well-being £1,758,005 

Increased educational attainment £82,592 

Reduced crime £2,703 

Total £2,361,804 

FURTHER BREAKDOWN: 

MEMBER BREAKDOWN: 

Category Social Value projections 
CHD stroke £100,891 

Breast Cancer £13,863 

Colon Cancer £7,487 

Diabetes £23,959 

Dementia £220,499 

Good Health £151,804 

11-18 educational attainment £378 

Enhanced Human Capital £82,214 

Type People Value Value per person 

Core  588 £606,341 £1,030.75 

Moderate 739 £504,469 £682.34 

Infrequent 2,662 £566,606 £212.82 

Non-members 1,616 £684,388 £423.50 

Page 260



  

 
 

53 

FUTURE: 

  

 
 

Number of active 
unique users 

  

 
 

Social value per 
individual user  

 

 
 

Social Value 
projections - per 

year 
  

Total unique users 7,250 £421.65 £3,057,099 

 Category Social Value projections 

Improved health £671,147 

Improved subjective well-being £2,275,548 

Increased educational attainment £106,906 

Reduced crime £3,498 

Total £3,057,099 

FURTHER BREAKDOWN: 

MEMBER BREAKDOWN: 

 

Category Social Value projections 
CHD stroke £130,592 

Breast Cancer £17,944 

Colon Cancer £9,691 

Diabetes £31,013 

Dementia £285,413 

Good Health £196,494 

11-18 educational attainment £489 

Enhanced Human Capital £106,417 

Type People Value Value per person 

Core  638 £658,009 £1,030.75 

Moderate 802 £547,457 £682.34 

Infrequent 2,889 £614,888 £212.82 

Non-members 2,920 £1,236,745 £423.50 

Page 261



  

 
 

54 

SECTOR BENCHMARKS 

To provide an understanding of how much current and future social value the facility 
is projected to generate and how these compare to the sector, the graphics below 
show where the facility currently sits, as well as where it is projected to get to 
following investment. 

The graphs are split into 4 quartiles, with the 1st quartile (red) representing the lowest 
performing sites in the sector, through to the highest performing 4th quartile (green).  

The dotted blue lines represent the total current and future social value figures of 
£2,361,804 and £3,057,099 respectively.  

 

CURRENT POSITION  

 

 

 

 
FUTURE POSITION  

 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 262



  

 
 

55 

 
 

 
SOCIAL VALUE ANALYSIS 

- SEAHAM LEISURE CENTRE 

 

Page 263



  

 

56 

SEAHAM LEISURE CENTRE 
Social Value Projections are calculated using the current facility mix, membership 
numbers (both monthly and yearly) and the annual throughput of the site in question. 

 

 

 20 MINUTE CATCHMENT PROFILE OVERVIEW  

Mosaic Group Percentage of surrounding population 

L Vintage Value 15.8% 

K Municipal Challenge 15.1% 

I Family Basics 11.9% 

J Transient Renters 11.5% 

F Suburban Stability 8.7% 

M Modest Traditions 8.5% 

E Senior Security 7.1% 

H Aspiring Homemakers 7.0% 

G Domestic Success 6.2% 

O Rental Hubs 3.1% 

B Prestige Positions 2.1% 

D Rural Reality 1.5% 

C Country Living 0.7% 

N Urban Cohesion 0.6% 

A City Prosperity 0.0% 

 Current Site Future Scenario 

Annual Throughput  133,348 215,239 

Membership (month) 969 1,331 

Annual number of members 2,035 2,795 

% of throughput by members 65% 60% 

Page 264



  

 
 

57 

CURRENT: 

  

 
 

Number of active 
unique users 

  

 
 

Social value per 
individual user  

 

 
 

Social Value 
projections - per 

year 
  

Total unique users 2,972 £438.01 £1,301,967 

 Category Social Value projections 

Improved health £284,866 

Improved subjective well-being £965,801 

Increased educational attainment £49,862 

Reduced crime £1,438 

Total £1,301,967 

FURTHER BREAKDOWN: 

MEMBER BREAKDOWN: 

Category Social Value projections 
CHD stroke £55,427 

Breast Cancer £7,630 

Colon Cancer £4,113 

Diabetes £13,163 

Dementia £121,136 

Good Health £83,397 

11-18 educational attainment £201 

Enhanced Human Capital £49,661 

Type People Value Value per person 

Core  301 £329,283 £1,094.36 

Moderate 379 £272,379 £717.79 

Infrequent 1,355 £303,301 £223.90 

Non-members 937 £397,004 £423.50 

Page 265



  

 
 

58 

FUTURE: 

  

 
 

Number of active 
unique users 

  

 
 

Social value per 
individual user  

 

 
 

Social Value 
projections - per 

year 
  

Total unique users 4,524 £436.60 £1,975,289 

 Category Social Value projections 

Improved health £432,186 

Improved subjective well-being £1,465,272 

Increased educational attainment £75,649 

Reduced crime £2,182 

Total £1,975,289 

FURTHER BREAKDOWN: 

MEMBER BREAKDOWN: 

Category Social Value projections 
CHD stroke £84,091 

Breast Cancer £11,576 

Colon Cancer £6,241 

Diabetes £19,970 

Dementia £183,783 

Good Health £126,526 

11-18 educational attainment £306 

Enhanced Human Capital £75,343 

Type People Value Value per person 

Core  413 £452,258 £1,094.36 

Moderate 521 £374,103 £717.79 

Infrequent 1,861 £416,573 £223.90 

Non-members 1,729 £732,355 £423.50 

Page 266



  

 
 

59 

SECTOR BENCHMARKS 

To provide an understanding of how much current and future social value the facility 
is projected to generate and how these compare to the sector, the graphics below 
show where the facility currently sits, as well as where it is projected to get to 
following investment. 

The graphs are split into 4 quartiles, with the 1st quartile (red) representing the lowest 
performing sites in the sector, through to the highest performing 4th quartile (green).  

The dotted blue lines represent the total current and future social value figures of 
£1,301,967 and £1,975,289 respectively.  

 

CURRENT POSITION  

 

 

 

 
FUTURE POSITION  

 

 

 
 

 

Page 267



  

 

60 

DATAHUB PROCESS 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 

 

CURRENT SERVICES:  
Single facility type scenario: for example, investing into a gym - knowing the optimal 
capacity that should be provided, and what the participant outcome from investment 
is likely to be. This also means knowing what a new operator contract could deliver if 
supported by capital investment (or not, and just based on the status-quo, but factoring 
in latent demand in the area today);  

New site scenario: based on a known site, what facility mix will generate greatest 
participant numbers (and returns);  

Optimal site scenario: which site, based on a proposed facility mix, and participant 
numbers (and re-turns);  

Full site optimal facility mix: new site and new facility mix to meet local need. This 
includes UK-wide scanning to support large private sector chains.  

Page 268



  

 
 

61 

NOTES 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 269



  

 
 

62 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CONTACT INFORMATION 
 
 

Ed Hubbard 
Principal Consultant, 4global 

 
0208 1234 693 

ed.hubbard@4global.com 
Building 3 Chiswick Business Park. London 

 

4global.com    •   datahubclub.com 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 270



  

 

63 

END 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 271



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Strategic Assessment of Sports Hall 

Provision  

Durham County Council   

                                

Facility Planning Model 

 

National Run Report  

  

August 2018 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 273



 

 

 

Contents 

1. Introduction .................................................................................................................... 1 

2. Supply of Sports Halls ..................................................................................................... 2 

3. Demand for Sports Halls ................................................................................................. 7 

4. Supply & Demand Balance .............................................................................................. 9 

5. Satisfied Demand - demand from Ccounty Durham residents being met by supply ....... 10 

6. Unmet Demand - demand from County Durham residents not  being met ................... 122 

7. Used Capacity - How full are the facilities? ............................................................... 166 

8. Local Share - equity share of facilities ....................................................................... 20 

9. Summary Report ....................................................................................................... 23 

Appendix 1: Sports hall included and excluded in the assessment ........................................ 299 

Appendix 2 – Model description, Inclusion Criteria and Model Parameters ............................. 34 

 

 

 

Page 274



 

 

1 

1. Introduction 

1.1 This report and the accompanying maps provide a strategic assessment for provision 
of sports halls across the County Durham area. The assessment is based on Sport 
England’s Facilities Planning Model (fpm) data from Sport England’s 2018 national 
assessment of sports halls for all local authorities in England. 

1.1 The purpose of this evidence base report is to provide an assessment of the supply, 
demand and access to sports halls. The report will be used by Durham County Council 
in the strategic planning for the future provision of sports halls across the County and 
inform the County Council’s Leisure Transformation Project.  

1.2 The report is based on an analysis of sports halls provision under seven headings and 
includes data tables and maps. The headings are: total supply; total demand; supply 
and demand balance; satisfied/met demand; unmet demand; used capacity (how full 
the sports halls are); and equity share. The definition of each heading is set out at the 
start and followed a commentary on the findings.  

1.3 The assessment and findings reported are catchment area based, and the catchment 
area of the sports halls extends across local authority boundaries. For some County 
Durham residents, the nearest sports hall to where they live will be outside the County 
(exported demand) and vice versa for residents in neighbouring  authorities,  and 
where the nearest sports hall to where they live is located within County Durham 
(imported demand).  

1.4 So, it is important to include the data for the neighbouring authorities alongside that for 
County Durham in the data tables. Where valid to do so, the findings for the 
neighbouring authorities are also commented on.  

1.5 A summary of main findings is set out at the end of the main report. 

1.6 The information contained within the report should be read alongside the two 
appendices.  Appendix 1 sets out the facilities included and excluded in the 
assessment, and Appendix 2 sets out the fpm inclusion criteria and the model 
parameters. 

1.7 This report should not be considered in isolation and in the strategic planning for 
sports halls, it will be important to consider the findings in this assessment, alongside 
information and consultations from (a) sports perspective (National Governing Bodies 
of Sport, local sports clubs & key stakeholders), and (b) a local perspective (from the 
local authority/facility providers and operators/community organisations). 

1.8 This report has been prepared by WYG Consulting on behalf of Sport England. WYG 
are contracted by Sport England to undertake facility planning model work on behalf of 
Sport England and local authorities.  

 

 

 

Page 275



 

 

2 

2. Supply of Sports Halls 

Total Supply 
County 

Durham 

UA 

Darlington 

UA 
Eden Gateshead 

Hartlepool 

UA 
Northumberland 

South East 
Richmondshire 

Stockton-

on-Tees 

UA 
Sunderland 

Number of halls 59 15 10 21 17 17 4 24 39 

Number of hall sites 44 9 5 16 11 12 3 16 26 

Supply of total hall 

space in courts 
249.80 54.20 37.50 86 62.10 79.10 18.70 94.50 143.20 

Supply of publicly 

available hall space in 

courts peak period 
188.60 42.70 31.50 58.40 45.40 65.60 13 65.60 91.10 

Supply of total hall 

space in visits per week 

peak period  
51,485 11,653 8,609 15,932 12,403 17,907 3,536 17,911 24,869 

Courts per 10,000 

population 
4.70 5.10 7.10 4.30 6.70 5.30 3.60 4.80 5.10 

 

2.1 Definition of supply – this is the supply or capacity of the sports halls which are 
available for public and club use in the weekly peak period. The supply is expressed in 
number of visits that a sports hall can accommodate in the weekly peak period and in 
numbers of badminton courts. 

2.2 There are 59 individual sports halls located on 44 sites across County Durham in 
2018. The total supply of sports halls in badminton courts, is 249 courts, of which 188 
are available in the weekly peak period for community use (known as the effective 
supply). The reason for the difference between the total supply of badminton courts 
and the effective supply, is because of the variable hours of access for community use 
at the sports halls located on education sites. The difference of 61 badminton courts 
represents just under 25% of the total supply of badminton courts across County 
Durham 

2.3 Based on a measure of number of badminton courts available for community use per 
10,000 population, County Durham has 4.7 badminton courts. The County Durham 
provision is ranked seventh out of the nine authorities in the study area. The highest 
supply is in Eden District with 7.1 badminton courts per 10,000 population and the 
lowest is in Richmondshire at 3.6 badminton courts per 10,000 population. 

2.4 The North East Region average is 5.1 badminton courts per 10,000 population and for 
England wide it is 4.2 courts per 10,000 population in 2018.  

2.5 So, the provision of sports hall space across County Durham is below that of most of 
the neighbouring authorities, North East Region and England wide.  

Page 276



 

 

3 

2.6 As with swimming pools, these quantitative findings are set out simply for comparative 
purposes, because some local authorities like to know how their provision compares 
with that of its neighbours.  The assessment of the implications of the findings for 
County Durham will be made based on the findings from all seven headings in the 
sports halls data, not just supply.    

2.7 The location of all the sports hall sites in County Durham is set out in Map 2.1 below.  
The difference in size of the green square reflect the different size of the sports hall at 
each site, in terms of its capacity at peak times.  As the map shows the sports hall 
sites are clustered in the North East and South East of the County. There are no 
sports halls in the west side of the County and for the residents in this area there 
access to sports halls is very limited. This is exacerbated by Eden District, 
Richmondshire and South East Northumberland having the least number of sports hall 
sites at 5 and 4 sites respectively.  

Map 2.1 Location of sports hall sites County Durham 2018    

 

Page 277



 

 

4 

2.8 A description of all the sports halls in County Durham is set out in Table 2.1 below. 
The average age for the sports hall sites, excluding Durham School which opened in 
1923 is 30 years. in terms of the average age of the sports halls in each of the areas of 
the County they are: 

• Chester-Le-Street 35 years 

• Derwentside 27 years 

• Durham City 25 years 

• Easington 26 years 

• Sedgefield 33 years 

• Teesdale 44 years 

• Wear Valley  26 years 

2.9 Of the 28 pre 2000 sports hall sites, 15 sites have been modernised, so there is a 
reasonably good record of modernisation. Modernisation is defined as one or more of, 
the sports hall floor upgraded to a sprung timber floor, the lighting system upgraded or 
the changing accommodation modernised.    

2.10 A key finding is that 24 of the total 44 sports hall sites are owned and operated by 
educational institutions (schools/colleges/ higher education. The education sports halls 
will have variable hours of access for community use, outside of education use. Some 
schools, colleges, higher education proactively manage the venues for wider 
community use and which is predominantly for sports club and community groups use. 
Other schools and colleges let their sports halls on a responsive basis, on a term or 
even shorter irregular lettings and again to sports clubs or community groups. 

2.11 The variable policy and hours and access for community use at the education sports 
hall sites, explains the reason for the difference between the total supply of sports 
halls, which is 249 badminton courts, and the supply available for community use, 
which is 188 badminton courts, in the weekly peak period. As already reported. the 
difference of 61 badminton courts represents around 25% of the total supply of 
badminton courts across County Durham 

2.12 Furthermore, these quantitative findings on the scale of education sports hall sites,  
illustrates the impact of any changes in the policy of education providers towards 
community use and access will have on the overall supply of sports halls across 
County Durham. Any reduction in community use at these venues will transfer more 
demand, most likely club use, to the public leisure centres.  

2.13 The scale of the sports hall offer is excellent, with 31 sports halls of 4 badminton court 
size. This size of sports hall can accommodate all of the indoor hall sports at the 
community level of participation.  

2.14 There are then a further 6 sports halls which are 6 badminton court size, 5 venues 
which have a double sports hall of 8 badminton courts and the largest sports hall is the 
10 badminton court size sports hall which is located at The Louisa Centre.  So there 
are 12 more venues which can accommodate multi sports use at the same time, plus 

Page 278



 

 

5 

the eight and ten court venues are of a scale to accommodate events with a centre 
show court.   

2.15 Including County Durham and all the neighbouring local authorities, there are a total of 
189 individual sports halls on 142 sports hall sites, it is an extensive supply of sports 
halls. 

Table 2.1: Sports Hall Supply County Durham 2018 

Name of Site Type Dimensions Area 
No of  
Courts 

Site 
Year 
Built 

Site 
Year 

Refurb 
Car % 

Demand 

Public 
Tran % 

Demand 
Walk % 
Demand 

CHESTER-LE-STREET             75% 9% 17% 

FYNDOUNE COMMUNITY COLLEGE Main 34 x 20 690 4 1982 2010 82% 9% 9% 

FYNDOUNE COMMUNITY COLLEGE 
Activity 
Hall 18 x 11 204             

HERMITAGE ACADEMY Main 33 x 18 594 4 2003   66% 7% 27% 

PARK VIEW SCHOOL (CHURCH CHARE) Main 34 x 27 932 6 1965 2002 72% 9% 19% 

PARK VIEW SCHOOL (CHURCH CHARE) 
Activity 
Hall 18 x 10 180             

 DERWENTSIDE            80% 10% 10% 

CONSETT ACADEMY AND LEISURE CENTRE Main 40 x 34 1380 8 1991   83% 9% 8% 

CONSETT ACADEMY AND LEISURE CENTRE Main 34 x 20 690             

CONSETT ACADEMY AND LEISURE CENTRE 
Activity 
Hall 18 x 10 180             

CONSETT LEISURE CENTRE Main 40 x 34 1380 8 2015   83% 9% 8% 

NORTH DURHAM ACADEMY Main 34 x 20 690 4 2013   75% 10% 15% 

TANFIELD COMPREHENSIVE SCHOOL SPECIALIST 
COLLEGE OF SCIENCE & ENGINEERING Main 33 x 18 594 4 1954 2008 77% 9% 14% 

THE LOUISA CENTRE Main 51 x 30 1530 10 1980 2008 76% 11% 13% 

 DURHAM CITY            76% 9% 16% 

ABBEY LEISURE CENTRE (DURHAM) Main 34 x 20 690 4 1991 2008 81% 8% 12% 

ACTIVE LIFE AT COXHOE Main 33 x 18 594 4 1986   85% 9% 6% 

ACTIVE LIFE AT COXHOE 
Activity 
Hall 17 x 9 153             

BELMONT SCHOOL COMMUNITY ARTS COLLEGE Main 33 x 18 594 4 1979 2015 77% 10% 12% 

DURHAM SCHOOL Main 34 x 20 690 4 1923 2008 56% 7% 37% 

DURHAM UNIVERSITY (GRAHAM SPORTS CENTRE 
AT MAIDEN CASTLE) Main 33 x 18 594 4 1982 2009 82% 10% 8% 

DURHAM UNIVERSITY (GRAHAM SPORTS CENTRE 
AT MAIDEN CASTLE) 

Activity 
Hall 17 x 9 153             

FRAMWELLGATE SCHOOL DURHAM Main 33 x 18 594 4 2017   73% 7% 20% 

FREEMANS QUAY LEISURE CENTRE Main 33 x 18 594 4 2008   63% 9% 28% 

MEADOWFIELD LEISURE CENTRE Main 33 x 18 594 4 1985   81% 9% 10% 

MEADOWFIELD LEISURE CENTRE 
Activity 
Hall 18 x 10 180             

ST LEONARD'S CATHOLIC SCHOOL Main 34 x 20 690 4 1960   69% 8% 23% 

ST LEONARD'S CATHOLIC SCHOOL 
Activity 
Hall 17 x 9 153             

STEPS2FITNESS Main 34 x 20 690 4 2005 2009 76% 8% 16% 

Page 279



 

 

6 

THE SIR BOBBY ROBSON CENTRE Main 34 x 20 690 4 2006   71% 8% 21% 

 EASINGTON            73% 11% 16% 

DENE COMMUNITY SCHOOL OF TECHNOLOGY Main 34 x 20 690 4 2005   67% 13% 20% 

DENE COMMUNITY SCHOOL OF TECHNOLOGY 
Activity 
Hall 18 x 10 180             

EASINGTON ACADEMY Main 31 x 18 569 4 1990   76% 12% 11% 

IMPACT HEALTH & FITNESS Main 51 x 18 918 6 2009   74% 12% 14% 

PETERLEE LEISURE CENTRE Main 40 x 34 1380 8 1978 2011 72% 12% 16% 

SEAHAM LEISURE CENTRE Main 33 x 18 594 4 1980 2009 70% 11% 18% 

SEAHAM YOUTH CENTRE Main 27 x 18 486 3     70% 11% 19% 

WELLFIELD SCHOOL Main 33 x 18 594 4 1997   80% 9% 11% 

WELLFIELD SCHOOL 
Activity 
Hall 18 x 10 180             

SEDGEFIELD             75% 9% 16% 

FERRYHILL COMMUNITY HUB Main 32 x 18 574 4 1982 2007 73% 8% 19% 

GREENFIELD COMMUNITY COLLEGE Main 33 x 18 594 4 2006 2010 76% 8% 16% 

GREENFIELD COMMUNITY COLLEGE 
Activity 
Hall 20 x 10 200             

NEWTON AYCLIFFE LEISURE CENTRE Main 40 x 34 1380 8 1974 2007 67% 8% 25% 

OAK LEAF SPORTS COMPLEX Main 42 x 22 924 6 1978 2006 87% 9% 4% 

SEDGEFIELD COMMUNITY SPORTS COLLEGE Main 34 x 27 918 6 2011   84% 5% 11% 

SHILDON SUNNYDALE LEISURE CENTRE Main 41 x 21 867 6 1982 2009 73% 11% 15% 

SPENNYMOOR LEISURE CENTRE Main 37 x 34 1258 8 1986   77% 9% 14% 

WOODHAM ACADEMY Main 34 x 20 690 4 1970   62% 7% 31% 

 TEESDALE            86% 3% 11% 

BARNARD CASTLE SCHOOL (SENIOR SCHOOL) Main 33 x 18 594 4 1975 2007 76% 3% 21% 

TEESDALE LEISURE CENTRE Main 33 x 18 594 4 1990   88% 3% 9% 

TEESDALE LEISURE CENTRE 
Activity 
Hall 18 x 10 180             

TEESDALE SCHOOL Main 27 x 18 486 3 1955   82% 3% 15% 

TEESDALE SCHOOL 
Activity 
Hall 18 x 10 180             

 WEAR VALLEY            79% 8% 14% 

BISHOP AUCKLAND COLLEGE Main 34 x 20 690 4 2007   76% 8% 16% 

BISHOP BARRINGTON SPORTS CENTRE Main 33 x 18 594 4 2006   72% 8% 20% 

KING JAMES I ACADEMY Main 34 x 20 690 4 2015   71% 9% 19% 

PARKSIDE ACADEMY Main 34 x 20 690 4 1985   82% 8% 11% 

PARKSIDE ACADEMY 
Activity 
Hall 18 x 10 180             

SPECTRUM LEISURE COMPLEX Main 34 x 20 690 4 1984 2008 84% 8% 8% 

SPECTRUM LEISURE COMPLEX 
Activity 
Hall 17 x 9 153             

ST JOHNS RC SCHOOL Main 34 x 20 690 4 1964 1985 69% 8% 23% 

WOLSINGHAM SCHOOL Main 33 x 18 594 4 2005   90% 4% 6% 

 

 

Page 280



 

 

7 

3. Demand for Sports Halls  

Total- Demand 
County 

Durham 

UA 

Darlington 

UA 
Eden Gateshead 

Hartlepool 

UA 
Northumberland 

South East 
Richmondshire 

Stockton-

on-Tees 

UA 
Sunderland 

Population 526,618 105,724 52,624 202,140 93,312 149,631 52,279 197,895 278,969 

Visits demanded – visits 

per week peak period 
32,302 6,434 3,076 12,469 5,708 8,891 3,233 12,184 17,287 

Equivalent in 

badminton  courts  
147.90 29.50 14.10 57.10 26.10 40.80 14.80 55.80 79.10 

% of population 

without access to a car 
26.40 26.60 13.10 35.20 33.80 25.90 12.80 24.50 33.80 

 

3.1 Definition of total demand – it represents the total demand for sports halls by both 
genders and for 14 five-year age bands from 0 to 65+. This is calculated as the 
percentage of each age band/gender that participates. This is added to the frequency 
of participation in each age band/gender, so as to arrive at a total demand figure, 
which is expressed in visits in the weekly peak period. Total demand is also expressed 
in numbers of badminton courts.   

3.2 The 2018 population of County Durham is 526,618 people. This population generates 
a sports hall demand of 32,302 visits in the weekly peak period of week day evenings 
(up to 5 hours per day) and weekend days (up to 7 hours per weekend day). The 
demand in the weekly peak period equates to 147 badminton courts. 

3.3 The percentage of the population without access to a car is recorded under the 
demand heading. In County Durham it is 26.4% of the resident population, who do not 
have access to a car, based on the 2011 Census.  

3.4 County Durham is mid table in relation to the other authority findings, with four 
authorities having a higher finding, it being highest in Gateshead at 35.2% of the 
population without access to a car. There are four authorities with a lower finding than 
County Durham and it being lowest in Eden District at 13.1% of the population without 
access to a car. The North East Region average is 30.3% of the population who do not 
have access to a car and for England wide it is 24.9% of the population who do not 
have access to a car. 

3.5 The percentage of the population without access to a car is important, because it 
influences travel patterns to sports halls. If there is a low percentage, as there is in 
County Durham, it does mean there is more likely to be higher use of car travel to 
sports halls. Given the drive time catchment is 20 minutes travel time then it means 
more residents can access more sports halls by car travel. 

3.6 If the percentage of the population without access to a car is high, it means a network 
of more local sports halls become more important, so that residents are able to access 
venues. There does appear to be a good local network of sports halls across County 
Durham, given 24 of the total 44 sports hall sites are located at educational institutions. 

Page 281



 

 

8 

3.7 The findings for County Durham are that 77% of all visits to sports halls are by car, 
14% of all visits to sports halls are by walking and 9% are by public transport. So 
around one in four visits to sports halls are by a combination of walking and public 
transport. The significance of these findings will be assessed under the unmet demand 
heading.  

  

Page 282



 

 

9 

4. Supply & Demand Balance 

Supply/Demand Balance 
County 

Durham 

UA 

Darlington 

UA 
Eden Gateshead 

Hartlepool 

UA 
Northumberland 

South East 
Richmond

shire 
Stockton-

on-Tees UA 
Sunderland 

Supply -  Hall provision 

(courts) hours available 

for community use 
188.60 42.70 31.50 58.40 45.40 65.60 13 65.60 91.10 

Demand  -  Hall 

provision (courts) 
147.90 29.50 14.10 57.10 26.10 40.80 14.80 55.80 79.10 

Supply / Demand 

balance 
40.70 13.20 17.40 1.30 19.30 24.80 -1.80 9.80 12 

 

4.1 Definition of supply and demand balance – supply and demand balance compares 
the total demand for sports halls in County Durham with the total supply. It therefore 
represents an assumption that ALL the demand for sports halls is met by ALL the 
supply in County Durham. (Note: it does exactly the same for the other authorities). 

4.2 In short, supply and demand balance is NOT based on where the venues are located 
and their catchment area extending into other authorities. Nor, the catchment areas of 
sports halls in neighbouring authorities extending into County Durham. Most 
importantly supply and demand balance does NOT take into account the 
propensity/reasons for residents using facilities outside their own authority. The more 
detailed modelling based on the CATCHMENT AREAS of sports halls with supply and 
demand spread across boundaries, is set out under Satisfied Demand, Unmet 
Demand and Used Capacity.  

4.3 The reason for presenting the supply and demand balance, is because some local 
authorities like to see how THEIR total supply of sports halls compares with THEIR 
total demand for sports halls. Supply and demand balance presents this comparison. 

4.4 When looking at this closed assessment, the resident population of County Durham in 
2018 generates a demand for 147 badminton courts in the weekly peak period. This 
compares to a supply of 188 badminton courts which are available for community use 
in the weekly peak period in 2018. So, the County Durham supply exceeds the County 
Durham demand by 41 badminton courts.  

4.5 Across the study area, the supply of sports halls in badminton courts exceeds demand 
in eight of the nine authorities and it is only in Richmondshire where demand exceeds 
supply but this is only by 1.8 badminton courts. The overall supply and demand 
balance is that supply exceeds demand by 136 badminton courts.  

4.6 This is likely to mean that when supply and demand are assessed, based on the 
catchment area of sports halls, there will be a high level of demand that can be met, 
and the level of unmet demand will be low.     

.  

Page 283



 

 

10 

5. Satisfied Demand - demand from County Durham residents 
currently being met by supply 

Satisfied Demand 
County 

Durham 

UA 

Darlington 

UA 
Eden Gateshead 

Hartlepool 

UA 
Northumberla

nd South East 
Richmondshire 

Stockton-

on-Tees 

UA 
Sunderland 

Total number of visits 

which are met 
28,845 6,030 2,568 11,432 5,441 8,257 2,571 11,409 15,945 

% of total demand 

satisfied 
89.30 93.70 83.50 91.70 95.30 92.90 79.50 93.60 92.20 

% of demand satisfied 

who travelled by car 
77 71.10 86.80 64.30 62.20 73.60 90.70 72.60 64.90 

% of demand satisfied 

who travelled by foot 
14.10 19.60 10.20 23 28.50 17.90 5.80 18 22.80 

% of demand satisfied 

who travelled by 

public transport 
9 9.20 3 12.70 9.30 8.50 3.50 9.50 12.20 

Demand Retained 26,319 5,645 2,437 7,880 5,268 7,405 2,145 9,288 13,152 

Demand Retained -as 

a % of Satisfied 

Demand 
91.20 93.60 94.90 68.90 96.80 89.70 83.40 81.40 82.50 

Demand Exported 2,526 385 131 3,552 173 852 426 2,121 2,793 

Demand Exported -as 

a % of Satisfied 

Demand 
8.80 6.40 5.10 31.10 3.20 10.30 16.60 18.60 17.50 

 

5.1 Definition of satisfied demand – it represents the proportion of total demand that is 
met by the capacity at the sports halls from residents who live within the driving, 
walking or public transport catchment area of a sports hall. 

5.2 In 2018, some 89% of the total demand for sports halls from County Durham residents 
is being satisfied/met. This means this level of the County Durham total demand for 
sports halls is located within the catchment area of a sports hall, within the County, 
those outside and where the catchment area extends into County Durham. Plus there 
is enough capacity at the venues to meet this level of total demand for sports halls.   

5.3 This is a quite high level of satisfied/met demand in the neighbouring authooirtes and it 
is highest in Stockton-On-Tees at 93.6 of the Stockton-On-Tees total demand for 
sports halls being met. The lowest level is in Richmondshire at 79.5% of that 
authority’s total demand for sports halls being met.   

Retained demand  

Page 284



 

 

11 

5.4 There is a sub set of satisfied demand that is retained demand and this measures how 
much of the County Durham demand is met at sports halls in the County. This is based 
on the catchment area of sports halls inside County Durham and residents using the 
nearest sports hall to where they live. 

5.5 The finding is that the nearest sports hall for a County Durham resident and which a 
venue is located in the County, is a high 91% of the total 89% of the County Durham   
total satisfied demand for sports halls. 

5.6 In short, the site and catchment area of the sports hall sites in the County are very well 
located, in relation to the location of the County Durham demand for sports halls. So 
much so, that the nearest sports hall for nine out of ten visits to a sports hall by a 
County Durham resident is a venue located in the County.  

Exported demand 

5.7 The residual of satisfied demand after retained demand is the export of the County 
Durham demand. Again, this is based on County Durham residents using the nearest 
venue to where they live, and which happens to be a sports hall in a neighbouring 
authority. The finding for 2018. is that County Durham is exporting just under 9% of its 
satisfied demand for sports halls and which is met in neighbouring authorities. The 
data does not identify how much demand is exported to which authority, it only 
provides the total exported demand.  

5.8 For context, the County Durham exported demand equates to 2,526 visits in the 
weekly peak period. The County Durham demand retained at the County Durham 
sports halls is 26,319 visits in the weekly peak period. 

Page 285



 

 

12 

6. Unmet Demand - demand from County Durham residents 
not currently being met 

Unmet Demand 
County 

Durham 

UA 

Darlington 

UA 
Eden Gateshead 

Hartlepool 

UA 
Northumberland 

South East 
Richmondshire 

Stockton-

on-Tees 

UA 
Sunderland 

Total number of visits 

in the peak, not 

currently being met 
3,458 404 509 1,037 267 634 662 775 1,342 

Unmet demand as a % 

of total demand 
10.70 6.30 16.50 8.30 4.70 7.10 20.50 6.40 7.80 

Equivalent in Courts - 

with comfort factor 
15.90 1.90 2.40 4.80 1.30 2.90 3 3.50 6.10 

% of Unmet Demand 

due to ; 
         

    Lack of Capacity - 0.60 0 0.40 1.30 0 0.10 0 0 2.70 

    Outside Catchment - 99.40 100 99.60 98.70 100 99.90 100 100 97.30 

  % Unmet demand 

who do not have 

access to a car 
91.30 95.30 34.30 96.40 96.60 95.90 38.40 96.40 95.20 

 

6.1 The unmet demand definition has two parts to it - demand for sports halls which 
cannot be met because (1) there is too much demand for any particular sports hall 
within its catchment area; or (2) the demand is located outside the catchment area of a 
sports hall and is then classified as unmet demand.   

6.2 The finding for County Durham is that total unmet demand is 10.7% of total demand 
for sports halls and this equates to just fewer than 16 badminton courts.  

6.3 Of the total unmet demand, all but 0.6% and so 99.4% is from definition two - unmet 
demand located outside the catchment area of a sports hall. 

6.4 As reported under the supply heading and as shown by Map 2.1, the sports hall sites 
are clustered in the north east and south east of the authority. There are few sports 
hall sites outside these locations and none towards the far western side of the 
authority. 

6.5 Across most studies there is a finding that there is unmet demand located outside 
catchment and it is the same for this study area. This is because, it is not possible to 
get complete spatial coverage, whereby all areas of an authority are inside the 
catchment area of a sports hall. Especially when the walking catchment area is only 20 
minutes/1mile. The finding is that 91% of the total 99% of unmet demand located 
outside catchment, is by residents who do not have access to a car (last row in the 
unmet demand table above).   

Page 286



 

 

13 

6.6 The significant finding is not that unmet demand outside catchment exists, but the 
SCALE and in County Durham it equates to fewer than 16 badminton courts and the 
available supply of sports halls in badminton courts is 188 courts. It is not a large scale 
of unmet demand located outside the catchment area of a sports hall.  

6.7 The location and scale of unmet demand across County Durham is shown in Map 6.1. 
Map 6.2 shows the unmet demand for sports halls in the eastern side of the county 
and where unmet demand is concentrated. 

6.8 The unmet demand is expressed in units of badminton courts in one kilometre grid 
squares and the squares are colour coded with different values of unmet demand. The 
three shades of blue squares, have unmet demand in the range 0 – 0.2 of one 
badminton court, so very low levels of unmet demand. 

6.9 The total unmet demand across the whole of the County is fewer than.16 badminton 
courts. There is no location/cluster of unmet demand, at a sufficient scale to consider 
further provision of sports halls to increase accessibility for residents. Unmet demand 
is distributed quite evenly across the eastern side of the county in these very low 
values, of between 0 – 0.2 of one badminton court.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 287



 

 

14 

 Map 6.1: Unmet Demand for Sports Halls County Durham 2018 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 288



 

 

15 

Map 6.2: Unmet Demand for Sports Halls Eastern Side of County Durham 2018 

Page 289



 

 

16 

7. Used Capacity - How full are the facilities? 

Used Capacity 
County 

Durham 

UA 

Darlington 

UA 
Eden Gateshead 

Hartlepool 

UA 
Northumberland 

South East 
Richmondshire 

Stockton-

on-Tees 

UA 
Sunderland 

Total number of visits 

used of current 

capacity 
27,984 6,183 2,446 11,282 5,791 8,832 2,171 10,471 15,375 

% of overall capacity 

of halls used 
54.40 53.10 28.40 70.80 46.70 49.30 61.40 58.50 61.80 

Visits Imported;          

Number of visits 

imported 
1,665 537 9 3,402 522 1,427 26 1,183 2,223 

As % of used capacity 5.90 8.70 0.40 30.20 9 16.20 1.20 11.30 14.50 

 

7.1 Definition of used capacity - is a measure of usage and throughput at sports halls 
and estimates how well used/how full facilities are. The facilities planning model is 
designed to include a ‘comfort factor’, beyond which, the venues are too full.  For 
sports halls, Sport England sets the comfort level at 80% of capacity used at peak 
times (weekday evenings and weekend days).  Above this level the time taken to 
change the sports hall for different activities starts to impinge on the activity time itself.  
Also, the changing and circulation areas become overcrowded and can discourage 
participation.  

7.2 The facilities planning model finding is the County Durham sports halls are estimated 
to be operating at 54% of used capacity in the weekly peak period week day evenings 
(up to 5 hours per day) and weekend days (up to 7 hours per weekend day). 

7.3 The used capacity findings are consistent and reflect the earlier findings: namely that 
(1) the County Durham supply of sports halls is greater than the County total demand; 
(2) that the level of total demand that can be met/satisfied is high; (3) the level of 
unmet demand for sports hall is low.  

7.4 Overall, the level of the sports hall capacity used is also quite low and there is 
considerable headroom before the sport England benchmark of 80% of sports hall 
capacity in the weekly peak period is reached. 

7.5 There however are the County wide average findings for used capacity and the 
findings for each individual sports hall site do vary. These findings are set out in Table 
7.1 and the final two columns show, the percentage of sports hall capacity used at 
peak times and the percentage not used.  

 

 

 

Page 290



 

 

17 

Table 7.1: Used Capacity of the County Durham Sports Halls 2018  

Name of Site Type Dimensions Area 
No of  
Courts 

Site 
Year 
Built 

Site 
Year 

Refurb 

% of 
Capacity 

Used 

% of 
Capacity 
Not Used 

 COUNTY DURHAM AVERAGE            54% 46% 

CHESTER-LE-STREET          1983   55% 45% 

FYNDOUNE COMMUNITY COLLEGE Main 34 x 20 690 4 1982 2010 67% 33% 

FYNDOUNE COMMUNITY COLLEGE 
Activity 
Hall 18 x 11 204           

HERMITAGE ACADEMY Main 33 x 18 594 4 2003   59% 41% 

PARK VIEW SCHOOL (CHURCH CHARE) Main 34 x 27 932 6 1965 2002 44% 56% 

PARK VIEW SCHOOL (CHURCH CHARE) 
Activity 
Hall 18 x 10 180           

 DERWENTSIDE            57% 43% 

CONSETT ACADEMY AND LEISURE CENTRE Main 40 x 34 1380 8 1991   49% 51% 

CONSETT ACADEMY AND LEISURE CENTRE Main 34 x 20 690           

CONSETT ACADEMY AND LEISURE CENTRE 
Activity 
Hall 18 x 10 180           

CONSETT LEISURE CENTRE Main 40 x 34 1380 8 2015   65% 35% 

NORTH DURHAM ACADEMY Main 34 x 20 690 4 2013   43% 57% 

TANFIELD COMPREHENSIVE SCHOOL SPECIALIST COLLEGE 
OF SCIENCE & ENGINEERING Main 33 x 18 594 4 1954 2008 29% 71% 

THE LOUISA CENTRE Main 51 x 30 1530 10 1980 2008 70% 30% 

 DURHAM CITY            59% 41% 

ABBEY LEISURE CENTRE (DURHAM) Main 34 x 20 690 4 1991 2008 87% 13% 

ACTIVE LIFE AT COXHOE Main 33 x 18 594 4 1986   58% 42% 

ACTIVE LIFE AT COXHOE 
Activity 
Hall 17 x 9 153           

BELMONT SCHOOL COMMUNITY ARTS COLLEGE Main 33 x 18 594 4 1979 2015 82% 18% 

DURHAM SCHOOL Main 34 x 20 690 4 1923 2008 57% 43% 

DURHAM UNIVERSITY (GRAHAM SPORTS CENTRE AT 
MAIDEN CASTLE) Main 33 x 18 594 4 1982 2009 45% 55% 

DURHAM UNIVERSITY (GRAHAM SPORTS CENTRE AT 
MAIDEN CASTLE) 

Activity 
Hall 17 x 9 153           

FRAMWELLGATE SCHOOL DURHAM Main 33 x 18 594 4 2017   43% 57% 

FREEMANS QUAY LEISURE CENTRE Main 33 x 18 594 4 2008   100% 0% 

MEADOWFIELD LEISURE CENTRE Main 33 x 18 594 4 1985   54% 46% 

MEADOWFIELD LEISURE CENTRE 
Activity 
Hall 18 x 10 180           

ST LEONARD'S CATHOLIC SCHOOL Main 34 x 20 690 4 1960   27% 73% 

ST LEONARD'S CATHOLIC SCHOOL 
Activity 
Hall 17 x 9 153           

STEPS2FITNESS Main 34 x 20 690 4 2005 2009 45% 55% 

THE SIR BOBBY ROBSON CENTRE Main 34 x 20 690 4 2006   55% 45% 

 EASINGTON            65% 35% 

DENE COMMUNITY SCHOOL OF TECHNOLOGY Main 34 x 20 690 4 2005   51% 49% 

DENE COMMUNITY SCHOOL OF TECHNOLOGY 
Activity 
Hall 18 x 10 180           

EASINGTON ACADEMY Main 31 x 18 569 4 1990   57% 43% 

Page 291



 

 

18 

IMPACT HEALTH & FITNESS Main 51 x 18 918 6 2009   77% 23% 

PETERLEE LEISURE CENTRE Main 40 x 34 1380 8 1978 2011 100% 0% 

SEAHAM LEISURE CENTRE Main 33 x 18 594 4 1980 2009 100% 0% 

SEAHAM YOUTH CENTRE Main 27 x 18 486 3     63% 37% 

WELLFIELD SCHOOL Main 33 x 18 594 4 1997   48% 52% 

WELLFIELD SCHOOL 
Activity 
Hall 18 x 10 180           

SEDGEFIELD             47% 53% 

FERRYHILL COMMUNITY HUB Main 32 x 18 574 4 1982 2007 62% 38% 

GREENFIELD COMMUNITY COLLEGE Main 33 x 18 594 4 2006 2010 46% 54% 

GREENFIELD COMMUNITY COLLEGE 
Activity 
Hall 20 x 10 200           

NEWTON AYCLIFFE LEISURE CENTRE Main 40 x 34 1380 8 1974 2007 52% 48% 

OAK LEAF SPORTS COMPLEX Main 42 x 22 924 6 1978 2006 30% 70% 

SEDGEFIELD COMMUNITY SPORTS COLLEGE Main 34 x 27 918 6 2011   57% 43% 

SHILDON SUNNYDALE LEISURE CENTRE Main 41 x 21 867 5 1982 2009 75% 25% 

SPENNYMOOR LEISURE CENTRE Main 37 x 34 1258 8 1986   62% 38% 

WOODHAM ACADEMY Main 34 x 20 690 4 1970   18% 82% 

 TEESDALE            29% 71% 

BARNARD CASTLE SCHOOL (SENIOR SCHOOL) Main 33 x 18 594 4 1975 2007 26% 74% 

TEESDALE LEISURE CENTRE Main 33 x 18 594 4 1990   38% 62% 

TEESDALE LEISURE CENTRE 
Activity 
Hall 18 x 10 180           

TEESDALE SCHOOL Main 27 x 18 486 3 1955   15% 85% 

TEESDALE SCHOOL 
Activity 
Hall 18 x 10 180           

 WEAR VALLEY            55% 45% 

BISHOP AUCKLAND COLLEGE Main 34 x 20 690 4 2007   66% 34% 

BISHOP BARRINGTON SPORTS CENTRE Main 33 x 18 594 4 2006   73% 27% 

KING JAMES I ACADEMY Main 34 x 20 690 4 2015   62% 38% 

PARKSIDE ACADEMY Main 34 x 20 690 4 1985   47% 53% 

PARKSIDE ACADEMY 
Activity 
Hall 18 x 10 180           

SPECTRUM LEISURE COMPLEX Main 34 x 20 690 4 1984 2008 81% 19% 

SPECTRUM LEISURE COMPLEX 
Activity 
Hall 17 x 9 153           

ST JOHNS RC SCHOOL Main 34 x 20 690 4 1964 1985 42% 58% 

WOLSINGHAM SCHOOL Main 33 x 18 594 4 2005   41% 59% 

 

7.6 As table 7.1 shows most of the public leisure centre sports halls have a much higher 
level of used capacity than the County wide average (entries in blue typeface). 

7.7 These centres will provide for the full range of indoor hall sports. They will be 
accessible for pay and play recreational use as well as for club use. They will have (1)  
longer opening hours (2) be open for day time use, which education sports halls during 
term time are not (3) will be proactively managed to develop and increase participation 
in indoor sports and exercise activities. So the public leisure centres have a draw 
effect and hence the higher levels of estimated used capacity. 

Page 292



 

 

19 

7.8 There are other reasons why the used capacity of sports halls will vary and these are 
set out in full in the summary report of key findings.  

7.9 An overall finding is that a lot of the demand is shared between lots of education 
venues, resulting in quite different levels of used capacity at each individual venue. 
Plus the use is most likely by sports clubs and community groups. It is only the public 
venues, which are available for pay and play recreational use as well as club use and   
provide the fullest availability. The findings on the estimated used capacity at these 
public venues, are in most cases much higher than the County wide average.  

.Imported demand  

7.10 Imported demand is reported under used capacity because if a resident in a 
neighbouring authority uses the nearest sports hall to where they live and this is a 
sports hall in County Durham, then it becomes part of the used capacity of the County 
Durham sports halls.  The finding is that 5.9% of the used capacity of sports halls in 
the weakly peak period is imported and this represents 1,665 visits.  As with the 
exported demand data, the total figure is reported, not how much demand is imported 
from each authority or gores to which centre. 

Export/Import Balance 

7.11 County Durham exports 2,526 visits of the County’s demand and which is met at 
sports halls in the neighbouring authorities. County Durham imports 1,665 visits in the 
weekly peak period from residents of neighbouring authorities and which is met at the 
County’s sports halls. So County Durham is a net exporter of 861 visits in the weekly 
peak period.  

7.12 The capacity of one badminton court in the weekly peak period is 202 visits. Both the 
export and import findings are based on residents travelling to and using the nearest 
sports hall to where they live.          

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 293



 

 

20 

8. Local Share - equity share of facilities 

Local Share 
County 

Durham 

UA 

Darlington 

UA 
Eden Gateshead 

Hartlepool 

UA 
Northumberland 

South East 
Richmondshire 

Stockton-

on-Tees 

UA 
Sunderland 

Local Share: <1 capacity 

less than demand, 1> 

capacity greater than 

demand 

1 1 1.50 0.80 1.30 1.10 0.70 0.90 0.80 

 

8.1 Local share has quite a complicated definition - it helps to show which areas have 
a better or worse share of facility provision. It takes into account the size and 
availability of facilities as well as travel modes. Local share is useful at looking at 
‘equity’ of provision. 

8.2 Local Share is the available capacity that can be reached in an area divided by the 
demand for that capacity in the area. A value of 1 means that the level of supply just 
matches demand, while a value of less than 1 indicates a shortage of supply and a 
value greater than 1 indicates a surplus.  

8.3 County Durham has a county wide average local share of 1 in 2018 and so demand is 
equal to supply - in terms of local share of access to sports halls. This is also the case 
for local share in Darlington, whilst supply exceeds demand with a value above 1 in 
three of the neighbouring local authorities. Demand is greater than supply in three 
local authorities and is lowest in Richmondshire with a value of 0.7.   

8.4 Within County Durham local share does vary from the County wide average, the 
distribution is set out in Map 8.1 for the County and Map 8.2, which shows the findings 
for the eastern side of the County. 

8.5 Local share is also colour coded in one kilometre grid squares and in the areas shaded 
yellow, the values are 1 – 0.80, and the beige squares have a value of 0.80 – 0.60. 
Local share is above 1 with supply greater than demand in the green squares, this is 
the area around Durham City, south of Durham City and around Chester-Le-Street. 
The values in these areas are between 1- 1.20, so residents in these areas have a 
greater share of sports halls than the County wide average.    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 294



 

 

21 

Map 8.1: Local Share of Sports Halls County Durham 2018 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 295



 

 

22 

Map 8.2: Local Share of Sports Halls County Durham Eastern Side 2018 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 296



 

 

23 

9. Summary Report   

Report Context   

9.1 This report provides a hard evidence base for sports hall provision across County 
Durham in 2018.The report applies the findings from the Sport England 2018 National 
Run facilities planning model data for County Durham and the neighbouring local 
authorities.  

9.2 The purpose of this report is to provide an assessment of the supply, demand and 
access to sports halls. The report will be used by Durham County Council in the 
strategic planning for the future provision of sports halls across the County and inform 
the County Council’s Leisure Transformation Project 

 Key Findings from the National Run report  

Sports Hall Supply 

9.3 There are 59 individual sports halls located on 44 sites across County Durham in 
2018. The total supply of sports halls in badminton courts, is 249 courts, of which 188 
are available in the weekly peak period for community use (known as the effective 
supply).  

9.4 The reason for the difference between the total supply and the effective supply, is 
because of the variable hours of access for community use at the sports halls located 
on education sites. The difference of 61 badminton courts represents just under 25% 
of the total supply of badminton courts across County Durham. 

9.5 The average age for the sports hall sites, excluding Durham School, which opened in 
1923 is 30 years. The findings for each of the areas of the County are:  

• Chester-Le-Street average age 35 years 

• Derwentside average age 27 years 

• Durham City average age 25 years 

• Easington average age 26 years 

• Sedgefield average age 33 years 

• Teesdale average age 44 years 

• Wear Valley  average age 26 years 

9.6 Of the 28 sports hall sites, which opened before 2000, some 15 sites have been 
modernised, so there is a reasonably good track record of modernisation. 
Modernisation is defined as one or more of, the sports hall floor upgraded to a sprung 
timber floor, the lighting system upgraded or the changing accommodation 
modernised.    

9.7 A key finding is that 24 of the total 44 sports hall sites are owned and operated by 
educational institutions (schools/colleges/higher education). The education sports halls 
will have variable hours of access for community use, outside of education use. Some 
schools, colleges or higher education proactively manage the venues for wider 

Page 297



 

 

24 

community use and which is predominantly for sports club and community groups use. 
Other schools and colleges let their sports halls on a responsive basis, on a term, or, 
even shorter irregular lettings and again to sports clubs or community groups. The 
County Council confirmed that Seaham High School also provides for community use 
of its sports hall and this is not included in the Sport England data. The impact of 
including this site has, however, been considered within the overall assessment.     

9.8 These quantitative findings illustrate the impact any changes/reductions in the policy 
and access to the education sports hall sites for community use. . It will most likely 
transfer more demand, most likely club use, to the public leisure centres.  

9.9 The scale of the sports hall offer is excellent, with 31 of the total 59 individual sports 
halls being 4 badminton court size. This size of sports hall can accommodate all of the 
indoor hall sports at the community level of participation.  

9.10 There are then a further 6 sports halls which are 6 badminton court size, 5 venues 
which have a double sports hall of 8 badminton courts and the largest sports hall is the 
10 badminton court size sports hall, located at The Louisa Centre.  So there are 12 
more sports hall venues which can accommodate multi sports use at the same time. 
Plus the 8 and 10 court venues are of a scale to accommodate events with a centre 
show court.   

9.11 Including County Durham and all the neighbouring local authorities, there are a total of 
189 individual sports halls on 142 sports hall sites - it is an extensive supply of sports 
halls.  

Measure of Provision  

9.12 Based on a measure of number of badminton courts available for community use per 
10,000 population, County Durham has 4.7 badminton courts. The County Durham 
provision is ranked seventh out of the nine authorities in the study area. The highest 
supply is in Eden District with 7.1 badminton courts per 10,000 population and the 
lowest is in Richmondshire at 3.6 badminton courts per 10,000 population.  

9.13 The North East Region average is 5.1 badminton courts per 10,000 population and for 
England wide it is 4.2 courts per 10,000 population in 2018.  

9.14 So, the provision of sports hall space across County Durham is below that of most of 
the neighbouring authorities and North East Region but above the England wide 
average.  

9.15 As with swimming pools, these quantitative findings are set out simply because some 
local authorities like to know how their provision compares with that of its neighbours.  
The assessment of the implications of the findings for County Durham will be made 
based on the findings from all seven headings in the sports halls data, not just supply.    

Supply and Demand Balance 

9.16 Supply and demand balance compares the total demand for sports halls in County 
Durham with the total supply of sports halls in County Durham.  

9.17 In short, supply and demand balance is NOT based on where the venues are located 
and their catchment area extending into other authorities. Nor, the catchment areas of 
sports halls in neighbouring authorities extending into County Durham. The more 

Page 298



 

 

25 

detailed modelling based on the CATCHMENT AREAS of sports halls with supply and 
demand across boundaries, is set out under Satisfied Demand, Unmet Demand and 
Used Capacity.  

9.18 The reason for presenting the supply and demand balance, is because some local 
authorities like to see how THEIR total supply of sports halls compares with THEIR 
total demand for sports halls. . 

9.19 When looking at this closed assessment, the resident population of County Durham in 
2018 generates a demand for 147 badminton courts in the weekly peak period. This 
compares to a supply of 188 badminton courts which are available for community use 
in the weekly peak period in 2018. So, the County Durham supply exceeds the County 
Durham demand by 41 badminton courts.  

9.20 Across the study area, the supply of sports halls in badminton courts exceeds demand 
in eight of the nine local authorities. It is only in Richmondshire where demand 
exceeds supply but this is by just fewer than 2 badminton courts. The overall supply 
and demand balance is that supply exceeds demand by 136 badminton courts across 
the nine local authorities.  

9.21 This is likely to mean that when supply and demand are assessed, based on the 
catchment area of sports halls, there will be a high level of demand that can be met, 
and the level of unmet demand will be quite  low.     

Satisfied Demand or Met Demand for Sports Halls 

9.22 Satisfied demand represents the proportion of total demand that is met by the capacity 
at the sports halls from residents who live within the driving, walking or public transport 
catchment area of a sports hall. In 2018, some 89% of the total demand for sports 
halls from County Durham residents is being satisfied/met.  

 Retained demand    

9.23 A sub set of satisfied demand is retained demand, which measures how much of the 
County Durham demand is met at sports halls in the County. This is based on the 
catchment area of County Durham sports halls inside the County and residents using 
the nearest sports hall to where they live. 

9.24 The finding is that retained demand is a high 91% of the total 89% of the County 
Durham satisfied demand for sports halls. In short, the sites and catchment area of the 
sports hall sites in the County are very well located, in relation to the location of the 
County Durham demand for sports halls. So much so, that the nearest sports hall for 
nine out of ten visits to a sports hall by a County Durham resident is a venue in the 
County.   

 Exported demand 

9.25 The residual of satisfied demand, after retained demand, is export of the County 
Durham demand. Again, based on County Durham residents using the nearest venue 
to where they live, and which happens to be a sports hall in a neighbouring authority. 
The finding for 2018 is that County Durham is exporting just under 9% of its satisfied 
demand and which is met in neighbouring authorities. The data does not identify how 
much demand is exported to which authority, it only provides the total exported 
demand.  

Page 299



 

 

26 

9.26 For context, the County Durham exported demand equates to 2,526 visits in the 
weekly peak period. The County Durham retained demand is 26,319 visits in the 
weekly peak period.  

 Unmet Demand  

9.27 The unmet demand definition has two parts to it - demand for sports halls which 
cannot be met because (1) there is too much demand for any particular sports hall 
within its catchment area; or (2) the demand is located outside the catchment area of a 
sports hall and is then classified as unmet demand. The finding for County Durham is 
that total unmet demand is 10.7% of total demand for sports halls, this equates to just 
fewer than 16 badminton courts.  

9.28 Of the total unmet demand, all but 0.6% is from definition two - unmet demand located 
outside the catchment area of a sports hall. Across most studies there is a finding that 
there is unmet demand located outside catchment. This is because, it is not possible to 
get complete spatial coverage, whereby all areas of an authority are inside the 
catchment area of a sports hall. The finding is that 91% of the total 99% of unmet 
demand located outside catchment, is by residents who do not have access to a car.   

9.29 The significant finding is not that unmet demand outside catchment exists, but the 
SCALE and in County Durham it equates to fewer than 16 badminton courts. The 
available supply of sports halls in badminton courts is 188 courts in the weekly peak 
period.  

9.30 There is no location/cluster of unmet demand, of a sufficient scale, to consider further 
provision of sports halls, to increase accessibility for residents. Unmet demand is 
distributed quite evenly across the eastern side of the County in very low values, of 
between 0 – 0.2 of one badminton court (Map 6.1 and Map 6.2).  

Used Capacity (how full are the sports halls?)  

9.31 Used capacity - is an estimated measure of usage at sports halls and how well 
used/how full facilities are. The facilities planning model is designed to include a 
‘comfort factor’, beyond which, the venues are too full. The Sport England benchmark 
for the comfort level is 80% of capacity used at peak times (weekday evenings and 
weekend days). 

9.32 The facilities planning model finding is the County Durham sports halls are estimated 
to be operating at 54% of used capacity in the weekly peak period week day evenings 
(up to 5 hours per day) and weekend days (up to 7 hours per weekend day). 

9.33 The used capacity findings are consistent with and reflect the earlier findings: namely 
(1) the County Durham supply of sports halls is greater than the County total 
demand;(2) the level of total demand that can be met/satisfied is high; and (3) the level 
of unmet demand for sports hall is low.  

9.34 These are the County wide average findings for used capacity and the findings for 
each individual sports hall site do vary from the County wide average. Most of the 
public leisure centre sports halls have a much higher level of used capacity than the 
County wide average (Table 7.1 and the centres in blue typeface). 

9.35 The public leisure centre sports halls will provide for the full range of indoor hall sports. 
They will be accessible for pay and play recreational use as well as for club use. They 

Page 300



 

 

27 

will have (1)  longer opening hours (2) be open for day time use, which education 
sports halls during term time are not (3) be proactively managed to develop and 
increase participation in indoor hall sports and exercise activities. So the public leisure 
centres have a “draw effect” and hence the higher levels of estimated used capacity.  

9.36 There are other reasons why the used capacity of sports halls will vary, these being:  

• The amount of demand in the catchment area of sports halls. If there are several 
sports halls with overlapping catchments, then the demand is shared between 
venues and this contributes to lower used capacity at each venue. As Map 2.1 
illustrates, nearly all of the sports hall sites are located in the south east and 
north east of the County and with overlapping catchment areas, especially the 20 
minutes’ drive time catchment area. So the total demand in these areas is 
shared between several venues.  

• Increasingly the quality of the sports in terms of its age are of more importance to 
customers. This means, a modern sports hall with a sprung timber floor, good 
quality lighting and a modern changing rooms, plus other facilities on site such 
as a studio. Increasingly participants are exercising more choice about venues to 
use, based on the quality of the venue and the offer, not just using the nearest 
venue to where they live. Of note, is that the older public leisure centres do have 
a lower estimated used capacity: Newton Aycliffe Leisure Centre (opened in 
1974) and 52% of sports hall capacity used at peak times; and Meadowfield 
Leisure Centre (opened in 1985 and according to the data has not had a major 
modernisation) 54% of sports hall capacity used in the weekly peak  

• The estimated used capacity of a sports hall does depend on the hours available 
for community use. Self-evidently a sports hall on an education site which is only 
available for a few hours a week on an irregular pattern of club use, is very 
different from the programing and availability of a public leisure centre sports 
hall. Also the policy and pricing of the school/college to provide community use 
will influence the level of usage.  

As with public leisure centres, a school/college which is proactive and promotes 
the school for community use can have a draw effect, especially for sports clubs. 
The older education venues and which most likely have a solid floor surface and 
may not have up to date changing accommodation are less attractive to sports 
clubs. Of note is that some of the older schools have the lower levels of sports 
hall capacity used (it may also be because of the hours for access and take up of 
bookings): St Leonards Catholic School (1960 and according to the data the 
sports hall has not been modernised) 27% of sports hall capacity used; Tanfield 
Comprehensive School and Specialist College of Science and Engineering (1954 
and modernised in 2008) 29%; and Woodham Academy (1970 and according to 
the data not modernised) 18% of sports hall capacity used in the weekly peak 
period. 

• It is important to consider the size of a venue as well as the percentage figure. 
For example, the Louisa Centre has an estimated used capacity of 70% but it 
has a 10 badminton court size sports hall. This means it can accommodate much 
more actual usage than, for example, the 82% of used capacity at peak times at 
the 4 badminton court size sports hall at Belmont School Community Arts 
College. To repeat, it is important to consider the size of a venue as well as the 
percentage figure when looking at used capacity.  

Page 301



 

 

28 

9.37 For the reasons set out, the estimated used capacity is based on a number of different 
factors and which are usually inter related. The estimated used capacity should be 
taken as a guide to usage levels and requires more detailed examination, especially at 
the education sites. 

9.38 In particular, to understand the policy towards community use, the management 
approach, pricing and lettings arrangements, and if the school/college is proactive with 
promotion of the sports hall and actively seeking bookings. Or, is the approach 
reactive to sports clubs and community groups, who request the occasional let or block 
booking for a few hours a week. 

9.39 The overall finding is that a lot of the demand is shared between lots of education 
venues, resulting in quite different levels of used capacity at each individual venue.  

9.40 It is only the public leisure centre venues, which are available for pay and play 
recreational use as well as for club use, which are providing the fullest availability. The 
findings on the estimated used capacity at these public leisure centre venues are, in 
most cases, much higher than the County wide average.   

Key Topics 

9.41 The 2018 National Run assessment for sports halls in County Durham identifies that 
the supply of sports halls is sufficient to meet the County Durham demand for sports 
halls. However, the draw effect of the public leisure centres means that most of the 
public leisure centres sports halls have an estimated used capacity, which is above the 
County wide average and they are busy centres.  

9.42 In looking to the future assessment of need for sports halls, key topics appear to be 
first the potential changes in access to community use at the education sports hall 
sites. Some 24 total 44 sports hall sites are owned and operated by educational 
institutions, schools/colleges/higher education (54% of the total supply).  

9.43 A reduction in access for community use at several of these venues, will most likely 
divert further sports club use to the already busy public leisure centres. The County 
Council may wish to consider (if it has not already done so), securing community use 
agreements at the education sites of most importance to the County Council. Plus 
focus on the schools/colleges which have a proactive approach to community use. 

9.44 The second topic concerns the future assessment of need for sports halls and the 
impact of the scale and location of the projected population growth and residential 
development across County Durham.  

9.45 The projected increase in total demand and its distribution is likely to have a differential 
impact, and impact most on increased demand at public leisure centre sports halls. 
Understanding the implications of growth, with increased demand for sports halls and 
the capacity of the public leisure centres to accommodate increased demand, is an 
important key topic.  

9.46 Are more venues needed to meet a projected increase in demand and, if so, where are 
the key locations? Or can the existing venues meet the projected increases in demand 
and if so which areas/venues are most likely to experience the highest increases in 
demand and may need to increase their capacity? 

Page 302



 

 

29 

9.47 All these potential changes could be assessed by a Sport England FPM bespoke 
assessment, based on a future year consistent with the County Council planning 
framework and looking at options for change.   

 

Appendix 1: Sports hall included and excluded in the 

assessment 

Sports Hall Facilities Included within the 2018 National Run Analysis  

Name of Facility Type Area 
Site Year 

Built 
Site Year 

Refurbished 

FYNDOUNE COMMUNITY COLLEGE Main 690 1982 2010 

FYNDOUNE COMMUNITY COLLEGE Activity Hall 204   

HERMITAGE ACADEMY Main 594 2003  

PARK VIEW SCHOOL (CHURCH CHARE) Main 932 1965 2002 

PARK VIEW SCHOOL (CHURCH CHARE) Activity Hall 180   

CONSETT ACADEMY AND LEISURE CENTRE Main 1380 1991  

CONSETT ACADEMY AND LEISURE CENTRE Main 690   

CONSETT ACADEMY AND LEISURE CENTRE Activity Hall 180   

CONSETT LEISURE CENTRE Main 1380 2015  

NORTH DURHAM ACADEMY Main 690 2013  

TANFIELD COMPREHENSIVE SCHOOL SPECIALIST 

COLLEGE OF SCIENCE & ENGINEERING 
Main 594 1954 2008 

THE LOUISA CENTRE Main 1530 1980 2008 

ABBEY LEISURE CENTRE (DURHAM) Main 690 1991 2008 

ACTIVE LIFE AT COXHOE Main 594 1986  

ACTIVE LIFE AT COXHOE Activity Hall 153   

BELMONT SCHOOL COMMUNITY ARTS COLLEGE Main 594 1979 2015 

DURHAM SCHOOL Main 690 1923 2008 

DURHAM UNIVERSITY (GRAHAM SPORTS CENTRE AT 

MAIDEN CASTLE) 
Main 594 1982 2009 

DURHAM UNIVERSITY (GRAHAM SPORTS CENTRE AT 

MAIDEN CASTLE) 
Activity Hall 153   

Page 303



 

 

30 

Name of Facility Type Area 
Site Year 

Built 
Site Year 

Refurbished 

FRAMWELLGATE SCHOOL DURHAM Main 594 2017  

FREEMANS QUAY LEISURE CENTRE Main 594 2008  

MEADOWFIELD LEISURE CENTRE Main 594 1985  

MEADOWFIELD LEISURE CENTRE Activity Hall 180   

ST LEONARD'S CATHOLIC SCHOOL Main 690 1960  

ST LEONARD'S CATHOLIC SCHOOL Activity Hall 153   

STEPS2FITNESS Main 690 2005 2009 

THE SIR BOBBY ROBSON CENTRE Main 690 2006  

DENE COMMUNITY SCHOOL OF TECHNOLOGY Main 690 2005  

DENE COMMUNITY SCHOOL OF TECHNOLOGY Activity Hall 180   

EASINGTON ACADEMY Main 569 1990  

IMPACT HEALTH & FITNESS Main 918 2009  

PETERLEE LEISURE CENTRE Main 1380 1978 2011 

SEAHAM LEISURE CENTRE Main 594 1980 2009 

SEAHAM YOUTH CENTRE Main 486   

WELLFIELD SCHOOL Main 594 1997  

WELLFIELD SCHOOL Activity Hall 180   

FERRYHILL COMMUNITY HUB Main 574 1982 2007 

GREENFIELD COMMUNITY COLLEGE Main 594 2006 2010 

GREENFIELD COMMUNITY COLLEGE Activity Hall 200   

NEWTON AYCLIFFE LEISURE CENTRE Main 1380 1974 2007 

OAK LEAF SPORTS COMPLEX Main 924 1978 2006 

SEDGEFIELD COMMUNITY SPORTS COLLEGE Main 918 2011  

SHILDON SUNNYDALE LEISURE CENTRE Main 867 1982 2009 

SPENNYMOOR LEISURE CENTRE Main 1258 1986  

WOODHAM ACADEMY Main 690 1970  

BARNARD CASTLE SCHOOL (SENIOR SCHOOL) Main 594 1975 2007 

Page 304



 

 

31 

Name of Facility Type Area 
Site Year 

Built 
Site Year 

Refurbished 

TEESDALE LEISURE CENTRE Main 594 1990  

TEESDALE LEISURE CENTRE Activity Hall 180   

TEESDALE SCHOOL Main 486 1955  

TEESDALE SCHOOL Activity Hall 180   

BISHOP AUCKLAND COLLEGE Main 690 2007  

BISHOP BARRINGTON SPORTS CENTRE Main 594 2006  

KING JAMES I ACADEMY Main 690 2015  

PARKSIDE ACADEMY Main 690 1985  

PARKSIDE ACADEMY Activity Hall 180   

SPECTRUM LEISURE COMPLEX Main 690 1984 2008 

SPECTRUM LEISURE COMPLEX Activity Hall 153   

ST JOHNS RC SCHOOL Main 690 1964 1985 

WOLSINGHAM SCHOOL Main 594 2005  

 

Sports Halls Excluded 

The audit excludes facilities that are deemed to be either for private use, too small or closed. The 

following facilities were deemed to fall under one or more of these categories and therefore 

excluded from the modelling: 

Site Name 
Facility Sub 

Type 
Reason for 

Exclusion 

OUSTON COMMUNITY CENTRE Activity Hall Too Small 

PARK VIEW SCHOOL (NORTH LODGE) Activity Hall Too Small 

PARK VIEW SCHOOL (NORTH LODGE) Activity Hall Too Small 

PELTON COMMUNITY PRIMARY SCHOOL Activity Hall Private Use 

ROSEBERRY PRIMARY SCHOOL Activity Hall Private Use 

ROSEBERRY SPORTS AND COMMUNITY COLLEGE  Main Closed 

ST BEDES ROMAN CATHOLIC PRIMARY SCHOOL Activity Hall Private Use 

Page 305



 

 

32 

Site Name 
Facility Sub 

Type 
Reason for 

Exclusion 

WOODLEA PRIMARY SCHOOL Activity Hall Private Use 

BELLE VUE LEISURE CENTRE (CONSETT) Main Closed 

DERWENTSIDE COLLEGE  Activity Hall Closed 

NORTH DURHAM ACADEMY (WEST CAMPUS)  Main Closed 

ST BEDE'S ROMAN CATHOLIC COMPREHENSIVE SCHOOL AND SIXTH FORM 

COLLEGE 
Activity Hall Private Use 

ST BEDE'S ROMAN CATHOLIC COMPREHENSIVE SCHOOL AND SIXTH FORM 

COLLEGE 
Activity Hall Private Use 

ST MICHAELS RC PRIMARY SCHOOL (ESH) Activity Hall Too Small 

STANLEY COMMUNITY FOOTBALL CENTRE Activity Hall Closed 

YMCA (CONSETT AND DISTRICT) Activity Hall Too Small 

COLLEGE OF ST HILD AND ST BEDE Activity Hall Too Small 

DEERNESS GYMNASTICS ACADEMY Activity Hall Too Small 

DURHAM GILESGATE SPORTS COLLEGE (SIXTH FORM CENTRE) Activity Hall Closed 

DURHAM HIGH SCHOOL FOR GIRLS Main Private Use 

DURHAM JOHNSTON COMPREHENSIVE SCHOOL Main Private Use 

DURHAM JOHNSTON COMPREHENSIVE SCHOOL (LOWER SCHOOL) Activity Hall Closed 

DURHAM JOHNSTON COMPREHENSIVE SCHOOL (UPPER SCHOOL) Activity Hall Closed 

DURHAM SIXTH FORM CENTRE Barns Closed 

DURHAM TRINITY SCHOOL Activity Hall Private Use 

DURHAM UNIVERSITY (TREVELYAN COLLEGE) Activity Hall Private Use 

SECONDS OUT ASET  Main Closed 

SECONDS OUT ASET  Activity Hall Closed 

ST JOSEPHS ROMAN CATHOLIC VOLUNTARY AIDED PRIMARY SCHOOL Activity Hall Private Use 

THE CHORISTER SCHOOL Main Private Use 

EAST DURHAM AND HOUGHALL COMMUNITY COLLEGE (HOWLETCH 

CENTRE)(CLOSED) 
Main Closed 

MURTON GLEBE CENTRE Activity Hall Too Small 

Page 306



 

 

33 

Site Name 
Facility Sub 

Type 
Reason for 

Exclusion 

ROPERY WALK PRIMARY SCHOOL Main Private Use 

SEAHAM SCHOOL OF TECHNOLOGY  Main Closed 

SEAVIEW PRIMARY SCHOOL Activity Hall Private Use 

SHOTTON HALL SCHOOL  Main Closed 

ST BEDES RC COMPREHENSIVE SCHOOL Main Private Use 

THE ACADEMY OF SHOTTON HALL Main Private Use 

AYCLIFFE VILLAGE HALL Activity Hall Too Small 

CHILTON PRIMARY SCHOOL Activity Hall Too Small 

FERRYHILL BUSINESS ENTERPRISE COLLEGE Activity Hall Private Use 

NEWTON AYCLIFFE YOUTH & COMMUNITY CENTRE Activity Hall Too Small 

SEDGEFIELD COMMUNITY SPORTS COLLEGE Main Closed 

SEDGEFIELD COMMUNITY SPORTS COLLEGE  Activity Hall Closed 

SEDGEFIELD HALL Activity Hall Too Small 

SEDGEFIELD METHODIST CHURCH Activity Hall Too Small 

THE MEADOWS SCHOOL Activity Hall Private Use 

TRIMDON COMMUNITY COLLEGE Activity Hall Too Small 

WEST CORNFORTH COMMUNITY CENTRE Activity Hall Too Small 

WHITWORTH PARK SCHOOL AND SIXTH FORM CENTRE - LOWER SCHOOL  Main Closed 

WHITWORTH PARK SCHOOL AND SIXTH FORM COLLEGE  Activity Hall Closed 

WINDLESTONE SCHO Activity Hall Private Use 

BOWES AND GILMONBY PARISH HALL Activity Hall Too Small 

BUTTERKNOWLE VILLAGE HALL Activity Hall Too Small 

COPLEY VILLAGE HALL Activity Hall Too Small 

COTHERSTONE VILLAGE HALL Activity Hall Too Small 

DEERBOLT PRISON Main Private Use 

GAINFORD VILLAGE HALL Activity Hall Too Small 

GLAXO SMITHKLINE SPORTS AND SOCIAL CLUB Activity Hall Too Small 

Page 307



 

 

34 

Site Name 
Facility Sub 

Type 
Reason for 

Exclusion 

MICKLETON VILLAGE HALL Activity Hall Too Small 

MIDDLETON IN TEESDALE VILLAGE HALL Activity Hall Too Small 

ROMALDKIRK VILLAGE HALL Activity Hall Too Small 

STAINDROP ACADEMY Activity Hall Too Small 

WITHAM HALL Activity Hall Closed 

BISHOP AUCKLAND COLLEGE Activity Hall Closed 

OAKLEY CROSS PRIMARY SCHOOL Activity Hall Private Use 

 

Appendix 2 – Model description, Inclusion Criteria and Model 

Parameters 

Included within this appendix are the following: 

• Model description 

• Facility Inclusion Criteria 

• Model Parameters 

Model Description 

1. Background 

1.1 The Facilities Planning Model (FPM) is a computer-based supply/demand model, 
which has been developed by Edinburgh University in conjunction with sportscotland 
and Sport England since the 1980s.  

1.2 The model is a tool to help to assess the strategic provision of community sports 
facilities in an area. It is currently applicable for use in assessing the provision of 
sports halls, swimming pools, indoor bowls centres and artificial grass pitches. 

2. Use of FPM 

2.1 Sport England uses the FPM as one of its principal tools in helping to assess the 
strategic need for certain community sports facilities. The FPM has been developed as 
a means of: 

• assessing requirements for different types of community sports facilities on a 
local, regional or national scale; 

• helping local authorities to determine an adequate level of sports facility 
provision to meet their local needs; 

Page 308



 

 

35 

• helping to identify strategic gaps in the provision of sports facilities; and 

• comparing alternative options for planned provision, taking account of changes in 
demand and supply. This includes testing the impact of opening, relocating and 
closing facilities, and the likely impact of population changes on the needs for 
sports facilities. 

2.2 Its current use is limited to those sports facility types for which Sport England holds 
substantial demand data, i.e. swimming pools, sports halls, indoor bowls and artificial 
grass pitches. 

2.3 The FPM has been used in the assessment of Lottery funding bids for community 
facilities, and as a principal planning tool to assist local authorities in planning for the 
provision of community sports facilities. For example, the FPM was used to help 
assess the impact of a 50m swimming pool development in the London Borough of 
Hillingdon. The Council invested £22 million in the sports and leisure complex around 
this pool and received funding of £2,025,000 from the London Development Agency 
and £1,500,000 from Sport England1. 

3. How the model works 

3.1 In its simplest form, the model seeks to assess whether the capacity of existing 
facilities for a particular sport is capable of meeting local demand for that sport, taking 
into account how far people are prepared to travel to such a facility. 

3.2 In order to do this, the model compares the number of facilities (supply) within an area, 
against the demand for that facility (demand) that the local population will produce, 
similar to other social gravity models.    

3.3 To do this, the FPM works by converting both demand (in terms of people), and supply 
(facilities), into a single comparable unit. This unit is ‘visits per week in the peak period’ 
(VPWPP).  Once converted, demand and supply can be compared. 

3.4 The FPM uses a set of parameters to define how facilities are used and by whom. 
These parameters are primarily derived from a combination of data including actual 
user surveys from a range of sites across the country in areas of good supply, together 
with participation survey data. These surveys provide core information on the profile of 
users, such as, the age and gender of users, how often they visit, the distance 
travelled, duration of stay, and on the facilities themselves, such as, programming, 
peak times of use, and capacity of facilities.   

3.5 This survey information is combined with other sources of data to provide a set of 
model parameters for each facility type. The original core user data for halls and pools 
comes from the National Halls and Pools survey undertaken in 1996. This data formed 
the basis for the National Benchmarking Service (NBS). For AGPs, the core data used 
comes from the user survey of AGPs carried out in 2005/6 jointly with Sportscotland.  

3.6 User survey data from the NBS and other appropriate sources are used to update the 
models parameters on a regular basis.  The parameters are set out at the end of the 
document, and the range of the main source data used by the model includes: 

                                                           
1 Award made in 2007/08 year. 

Page 309



 

 

36 

• National Halls & Pools survey data –Sport England 

• Benchmarking Service User Survey data –Sport England 

• UK 2000 Time Use Survey – ONS 

• General Household Survey – ONS 

• Scottish Omnibus Surveys – Sport Scotland 

• Active People Survey - Sport England 

• STP User Survey - Sport England & Sportscotland 

• Football participation -  The FA 

• Young People & Sport in England – Sport England 

• Hockey Fixture data -  Fixtures Live  

• Taking Part Survey - DCMS 

4. Calculating Demand 

4.1 This is calculated by applying the user information from the parameters, as referred to 
above, to the population2. This produces the number of visits for that facility that will be 
demanded by the population.  

4.2 Depending on the age and gender make-up of the population, this will affect the 
number of visits an area will generate. In order to reflect the different population make-
up of the country, the FPM calculates demand based on the smallest census 
groupings.  These are Output Areas (OA)3.  

4.3 The use of OAs in the calculation of demand ensures that the FPM is able to reflect 
and portray differences in demand in areas at the most sensitive level based on 
available census information.  Each OA used is given a demand value in VPWPP by 
the FPM. 

5. Calculating Supply Capacity 

5.1 A facility’s capacity varies depending on its size (i.e. size of pool, hall, pitch number), 
and how many hours the facility is available for use by the community.   

5.2 The FPM calculates a facility’s capacity by applying each of the capacity factors taken 
from the model parameters, such as the assumptions made as to how many ‘visits’ 
can be accommodated by the particular facility at any one time. Each facility is then 
given a capacity figure in VPWPP. (See parameters in Section C). 

5.3 Based on travel time information4 taken from the user survey, the FPM then calculates 
how much demand would be met by the particular facility having regard to its capacity 
and how much demand is within the facility’s catchment.  The FPM includes an 
important feature of spatial interaction.  This feature takes account of the location and 

                                                           
2 For example, it is estimated that 7.72% of 16-24 year old males will demand to use an AGP, 1.67 times a week. This 
calculation is done separately for the 12 age/gender groupings.  
3 Census Output Areas (OA) are the smallest grouping of census population data, and provides the population information on 
which the FPM’s demand parameters are applied. A demand figure can then be calculated for each OA based on the 
population profile. There are over 171,300 OAs in England.  An OA has a target value of 125 households per OA.  

     
4 To reflect the fact that as distance to a facility increases, fewer visits are made, the FPM uses a travel time distance decay 
curve, where the majority of users travel up to 20 minutes.  The FPM also takes account of the road network when calculating 
travel times.  Car ownership levels, taken from Census data, are also taken into account when calculating how people will travel 
to facilities.   

Page 310



 

 

37 

capacity of all the facilities, having regard to their location and the size of demand and 
assesses whether the facilities are in the right place to meet the demand. 

5.4 It is important to note that the FPM does not simply add up the total demand within an 
area, and compare that to the total supply within the same area. This approach would 
not take account of the spatial aspect of supply against demand in a particular area.  
For example, if an area had a total demand for 5 facilities, and there were currently 6 
facilities within the area, it would be too simplistic to conclude that there was an 
oversupply of 1 facility, as this approach would not take account of whether the 5 
facilities are in the correct location for local people to use them within that area. It 
might be that all the facilities were in one part of the borough, leaving other areas 
under provided.  An assessment of this kind would not reflect the true picture of 
provision.  The FPM is able to assess supply and demand within an area based on the 
needs of the population within that area. 

5.5 In making calculations as to supply and demand, visits made to sports facilities are not 
artificially restricted or calculated by reference to administrative boundaries, such as 
local authority areas.  Users are generally expected to use their closest facility.  The 
FPM reflects this through analysing the location of demand against the location of 
facilities, allowing for cross boundary movement of visits.  For example, if a facility is 
on the boundary of a local authority, users will generally be expected to come from the 
population living close to the facility, but who may be in an adjoining authority. 

6. Facility Attractiveness – for halls and pools only 

6.1 Not all facilities are the same and users will find certain facilities more attractive to use 
than others.  The model attempts to reflect this by introducing an attractiveness 
weighting factor, which effects the way visits are distributed between facilities. 
Attractiveness however, is very subjective. Currently weightings are only used for hall 
and pool modelling, with a similar approach for AGPs is being developed. 

6.2 Attractiveness weightings are based on the following: 

6.1.1. Age/refurbishment weighting – pools & halls - the older a facility is, the less 
attractive it will be to users. It is recognised that this is a general assumption 
and that there may be examples where older facilities are more attractive than 
newly built ones due to excellent local management, programming and sports 
development.  Additionally, the date of any significant refurbishment is also 
included within the weighting factor; however, the attractiveness is set lower 
than a new build of the same year. It is assumed that a refurbishment that is 
older than 20 years will have a minimal impact on the facilities attractiveness.   
The information on year built/refurbished is taken from Active Places.  A 
graduated curve is used to allocate the attractiveness weighting by year. This 
curve levels off at around 1920 with a 20% weighting.  The refurbishment 
weighting is slightly lower than the new built year equivalent. 

6.1.2. Management & ownership weighting – halls only - due to the large number of 
halls being provided by the education sector, an assumption is made that in 
general, these halls will not provide as balanced a program than halls run by 
LAs, trusts, etc, with school halls more likely to be used by teams and groups 
through block booking.    A less balanced programme is assumed to be less 

Page 311



 

 

38 

attractive to a general, pay & play user, than a standard local authority leisure 
centre sports hall, with a wider range of activities on offer. 

6.3 To reflect this, two weightings curves are used for education and non-education halls, 
a high weighted curve, and a lower weighted curve; 

6.1.3. High weighted curve - includes Non-education management - better balanced 
programme, more attractive. 

6.1.4. Lower weighted curve - includes Educational owned & managed halls, less 
attractive. 

6.4 Commercial facilities – halls and pools - whilst there are relatively few sports halls 
provided by the commercial sector, an additional weighing factor is incorporated within 
the model to reflect the cost element often associated with commercial facilities.  For 
each population output area, the Indices of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) score is used to 
limit whether people will use commercial facilities. The assumption is that the higher 
the IMD score (less affluence) the less likely the population of the OA would choose to 
go to a commercial facility.   

7. Comfort Factor – halls and pools  

7.1 As part of the modelling process, each facility is given a maximum number of visits it 
can accommodate, based on its size, the number of hours it’s available for community 
use and the ‘at one-time capacity’ figure (pools =1 user /6m2, halls = 6 users /court).  
This is gives each facility a “theoretical capacity”.    

7.2 If the facilities were full to their theoretical capacity then there would simply not be the 
space to undertake the activity comfortably. In addition, there is a need to take account 
of a range of activities taking place which have different numbers of users, for 
example, aqua aerobics will have significantly more participants, than lane swimming 
sessions. Additionally, there may be times and sessions that, whilst being within the 
peak period, are less busy and so will have fewer users.      

7.3 To account of these factors the notion of a ‘comfort factor’ is applied within the model.  
For swimming pools 70%, and for sports halls 80%, of its theoretical capacity is 
considered as being the limit where the facility starts to become uncomfortably busy. 
(Currently, the comfort factor is NOT applied to AGPs due to the fact they are 
predominantly used by teams, which have a set number of players and so the notion of 
having ‘less busy’ pitch is not applicable).  

7.4 The comfort factor is used in two ways; 

7.1.1. Utilised Capacity - How well used is a facility?  ‘Utilised capacity’ figures for 
facilities are often seen as being very low, 50-60%, however, this needs to be put 
into context with 70-80% comfort factor levels for pools and halls.  The closer 
utilised capacity gets to the comfort factor level, the busier the facilities are 
becoming.   You should not aim to have facilities operating at 100% of their 
theoretical capacity, as this would mean that every session throughout the peak 
period would be being used to its maximum capacity. This would be both 
unrealistic in operational terms and unattractive to users. 

Page 312



 

 

39 

7.1.2. Adequately meeting Unmet Demand – the comfort factor is also used to increase 
the amount of facilities that are needed to comfortably meet the unmet demand. 
If this comfort factor is not added, then any facilities provided will be operating at 
its maximum theoretical capacity, which is not desirable as a set out above.    

8. Utilised Capacity (used capacity) 

8.1 Following on from Comfort Factor section, here is more guidance on Utilised Capacity. 

8.2 Utilised capacity refers to how much of facilities theoretical capacity is being used. This 
can, at first, appear to be unrealistically low, with area figures being in the 50-60% 
region. Without any further explanation, it would appear that facilities are half empty.  
The key point is not to see a facilities theoretical maximum capacity (100%) as being 
an optimum position.  This, in practise, would mean that a facility would need to be 
completely full every hour it was open in the peak period.  This would be both 
unrealistic from an operational perspective and undesirable from a user’s perspective, 
as the facility would completely full.  

8.3 For examples:  

A 25m, 4 lane pool has Theoretical capacity of 2260 per week, during 52 hour peak 
period. 

 
8.4 Usage of a pool will vary throughout the evening, with some sessions being busier 

than others though programming, such as, an aqua-aerobics session between 7-8pm, 
lane swimming between 8-9pm. Other sessions will be quieter, such as between 9-
10pm.    This pattern of use would give a total of 143 swims taking place.   However, 
the pool’s maximum capacity is 264 visits throughout the evening.  In this instance the 
pools utilised capacity for the evening would be 54%. 

8.5 As a guide, 70% utilised capacity is used to indicate that pools are becoming busy, 
and 80% for sports halls.  This should be seen only as a guide to help flag up when 
facilities are becoming busier, rather than a ‘hard threshold’. 

9. Travel times Catchments 

9.1 The model uses travel times to define facility catchments in terms of driving and 
walking.  

9.2 The Ordnance Survey (OS) Integrated Transport Network (ITN) for roads has been 
used to calculate the off-peak drive times between facilities and the population, 
observing one-way and turn restrictions which apply, and taking into account delays at 

 4-5pm 5-6pm 6-7pm 7-8pm 8-9pm 9-10pm Total Visits 
for the 

evening 

Theoretical 
max 
capacity 

44 44 44 44 44 44 264 

Actual 
Usage 

8 30 35 50 15 5 143 

Page 313



 

 

40 

junctions and car parking.  Each street in the network is assigned a speed for car 
travel based on the attributes of the road, such as the width of the road, and 
geographical location of the road, for example the density of properties along the 
street. These travel times have been derived through national survey work, and so are 
based on actual travel patterns of users. The road speeds used for Inner & Outer 
London Boroughs have been further enhanced by data from the Department of 
Transport. 

9.3 The walking catchment uses the OS Urban Path Network to calculate travel times 
along paths and roads, excluding motorways and trunk roads. A standard walking 
speed of 3 mph is used for all journeys. 

9.4 The model includes three different modes of travel, by car, public transport & walking.  
Car access is also taken into account, in areas of lower access to a car, the model 
reduces the number of visits made by car, and increases those made on foot. 

9.5 Overall, surveys have shown that the majority of visits made to swimming pools, sports 
halls and AGPs are made by car, with a significant minority of visits to pools and sports 
halls being made on foot. 

 

 

 

 

 
9.6 The model includes a distance decay function; where the further a user is from a 

facility, the less likely they will travel.  The set out below is the survey data with the % 
of visits made within each of the travel times, which shows that almost 90% of all visits, 
both car borne or walking, are made within 20 minutes.  Hence, 20 minutes is often 
used as a rule of thumb for catchments for sports halls and pools. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

NOTE: These are approximate figures, and should only be used as a guide. 

 

 

 

 Facility  Car Walking 
Public 
transport 

Swimming Pool 76% 15% 9% 

Sports Hall 77% 15% 8% 

AGP  
Combined 
Football 
Hockey 

 
83% 
79% 
96% 

 
14% 
17% 
2% 

 
3% 
3% 
2% 

 Sport halls Swimming Pools  

Minutes Car Walk Car Walk 

0-10 62% 61% 58% 57% 

10-20 29% 26% 32% 31% 

20 -40 8% 11% 9% 11% 

Page 314



 

 

41 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 315



 

 

42 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 316



 

 

43 

10.  

Page 317



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Strategic Assessment of Swimming Pool 

Provision Durham County Council  

                                

Facility Planning Model 

 

National Run Report  

  

August 2018 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 319



 

 

 

 

Contents 

1. Introduction .................................................................................................................... 1 

2. Supply of swimming pools  ............................................................................................. 2 

3. Demand for swimming pools  .......................................................................................... 8 

4. Supply & Demand Balance ............................................................................................ 10 

5. Satisfied Demand - demand from Durham County residents being met by supply ......... 12 

6. Unmet Demand - demand from Durham County residents not currently being met ....... 14 

7. Used Capacity - How well used are the facilities? .......................................................... 20 

8. Local Share - equity share of facilities .......................................................................... 24 

9. Summary Report ........................................................................................................... 27 

Appendix 1: Swimming Pools Included and Excluded from the assessment .............................. 33 

Appendix 2 – Model description, Inclusion Criteria and Model Parameters .............................. 35 

 

Page 320



 

 

1 

1. Introduction 

1.1 This report and the accompanying maps provide a strategic assessment of the current 
level of provision for swimming pools across the Durham County Council area. The 
assessment is based on Sport England’s Facilities Planning Model (fpm) data from the 
2018 National Run.  

1.2 The report sets out the findings under seven headings and includes data tables and 
maps. The headings are defined at the start and include: total supply; total demand; 
supply and demand balance; satisfied/met demand; unmet demand; used capacity 
(how full the pools are); and local share of pools.  Each heading is followed by a 
commentary on the findings. 

1.3 A summary of main findings is set out at the end of the report. 

1.4 The data tables include the findings for the neighbouring local authorities to County 
Durham and where valid to do so the findings for County Durham are compared with 
these authorities.  

1.5 The report and its findings will be used by Durham County Council in the development 
of strategic planning for the future provision of swimming pools across the County 
Council area. In particular, the findings and report will be used to shape and inform the 
County Council’s Leisure Transformation Project.  

1.6 The information contained within the report should be read alongside the two 
appendices.  Appendix 1 sets out the details of the facilities within this assessment and 
Appendix 2 provides background to the fpm, facility inclusion criteria and the model 
parameters. 

1.7 Fpm modelling and datasets build in a number of assumptions as set out in Appendix 
2, regarding the supply and demand of provision.  In developing the strategic planning 
for swimming pools, it will be important to consider the fpm findings alongside other 
information and consultations. This includes information and knowledge from (a) sports 
perspective (National Governing Bodies and local clubs) and (b) from a local 
perspective (from the local authority /facility providers and operators and the local 
community). 

1.8 This report has been prepared by WYG Consulting on behalf of Sport England. WYG 
Consulting are contracted by Sport England to undertake facility planning model work 
on behalf of Sport England and local authorities.  

Page 321



 

 

2 

2. Supply of Swimming Pools 

Total Supply 
County 

Durham UA 
Darlington 

UA 
Eden Gateshead 

Hartlepool 

UA 
Northumberland 

South East 
Richmondshire 

Stockton-

on-Tees 

UA 
Sunderland 

Number of pools 26 9 4 13 7 5 5 10 16 

Number of pool 

sites 
17 7 2 5 5 4 2 6 13 

Supply of total 

water space in sq m 
5,550 1,769 641 2,075 1,397 1,362 803 1,983 4,500 

Supply of publicly 

available water 

space in sq m peak 

period 

4,785 1,318 523 1,778 1,009 1,109 695 1,723 3,611 

Supply of total 

water space in visits 

per week peak 

period 

41,489 11,430 4,538 15,415 8,744 9,619 6,023 14,942 31,308 

Water space per 

1,000 population 
11 17 12 10 15 9 15 10 16 

 

2.1 Definition of supply – this is the supply, or, capacity of the swimming pools which are 
available for public and club use in the weekly peak period. The supply is expressed in 
number of visits that a pool can accommodate in the weekly peak period and in sq 
metres of water. 

2.2 There are 26 individual pools on 17 swimming pool site across County Durham in 
2018. The total supply of water space available for community use in the weekly peak 
period is 4.785 sq metres of water. (Note: for context a 25m x 4 lane pool is between 
210 and 250 sq metres of water, depending on lane width).  

2.3 Based on a measure of water space per 1,000 population, the County Durham supply 
is 11 sq metres of water space per 1,000 population in 2018.  

2.4 There are five authorities with a higher supply than County Durham, and three 
authorities with a lower supply. Sunderland has the highest supply at 16 sq metres of 
water per 1,000 population and Northumberland South East the lowest at 9 sq metres 
of water per 1,000 population 

2.5 The North East Region average is 13 sq metres of water per 1,000 population and for 
England wide it is 12 sq metres of water per 1,000 population in 2018. So the provision 
in County Durham, is lower than most of the neighbouring local authorities and slightly 
lower than the North East Region and England wide averages. 

Page 322



 

 

3 

2.6 The overall level of provision identified for County Durham will be based on all the 
supply and demand findings. This is simply a measure comparing the County Durham 
supply with that of the neighbouring local authorities’ supply of water space. It is set 
out because some local authorities like to understand how their provision compares 
with other authorities.  

2.7 The location of the swimming pools site across County Durham and those in 
neighbouring authorities closest to County Durham are illustrated in Map 2.1. The 
purple diamond is the pool site location and the size of the diamond is representative 
of the scale of the pool site in terms of the pool capacity. As the map illustrates the 
pool sites are located in the main on the eastern side of the authority.  

2.8 Map 2.2 focuses on the eastern side of the authority and illustrates the pool locations 
and notional one mile walking catchment area of the pool site.   

2.9 Across the total nine local authorities in the study area, there are 95 individual pools 
and 61 swimming pool sites. So County Durham has 27% of the total number of pools 
and pool sites across the study area.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 323



 

 

4 

Map 2.1: Location of the swimming pool sites County Durham 2018  

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 324



 

 

5 

Map 2.2: Location of the swimming pool sites in the eastern side of County 
Durham  

 

 
 
 
 

Page 325



 

 

6 

2.10 A description of all the swimming pools in County Durham is set out in Table 2.1 
below.    

2.11 Of the 17 swimming pool sites in County Durham, 9 are public leisure centre swimming 
pools sites, so 53% of the total swimming pool sites.  

2.12 The swimming offer is very extensive as 8 of these 9 swimming pool sites have a main 
pool and a separate teaching/learner pool. So all these sites are able to provide for all 
the swimming activities of: learn to swim; casual recreational swimming; lane and aqua 
aerobics fitness swimming activities; and swimming development through clubs. These 
activities can be undertaken at the same time in dedicated pools for separate activities. 
The scale and configuration of the public leisure centre sites, means it is a very 
extensive public, club swimming and physical activity offer.  

2.13 The one public leisure centre with one pool is Spennymoor Leisure Centre, which is an 
extensive leisure pool with a pool area of 33m x 17m.It can accommodate the 
swimming activities described, plus the wave machine and slides means it has the fun 
activities that build confidence in water.  

2.14 Given eight of the public leisure centre sites have 2 pools (Woodhouse Close Leisure 
Complex has 3 pools a main pool and 2 teaching/learner pools) they are extensive 
pool sites in terms of water area. Four sites have a total water area of over 400 sq 
metres of water and three sites a total water area over 500 sq metres of water. The 
smallest public swimming pool site is Teesdale Leisure Complex, with a total water 
area of 243 sq metres of water. 

2.15 There are, in addition, four education single swimming pool sites, at Durham School 
with a 21m x 4 lane main pool, Woodham Academy with a 25m x 4 lane pool, St Johns 
RC School with a 20m x 4 lane pool and Wolsingham School, which has a small 20m x 
4 lane pool. According to the Sport England data, these education sites do provide for 
community use with swim schools and swimming clubs use. Woodham Academy has 
a sports academy and through the Academy provides for coaching and development in 
both swimming and water polo.  

2.16 Finally there are four commercial swimming pool sites which range in size from 
Ramsden Hall with an extensive 25m x 5 lane pool to Bannatynes Health Club 
(Chester – le – Street) which has a 20m x 4 lane pool. The commercial swimming pool 
sites will provide for recreational use by the centre membership, whilst some also 
operate swim schools.    

2.17 The average age of all the swimming pool sites in 2018 is 30 years, this excludes the 
Durham School pool site which opened in 1923 and was last modernised in 2006. The 
average age of the public swimming pool sites is 31 years, the oldest public swimming 
pool site is the Woodhouse Close Leisure Complex, which opened in 1968. The most 
recent public swimming pool site to open is Consett Leisure Centre, which opened in 
2015.  

 

 

 

  

Page 326



 

 

7 

Table 2.1: Swimming Pool Supply County Durham 2018 

Name of Facility Type Dimensions Area 
Site Year 

Built 
Site Year 

Refurbished 

BANNATYNES HEALTH CLUB (CHESTER LE 

STREET) 
Main/General 20 x 8 160 2003  

CHESTER LE STREET LEISURE CENTRE Main/General 25 x 13 325 1974 2005 

CHESTER LE STREET LEISURE CENTRE Learner/Teaching/Training 13 x 10 130   

CONSETT LEISURE CENTRE Main/General 25 x 13 325 2015  

CONSETT LEISURE CENTRE Learner/Teaching/Training 20 x 10 200   

THE LOUISA CENTRE Main/General 25 x 12 300 2004  

THE LOUISA CENTRE Learner/Teaching/Training 12 x 10 120   

DURHAM SCHOOL Main/General 21 x 8 161 1923 2006 

FREEMANS QUAY LEISURE CENTRE Main/General 25 x 19 475 2008  

FREEMANS QUAY LEISURE CENTRE Learner/Teaching/Training 10 x 9 87   

MARRIOTT LEISURE CLUB (DURHAM ROYAL 

COUNTY) 
Main/General 17 x 14 238 1989  

RAMSIDE HALL HOTEL & GOLF CLUB Main/General 25 x 11 275 2015  

PETERLEE LEISURE CENTRE Main/General 25 x 13 313 1974 2011 

PETERLEE LEISURE CENTRE Learner/Teaching/Training 13 x 9 113   

NEWTON AYCLIFFE LEISURE CENTRE Main/General 25 x 13 313 1974 2016 

NEWTON AYCLIFFE LEISURE CENTRE Learner/Teaching/Training 12 x 8 96   

SPENNYMOOR LEISURE CENTRE Leisure Pool 33 x 17 561 1984 2007 

WOODHAM ACADEMY Main/General 25 x 10 250 1970 2006 

TEESDALE LEISURE CENTRE Main/General 25 x 9 213 1990 2008 

TEESDALE LEISURE CENTRE Learner/Teaching/Training 7 x 5 33   

ST JOHNS RC SCHOOL Main/General 20 x 8 160 1964 2015 

WOLSINGHAM SCHOOL Main/General 20 x 7 140 1986  

WOODHOUSE CLOSE LEISURE COMPLEX Main/General 25 x 13 313 1968 1990 

WOODHOUSE CLOSE LEISURE COMPLEX Learner/Teaching/Training 13 x 8 94   

WOODHOUSE CLOSE LEISURE COMPLEX Learner/Teaching/Training 13 x 5 63   

Page 327



 

 

8 

3 Demand for Swimming Pools     

Total  Demand 
County 

Durham 

UA 

Darlington 

UA 
Eden Gateshead 

Hartlepool 

UA 
Northumberland 

South East 
Richmondshire 

Stockton-

on-Tees 

UA 
Sunderland 

Population 526,618 105,724 52,624 202,140 93,312 149,631 52,279 197,895 278,969 

Swims demanded – 

visits per week peak 

period 
32,920 6,679 3,139 12,751 5,895 9,129 3,196 12,618 17,604 

Equivalent in water 

space  
5,463 1,108 521 2,117 978 1,515 531 2,094 2,921 

% of population 

without access to a car 
26.40 26.60 13.10 35.20 33.80 25.90 12.80 24.50 33.80 

 

3.1 Definition of total demand – it represents the total demand for swimming by both 
genders and for 14 five-year age bands from 0 to 65+. This is calculated as the 
percentage of each age band/gender that participates. This is added to the frequency 
of participation in each age band/gender, so, as to arrive at a total demand figure, 
which is expressed in visits in the weekly peak period. Total demand is also expressed 
in sq metres of water.   

3.2 The total population of County Durham in 2018 is 526,618 people. The County 
Durham population generates a total demand for swimming of 32,920 visits in the 
weekly peak period of week day lunchtimes (1 hour), weekday evenings (up to 5 hours 
per day) and weekend days (up to 7 hours per weekend day), which equates to a 
demand for 5,463 sq metres of water. (Again for context a 25m x 4 lane pool is 
between 210 – 250 sq metres of water, depending on lane width). 

3.3 The percentage of the population without access to a car is recorded under the 
demand heading. In County Durham it is 26.4% of the resident population who do not 
have access to a car, based on the 2011 Census.  

3.4 County Durham is mid table in relation to the other authority findings, with four 
authorities having a higher finding, it being highest in Gateshead at 35.2% of the 
population without access to a car. There are four authorities with a lower finding than 
County Durham and it is lowest in Eden District at 13.1% of the population without 
access to a car. The North East Region average is 30.3% of the population who do not 
have access to a car and for England wide it is 24.9% of the population who do not 
have access to a car. 

3.5 The percentage of the population without access to a car is important, because it 
influences travel patterns to pools. If there is a low percentage, as there is in County 
Durham, it does mean there is likely to be higher percentage of visits to pools by car. 
Given the drive time catchment is 20 minutes travel time, it means more residents can 
access more pools by car travel. 

3.6 If the percentage of the population without access to a car is high, it means a network 
of more local swimming pools become more important for residents to be able to 

Page 328



 

 

9 

access pools. The catchment area for pools by public transport is also 20 minutes 
travel time, and by walking it is 20 minutes/1 mile.  

3.7 The findings for County Durham are that 78.5% of all visits to pools are by car, 12.5% 
of all visits to pools are by walking and 9% are by public transport. So around one in 
five visits to pools are by a combination of walking and public transport. These findings 
will be reviewed further under the satisfied demand and unmet demand headings.     

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 329



 

 

10 

4 Supply & Demand Balance 

Supply/Demand Balance 
County 

Durham 

UA 

Darlington 

UA 
Eden Gateshead 

Hartlepool 

UA 
Northumberland 

South East 
Richmondshire 

Stockton-

on-Tees 

UA 
Sunderland 

Supply -  Swimming pool 

provision (sqm ) available 

for community use 
4,785 1,318 523 1,778 1,009 1,109 695 1,723 3,611 

Demand  -  Swimming pool 

provision (sq m)  
5,463 1,108 521 2,117 978 1,515 531 2,094 2,921 

Provision available 

compared to the minimum 

required to meet demand 
-678 210 2 -339 31 -406 164 -371 690 

 

4.1 Definition of supply and demand balance – supply and demand balance compares 
the total demand for swimming in County Durham with the total supply across County 
Durham. It therefore represents an assumption that ALL the demand for swimming is 
met by ALL the supply in County Durham. (Note: it does exactly the same for the other 
authorities). 

4.2 In short, supply and demand balance is NOT based on where the venues are located 
and their catchment area extending into other authorities. Nor, the catchment areas of 
pools in neighbouring authorities extending into County Durham. Most importantly 
supply and demand balance does NOT take into account the propensity/reasons for 
residents using facilities outside their own authority.   

4.3 The more detailed modelling based on the CATCHMENT AREAS of pools is set out 
under Satisfied Demand, Unmet Demand and Used Capacity. These findings reflect 
how much of the County Durham demand for swimming can be met and the level of 
unmet demand.   

4.4 The reason for presenting the supply and demand balance is because some local 
authorities like to see how THEIR total supply of pools compares with THEIR total 
demand for pools. Supply and demand balance presents this comparison.   

4.5 When looking at this closed assessment, the resident population of County Durham in 
2018 generates a demand for 5,463 sq metres of water. This compares to the total 
supply of 4,785 sq metres of water which is available for community use in the weekly 
peak period. So, there is a negative balance of demand exceeding supply by 678 sq 
metres of water in 2018.   

4.6 Demand exceeds supply in three other authorities and is highest in Northumberland 
South East, at 406 sq metres of water. Supply exceeds demand in the remaining five 
other authorities and is highest in Sunderland at 690 sq metres of water. 

4.7 Overall across the total nine local authorities, the total supply is 15,442 sq metres of 
water and total demand is for 17,248 sq metres of water. So there is a negative supply 
and demand balance of demand exceeding supply by 1,806 sq metres of water. 

Page 330



 

 

11 

4.8 When the assessment is based on the catchment area of swimming pools, these 
supply and demand balance findings are likely to influence significantly, the amount of 
demand that can be met and the amount of unmet demand.  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 331



 

 

12 

5.  Satisfied Demand - demand from County Durham residents 
currently being met by supply 

Satisfied Demand 
County 

Durham 

UA 

Darlingt

on UA 
Eden Gateshead 

Hartlep

ool UA 
Northumberland 

South East 
Richmondshire 

Stockton-

on-Tees 

UA 
Sunderland 

Total number of visits 

which are met 
28,068 6,354 2,339 11,483 5,589 8,082 2,536 11,602 16,323 

% of total demand 

satisfied 
85.30 95.10 74.50 90.10 94.80 88.50 79.30 92 92.70 

% of demand satisfied 

who travelled by car 
78.50 65.50 83.60 64.50 59.40 76.50 87.70 75.50 62.20 

% of demand satisfied 

who travelled by foot 
12.50 25.50 13.90 21.40 29.40 14.90 8 14.80 24.20 

% of demand satisfied 

who travelled by public 

transport 
9 9.10 2.50 14.10 11.30 8.60 4.30 9.70 13.60 

Demand Retained 23,855 6,045 2,180 8,042 5,320 6,097 2,115 9,040 13,960 

Demand Retained -as a 

% of Satisfied Demand 
85 95.10 93.20 70 95.20 75.40 83.40 77.90 85.50 

Demand Exported 4,213 309 159 3,441 270 1,985 420 2,562 2,363 

Demand Exported -as a 

% of Satisfied Demand 
15 4.90 6.80 30 4.80 24.60 16.60 22.10 14.50 

 

5.1 Definition of satisfied demand – it represents the proportion of total demand that is 
met by the capacity at the swimming pools from residents who live within the car, 
walking or public transport catchment area of a swimming pool. 

5.2 The finding is that in 2018, some 85.3% of the total demand for swimming from County 
Durham residents is satisfied/met. So, this level of the total demand for swimming is 
located inside the catchment area of a pool (pools located both inside and outside the 
County). 

5.3 For County Durham it means there is a very close correlation between the location and 
catchment area of the swimming pools and the location of the County Durham 
demand. This is to the extent, that over eight out of ten visits to a swimming pool are 
inside the catchment area of a pool and there is enough capacity at the pools to 
absorb this level of the County Durham total demand. 

 

 

 

Page 332



 

 

13 

Retained demand  

5.4 There is a sub set of findings for satisfied demand which is about how much of the 
County Durham satisfied demand for swimming is retained at the swimming pool sites 
located in the authority. 

5.5 In 2018, some 85% of the total 85.3% of the County Durham demand which is 
met/satisfied is retained demand within the authority. It is important to state, the model 
distributes demand based on residents traveling to and using the nearest pool to 
where they live. Sport England research does support this modelling assumption. 
However, there are increasingly other factors which influence which pools residents 
chose to use. The quality of the swimming pool itself, plus other facilities on the same 
site, such as a gym or studio. It does mean residents will travel further to swim in a 
pool that provides a better quality offer, than simply choosing to swim in the nearest 
pool to where they live. 

Exported demand 

5.6 The residual of satisfied demand, after retained demand, is exported demand. The 
2018 finding is that just 15% of the County Durham satisfied demand for swimming is 
met outside the authority. Again, this is based on the nearest pool for this level of the 
County Durham satisfied demand, is a pool located outside the authority.  

5.7 In terms of visits, the County Durham retained demand is 23,855 visits per week in the 
weekly peak period. Whilst the County Durham exported demand, is 4,213 visits per 
week in the weekly peak period.   

5.8 The data does not identify how much of the County Durham demand goes to which 
authority or pool site, it just provides the total figure for exported demand.     

Page 333



 

 

14 

6. Unmet Demand - demand from County Durham residents 
not currently being met 

Unmet Demand 
County 

Durham 

UA 

Darlington 

UA 
Eden 

Gates

head 
Hartlepool 

UA 
Northumberlan

d South East 
Richmondshire 

Stockton-

on-Tees 

UA 
Sunderland 

Total number of visits in 

the peak, not currently 

being met 
4,852 324 800 1,268 305 1,047 660 1,015 1,281 

Unmet demand as a % of 

total demand 
14.70 4.90 25.50 9.90 5.20 11.50 20.70 8 7.30 

Equivalent in water 

space (sq m) 
806 53 132 210 50 174 109 168 213 

% of Unmet Demand due 

to ; 
         

    Lack of Capacity - 1.10 0.10 0.20 2.90 0 13.90 0 9.60 0.70 

    Outside Catchment - 98.90 99.90 99.80 97.10 100 86.10 100 90.40 99.30 

Outside Catchment;  98.90 99.90 99.80 97.10 100 86.10 100 90.40 99.30 

  % Unmet demand who 

do not have access to a 

car 
84.10 90.40 24.70 91.30 93.80 77.80 33.30 80.20 94.30 

 

6.1 The unmet demand definition has two parts to it - demand for pools which cannot be 
met because (1) there is too much demand for any particular swimming pool within its 
catchment area; or (2) the demand is located outside the catchment area of any pool 
and is then classified as unmet demand.   

6.2 In 2018 the County Durham total unmet demand is 14.7% of total demand and this 
equates to 806 sq metres of water. Of this total, just under 99% is from the second 
definition, unmet demand located outside the catchment area of a pool and just over 
1% is from lack of swimming pool capacity (reviewed under the used capacity 
heading). 

6.3 Unmet demand from lack of access, is by people who do not have access to a car and 
live outside the walk to or public transport catchment area of a pool, and represents 
84% of the unmet demand outside catchment (bold highlighted row in the table)..  

6.4 Unmet demand from this source will always exist, this is because it is not possible to 
get complete geographic coverage whereby all areas are inside catchment. This is 
especially so when the walking catchment area of swimming pools is small, at 20 
minutes/1 mile. 

6.5 It applies even more so in County Durham, given the very extensive land area in the 
west of the authority and where there are very few pool sites. There is also a much 

Page 334



 

 

15 

lower population density but for residents in this area, their access to pools is much 
more limited 

6.6 This finding is exacerbated by Eden District and Richmondshire having the least 
number of swimming pools sites in the study area, at only 2 pool sites in each 
authority.  So there are a limited number of pool sites for County Durham to access in 
these two authorities.  

6.7 Overall, the key point is not that unmet demand outside catchment exists but the scale 
of the unmet demand which is more important. Plus, if it is clustered enough to 
consider further pool provision, to improve accessibility to pools for residents.  

6.8 Of the County Durham total unmet demand of 806 sq metres of water, 797 sq metres 
of water is from demand located outside the catchment area of a pool. This is quite a 
high total, and the key consideration is whether this unmet demand is clustered 
enough, in any one location, to justify further swimming pool provision?  

6.9 Map 6.1 overleaf shows the location and scale of the total unmet demand for 
swimming across County Durham. Map 6.2 shows the unmet demand in slightly more 
detail in the areas where it is highest.   

6.10 The unmet demand is set out in sq metres of water contained within one kilometre grid 
square and the squares are colour coded. The blue to green squares have values 
between 0.1 – 0.7 sq metres of water, so very low values. The yellow squares 
represent 0.8 – 1 sq metres of water, the beige squares 1. – 2.5 sq metres of water, 
the darker beige squares 2.5 – 5 sq metres of water, light pink 5 – 10 sq metres of 
water and darker pink squares 10 – 20 sq metres of water. 

6.11 Despite residents in the west of the authority having the least access to pools, unmet 
demand in an area west of Wolsingham only totals between 30 - 40 sq metres of 
water. Unmet demand from residents who live outside the walking catchment area of a 
swimming pool is highest in (1) an area around and south of Seaham, where it totals 
around 100 sq metres of water, then (2) an area from Durham City north to Chester – 
Le – Street and it totals between 150 – 200 sq metres of water. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 335



 

 

16 

Map 6.1: Unmet demand for swimming County Durham 2018  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 336



 

 

17 

Map 6.2: Areas of highest unmet demand for swimming County Durham 2018  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 337



 

 

18 

6.12 It is possible to present the unmet demand with it aggregated into one kilometre grid 
squares and in effect this is a “heat map” which shows the areas of highest and lowest 
unmet demand for swimming. This is set out in Map 6.3 and shows that aggregated 
unmet demand is highest in the centre of the authority from north to south. In each of 
the orange squares there is aggregated unmet demand of between 75 – 100 sq 
metres of water.   

6.13 In the areas east and west of these squares, aggregated unmet demand is much lower 
as shown by the yellow squares with values of between 40 – 75 sq metres of water, it 
is lowest in the areas shaded blue and green with values of between 10 – 40 sq 
metres of water.   

6.14 Overall, the findings on unmet demand, from lack of access, show that whilst TOTAL 
unmet demand is high, its distribution is not CLUSTERED enough to consider further 
swimming pool provision, so as to improve accessibility for residents. It would require 
between 200 – 250 sq metres of water in one location, to consider further swimming 
pool provision. The highest aggregate unmet demand in any one location is between 
75 – 100 sq metres of water. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 338



 

 

19 

 

Map 6.3: Areas of highest aggregated unmet demand for swimming County 
Durham 2018 

 

  

 

 

 

Page 339



 

 

20 

7. Used Capacity - How well used are the facilities? 

8. Used Capacity 
County 

Durham 

UA 

Darlington 

UA 
Eden Gateshead 

Hartlepool 

UA 
Northumberland 

South East 
Richmondshire 

Stockton-

on-Tees 

UA 
Sunderland 

Total number of visits used 

of current capacity 
25,647 6,861 2,183 12,986 5,792 7,067 2,153 10,819 18,183 

% of overall capacity of 

pools used 
61.80 60 48.10 84.20 66.20 73.50 35.70 72.40 58.10 

Visits Imported;          

Number of visits imported 1,792 815 2 4,944 473 970 37 1,779 4,223 

As a % of used capacity 7 11.90 0.10 38.10 8.20 13.70 1.70 16.40 23.20 

Visits Retained:          

Number of Visits retained 23,855 6,045 2,180 8,042 5,320 6,097 2,115 9,040 13,960 

As a % of used capacity 93 88.10 99.90 61.90 91.80 86.30 98.30 83.60 76.80 

 

7.1 Definition of used capacity - is a measure of usage and throughput at swimming 
pools and estimates how well used/how full facilities are. The facilities planning model 
is designed to include a ‘comfort factor’, beyond which, in the case of pools, the 
venues are too full. The pool itself becomes too busy to be able to swim comfortably, 
plus the changing and circulation areas become too crowded. The model assumes that 
usage over 70% of capacity used in the weekly peak period is busy and the swimming 
pool is operating at an uncomfortable level above that percentage.   

7.2 In 2018, the estimated used capacity of the swimming pools as a County Durham wide 
average is estimated to be just below 62% of pool capacity used in the weekly peak 
period. So as a County Durham average, the pools are estimated to be quite busy but 
there is a reasonable level of headroom before the Sport England benchmark of pools 
being comfortably full at 70% of pool capacity used in the weekly peak period is 
reached.  

7.3 The findings for each individual pool site do vary from the County Durham average and 
the findings are set out in Table 7.1. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 340



 

 

21 

Table 7.1: Used Capacity of County Durham Swimming Pool Sites 2018 

Name of Site Type Dimensions Area 

Site 
Year 
Built 

Site 
Year 

Refurb 

% of 
Capacity 

Used 

% of 
Capacity 

Not 
Used 

 COUNTY DURHAM          62% 38% 

 Chester – Le- Street          51% 49% 

BANNATYNES HEALTH CLUB (CHESTER LE STREET) Main/General 20 x 8 160 2003   40% 60% 

CHESTER LE STREET LEISURE CENTRE Main/General 25 x 13 325 1974 2005 66% 34% 

CHESTER LE STREET LEISURE CENTRE Learner/Teaching/Training 13 x 10 130         

 Derwentside          71% 29% 

CONSETT LEISURE CENTRE Main/General 25 x 13 325 2015   67% 33% 

CONSETT LEISURE CENTRE Learner/Teaching/Training 20 x 10 200         

THE LOUISA CENTRE Main/General 25 x 12 300 2004   75% 25% 

THE LOUISA CENTRE Learner/Teaching/Training 12 x 10 120         

 Durham          61% 39% 

DURHAM SCHOOL Main/General 21 x 8 161 1923 2006 75% 25% 

FREEMANS QUAY LEISURE CENTRE Main/General 25 x 19 475 2008   100% 0% 

FREEMANS QUAY LEISURE CENTRE Learner/Teaching/Training 10 x 9 87         

MARRIOTT LEISURE CLUB (DURHAM ROYAL 
COUNTY) Main/General 17 x 14 238 1989   40% 60% 

RAMSIDE HALL HOTEL & GOLF CLUB Main/General 25 x 11 275 2015   27% 73% 

 Easington           72% 28% 

PETERLEE LEISURE CENTRE Main/General 25 x 13 313 1974 2011 84% 16% 

PETERLEE LEISURE CENTRE Learner/Teaching/Training 13 x 9 113         

THE SERENITY SPA AT SEAHAM HALL Leisure Pool 20 x 5 100 2002   23% 77% 

 Sedgefield          62% 38% 

NEWTON AYCLIFFE LEISURE CENTRE Main/General 25 x 13 313 1974 2016 61% 39% 

NEWTON AYCLIFFE LEISURE CENTRE Learner/Teaching/Training 12 x 8 96         

SPENNYMOOR LEISURE CENTRE Leisure Pool 33 x 17 561 1984 2007 66% 34% 

WOODHAM ACADEMY Main/General 25 x 10 250 1970 2006 35% 65% 

Teasdale       1990   38% 62% 

TEESDALE LEISURE CENTRE Main/General 25 x 9 213 1990 2008 38% 62% 

TEESDALE LEISURE CENTRE Learner/Teaching/Training 7 x 5 33         

 Wear Valley          61% 39% 

ST JOHNS RC SCHOOL Main/General 20 x 8 160 1964 2015 100% 0% 

WOLSINGHAM SCHOOL Main/General 20 x 7 140 1986   69% 31% 

WOODHOUSE CLOSE LEISURE COMPLEX Main/General 25 x 13 313 1968 1990 47% 53% 

WOODHOUSE CLOSE LEISURE COMPLEX Learner/Teaching/Training 13 x 8 94         

 

7.4 As Table 7.1 shows there is quite a lot of variation in the estimated used capacity 
between individual swimming pool sites. The reasons for the variation are:  

Page 341



 

 

22 

• Public leisure centres provide for all the swimming activities of: learn to swim; 
public recreational swimming; fun and leisure activities; lane and fitness 
swimming; and swimming development through clubs. The centres will be 
accessible for public use as well as club use. The opening hours will be extensive 
and the centres will be proactively managed to encourage and support swimming 
participation. Finally, as public leisure centres there is not the requirement to pay 
a monthly membership fee to access the swimming pools. All these factors 
contribute to higher levels of pool usage at the public swimming pool sites and 
there is a “draw effect” Most of the public leisure centres have a used capacity 
which is higher than the County Durham average: Chester-Le-Street Leisure 
Centre 66%; Consett Leisure Centre 67%;  The Louisa Centre 75%; Freemans 
Quay Leisure Centre 100%; Peterlee Leisure Centre 84%; and Spennymoor 
Leisure Centre 66%;  

• It is important to consider also the scale of each pool site and not view the used 
capacity percentage figure in isolation. The public swimming pool sites are the 
biggest pool sites in the county with all of them, except Teesdale Leisure Centre, 
having a total water area over 400 sq metres of water and four have a total water 
area over 500 sq metres of water As they are large pool sites, these pools will be 
able to accommodate a higher level of usage than, for example St Johns RC 
School pool, which has an estimated used capacity at 100% but it is only a 20m x 
8m pool of 160 sq metres of water.  

• The amount of demand for swimming in an area will obviously impact on the used 
capacity of any individual pool site.  As already set out, demand for swimming is 
much lower in the west of the County and this most likely accounts for the 
Teesdale Leisure Centre having an estimated used capacity of 38% in the weekly 
peak period   

• The smaller commercial swimming pool sites have a lower level of pool capacity 
used in the weekly peak period, ranging from 23% at The Serenity Spa, to 27% at 
The Ramside Hotel pool to 40% at both the Bannatynes Health Club Chester-Le-
Street and The Marriott Leisure The type of use at the commercial pools is limited 
to recreational swimming by the centre membership, whilst some commercial 
pools may also operate a swim school. The limited range of swimming activities, 
plus the usage being limited to residents who are able and willing to pay the 
membership fee, explains the findings for the much lower levels of used capacity 
of the pools.  

• The estimated used capacity for the education pools ranges from 35% at 
Woodham Academy, 69% at Wolsingham School, 75% at Durham School and 
100% at St Johns RC School. The used capacity of education pools can vary for 
many reasons: (1) ¨as already said, the St Johns School  is a  small pool of 160 
sq metres of water and so it can reach full capacity very quickly; (2) the hours of 
access for community use, if there are only a few hours available each week, 
then the pool’s used capacity will be high, if it is used for all these hours (3) the 
amount of demand in the catchment area of a pool and if this demand is shared 
between many pools with overlapping catchments, or, if the opposite is the case 
and each pool site is retaining a high level of demand (4) the ease of booking 
arrangements and the price for the pool hire. The programme of use at the school 
pools will be predominately for club use and learn to swim programmes.  Very 
few school swimming pool sites provide for public recreational pay and swim use, 

Page 342



 

 

23 

unless there is a joint use agreement in place, whereby the pool is managed and 
operated for public as well as school use.         

Imported demand   

7.5 Imported demand is reported under used capacity because it measures the demand 
from residents who live outside County Durham but the nearest pool to where they live 
is inside County Durham. So if they use the pool nearest to where they live, this 
becomes part of the used capacity of the County Durham pools.  

7.6 In 2018 some 7% of the used capacity of the County Durham pools is imported. As 
with exported demand, the data only reports the total and not how much demand 
comes from each authority, or goes to which pool sites.   

Export/Import Balance  

7.7  In terms of visits, County Durham exports 4,213 visits per week in the weekly peak 
period and imports 1,792 visits in the same weekly peak period. So County Durham is 
a net exporter of 2,421 visits in then weekly peak period. Both the export and import 
findings are based on residents travelling to and using the nearest pool to where they 
live.    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 343



 

 

24 

9. Local Share - equity share of facilities 

Local Share 
County 

Durham 

UA 

Darlington 

UA 
Eden Gateshead 

Hartlepool 

UA 
Northumberland 

South East 
Richmondshire 

Stockton-

on-Tees 

UA 
Sunderland 

Local Share: <1 

capacity less than 

demand, 1> capacity 

greater than demand 

1.10 1.40 0.80 1 0.90 0.90 1.60 1.10 1.40 

 

8.1 Local share has quite a complicated definition - it helps to show which areas have a 
better or worse share of facility provision. It takes into account the size and availability 
of facilities as well as travel modes. Local share is useful at looking at ‘equity’ of 
provision. 

8.2 Local share is the available capacity that can be reached in an area divided by the 
demand for that capacity in the area. A value of 1 means that the level of supply just 
matches demand, while a value of less than 1 indicates a shortage of supply and a 
value greater than 1 indicates a surplus.  

8.3 County Durham has a local share of 1.1 and so supply is slightly greater than demand 
in terms of share of access to pools – as a County Durham average. 

8.4 Local share does vary across the authority and its distribution is set out in Map 8.1 
overleaf. Map 8.2 has the same information but is for the eastern side of the authority 
which has most findings for local share. 

8.5 The two shades of green squares have a value of 1. – 1.20, 1.20 – 1.40. Whilst the 
light turquoise squares have values of 1-40 – 1.60 and the light blue squares values of 
1.60 – 1.80. The areas with these values are in and around Chester-Le-Street, 
Durham City and Seaham. 

8.6 Areas with the yellow squares have a value of 1 and for the lighter yellow squares it is 
0.80 – 0.60 and the beige square areas have a local share of between 0.60 – 0.40l. So 
in these areas and which is most of County Durham, demand is higher than supply in 
terms of local share 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 344



 

 

25 

Map 8.1: Local Share of Swimming Pools County Durham 2018  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 345



 

 

26 

Map 8.2: Local Share of Swimming Pools Eastern Side of County Durham 2018  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 346



 

 

27 

10. Summary Report   

Report Context  

9.1 This report and the accompanying maps provide a strategic assessment of the current 
level of provision for swimming pools across the County Durham area in 2018.. The 
assessment is based on Sport England’s Facilities Planning Model (fpm) data from the 
2018 National Run of supply, demand and access to swimming pools for all local 
authorities in England. 

9.2 The data tables in the main report set out the findings for County Durham and all the 
neighbouring local authorities to County Durham. This provides a “read across” so it is 
possible to view the County Durham findings with those for all the neighbouring 
authorities. 

1.9 The report provides a hard evidence base which can be used in consultations to 
provide a rounded evidence base and assessment of need for swimming pools for 
2018. It is understood the report will be used by Durham County Council in the 
strategic planning for the provision of swimming pools in the future and, in particular, to 
shape and inform the County Council’s Leisure Transformation Project.  

9.3 This summary report sets out the main findings from the facility planning model 
assessment.    

Findings from the Assessment  

Swimming Pool Supply 

9.4 There are 26 individual pools on 17 swimming pool site across County Durham in 
2018. The total supply of water space available for community use in the weekly peak 
period is 4.785 sq metres of water. (Note: for context a 25m x 4 lane pool is between 
210 and 250 sq metres of water, depending on lane width).  

9.5 Of the 17 swimming pool sites in County Durham, 9 are public leisure centre swimming 
pools sites, so 53% of the total swimming pool sites. There are 4 commercial 
swimming pool sites and 4 school swimming pool sites (Table 2.1).  

9.6 The swimming offer is very extensive, as 8 of the 9 public swimming pool sites have a 
main pool and a separate teaching/learner pool. So all these sites are able to provide 
for all the swimming activities of: learn to swim; casual recreational swimming; lane 
and aqua aerobics fitness swimming activities; and swimming development through 
clubs. These activities can be undertaken at the same time in dedicated pools for 
separate activities. The scale and configuration of the public leisure centre sites, 
means it is a very extensive offer for public, club swimming and for physical activity 
programmes.  

9.7 The one public leisure centre with one pool is Spennymoor Leisure Centre, which is an 
extensive leisure pool with a pool area of 33m x 17m.It can accommodate the 
swimming activities described, plus the wave machine and slides means it provides for 
the fun activities that build confidence in water.  

9.8 The scale of the public leisure centre swimming pools is also very extensive. Five sites 
have a total water area of over 400 sq metres of water and 3 sites a total water area 

Page 347



 

 

28 

over 500 sq metres of water: The smallest public swimming pool site is Teesdale 
Leisure Complex, with a total water area of 243 sq metres of water. 

9.9 The average age of all the swimming pool sites in 2018 is 30 years, this excludes the 
Durham School pool site which opened in 1923 and was last modernised in 2006. The 
average age of the public swimming pool sites is 31 years, the oldest public swimming 
pool site is the Woodhouse Close Leisure Complex, which opened in 1968. The most 
recent public swimming pool site to open is Consett Leisure Centre, which opened in 
2015 

 Measure of Provision  

9.10 Based on a measure of water space per 1,000 population, the County Durham supply 
is 11 sq metres of water space per 1,000 population in 2018.  

9.11 Five neighbouring authorities have a higher supply than County Durham, and three 
authorities a lower supply. Sunderland has the highest supply at 16 sq metres of water 
per 1,000 population and Northumberland South East the lowest, at 9 sq metres of 
water per 1,000 population. 

9.12 The North East Region average is 13 sq metres of water per 1,000 population and the 
England wide average is 12 sq metres of water per 1,000 population in 2018. So the 
provision in County Durham, is lower than for most of the neighbouring local 
authorities and slightly lower than the North East Region and England wide averages. 

9.13 The overall level of provision identified for County Durham will be based on all the 
supply and demand findings. This is simply a measure for comparing the County 
Durham supply with that of the neighbouring local authorities’ supply of water space. It 
is set out because some local authorities like to understand how their provision 
compares with other areas.  

Supply and Demand for Swimming Pools 

9.14 Supply and demand balance compares the total demand for swimming in County 
Durham with the total supply in County Durham. (Note: it does exactly the same for the 
other authorities). 

9.15 Supply and demand balance is NOT based on where the venues are located and their 
catchment area extending into other authorities. Nor, the catchment areas of pools in 
neighbouring authorities extending into County Durham. The more detailed modelling 
based on the CATCHMENT AREAS of pools is set out under Satisfied Demand, 
Unmet Demand and Used Capacity. These findings reflect how much of the County 
Durham demand for swimming can be met and the level of unmet demand.   

9.16 The reason for presenting the supply and demand balance is because some local 
authorities like to see how THEIR total supply of pools compares with THEIR total 
demand for pools.    

9.17 The County Durham residents’ total demand for swimming in 2018 is for 5,463 sq 
metres of water. This compares to the County Durham total supply of 4,785 sq metres 
of water, which is available for community use in the weekly peak period. So, there is a 
negative balance of demand exceeding supply by 678 sq metres of water in 2018.   

Page 348



 

 

29 

9.18 Across the total nine local authorities including County Durham, the total supply is 
15,442 sq metres of water and total demand is for 17,248 sq metres of water. So there 
is a negative supply and demand balance of 1,806 sq metres of water. 

Satisfied or Met Demand for Swimming  

9.19 Satisfied demand measures the proportion of total demand that is met by the capacity 
at the swimming pools from residents who live within the car, walking or public 
transport catchment area of a swimming pool. 

9.20 In 2018, some 85% of the total demand for swimming from County Durham residents 
is satisfied/met. So, this level of the total demand for swimming is located inside the 
catchment area of a pool (pools both inside and outside the authority).  

9.21 It means over eight out of ten visits to a swimming pool are inside the catchment area 
of a pool, plus there is enough capacity at the pools to absorb this level of the County 
Durham total demand for swimming.  

 Retained demand and exported demand  

9.22 There is a sub set of findings for satisfied demand which measures how much of the 
County Durham satisfied demand for swimming is retained at the swimming pool sites 
located in the authority. Then how much is exported and met at pools in neighbouring 
local authorities. The model distributes demand based on residents traveling to and 
using the nearest pool to where they live. Sport England research does support this 
modelling assumption.  

9.23 In terms of visits, the County Durham retained demand is 23,855 visits per week in the 
weekly peak period and the County Durham exported demand, is 4,213 visits per week 
in the weekly peak period. So there is a very close correlation between the location 
and catchment area of the County Durham swimming pools and the County Durham 
demand for swimming. For the vast majority of the County Durham demand, the 
County Durham pools are very accessible and they are the nearest pools to where 
residents live.     

Unmet Demand for Swimming Pools  

9.24 The unmet demand definition has two parts to it  (1) there is too much demand for any 
particular swimming pool within its catchment area; or, (2) the demand is located 
outside the catchment area of any pool and is then classified as unmet demand.  

9.25 In 2018 the County Durham total unmet demand is 14.7% of total demand and this 
equates to 806 sq metres of water. Of this total, 99% is from the second definition, 
unmet demand located outside the catchment area of a pool and 1% is from lack of 
swimming pool capacity (reviewed under the used capacity heading). 

6.15 Unmet demand from lack of access, is by people who do not have access to a car and 
live outside the walk to or public transport catchment area of a pool. It represents 84% 
of the total unmet demand located outside catchment.  

6.16 These findings on unmet demand from lack of accessibility to pools, may appear to 
contradict the findings on satisfied demand. Unmet demand from this source will 
always exist, because it is not possible to get complete geographic coverage whereby 
all residents are inside the catchment area of a pool. 

Page 349



 

 

30 

6.17 It applies even more so in County Durham, given the very extensive land area in the 
west of the authority and where there are very few pool sites. So even travel to pools 
by car presents an issue of accessibility in this area. There is also a much lower 
population density in this area but for these residents, their access to pools is much 
more limited 

6.18 This finding is underlined by Eden District and Richmondshire having the least number 
of swimming pools sites in the study area, at only 2 pool sites in each authority.  So 
there are a very limited number of pool sites for County Durham residents to access in 
these two authorities.  

6.19 The key point is not that unmet demand outside catchment exists but the scale of the 
unmet demand and which is more important. Plus if it is clustered enough to consider 
further pool provision, to improve accessibility to pools for residents.  

6.20 Of the County Durham total unmet demand of 806 sq metres of water, 797 sq metres 
of water is from demand located outside the catchment area of a pool. This is quite a 
high total and the key consideration is whether this unmet demand is clustered 
enough, in any one location, to justify further swimming pool provision?  

6.21 Despite residents in the west of the authority having the least access to pools, unmet 
demand in an area west of Wolsingham only totals between 30 - 40 sq metres of 
water. Unmet demand from residents who live outside the walking catchment area of a 
swimming pool is highest in (1) an area around and south of Seaham ,where it totals 
around 100 sq metres of water, then (2 ) area from Durham City north to Chester – Le 
– Street where it totals between 150  – 200 sq metres of water (Maps 6.1 and 6.2). 

6.22 It would require unmet demand of between 200 – 250 sq metres of water and 
clustered in one area to consider further provision of swimming pools, so as to 
increase accessibility for residents.  

Used Capacity (how full are the Swimming Pools?) 

9.26 Used capacity estimates how well used/how full facilities are. The facilities planning 
model is designed to include a ‘comfort factor’, beyond which the venues are too full. 
The pool itself becomes too busy to be able to swim comfortably, plus the changing 
and circulation areas become too crowded. The model assumes that usage over 70% 
of capacity used in the weekly peak period is busy and the swimming pool is operating 
at an uncomfortable level above that percentage.   

9.27 The findings for County Durham as a County wide average, are just below 62% of pool 
capacity used in the weekly peak period. So the pools are estimated to be quite busy 
but there is a reasonable level of headroom, before the Sport England benchmark of 
70% of pool capacity used in the weekly peak period is reached.  

9.28 The findings for each individual pool site do vary from the County Durham average 
(Table 7.1) and there are several reasons for the variations. 

• Public leisure centres provide for all the swimming activities of: learn to swim; 
public recreational swimming; fun and leisure activities; lane and fitness 
swimming; and swimming development through clubs. The centres will be 
accessible for public use as well as club use. The opening hours will be extensive 
and the centres will be proactively managed to encourage and support swimming 
participation. Finally, as public leisure centres there is not the requirement to pay 
a monthly membership fee as there is with commercial pools. All these factors 

Page 350



 

 

31 

contribute to higher levels of pool usage at the public swimming pool sites and 
there is a “draw effect” Most of the public leisure centres have a used capacity 
which is higher than the County Durham average: Chester-Le-Street Leisure 
Centre 66%; Consett Leisure Centre 66%;  The Louisa Centre 77%; Freemans 
Quay Leisure Centre 100%; Peterlee Leisure Centre 84%; and Spennymoor 
Leisure Centre 64%;  

• It is important to consider also the scale of each pool site and not view the used 
capacity percentage figure in isolation. The public swimming pool sites are the 
biggest pool sites in the county, all of them except Teesdale Leisure Centre, have  
a total water area over 400 sq metres of water and four have a total water area 
over 500 sq metres of water As they are large pool sites, these pools will be able 
to accommodate a higher level of usage than, for example St Johns RC School 
pool, which has an estimated used capacity of 100%, but it is only a 20m x 8m 
pool of 160 sq metres of water.  

• The amount of demand for swimming in an area will obviously impact on the used 
capacity of any individual pool site.  As already set out, demand for swimming is 
much lower in the west of the County and this most likely accounts for the 
Teesdale Leisure Centre having an estimated used capacity of 38% in the weekly 
peak period   

• The smaller commercial swimming pool sites have a lower level of pool capacity 
used in the weekly peak period, ranging from 27% at The Ramside Hotel pool to 
40% at Bannatynes Health Club Chester-Le-Street and The Marriott Leisure 
Club. The type of use at the commercial pools is limited to recreational swimming 
by the centre membership, whilst some commercial pools may also operate a 
swim school. The limited range of swimming activities and with the usage being 
limited to residents who are able and willing to pay the membership fee explains 
the findings for the much lower levels of used capacity at these sites.  

• The estimated used capacity for the education pools ranges from 35% at 
Woodham Academy, 69% at Wolsingham School, 75% at Durham School and 
100% at St Johns RC School. The used capacity of education pools can vary for 
many reasons: (1) ¨As already said, the St Johns School  is a  small pool of 160 
sq metres of water and so it can reach full capacity very quickly; (2) The hours of 
access for community use, if there are only a few hours available each week, 
then the pool’s used capacity will be high - if it is used for all these hours (3) The 
amount of demand in the catchment area of a pool and if this demand is shared 
between many pools with overlapping catchments, or, if the opposite is the case, 
and each pool site is retaining a high level of demand (4) The ease of booking 
arrangements and the price for the pool hire. The programme of use at the school 
pools will be predominately for club use and learn to swim programmes.  Very 
few school swimming pool sites provide for public recreational pay and swim use, 
unless there is a joint use agreement in place, whereby the pool is managed and 
operated for public as well as school use.  All these reasons explain the findings 
for the used capacity of the education pool sites. 

Key Topics  

9.29 There are two major topics which arise from the national run assessment that the 
Council may wish to consider, as part of the indoor sports facilities strategy work it is 
undertaking.  

Page 351



 

 

32 

9.30 The first topic relates to the age of the public leisure centre swimming pools. The 
average age of the public swimming pool sites is 31 years. The oldest public swimming 
pool site is the Woodhouse Close Leisure Complex, which opened in 1968. The most 
recent public swimming pool site is Consett Leisure Centre, which opened in 2015. 

9.31 Of the six sites which opened before 200 ALL six sites have undergone modernisation, 
according to the data, so a very good track record of swimming pool modernisation. 
However, the pools will obviously continue to age and need to be modernised. This 
need is underlined by the National Run assessment that there is a need for all pool 
sites – based on the 2018 data.  

9.32 Any assessment of the future need for swimming pools it is suggested should consider 
the impact of: (1) population growth and its distribution (2) the impact of the changes in 
the age structure of the County Durham population in the future and the impact on 
changes in the demand for swimming.  

9.33 These changes of: growth; potential increase in demand for swimming; and the impact 
on the ageing stock of public swimming pools to meet this increase in demand, should 
all be assessed. 

9.34 The second topic relates to the findings on the used capacity of the County Durham 
pools in the weekly peak period in 2018. The findings are that the estimated used 
capacity of the swimming pool sites are within the Sport England benchmark figure of 
pools being comfortably full at 70% of capacity used in the weekly peak period. There 
is around 8% of headroom before this figure is reached, as a County wide average.  

9.35 However, the distribution of demand and the draw effect of the public leisure centre 
pools, means that most of these pool sites have a used capacity finding close to, or, 
above the 70% figure. The Council may wish to investigate these findings further and 
the scope  to re-distribute demand to create some headroom and, or, consider 
changes in the pool programming to make more use of off peak times to provide for 
the most popular activities   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 352



 

 

33 

Appendix 1: Swimming Pools Included/Excluded 

Swimming Pool Facilities Included within the 2018 National Run Analysis  

Name of Facility Type Dimensions Area 
Site Year 

Built 
Site Year 

Refurbished 

BANNATYNES HEALTH CLUB 

(CHESTER LE STREET) 
Main/General 20 x 8 160 2003  

CHESTER LE STREET LEISURE 

CENTRE 
Main/General 25 x 13 325 1974 2005 

CHESTER LE STREET LEISURE 

CENTRE 
Learner/Teaching/Training 13 x 10 130   

CONSETT LEISURE CENTRE Main/General 25 x 13 325 2015  

CONSETT LEISURE CENTRE Learner/Teaching/Training 20 x 10 200   

THE LOUISA CENTRE Main/General 25 x 12 300 2004  

THE LOUISA CENTRE Learner/Teaching/Training 12 x 10 120   

DURHAM SCHOOL Main/General 21 x 8 161 1923 2006 

FREEMANS QUAY LEISURE CENTRE Main/General 25 x 19 475 2008  

FREEMANS QUAY LEISURE CENTRE Learner/Teaching/Training 10 x 9 87   

MARRIOTT LEISURE CLUB 

(DURHAM ROYAL COUNTY) 
Main/General 17 x 14 238 1989  

RAMSIDE HALL HOTEL & GOLF 

CLUB 
Main/General 25 x 11 275 2015  

PETERLEE LEISURE CENTRE Main/General 25 x 13 313 1974 2011 

PETERLEE LEISURE CENTRE Learner/Teaching/Training 13 x 9 113   

NEWTON AYCLIFFE LEISURE 

CENTRE 
Main/General 25 x 13 313 1974 2016 

NEWTON AYCLIFFE LEISURE 

CENTRE 
Learner/Teaching/Training 12 x 8 96   

SPENNYMOOR LEISURE CENTRE Leisure Pool 33 x 17 561 1984 2007 

WOODHAM ACADEMY Main/General 25 x 10 250 1970 2006 

TEESDALE LEISURE CENTRE Main/General 25 x 9 213 1990 2008 

TEESDALE LEISURE CENTRE Learner/Teaching/Training 7 x 5 33   

ST JOHNS RC SCHOOL Main/General 20 x 8 160 1964 2015 

Page 353



 

 

34 

Name of Facility Type Dimensions Area 
Site Year 

Built 
Site Year 

Refurbished 

WOLSINGHAM SCHOOL Main/General 20 x 7 140 1986  

WOODHOUSE CLOSE LEISURE 

COMPLEX 
Main/General 25 x 13 313 1968 1990 

WOODHOUSE CLOSE LEISURE 

COMPLEX 
Learner/Teaching/Training 13 x 8 94   

WOODHOUSE CLOSE LEISURE 

COMPLEX 
Learner/Teaching/Training 13 x 5 63   

 

Swimming Pools Excluded  

The audit excludes facilities that are deemed to be either for private use, too small or closed. The 

following facilities were deemed to fall under one or more of these categories and therefore 

excluded from the modelling: 

Site Name Facility Sub Type Reason for Exclusion 

BULLION LANE PRIMARY SCHOOL Main/General Private Use. Too Small.  

BELLEVUE SWIM CENTRE) Main/General Closed.  

BELLEVUE SWIM CENTRE Learner/Teaching/Training Closed.  

CATCHGATE PRIMARY SCHOOL Main/General Private Use. Too Small.  

LANCHESTER ENDOWED PAROCHIAL PRIMARY SCHOOL Learner/Teaching/Training Closed. Private Use. Too Small.  

AYKLEY HEADS SPORTS CENTRE Main/General Closed.  

BANNATYNE HEALTH CLUB (DURHAM) Main/General Too Small.  

DURHAM CITY SWIMMING BATHS Main/General Closed.  

MERIDIAN HEALTH & FITNESS (CLOSED) Main/General Closed. Too Small.  

PACE HEALTH CLUB (DURHAM) Main/General Too Small.  

ACRE RIGG ACADEMY Learner/Teaching/Training Closed. Private Use. Too Small.  

SEAHAM SCHOOL OF TECHNOLOGY Main/General Closed.  

SEAVIEW PRIMARY SCHOOL Learner/Teaching/Training Private Use. Too Small.  

SHOTTON PRIMARY SCHOOL Main/General Private Use. Too Small.  

ADVANTAGE HEALTH CLUB (RUSHYFORD) Leisure Pool Too Small.  

FISHBURN COMMUNITY SWIMMING POOL  Main/General Closed. Too Small.  

Page 354



 

 

35 

Site Name Facility Sub Type Reason for Exclusion 

SUGAR HILL PRIMARY SCHOOL Learner/Teaching/Training Closed. Private Use. Too Small.  

BARNARD CASTLE SCHOOL (SENIOR SCHOOL) Main/General Private Use. Too Small.  

HEADLAM SPA Learner/Teaching/Training Too Small.  

GLENHOLME LEISURE COMPLEX  Main/General Closed.  

OLD MANOR HOUSE HOTEL Learner/Teaching/Training Too Small.  

STANHOPE POOL Lido Lido.  

 

Appendix 2 – Model description, Inclusion Criteria and Model 

Parameters 

Included within this appendix are the following: 

• Model description 

• Facility Inclusion Criteria 

• Model Parameters 

Model Description 

1. Background 

1.1 The Facilities Planning Model (FPM) is a computer-based supply/demand model, 
which has been developed by Edinburgh University in conjunction with sportscotland 
and Sport England since the 1980s.  

1.2 The model is a tool to help to assess the strategic provision of community sports 
facilities in an area. It is currently applicable for use in assessing the provision of 
sports halls, swimming pools, indoor bowls centres and artificial grass pitches. 

2. Use of FPM 

2.1 Sport England uses the FPM as one of its principal tools in helping to assess the 
strategic need for certain community sports facilities. The FPM has been developed as 
a means of: 

• assessing requirements for different types of community sports facilities on a 
local, regional or national scale; 

• helping local authorities to determine an adequate level of sports facility 
provision to meet their local needs; 

• helping to identify strategic gaps in the provision of sports facilities; and 

• comparing alternative options for planned provision, taking account of changes in 
demand and supply. This includes testing the impact of opening, relocating and 

Page 355



 

 

36 

closing facilities, and the likely impact of population changes on the needs for 
sports facilities. 

2.2 Its current use is limited to those sports facility types for which Sport England holds 
substantial demand data, i.e. swimming pools, sports halls, indoor bowls and artificial 
grass. 

2.3 The FPM has been used in the assessment of Lottery funding bids for community 
facilities, and as a principal planning tool to assist local authorities in planning for the 
provision of community sports facilities. For example, the FPM was used to help 
assess the impact of a 50m swimming pool development in the London Borough of 
Hillingdon. The Council invested £22 million in the sports and leisure complex around 
this pool and received funding of £2,025,000 from the London Development Agency 
and £1,500,000 from Sport England1. 

3. How the model works 

3.1 In its simplest form, the model seeks to assess whether the capacity of existing 
facilities for a particular sport is capable of meeting local demand for that sport, taking 
into account how far people are prepared to travel to such a facility. 

3.2 In order to do this, the model compares the number of facilities (supply) within an area, 
against the demand for that facility (demand) that the local population will produce, 
similar to other social gravity models.    

3.3 To do this, the FPM works by converting both demand (in terms of people), and supply 
(facilities), into a single comparable unit. This unit is ‘visits per week in the peak period’ 
(VPWPP).  Once converted, demand and supply can be compared. 

3.4 The FPM uses a set of parameters to define how facilities are used and by whom. 
These parameters are primarily derived from a combination of data including actual 
user surveys from a range of sites across the country in areas of good supply, together 
with participation survey data. These surveys provide core information on the profile of 
users, such as, the age and gender of users, how often they visit, the distance 
travelled, duration of stay, and on the facilities, themselves, such as, programming, 
peak times of use, and capacity of facilities.   

3.5 This survey information is combined with other sources of data to provide a set of 
model parameters for each facility type. The original core user data for halls and pools 
comes from the National Halls and Pools survey undertaken in 1996. This data formed 
the basis for the National Benchmarking Service (NBS). For AGPs, the core data used 
comes from the user survey of AGPs carried out in 2005/6 jointly with Sportscotland.  

3.6 User survey data from the NBS and other appropriate sources are used to update the 
models parameters on a regular basis.  The parameters are set out at the end of the 
document, and the range of the main source data used by the model includes: 

• National Halls & Pools survey data –Sport England 

• Benchmarking Service User Survey data –Sport England 

• UK 2000 Time Use Survey – ONS 

• General Household Survey – ONS 

                                                           
1 Award made in 2007/08 year. 

Page 356



 

 

37 

• Scottish Omnibus Surveys – Sport Scotland 

• Active People Survey - Sport England 

• STP User Survey - Sport England & Sportscotland 

• Football participation -  The FA 

• Young People & Sport in England – Sport England 

• Hockey Fixture data -  Fixtures Live  

• Taking Part Survey – DCMS 

 

4. Calculating Demand 

4.1 This is calculated by applying the user information from the parameters, as referred to 
above, to the population2. This produces the number of visits for that facility that will be 
demanded by the population.  

4.2 Depending on the age and gender make-up of the population, this will affect the 
number of visits an area will generate. In order to reflect the different population make-
up of the country, the FPM calculates demand based on the smallest census 
groupings.  These are Output Areas (OA)3.  

4.3 The use of OAs in the calculation of demand ensures that the FPM can reflect and 
portray differences in demand in areas at the most sensitive level based on available 
census information.  Each OA used is given a demand value in VPWPP by the FPM. 

5. Calculating Supply Capacity 

5.1 A facility’s capacity varies depending on its size (i.e. size of pool, hall, pitch number), 
and how many hours the facility is available for use by the community.   

5.2 The FPM calculates a facility’s capacity by applying each of the capacity factors taken 
from the model parameters, such as the assumptions made as to how many ‘visits’ 
can be accommodated by the particular facility at any one time. Each facility is then 
given a capacity figure in VPWPP. (See parameters in Section C). 

5.3 Based on travel time information4 taken from the user survey, the FPM then calculates 
how much demand would be met by the facility having regard to its capacity and how 
much demand is within the facility’s catchment.  The FPM includes an important 
feature of spatial interaction.  This feature takes account of the location and capacity of 
all the facilities, having regard to their location and the size of demand and assesses 
whether the facilities are in the right place to meet the demand. 

5.4 It is important to note that the FPM does not simply add up the total demand within an 
area, and compare that to the total supply within the same area. This approach would 

                                                           
2 For example, it is estimated that 7.72% of 16-24 year old males will demand to use an AGP, 1.67 times a week. This 
calculation is done separately for the 12 age/gender groupings.  
3 Census Output Areas (OA) are the smallest grouping of census population data, and provides the population information on 
which the FPM’s demand parameters are applied. A demand figure can then be calculated for each OA based on the 
population profile. There are over 171,300 OAs in England.  An OA has a target value of 125 households per OA.  

     
4 To reflect the fact that as distance to a facility increases, fewer visits are made, the FPM uses a travel time distance decay 
curve, where the majority of users travel up to 20 minutes.  The FPM also takes account of the road network when calculating 
travel times.  Car ownership levels, taken from Census data, are also taken into account when calculating how people will travel 
to facilities.   

Page 357



 

 

38 

not take account of the spatial aspect of supply against demand in a particular area.  
For example, if an area had a total demand for 5 facilities, and there were currently 6 
facilities within the area, it would be too simplistic to conclude that there was an 
oversupply of 1 facility, as this approach would not take account of whether the 5 
facilities are in the correct location for local people to use them within that area. It 
might be that all the facilities were in one part of the borough, leaving other areas 
under provided.  An assessment of this kind would not reflect the true picture of 
provision.  The FPM can assess supply and demand within an area based on the 
needs of the population within that area. 

5.5 In making calculations as to supply and demand, visits made to sports facilities are not 
artificially restricted or calculated by reference to administrative boundaries, such as 
local authority areas.  Users are generally expected to use their closest facility.  The 
FPM reflects this through analysing the location of demand against the location of 
facilities, allowing for cross boundary movement of visits.  For example, if a facility is 
on the boundary of a local authority, users will generally be expected to come from the 
population living close to the facility, but who may be in an adjoining authority. 

6. Facility Attractiveness – for halls and pools only 

6.1 Not all facilities are the same and users will find certain facilities more attractive to use 
than others.  The model attempts to reflect this by introducing an attractiveness 
weighting factor, which effects the way visits are distributed between facilities. 
Attractiveness however, is very subjective. Currently weightings are only used for hall 
and pool modelling, with a similar approach for AGPs is being developed. 

6.2 Attractiveness weightings are based on the following: 

6.1.1. Age/refurbishment weighting – pools & halls - the older a facility is, the less 
attractive it will be to users. It is recognised that this is a general assumption and 
that there may be examples where older facilities are more attractive than newly 
built ones due to excellent local management, programming and sports 
development.  Additionally, the date of any significant refurbishment is also 
included within the weighting factor; however, the attractiveness is set lower than 
a new build of the same year. It is assumed that a refurbishment that is older 
than 20 years will have a minimal impact on the facilities attractiveness.   The 
information on year built/refurbished is taken from Active Places.  A graduated 
curve is used to allocate the attractiveness weighting by year. This curve levels 
off at around 1920 with a 20% weighting.  The refurbishment weighting is slightly 
lower than the new built year equivalent. 

6.1.2. Management & ownership weighting – halls only - due to the large number of 
halls being provided by the education sector, an assumption is made that in 
general, these halls will not provide as balanced a program than halls run by 
LAs, trusts, etc, with school halls more likely to be used by teams and groups 
through block booking.    A less balanced programme is assumed to be less 
attractive to a general, pay & play user, than a standard local authority leisure 
centre sports hall, with a wider range of activities on offer. 

6.3 To reflect this, two weightings curves are used for education and non-education halls, 
a high weighted curve, and a lower weighted curve; 

Page 358



 

 

39 

6.1.3. High weighted curve - includes Non-education management - better balanced 
programme, more attractive. 

6.1.4. Lower weighted curve - includes Educational owned & managed halls, less 
attractive. 

6.4 Commercial facilities – halls and pools - whilst there are relatively few sports halls 
provided by the commercial sector, an additional weighing factor is incorporated within 
the model to reflect the cost element often associated with commercial facilities.  For 
each population output area the Indices of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) score is used to 
limit whether people will use commercial facilities. The assumption is that the higher 
the IMD score (less affluence) the less likely the population of the OA would choose to 
go to a commercial facility.   

7. Comfort Factor – halls and pools 

7.1 As part of the modelling process, each facility is given a maximum number of visits it 
can accommodate, based on its size, the number of hours it’s available for community 
use and the ‘at one time capacity’ figure (pools =1 user /6m2, halls = 6 users /court).  
This is gives each facility a “theoretical capacity”.    

7.2 If the facilities were full to their theoretical capacity, then there would simply not be the 
space to undertake the activity comfortably. In addition, there is a need to take account 
of a range of activities taking place which have different numbers of users, for 
example, aqua aerobics will have significantly more participants, than lane swimming 
sessions. Additionally, there may be times and sessions that, whilst being within the 
peak period, are less busy and so will have fewer users.      

7.3 To account of these factors the notion of a ‘comfort factor’ is applied within the model.  
For swimming pools 70%, and for sports halls 80%, of its theoretical capacity is 
considered as being the limit where the facility starts to become uncomfortably busy. 
(Currently, the comfort factor is NOT applied to AGPs due to the fact they are 
predominantly used by teams, which have a set number of players and so the notion of 
having ‘less busy’ pitch is not applicable).  

7.4 The comfort factor is used in two ways; 

7.1.1. Utilised Capacity - How well used is a facility?  ‘Utilised capacity’ figures for 
facilities are often seen as being very low, 50-60%, however, this needs to be put 
into context with 70-80% comfort factor levels for pools and halls.  The closer 
utilised capacity gets to the comfort factor level, the busier the facilities are 
becoming.   You should not aim to have facilities operating at 100% of their 
theoretical capacity, as this would mean that every session throughout the peak 
period would be being used to its maximum capacity. This would be both 
unrealistic in operational terms and unattractive to users. 

7.1.2. Adequately meeting Unmet Demand – the comfort factor is also used to increase 
the amount of facilities that are needed to comfortably meet the unmet demand. 
If this comfort factor is not added, then any facilities provided will be operating at 
its maximum theoretical capacity, which is not desirable as a set out above.    

8. Utilised Capacity (used capacity) 

Page 359



 

 

40 

8.1 Following on from Comfort Factor section, here is more guidance on Utilised Capacity. 

8.2 Utilised capacity refers to how much of facilities theoretical capacity is being used. This 
can, at first, appear to be unrealistically low, with area figures being in the 50-60% 
region. Without any further explanation, it would appear that facilities are half empty.  
The key point is not to see a facilities theoretical maximum capacity (100%) as being 
an optimum position.  This, in practise, would mean that a facility would need to be 
completely full every hour it was open in the peak period.  This would be both 
unrealistic from an operational perspective and undesirable from a user’s perspective, 
as the facility would completely full.  

8.3 For examples:  

A 25m, 4 lane pool has Theoretical capacity of 2260 per week, during 52 hour peak 
period. 

8.4 Usage of a pool will vary throughout the evening, with some sessions being busier 
than others though programming, such as, an aqua-aerobics session between 7-8pm, 
lane swimming between 8-9pm. Other sessions will be quieter, such as between 9-
10pm.    This pattern of use would give a total of 143 swims taking place.   However, 
the pool’s maximum capacity is 264 visits throughout the evening.  In this instance the 
pools utilised capacity for the evening would be 54%. 

8.5 As a guide, 70% utilised capacity is used to indicate that pools are becoming busy, 
and 80% for sports halls.  This should be seen only as a guide to help flag up when 
facilities are becoming busier, rather than a ‘hard threshold’. 

9. Travel times Catchments 

9.1 The model uses travel times to define facility catchments in terms of driving and 
walking.  

9.2 The Ordnance Survey (OS) Integrated Transport Network (ITN) for roads has been 
used to calculate the off-peak drive times between facilities and the population, 
observing one-way and turn restrictions which apply, and taking into account delays at 
junctions and car parking.  Each street in the network is assigned a speed for car 
travel based on the attributes of the road, such as the width of the road, and 
geographical location of the road, for example the density of properties along the 
street. These travel times have been derived through national survey work, and so are 
based on actual travel patterns of users. The road speeds used for Inner & Outer 
London Boroughs have been further enhanced by data from the Department of 
Transport. 

 4-5pm 5-6pm 6-7pm 7-8pm 8-9pm 9-10pm Total Visits 
for the 

evening 

Theoretical 
max 
capacity 

44 44 44 44 44 44 264 

Actual 
Usage 

8 30 35 50 15 5 143 

Page 360



 

 

41 

9.3 The walking catchment uses the OS Urban Path Network to calculate travel times 
along paths and roads, excluding motorways and trunk roads. A standard walking 
speed of 3 mph is used for all journeys. 

9.4 The model includes three different modes of travel, by car, public transport & walking.  
Car access is also taken into account, in areas of lower access to a car, the model 
reduces the number of visits made by car, and increases those made on foot. 

9.5 Overall, surveys have shown that the majority of visits made to swimming pools, sports 
halls and AGPs are made by car, with a significant minority of visits to pools and sports 
halls being made on foot. 

 

 

 

 

 

9.6 The model includes a distance decay function; where the further a user is from a 
facility, the less likely they will travel.  The set out below is the survey data with the % 
of visits made within each of the travel times, which shows that almost 90% of all 
visits, both car borne or walking, are made within 20 minutes.  Hence, 20 minutes is 
often used as a rule of thumb for catchments for sports halls and pools. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

NOTE: These are approximate figures, and should only be used as a guide. 

 Facility  Car Walking Public transport 

Swimming Pool 76% 15% 9% 

Sports Hall 77% 15% 8% 

AGP  
Combined 
Football 
Hockey 

 
83% 
79% 
96% 

 
14% 
17% 
2% 

 
3% 
3% 
2% 

 Sport halls Swimming Pools  

Minutes Car Walk Car Walk 

0-10 62% 61% 58% 57% 

10-20 29% 26% 32% 31% 

20 -40 8% 11% 9% 11% 

Page 361



 

 

2 

Inclusion Criteria used within analysis: Swimming Pools 

 
The following inclusion criteria were used for this analysis: 

• Include all Operational Indoor Pools available for community use i.e. pay and play, 
membership, Sports Club/Community Association 

• Exclude all pools not available for community use i.e. private use 

• Exclude all outdoor pools i.e. Lidos 

• Exclude all pools where the main pool is less than 20 meters OR is less than 160 
square meters 

• Include all ‘planned’, ‘under construction, and ‘temporarily closed’ facilities only where 
all data is available for inclusion 

• Where opening times are missing, availability has been included based on similar 
facility types 

• Where the year built is missing assume date 19755. 

Facilities in Wales and the Scottish Borders included, as supplied by sportscotland and 
Sports Council for Wales.   

Model Parameters used in the Analysis  

Pool Parameters 

                                                           
5 Choosing a date in the mid ‘70s ensures that the facility is included, whilst not overestimating its impact within the run.  

At one Time  
Capacity 

   
0.16667 per square metre = 1 person per 6 square meters 

 

Catchment  

Maps 

 Car:                      20 minutes   
Walking:         1.6 km  
Public transport:   20 minutes at about half the speed of a car 
 
NOTE: Catchment times are indicative, within the context of a distance decay 
function of the model.   

    

Duration  60 minutes for tanks and leisure pools  

 
Percentage 

Participatio
n 

Frequency 

per week 

  

Age 0 - 15 16 - 24 25 - 39 40 - 59 60-79 80+ 

Male 10.39 7.58 9.39 8.05 4.66 1.74 

Female 13.78 14.42 16.04 12.50 7.52 1.56 

Age 0 - 15 16 - 24 25 - 39 40 - 59 60-79 80+ 

Male 1.11 1.06 0.96 1.03 1.26 1.49 

Female 1.08 0.98 0.88 1.01 1.13 1.19 
 

 

Peak 
Period 

 
Percentage 
in Peak 
Period 

 Weekday:   12:00 to 13:30; 16:00 to 22.00 
Saturday:    09:00 to 16:00 
Sunday:      09:00 to 16:30 
Total:           52 Hours 
 
63% 

 

Page 362



 

 

3 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 363



This page is intentionally left blank



   
 
 

ALLIANCE LEISURE and the UK LEISURE FRAMEWORK 
 

UK Leisure Framework Procurement  

The framework notices for procurement under OJEU are shown as below: 

Sell2Wales – PIN Notice: 

https://www.sell2wales.gov.wales/search/show/search_view.aspx?ID=JAN117731 – OJEU 

Reference: 2016/S 007-007518 

Sell2Wales – Contract Notice: 

https://www.sell2wales.gov.wales/search/show/search_view.aspx?ID=JUL144370 – OJEU Reference: 

2016/S 137-246892 

Sell2Wales – Contract Award Notice: 

https://www.sell2wales.gov.wales/search/show/search_view.aspx?ID=FEB186452 – OJEU 

Reference: 2017/S 031-055422  

OJEU Notices – http://ted.europa.eu/udl?uri=TED:NOTICE:7518-2016:TEXT:EN:HTML&tabId=4  

 
 The Framework has been set up by the contracting authority with the power to establish  
 Council is adequately identified in the description of those who can utilise the Framework  
 Total value call off is identified within the scope advertised  
 4 year framework term commenced February 2017  
 

Call off Agreement and Process  

Alliance are the Main Contractor (as relating to the Framework) and the process initially is that: 

 Client (Council) completes a Project Questionnaire (PQ) which ALS would support and lodge 

 Denbighshire CC are responsible for accepting projects to the framework (via questionnaire) 

 Access Agreement is then entered into between Alliance and the Council once the project has 

been accepted by Denbighshire CC to the framework 

There are, essentially, two contractual stages in the framework process: 

1. The first is governed by the Access Agreement (AA) 

2. The second by the relevant ‘Call Off’ Development Management Agreement (DMA) and associated 

Building subcontracts 

Under the Access Agreement ALS can be committed to take a project through to cost certainty (the 

full extent of the scoping phase).  There is no need for a JCT type preconstruction agreement where a 

builder is engaged to work up the scheme before a decision is made to proceed as the Access 

Agreement will define what will be produced. 

This approach follows an agreed ‘Gateway’ that is jointly worked up between Alliance and the Council 

and can move at pace dependent upon client timeframes. 

Page 365

https://www.sell2wales.gov.wales/search/show/search_view.aspx?ID=JAN117731
https://www.sell2wales.gov.wales/search/show/search_view.aspx?ID=JUL144370
https://www.sell2wales.gov.wales/search/show/search_view.aspx?ID=FEB186452
http://ted.europa.eu/udl?uri=TED:NOTICE:7518-2016:TEXT:EN:HTML&tabId=4


   
 

The Framework adopts its own approach to the stages of the development process, essentially laying 

down what ALS will do in the pre-construction contract stages in accordance with agreed 

requirements with the Council. 

The Access Agreement is designed to enable Clients who are able to access the Framework to proceed 

through all the phases to the point where they can then make an informed decision to commit to 

construction.   

This also allows for all the scoping to be done PRIOR to having liability as until the project call off 

agreement (DMA) is effected, the framework access fee is not payable. 

There is a standard call off contract (Development Management Agreement - DMA) that enables use 

of various construction contracts, of which it is favourable as JCT for this type of leisure project but all 

contract forms are deliverable.  By October 2017, the Framework will have adopted JCT 2016 (it is 

currently 2011).  

 

Contractor (Framework) and Contractors (Construction)  

Alliance Leisure are the singly appointed contractor (Development Partner) on the Framework as first 

line, but numerous builders, architects and suppliers are named within the Framework supply chain 

(http://leisureframework.co.uk)  

Contractor (Construction) default/failures and governance are dealt with in the call off contract 

(Development Management Agreement) and this is a relationship between the Client and Alliance, 

with the Framework Agreement stipulating how Alliance have to conduct ourselves. 

The Framework allows for direct appointment of construction contractors nominated on the 

framework and Collateral Warranties flow from the Delivery Agreement and construction contract.  

 

Value for Money and VFM Construction Contractor Market Testing 

Alliance have now taken several projects (including one with a value of c£15m and one at c£7m) 

through the Framework stages, and we could put the Council in contact with clients, who would 

hopefully reassure that the process is very thorough, very quick and that there was clarity with regard 

to fees and outcomes. 

Through the Construction Contractor appointment, market testing of all major packages and 

components would be achieved with full visibility. 

OHP’s on the framework have a maximum value, but other than that, we would confidently be able 

to agree criteria to achieve VFM from the agreed building contractor’s panel. 

 

 

 

Page 366

http://leisureframework.co.uk/


   
 
ALS only works with subcontractors who are proven as competitive in the market place through either 
competitive tendering processes or by the analysis of cost plans by a Chartered Quantity Surveyor. 
 
Construction works are usually let on a design and build basis primarily for the following reasons: 
 

 Achieving early appointment of the main contractor ahead of the completion of design, and 
potentially a quicker start on site and reduction in preliminary costs; 

 Securing the involvement of a contractor for pre-contract services on a competitive basis, to 
obtain input on build-ability and design cost reduction and also for PI coverage; 

 Retaining greater client involvement in the pre-selection and appointment of sub-contractors so 
as to maximise efficiency; 

 Motivating the construction team to drive out cost and to drive in value; 

 Transferring a greater degree of design and other construction risk to the contractor to protect 
client investment. 

 
In regard to projects which reduce subsidy, early commencement speeds up the start of revenue 
benefits being achieved and the appointment of Alliance provides an expedient route which protects 
against construction industry inflation. 
 

Additional Alliance Framework Benefits – Added Value 

As Alliance have the ability under the Framework to present ‘added value’ that normal construction 

frameworks do not, Alliance would commit under negotiation for the DMA relating to the provision of 

added value services to help both the council and the operator be more confident in delivery of the 

business plan. 

This may include the provision of impact sales teams, training, and marketing support under 

negotiation of desired input, as achieved successfully in Alliance project delivery with current clients. 

Further, Alliance would deliver the following benefits: 

 Equipment and Value Testing – Alliance have recently undertaken soft market testing of 

fitness equipment, CRM, CHP and other Energy Benefits that have resulted in best 

procurement of non-construction elements. Alliance would welcome the council contacting 

our current client authorities to validate the value added 

 Marketing Support and Added Value  

 Funding Potential and Risk Transfer (Guaranteed Maximum Price)  

 Community Benefits Action Plan – Construction and Leisure Specific  

Construction: Delivery and maximisation of value for money throughout construction is a priority: 

 Programme - ALS establish whether the facility can stay operational to protect income where 

possible (for refurbishment projects) and have a track record in achieving phasing successfully 

as leisure specialists with an understanding of operational requirements 

 Compliance - design interfaces and co-ordination of specialist installations with supply chain 

partners involved in the achievement of design and delivery efficiencies. All of these measures 

will reduce waste and inefficiencies in cost and time to contribute to the delivery of the best 

value solution for DCC. 

Page 367



This page is intentionally left blank



Reminder: You are viewing a draft report 

and content may change 

County Durham

Local Football 
Facility Plan 
June 2019

Page 1 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 369



Contents

Executive summary1. 

Introduction2. 

County Durham3. 

Assets and opportunities4. 

3G football turf pitches (FTPs)5. 

Improved grass pitches6. 

Changing room pavilions / clubhouses7. 

Small-sided facilities8. 

Appendix A: Priority project list9. 

Appendix B: Consultation list10. 

Page 2 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 370



Executive 

summary
In summary, the LFFP for County Durham identifies 

opportunities to accurately target investment in football 

facilities across the local area.

The national funding partners have significantly increased 

investment to accelerate efforts to deliver more and better 

football facilities for the grassroots game and this plan 

proposes a programme of 44 priority projects for potential 

investment that will transform local football facilities, 

including 3G FTPs, improved grass pitches, changing rooms 

pavilions/clubhouses and small-sided facilities.

This LFFP will be the go-to document for football facility 

investment in County Durham. However, it does not 

guarantee the success of future funding applications; each 

of the priority projects identified will still have to follow an 

application process to show how it will deliver key 

participation outcomes, be a quality and sustainable facility 

and demonstrate suitable match-funding.

8
3G FTPs

89
Improved grass 

pitches

13
Changing rooms/ 

pavilions/ 

clubhouses

9
Small-sided 

facilities

Page 3 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 371



Next steps

When each priority project is in a position to proceed, pre-

application support will be provided by the Football 

Foundation and the Durham County FA. Local stakeholders 

are strongly encouraged to maintain positive partnerships 

with these organisations.

The successful delivery of this plan will ultimately require the 

collective efforts of all local partners. To achieve this, it is 

recommended that the important work undertaken by these 

local partners to produce this plan continues via on-going 

meetings/dialogue in order to work collaboratively to deliver 

the priority projects and review progress.

This plan will be updated periodically to ensure it remains up 

to date and reflective of local needs. If you have a project / 

opportunity that was not identified at the time of writing this 

plan please contact Durham County FA.

“Within 10 years, we aim to deliver great football facilities 

wherever they're needed” 

Page 4 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 372



Introduction
This is the Local Football Facility Plan (LFFP) for County 

Durham. It was prepared by Knight, Kavanagh and Page 

(KKP) with support from local partners, including:

What is the goal?

Every local area in the Country will have a LFFP to enable 

investment in football facilities to be accurately targeted.

Who is behind this?

The Football Association, the Premier League and Sport 

England (on behalf of Government). This partnership 

finances the National Football Facility Strategy (NFFS) and 

commissions the Football Foundation to deliver it.

What is the purpose of this plan?

The national funding partners have significantly increased 

investment to accelerate efforts to deliver more and better 

football facilities for the grassroots game. The purpose of 

this plan is to identify the priority projects for potential 

investment in County Durham.

Durham County Council

Football Foundation

Durham FA

Sport England

County Durham Sport

Page 5 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 373



Why invest in football facilities?

As the nation’s most popular team sport, football has the 

power to contribute positively to vital social outcomes and 

health priorities. To maximise this power, facilities have to 

be welcoming environments to attract first-time users and 

repeat visits, whether for informal, recreational or 

competitive football. Research clearly and continually 

demonstrates the positive impact high-quality football 

facilities, in the right locations, can have on participation and 

enjoyment. Latent demand exists, but facility quantity and 

quality has to ‘step up’ if football is to reach out to everyone.

How are we going to do it?

£1.3billion has been spent by football and Government since 

2000 to enhance existing football facilities and build new 

ones. However, more is needed if football and 

Government’s shared objectives for participation, individual 

well-being and community cohesion are to be achieved. 

Nationally, direct investment will be increased – initially to 

£69 million per annum from football and Government (a 15% 

increase on recent years). Locally, the work has already 

started - this LFFP will guide the allocation of 90% of 

national funds and forge stronger partnerships with local 

stakeholders to develop key sites. This, together with local 

Page 6 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 374



match-funding will deliver over one billion pounds of 

investment into football facilities over the next 10-years.

What are the priorities for 

investment?

This LFFP, with guidance from local partners, has 

developed a list of high level projects for potential 

investment. Each is aligned to the investment priorities set 

out in the National Football Facilities Strategy, which 

include:

What outcomes will be achieved?

The priority projects for potential investment identified in this 

plan will help develop a sustainable network of quality 

facilities to drive participation across all parts of the game. 

Central to this are five key success factors: quality, 

inclusivity, sustainability, engagement and usage. Each 

identified project takes account of these factors.

1,000 new 3G football turf pitches (FTPs): in a mix of 

sizes and settings, dependent upon local needs. All 

aimed at enhancing the quality of the playing 

experience.

20,000 improved natural-turf pitches: to help address 

drop-off due to a poor playing experience.

1,000 new changing pavilions / clubhouses: all 

linked to priority sites.

Small-sided facilities: to grow the small-sided game 

for teams & leagues, recreational and informal play.

How should this plan be used?

This LFFP will, in effect, be the go-to document for football 

facility investment in County Durham. Whilst it identifies 

priority projects for potential investment, it does not 

Page 7 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 375



guarantee the success of future funding applications. Each 

project must still follow an application process to show how 

it will deliver key participation outcomes, become a quality 

and sustainable facility and demonstrate suitable match-

funding. When a project is in a position to proceed, the 

Football Foundation will determine a suitable timeframe to 

submit a grant application and pre-application support will 

be provided by Durham County FA and the Football 

Foundation.

Set a 10-Year 

vision to 

transform local 

football facilities

Identify priority 

projects to be 

delivered

Act as an 

investment 

portfolio for 

projects that 

require funding

Be updated on a 

regular basis

How should this plan NOT be used?

A LFFP is an investment portfolio of priority projects for 

potential investment - it is not a detailed demand and supply 

analysis of all pitch provision in a local area. It cannot be 

used as a replacement for a playing pitch strategy (PPS) 

and it will not be accepted as an evidence base for site 

change of use or disposal. A LFFP will however build on 

available/existing local evidence and strategic plans and 

may adopt relevant actions from a PPS and/or complement 

these with additional investment priorities.

Page 8 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 376



County Durham
Local area

County Durham is located in the North East region.

The current population of the Authority (ONS 2017 Mid-Year 

Estimate) is 523,662. This is expected to rise to 549,397 by 

2039.

It is ranked seven out of 12 LAs in the North East and 82 out 

of 326 LAs nationally on the Indices of Multiple Deprivation 

(ONS).

County Durham’s ethnic composition is primarily white 

(98.15%). This is substantially higher than the national 

average (85.4%).

The proportion of Durham’s population represented by the 

BAME community is 1.85%. This is well below the national 

average (14.6%).

Page 9 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 377



Demographics

2017

523,662
Current 

population 2039

549,397
Projected 

population

7th
most 

deprived out 

of 12 local 

authorities in 

the region 

82nd
most 

deprived out 

of 326 local 

authorities in 

England 

Ethnicity data

Asian (0.95%) 

Black (0.14%) 

Mixed (0.6%) 

Other (0.16%) 

White (98.15%) 

% of people 

that are 

inactive

County Durham 

Region 

England 

ONS data and Sport England Active Lives Survey 2016/17

25%
28% 26%

Page 10 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 378



Local partners

Local authority

The County Durham Health and Wellbeing Strategy commits 

it to improving the health and wellbeing of the people of 

County Durham and to reducing health inequalities. One of 

the stated objectives to achieve this is increased physical 

activity and participation in sports and leisure.

The County Durham PPS is currently being developed; sign 

off is expected in Autumn 2019.

County football association

County Durham is covered by Durham County FA which 

provides governance and development support to all 

aspects of local football including coaches, referees, 

volunteers, clubs and leagues; supporting football for all. 

The County FA has a designated facilities investment lead 

officer who works to ensure the right facilities are located in 

the right locations.

Football Foundation

The Regional Engagement Manager and Regional 

Technical Project Manager at the Football Foundation work 

Page 11 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 379



Football Foundation Investment

27
Total grants

£9,025,531
Total project cost

£3,837,615
Total grant value

25 
Sites improved

11
New 3G FTPs

4
Changing 

rooms / 

pavilions

11
Grass pitches 

improved

See Football Foundation website for more info 

(http://www.footballfoundation.org.uk/impact/where-our-money-goes)

collaboratively with the County FA to provide pre-application 

support to priority projects for potential investment.

Sport England

Has a network of planning managers who have a statutory 

role in the planning system to protect playing fields and 

Page 12 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 380



provide consultation responses to planning applications 

relating to sporting facilities . They also play a key role in 

strategic planning for sports facilities, providing advice and 

support to local authorities to assess need for facilities in 

their local area.

Professional club community 

organisations (CCOs)

These offer a variety of programmes and services to support 

local communities (sporting and non-sporting). The 

Foundation of Light, the Hartlepool United Community 

Sports Foundation and the Newcastle United Foundation 

runs a variety of engagement, football and sporting activities 

in the local area.

Local leisure operator

There is no main external leisure operator for community 

football facilities in County Durham; the Council still runs the 

majority of its own sites.

Local consultation

This has taken place with a diverse set of community groups 

in County Durham. 18 individuals (representing 14 local 

organisations) were consulted. These include:

In addition, all clubs and leagues as well as parish and town 

councils have been contacted as part of the ongoing PPS 

needs assessment work. Any findings impacting on the 

LFFP have been included within this plan.

Durham County Council

The Foundation of Light

Newcastle United Foundation

Durham Sunday League

Page 13 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 381



(See Appendix B for full list of consultees)

Local football

There are over 91,000 community football teams in England, 

spread over an expansive network of clubs and leagues. 

County Durham has a total of 1,019 teams, which is 

comparable to local areas of a similar size.

The FA is investing to support clubs both on and off the 

pitch which includes an aim to have a qualified FA coach 

with every youth team by 2020/21. In addition, it will support 

1,000 clubs to create full player pathways from youth to 

adult teams and develop 150 community football hubs with 

male and female pathways, disability and recreational 

playing opportunities.

Over the last 10 years there has been a significant national 

increase in the number of large multi-team football clubs. In 

County Durham, 25 clubs have more than 10 registered 

teams. The largest of these (based upon 2018-19 affiliation 

data) are:

Consett AFC - 41 teams

Durham United Youth FC - 36 teams

Page 14 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 382



Affiliated Teams

1019
Teams

306
Adult male 

teams

49
Adult female 

teams

321
Youth male 

teams

57
Youth female 

teams

3
Disability teams

291
Mini-soccer 

teams

The FA Whole Game Data System- season 2018/19

Dearness Valley Youth FC - 33 teams

Beamish Youth FC - 26 teams

Leagues

Ten leagues cater for clubs and teams in County Durham. 

They offer competitive opportunities for many different 

Page 15 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 383



players, including women and girls, youth and adults. While 

there is no specific league opportunity for disability football 

in County Durham, suitable provision is made in 

neighbouring Middlesbrough (North East Ability Counts 

League). The largest of the local leagues (2018-19) include:

The County FA reports significant cross boundary migration 

to/from County Durham due to teams migrating inwards and 

outwards to play in the Russell Foster Youth League and the 

Teesside Junior Football Alliance League.

Disability football

There are 9.4million people in England with a long-standing 

limiting disability, illness or condition which equates to 18% 

of the population – almost one in five. Football playing 

opportunities should be flexible, inclusive and accessible for 

everyone, whatever their level of ability. This could entail 

inclusion in mainstream activity or teams / sessions 

specifically for people with a disability.

In County Durham there are three football teams / sessions 

specifically for people with a disability. It is a priority of the 

County FA to grow this provision. For talented players the 

FA runs regional centres and England national squads.

Russell Foster Youth League - 322 teams

Durham County FA League - 114 teams

Durham & District Sunday League - 44 teams

Page 16 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 384



Women and girls

The FA has big ambitions for the female game and aims to 

double levels of participation by 2020. To achieve this 

requires a combined effort across four pathways: education, 

recreation, competition and talent.

Education environments have a huge impact on the first 

experience of football for young girls. This pathway can offer 

many opportunities for females of all ages to develop and 

grow a lifelong interest in football.

FA Wildcats girls football centres provide the first step on 

the recreational pathway, the programme provides girls 

aged 5-11 with regular opportunities to play football in a fun 

and engaging environment. County Durham has six FA 

Wildcats girls football centres and the priority is to grow this 

activity.

At 106, County Durham’s number of female teams is higher 

than local areas of a similar size. The County FA’s priority is 

to support existing clubs to grow and encourage more clubs 

to develop playing opportunities for females. The local girls 

league is the Russell Foster Youth League in which matches 

are played both on a home and away and a central venue 

basis (depending on age bracket). It is expected to grow its 

provision in future years. The local adult female league is 

the Durham County FA Women's League. Its matches are 

Page 17 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 385



also played on a home and away basis and it is expected to 

grow its provision in future years.

For talented players, the most local FA Regional Talent Club 

(RTC) is Durham Women's RTC which is located at Durham 

University. Higher level talent pathway opportunities are also 

provided regionally and nationally by the FA, culminating in 

the England Women’s national squads. The most local 

Women’s Super League team is Durham Women's FC 

which provides player pathway opportunities for gifted and 

talented female players and a spectator interest for fans.

Many different types of small-sided football are played in 

England, from teams and leagues to recreational and 

informal. It is an established and important part of the 

modern game.

Small-sided teams and leagues are organised and 

competitive activities; typically with players registered to 

Page 18 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 386



clubs and affiliated to leagues and their county FAs. 

Examples include futsal and local small-sided leagues 

running at venues such as sports halls, 3G FTPs or small-

sided 3G centres. Key local providers include:

Futsal is an exciting, fast-paced, small sided team game that 

is widely played across the world. Typically it is played on an 

indoor surface with hockey-sized goals and a size 4 football 

with reduced ball bounce. It is the FA’s aim to ensure that 

futsal is available across the country.

There are currently 31 futsal teams in County Durham 

playing at key site locations across 16 venues. It is a priority 

for the County FA to grow futsal for all players.

Soccerarena

Leisure Leagues

Soccer Sixes

Recreational football

Recreational football is played where facilities are typically 

booked and there might be someone to help organise. 

Examples include FA Just Play sessions, walking football 

and casual pitch hire for small-sided match play.

Page 19 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 387



There are currently four FA Just Play centres in County 

Durham. Walking football sessions are delivered by a range 

of community organisation such as Chester-le-Street Town 

FC and Catchgate FC. Walking football and Just Play are 

formats that the County FA has prioritised for further growth 

and development.

Other local recreational football programmes include flexible 

football leagues and casual bookings which are delivered by 

a range of organisations including Durham County FA.

Informal football

Informal football is played in local parks and green spaces – 

it is free, open access and often played spontaneously 

(normal clothing is worn). Common examples include a kick-

about at a local park or on a multi-use games area (MUGA).

Currently, informal football in County Durham is played 

across all parts of the County. Numerous key site locations 

are heavily used.

Summary

The key strengths of local football in County Durham include 

adult and youth provision and it is recommend that this is 

sustained and also encouraged to grow further. However, 

gaps in provision do exist within the recreational offer. It is 

recommended that the future football development priorities 

for County Durham are:

Recreational football1. 

Women's and girls'2. 

Disability3. 

Affiliated football (all formats)4. 

Small-sided and futsal5. 

Page 20 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 388



The facilities required to assist this are now set out in the 

Assets and opportunities section.

Each priority project that progresses to a funding application 

via the Football Foundation will produce a detailed ‘site 

development plan’ specifying all football development 

activity, usage and key partner engagement.

Assets and 

opportunities
This section reviews existing football facility assets in 

County Durham. It identifies current issues and presents 

opportunities for improvements, including a list of priority 

projects for potential investment. Local assets and 

opportunities have been reviewed in line with four 

investment priorities:

To ensure a consistent and high quality approach, each 

local area has been reviewed applying a standard approach, 

supplemented by input from consultation with local partners 

and stakeholder organisations.

While investment priorities are reviewed individually, it is 

understood that they can be inter-reliant; account is, thus, 

taken of these potential connections.

3G FTPs1. 

Improved grass pitches2. 

Changing room pavilions / clubhouses3. 

Small-sided facilities4. 

Page 21 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 389



3G football turf pitches 

(FTPs)

Improved grass pitches

Changing room pavilions/ 

clubhouses

Small-sided facilities

Page 22 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 390



3G football turf 

pitches (FTPs)
3G FTPs are a high quality and indispensable part of 

modern football facilities; their impact cannot be 

underestimated. In recent years the industry has seen major 

innovations and improvements to artificial surfaces (and 

sports lighting). This has created playing surfaces that 

replicate a good standard natural turf pitch whilst 

significantly increasing levels of use (x20). All FTPs must 

have sports lighting to achieve this.

The high quality, consistent playing surface is the ideal 

environment to play the game and for young people to learn. 

With regular maintenance programmes, FTPs can be 

heavily used all year round with no decline in quality. They 

almost completely negate annoying fixture cancellations 

during winter months, helping football to be a key part of a 

regular physical activity habit.

High capacity levels offer a great opportunity to embrace all 

formats and engage all participants. A full-sized 3G caters 

for an average of 1,200 participants per week and is suitable 

for various location types. That means being fully inclusive 

to all sections of the community, with a particular focus on 

under-represented groups such as women and girls, people 

with a disability, BAME communities and people from lower 

socio-economic groups.

The way 3G FTPs are used is rapidly changing; current line-

marking systems allow for match play across all formats of 

football (5v5, 7v7, 9v9 and 11v11). This enables significant 

levels of match-play to be transferred from grass to 3G.

Page 23 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 391



Assets and opportunities

FA data states that there are currently 16 full sized 3G FTPs 

in County Durham. These are located across 14 sites:

Consett AFC (Belle Vue Stadium)

Consett Leisure Centre

Durham Community Business School

Durham Johnston Comprehensive

Durham University - Graham Sports Centre (x3)

East Durham College (Peterlee Campus)

King James I Academy

Meadowfield Leisure Centre

North Durham Academy

Parkside Academy

Riverside Sports Pavilion

Soccarena (New Ferrens Park)

Sedgefield College

Page 24 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 392



In addition, a full size 3G FTP is also soon to be provided at 

Wellfield School. The build is due to commence shortly via 

Football Foundation funding.

Furthermore, there are small-sided 3G FTPs distributed 

across 19 sites including Greenfield Community College and 

Wolsingham School.

The emerging PPS, using the FA training ratio model (1:38), 

suggests that there is a need for 27 full sized 3G FTPs. 

Combining the existing full sized 3G FTPs with the small-

sided pitches leads to a current total of 23 full sized 3G FTP 

equivalents (including proposed provision at Wellfield 

School). This would suggesting that there is a current 

shortfall of four pitches, increasing to five when calculations 

are done on an analysis area basis.

In total, 15 of the existing full sized FTPs are reportedly 

available for community use although the absence of 

floodlights at Durham Johnston Comprehensive effectively 

takes this site off the table. Should it not be feasible to install 

floodlights in the future, the overall shortfall of 3G FTPs 

should be increased by one - making it six.

Despite being technically available for community use, 

access on the three pitches at Durham University is 

primarily limited to University activity. Consultation with the 

provider indicates that community availability amounts to the 

equivalent of one pitch. Given this, the stated shortfall of full 

sized 3G FTPs should be increased by a further two 3G 

FTPs; bringing the total to eight.

Access from a football perspective is also limited at Consett 

Leisure Centre as it is used for rugby during peak hours for 

training on Tuesdays and Thursdays as well as at weekends 

for matches. Opportunities for further football usage could 

and should be explored, but if this cannot be achieved the 

shortfall increases by a further full-sized 3G FTP.

St Johns RC School

Page 25 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 393



Based on the above, it is considered that there is a potential 

shortfall of nine full sized 3G FTPs in County Durham.

12 of the existing full sized 3G FTPs are on the FA register 

(meaning they are quality checked and can be used for 

football match play). It is recommended that the other four 

(Consett AFC, Durham Johnston Comprehensive, Parkside 

Academy and Sedgefield College) are assessed in the near 

future and placed on the Register.

The geographic spread of 3G FTPs is even; pitches are 

located in the north, south and central parts of the local area 

but there are provision gaps throughout the County (with the 

exception of the west, where little demand exists).

Local consultation confirms the common issues with limited 

3G FTP availability; it is recommended that this is 

addressed.

16
Current full 

sized 3G FTPs

8
Full sized 3G 

FTPs proposed

0
Small sided 3G 

FTPs proposed

Priority projects

Seven priority projects for investment are identified. These 

will lead to the development of eight full sized 3G FTPs to 

reduce the identified shortfalls. This will leave a shortfall of 

one full size 3G FTP (in the Central area of the County), 

which should be further investigated following the 

recommended developments to determine if further 

provision is still required and where. The need for an 

additional pitch would lessen if floodlighting is possible on 

the existing pitch at Durham Johnstone Comprehensive 

School.

Page 26 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 394



As noted, under-supply was calculated using the FA's 

training ratio model and aligns with the emerging PPS. 

Potential sites were selected based upon a rationale of good 

access, serving areas with substantial local populations and 

high demand for the affiliated game.

The proposed project at Riverside Sports Pavilion includes 

the creation of two full sized 3G FTPs. This would result in 

three being provided at the site (as one already exists), thus 

creating a football hub. The intention is for Durham County 

FA to take over the running of the provision.

The project at Crookhall Playing Fields (Consett AFC) 

should only be considered if further access cannot be 

gained on the existing pitch at Consett Leisure Centre. The 

sustainability of this existing provision should also be 

ensured.

Two proposed projects identify areas rather than specific 

sites (Sniperley and Seaham). This is because both areas 

have multiple locations that could be suitable, as well as 

proposed developments that might impact on suitability, 

meaning that further investigation is required.

Finally, one of the projects identified is an either/or option 

between Whitworth Park Academy and Daisy Fields Sports 

Ground. The former has long-term aspirations for a pitch to 

be provided, whilst the latter has been identified because 

Spennymoor Town FC (including Spennymoor Town Youth 

FC) plans to move to the site and develop 3G provision. 

Further investigation is therefore required to determine 

which option is preferred; the business plan at Whitworth 

Park School includes usage by Spennymoor Town FC.

Page 27 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 395



LOCATION

Location details: Sniperley 

Area 

FACILITIES

New 11v11 Floodlit 3G FTP 

(1)

OWNER

Not known

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

Medium (2/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

3.3/4 

OVERALL SCORE

72% (8.6/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - n/a

Current users - n/a

Rationale - there is a need for an additional 3G FTP in the area, with further investigation 

required to determine preferred location

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult female; Adult male; BAME; Disability; IMD / lower social economic groups; Mini-

soccer; Small-sided recreational; Small-sided teams and leagues; Youth female; Youth male 

1 Sniperley Area

Page 28 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 396



LOCATION

EAST DURHAM COLLEGE 

(HOUGHALL CAMPUS) 

DURHAM, , DH1 3SG 

FACILITIES

New 11v11 Floodlit 3G FTP 

(1)

OWNER

Education

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

High (3/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

3.3/4 

OVERALL SCORE

80% (9.6/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - three adult, one youth and six mini pitches with changing facilities

Current users - 18 teams from 11 clubs

Rationale - to reduce 3G FTP shortfalls. Existing 3G pitch at the College's other campus has 

links to Hartlepool FC.

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult female; Adult male; BAME; Disability; Mini-soccer; Pro-club; Small-sided recreational; 

Small-sided teams and leagues; Youth female; Youth male 

2 

East Durham College (Houghall Campus)

Page 29 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 397



LOCATION

Location details: Crookhall 

Playing Fields 

FACILITIES

New 11v11 Floodlit 3G FTP 

(1)

Natural grass pitch 

improvements (4)

OWNER

Football club

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

Medium (2/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

3.1/4 

OVERALL SCORE

69% (8.2/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - four adult pitches and a full size 3G FTP with changing facilities (at Belle 

Vue Stadium)

Current users - all teams from Consett AFC for training and nine for matches, plus three 

others teams from two different clubs

Rationale - a potential need for an additional 3G FTP to be provided in the area as access to 

Consett Leisure Centre is limited due to rugby usage at peak time during midweek. Land 

would be asset transferred to Consett AFC as part of the development, in line with the 

agreement at Belle Vue Stadium. Grass pitches should be improved to coincide with 3G 

development.

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult female; Adult male; Disability; Mini-soccer; Youth female; Youth male 

4 Crookhall Playing Fields (Consett AFC)

Page 30 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 398



LOCATION

RIVERSIDE SPORTS 

PAVILION RIVERSIDE 

SOUTH, CHESTER LE 

STREET, , DH3 3SJ 

FACILITIES

New 11v11 Floodlit 3G FTP 

(2)

Refurbish Changing 

Pavilion (1)

OWNER

County FA

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

High (3/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

4.0/4 

OVERALL SCORE

92% (11.0/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - five adult pitches and a full size 3G FTP with changing facilities

Current users - 47 teams from 22 clubs for matches, plus additional teams for training; also 

used by County FA. 

Rationale - potential to create a hub site with three full size 3G FTPs (two additional pitches) 

aligned to Durham County FA operating the provision. Aspirations exist for a centralised 

clubhouse to be provided, although the Council would rather the existing provision be 

improved (otherwise it would not be used). Grass pitches to be improved despite currently 

being adequate quality due to the importance of the site and the usage that is/will be 

received.

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult female; Adult male; BAME; Disability; IMD / lower social economic groups; Mini-

soccer; Pro-club; Small-sided recreational; Small-sided teams and leagues; Youth female; 

Youth male 

5 Riverside Sports Pavilion

Page 31 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 399



LOCATION

Location details: Whitworth 

Park School or Daisy Fields 

Sports Ground 

FACILITIES

New 11v11 Floodlit 3G FTP 

(1)

OWNER

Not known

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

High (3/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

3.0/4 

OVERALL SCORE

75% (9.0/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - six adult and three youth pitches at Whitworth Park School; no current 

provision at Daisy Fields Sports Ground

Current users - three teams at Whitworth Park School; no formal usage at Daisy Fields 

Sports Ground

Rationale - there is a need for an additional 3G FTP in the area. Whitworth Park School has 

long standing aspirations, whereas the development at Daisy Fields Sports Ground would 

be linked to Spennymoor Town FC re-locating to the site.

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult female; Adult male; Mini-soccer; Small-sided recreational; Small-sided teams and 

leagues; Youth female; Youth male 

6 

Whitworth Park Academy or Daisy Fields 

Sports Ground

Page 32 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 400



LOCATION

WOODHAM ACADEMY 

WASHINGTON 

CRESCENT, NEWTON 

AYCLIFFE, , DL5 4AX 

FACILITIES

New 11v11 Floodlit 3G FTP 

(1)

Natural grass pitch 

improvements (6)

OWNER

Education

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

Very High (4/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

3.3/4 

OVERALL SCORE

88% (10.6/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - three adult, three youth and two mini pitches with changing rooms

Current users - 14 teams from Newton Aycliffe Juniors FC

Rationale - there is a need for an additional 3G FTP in the area and the School already has 

a proposal in place. Grass pitches should be improved to compliment 3G development.

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult female; Adult male; Disability; Mini-soccer; Small-sided recreational; Small-sided 

teams and leagues; Youth female; Youth male 

7 Woodham Academy

Page 33 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 401



LOCATION

Location details: Seaham 

Area 

FACILITIES

New 11v11 Floodlit 3G FTP 

(1)

OWNER

Not known

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

Medium (2/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

3.1/4 

OVERALL SCORE

68% (8.1/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - n/a

Current users - n/a

Rationale - there is a need for an additional 3G FTP in the area, with Seaham Leisure 

Centre and Seaham High School considered to be potential options

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult female; Adult male; Mini-soccer; Small-sided recreational; Small-sided teams and 

leagues; Youth female; Youth male 

9 Seaham Area

A project's overall score provides an indication of its potential outcomes 

and deliverability only (weighted twice as much towards the outcomes 

score). It does not impact the likelihood or level of any potential investment. 

Page 34 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 402



Map data ©2019 Google

Priority 3G projects

Improved grass 

pitches
Playing fields are one of the most important resources for 

sport in England. All football players should have the 

opportunity to play on good quality grass pitches. However, 

FA data shows that 63% of pitches in England are poor / low 

standard and one in six games is cancelled. As such, poor 

pitch quality is consistently cited as the number one issue 

for players.

The priority is, therefore, to sustainably improve grass pitch 

quality across all main pitch owners (local authorities, 

education establishments and clubs). However, the level of 

maintenance required to obtain good quality standards is 

regularly affected by restricted budgets and limited 

Page 35 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 403



knowledge/ training. Compaction and grass coverage are 

two key causes of poor quality pitches. Both are commonly 

treated via a maintenance driven solution (and do not 

necessarily require costly drainage schemes).

Playing fields are also a valuable resources for informal play 

and open-access sites are encouraged but, for many, 

problems such as dog fouling and vandalism mean that they 

need to be protected with mitigation measures such as 

fencing.

The key challenge is to create a sustainable approach to 

provide good quality football pitches for the long-term. Most 

local authorities (78%) intend to increase pitch hire fees in 

the future. However, many players (63%) believe facilities 

are already expensive and some (16%) believe prices are 

prohibitive. A sustainable solution should, therefore, 

carefully balance pitch quality and affordability.

While the education sector (37%) and local authorities 

(32%) are still the principal asset owners of grass pitches, 

clubs / leagues own or maintain an increasing share 

(currently 25%). Assets and opportunities have been 

considered across each sector.

Assets and opportunities

Page 36 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 404



There are currently 55 grass pitch sites in County Durham 

with three or more full-size pitch equivalents (or with fewer 

than three pitches but deemed to be of strategic 

importance). Combined, these provide 214 grass pitches. 

Three of the sites have pitches considered to be of good 

quality, 30 are rated as standard and 22 are rated as poor.

Local consultation confirms common issues with overuse, 

low availability and poor quality, particularly relating to 

water-logging. It is recommended that these issues are 

addressed.

Of the 55 key pitch sites referenced above, it is determined 

that 30 should be prioritised for improvements. These 

provide, or have the potential to provide, 89 full-size pitch 

equivalents.

55
Key grass pitch 

sites

30
Sites prioritised 

for 

improvement

89
Full-sized pitch 

equivalents at 

these sites

Priority projects

30 priority projects for potential investment are identified. 

Pitch quality rating was evidenced by the emerging PPS and 

ratified by local partners. Prioritisation was based on a 

rationale of selecting sites with high numbers of pitches and 

that are (or have the potential to be) the best-utilised.

It should be noted that Daisy Fields Sports Ground does not 

currently host pitches although it has in the past. 

Spennymoor Town FC and Spennymoor Town Youth FC 

have aspirations to relocate to the site, meaning pitches 

should be re-established to support this.

Page 37 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 405



A further seven of the sites identified for improvements 

either do not currently provide pitches or have the capacity 

to host more pitches than they currently do. These are:

Improving existing pitch quality and providing additional 

pitches at the above will alleviate capacity issues across 

County Durham.

Blackfyne Former School (Clarence Gardens)

Blackfyne Former School (Durham Road)

Former Durham Free School

Greenland Community Primary School

Horndale Park

Meadowfield Leisure Centre

Park View School

Page 38 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 406



LOCATION

FRAMWELLGATE 

SCHOOL DURHAM 

NEWTON DRIVE, 

DURHAM, , DH1 5BQ 

FACILITIES

Natural grass pitch 

improvements (3)

OWNER

Education

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

Medium (2/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

3.1/4 

OVERALL SCORE

68% (8.1/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - three adult pitches with changing facilities plus a small-sided 3G FTP

Current users - 11 teams from three clubs including seven from Deerness Valley Youth FC

Rationale - if floodlighting is not possible at Durham Johnstone Comprehensive School, 

there is a need for an additional 3G FTP in the locality. Grass pitches should be improved to 

support 3G development.

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult female; Adult male; Disability; Mini-soccer; Small-sided recreational; Small-sided 

teams and leagues; Youth female; Youth male 

3 Framwellgate School

Page 39 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 407



LOCATION

Location details: Crookhall 

Playing Fields 

FACILITIES

New 11v11 Floodlit 3G FTP 

(1)

Natural grass pitch 

improvements (4)

OWNER

Football club

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

Medium (2/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

3.1/4 

OVERALL SCORE

69% (8.2/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - four adult pitches and a full size 3G FTP with changing facilities (at Belle 

Vue Stadium)

Current users - all teams from Consett AFC for training and nine for matches, plus three 

others teams from two different clubs

Rationale - a potential need for an additional 3G FTP to be provided in the area as access to 

Consett Leisure Centre is limited due to rugby usage at peak time during midweek. Land 

would be asset transferred to Consett AFC as part of the development, in line with the 

agreement at Belle Vue Stadium. Grass pitches should be improved to coincide with 3G 

development.

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult female; Adult male; Disability; Mini-soccer; Youth female; Youth male 

4 Crookhall Playing Fields (Consett AFC)

Page 40 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 408



LOCATION

WOODHAM ACADEMY 

WASHINGTON 

CRESCENT, NEWTON 

AYCLIFFE, , DL5 4AX 

FACILITIES

New 11v11 Floodlit 3G FTP 

(1)

Natural grass pitch 

improvements (6)

OWNER

Education

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

Very High (4/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

3.3/4 

OVERALL SCORE

88% (10.6/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - three adult, three youth and two mini pitches with changing rooms

Current users - 14 teams from Newton Aycliffe Juniors FC

Rationale - there is a need for an additional 3G FTP in the area and the School already has 

a proposal in place. Grass pitches should be improved to compliment 3G development.

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult female; Adult male; Disability; Mini-soccer; Small-sided recreational; Small-sided 

teams and leagues; Youth female; Youth male 

7 Woodham Academy

Page 41 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 409



LOCATION

BELMONT PARK 

SUNDERLAND ROAD, 

DURHAM, , DH1 2LL 

FACILITIES

Natural grass pitch 

improvements (3)

Refurbish Changing 

Pavilion (1)

OWNER

Local Authority

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

Medium (2/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

2.3/4 

OVERALL SCORE

55% (6.6/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - two adult and one youth pitch with changing rooms

Current users - Durham Blue Star Youth FC

Rationale - both the grass pitches and changing facilities assessed as poor quality and in 

need of improvement to increase usage. The Council states that it could be well used 

following investment.

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult female; Adult male; Youth female; Youth male 

10 Belmont Park

Page 42 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 410



LOCATION

Location details: Blackfyne 

Former School (Durham 

Road) 

FACILITIES

Natural grass pitch 

improvements (3)

OWNER

Local Authority

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

High (3/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

2.4/4 

OVERALL SCORE

65% (7.8/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - two adult and one youth pitch

Current users - Blackfyne Juniors FC

Rationale - pitches retained following closure of the School. Some pitches are already 

undergoing repair work but further attention is required. Considered a key site for reducing 

local shortfalls.

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult female; Adult male; Youth female; Youth male 

11 

Blackfyne Former School (Durham Road)

Page 43 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 411



LOCATION

Location details: Blackfyne 

Former School (Clarence 

Gardens) 

FACILITIES

Natural grass pitch 

improvements (2)

New Changing Pavilion (1)

OWNER

Local Authority

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

High (3/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

2.5/4 

OVERALL SCORE

67% (8.0/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - one adult, one youth and one mini pitch

Current users - Blackfyne Juniors FC

Rationale - pitches retained following closure of the School. Some pitches are already 

undergoing repair work but further attention is required. Considered a key site for reducing 

local shortfalls. Changing facilities would be beneficial and could service both sites.

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult female; Adult male; Mini-soccer; Youth female; Youth male 

12 

Blackfyne Former School (Clarence 

Gardens)

Page 44 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 412



LOCATION

BOWBURN PARK 1 

WALKER STREET, 

BOWBURN, DURHAM, , 

DH6 5BG 

FACILITIES

Natural grass pitch 

improvements (2)

New Changing Pavilion (1)

OWNER

Local Authority

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

High (3/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

2.3/4 

OVERALL SCORE

63% (7.6/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - two youth pitches 

Current users - six teams from Bowburn Youth FC

Rationale - pitches are poor quality and in need of improvement to accommodate demand. 

Site would also benefit from changing provision. Drainage is cited as the main problem by 

the Council and users, with some pooling evident.

PROJECT FOCUS

Youth female; Youth male 

13 Bowburn Welfare Park

Page 45 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 413



LOCATION

THE CHARLIE WAYMAN 

FOOTBALL FIELDS West 

Chilton Terrace, Chilton, 

Ferryhill, , DL17 0HH 

FACILITIES

Natural grass pitch 

improvements (2)

Refurbish Changing 

Pavilion (1)

OWNER

Other

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

Medium (2/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

2.1/4 

OVERALL SCORE

52% (6.3/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - two adult pitches with changing rooms

Current users - one pitch is used by one team

Rationale - pitches are currently under-used and have significant drainage issues. Changing 

facilities are dated. Further work required to determine potential club users. Could potentially 

be re-configured to accommodate youth 11v11 demand given local shortfalls. Managed by 

Town Council.

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult female; Adult male; Youth female; Youth male 

14 Charlie Wayman Football Fields

Page 46 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 414



LOCATION

Location details: Daisy 

Fields Sports Ground 

FACILITIES

Natural grass pitch 

improvements (3)

New Changing Pavilion (1)

OWNER

Local Authority

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

Medium (2/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

3.1/4 

OVERALL SCORE

68% (8.1/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - n/a

Current users - n/a

Rationale - grass pitches to be established to enable Spennymoor Town FC to relocate to 

the site. New changing pavilion will also be required.

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult female; Adult male; Mini-soccer; Youth female; Youth male 

15 Daisy Fields Sports Ground

Page 47 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 415



LOCATION

DEAN BANK PARK 66 

RAMSAY DRIVE, 

FERRYHILL, , DL17 8PX 

FACILITIES

Natural grass pitch 

improvements (3)

OWNER

Other

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

High (3/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

2.4/4 

OVERALL SCORE

65% (7.8/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - one adult, two youth and three mini pitches with changing rooms

Current users - ten teams from Ferryhill Town Youth FC

Rationale - pitches assessed as poor quality and in need of improvement to accommodate 

demand. Changing facilities are relatively new meaning infrastructure is in place to 

accommodate more usage following pitch improvements.

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult female; Adult male; Mini-soccer; Youth female; Youth male 

16 Dean Bank Park

Page 48 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 416



LOCATION

Location details: Former 

Durham Free School 

FACILITIES

Natural grass pitch 

improvements (2)

OWNER

Local Authority

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

High (3/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

2.8/4 

OVERALL SCORE

71% (8.6/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - n/a

Current users - n/a

Rationale - the School has closed and plans are in place to demloish the building; however, 

the pitch space is to be retained. Gilesgate Primary School has an aspiration to operate the 

land and let pitches out to the community. Worked is required to determine potential club 

users.

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult male; Mini-soccer; Youth female; Youth male 

17 Former Durham Free School

Page 49 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 417



LOCATION

Location details: Horndale 

Park 

FACILITIES

Natural grass pitch 

improvements (2)

OWNER

Local Authority

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

Medium (2/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

2.9/4 

OVERALL SCORE

65% (7.8/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - n/a

Current users - n/a

Rationale - large grass area that previously hosted pitches which could be re-established. 

Further work required to determine potential club users. Could also be used by Greenfield 

Community College. Drainage is currently cited as the main issue.

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult male; Youth female; Youth male 

18 Horndale Park

Page 50 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 418



LOCATION

HUNWICK RECREATION 

GROUND 3 HEPWORTH 

LANE, HUNWICK, CROOK, 

, DL15 0LW 

FACILITIES

Natural grass pitch 

improvements (3)

OWNER

Local Authority

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

High (3/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

2.7/4 

OVERALL SCORE

69% (8.3/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - two adult and one youth pitch with changing facilities (via Hunwick Cricket 

Club) 

Current users - Bishop Auckland Girls FC

Rationale - pitches are assessed as poor quality. Key site for female football and growth.

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult female; Mini-soccer; Youth female 

19 Hunwick Recreation Ground

Page 51 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 419



LOCATION

LOWHILLS ROAD 

PLAYING FIELDS Lowhills 

Road, Peterlee, , SR8 2DW 

FACILITIES

Natural grass pitch 

improvements (5)

New Changing Pavilion (1)

OWNER

Other

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

High (3/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

2.9/4 

OVERALL SCORE

73% (8.7/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - five adult and one youth pitch with changing facilities

Current users - 13 teams from eight clubs

Rationale - clubhouse is not currently dedicated to grass pitch users and is dated. A new 

building should be provided in a better location. Grass pitches should be improved to 

support ancillary facility development.

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult female; Adult male; Youth female; Youth male 

20 Lowhills Road Playing Field

Page 52 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 420



LOCATION

MEADOWFIELD LEISURE 

CENTRE JOHN STREET 

NORTH, MEADOWFIELD, 

DURHAM, , DH7 8RS 

FACILITIES

Natural grass pitch 

improvements (3)

Refurbish Changing 

Pavilion (1)

OWNER

Local Authority

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

High (3/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

3.0/4 

OVERALL SCORE

75% (9.0/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - two adult pitches and a full size 3G FTP with changing facilities

Current users - nine teams from Durham City Juniors FC

Rationale - pitches and changing facilities are in need of improvement and there is also 

space to establish additional provision (subject to agreement with management)

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult female; Adult male; Youth female; Youth male 

21 Meadowfield Leisure Centre

Page 53 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 421



LOCATION

NEW DRIVE PLAYING 

FIELD 19 PARKLAND 

TERRACE, SEAHAM, , 

SR7 0AP 

FACILITIES

Natural grass pitch 

improvements (5)

OWNER

Other

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

High (3/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

2.7/4 

OVERALL SCORE

69% (8.3/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - three adult and three youth pitches

Current users - six teams from three clubs

Rationale - large football site in need of improvement

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult female; Adult male; Youth female; Youth male 

22 New Drive Playing Field

Page 54 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 422



LOCATION

OAK LEAF SPORTS 

COMPLEX SCHOOL 

AYCLIFFE, NEWTON 

AYCLIFFE, , DL5 6QZ 

FACILITIES

Natural grass pitch 

improvements (4)

OWNER

Other

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

High (3/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

2.9/4 

OVERALL SCORE

73% (8.7/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - two adult, two youth and two mini pitches with changing facilities

Current users - 17 teams from Newton Aycliffe Youth FC

Rationale - large, key site in need of improvement

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult female; Adult male; Mini-soccer; Youth female; Youth male 

23 

Oakleaf Sports Complex (School Aycliffe 

Sports Fields)

Page 55 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 423



LOCATION

OAKEY PARK Sunny 

Terrace, Stanley, , DH9 

8AW 

FACILITIES

Natural grass pitch 

improvements (2)

Refurbish Changing 

Pavilion (1)

OWNER

Local Authority

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

High (3/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

2.9/4 

OVERALL SCORE

73% (8.8/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - two adult pitches with changing rooms

Current users - two teams

Rationale - pitches and changing facilities require improvement to drive demand. Previously 

a very well used site.

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult male; Youth male 

24 Oakey Park

Page 56 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 424



LOCATION

GREENLAND 

COMMUNITY PRIMARY 

SCHOOL SOUTH MOOR 

ROAD, STANLEY, , DH9 

7EZ 

FACILITIES

Natural grass pitch 

improvements (2)

OWNER

Education

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

Medium (2/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

2.8/4 

OVERALL SCORE

63% (7.6/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - two youth pitches and small-sided 3G FTP with changing facilties

Current users - eight teams from South Moor Juniors FC 

Rationale - large site with potential for additional pitches to be established

PROJECT FOCUS

Mini-soccer; Youth female; Youth male 

25 Greenland Community Primary School

Page 57 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 425



LOCATION

PARK VIEW SCHOOL 

(CHURCH CHARE) 

CHURCH CHARE, 

CHESTER LE STREET, , 

DH3 3PZ 

FACILITIES

Natural grass pitch 

improvements (3)

OWNER

Education

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

High (3/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

3.0/4 

OVERALL SCORE

75% (9.0/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - n/a

Current users - n/a

Rationale - large green space not currently in use; pitches could be established to increase 

capacity in the area. Further work required to determine potential club users.

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult female; Adult male; Mini-soccer; Youth female; Youth male 

26 Park View School

Page 58 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 426



LOCATION

PELTON AND DISTRICT 

COMMUNITY 

RECREATION GROUND 

37 COQUET DRIVE, 

PELTON, CHESTER LE 

STREET, , DH2 1EW 

FACILITIES

Natural grass pitch 

improvements (2)

OWNER

Local Authority

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

High (3/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

2.3/4 

OVERALL SCORE

63% (7.6/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - two adult pitches

Current users - n/a

Rationale - two pitches with no current demand due to drainage issues. Further work 

required to determine potential club users.

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult male; Mini-soccer; Youth male 

27 Pelton & District Recreation Ground

Page 59 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 427



LOCATION

ROSEBERRY PLAYING 

FIELDS Pelton Lane, 

Newfield, Newfield, , DH2 

1NW 

FACILITIES

Natural grass pitch 

improvements (5)

OWNER

Local Authority

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

High (3/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

3.0/4 

OVERALL SCORE

75% (9.0/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - three adult and three youth pitches with changing facilities and a small-

sided 3G FTP

Current users - nine teams including eight from Chester-le-Street Hilda Park Youth FC

Rationale - well used site in need of grass pitch improvements to compliment new Football 

Foundation changing provision and the small-sided 3G pitch.

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult female; Adult male; Mini-soccer; Youth female; Youth male 

28 Roseberry Playing Fields

Page 60 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 428



LOCATION

SEAHAM LEISURE 

CENTRE SEAHAM 

LEISURE CENTRE 

LAUREL AVENUE, 

SEAHAM, , SR7 8NP 

FACILITIES

Natural grass pitch 

improvements (2)

Small sided informal 

(MUGA) (1)

OWNER

Local Authority

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

High (3/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

2.1/4 

OVERALL SCORE

60% (7.1/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - two adult pitches with changing facilities and a MUGA

Current users - Four teams from three clubs

Rationale - pitches require improving and the MUGA could be made more football friendly

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult male; BAME; Disability; IMD / lower social economic groups; Mini-soccer; Small-sided 

informal; Small-sided recreational; Small-sided teams and leagues; Youth female; Youth 

male 

29 Seaham Leisure Centre

Page 61 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 429



LOCATION

STANLEY COMMUNITY 

FOOTBALL CENTRE TYNE 

ROAD, STANLEY, , DH9 

6PZ 

FACILITIES

Natural grass pitch 

improvements (2)

OWNER

Other

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

Medium (2/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

3.4/4 

OVERALL SCORE

73% (8.8/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - two adult pitches with changing facilities and a small-sided 3G FTP

Current users - 16 teams from two clubs (15 from Beamish Youth FC)

Rationale - pitches retained following closure of the School. Some pitches are already 

undergoing repair work but further attention is required. Considered a key site for reducing 

local shortfalls. Changing facilities would be beneficial and could service both sites.

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult female; Adult male; BAME; IMD / lower social economic groups; Youth female; Youth 

male 

30 Stanley Community Football Centre

Page 62 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 430



LOCATION

SUNDERLAND ROAD 

PLAYING FIELDS 

Sunderland Road, Horden, 

Peterlee, , SR8 4PH 

FACILITIES

Natural grass pitch 

improvements (3)

OWNER

Other

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

Medium (2/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

2.2/4 

OVERALL SCORE

53% (6.3/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - two adult and one youth pitch with changing facilities

Current users - four teams from four clubs

Rationale - pitches are poor quality and in need of improvement

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult male; Youth male 

31 Sunderland Road Playing Fields

Page 63 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 431



LOCATION

SHILDON SUNNYDALE 

LEISURE CENTRE 

MIDDRIDGE LANE, 

SHILDON, , DL4 2EP 

FACILITIES

Natural grass pitch 

improvements (4)

OWNER

Local Authority

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

High (3/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

2.6/4 

OVERALL SCORE

69% (8.3/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - four adult pitches with changing facilities

Current users - five teams from two clubs

Rationale - pitches to be improved to allow for additional usage from Neyton Aycliffe FC

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult female; Adult male; Youth female; Youth male 

32 Sunnydale Leisure Centre

Page 64 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 432



LOCATION

COCKTON HILL 

RECREATION GROUND 

75 WOODHOUSE LANE, 

BISHOP AUCKLAND, , 

DL14 6JU 

FACILITIES

Refurbish Changing 

Pavilion (1)

Natural grass pitch 

improvements (2)

OWNER

Local Authority

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

High (3/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

2.1/4 

OVERALL SCORE

60% (7.1/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - two adult pitches with changing facilities

Current users - three teams from three clubs

Rationale - changing facilities are in need of refurbishment. Grass pitches suitable for 

inclusion in the Pitch Improvement Programme.

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult female; Adult male; Youth female; Youth male 

34 Cockton Hill Recreation Ground

Page 65 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 433



LOCATION

Tudhoe Grange Upper 

School (former) , DL16 6JY 

FACILITIES

Natural grass pitch 

improvements (3)

New Changing Pavilion (1)

OWNER

Local Authority

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

Medium (2/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

2.1/4 

OVERALL SCORE

51% (6.1/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - one adult and three youth pitches

Current users - 11 teams from Spennymoor Town Youth FC

Rationale - pitches are poor quality and overplayed. Spennymoor Town Youth FC has 

aspirations to relocate to another site but even if this happens, the pitches should be 

retained and improved given local shortfalls and to accommodate other demand. Potential 

club users should therefore be identified. Changing facilities to be provided.

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult female; Adult male; Youth female; Youth male 

45 Tudhoe Grange Upper School (former)

Page 66 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 434



LOCATION

DURHAM COMMUNITY 

BUSINESS COLLEGE 

BRACKEN COURT, 

USHAW MOOR, DURHAM, 

, DH7 7NG 

FACILITIES

Natural grass pitch 

improvements (3)

OWNER

Education

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

Medium (2/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

2.3/4 

OVERALL SCORE

55% (6.6/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - a full size 3G FTP and three youth grass pitches

Current users - Many teams for training and eight teams for matches

Rationale - well used school site in need of grass pitch improvements to better 

accommodate demand, particularly from Deerness Valley Youth FC

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult female; Adult male; Mini-soccer; Youth female; Youth male 

46 Durham Community Business College

A project's overall score provides an indication of its potential outcomes 

and deliverability only (weighted twice as much towards the outcomes 

score). It does not impact the likelihood or level of any potential investment. 

Page 67 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 435



Map data ©2019 Google

Priority grass pitch projects

Changing room 

pavilions / 

clubhouses
These can provide a number of different benefits. While the 

primary function is normally the provision of changing rooms 

to accommodate match-play and training (for players and 

officials), there can be equal value in facilities such as 

community and education rooms, catering facilities and 

spectator toilets.

Each project will take a progressive approach to pavilions 

and clubhouses (beyond the provision of changing rooms) 

and be open to new opportunities to engage the whole 

Page 68 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 436



community. That means, creating environments that are 

welcoming to players, spectators, volunteers, officials and all 

sections of the community.

Such assets should support other investment priorities (e.g. 

3G FTPs and grass pitches) and be located at sites that will 

have the greatest impact on local communities. To ensure 

this, focus is given to sites with three or more full-size pitch 

equivalents. However, as pitch quality is the number one 

priority for players this is prioritised before investment in 

changing room pavilions /clubhouses.

Clearly, facilities need to be well managed and maintained 

to keep them in a good state of repair. Consideration will be 

given to reviewing the best operator solution for key sites 

and the installation of revenue generating features such as 

catering facilities and community rooms. To achieve this, 

business plan support will be given to each priority project 

as it progresses to an application to the Football Foundation.

Assets and opportunities

Of the 55 key sites in County Durham with three or more 

full-size pitch equivalents (or with fewer than three but 

deemed to be of strategic importance), 42 have suitable 

changing room pavilions/clubhouses or are not considered a 

Page 69 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 437



priority for investment, nine have facilities that need 

improvement/replacement and four are without facilities but 

are in need of a new build facility.

44
key sites have 

suitable 

changing 

rooms/ 

pavilions/ 

clubhouses

9
require 

improvement/ 

replacement

4
have no 

facilities and 

require new 

builds

Priority projects

13 priority projects for potential investment are identified. 

These are all key sites which either have existing poor 

quality provision or are entirely without provision at present.

Page 70 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 438



LOCATION

RIVERSIDE SPORTS 

PAVILION RIVERSIDE 

SOUTH, CHESTER LE 

STREET, , DH3 3SJ 

FACILITIES

New 11v11 Floodlit 3G FTP 

(2)

Refurbish Changing 

Pavilion (1)

OWNER

County FA

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

High (3/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

4.0/4 

OVERALL SCORE

92% (11.0/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - five adult pitches and a full size 3G FTP with changing facilities

Current users - 47 teams from 22 clubs for matches, plus additional teams for training; also 

used by County FA. 

Rationale - potential to create a hub site with three full size 3G FTPs (two additional pitches) 

aligned to Durham County FA operating the provision. Aspirations exist for a centralised 

clubhouse to be provided, although the Council would rather the existing provision be 

improved (otherwise it would not be used). Grass pitches to be improved despite currently 

being adequate quality due to the importance of the site and the usage that is/will be 

received.

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult female; Adult male; BAME; Disability; IMD / lower social economic groups; Mini-

soccer; Pro-club; Small-sided recreational; Small-sided teams and leagues; Youth female; 

Youth male 

5 Riverside Sports Pavilion

Page 71 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 439



LOCATION

BELMONT PARK 

SUNDERLAND ROAD, 

DURHAM, , DH1 2LL 

FACILITIES

Natural grass pitch 

improvements (3)

Refurbish Changing 

Pavilion (1)

OWNER

Local Authority

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

Medium (2/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

2.3/4 

OVERALL SCORE

55% (6.6/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - two adult and one youth pitch with changing rooms

Current users - Durham Blue Star Youth FC

Rationale - both the grass pitches and changing facilities assessed as poor quality and in 

need of improvement to increase usage. The Council states that it could be well used 

following investment.

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult female; Adult male; Youth female; Youth male 

10 Belmont Park

Page 72 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 440



LOCATION

Location details: Blackfyne 

Former School (Clarence 

Gardens) 

FACILITIES

Natural grass pitch 

improvements (2)

New Changing Pavilion (1)

OWNER

Local Authority

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

High (3/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

2.5/4 

OVERALL SCORE

67% (8.0/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - one adult, one youth and one mini pitch

Current users - Blackfyne Juniors FC

Rationale - pitches retained following closure of the School. Some pitches are already 

undergoing repair work but further attention is required. Considered a key site for reducing 

local shortfalls. Changing facilities would be beneficial and could service both sites.

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult female; Adult male; Mini-soccer; Youth female; Youth male 

12 

Blackfyne Former School (Clarence 

Gardens)

Page 73 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 441



LOCATION

BOWBURN PARK 1 

WALKER STREET, 

BOWBURN, DURHAM, , 

DH6 5BG 

FACILITIES

Natural grass pitch 

improvements (2)

New Changing Pavilion (1)

OWNER

Local Authority

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

High (3/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

2.3/4 

OVERALL SCORE

63% (7.6/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - two youth pitches 

Current users - six teams from Bowburn Youth FC

Rationale - pitches are poor quality and in need of improvement to accommodate demand. 

Site would also benefit from changing provision. Drainage is cited as the main problem by 

the Council and users, with some pooling evident.

PROJECT FOCUS

Youth female; Youth male 

13 Bowburn Welfare Park

Page 74 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 442



LOCATION

THE CHARLIE WAYMAN 

FOOTBALL FIELDS West 

Chilton Terrace, Chilton, 

Ferryhill, , DL17 0HH 

FACILITIES

Natural grass pitch 

improvements (2)

Refurbish Changing 

Pavilion (1)

OWNER

Other

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

Medium (2/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

2.1/4 

OVERALL SCORE

52% (6.3/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - two adult pitches with changing rooms

Current users - one pitch is used by one team

Rationale - pitches are currently under-used and have significant drainage issues. Changing 

facilities are dated. Further work required to determine potential club users. Could potentially 

be re-configured to accommodate youth 11v11 demand given local shortfalls. Managed by 

Town Council.

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult female; Adult male; Youth female; Youth male 

14 Charlie Wayman Football Fields

Page 75 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 443



LOCATION

Location details: Daisy 

Fields Sports Ground 

FACILITIES

Natural grass pitch 

improvements (3)

New Changing Pavilion (1)

OWNER

Local Authority

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

Medium (2/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

3.1/4 

OVERALL SCORE

68% (8.1/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - n/a

Current users - n/a

Rationale - grass pitches to be established to enable Spennymoor Town FC to relocate to 

the site. New changing pavilion will also be required.

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult female; Adult male; Mini-soccer; Youth female; Youth male 

15 Daisy Fields Sports Ground

Page 76 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 444



LOCATION

LOWHILLS ROAD 

PLAYING FIELDS Lowhills 

Road, Peterlee, , SR8 2DW 

FACILITIES

Natural grass pitch 

improvements (5)

New Changing Pavilion (1)

OWNER

Other

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

High (3/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

2.9/4 

OVERALL SCORE

73% (8.7/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - five adult and one youth pitch with changing facilities

Current users - 13 teams from eight clubs

Rationale - clubhouse is not currently dedicated to grass pitch users and is dated. A new 

building should be provided in a better location. Grass pitches should be improved to 

support ancillary facility development.

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult female; Adult male; Youth female; Youth male 

20 Lowhills Road Playing Field

Page 77 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 445



LOCATION

MEADOWFIELD LEISURE 

CENTRE JOHN STREET 

NORTH, MEADOWFIELD, 

DURHAM, , DH7 8RS 

FACILITIES

Natural grass pitch 

improvements (3)

Refurbish Changing 

Pavilion (1)

OWNER

Local Authority

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

High (3/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

3.0/4 

OVERALL SCORE

75% (9.0/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - two adult pitches and a full size 3G FTP with changing facilities

Current users - nine teams from Durham City Juniors FC

Rationale - pitches and changing facilities are in need of improvement and there is also 

space to establish additional provision (subject to agreement with management)

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult female; Adult male; Youth female; Youth male 

21 Meadowfield Leisure Centre

Page 78 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 446



LOCATION

OAKEY PARK Sunny 

Terrace, Stanley, , DH9 

8AW 

FACILITIES

Natural grass pitch 

improvements (2)

Refurbish Changing 

Pavilion (1)

OWNER

Local Authority

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

High (3/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

2.9/4 

OVERALL SCORE

73% (8.8/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - two adult pitches with changing rooms

Current users - two teams

Rationale - pitches and changing facilities require improvement to drive demand. Previously 

a very well used site.

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult male; Youth male 

24 Oakey Park

Page 79 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 447



LOCATION

CHESTER MOOR PARK 

Points North, Chester Moor, 

Chester le Street, , DH2 

3RW 

FACILITIES

Refurbish Changing 

Pavilion (1)

OWNER

Football club

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

High (3/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

1.9/4 

OVERALL SCORE

57% (6.9/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - one stadia adult pitch with changing facilities and a small-sided 3G FTP

Current users - five teams 

Rationale - changing facilities need bringing up to appropriate standard for the level of 

football being played

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult female; Adult male; Youth male 

33 Chester-le-Street FC (Moor Park)

Page 80 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 448



LOCATION

COCKTON HILL 

RECREATION GROUND 

75 WOODHOUSE LANE, 

BISHOP AUCKLAND, , 

DL14 6JU 

FACILITIES

Refurbish Changing 

Pavilion (1)

Natural grass pitch 

improvements (2)

OWNER

Local Authority

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

High (3/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

2.1/4 

OVERALL SCORE

60% (7.1/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - two adult pitches with changing facilities

Current users - three teams from three clubs

Rationale - changing facilities are in need of refurbishment. Grass pitches suitable for 

inclusion in the Pitch Improvement Programme.

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult female; Adult male; Youth female; Youth male 

34 Cockton Hill Recreation Ground

Page 81 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 449



LOCATION

PARKSIDE ACADEMY 

HALL LANE ESTATE, 

WILLINGTON, CROOK, , 

DL15 0QF 

FACILITIES

New Changing Pavilion (1)
OWNER

Education

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

High (3/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

3.0/4 

OVERALL SCORE

75% (9.0/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - a full size 3G FTP, five grass pitches and changing rooms.

Current users - numerous teams for training and seven for matches. 

Rationale - standalone changing provision (external to the main School building) is required 

to service the 3G FTP and the grass pitches

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult female; Adult male; Disability; Mini-soccer; Small-sided recreational; Small-sided 

teams and leagues; Youth female; Youth male 

44 Parkside Academy (Crook)

Page 82 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 450



LOCATION

Tudhoe Grange Upper 

School (former) , DL16 6JY 

FACILITIES

Natural grass pitch 

improvements (3)

New Changing Pavilion (1)

OWNER

Local Authority

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

Medium (2/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

2.1/4 

OVERALL SCORE

51% (6.1/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - one adult and three youth pitches

Current users - 11 teams from Spennymoor Town Youth FC

Rationale - pitches are poor quality and overplayed. Spennymoor Town Youth FC has 

aspirations to relocate to another site but even if this happens, the pitches should be 

retained and improved given local shortfalls and to accommodate other demand. Potential 

club users should therefore be identified. Changing facilities to be provided.

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult female; Adult male; Youth female; Youth male 

45 Tudhoe Grange Upper School (former)

A project's overall score provides an indication of its potential outcomes 

and deliverability only (weighted twice as much towards the outcomes 

score). It does not impact the likelihood or level of any potential investment. 

Page 83 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 451



Map data ©2019 Google

Priority pavilion/clubhouse projects

Small-sided 

facilities
Good facilities are important to all small-sided football 

players, but it is important to understand the different 

formats of the small-sided game and the various facility 

types they relate to.

Research suggests that small-sided players in teams and 

leagues, and in recreational sessions, prefer a 3G surface 

type because it replicates a good standard natural turf pitch. 

These facilities have already been covered in the 3G FTP 

section of this LFFP.

Indoor environments currently accommodate 20% of football 

participation and are also popular with players in teams and 

leagues and recreational sessions . Indoor sports halls are 

Page 84 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 452



most popular, along with some community halls and indoor 

3G centres. Environments need to be engaging, have clear 

line-marking and the correct size goalposts.

Informal players require facilities that are open and free to 

access as this enables play opportunities that are often 

spontaneous. In these circumstances multi-use games 

areas (MUGAs) can be effective in areas of high urban 

population and limited green space. Such facilities can be 

modern, bright, creative and engaging. While this plan will 

identify suitable locations for such facilities, the design and 

specifics of the facility type can be agreed at a later stage 

with Football Foundation staff when projects are ready to 

progress to pre-application stage.

Parks and open green spaces are also important to informal 

play and require goalposts and zones that are free from litter 

and dog fouling.

Priority projects

1
Better Indoor 

space

6
MUGAs

2
Better parks/ 

open green 

spaces

Page 85 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 453



Indoor

Local consultation indicates one indoor facility that requires 

improvement to develop small-sided football. This is at 

Horden Community Centre.

Map data ©2019 Google

Priority indoor projects

Multi-use games areas

Five potential opportunities for MUGAs are identified. In 

each case the rationale is based on the site being in an area 

of significant urban population with high levels of 

deprivation, a high proportion of people from lower social 

economic groups, limited green space and high local 

demand for informal football.

One of the projects refers broadly to schools in the West of 

the County. This is because there is deemed to be 

insufficient demand for 3G provision within the area due to 

Page 86 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 454



its rural nature; however, there is still a need for some kind 

of provision to cater for what activity does take place. As 

such, larger schools should be targeted to provide suitable 

facilities.

Parks and open green spaces

Following local consultation, two locations are identified to 

support small-sided informal football. Here, the rationale is 

primarily based upon these being popular local parks/open 

green spaces with suitable space / areas to install provision 

to increase opportunity for informal football.

Map data ©2019 Google

Priority small-sided projects

Page 87 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 455



LOCATION

SEAHAM LEISURE 

CENTRE SEAHAM 

LEISURE CENTRE 

LAUREL AVENUE, 

SEAHAM, , SR7 8NP 

FACILITIES

Natural grass pitch 

improvements (2)

Small sided informal 

(MUGA) (1)

OWNER

Local Authority

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

High (3/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

2.1/4 

OVERALL SCORE

60% (7.1/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - two adult pitches with changing facilities and a MUGA

Current users - Four teams from three clubs

Rationale - pitches require improving and the MUGA could be made more football friendly

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult male; BAME; Disability; IMD / lower social economic groups; Mini-soccer; Small-sided 

informal; Small-sided recreational; Small-sided teams and leagues; Youth female; Youth 

male 

29 Seaham Leisure Centre

Page 88 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 456



LOCATION

Location details: Coniston 

Close 

FACILITIES

Small sided informal 

(MUGA) (1)

OWNER

Other

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

High (3/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

2.6/4 

OVERALL SCORE

68% (8.2/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - MUGA

Current users - recreational

Rationale - existing MUGA could be improved. Located opposite Cheveley Park Shopping 

Centre and managed by Belmont Parish Council. Currently without floodlights.

PROJECT FOCUS

BAME; IMD / lower social economic groups; Small-sided informal; Small-sided recreational 

35 Coniston Close

Page 89 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 457



LOCATION

Location details: Glenholme 

Park 

FACILITIES

Small sided informal 

(MUGA) (1)

OWNER

Other

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

High (3/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

2.7/4 

OVERALL SCORE

69% (8.3/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - MUGA

Current users - recreational

Rationale - Good size MUGA with lighting and very well used. Potential to improve it and 

make it more football specific.

PROJECT FOCUS

BAME; IMD / lower social economic groups; Small-sided informal; Small-sided recreational 

36 Glenholme Park

Page 90 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 458



LOCATION

HENKNOWLE 

RECREATION GROUND 

13 HAMPSHIRE PLACE, 

BISHOP AUCKLAND, , 

DL14 6UX 

FACILITIES

Small sided informal 

(MUGA) (1)

OWNER

Other

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

High (3/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

2.8/4 

OVERALL SCORE

71% (8.6/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - one adult pitch and a MUGA

Current users - recreational

Rationale - existing MUGA could be improved. Has lighting and is of a good size.

PROJECT FOCUS

BAME; IMD / lower social economic groups; Small-sided informal; Small-sided recreational 

37 Henknowle Recreation Ground

Page 91 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 459



LOCATION

Location details: Horden 

Community Centre 

FACILITIES

Refurbish Indoor Football 

Facility (1)

OWNER

Other

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

High (3/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

3.0/4 

OVERALL SCORE

75% (9.0/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - indoor space

Current users - recreational

Rationale - indoor space to be improved to make it more suitable for football activity

PROJECT FOCUS

BAME; Disability; Mini-soccer; Small-sided informal; Small-sided recreational; Small-sided 

teams and leagues 

38 Horden Community Centre

Page 92 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 460



LOCATION

SIMPASTURE PARK 

PLAYGROUND, 

SIMPASTURE PLAYING 

FIELD BARRINGTON 

ROAD, NEWTON 

AYCLIFFE, , DL5 7AG 

FACILITIES

Small sided informal 

(MUGA) (1)

OWNER

Other

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

Medium (2/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

2.6/4 

OVERALL SCORE

60% (7.2/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - one adult pitch and a MUGA

Current users - one team plus recreational

Rationale - existing MUGA could be improved. Managed by Simpasture Town Council.

PROJECT FOCUS

BAME; IMD / lower social economic groups; Small-sided informal; Small-sided recreational 

39 Simpasture Park

Page 93 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 461



LOCATION

TUDHOE COMMUNITY 

CENTRE St Davids Close, 

Spennymoor, , DL16 6FQ 

FACILITIES

Small sided informal 

(MUGA) (1)

OWNER

Other

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

High (3/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

2.9/4 

OVERALL SCORE

73% (8.8/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - adult pitch and a MUGA

Current users - two teams plus recreational

Rationale - existing MUGA is in need of improvement. Managed by Spennymoor Town 

Council. Urban area with potential to be well used.

PROJECT FOCUS

BAME; IMD / lower social economic groups; Small-sided informal; Small-sided recreational 

40 Tudhoe Community Centre

Page 94 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 462



LOCATION

Location details: West 

Rainton 

FACILITIES

Small sided informal (Park) 

(1)

OWNER

Not known

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

Medium (2/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

2.9/4 

OVERALL SCORE

65% (7.8/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - n/a

Current users - n/a

Rationale - urban area in need of recreational provision

PROJECT FOCUS

BAME; IMD / lower social economic groups; Small-sided informal; Small-sided recreational 

41 West Rainton

Page 95 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 463



LOCATION

Location details: Schools in 

the West 

FACILITIES

Small sided informal 

(MUGA) (1)

OWNER

Not known

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

Medium (2/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

2.6/4 

OVERALL SCORE

59% (7.1/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - n/a

Current users - n/a

Rationale - there is not enough demand in the West to warrant 3G FTP provision; however, 

developing MUGAs at some of the largest schools should be considered to ensure that the 

demand that does exist is met

PROJECT FOCUS

BAME; Disability; IMD / lower social economic groups; Mini-soccer; Small-sided informal; 

Small-sided recreational; Small-sided teams and leagues; Youth female; Youth male 

43 Schools in the West

A project's overall score provides an indication of its potential outcomes 

and deliverability only (weighted twice as much towards the outcomes 

score). It does not impact the likelihood or level of any potential investment. 

Appendix A: 

Priority project 

list

Page 96 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 464



This list compiles all of the priority projects for potential 

investment. Each is scored against two principal factors: 

deliverability and outcomes (quality, inclusivity, 

sustainability, engagement and usage).

The list will be used flexibly; projects ‘rating’ does not 

determine the exact order in which it will progress to a 

funding application to the Football Foundation as many 

factors influence this. The process for moving a project from 

this list and into the ‘pre-application stage’ will be managed 

by the Football Foundation.

Page 97 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 465



LOCATION

RIVERSIDE SPORTS 

PAVILION RIVERSIDE 

SOUTH, CHESTER LE 

STREET, , DH3 3SJ 

FACILITIES

New 11v11 Floodlit 3G FTP 

(2)

Refurbish Changing 

Pavilion (1)

OWNER

County FA

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

High (3/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

4.0/4 

OVERALL SCORE

92% (11.0/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - five adult pitches and a full size 3G FTP with changing facilities

Current users - 47 teams from 22 clubs for matches, plus additional teams for training; also 

used by County FA. 

Rationale - potential to create a hub site with three full size 3G FTPs (two additional pitches) 

aligned to Durham County FA operating the provision. Aspirations exist for a centralised 

clubhouse to be provided, although the Council would rather the existing provision be 

improved (otherwise it would not be used). Grass pitches to be improved despite currently 

being adequate quality due to the importance of the site and the usage that is/will be 

received.

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult female; Adult male; BAME; Disability; IMD / lower social economic groups; Mini-

soccer; Pro-club; Small-sided recreational; Small-sided teams and leagues; Youth female; 

Youth male 

5 Riverside Sports Pavilion

Page 98 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 466



LOCATION

WOODHAM ACADEMY 

WASHINGTON 

CRESCENT, NEWTON 

AYCLIFFE, , DL5 4AX 

FACILITIES

New 11v11 Floodlit 3G FTP 

(1)

Natural grass pitch 

improvements (6)

OWNER

Education

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

Very High (4/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

3.3/4 

OVERALL SCORE

88% (10.6/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - three adult, three youth and two mini pitches with changing rooms

Current users - 14 teams from Newton Aycliffe Juniors FC

Rationale - there is a need for an additional 3G FTP in the area and the School already has 

a proposal in place. Grass pitches should be improved to compliment 3G development.

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult female; Adult male; Disability; Mini-soccer; Small-sided recreational; Small-sided 

teams and leagues; Youth female; Youth male 

7 Woodham Academy

Page 99 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 467



LOCATION

EAST DURHAM COLLEGE 

(HOUGHALL CAMPUS) 

DURHAM, , DH1 3SG 

FACILITIES

New 11v11 Floodlit 3G FTP 

(1)

OWNER

Education

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

High (3/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

3.3/4 

OVERALL SCORE

80% (9.6/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - three adult, one youth and six mini pitches with changing facilities

Current users - 18 teams from 11 clubs

Rationale - to reduce 3G FTP shortfalls. Existing 3G pitch at the College's other campus has 

links to Hartlepool FC.

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult female; Adult male; BAME; Disability; Mini-soccer; Pro-club; Small-sided recreational; 

Small-sided teams and leagues; Youth female; Youth male 

2 

East Durham College (Houghall Campus)

Page 100 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 468



LOCATION

Location details: Whitworth 

Park School or Daisy Fields 

Sports Ground 

FACILITIES

New 11v11 Floodlit 3G FTP 

(1)

OWNER

Not known

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

High (3/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

3.0/4 

OVERALL SCORE

75% (9.0/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - six adult and three youth pitches at Whitworth Park School; no current 

provision at Daisy Fields Sports Ground

Current users - three teams at Whitworth Park School; no formal usage at Daisy Fields 

Sports Ground

Rationale - there is a need for an additional 3G FTP in the area. Whitworth Park School has 

long standing aspirations, whereas the development at Daisy Fields Sports Ground would 

be linked to Spennymoor Town FC re-locating to the site.

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult female; Adult male; Mini-soccer; Small-sided recreational; Small-sided teams and 

leagues; Youth female; Youth male 

6 

Whitworth Park Academy or Daisy Fields 

Sports Ground

Page 101 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 469



LOCATION

MEADOWFIELD LEISURE 

CENTRE JOHN STREET 

NORTH, MEADOWFIELD, 

DURHAM, , DH7 8RS 

FACILITIES

Natural grass pitch 

improvements (3)

Refurbish Changing 

Pavilion (1)

OWNER

Local Authority

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

High (3/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

3.0/4 

OVERALL SCORE

75% (9.0/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - two adult pitches and a full size 3G FTP with changing facilities

Current users - nine teams from Durham City Juniors FC

Rationale - pitches and changing facilities are in need of improvement and there is also 

space to establish additional provision (subject to agreement with management)

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult female; Adult male; Youth female; Youth male 

21 Meadowfield Leisure Centre

Page 102 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 470



LOCATION

PARK VIEW SCHOOL 

(CHURCH CHARE) 

CHURCH CHARE, 

CHESTER LE STREET, , 

DH3 3PZ 

FACILITIES

Natural grass pitch 

improvements (3)

OWNER

Education

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

High (3/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

3.0/4 

OVERALL SCORE

75% (9.0/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - n/a

Current users - n/a

Rationale - large green space not currently in use; pitches could be established to increase 

capacity in the area. Further work required to determine potential club users.

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult female; Adult male; Mini-soccer; Youth female; Youth male 

26 Park View School

Page 103 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 471



LOCATION

ROSEBERRY PLAYING 

FIELDS Pelton Lane, 

Newfield, Newfield, , DH2 

1NW 

FACILITIES

Natural grass pitch 

improvements (5)

OWNER

Local Authority

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

High (3/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

3.0/4 

OVERALL SCORE

75% (9.0/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - three adult and three youth pitches with changing facilities and a small-

sided 3G FTP

Current users - nine teams including eight from Chester-le-Street Hilda Park Youth FC

Rationale - well used site in need of grass pitch improvements to compliment new Football 

Foundation changing provision and the small-sided 3G pitch.

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult female; Adult male; Mini-soccer; Youth female; Youth male 

28 Roseberry Playing Fields

Page 104 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 472



LOCATION

Location details: Horden 

Community Centre 

FACILITIES

Refurbish Indoor Football 

Facility (1)

OWNER

Other

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

High (3/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

3.0/4 

OVERALL SCORE

75% (9.0/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - indoor space

Current users - recreational

Rationale - indoor space to be improved to make it more suitable for football activity

PROJECT FOCUS

BAME; Disability; Mini-soccer; Small-sided informal; Small-sided recreational; Small-sided 

teams and leagues 

38 Horden Community Centre

Page 105 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 473



LOCATION

PARKSIDE ACADEMY 

HALL LANE ESTATE, 

WILLINGTON, CROOK, , 

DL15 0QF 

FACILITIES

New Changing Pavilion (1)
OWNER

Education

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

High (3/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

3.0/4 

OVERALL SCORE

75% (9.0/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - a full size 3G FTP, five grass pitches and changing rooms.

Current users - numerous teams for training and seven for matches. 

Rationale - standalone changing provision (external to the main School building) is required 

to service the 3G FTP and the grass pitches

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult female; Adult male; Disability; Mini-soccer; Small-sided recreational; Small-sided 

teams and leagues; Youth female; Youth male 

44 Parkside Academy (Crook)

Page 106 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 474



LOCATION

STANLEY COMMUNITY 

FOOTBALL CENTRE TYNE 

ROAD, STANLEY, , DH9 

6PZ 

FACILITIES

Natural grass pitch 

improvements (2)

OWNER

Other

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

Medium (2/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

3.4/4 

OVERALL SCORE

73% (8.8/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - two adult pitches with changing facilities and a small-sided 3G FTP

Current users - 16 teams from two clubs (15 from Beamish Youth FC)

Rationale - pitches retained following closure of the School. Some pitches are already 

undergoing repair work but further attention is required. Considered a key site for reducing 

local shortfalls. Changing facilities would be beneficial and could service both sites.

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult female; Adult male; BAME; IMD / lower social economic groups; Youth female; Youth 

male 

30 Stanley Community Football Centre

Page 107 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 475



LOCATION

OAKEY PARK Sunny 

Terrace, Stanley, , DH9 

8AW 

FACILITIES

Natural grass pitch 

improvements (2)

Refurbish Changing 

Pavilion (1)

OWNER

Local Authority

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

High (3/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

2.9/4 

OVERALL SCORE

73% (8.8/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - two adult pitches with changing rooms

Current users - two teams

Rationale - pitches and changing facilities require improvement to drive demand. Previously 

a very well used site.

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult male; Youth male 

24 Oakey Park

Page 108 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 476



LOCATION

TUDHOE COMMUNITY 

CENTRE St Davids Close, 

Spennymoor, , DL16 6FQ 

FACILITIES

Small sided informal 

(MUGA) (1)

OWNER

Other

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

High (3/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

2.9/4 

OVERALL SCORE

73% (8.8/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - adult pitch and a MUGA

Current users - two teams plus recreational

Rationale - existing MUGA is in need of improvement. Managed by Spennymoor Town 

Council. Urban area with potential to be well used.

PROJECT FOCUS

BAME; IMD / lower social economic groups; Small-sided informal; Small-sided recreational 

40 Tudhoe Community Centre

Page 109 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 477



LOCATION

LOWHILLS ROAD 

PLAYING FIELDS Lowhills 

Road, Peterlee, , SR8 2DW 

FACILITIES

Natural grass pitch 

improvements (5)

New Changing Pavilion (1)

OWNER

Other

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

High (3/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

2.9/4 

OVERALL SCORE

73% (8.7/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - five adult and one youth pitch with changing facilities

Current users - 13 teams from eight clubs

Rationale - clubhouse is not currently dedicated to grass pitch users and is dated. A new 

building should be provided in a better location. Grass pitches should be improved to 

support ancillary facility development.

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult female; Adult male; Youth female; Youth male 

20 Lowhills Road Playing Field

Page 110 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 478



LOCATION

OAK LEAF SPORTS 

COMPLEX SCHOOL 

AYCLIFFE, NEWTON 

AYCLIFFE, , DL5 6QZ 

FACILITIES

Natural grass pitch 

improvements (4)

OWNER

Other

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

High (3/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

2.9/4 

OVERALL SCORE

73% (8.7/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - two adult, two youth and two mini pitches with changing facilities

Current users - 17 teams from Newton Aycliffe Youth FC

Rationale - large, key site in need of improvement

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult female; Adult male; Mini-soccer; Youth female; Youth male 

23 

Oakleaf Sports Complex (School Aycliffe 

Sports Fields)

Page 111 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 479



LOCATION

Location details: Sniperley 

Area 

FACILITIES

New 11v11 Floodlit 3G FTP 

(1)

OWNER

Not known

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

Medium (2/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

3.3/4 

OVERALL SCORE

72% (8.6/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - n/a

Current users - n/a

Rationale - there is a need for an additional 3G FTP in the area, with further investigation 

required to determine preferred location

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult female; Adult male; BAME; Disability; IMD / lower social economic groups; Mini-

soccer; Small-sided recreational; Small-sided teams and leagues; Youth female; Youth male 

1 Sniperley Area

Page 112 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 480



LOCATION

Location details: Former 

Durham Free School 

FACILITIES

Natural grass pitch 

improvements (2)

OWNER

Local Authority

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

High (3/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

2.8/4 

OVERALL SCORE

71% (8.6/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - n/a

Current users - n/a

Rationale - the School has closed and plans are in place to demloish the building; however, 

the pitch space is to be retained. Gilesgate Primary School has an aspiration to operate the 

land and let pitches out to the community. Worked is required to determine potential club 

users.

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult male; Mini-soccer; Youth female; Youth male 

17 Former Durham Free School

Page 113 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 481



LOCATION

HENKNOWLE 

RECREATION GROUND 

13 HAMPSHIRE PLACE, 

BISHOP AUCKLAND, , 

DL14 6UX 

FACILITIES

Small sided informal 

(MUGA) (1)

OWNER

Other

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

High (3/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

2.8/4 

OVERALL SCORE

71% (8.6/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - one adult pitch and a MUGA

Current users - recreational

Rationale - existing MUGA could be improved. Has lighting and is of a good size.

PROJECT FOCUS

BAME; IMD / lower social economic groups; Small-sided informal; Small-sided recreational 

37 Henknowle Recreation Ground

Page 114 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 482



LOCATION

HUNWICK RECREATION 

GROUND 3 HEPWORTH 

LANE, HUNWICK, CROOK, 

, DL15 0LW 

FACILITIES

Natural grass pitch 

improvements (3)

OWNER

Local Authority

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

High (3/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

2.7/4 

OVERALL SCORE

69% (8.3/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - two adult and one youth pitch with changing facilities (via Hunwick Cricket 

Club) 

Current users - Bishop Auckland Girls FC

Rationale - pitches are assessed as poor quality. Key site for female football and growth.

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult female; Mini-soccer; Youth female 

19 Hunwick Recreation Ground

Page 115 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 483



LOCATION

NEW DRIVE PLAYING 

FIELD 19 PARKLAND 

TERRACE, SEAHAM, , 

SR7 0AP 

FACILITIES

Natural grass pitch 

improvements (5)

OWNER

Other

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

High (3/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

2.7/4 

OVERALL SCORE

69% (8.3/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - three adult and three youth pitches

Current users - six teams from three clubs

Rationale - large football site in need of improvement

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult female; Adult male; Youth female; Youth male 

22 New Drive Playing Field

Page 116 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 484



LOCATION

Location details: Glenholme 

Park 

FACILITIES

Small sided informal 

(MUGA) (1)

OWNER

Other

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

High (3/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

2.7/4 

OVERALL SCORE

69% (8.3/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - MUGA

Current users - recreational

Rationale - Good size MUGA with lighting and very well used. Potential to improve it and 

make it more football specific.

PROJECT FOCUS

BAME; IMD / lower social economic groups; Small-sided informal; Small-sided recreational 

36 Glenholme Park

Page 117 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 485



LOCATION

SHILDON SUNNYDALE 

LEISURE CENTRE 

MIDDRIDGE LANE, 

SHILDON, , DL4 2EP 

FACILITIES

Natural grass pitch 

improvements (4)

OWNER

Local Authority

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

High (3/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

2.6/4 

OVERALL SCORE

69% (8.3/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - four adult pitches with changing facilities

Current users - five teams from two clubs

Rationale - pitches to be improved to allow for additional usage from Neyton Aycliffe FC

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult female; Adult male; Youth female; Youth male 

32 Sunnydale Leisure Centre

Page 118 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 486



LOCATION

Location details: Crookhall 

Playing Fields 

FACILITIES

New 11v11 Floodlit 3G FTP 

(1)

Natural grass pitch 

improvements (4)

OWNER

Football club

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

Medium (2/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

3.1/4 

OVERALL SCORE

69% (8.2/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - four adult pitches and a full size 3G FTP with changing facilities (at Belle 

Vue Stadium)

Current users - all teams from Consett AFC for training and nine for matches, plus three 

others teams from two different clubs

Rationale - a potential need for an additional 3G FTP to be provided in the area as access to 

Consett Leisure Centre is limited due to rugby usage at peak time during midweek. Land 

would be asset transferred to Consett AFC as part of the development, in line with the 

agreement at Belle Vue Stadium. Grass pitches should be improved to coincide with 3G 

development.

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult female; Adult male; Disability; Mini-soccer; Youth female; Youth male 

4 Crookhall Playing Fields (Consett AFC)

Page 119 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 487



LOCATION

Location details: Coniston 

Close 

FACILITIES

Small sided informal 

(MUGA) (1)

OWNER

Other

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

High (3/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

2.6/4 

OVERALL SCORE

68% (8.2/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - MUGA

Current users - recreational

Rationale - existing MUGA could be improved. Located opposite Cheveley Park Shopping 

Centre and managed by Belmont Parish Council. Currently without floodlights.

PROJECT FOCUS

BAME; IMD / lower social economic groups; Small-sided informal; Small-sided recreational 

35 Coniston Close

Page 120 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 488



LOCATION

FRAMWELLGATE 

SCHOOL DURHAM 

NEWTON DRIVE, 

DURHAM, , DH1 5BQ 

FACILITIES

Natural grass pitch 

improvements (3)

OWNER

Education

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

Medium (2/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

3.1/4 

OVERALL SCORE

68% (8.1/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - three adult pitches with changing facilities plus a small-sided 3G FTP

Current users - 11 teams from three clubs including seven from Deerness Valley Youth FC

Rationale - if floodlighting is not possible at Durham Johnstone Comprehensive School, 

there is a need for an additional 3G FTP in the locality. Grass pitches should be improved to 

support 3G development.

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult female; Adult male; Disability; Mini-soccer; Small-sided recreational; Small-sided 

teams and leagues; Youth female; Youth male 

3 Framwellgate School

Page 121 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 489



LOCATION

Location details: Seaham 

Area 

FACILITIES

New 11v11 Floodlit 3G FTP 

(1)

OWNER

Not known

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

Medium (2/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

3.1/4 

OVERALL SCORE

68% (8.1/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - n/a

Current users - n/a

Rationale - there is a need for an additional 3G FTP in the area, with Seaham Leisure 

Centre and Seaham High School considered to be potential options

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult female; Adult male; Mini-soccer; Small-sided recreational; Small-sided teams and 

leagues; Youth female; Youth male 

9 Seaham Area

Page 122 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 490



LOCATION

Location details: Daisy 

Fields Sports Ground 

FACILITIES

Natural grass pitch 

improvements (3)

New Changing Pavilion (1)

OWNER

Local Authority

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

Medium (2/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

3.1/4 

OVERALL SCORE

68% (8.1/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - n/a

Current users - n/a

Rationale - grass pitches to be established to enable Spennymoor Town FC to relocate to 

the site. New changing pavilion will also be required.

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult female; Adult male; Mini-soccer; Youth female; Youth male 

15 Daisy Fields Sports Ground

Page 123 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 491



LOCATION

Location details: Blackfyne 

Former School (Clarence 

Gardens) 

FACILITIES

Natural grass pitch 

improvements (2)

New Changing Pavilion (1)

OWNER

Local Authority

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

High (3/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

2.5/4 

OVERALL SCORE

67% (8.0/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - one adult, one youth and one mini pitch

Current users - Blackfyne Juniors FC

Rationale - pitches retained following closure of the School. Some pitches are already 

undergoing repair work but further attention is required. Considered a key site for reducing 

local shortfalls. Changing facilities would be beneficial and could service both sites.

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult female; Adult male; Mini-soccer; Youth female; Youth male 

12 

Blackfyne Former School (Clarence 

Gardens)

Page 124 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 492



LOCATION

Location details: Blackfyne 

Former School (Durham 

Road) 

FACILITIES

Natural grass pitch 

improvements (3)

OWNER

Local Authority

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

High (3/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

2.4/4 

OVERALL SCORE

65% (7.8/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - two adult and one youth pitch

Current users - Blackfyne Juniors FC

Rationale - pitches retained following closure of the School. Some pitches are already 

undergoing repair work but further attention is required. Considered a key site for reducing 

local shortfalls.

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult female; Adult male; Youth female; Youth male 

11 

Blackfyne Former School (Durham Road)

Page 125 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 493



LOCATION

DEAN BANK PARK 66 

RAMSAY DRIVE, 

FERRYHILL, , DL17 8PX 

FACILITIES

Natural grass pitch 

improvements (3)

OWNER

Other

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

High (3/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

2.4/4 

OVERALL SCORE

65% (7.8/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - one adult, two youth and three mini pitches with changing rooms

Current users - ten teams from Ferryhill Town Youth FC

Rationale - pitches assessed as poor quality and in need of improvement to accommodate 

demand. Changing facilities are relatively new meaning infrastructure is in place to 

accommodate more usage following pitch improvements.

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult female; Adult male; Mini-soccer; Youth female; Youth male 

16 Dean Bank Park

Page 126 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 494



LOCATION

Location details: Horndale 

Park 

FACILITIES

Natural grass pitch 

improvements (2)

OWNER

Local Authority

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

Medium (2/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

2.9/4 

OVERALL SCORE

65% (7.8/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - n/a

Current users - n/a

Rationale - large grass area that previously hosted pitches which could be re-established. 

Further work required to determine potential club users. Could also be used by Greenfield 

Community College. Drainage is currently cited as the main issue.

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult male; Youth female; Youth male 

18 Horndale Park

Page 127 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 495



LOCATION

Location details: West 

Rainton 

FACILITIES

Small sided informal (Park) 

(1)

OWNER

Not known

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

Medium (2/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

2.9/4 

OVERALL SCORE

65% (7.8/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - n/a

Current users - n/a

Rationale - urban area in need of recreational provision

PROJECT FOCUS

BAME; IMD / lower social economic groups; Small-sided informal; Small-sided recreational 

41 West Rainton

Page 128 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 496



LOCATION

BOWBURN PARK 1 

WALKER STREET, 

BOWBURN, DURHAM, , 

DH6 5BG 

FACILITIES

Natural grass pitch 

improvements (2)

New Changing Pavilion (1)

OWNER

Local Authority

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

High (3/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

2.3/4 

OVERALL SCORE

63% (7.6/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - two youth pitches 

Current users - six teams from Bowburn Youth FC

Rationale - pitches are poor quality and in need of improvement to accommodate demand. 

Site would also benefit from changing provision. Drainage is cited as the main problem by 

the Council and users, with some pooling evident.

PROJECT FOCUS

Youth female; Youth male 

13 Bowburn Welfare Park

Page 129 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 497



LOCATION

PELTON AND DISTRICT 

COMMUNITY 

RECREATION GROUND 

37 COQUET DRIVE, 

PELTON, CHESTER LE 

STREET, , DH2 1EW 

FACILITIES

Natural grass pitch 

improvements (2)

OWNER

Local Authority

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

High (3/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

2.3/4 

OVERALL SCORE

63% (7.6/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - two adult pitches

Current users - n/a

Rationale - two pitches with no current demand due to drainage issues. Further work 

required to determine potential club users.

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult male; Mini-soccer; Youth male 

27 Pelton & District Recreation Ground

Page 130 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 498



LOCATION

GREENLAND 

COMMUNITY PRIMARY 

SCHOOL SOUTH MOOR 

ROAD, STANLEY, , DH9 

7EZ 

FACILITIES

Natural grass pitch 

improvements (2)

OWNER

Education

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

Medium (2/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

2.8/4 

OVERALL SCORE

63% (7.6/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - two youth pitches and small-sided 3G FTP with changing facilties

Current users - eight teams from South Moor Juniors FC 

Rationale - large site with potential for additional pitches to be established

PROJECT FOCUS

Mini-soccer; Youth female; Youth male 

25 Greenland Community Primary School

Page 131 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 499



LOCATION

SIMPASTURE PARK 

PLAYGROUND, 

SIMPASTURE PLAYING 

FIELD BARRINGTON 

ROAD, NEWTON 

AYCLIFFE, , DL5 7AG 

FACILITIES

Small sided informal 

(MUGA) (1)

OWNER

Other

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

Medium (2/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

2.6/4 

OVERALL SCORE

60% (7.2/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - one adult pitch and a MUGA

Current users - one team plus recreational

Rationale - existing MUGA could be improved. Managed by Simpasture Town Council.

PROJECT FOCUS

BAME; IMD / lower social economic groups; Small-sided informal; Small-sided recreational 

39 Simpasture Park

Page 132 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 500



LOCATION

SEAHAM LEISURE 

CENTRE SEAHAM 

LEISURE CENTRE 

LAUREL AVENUE, 

SEAHAM, , SR7 8NP 

FACILITIES

Natural grass pitch 

improvements (2)

Small sided informal 

(MUGA) (1)

OWNER

Local Authority

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

High (3/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

2.1/4 

OVERALL SCORE

60% (7.1/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - two adult pitches with changing facilities and a MUGA

Current users - Four teams from three clubs

Rationale - pitches require improving and the MUGA could be made more football friendly

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult male; BAME; Disability; IMD / lower social economic groups; Mini-soccer; Small-sided 

informal; Small-sided recreational; Small-sided teams and leagues; Youth female; Youth 

male 

29 Seaham Leisure Centre

Page 133 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 501



LOCATION

COCKTON HILL 

RECREATION GROUND 

75 WOODHOUSE LANE, 

BISHOP AUCKLAND, , 

DL14 6JU 

FACILITIES

Refurbish Changing 

Pavilion (1)

Natural grass pitch 

improvements (2)

OWNER

Local Authority

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

High (3/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

2.1/4 

OVERALL SCORE

60% (7.1/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - two adult pitches with changing facilities

Current users - three teams from three clubs

Rationale - changing facilities are in need of refurbishment. Grass pitches suitable for 

inclusion in the Pitch Improvement Programme.

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult female; Adult male; Youth female; Youth male 

34 Cockton Hill Recreation Ground

Page 134 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 502



LOCATION

Location details: Schools in 

the West 

FACILITIES

Small sided informal 

(MUGA) (1)

OWNER

Not known

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

Medium (2/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

2.6/4 

OVERALL SCORE

59% (7.1/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - n/a

Current users - n/a

Rationale - there is not enough demand in the West to warrant 3G FTP provision; however, 

developing MUGAs at some of the largest schools should be considered to ensure that the 

demand that does exist is met

PROJECT FOCUS

BAME; Disability; IMD / lower social economic groups; Mini-soccer; Small-sided informal; 

Small-sided recreational; Small-sided teams and leagues; Youth female; Youth male 

43 Schools in the West

Page 135 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 503



LOCATION

CHESTER MOOR PARK 

Points North, Chester Moor, 

Chester le Street, , DH2 

3RW 

FACILITIES

Refurbish Changing 

Pavilion (1)

OWNER

Football club

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

High (3/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

1.9/4 

OVERALL SCORE

57% (6.9/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - one stadia adult pitch with changing facilities and a small-sided 3G FTP

Current users - five teams 

Rationale - changing facilities need bringing up to appropriate standard for the level of 

football being played

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult female; Adult male; Youth male 

33 Chester-le-Street FC (Moor Park)

Page 136 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 504



LOCATION

BELMONT PARK 

SUNDERLAND ROAD, 

DURHAM, , DH1 2LL 

FACILITIES

Natural grass pitch 

improvements (3)

Refurbish Changing 

Pavilion (1)

OWNER

Local Authority

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

Medium (2/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

2.3/4 

OVERALL SCORE

55% (6.6/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - two adult and one youth pitch with changing rooms

Current users - Durham Blue Star Youth FC

Rationale - both the grass pitches and changing facilities assessed as poor quality and in 

need of improvement to increase usage. The Council states that it could be well used 

following investment.

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult female; Adult male; Youth female; Youth male 

10 Belmont Park

Page 137 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 505



LOCATION

DURHAM COMMUNITY 

BUSINESS COLLEGE 

BRACKEN COURT, 

USHAW MOOR, DURHAM, 

, DH7 7NG 

FACILITIES

Natural grass pitch 

improvements (3)

OWNER

Education

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

Medium (2/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

2.3/4 

OVERALL SCORE

55% (6.6/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - a full size 3G FTP and three youth grass pitches

Current users - Many teams for training and eight teams for matches

Rationale - well used school site in need of grass pitch improvements to better 

accommodate demand, particularly from Deerness Valley Youth FC

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult female; Adult male; Mini-soccer; Youth female; Youth male 

46 Durham Community Business College

Page 138 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 506



LOCATION

SUNDERLAND ROAD 

PLAYING FIELDS 

Sunderland Road, Horden, 

Peterlee, , SR8 4PH 

FACILITIES

Natural grass pitch 

improvements (3)

OWNER

Other

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

Medium (2/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

2.2/4 

OVERALL SCORE

53% (6.3/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - two adult and one youth pitch with changing facilities

Current users - four teams from four clubs

Rationale - pitches are poor quality and in need of improvement

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult male; Youth male 

31 Sunderland Road Playing Fields

Page 139 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 507



LOCATION

THE CHARLIE WAYMAN 

FOOTBALL FIELDS West 

Chilton Terrace, Chilton, 

Ferryhill, , DL17 0HH 

FACILITIES

Natural grass pitch 

improvements (2)

Refurbish Changing 

Pavilion (1)

OWNER

Other

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

Medium (2/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

2.1/4 

OVERALL SCORE

52% (6.3/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - two adult pitches with changing rooms

Current users - one pitch is used by one team

Rationale - pitches are currently under-used and have significant drainage issues. Changing 

facilities are dated. Further work required to determine potential club users. Could potentially 

be re-configured to accommodate youth 11v11 demand given local shortfalls. Managed by 

Town Council.

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult female; Adult male; Youth female; Youth male 

14 Charlie Wayman Football Fields

Page 140 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 508



LOCATION

Tudhoe Grange Upper 

School (former) , DL16 6JY 

FACILITIES

Natural grass pitch 

improvements (3)

New Changing Pavilion (1)

OWNER

Local Authority

DELIVERABILITY SCORE

Medium (2/4) 

NFFS OUTCOME SCORE

2.1/4 

OVERALL SCORE

51% (6.1/12) 

NOTES

Current facilities - one adult and three youth pitches

Current users - 11 teams from Spennymoor Town Youth FC

Rationale - pitches are poor quality and overplayed. Spennymoor Town Youth FC has 

aspirations to relocate to another site but even if this happens, the pitches should be 

retained and improved given local shortfalls and to accommodate other demand. Potential 

club users should therefore be identified. Changing facilities to be provided.

PROJECT FOCUS

Adult female; Adult male; Youth female; Youth male 

45 Tudhoe Grange Upper School (former)

A project's overall score provides an indication of its potential outcomes 

and deliverability only (weighted twice as much towards the outcomes 

score). It does not impact the likelihood or level of any potential investment. 

Appendix B: 

Consultation 

list

Page 141 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 509



A range of local agencies were invited to participate in the 

LFFP consultation. Those that contributed are listed below:

Town Clerk - Great Aycliffe Town Council

FA Leagues Officer - Durham County FA

Performance Sports Manager - Durham University

Managing Director - Stanley Events Ltd.

Community Engagement Manager - Sport England

Culture & Sport Strategic Manager - Durham County Council

Principal Sports Manager - Durham County Council

Children & Young People's Services - Durham County 

Council

Technical & Service Development Manager - Durham 

County Council

Principal Policy Officer - Durham County Council

Executive Director - County Durham Sport

Secretary - Northern Alliance Football League

Secretary - Durham Sunday Football League

Secretary - Russel Foster Youth League

Head of Youth and Sport - Street Games

Director of Progammes - Foundation of Light

Participation Officer - Hartlepool United Community Sports 

Trust

Programme Manager - Newcastle United Foundation

In addition, all other clubs and parish/town councils were 

contacted as part of the ongoing PPS, with any LFFP 

specific findings contributing to this plan.

Page 142 of 142County Durham Local Football Facility Plan

09/09/2019https://lffp-drafts.ff-apps.dh.bytemark.co.uk/local-authorities-index/county-durham/co...

Page 510



 

 

 Cabinet 

15 January 2020 

Roads and Street Works Permit Scheme 

Key Decision No. REAL/10/19 

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Ian Thompson, Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local 
Services 

Councillor Brian Stephens, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for 

Neighbourhoods and Local Partnerships 

Electoral divisions affected: 
Countywide. 

Purpose of the Report 

1. To provide Cabinet with information regarding the introduction of a 
street works permit scheme and to: 

(a) seek approval to implement the County Council of Durham Roads 
and Street Works Permit Scheme; and 

(b) seek approval to implement a new staffing structure as defined in 
Appendix 2 entitled “Finance and Staffing Structure”. 

Executive summary 

2. In 2004 the Traffic Management Act (TMA) was introduced to tackle 
congestion and disruption on the highway network. 

 
3. The TMA provided local authorities with additional tools to coordinate 

street works including the power to introduce permit schemes as an 
alternative to the existing notice scheme detailed in the New Roads and 
Street Works Act 1991 (NRSWA). 

 
4. The primary benefits of a permit scheme are:  

(a) a reduction in both the number of highways works and their 
duration through proactive management of activities on the 
highway to minimise disruption to the travelling public; 

(b) an improvement in the quality and timeliness of information that is 
available to the public; and 

Page 511

Agenda Item 6



(c) more proactive and collaborative planning and working between 
all works promoters. 

 

5. The anticipated reduction in disruption caused by street works may also 
support economic growth and reduce carbon emissions. 
 

6. Unlike the notice scheme, permit schemes are optional.  If a highway 
authority wishes to introduce a permit scheme it can do so with an order 
made by the Council’s Chief Executive. 
 

7. In July 2018, the Secretary of State for Transport sent a letter to the 
Chief Executives of all highway authorities not operating a permit 
scheme including Durham County Council.  It asked that they consider 
introducing a permit scheme by 31 March 2020. 
 

8. The letter also made the Chief Executives aware that the Secretary of 
State for Transport has powers under Section 3(2) of the Traffic 
Management Act to direct an authority to introduce a permit scheme. 
 

9. Following receipt of the Secretary of State for Transport’s letter in July 
2018, the 11 north east authorities not currently operating a permit 
scheme, met and adopted a collaborative approach to introducing 
permit schemes in each of their authorities. 
 

10. To support all 11 north east authorities, Capita, a consultancy 
experienced in implementing permit schemes, was appointed to assist 
with the development and implementation of the scheme. 
 

11. Development of the single permit scheme, which covers all highways 
maintained by the Council, is now complete with the scheme operation 
document ‘The County Council of Durham Roads and Street Works 
Permit Scheme’ having now completed its full three month public 
statutory consultation. 

 
12. The consultation was sent to all statutory consultees, including the DfT 

permit schemes specialist, and was placed on the Council’s webpage 
for the general public to view and comment. 

 
13. This consultation was completed on 7 November 2019.  Comments 

made by consultees have now been considered resulting in minor 
adjustments to the document.  The final ‘The County Council of Durham 
Roads and Street Works Permit Scheme’ is available to view upon 
request. 

 

Page 512



14. Should Cabinet approve the introduction of the permit scheme it will be 
necessary to implement a new staffing structure in readiness for 
commencement by 31 March 2020. 

 
15. The anticipated permit scheme income and expenditure is detailed 

below: 

 
 

16. It is anticipated that the permit scheme will make a surplus of £150,523 
in year one followed by a surplus of £241,323 in each subsequent year. 
 

17. If the anticipated surplus is generated it is proposed that it be used to 
fund any necessary future adjustments to the permit scheme staffing 
structure or other future operational costs that have not been 
anticipated in this report. 

 
18. If there remains a surplus from permit fees appropriate adjustments 

shall be made to the fee structure in order to operate a cost neutral 
service in future financial years. 

Recommendations 

19. It is recommended that Cabinet: 

(a) approve the Permit Scheme; and 
 
(b) approve the implementation of the new staffing structure as 

detailed at Appendix 2 entitled “Finance and Staffing Structure”. 

  

Page 513



Background 

20. The efficient coordination of street works is one of the most important 
aspects of street works legislation benefiting highway authorities, 
statutory undertakers and highway users alike. 

 
21. The NRSWA sets out the objectives of the coordination function.  These 

are to ensure safety, to minimise inconvenience to people using a 
street, to protect the structure of the highway and the apparatus in it. 
 

22. Highway authorities have a duty under Section 59 of the NRSWA to 
coordinate works on the highway.  Statutory undertakers have a duty 
under Section 60 of the NRSWA to cooperate in the coordination 
process. 
 

23. The NRSWA introduced a notice scheme that requires both statutory 
undertakers and the highway authority to give notification of their 
intention to undertake works on the highway.  Notices provide valuable 
information to aid the coordination process with notice periods providing 
time for appropriate measures to be taken to mitigate against the impact 
of the works. 
 

24. In 2004, the TMA was introduced to tackle congestion and disruption on 
the road network.  The Act placed a ‘statutory network management 
duty’ on highway authorities to manage its road network with a view to 
achieving, as far as is practicable, the expeditious movement of traffic. 
 

25. The TMA gave local authorities additional tools to coordinate street 
works including the power to introduce permit schemes as an 
alternative to the notice scheme set out in the NRSWA. 

 
26. The primary benefits of a permit scheme are:  

• a reduction in both the number of highways works and their 
duration through proactive management of activities on the 
highway to minimise disruption to the travelling public; 

• an improvement in the quality and timeliness of information that is 
available to the public; and 

• more proactive and collaborative planning and working between 
all works promoters. 

 
27. The anticipated reduction in disruption caused by street works may also 

support economic growth and reduce carbon emissions. 
 

Page 514



28. Unlike the notice scheme, permit schemes are currently optional.  If a 
highway authority wishes to introduce a permit scheme it can do so by 
statutory order made by the highway authority’s Chief Executive. 
 

29. To date, over 60% of highway authorities nationally have introduced a 
permit scheme.  However, in the north east region only 1 out of the 12 
highway authorities, North Tyneside Council, has done so. 
 

30. In June 2018, the Government published an independent research 
report evaluating the effectiveness of permit schemes.  The research 
demonstrated that permit schemes result in a reduction in the duration 
of works and provide better outcomes for all highway users. 
 

31. The primary recommendation of the research report was that highway 
authorities not operating a permit scheme should consider introducing 
one as soon as possible. 
 

32. In July 2018, the Secretary of State for Transport sent a letter to the 
Chief Executives of all highway authorities not operating a permit 
scheme including Durham County Council.  Along with bringing to the 
highways authorities’ attention a research report, it also asked that they 
consider introducing a permit scheme by 31 March 2019.  This date was 
later revised to 31 March 2020. 
 

33. The letter also made the Chief Executives aware that the Secretary of 
State for Transport has powers under Section 3(2) of the Traffic 
Management Act 2004 to direct an authority to introduce a permit 
scheme.  It was stated that this approach may be used if a highway 
authority continued to rely on what he believed were ‘outdated and 
ineffective noticing arrangements’. 

Permit Schemes 

34. A permit scheme requires both statutory undertakers and the highway 
authority to apply for permission to use road space rather than simply 
notify the authority of their intention to undertake work. 

 
35. All permit applications must provide details of the proposed location, 

type of work, duration, extent of highway to be occupied, traffic 
management required and any mitigation measures to be undertaken. 
 

36. Upon receipt of the application, the information provided is assessed by 
the permit authority before either granting, refusing or requesting a 
modification of the application.  Conditions may also be imposed 
including the type of traffic management used, extent of diversions or 
limitations on working hours. 
 

Page 515



37. It is considered, therefore, that a permit scheme provides highway 
authorities with additional tools to coordinate works and fulfil their 
statutory network management duty. 

Permit Fees 

38. A permit authority charges a fee in accordance with the relevant 
regulations for assessing each application as well as issuing or varying 
a permit. 

 
39. Higher fees are payable for works carried out in traffic sensitive streets 

with lower or discounted fees being payable for works in non-traffic 
sensitive streets or at times which will cause the least disruption to the 
highway network. 
 

40. Permit fees are payable only by statutory undertakers with income 
being ring-fenced for use in the coordination and administration of the 
permit scheme. 
 

41. A highway authority, when applying for a permit, is not required to pay a 
permit fee.  The Council is also required to fund the coordination and 
administration of its own permit applications.  It is anticipated that 
highways services will require an additional two members of staff to 
administer its own permit applications.  These staff will be funded from 
highways services budget. 
 

42. Permit schemes shall not make a surplus and cannot be used to fund 
any other local authority function as set out in the permit regulations 
governing the operation of schemes. 
 

43. Whilst a highway authority is not required to pay a permit fee, in all 
other circumstances there must be parity between its works and those 
of statutory undertakers.  A highway authority shall not favour its own 
works and must impose the same permit conditions upon itself as it 
would a statutory undertaker in order to fulfil its ‘network management 
duty’ and comply with the TMA and statutory guidance. 
 

44. At the end of each financial year each permit authority operating a 
permit scheme must produce an annual report that includes established 
performance indicators. 
 

45. The report is submitted to the Department for Transport (DfT) for review 
and must be published to enable statutory undertakers and other 
interested parties to review, analyse and reflect on the performance of 
the scheme. 

  

Page 516



Current Situation 

46. Following receipt of the Secretary of State for Transport’s letter in July 
2018, the 11 north east authorities not currently operating a permit 
scheme, met and agreed to adopt a collaborative approach to 
introducing a permit scheme for their local authority area by 31 March 
2020. 

 
47. This collaborative approach means that the permit scheme rules and 

conditions that have been developed by each local authority are broadly 
similar making the scheme largely consistent for statutory undertakers 
working across the region.  However, each local authority is introducing 
a single authority permit scheme which, while being similar in nature, 
will have slight variations to meet specific authority needs.  In addition, it 
has allowed the implementation programme to be expedited through the 
achievement of scheme development and implementation efficiencies. 

 
48. To support all 11 north east authorities, Capita, a consultancy 

experienced in implementing permit schemes, has assisted with 
development and implementation. 
 

49. Capita has worked with each highway authority to develop and enhance 
commonalities and manage differences to ensure each permit scheme 
is delivered in the most effective and efficient way.  This has included 
assisting in the: 

• defining of scheme objectives and development of scheme 
conditions; 

• review of current highway network designations in relation to 
traffic sensitivity and hierarchy; 

• preparation of a business case including cost benefit analysis as 
detailed in Appendix 3. The basis of which uses a DfT calculator 
for assessing the viability of the permit scheme and the additional 
staff requirements; 

• informal and formal consultation with statutory consultees; 

• understanding of internal implications of requiring in-house 
services to apply for permits; 

• creation of a permit fee charging structure; and 

• assessment of information and communications technology and 
other resource implications. 

 

Page 517



50. Development of the permit scheme is now complete.  The DfT cost 
benefit analysis has calculated the ‘net present value’ of the scheme 
over a 10 year period to be £743,570. This demonstrates that the 
scheme is predicted to be both value for money and a benefit to County 
Durham.  Further information can be found detailed at Appendix 3 
entitled “The County Council of Permit Scheme for Road and Street 
Works Business Case and Cost Benefit Analysis”. 
 

51. The scheme operation document entitled “The County Council of 
Durham Roads and Street Works Permit Scheme” was subject of a full 
three month statutory public consultation which was completed on 7 
November 2019. 

 
52. The consultation was sent to all statutory consultees, including the DfT 

permit schemes specialist, and was placed on the Council’s webpage 
for the general public to view and comment. 

 
53. Comments made by consultees have now been considered resulting in 

minor adjustments to the document.  The final document is available to 
view upon request. 

 
54. It is now necessary to implement a new staffing structure, in readiness 

for the scheme commencing, by 31 March 2020. 

Options 

55. As permit schemes are optional a local authority may choose not to 
introduce one and continue to operate a notice scheme.  However, the 
Secretary of State for Transport may use their powers to direct an 
authority to do so in the future. 

 
56. Implementing a permit scheme at this point in time has taken advantage 

of allowing collaborative working with the other north east authorities 
and has therefore provided the most cost-effective solution. 

Main implications 

57. The main implications associated with introducing a permit scheme are: 

• legal implications: highway authorities have a duty under Section 
59 of the NRSWA to coordinate works on the highway. Statutory 
undertakers have a duty under Section 60 of the NRSWA to 
cooperate in the coordination process. 
 
The TMA places a ‘statutory network management duty’ on 
highway authorities to manage its road network with a view to 
achieving, as far as is practicable, the expeditious movement of 
traffic on the road network. 

Page 518



 
The TMA Part 3 (Sections 32 to 39) gave highway authorities 
additional tools to coordinate street works including the power to 
introduce permit schemes as an alternative to the notice scheme 
set out in the NRSWA. 

 
They are regulated in England by the Traffic Management Permit 
Scheme (England) Regulations 2007 (the 2007 regulations). 
 
The Deregulation Act 2015 removed in England the requirement 
for permit schemes to be approved by the Secretary of State. It 
amended the TMA enabling highway authorities in England to 
make their own schemes and to vary or revoke existing schemes.  

 
The 2007 Regulations have been amended by the Traffic 
Management Permit Scheme (England) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2015 (S.I. 2015/958) to reflect changes made by the 
Deregulation Act 2015 and other changes to the operation of 
permit schemes. The amended regulations apply to all new 
schemes from 30 June 2015. 
 
Under section 33(5) of the TMA highway authorities preparing a 
permit scheme are also required to have regard to Statutory 
Guidance issued by the Secretary of State. 
 
The permit scheme has been prepared in accordance with the 
above and advice has been sought from Legal & Democratic 
Services. 

 

• additional costs: the additional costs associated with operating the 
permit scheme are funded from permit fees.  However, only those 
costs associated with coordination and administration of statutory 
undertaker’s works are recoverable. 
 
The permit scheme is anticipated to make a surplus of £150,523 
in year one followed by a surplus of £241,323 in each subsequent 
year. 
 
If the anticipated surplus is generated, it is proposed that it be 
used to fund any necessary future adjustments to the permit 
scheme staffing structure or other future operational costs that 
have not been anticipated in this report.  If there remains a 
surplus from permit fees, appropriate adjustments shall be made 
to the fee structure in order to operate a cost neutral service in 
future financial years. 
 

Page 519



Full financial details are provided in Appendix 2 entitled “Finance 
and Staffing Structure”. 

 

• human resource implications: additional staff are required to 
operate the permit scheme.  A proposed new staffing structure 
has been developed and is detailed at Appendix 2 entitled 
“Finance and Staffing Structure”. 
 
Additional office space and infrastructure will be required to 
accommodate the new permit team as the current office space is 
at capacity. 

Conclusion 

58. The Secretary of State for Transport believes the Council’s current 
street works noticing arrangements are outdated and ineffective and 
has the powers under Section 3(2) of the Traffic Management Act to 
direct a highway authority to introduce a permit scheme. 

 
59. The Secretary of State for Transport has asked that the Council and 

other north east highway authorities consider introducing a permit 
scheme by 31 March 2020. 
 

60. The Council has worked collaboratively with these authorities with a 
view to each introducing a single permit scheme by this date. 
 

61. Development of the permit scheme is now complete.  The scheme 
operation document  entitled “The County Council of Durham Roads 
and Street Works Permit Scheme” was subject of a full public statutory 
consultation which was completed on 7 November 2019.  Comments 
made by consultees have now been considered resulting in minor 
adjustments to the document.  The final document is available to view 
upon request. 
 

62. It is now necessary to implement a new staffing structure in readiness 
for the scheme commencing by 31 March 2020. 

Appendices 

• Appendix 1: Implications 

• Appendix 2: Finance & Staffing Structure 

• Appendix 3: County Council of Durham Permit Scheme for Road 
and Street Works - Business Case and Cost Benefit Analysis 

Background papers 

Page 520



• New Roads and Streetworks Act 1991 

• Traffic Management Act 2004 

Other useful documents 

• Secretary of State for Transport’s Letter dated 12 July 2018 to 
Regional Chief Executives 

• County Council of Durham Roads and Street Works Permit 
Scheme 

 

Author(s) 

Brian Buckley    Tel:  03000 268097 

 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 521



Appendix 1: Implications 

 
Legal Implications 

Please refer to the main implications detailed in the report. 

 
Finance 

Please refer to the main implications detailed in the report. 

Consultation 

The permit scheme has been the subject of a three month statutory 
consultation process as required by the permit scheme’s regulations. 

The consultation was sent to all statutory consultees, including the DfT permit 
schemes specialist, and was placed on the Council’s webpage for the general 
public to view and comment. 
 
The Council received a small number of minor comments and observations 
which have been incorporated into the permit scheme presented for approval. 
 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

None. 

Climate Change 

The anticipated reduction in disruption caused by street works may also 

reduce carbon emissions. 

Human Rights 

None. 

 
Crime and Disorder 

None. 

 
Staffing 

Please refer to the main implications detailed in the report. 

Accommodation 

The additional staff associated with introducing a permit scheme will result in 
additional accommodation being required for the traffic and streetworks team. 

Risk 

Page 522



Permit schemes are optional, however, failure to implement the scheme may 
result in the Secretary of State for Transport using their powers to compel the 
Council to do so in the future. 

 
Procurement 

Procurement of a consultant to support the 11 north east highway authorities 
has been undertaken collaboratively. 
 
Also, there will be a requirement to purchase office furniture and IT equipment 
including mobile phones and vehicles. 
  

Page 523



 

 

Appendix 2:  Finance & Staffing Structure 

 
This appendix relates to the income, expenditure and staffing structure in relation to the streetworks team. 
 
The impact of introducing a permit scheme upon the Council’s operations division will be the subject of a separate report.  

Existing Streetworks Team Structure  

The streetworks team is responsible for coordinating and inspecting all works within the highway to ensure compliance 
with the NRSWA and all associated statutory instruments. In addition, the team issue licences for private persons or 
organisations to install or work on apparatus in the highway, process temporary Traffic Regulation Orders, issue Fixed 
Penalty Notices and overrun charges. They are also custodians of the National Streetworks Gazetteer for County 
Durham. 
 
The total existing streetworks staffing cost including overheads is £400,621.88. This excludes the cost of business 
support staff as these posts are funded from Transformation & Partnerships. A detailed breakdown of costs is shown in 
Figure 1. The existing streetworks team structure is detailed in Figure 2. 
 
Figure 1: Existing Streetworks Team Staffing Costs 

 

 

P
age 524



 

 

Figure 2: Existing Streetworks Team 

 
Proposed Streetworks and Permit Team Structure  

The proposed streetworks and permit team, as well as maintaining its current responsibilities, is predicted to assume the 
task of processing a combined total of between 16,000 and 25,000 permit applications per annum. These will be 
submitted by both statutory undertakers and the Council’s highway services team. The exact number will only be 
established following implementation of the permit scheme. Consequently, it is proposed to establish the streetworks and 
permit team in two phases. 

P
age 525



 

 

Figure 4 identifies the proposed streetworks and permit team. Existing staff are detailed in blue ink, staff to 
appointed/realigned during phase one are detailed in green and purple ink and staff to be appointed during phase two are 
detailed in red ink. 
 
Phase two staff will only be appointed if the proposed streetworks and permit team are unable to successfully process 
the actual volume of permits. All calculations detailed below are based on costs following implementation of phases one 
and two. 
 
Each permit application will provide details of the proposed location, type of work, duration, extent of highway to be 
occupied, traffic management required and any mitigation measures to be undertaken. Upon receipt of the application, 
the information provided will be assessed by the permit team before either granting, refusing or requesting a modification 
of the application. Conditions may also be imposed including the type of traffic management used, extent of diversions or 
limitations on working hours. 
 
The proposed permit team staffing costs includes a number of new roles, staff realignments and roles and responsibility 
adjustments. The total proposed streetworks and permit team value is a combination of the savings resulting from 
changes to the existing streetworks team and the cost of the proposed permit team: 
 

• Cost following changes to the existing streetworks team : £215,450; and 
 

• Cost following creation of the new permit team is : £584,484. 
 
A detailed breakdown of costs is detailed in Figure 3. The proposed streetworks and permit team structure is detailed in 
Figure 4. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 526



 

 

Figure 3: Proposed Streetworks and Permit Team Staffing Costs 

 

Figure 4: Proposed Streetworks and Permit Team  

• existing staff: blue; 

• phase one staff: green and purple; and 

• phase two staff: red. 

P
age 527



 

 

 

Total Net Staffing Cost  

The total net staffing cost is therefore the difference between the cost of the existing streetworks team staffing structure 
and the cost following changes to the existing streetworks team and the proposed permit team after all new roles, staff 
realignments and role and responsibility adjustments. The total net staffing cost is £399,312.50. A detailed breakdown is 
detailed in Figure 5. 
 

P
age 528



 

 

Figure 5: Total Net cost of proposed Streetworks and Permit Team 

 

Expenditure  

In addition to the additional staffing costs of £399,312 there are also both implementation costs and ongoing costs. 

Implementation Costs 

This cost includes all necessary IT, purchase of hardware including chairs, desks, computers, and staffing time to recruit, 
train and develop operational processes and procedures. These costs will be recouped from permit fees. Pre-
implementation operational costs for the Council’s scheme is anticipated to be approximately £90,850. 
 

 

P
age 529



 

 

Ongoing Operational Costs  

This includes all ongoing IT maintenance and licence costs, mobile phones and land lines, recruitment and training costs 
and vehicles. These costs will be recouped from permit fees. Ongoing costs for the Council’s scheme are anticipated to 
be approximately £66,490 per annum. 
 

 

Annual Revenue to the Local Authority 

Only statutory undertakers are required to pay a permit fee. Fees from a permit scheme will be used to recover the 
operational costs related to the additional work undertaken by the Council on permit applications from statutory 
undertakers. The anticipated annual revenue from the permit scheme is £707,175. 
 

 
  Source – DfT Permit Calculator 

P
age 530



 

 

Net Projected Post Implementation Costs 

The projected surplus for Year 1 of the permit scheme is anticipated to be £150,523. 
 

 
 

The projected surplus for Year 2 onwards of the permit scheme is anticipated to be £241,373. 
 

 

Summary  

The permit scheme is anticipated to make a surplus of £150,523 in year one followed by a surplus of £241,323 in each 
subsequent year from fees. 
 
Permit schemes are not allowed to make a surplus from fees and where there is a surplus it cannot be used to fund any 
other local authority transport function. Fees and any surplus can only be used for the coordination and administration 
statutory undertakers works. 
 P

age 531



 

 

As the Council’s own workforce are not required to pay a permit fee any surplus income cannot be used to fund the 
coordination and administration of their works. 
 
Consequently, if the anticipated surplus is generated it is proposed that it be used to fund any necessary future 

adjustments to the permit scheme staffing structure or other future operational costs that have not been anticipated in this 

report. If there remains a surplus from permit fees appropriate adjustments shall be made to the fee structure in order to 

operate a cost neutral service in future financial year. 

 

P
age 532



2 

 

 

Table of Contents 

 

Section 1 – The Business Case ........................................................................... 3 

 

About County Durham .................................................................................. 3 

Background to the Permit Scheme ............................................................... 4 

The Proposed Permit Scheme...................................................................... 5 

Notice Regime versus Permit Scheme ......................................................... 6 

Aim of the Scheme ....................................... Error! Bookmark not defined. 

Permit Scheme Criteria ................................................................................ 8 

Permit Scheme Coverage Options ............................................................... 9 

The Business Case .................................................................................... 10 

Balance of Costs and Benefits .................................................................... 10 

Risks ........................................................................................................... 12 

 

Section 2 – Cost Benefit Analysis ...................................................................... 14 

 

The DfT Local Authority Permit Calculator ................................................. 14 

Inputs .......................................................................................................... 14 

Total number of street works – 2017/18 ..................................................... 14 

Major Works ............................................................................................... 15 

0-2 category roads ...................................................................................... 15 

Permit Fee Structure .................................................................................. 16 

Outputs ....................................................................................................... 17 

Impact on number of works ........................................................................ 17 

Impact on the number of workdays (total duration of works) ...................... 17 

Impact on the costs of congestion to road users                           (Source:)
 ................................................................................................................... 18 

Cost to the local authority to set up and operate the permit scheme .......... 19 

Set-up costs................................................................................................ 20 

Local Authority operational costs (per year) ............................................... 20 

Local Authority works promoter’s costs ...................................................... 20 

Cost to statutory undertakers...................................................................... 21 

Annual revenue to the local authority ......................................................... 21 

Conclusion .................................................................................................. 21 

Page 533



3 

 

 

Section 1 – The Business Case 

 

About County Durham 
 

County Durham extends from the Durham Heritage Coast in the east to the high 

moors of the North Pennines in the west. It is a large geographic area covering 

223,000 hectares (862 square miles) and is bordered by the major conurbations 

of Tyne and Wear to the north, Tees Valley to the south and Cumbria to the 

west. 

 

 

 

The county is predominantly rural in nature, with settlement patterns centred on 

12 main towns, secondary settlements and local service centres. There are 

almost 200 other smaller settlements, many of them former colliery villages.  

 

Page 534



4 

 

 

County Durham has a population of just over 500,000 in approximately 230,000 

households. The City of Durham is the county’s most significant centre, 

dominated by the World Heritage Site of Durham Cathedral and Castle. 

 

Within County Durham there is a wide variety of transport infrastructure 

including 3700 km of roads, 3400 km of footways and approximately 1400 

highway structures. As well as providing a relatively safe and efficient passage 

and access for all highway users, it is fundamental to the economic, social and 

environmental well-being of all communities within the county. 

Background to the Permit Scheme 
 

Avoiding and minimising traffic congestion on the Council’s highway network 

roads is one of the key challenges facing the Council today. The ability of people 

and goods to move freely and meeting the everyday needs of business and 

citizens, depends largely on a well-managed and highly efficient network.  

 

Most road works reduce the width of the street available to highway users. They 

also inconvenience businesses and local residents. The scale of disruption and 

nuisance will depend on the type of activity and the traffic sensitivity of the 

particular street. In all cases, public tolerance is strained when one set of road 

works is quickly followed by another, or when the Highway Authority resurfaces 

the street and it is opened up shortly after. 

 

In June 2018, the Government published an independent research report 

evaluating the effectiveness of permit schemes. The research demonstrated that 

permit schemes can reduce the number and duration of works and provide the 

best outcomes for all highway users. The primary recommendation of the 

research report was that highway authorities not operating a permit scheme 

should consider introducing one as soon as possible. 

 

Page 535



5 

 

 

On 12 July 2018, the Secretary of State for Transport, The Rt. Hon. Chris 

Grayling sent a letter to the Chief Executives of all highway authorities not 

operating a permit scheme including Durham County Council. As well as 

bringing to their attention the research report it also asked that they consider 

introducing a permit scheme by 31 March 2020. 

The Proposed Permit Scheme 
 

The proposed Permit Scheme will require all works promoters (utility 

company, Transport Authority or Highway Authority) to provide adequate 

information regarding when they wish to undertake works in the carriageways, 

footways and verges within an adopted highway. This will enable the Permit 

Authority to understand and more easily manage the impact of these essential 

works on the highway network. 

 

The Permit Scheme will provide highway authorities with the ability to control 

the timings, methods and road space taken by the works and thereby aid the 

expeditious movement of traffic across the road network. This relies on the 

ability to scrutinise each permit application and if applicable apply conditions. 

This extra work puts additional operational and administrative burdens onto 

councils wishing to operate a scheme.  

The Permit Scheme will provide the following key benefits for Durham County 

Council residents, businesses and visitors; 

 

• greater opportunity to deliver and achieve completion dates 

through sharing best practice and overall cooperation; 

• reduced delays and disruption to economic activity; 

• improved reliability of journey times, especially by public transport; 

• improved safety at all road works sites; 

• improved communication about the purpose and duration of the 

works; 

 

By adopting a scheme, Durham County Council will charge a fee permit for 

applications made by utility companies. Permits may be charged at rates of 

between £35 and £240 dependent on the works type. The maximum fees are 

Page 536



6 

 

 

determined by DfT at national level. It is important however, to be aware that 

whilst Durham County Council’s own works in the highway, such as road 

resurfacing and traffic calming measures, do not attract a charge, they must be 

considered and decided upon in the same manner as those undertaken by the 

utility companies which the DfT refer to as ‘parity of determination’. 

 

Key Performance Indicators will be produced and made available to the 

public on an annual basis to aid transparency in terms of fee income 

council costs incurred in operating the scheme and “parity” between 

permit application outcomes related to utility and council streetworks.  

 

Permit Schemes have a significant administrative impact on the Council. 

These should be fully funded by the permit fees for coordinating and 

administering utility works. However, as the Authority’s own work promoters 

are not required to pay a permit fee and permit income from the utility 

companies cannot be used to fund the administrative burden of co-

ordinating and processing council permits. This must be funded by the 

Council. 

 

The authority has set its permit charges to ensure that permit administration 

and technical costs are cost neutral to the utility companies. If there is any 

surplus income permit fees may be adjusted in future years. Income from 

permit fees can only be used for administering the Permit Scheme so far as 

it relates to the utility companies. 

 

Durham County Council by choosing to implement a Permit Scheme should 

be aware that either indirectly or directly; members of public, businesses and 

organisations within the county may be paying for the Permit Scheme through 

increased energy or telecommunication bills. These charges are seen by 

Industry Regulators as unavoidable costs imposed upon undertakers and 

therefore allow the passing of charges to their customers.  

 

Notice Regime versus Permit Scheme 
 

Page 537



7 

 

 

Under the New Roads and Street Works Act 1991 (NRSWA), if a utility 

company wishes to open the road, which it has a statutory right to do, it 

notifies the local Highway Authority of its intention. The Highway Authority 

has; 

 

• Limited influence over how the work is executed (Section 59 of 

NRSWA State places on the Highway Authority a “general duty” 

to use “best endeavours” effectively to co-ordinate works. 

• No mechanism to charge for processing notices. 

 

Therefore, the provisions of NRSWA alone are largely reactive and 

inadequate to meet the duty of Highway Authorities to co-ordinate work on its 

highway. 

 

The powers for a highway authority to operate a Permit Scheme came into 

force in April 2008 via the Traffic Management Act 2004 (TMA) and the Traffic 

Management Permit Scheme (England) Regulations 2007, which altered the 

relationship between the utility companies and the highway authority. 

 

The fundamental difference between a Permit Scheme and a Noticing 

system is that the former enables the Highway Authority to proactively 

manage and to co-ordinate all activities on its roads whether they are utility 

or Highway Authority related. 

 

Aim of the Scheme 
 

The aims of the Permit Scheme have been shaped by both the aims of the Local 

Transport Plan 3 for County Durham and the objectives of our Highway 

Maintenance Plan. 

 

The aims of the Local Transport Plan 3 for County Durham are: 

 

Page 538



8 

 

 

• Support economic growth 

• Reduce carbon emissions 

• Promote equality of opportunity 

• Contribute to better safety, security and health 

• Improve quality of life and a healthy natural environment 

• Maintenance of the Transport Asset 

 

The primary objectives of the Highways Maintenance Plan are to: 

 

• Achieve a safe, serviceable and sustainable highway network. 

 

The overarching aim of the Permit Scheme can be summarised as the ability to 

manage and maintain the local highway network to maximize the safe and 

efficient use of road space and provide reliable journey times. Achieving this 

aim will contribute to the efforts of the Council to meet its statutory Network 

Management Duty under the TMA. 

 

The specific objectives of the Permit Scheme are; 

 

• Reduce both the number highways works and their duration through 

proactive management of activities on the highway to minimise disruption 

to the travelling public 

• Ensure accurate information is available to the public through improved 

quality and timeliness of information received from all works promoters 

• Encourage proactive and collaborative planning and working between all 

works promoters 

• Ensure all works promoters are treated fairly and with parity 

 

Permit Scheme Criteria 
 

Under a Permit Scheme all works promoters must apply for a permit to open 

the highway, and the Permit Authority, on considering the application, may 

request certain conditions are applied to the permit. This will enable the 

Permit Authority to coordinate road works so that disruption and congestion 

Page 539



9 

 

 

are minimised.  

 

This increased coordination is not intended to prevent activities necessary 

for the maintenance or improvement of the road network or utilities 

apparatus; its purpose is to minimise disruption whilst allowing works 

promoters the time and space they need to complete their work in a timely, 

efficient and effective manner. 

 

Upon implementation of a Permit Scheme, it will be a civil offence for any 

organisation wishing to occupy the highway to undertake registerable works 

without a permit, or to breach a permit condition. Permits may be regulated by 

prosecuting offenders through the civil courts or through the issuing of a Fixed 

Penalty Notice (FPN). 

 

The Durham County Council Permit Scheme has been prepared with regard 

to the statutory guidance issued by the DfT and in accordance with current 

Regulations. It has been developed as a single scheme. 

 

To deliver the proposed Permit Scheme the following documents will be 

submitted to the DfT: 

 

1. A Business Case signed on behalf of Durham County Council; 

2. A Cost Benefit Analysis (“CoBA‟) to identify the Cost Benefit Ratio 

of implementing the new regime 

3. A scheme document detailing how the scheme will operate and 

specifying the schemes compliance with the relevant legislation, 

regulations and statutory guidance. 

 

Permit Scheme Coverage Options 
 

The Department for Transport (DfT) has provided statutory guidance to Local 

Highway Authorities to determine their chosen Permit Scheme and in 

particular how that Authority can decide the coverage of such a scheme. The 

Page 540



10 

 

 

Council’s Permit Scheme will require permits for all adopted highways, 

including minor roads, with each permit application scrutinised individually. 

 

The Business Case 
 

The Business Case sets out the financial considerations relating to Durham 

County Council as a single scheme. 

 

Having introduced the principles of the Permit Scheme, this business case 

presents the costs v benefits and other financial impacts on Durham County 

Council. It also considers the potential risks to the Council in implementing 

the scheme. There must be demonstrable benefits and value for money as 

well as the scheme being cost neutral i.e. utility fee equals Council 

expenditure on dealing with utility permits.  

 
Balance of Costs and Benefits 
 

The TMA imposes a number of duties and powers for local authorities, all 

linked to the better management of their road network with the aim of reducing 

congestion and disruption.  

 

It is recognised that individual elements of the TMA, such as permit schemes, 

will involve net costs for undertakers. In this case it is important to look at the 

overall costs against the benefits. The benefits to the community of permit 

schemes are primarily economic, environmental and social rather than 

financial. These benefits result in better network management and reduced 

disruption and are provided to the whole community and country, rather than 

solely to the narrow interests of the industry. Thus, the main beneficiary is 

society as a whole and will be seen by; 

 

• An improvement in information as a result from taking a positive 

approach to issuing permits. Refusal to issue permits where 

information is incorrect or incomplete is thought to be more effective 

than giving fixed penalty notices. 

Page 541



11 

 

 

• the improvement in information will over time, help to reduce costs 

borne by Durham County Council as the checking of permit 

applications can be reduced to those checks required to concentrate 

on coordination and the minimising of disruption. 

• permit applications more accurately reflecting the works being carried 

out, again, enable Durham County Council to concentrate their 

resources on actual activity requirements not possible requirements 

(i.e. notices for works that are eventually cancelled or abandoned). 

• the general change in culture that will be necessary within both the 

private sector and the local authority to meet permit requirements 

provides an opportunity to improve overall the whole approach to 

working on the highway. Consequently, this gives the opportunity to 

move forward in providing accurate and positive information to all 

highway users (i.e. customers), thus reducing the negative reputational 

views sometimes expressed. 

 

Permit schemes also offer the possibility of a less fragmented way of 

administering works activities than at present. Set against that, if permit 

schemes are not efficiently operated there is a risk that they could increase 

costs for those operating them and those obliged to apply for permits and their 

customers, without realising corresponding benefits. 

 

In modelling costs and benefits it has been assumed that reduced road work 

activity is reflected in reduced numbers of permits against the opening baseline 

level; meanwhile the societal costs associated with road works reduce by the 

same proportion. For example, if the Permit Scheme brings about a 5%1 

reduction in permit numbers this is manifested in a 5% reduction in road work 

activity and road work-related costs to across County Durham. 

 

For illustration, in 2018, the total costs of congestion across the whole of U.K. 

was estimated to be approximately £8 billion with on average, road users 

suffering delays on the highway of 178 hours costing £1,317 per driver. 

 

On balance, the benefits the Permit Scheme could deliver outweigh the 

additional costs which the scheme will impose on both utilities and Durham 

Page 542



12 

 

 

County Councils own highway operation. 

 

Any activity carried out in the street has the potential to cause disruption 

depending upon its duration, its location, its scale and how it is carried out. 

The benefits of being able to better control these activities through a permit 

scheme are; 

 

• Reduced occupation of the road for works activities helps reduce 

congestion and maximises the use of the existing network, improving 

reliability and making journey times more predictable with less delay. 

This makes journeys easier to plan and reduces the amount of delay 

to the highway user. 

• Business can operate more efficiently through the quicker and more 

reliable delivery of goods, services and access to customers. 

• People are able to access their destinations more easily, saving time 

and effort 

• Public transport can operate more reliably and provide a better 

service, potentially further relieving congestion on the road by 

attracting motorists onto public transport 

• Customers become more satisfied with the Council’s management of 

the road network. 

 

If approved and introduced Durham County Council will evaluate the permit 

scheme after the first year of its operation to ensure that the right balance has 

been struck between costs and benefits, and to see whether the operation of 

the scheme requires amendment.  

 
Risks 
 

To implement a Permit Scheme changes are required in current processes, 

systems and staffing levels. Durham County Council must be in a position to 

adapt and implement these prior to the go-live date. 

 

If Durham County Council is not prepared for the introduction of the scheme 

the following risks may apply: - 

Page 543



13 

 

 

 

• reputational damage within the local, central government and the region 

• financial risk – the income is not generated to cover costs 

• Durham County Council as a works promoter is not ready which will 

create issues regarding achieving parity 

• late invoice payments therefore delaying income into the authority 

• DfT intervention and possible external control. 

 

The primary financial risk is that the authority having incurred implementation 

and operational costs is unable to generate enough income to off-set these 

costs. This risk is manageable because; 

 

• Utility companies already pay Highway Authorities for a range of road 

work related services such as inspections, fines and core sampling, as 

well as paying Fixed Penalty Notices: The Permit Scheme will therefore 

represent an extension to existing arrangements. 

• There is no evidence of well operated Permit Schemes have 

encountered financial difficulties.  

• English utilities typically carry a low credit risk. Furthermore, permit fees 

and debtor balances will be comprised of numerous invoices of small 

value, rather than large contract-type invoices.  

• Fees can be increased or decreased giving full reconsideration of the 

cost and benefits identified during each annual review of the Permit 

Scheme. 

 

Against these risks is the potential high-level reward; 

 

• The Permit Scheme fits well with the remit of improving and contributing 

to the Council’s statutory function of providing an efficient and well-

maintained highway network and ensuring the expeditious movement 

of traffic. 

 

Page 544



14 

 

 

Section 2 – Cost Benefit Analysis 

 

The DfT Local Authority Permit Calculator 

 
The DfT Local Authority Permit Calculator has been used to assess the cost and 

benefits of Durham County Council introducing a Permit Scheme.  

Having input the required data the calculator makes suggestive estimates of how the 

Permit Scheme will impact Durham County Council.  

Inputs 

 
The following data was input into the DfT Local Authority Permit Calculator. The 

input data was extracted from the Council’s current ‘Symology’ street works notice 

processing system for the financial year 2017/18 (the most current complete year at 

the time of extracting the data).  

The data headings used have the following meaning -  

• Works undertaken by Statutory Undertakers (Utility Companies)  

• Works undertaken by Local Authority (Durham County Council). 

• Works type –  

 

1. Major - have been identified in an undertaker’s annual operating programme 

or, are normally planned or known about at least six months in advance of the 

proposed start date; require a temporary traffic regulation order or have a 

planned duration of 11 days or more 

2. Standard - works other than immediate or major works, with a planned 

duration of between four and ten days inclusive. 

3. Minor – works other than immediate or major works, with a planned duration 

of three days or less. 

4. Immediate - emergency works required to end, or prevent, circumstances, 

either existing or imminent, that might cause damage to people or property.  

5. Urgent - works required (i) to prevent, or put an end to, an unplanned 

interruption of any supply or service provided by the undertaker; (ii) to avoid 

substantial loss to the undertaker in relation to an existing service; or (iii) to 

reconnect supplies or services where the undertaker would be under a civil or 

criminal liability, if the reconnection is delayed until after the appropriate notice 

period. 

 
Total number of street works – 2017/18 

 
The number of street works that took place during 2017/18 in County Durham was -   

Page 545



15 

 

 

 

Source: Data extracted from DCC ‘Symology’ street works notice processing system 

 

The total number of days taken to complete works during 2017/18 in County Durham 

was -   

 

Source: Data extracted from DCC ‘Symology’ street works notice processing system 

 
Major Works 

 
The proportion of major works completed by each time period during 2017/18 was – 

 

Source: Data extracted from DCC ‘Symology’ street works notice processing system 
 
0-2 category roads 

 
Road category is an indication of the traffic importance of the street – 0 being the 

highest, 4 the lowest. Information about determining a road’s category can be found 

in the Specification for the Reinstatement of Openings in Highways. The percentage 

of all works that were completed on 0-2 category roads during 2017/18 was -  

Page 546



16 

 

 

 

Source: Data extracted from DCC ‘Symology’ street works notice processing system 

 
Permit Fee Structure 
 
The maximum permit fee structure is sourced from the Statutory Guidance for 

Highway Authority Permit Schemes 2015. This fee structure is arranged to reflect the 

greater work involved in handling larger activities and busier roads. The maximum 

fee structure is shown below. 

 

Source: Statutory Guidance for Highway Authority Permit Schemes 2015 

The DfT encourages local authorities to use the maximum permit fee structure. 

However, in this instance it is proposed that Durham County Council use a slightly 

lower than maximum fee to ensure the Permit Scheme demonstrates an overall 

positive Net Present Value. 

 

Page 547



17 

 

 

Source: DfT Local Authority Permit Calculator 

An evaluation of the permit fee structure will be undertaken annually during the first 

three years. The evaluation process will include updating the fee structure in light of 

any identified financial surplus or deficits as well as costs and benefits of operating 

the Permit Scheme. 

Outputs 

 
The outputs of the DfT Local Authority Permit Calculator are subject to a number of 

assumptions. The assumptions are made to enable analysis in the absence of data 

and in the interests of proportionality. This means that the outputs of the calculator 

are suggestive estimates only and should not be construed as decisive statements 

about the performance of the Council’s Permit Scheme. 

 
Impact on number of works 
 
The number of works that take place in the local authority will not change. The permit 

fee scheme will only impact the time taken to complete these works. The total 

duration of all works is measured in work days and is shown below. 

 

Source: Data extracted from DCC ‘Symology’ street works notice processing system 

 
Impact on the number of workdays (total duration of works) 

 
The Evaluation of Street Works Permit Schemes 2017 produced by Ecorys and 

Open Road Associates on behalf of the DfT estimates the impact of introducing a 

permit scheme. The analysis shows that most types of works subject to permit 

schemes were, on average, completed in a shorter time than works subject to 

noticing. This is shown detailed in the table below. 

 

Source: The Evaluation of Street Works Permit Schemes 2017 produced by Ecorys and Open Road Associates 

on behalf of the DfT 

The greatest average reduction in works duration relates to major works completed 

by Statutory Undertakers. By their nature, major works have longer timeframes so 

provide more potential for durations to be decreased. As the permit scheme will also 

allow more extensive planning and discussions between highway authorities and 

Page 548



18 

 

 

statutory undertakes this may result in requests for major works to be completed in a 

shorter timeframe. 

Using this data and Durham County Councils own input data, the DfT Local Authority 

Permit Calculator has estimated the expected behavioural change may lead to a 

decrease of 1,777 work days 

 

Source: DfT Local Authority Permit Calculator 

A breakdown of the change in the duration of works, measured in work days, is 

shown in the table below.  

 

Source: DfT Local Authority Permit Calculator 

 
Impact on the costs of congestion to road users                            

 
The costs of congestion are sourced from The Evaluation of Street Works Permit 

Schemes 2017 produced by Ecorys and Open Road Associates on behalf of DfT. 

 

This is shown in the table below: 

Page 549



19 

 

 

 

Source: The Evaluation of Street Works Permit Schemes 2017 produced by Ecorys and Open Road Associates 

on behalf of the DfT 

The DfT QUADRO (Queues and Delays at Roadworks) modelling software was used 

to estimate the congestion impact costs to consumers and business. The model 

monetises the impact of congestion and delays due to road works. The societal 

impact cost consists of time delays, increased vehicle operating costs, the cost of an 

increase in accidents, fuel carbon emission costs and indirect tax revenue resulting 

from increased fuel consumption. This is reported as the impact per day by each 

type of work and works promoter. 

Using this data and Durham County Council’s own input data, the DfT Local 

Authority Permit Calculator has estimated the expected reduction in the duration of 

works will decrease the costs of congestion by £1,311,413 per year. 

 

Source: DfT Local Authority Permit Calculator 

 

Source: DfT Local Authority Permit Calculator 

Page 550



20 

 

 

 
Cost to the local authority to set up and operate the permit scheme 

 
Durham County Council will incur annual operational costs. These costs will occur as 

permits are provided for works undertaken by both statutory undertakers and local 

authority works promoters.  

Set-up costs 

 
Set-up costs include legal fees, consultant costs, and costs to apply for a Permit 

Scheme. However it should be noted that these cannot be recouped from permit 

fees. Information on costs can be found in the DfT Statutory Guidance 2015 

document. The set-up cost for the Council’s scheme is anticipated to be in the region 

of £70,000.  

 
Local Authority operational costs (per year) 

 
The administration costs to review applications and issue permits to Durham County 

Council’s own works promoters. These costs are non-recoverable. The anticipated 

cost is expected to be £306,905 per year. 

The operational costs of the permit scheme including the administration costs to 

review applications, issue permits and review receipt of permit fees from Statutory 

Undertakers. This cost is recoverable, so should equal the permit fees paid by 

statutory undertakers. The anticipated cost is £707,175 per year. 

 
Local Authority works promoter’s costs 

 
This is the cost to Durham County Council’s works promoters to apply for a works 

permit. Durham County Councils works promoters will apply for a work permit but will 

not pay a permit fee. The anticipated cost is £61,381 per year. 

Page 551



21 

 

 

 

Source: DfT Local Authority Permit Calculator 

 
Cost to statutory undertakers 

 
Statutory undertakers will apply for a work permit and pay a permit fee. In addition 

they will incur their own administration costs for applying for a permit. The 

anticipated costs are detailed in the table below. 

 

Source: DfT Local Authority Permit Calculator 

 

Annual revenue to the local authority 

 
Only Statutory Undertakers are required to pay a permit fee. Fees from a Permit 

scheme will be used to recover the operational costs related to the additional work 

undertaken by Durham County Council on permit applications from Statutory 

Undertakers. The anticipated annual revenue from the permit scheme is £707,175. 

 
Source: DfT Local Authority Permit Calculator 

Conclusion 
 
Using this data and Durham County Councils own input data, the DfT Local Authority 

Permit Calculator has appraised the costs and benefits of the permit scheme over a 

Page 552



22 

 

 

10-year period. The net present value is the difference between the present value 

costs and the present value benefits over the chosen period. The figure is £743,570. 

This demonstrates that the Durham County Council Permit Scheme is predicted to 

be both value for money and a benefit to County Durham. 

 

 

 

  

Page 553



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

Cabinet 

15 January 2020 

High Needs Block Funding 

for SEND and Inclusion 

Support  

Ordinary Decision  

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

John Pearce, Corporate Director of Children and Young People’s 
Services 

John Hewitt, Corporate Director of Resources 

Councillor Olwyn Gunn, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Children and 
Young People’s Services 

Councillor Alan Napier, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Finance  

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide  

Purpose of the Report 

1 This report provides Cabinet with an update on spend and pressures on 
the High Needs Block (HNB) of the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG), 
which supports Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) and 
inclusion support services for children and young people.  

2 The report sets out the latest financial position and provides an update 
on progress with work underway to make the HNB more sustainable. It 
also includes an overview of findings from a three-month public 
consultation on proposals for reviewing key areas of work that were 
considered by Cabinet in July 2019.  

3 Recommendations for taking forward key areas of work, taking into 
account the findings of the consultation, are presented and a proposed 
five-year funding strategy for 2020/21- 2024/25 is outlined. 

  

Page 555

Agenda Item 7



 

2 
 

Executive summary 

4 There are enduring pressures on the High Needs Block (HNB) of the 
Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) which provides funding for SEND and 
inclusion support services for children and young people.  

5 A combination of ongoing austerity across the public sector, 
implementation of the SEND Reforms (2014) which has increased 
support to cover children and young people from birth up to 25 years of 
age, and changing customer needs which are becoming more complex, 
means that there are insufficient resources to support children and 
young people with SEND and inclusion needs. This position is 
replicated in other local authorities and the Council has continued to 
feedback to the Government on spending pressures and request 
additional government funding for these services and local schools.  

6 The current forecast means that expenditure is likely to exceed the High 
Needs DSG allocation by £9.3 million in 2019/2020 (19% higher than 
the HNB grant).  The Government has confirmed a significant increase 
in HNB grant for County Durham of £8.4 million for 2020/2021 and in 
view of this the forecast HNB overspend for 2020/2021 is around £2 
million. 

7 There is a growing deficit in the DSG account due to overspends on the 
HNB in recent years. The DfE now require a report from any local 
authority that has a cumulative DSG deficit of more than 1% at the end 
of the financial year.  For Durham this equates to £3.9 million. The latest 
forecast of the overall DSG deficit position at the end of the year is £4.4 
million (£6.4 million relating to the HNB minus £2 million of other non-
HNB reserves). This means that the authority will need to produce a 
recovery plan for submission to the DfE. 

8 Despite the increase in Government HNB funding available for 
2020/2021, forecasts show there remains insufficient resources to 
support predicted HNB expenditure in future years, and to bring the 
HNB deficit back into balance.  To address this a five-year financial 
strategy is proposed with continued work on the HNB sustainability plan 
following the recent consultation period.  This seeks to: reduce 
spending on HNB activity by around £1.5 million per year; try and 
ensure spending is kept to within the HNB resources available each 
year in future years; and recover the HNB deficit by the end of 
2024/2025.   

9 Key elements of the sustainability plan work relate to the following areas 
which were subject to consultation after the last report to cabinet in July 
2019: 

• Centrally Managed Services 

Page 556



 

3 
 

• Special Schools 

• Top up Funding  

• Targeted Funding  

• Post 16 Funding  

• Funding support to Partnerships of Schools 

• Joint commissioning of therapies  

• Joint commissioning of equipment, aids and adaptations  

• Alternative Provision (AP) and the Pupil Referral Unit (PRU)  

10 Following Cabinet approval on 10 July 2019, the Council publicly 
consulted on outline proposals for the above areas of review, over three 
months between 17 July and 17 October 2019.   

11 The majority of respondents to the consultation were in favour of the 
Council adopting the following overall commitments and all but one of 
the proposals associated with the above nine areas of review: 

(a) To collectively support an education system within County 
Durham where inclusion of children and young people in their 
local schools is the norm, giving parents and carers confidence 
that their children’s needs will be understood and met.  

(b) To offer a range of specialist learning provisions for some young 
people who have a high level of needs.  

(c) To make every effort to use all of the resources available to 
young people effectively and efficiently and to maintain spending 
within funding limits wherever possible. 

12 The outcomes of the public consultation and related consultation 
conducted with all schools on the options for reducing future HNB 
expenditure are detailed within the report to inform the 
recommendations presented below for Cabinet’s consideration. Subject 
to cabinet approval, it is proposed that the SEND and Inclusion 
Resources Board oversee the implementation of the work programme 
to deliver the proposed changes as set out in paragraphs 80 to 140 of 
the report and update on progress to Cabinet in Summer 2020.   

 

 

Page 557



 

4 
 

Recommendation(s) 

13 Cabinet is recommended to: 

(a) Note the updated forecast outturn position for HNB spend in 
2019/20 along with the assumptions and forecast position for 
2020/21 and beyond; 

(b) Note the representations of the Durham Schools Forum and the 
outcomes of consultation with all schools on options for reducing 
spending pressures on the HNB; 

(c) Note the findings of the public consultation which took place 
between 17 July and 17 October 2019 on the “HNB Funding for 
SEND and Inclusion Support”; 

(d) Agree to the proposed five-year financial strategy for 2020/21- 
2024/25 that is outlined at paragraph 52; 

(e) Support the development of a financial recovery plan, to be 
submitted to the DfE for approval, setting out how the Council 
plans to bring the DSG account back into balance by 2024/25;   

(f) Agree to the proposals for developing key areas of work outlined 
in the report at paragraphs 80 to 140, and summarised in Table 1, 
Appendix 6, to be progressed in accordance with the findings of 
the public consultation; and 

(g) Subject to recommendations d) and e) being agreed: require that 
the SEND and Inclusion Board (SIRB) oversee the 
implementation of the work programme to deliver the proposed 
changes as set out in paragraphs 80 to 140 and report the 
progress to Cabinet in Summer 2020.   

Page 558



 

5 
 

Background  

14 At its meeting on 10 July 2019, Cabinet considered a report outlining 
the current and growing spending pressures on the HNB of the DSG 
which provides funding for special education needs and disability and 
inclusion support services for children and young people.  

15 The Council and our partners, including those within the education and 
the health sector, are continuing to face significant pressures in 
providing support to children and young people with SEND, and support 
to individuals that are at risk of exclusion. 

16 A combination of ongoing austerity across the public sector, 
implementation of the SEND Reforms (2014) which has increased 
support to cover young people up to 25 years old, and changing 
customer needs which are becoming more complex, means that there 
are insufficient resources to support children and young people with 
SEND and inclusion needs.  

17 The Council is currently spending 19% more on SEND and inclusion 
services than the funding it receives and is investing £5.6 million from 
the Budget Support Reserve to supplement HNB DSG funding in the 
current year. Government guidance released for consultation on 11 
October 2019 by the Department for Education (DfE), indicates that 
councils will be prevented from contributing council reserves to cover 
these DSG deficits in future. While it has been confirmed by the DfE 
that the Council will be able to use its reserves to support the HNB in 
2019/20, the Council may be prevented from doing this in future years.  

18 Addressing the spending pressure is complex and involves 
collaboration across several services, County Durham Schools and with 
our numerous partners. This means trying to address areas of spending 
pressure on the HNB without significantly impacting support for 
individual children and young people and minimising impact on schools 
and other budgets. The work on reviewing services must also be done 
involving consultation with children, young people and their families.   

19 Work has taken place to develop a more detailed understanding of 
recent trends on HNB spending, and an HNB Sustainability Plan was 
developed to address the spending pressures, whilst ensuring the 
Council continue to support children and young people with SEND 
support needs, and those children that have been excluded, and those 
whose behaviours challenge schools.  

20 Key areas of focus were selected from the HNB Sustainability Plan to 
be developed into priority projects for implementation, subject to public 
consultation. Following a report being considered by Cabinet on 10 July 

Page 559



 

6 
 

2019, a three-month public consultation was launched on 17 July 2019 
on proposals relating to these areas of work. The outcomes of this 
consultation have informed the recommendations contained within this 
report. 

21 The Council has continued to lobby the Government on the unfunded 
pressures facing the Council in recent years and work with other 
organisations such as the County Council Network and the Local 
Government Association in doing so. Durham County Council’s Cabinet 
Portfolio Holder for Children and Young People’s Services (CYPS) has 
written to the Secretary of State on several occasions1 to continue to 
request additional government funding for local pressures in respect of 
supporting SEND and inclusion services in County Durham and 
resourcing schools.  

22 In addition, the Council responded to the Department for Education’s 
Call for Evidence launched in May 2019 and submitted views via this 
consultation on how SEND and alternative provision financial 
arrangements could be improved to help local authorities and our 
partners in supporting children and young people.  

23 The Government has recognised in part the significant HNB budget 
pressures and increasing demands facing local authorities by signalling 
additional funding in the Spending Round announcement on 4 
September 2019. Financial modelling based on the information 
available at that time, illustrated that the additional HNB funding would 
be insufficient to address the current overspend position and recover 
the deficit in the HNB which has accumulated over recent years. Since 
then, the Government has published provisional figures for HNB funding 
for 2020/21, which for Durham are almost £3 million higher than the 
original estimate of a £5.5 million increase in grant. In addition, recently 
updated Government guidance allows for more flexibility around 
timescales for recovering accumulated deficits within DSG reserves.  

24 Unfortunately, however, the spending pressures being faced have 
continued to escalate and the additional funding to be received next 
year will be insufficient to cover the current forecast spending 
pressures. 

25 It is recognised that the work proposed in the review will need to further 
transform our services and involve seeking to achieve better outcomes 
for children and young people, secure improved efficiency and value for 
money, and as such is being implemented to appropriately reflect: 
customer and stakeholder feedback; benchmarking with models of 

                                         
1 Letters from Councillor Olwen Gunn, DCC Cabinet Portfolio Holder for CYPS were sent to the 
Secretary of State in September 2018, October 2018, February 2019, May 2019 and August 2019 

Page 560



 

7 
 

service provision elsewhere; the latest policy guidance and the findings 
of best practice research.  

26 Through this work, the Council aims to deliver the following 
commitments: 

(a) To support an education system where inclusion of children and 
young people in their local schools is the norm, giving parents 
and carers confidence that their children’s needs will be 
understood and met.  

(b) To offer a range of specialist learning provisions for some young 
people who have a high level of needs.  

(c) To make every effort to use all the resources available to young 
people effectively and efficiently, and to maintain spending within 
funding limits wherever possible. 

Addressing the Challenges 

27 A SEND and Inclusion Resources Board (SIRB) is now established to 
address the cumulative issues and spending pressures and ensure 
work is delivered to help realise the above commitments. The Board 
brings together colleagues from the Council’s Early Help, Inclusion and 
Vulnerable Children, Education, Commissioning, Transformation and 
Finance services, and meets monthly to provide cross-council oversight 
of resources for SEND and Inclusion, including HNB spending and 
related council budgets.   

28 Under the direction of the Board and in consultation with the Durham 
Schools Forum, and a specially formed Schools Forum Reference 
Group (SFRG)2, work has been undertaken with wider stakeholders, to 
identify changes that will improve the lives of children with additional 
needs, in line with the Durham SEND Strategy3, while seeking to use 
HNB funding more effectively.  

29 The work includes reviewing all service areas to reduce spending where 
possible, while ensuring that the right support is provided, at the right 

                                         
2 To support further dialogue and engagement with early years, schools and college providers 

regarding HNB spending, options for change and system transformation, a SEND and Inclusion 
Reference Group has also been established. The group links with the main Schools Forum and allows 
more detailed discussion and involvement in this agenda. This includes representatives from across 
all the sectors represented at the Durham Schools Forum. 

 
3 County Durham’s SEND Strategy 2019/2020 is available to view at:  
http://www.countydurhamfamilies.info/kb5/durham/fsd/service.page?id=vvuoPhoG4Ak& 
 
 

Page 561

http://www.countydurhamfamilies.info/kb5/durham/fsd/service.page?id=vvuoPhoG4Ak&
http://www.countydurhamfamilies.info/kb5/durham/fsd/service.page?id=vvuoPhoG4Ak&


 

8 
 

time, in the right place for children and young people across the county 
who have higher needs.  

30 Nine priority areas for review were selected from the HNB Sustainability 
Plan, as areas of key focus for further development and implementation. 
These were identified in large part due to their current impact on HNB 
spending.  

31 On 10 July 2019, Cabinet approved a public consultation on proposals 
relating to these key areas. The three-month public consultation was 
launched on 17 July 2019 and closed on 17 October 2019. The findings 
of this consultation have been used to inform the recommended next 
steps for the programme that are outlined at paragraphs 80 to 140. 

32 Whilst recognising the budget pressures associated specifically with the 
HNB, it is also important to note the significant size of the budget 
forecast to be available and related funding which comes from school 
budgets, other council services and health partners to support young 
people with SEND. The latest financial position in relation to high needs 
funding is outlined below. 

Financial Position 

33 On 10 July 2019, Cabinet considered a report on the HNB Funding for 
SEND and Inclusion Support detailing the spend and pressures on the 
HNB, that were known and forecast at that time. The financial planning 
assumptions presented to Cabinet in July 2019, anticipated a deficit 
position of circa £5.6 million in 2020/2021. This assumed spending 
would be circa £5.6 million in excess of HN DSG grant in 2020/21, after 
assuming an estimate of £1 million of additional funding next year and 
retention of the additional funding provided in 2018/19 and 2019/20.  

34 The impact of reducing HNB expenditure by this level in a single year 
was deemed to be too big a risk in terms of the potential impact to the 
Council being able to meet its duties towards children and young people 
with additional needs. It was therefore proposed to seek agreement 
from Durham Schools Forum (and if not supported, make an application 
to the Secretary of State) to transfer the sum of £1.5 million (circa 0.5% 
of Schools Block Funding) from the Schools Block to the High Needs 
Block in order to mitigate the impact and reduce the required savings 
target to circa £4.1 million.  

35 As part of the Spending Round announcement on 4 September 2019, 
the Government confirmed an increase in high needs funding of £700 
million in 2020/21. Based on this, it was estimated that County Durham 
would receive between £4 million and £5 million more grant than the 
original planning assumptions outlined to Cabinet in July 2019. The 
financial position set out in July 2019 also included a forecast of 

Page 562



 

9 
 

spending in excess of grant in 2020/21 of £6.6 million, based on initial 
projections from anticipated spend in 2019/20. This was revised to a 
forecast £6.9 million overspend at quarter 2. 

36 The latest expenditure forecast, based on current demographic 
demands and spending patterns, is that spending commitments have 
increased again and are now expected to exceed the HN DSG grant by 
£9.3 million in 2019/20. The latest updated forecast outturn would 
indicate that spending will be circa 19% higher than the grant received 
in the current year. Appendix 2 provides details of the updated forecast 
of HNB spending for 2019/20, together with comparative details based 
on the original base budget and the previous forecast based on the 
Government’s Spending Round announcement in September 2019.  

37 On 11 October 2019 the Government announced provisional HNB 
funding figures for 2020/21. Based on this, it is estimated that County 
Durham will see an increase of £8.382 million which equates to a 16% 
increase in HNB funding from the 2019/20 baseline position. This is 
£2.882 million in excess of the previous assumptions modelled in 
September 2019, which assumed that the increase in grant would be 
£5.5 million.    

38 Guidance issued by Education and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA)4 has  
been updated to include more flexibility around timescales for 
recovering accumulated deficits within DSG reserves. It states that 
where a local authority has a cumulative overspend of more than 1%, 
producing a deficit on its DSG reserve, the recovery plan should aim to 
bring the overall DSG account into balance within a timely period, rather 
than the previously stated three years.   

39 Furthermore, the Department for Education (DfE) in October 2019 
launched a consultation5 on proposals to change the conditions of grant 
and regulations applying to the DSG. The proposals clarify that the DSG 
is a ring-fenced specific grant, separate from funding of local authorities 
and that any deficit an authority may have on its DSG account is 
expected to be carried forward and is not required to be covered by the 
authority’s general reserves.   

40 The Council agreed to supplement DSG funding from general reserves 
in 2019/20 to the value of £5.6 million. This was always intended to be 
one-off support and the Council has consistently made it clear that this 
wasn’t a sustainable position. The DfE consultation would effectively 
mean that next year the Council would be prohibited from 

                                         
4 High Needs Funding 2020 to 2021 Operational Guide, October 2019, Education and Skills Funding 
Agency 
5 Clarifying the Specific Grant and Ring-fenced Status of the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG), 
Government Consultation, 11 October – 15 November 2019 (DfE, October 2019) 

Page 563



 

10 
 

supplementing the HNB in any event. The DfE have confirmed that the 
Council can still supplement the HNB in the current year, therefore , the 
modelling in this report includes that the Council will still contribute £5.6 
million from the Budget Support Reserve to the HNB in 2019/20.  

41 Table 1 below presents the forecast financial position identified in the 
July 2019 Cabinet report compared to the latest updated forecast for 
November 2019.    

Table 1: Financial Forecast 2020/21 – as at July 2019 and November 
2019 

 July   

2019 

November 
2019 

£ million £ million 

Forecast of overspend in 2020/21 based on current 
pattern of spend and HNB allocation  

6.6 9.3 

Assumption for further demographic / inflationary 
pressures in 2020/21 (2% of 2019/20 spending levels) 

0.0 1.1 

Assumption of additional funding from government to 
support HNB pressures in 2020/21 

(1.0) (8.4) 

Forecast overspend after assumption of additional 
grant 

5.6 2.0 

Assumption of reduction in pressure agreed with Schools 
Forum from agreement to a top slice from DSG (estimate 
0.5%) and / or agreement to other targeted reductions 

(1.5) 0.0 

Forecast of overspend on HNB in 2020/21 based on 
assumptions summarised above (and not taking 
into account any further savings from 
sustainability plan work underway) 

4.1 2.0 

 

42 Forecast HNB spending in 2020/21 is circa £10.4 million more than the 
2019/20 base HNB grant allocation, with the Government only providing 
an additional £8.4 million of HNB DSG funding next year.   

43 Table 1 shows that based on updated spending forecasts and the 
provisional additional funding allocations, the forecast overspend (after 
assumption of additional grant) has reduced from £5.6 million in July 
2019 to £2.0 million.  

44 Table 2 below shows the financial outturn position for the HNB in 
2018/19 and the forecast position for 2019/20 to 2024/25. The table 
also shows the forecast HNB deficit position and how this is forecast to 
change year on year. The five-year forecast position for 2020/21 – 
2024/25 is modelled based on the following assumptions: 

Page 564



 

11 
 

• The provisional HNB grant for 2020/21 is confirmed and 
increases by 2% in 2021/22 and a further 2% in 2022/23 but that 
it does not increase in 2023/24 and 2024/25; 

• The Council does not use the Budget Support Reserve to support 
the DSG position beyond 2019/20; 

• The cumulative deficit at the end of 2019/20 is £6.5 million, 
factoring in the latest forecast overspend of £9.3 million for 
2019/20; 

• HNB expenditure increases by 2% year on year across the period 
with no service efficiencies or reductions delivered; and 

• Deductions for ESFA placements remain at circa £4 million 
across the period. 

Table 2: Forecast HNB Financial Position including Deficit Position 
2018/19 – 2024/25 

Financial 
Year 

HNB 
Grant 
[£'000] 

ESFA 
deduction 
[£'000] 

Net grant 
received 
by DCC 
[£'000] 

HNB 
expenditure 
[£'000] 

HNB over 
/ (under) 
spend 
[£'000] 

HNB 
expenditure 
change 
year on 
year [%] 

HNB 
deficit 
position 
[£'000] 

18/19 51,130 -4,400 46,730 54,141 7,411   -2,728 

19/20 52,503 -3,911 48,592 57,932 9,340 7% -6,468 

                

20/21 60,885 -3,911 56,974 59,090 2,116 2% -8,584 

21/22 62,103 -4,000 58,103 60,272 2,169 2% -10,753 

22/23 63,345 -4,000 59,345 61,477 2,133 2% -12,885 

23/24 63,345 -4,000 59,345 62,707 3,362 2% -16,248 

24/25 63,345 -4,000 59,345 63,961 4,616 2% -20,864 

 
45 An increasing number of local authorities have been incurring a deficit 

on their overall DSG account, largely because of overspends on the 
high needs block. 

46 With effect from 2019 to 2020, the DfE has tightened up the rules under 
which local authorities have to explain their plans for bringing the DSG 
account back into balance. 

47 The DfE will require a report from any local authority that has a 
cumulative DSG deficit of more than 1% at the end of the financial year 
– in this case as at 31 March 2020. The 1% calculation will be based on 
the latest published DSG allocations for 2019 to 2020, gross of 
recoupment, as at the end of the 2019 to 2020 financial year, compared 
with the deficit shown in the authority’s published draft accounts. 

Page 565



 

12 
 

48 For Durham the 1% limit is estimated at £3.9 million and the latest 
forecast of the DSG deficit position at the end of the year is £4.4 million 
(£6.4 million in relation to HNB as shown in table 2 above reduced by 
£2 million of other non-HNB reserves). This means the authority will 
need to produce a recovery plan to submit to the DfE. 

49 The recovery plan will need to be discussed with the Schools Forum 
and should set out the Authority’s plans for bringing the DSG account 
back into balance in a timely period. The Chief Finance Officer (CFO) 
must also review and sign off the report before submitting to the DfE. 

50 Diagram 1 below illustrates the forecast trends in spending and 
continuing shortfall between income and expenditure over the next five 
years. 

  

Page 566



 

13 
 

Diagram 1: Forecast HNB Expenditure and Grant 2020/21 to 2024/25 

 

51 The financial modelling highlights the need to achieve savings across 
the five-year period to bring spending in line with HNB grant and reduce 
the accumulated deficit. 

Proposed Five-Year Financial Strategy 

52 In view of the above, and the likelihood of the authority being required to 
submit a formal recovery plan to DfE, it is recommended that work on 
the HNB sustainability plan continues to seek to:   

• reduce spending within the HNB by circa £1.5 million per year for 
the next five years – commencing in 2020/21;  

• ensure spending is kept to within the HNB resources available in 
future years; and  

• recover the HNB deficit by the end of 2024/25.   

Pressures and savings within the HNB 

53 Table 3 below highlights the main areas of expenditure that are 
currently creating increasing pressures on the HNB budget to include 

56,974
58,103

59,345 59,345 59,345
59,090

60,272

61,477

62,707 63,961

40,000

45,000

50,000

55,000

60,000

65,000

20/21 21/22 22/23 23/24 24/25

Net grant received by DCC [£'000] HNB expenditure [£'000]

Page 567



 

14 
 

Post-16 Further Education provision, Post-16 independent / non-
maintained provision and Special School Top-up funding.  

Table 3: Key areas of increasing HNB funding demand 

Budget Area 
Revised 
Budget 
2019/20 

£m 

Forecast 
Spend 

2019/20 

£m 

Forecast 
Overspend 

2019/20 

£m 

Increase 
in 

spending 
from 

2018/19 
£m  

Comments 

Post-16 FE 
provision 

£2.30 £3.99 £1.69 
£1.64 

(+71%) 

Part of the increase (£590k) 
relates to changes in the 
way funding is paid to 
maintained special school 
for places, which took effect 
from August 2019 and was 
not included in earlier 
forecasts. Negotiations are 
ongoing with some Further 
Education providers and this 
is expected to bring down 
the forecast position. 
However, there is a base 
increase of numbers of 16+ 
year olds seeking support 
with their learning needs. 

Post-16 
Independent/ 

non-maintained 
provision 

£1.80 £3.01 £1.21 
£1.16 

(+64%) 

There has been a significant 
increase in the number of 
support packages for 16+ 
year olds, as well as an 
increase in the average cost 
of complex needs packages.  

Special School 
Top-up funding 
payments for 
individual 
children with 
more complex 
needs 

£0.50 £1.62 £1.12 
£0.89m 

(+122%) 

There are payments of c. 
£400k included in the 
forecast for 2019/20 that 
relate to Top-up Funding 
payments for a cohort of 
children funded prior to 
2019/20. After adjusting for 
this the year on year 
increase is £90k or 8%. 

 

54 Work continues to better understand the reasons behind these 
increasing demands and to monitor, report on, mitigate and manage 
these pressures, overseen by the SEND and Inclusion Resources 
Board. 

Page 568



 

15 
 

55 Table 4 (below) identifies the direct savings to the HNB that have been 
achieved to date through review work. Future savings accrued will be 
added to this record and reported to the SEND and Inclusion Resources 
Board on a monthly basis. Other work has also related to the 
stabilisation of costs to prevent further funding pressures.   

Table 4: Savings Accrued 

Budget area 
Revised 

budget 

2019/2020 

(£m) 

Forecast 

2019/2020 

(£m) 

Forecast 

Underspend 

2019/2020 

(£m) 

Reduction 

in 

spending 

from 

2018/2019 

(£m) 

Comments 

Transport to 

PRU 
£0.60 £0 £0.60 

-£0.60 

(-100%) 

Costs 

transferred to 

LA Home to 

School 

transport 

budget. 

COLs/Behaviour 

Panels 
£1.75 £1.47 £0.28 

-£0.33 

(-18%) 
 

Reduction in 

costs as a 

result of the 

implementation 

of business 

case process 

for allocation of 

funding. 

LA recharges for 

Centrally 

Managed 

Services  

£1.31 £1.31 £0 
-£0.15 

(-10%) 
 

Reductions 

implemented 

following 

internal review. 

Total saving accrued £1.08m 

 

56 Targeted reductions in expenditure will be achieved by a focus on 
efficiencies, assessing value for money, clarity and consistency about 
support and emphasising early intervention and partnership work. Some 
areas of expenditure may increase to provide better value for more 
appropriate services. These increases in expenditure will need to be 
countered by larger financial reductions in areas of higher cost provision 
to ensure sustainability.   

57 During September and October 2019, the Council consulted with the 
Durham Schools Forum and all County Durham schools on potential 
options for further reducing HNB spending. The findings and outcomes 
of this work are summarised below.  

Page 569



 

16 
 

Consultation with Schools on Financial Options 

58 At their meeting on 25 September 2019, Durham Schools Forum 
received a report on the updated financial position and options for 
addressing the spending pressures in the HNB for 2020/21. The 
Schools Forum were asked to consider and provide feedback on:  

a) A proposed transfer of £1.5 million (circa 0.48%) from the 
Schools Block to the HNB in 2020/21, to help reduce the required 
targeted reductions in HNB spending; and  

b) The priority areas for targeting reduced HNB spending, from the 
following SEND and Inclusion support services:  

(i) Spending on Centrally Managed Services  

(ii) Funding and places in Special Schools  

(iii) Joint commissioning of services to include integrated 
therapies and equipment, auxiliary aids and adaptations 

(iv) Post 16 funding 

(v) Financial support provided through partnerships of 
schools 

(vi) Pupil referral unit and alternative provision 

59 With reference to the proposed budget transfer, some members noted 
that they would support the request to transfer as there was confidence 
in the sustainability plan work, however the majority of others felt they 
needed more confidence from the sustainability plan which needed 
further development. Some members felt that if they agreed to the 
transfer this time, it would set a precedent for the following years. 
Others were concerned over the impact the transfer would have on 
schools, particularly secondary schools and the potential impact on 
possible staff redundancies as a result.   

60 Almost all members highlighted concerns over the growing HNB deficit. 
The Forum noted more information of all areas of the HNB budget was 
required in order to understand how money is spent and come up with 
solutions to help address the problem. Some members felt that more 
pressure should be put on Central Government to lobby for more 
funding. 

61 With reference to targeting HNB spending reductions, members of the 
Schools Forum requested that the Communities of Learning 
partnerships (COLs) be reviewed in terms of their impact. Members also 

Page 570



 

17 
 

suggested there was an opportunity to create savings by reducing 
places in special schools using current vacancies, but also 
acknowledged the possible increased effect on more costly out of 
County provision. Some members felt that a focus should be on high 
cost expenditure items and identifying areas that need a big reduction 
or require protection. 

62 The Schools Forum were due to vote on the above two proposals at 
their meeting of 24 October 2019. To help inform this decision, the 
Council consulted with all schools on the above options between 27 
September -14 October 2019, enabling the Schools Forum to give a 
considered view6. It can be seen from the information presented in 
Appendix 3 that the majority of schools consulted did not agree with the 
proposal to transfer £1.5 million from the Schools Block and identified 
the following three priority areas for further targeted savings: Centrally 
Managed Services; financial support to Partnerships of Schools 
(Communities of Learning and Behaviour Partnerships), and Post 16 
funding.  

63 At the Schools Forum meeting held on 24 October 2019, members 
discussed that they no longer needed to consider a transfer of funding 
at this time, in view of the announcement from the Government on 
additional funding for high needs and feedback from schools on the 
preferred options. They also supported the direction of travel on HNB 
sustainability plan work.   

  

                                         
6 ESFA guidance states that Local Authorities must consult with all local maintained 
schools and academies if they propose to allocate Schools Block money to other 
items. The Schools Forum must consider the outcome of that consultation before 
deciding on whether to give their consent.  

 

Page 571



 

18 
 

Consultation on HNB Funding for SEND and Inclusion Support 

Consultation Proposals 

64 In July 2019, Cabinet agreed to publicly consult on proposals relating to 
the following key areas of focus, chosen largely due to their impact on 
HNB spend:  

(a) Centrally Managed Services 

(b) Special Schools 

(c) Joint Commissioning of Services: Integrated Therapies  

(d) Joint Commissioning of Services: Equipment, Auxiliary Aids and 
Adaptations (EAAA) 

(e) Top up Funding 

(f) Targeted Support Funding  

(g) Post 16 Funding Support 

(h) Financial support provided through Local Partnerships of Schools 

(i) Pupil Referral Unit and Alternative Provision 

65 Information on each of the above areas selected for review is 
summarised at Appendix 5.  

Consultation Approach 

66 The consultation on “Special Educational Needs and Disabilities 
(SEND) and Inclusion Support Funding” was held over a three-month 
period between 17 July – 17 October 2019. Full details of the 
consultation process, proposals and findings are contained in the 
Consultation Report (attached at Appendix 4).  

67 The consultation was planned and implemented in accordance with the 
Council’s Consultation Statement and Consultation Protocol (March 
2019) and undertaken in compliance with statutory and government 
guidance, as well as the general requirements of public law. 

68 In conducting the consultation, the Council have ensured the 
involvement of children, young people, parents and carers in shaping 
proposals for change and have obtained their views to feed into 
decisions about local SEND and inclusion support provision. This is in 
accordance with Section 19 of the Children and Families Act 2014 and 

Page 572



 

19 
 

guidance within the SEND Code of Practice 20157, which emphasise 
that local authorities must ensure that children, young people, parents 
and carers are involved in decisions about local provision.   

69 The consultation was developed, based on previous consultation and 
engagement activities, including discussions with schools, and 
representatives from families and young people. This includes the High 
Needs Review (December 2017), the Social Communication and 
Interaction Review (2018) and discussions with County Durham schools 
throughout 2018/2019 including Schools Forum, SEND and Inclusion 
Schools Forum Reference Group, Communities of Learning and 
Behaviour Partnership Panels, and Leadership Teams of Special 
Schools (March – April 2019). 

The Consultees 

70 While the consultation was open to the general public, specific focus 
was given to individuals and groups that have an interest in or are 
affected by the SEND and Inclusion agenda to include: children and 
young people with SEND; schools and special schools; Post 16 
providers; providers of alternative education; parents/carers; support 
groups; partner organisations; and professionals associated with this 
field of work. A full list of consultees is presented within the Consultation 
Report (attached at Appendix 4).  

Consultation and Communication Methods 

71 A comprehensive Consultation Plan detailing the activities undertaken 
and associated timescales for each part of the consultation process is 
presented in the Consultation Report (see Appendix 4) and summarised 
in Table 5 below.  

  

                                         
7 The SEND code of practice (January 2015) states local authorities, CCGs and NHS England needs 
to have effective ways of harnessing the views of their local communities so that decisions on 
services for those with SEN and disabilities are shaped by users’ experiences, ambitions and 
expectations.  

 

Page 573



 

20 
 

Table 5: Summary Consultation Plan  

Timescale Consultation Activity 

17 July 2019 

(Consultation 

Launch) 

• Press Release  

• Website consultation page launched including Questionnaire, Survey, 

Video and Consultation Document (including Easy Read version)  

• Notifications to key stakeholders: 

• Schools and colleges  

• Parents/carers  

• Voluntary Community Sector organisations 

• DCC Members & CYPS staff 

• Parent and carer support groups 

• Alternative providers 

• Independent service providers 

• Pupil Referral Unit 

• School Governors 

• Area Action Partnerships  

• Schools Forum Reference Group 

• SENDCo staff 

• Clinical Commissioning Groups 

• SEND strategic partnership, Integrated Steering Group for 

Children 

• Social media posts including video by Head of Service 

• Notice placed on Schools Extranet (and refreshed weekly)  

• Durham Voice Newsletter article 

Aug 2019 • Updates to CYPS management teams, CMT Transformation Group, 

AHS Management Team  

Sept – Oct 

2019 

• Reminders about consultation (following school holidays) – letters to 

schools, notice on Extranet  

• Meetings of professionals representing schools, special schools, 

alternative education providers, post-16 learning providers and 

independent providers 

• Updates to:  

• SEND Strategic Partnership 

• Durham Association of Primary Headteachers 

• Durham Association of Secondary Headteachers 

• Headteacher Briefings 

• Integrated Steering Group for Children 

• CMT Transformation Group 

Page 574



 

21 
 

Timescale Consultation Activity 

• CYPS Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

• Schools Forum Reference Group 

• Durham Schools Forum 

• Chairs of Communities of Learning Meeting 

• Chairs of Behaviour Panels Meeting 

• Focus groups for special interest groups which represent children and 

young people, as well as parents and carers: 

• Little Treasures  

• Rollercoaster Group  

• Extreme Group  

• Together 21  

• SENDCO Networks 

• Making Changes Together  

• Durham Schools Forum (Workshop) 

• Buzz magazine article 

• Posters in local GP surgeries, community centres  

17 Oct 2019 • Close of Consultation 

72 On 17 July 2019, the consultation was launched and publicised using a 
range of media to include: a press release; a dedicated consultation 
page on the Council’s website8; posts issued via social media; and 
notifications issued to key stakeholders and customers to include 
parents/carers of children with SEND and inclusion needs, schools, 
partner organisations and other stakeholder groups. 

73 Durham County Council’s consultation web page included: a written 
introduction to the consultation and introductory video; a Consultation 
Document presenting the proposals and the background to the 
consultation; and a Consultation Questionnaire. Over the three-month 
consultation period, the web page was viewed a total of 3,568 times and 
the introductory video was viewed 174 times from the Council’s website.  

74 The programme of events, briefings, workshops and written notifications 
to stakeholders was delivered between 17 July and 17 October 2019 
(see Appendix 4 and Table 5 above). This included: sending over 600 
email notifications to over 300 members of stakeholder groups; placing 
articles in the schools Extranet, newsletters and magazines, and 

                                         
8 The Consultation web page is available to view at:  
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/21797/Consultation-on-support-for-SEND-and-young-people-who-
need-support-to-stay-in-education 
 
 

Page 575

http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/21797/Consultation-on-support-for-SEND-and-young-people-who-need-support-to-stay-in-education
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/21797/Consultation-on-support-for-SEND-and-young-people-who-need-support-to-stay-in-education
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/21797/Consultation-on-support-for-SEND-and-young-people-who-need-support-to-stay-in-education
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/21797/Consultation-on-support-for-SEND-and-young-people-who-need-support-to-stay-in-education


 

22 
 

posters in local venues, signposting people to the consultation. The 
consultation reached 67,982 people and received 688 reactions, 
comments and shares via Facebook, from where the video has been 
watched over 21,000 times. The consultation appeared on Twitter over 
1,000 times. Presentations were also delivered on the consultation to a 
wide range of professional stakeholder groups and five focus groups 
were held with support groups for children and young people with SEND 
and their families.     

Number of Responses to the Consultation 

75 Over 100 people fed back their views through face-to-face discussions 
on the proposals, via focus groups held with: the Durham Schools 
Forum; support groups for children, young people and their families; 
County Durham special schools headteachers; Chairs of Communities 
of Learning and the Council’s Children and Young People’s Services 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

76 A total of 266 people responded to the online survey. Most respondents 
to the questionnaire were parents or carers of children or young people 
with special educational needs or disabilities. Just over a quarter of 
respondents represented schools, to include headteachers/providers, 
teachers, and governors. 9.4% people responded as “other”, to include 
local authority employees, SEND related professionals, and the general 
public. 4.3% of respondents represented parents/carers of children 
without special education needs or disabilities.   

77 The consultation findings are detailed in Appendix 4, and outlined 
below, alongside associated recommendations for each area of 
proposed work. 

Consultation Findings and Implications for Review Work 

Overview 

78 The results of the consultation set out in Appendix 4 indicate that the 
majority of the customers and stakeholders consulted, support all but 
one of the proposals for making changes to SEND and Inclusion 
support funding.  

79 An update on each key area of work, analysis of the consultation 
findings, and the implications and recommendations for each proposed 
area of work is presented below. Further details of each key area for 
review are presented in Appendix 5, and a summary of the key 
recommendations for Cabinet to consider for approval is presented at 
Appendix 6. 

  

Page 576



 

23 
 

Proposed Commitments  

80 The majority of respondents agreed with the commitments set out by 
the Council in the consultation.   

81 Many respondents cited the importance of an inclusive education 
system that: allows children to be educated locally; caters for their 
needs in school; parents have confidence in; promotes collaborative 
working between professionals; provides training and opportunities for 
early screening and intervention; and ensures value for money 
assessed through evidence of need and impact. In addition, young 
people with SEND emphasised the importance of having their needs 
understood and met within school, and for a better understanding of 
behaviours and needs amongst teachers, parents and students.  

82 In view of the feedback received through the consultation it is 
recommended that the commitments are adopted by the Council with 
some minor amendments to reflect views received. The suggested 
revised commitments are outlined below: 

(a) To collectively support an education system within County 
Durham where inclusion of children and young people in their 
local schools is the norm, giving parents and carers confidence 
that their children’s needs will be understood and met.  

(b) To offer a range of specialist learning provisions for some young 
people who have a high level of needs.  

(c) To make every effort to use all of the resources available to 
young people effectively and efficiently and to maintain spending 
within funding limits wherever possible. 

Proposals for Centrally Managed Services 

83 Centrally Managed Services provided by Durham County Council 
include functions such as: support to nursery pupils and children with 
sensory and learning difficulties along with SEND management and 
support posts.  

84 It is proposed that the Council continue to provide these services in the 
future to ensure a consistent approach and quality of service but 
continue with extensive reviews to ensure value for money and a 
reduction in costs where possible.  

85 In recent years total spending on Centrally Managed Services has been 
below budget which has assisted in limiting the HNB overspend 
position. 

Page 577



 

24 
 

86 Initial review work is underway to include the examination of recharges 
made to the HNB by the Council in respect of: management costs; 
business support service costs; and costs for centrally managed 
support services. The management costs and business support costs 
associated with Centrally Managed Services are substantially in excess 
of the current sum charged to the HNB and benchmarking undertaken 
with other local authorities in the region has indicated that Durham 
County Council’s current recharging level is in line with that of other 
authorities. 

87 Further work is scheduled to examine the recharges associated with 
front-line delivery and the provision of support for Early Years pupils 
with SEND.   

88 Most respondents to the consultation agreed with the proposals for 
continuing to provide Centrally Managed Services and conducting 
extensive reviews to ensure value for money and a reduction in costs. 
Many respondents perceived Centrally Managed Services to be 
meeting the broadening needs of children and young people, while 
some mentioned the difficulty in accessing services, and this was 
perceived to signal capacity issues. Some respondents suggested that 
these services should be targeting those with acute needs. 
Respondents overall agreed that centrally managed services should be 
closely managed, monitored and quality controlled to ensure continuous 
improvement and that efficiency savings are achieved wherever 
possible. 

89 It is recommended therefore that the proposals for continuing to provide 
Centrally Managed Services and conducting extensive service reviews 
are implemented.  

Proposals for Special Schools 

90 Ten special schools in County Durham provide specialist teaching and 
support for children and young people with the most complex special 
education needs. Funding from the HNB is provided for a set number of 
places in each school. Whilst there is a broad range of specialist 
provision in the county, there were 37 vacant places in County Durham 
at the time of the consultation. In contrast, places are being sought in 
the private independent sector (sometimes out of our county), the costs 
of which can often be significantly higher than a place in our special 
schools and incur extra transport costs.  

91 It is proposed that the range of specialist places offered in County 
Durham be extended, so children can access services locally rather 
than attend high cost independent placements outside of the local area. 

Page 578



 

25 
 

92 Recent review and improvement work has been undertaken to include: 

• Reconciliation of all special schools placement records; 

• Recruitment of a new Pupil Place Planning Officer;  

• Analysis of all private independent placements; 

• Exploration of potential new models of delivering specialist 
provision throughout County Durham; and 

• More detailed work with special schools on their individual 
funding arrangements based on pupil forecasts.  

93 Proposed next steps for the project include the development of a 
Specialist Placement Specification and engagement with the sector to 
better align provision to current need. 

94 Most respondents were in favour of the proposed changes to special 
schools, to include increasing provision to meet children’s needs locally 
in special schools. Some respondents noted a lack of options offered for 
primary children in special schools. Opportunities to increase provision 
and upskill staff in Social Emotional and Mental Health (SEMH) needs 
in mainstream schools was noted, while maintaining special schools’ 
provision was also felt to be important. Overall there is support for 
provision that is close to home and for providing a high-quality 
alternative to costly out of county service provision. Parents and carers 
felt strongly that more specialist provision in mainstream schools would 
help to ensure children remain within their community to be closer to 
home and to their peers. Young people with SEND who were consulted, 
suggested that schools that are somewhere between mainstream and 
special education should be provided.  

95 Concerns were raised through the consultation by special schools 
headteachers over children receiving Education Health Care Plans 
(EHCPs) while attending the Pupil Referral Unit (PRU), suggesting that 
special education was being used as a stop gap. Other issues raised 
included a lag in funding/budget setting with the Council, which was 
affecting the schools’ ability to provide for children. It was suggested 
that consideration be given to funding schools at a base rate to provide 
assurance of staffing levels. Special schools also suggested that they 
could offer training to mainstream schools to improve the offer in local 
schools. 

96 In view of the above, it is recommended that the Council continues to 
work with headteachers of special schools to extend the range of 
specialist places offered in County Durham so that children can access 
services locally. This should enhance the offer provided by special 

Page 579



 

26 
 

schools to ensure that there is the capacity to meet current and future 
needs of children and young people with SEND. As part of this review, 
consideration should also be given to the budget setting process, and 
the issue of EHCPs being given to children attending the PRU, as 
mentioned above. In addition, it is recommended that all models for 
developing more consistently inclusive approaches in all mainstream 
schools are explored, and the preferred option identified for 
implementation.  

Proposals for Joint Commissioning of Services: Integrated Therapies 

97 Currently a range of organisations are involved in commissioning 
speech and language therapy, occupational therapy and physiotherapy 
for children and young people. Some young people are receiving these 
specialist services outside of mainstream or special schools in County 
Durham. This brings about an increased financial pressure to the HNB 
to include additional transport costs. If these services were jointly 
commissioned, this would clearly define the health and education offer 
and the assessment and ongoing treatment of children in local schools.  

98 The Council are currently working in collaboration with the NHS to 
jointly commission these services and:  

(a) Bring together the resources from education, health and care to 
improve local access to speech and language therapy, 
physiotherapy and occupational therapy for children and young 
people.  

(b) Develop new ways of offering therapies locally which meet the 
aspirations and preferences of families within the available 
resources.  

(c) Make the best use of therapists to offer prompt assessments, 
delivery of appropriate therapy in local settings and promote the 
confidence of families.  

99 Work to engage with families and obtain their views on existing 
services, and jointly produce a new service model, commenced in June 
2019. The transformation work to fully develop the new service is 
scheduled to commence in June 2020.  

100 Most respondents to the consultation agreed with the proposals to 
jointly commission children’s therapies through the Council working with 
schools and Clinical Commissioning Groups. Respondents were very 
positive about the proposed changes citing benefits to include the 
speeding up of service provision, improved access to services and a 
focus on understanding the child’s needs. 

Page 580



 

27 
 

101 It is recommended therefore that the proposals for joint commissioning 
of integrated therapy services are implemented. 

Proposals for Joint Commissioning of Services: Equipment, Auxiliary 
Aids and Adaptations (EAAA)  

102 Current arrangements for providing these services are complex and 
regularly require input from colleagues in educational settings and 
health provider trusts and DCC Education Officers. A strategic review 
has taken place to include consultation with children and young people 
and their parents/carers and it is now planned to work on a clearer and 
more consistent approach with updated guidance and streamlined 
processes. This is expected to lead to better, swifter support and 
increased value for money which collectively will support better use of 
HNB funding. It is proposed that:  

(a) Assistance requested by schools from the HNB funding only be 
used to purchase items that are deemed to be specialist (not 
normally available in a school or educational setting); and 

(b) The existing guidance is revised, so all schools apply a consistent 
approach. 

103 Work is now underway to streamline the processes for the identification, 
assessment and purchasing of auxiliary aids, equipment and 
adaptations for children and young people which will make best use of 
resources and achieve value for money. 

104 Most respondents to the consultation agreed to the proposals that 
additional funding is used to purchase specialist equipment (not 
normally available in school or other educational setting) to support 
children with significant needs; and that a new system is developed for 
storing and reusing equipment. Respondents felt that the proposals 
would: improve ease of access to equipment; increase the reuse, 
maintenance, monitoring and management of equipment; and help 
realise budget savings. It was noted by the respondents that some 
equipment was being privately sought and paid for by schools presently.  

105 In review, it is recommended that the proposals for joint commissioning 
of equipment, auxiliary aids and adaptations are implemented and work 
continues to develop the proposals in collaboration with customers and 
stakeholders. It is recommended that consideration be given to the 
suggestions contained within the consultation feedback to include: the 
use of libraries to share less specialist equipment, linking with charities 
to help provide equipment, and working with parents and carers to help 
select equipment.  

 

Page 581



 

28 
 

Proposals for Top up Funding Support  

106 Top up Funding is the provision of HNB funding to schools when 
provision to meet an individual child or young person’s SEND needs 
would cost more than the school’s core funding budget. At present 
every school decides on the amount of extra funding they need for each 
child. This has resulted in differences in the amount of support a young 
person receives depending on the school’s considerations and how the 
school completes an application.  

107 It is proposed that a  ‘banding system’ be applied to Top up Funding to 
support schools to ensure SEND needs are consistently and more 
appropriately met, and in a timely manner.  

108 Recent work undertaken has included: 

(a) Implementation of a revised quality assurance process for Top up 
Funding requests; 

(b) Exploration of banding systems in place in Durham and other 
local authorities; 

(c) Issue of revised guidance to special schools for accessing 
increased funding for provision; and  

(d) A series of focus groups held to consult and engage with parents 
of young people with SEND. 

109 Through the consultation we have proposed to develop a new banding 
system and to introduce changes from April 2020.  

110 Planned next steps include working with schools and parents to develop 
a new Top up Funding system for County Durham.  

111 Most respondents to the consultation agreed to the proposal to continue 
with Top up Funding to support children with special educational needs 
and disabilities. Some respondents emphasised the need for more 
training in schools, which could help to reduce the need to apply for Top 
up Funding. In addition, young people with SEND emphasised that 
having more trained staff in school and receiving support where and 
when it was needed was one of the most important aspects for them.  

112 A small majority of respondents agreed to the proposals for a banding 
system, many citing it should provide a clear, streamlined and fair 
approach, based on the child’s needs, while allowing for the impact of 
measures to be assessed. While there were some concerns around the 
potential for a reduced focus on a child’s individual needs, overall, it 
was felt that a banding system would help to ensure support is 

Page 582



 

29 
 

consistent and fair. Parents and carers responding to this consultation 
found it difficult to navigate the current system and do not receive 
enough advice and information from schools on the funding and support 
available. Parents and carers strongly felt that better communications 
are needed between the parents, schools, and other professionals and 
expressed a request to be involved in the development of the new 
system.  

113 In view of the feedback received, it is recommended that the proposal to 
apply a clear and consistent banding system to help schools plan how 
to meet the needs of children before seeking Top up Funding is 
implemented.  

114 In addition, it is recommended that updated guidance is provided to help 
people understand the new system and ensure appropriate support is 
provided based on the child’s needs. It is also recommended, that 
parents/carers and schools are consulted in the development of the new 
system and schools are encouraged to involve parents/carers in 
completing Top up Funding applications for their child and reviewing the 
impact of funding on their child. Promotion of the TuF system amongst 
parents and carers should also be conducted, with signposting to the 
refreshed SEND Parents Toolkit and other appropriate guidance taking 
place.  

Proposals for Targeted Funding Support 

115 When schools have a high number of students with Top up Funding, 
they are still required to provide the core funding for each pupil from the 
school’s budget. This can mean that schools with a high number of 
students with Top up Funding can find that they do not have enough 
core funding. Therefore, Targeted Support funding is provided to help 
schools increase their core funding. The amount of Targeted Support 
funding that a school receives is currently determined by a formula and 
does not require schools to provide evidence of whether they need 
more money or what the additional money will be used for.  

116 Through the consultation the Council have proposed to only provide 
Targeted Support Funding when a school applies for specific help. In 
addition, it is proposed that to receive funding, the school’s application 
will have to meet a set of conditions that would be set, in consultation 
with schools. 

117 A large majority of respondents agreed with the proposal to continue to 
support targeted funding. Most respondents also agreed that schools 
should be required to make an application for this funding, noting again 
that a clear, streamlined application process would have a positive 
impact for children. Some respondents raised concerns that the process 

Page 583



 

30 
 

would be complicated and could delay support. Others suggested that 
the system should be: developed in consultation with parents/carers 
and schools; be based on consultation and research; and funding 
should be biased towards primary schools to aid early intervention.  

118 It is recommended that the above proposals for targeted funding be 
developed and implemented based on best practice research and in 
collaboration with stakeholders.     

Proposals for Post 16 Funding Support  

119 HNB funding is provided to the Post 16 sector to support the education 
costs of young people over 16 years of age, with an Educational Health 
Care Plan (EHCP). This has created a new and growing demand on the 
HNB in recent years and has proved difficult to forecast in advance.  

120 A review of all applications took place in 2018/19. Based on the findings 
of this review, a fair pricing model for support was drafted and 
discussed with providers. Within the consultation the Council have 
proposed to roll out the fair pricing policy and application criteria to all 
providers of Post 16 provision in County Durham.  

121 Early discussions undertaken with the Post 16 sector informed the 
development of the fair pricing model. The model was welcomed by all 
main providers who subsequently agreed to be early adopters of the 
new approach.  

122 Recent work has resulted in a fair pricing model now being in place 
across most of the sector. In addition, a revised High Needs application 
form and feedback process has been developed and is now in place.   

123 Most respondents agreed that there should be a fair pricing model in 
place for Post 16 providers. Further clarification of this model was 
requested by some respondents, and it was noted that the model 
should allow decisions to be based on the young person’s needs. 

124 Meanwhile, most respondents disagreed with the proposal to support a 
three-day per week provision for Post 16 education over two years.  
Respondents raised concerns that the model would be restrictive, some 
noting that “all pupils are entitled to a full-time education” and that this 
should be supported by clear pathways and assessments for 
progression. Respondents were concerned that the proposal could 
discriminate against children and young people with special educational 
needs and / or disabilities and it could be against the law. 

125 In review it is recommended that information on the pricing model be 
shared with stakeholders as appropriate, and the proposal to roll out a 
fair pricing model to all Post 16 providers be implemented.   

Page 584



 

31 
 

126 It is recommended that the proposal for a typical offer of provision being 
three-days per week over two years in the Post 16 sector is not 
progressed, and other options are explored.  

Proposals for Reviewing Financial Support Provided to Local 
Partnerships of Schools 

127 In Durham, fifteen Communities of Learning (CoL) partnerships along 
with four Secondary Behaviour Partnerships and a Primary Behaviour 
Partnership exist to assist schools locally in providing the right support 
to children and young people with SEND and Inclusion needs. The 
CoLs and Secondary Behaviour Panels receive HNB funding direct. In 
turn, the Secondary Panels donate five Emotional Wellbeing and 
Effective Learning (EWEL) credits each to the Primary Panel to provide 
early assessment and help for young people individually or to support 
training for staff. It is proposed that we continue to support the work of 
these local partnerships.  

128 Earlier in 2019, each CoL and BP were asked to produce a business 
plan outlining their funding proposals, anticipated impact and how it will 
be monitored and measured. The aim of this was to achieve a reduction 
in previously agreed funding levels whilst supporting the most valuable 
pieces of work in each of the partnerships. Business cases were 
considered by the Council in June 2019 and new funding agreements 
are now in place. This has achieved an 18% saving, equating to more 
than £330,000 for 2019/2020.  

129 The Council has proposed through the consultation that in future funds 
will only be released to the partnerships on receipt of a clear business 
plan. It is also proposed that partnerships will be required to report back 
on the impact of the funding for children and young people.  

130 Most respondents agreed with the proposal that Communities of 
Learning and Behaviour Partnerships should be required to produce a 
business plan as part of an application process for funding, and that 
they should be required to report on the impact of the funding that has 
been allocated. Many positive responses were received in support of 
this proposal. Respondents noted that the proposal would help to: target 
funding where it is most needed; ensure more effective and transparent 
use of money; and increased accountability. Parents and carers 
expressed a strong view that the business planning should involve more 
parental engagement.  

131 In review, it is recommended that the above proposals for local 
partnerships of schools be developed and implemented. The project 
should produce a robust and transparent governance structure for 
assessing funding applications and agreeing funding allocations, and for 

Page 585



 

32 
 

monitoring and conducting annual reviews of spend. It is also 
recommended that clear and timely guidance and support on the new 
system be made available to all CoL and BP Chairs. It is also 
recommended that consideration be given through the project to 
ensuring parental and/or governor involvement in the business planning 
process.    

132 In addition, it is recommended that consideration be given to the 
benefits of establishing a CoL for special schools.  

Proposals for the Pupil Referral Unit (PRU) and Alternative Provision 

133 The Woodlands PRU is the County Council’s provision for permanently 
excluded pupils and for those pupils identified as close to permanent 
exclusion. The Woodlands has an on-site capacity of 75 but with 160 
permanently excluded pupils on roll (as of November 2019). As a result, 
85 young people are accessing off-site alternative provision, which is 
putting further pressures on HNB funding.  

134 In May 2019, a national review of permanent exclusion and alternative 
education found that whilst permanent exclusion is sometimes 
appropriate, it should be a last resort. The review calls on local 
authorities, schools, and other agencies to establish effective 
partnership working to intervene earlier to avoid exclusion. The Council 
have sought views through the consultation on reducing the numbers of 
children and young people on the roll of The Woodlands PRU.  

135 During Summer 2019, the Council commissioned ISOS Partnership to 
support a review across County Durham with the aim of strengthening 
inclusion and the use of alternative provision.  

136 The commissioned review has now been completed and the final written 
report is now being considered by the Corporate Director of CYPS and 
his management team. Workshops will subsequently be held with 
headteachers and Chairs of the Behaviour Partnership Panels to 
consider the recommendations and to develop a formal action plan for 
implementation.  

137 The Council’s proposals include: providing more resources to the 
Behaviour Panels so they can buy additional early interventions and 
therapeutic support and increase the number of young people back into 
school; and increasing the number of young people, particularly in years 
7 and 8, to reintegrate quickly into mainstream or specialist schools 
from The Woodlands PRU. 

138 Most respondents to the consultation agreed to the proposal to devolve 
more resources for permanently excluded pupils to locality-based 
panels. Consultation feedback indicated that early support provided by 

Page 586



 

33 
 

the panels was essential and the proposal would assist in allowing 
children to remain in mainstream education longer.  

139 A small majority of the respondents agreed to the proposal to 
reintegrate more permanently excluded children and young people into 
schools. Feedback suggested that this would need careful consideration 
on a case-by-case basis and schools would need support in place to 
reduce any disruption to other children and that support should also be 
provided for the child based on their needs. Parents and carers noted 
that the provision of more training in mainstream schools may help 
prevent some pupils going to the PRU, as teachers would have a better 
awareness and knowledge of the child’s behaviours and needs. 

140 It is recommended that the above proposals for the PRU and alternative 
provision be developed for implementation taking into account the 
comments and suggestions received throughout the consultation.    

Other Work  

141 In addition to the above projects, work commenced in the July 2019 to 
review, improve and streamline business processes within the SEND 
Casework Team. Over the last year, the Council have received an 
unprecedented increase (68%) in demand for services provided by this 
team. This increase in customer demand is recognised as an enduring 
demand. The Council is now reviewing the following business 
processes, to identify where efficiencies can be made to include the use 
of technology and smarter ways of working to help meet increasing 
demands, within the available resources: 

a) New Education and Health Care Plan requests  

b) Annual reviews of Education and Health Care Plans 

c) Incoming communications management 

d) Education and Health Care Plans for pupils transferring from 
another local authority (“Moving Ins”) 

e) Statutory and non-statutory Top up Funding applications 

f) Authorisation and Panel (decision making) arrangements  

g) Enhanced Mainstream Provision 

h) Authorisation and payment arrangements  

142 A review of staffing requirements is also taking place, with additional 
temporary casework staff appointed whilst a more detailed review of 
future business needs takes place.   

Page 587



 

34 
 

143 Much of the work is already underway and reflects the 
recommendations of an Internal Audit of the High Needs Budget 
conducted between January - July 2019. The audit examined: 

(a) Statutory processes and timescales in relation to Education and 
Health Care (EHC) Requests for Assessments and Reviews of 
any Education, Health and Care Plans (EHCPs) 

(b) The types of High Need funding provided to schools and colleges 
and the associated processes for allocating the funding to support 
children and young people with high needs 

(c) Budget pressures – to include examining the external factors 
impacting on the SEND budget which are outside of the Council’s 
and budget holder’s control.  

(d) Panel arrangements and decision-making processes for 
authorising Education and Health Care Plans. 

144 An action plan has been developed based on the recommendations of 
the Internal Audit report. Progress against this plan will be monitored by 
the SEND and Inclusion Resources Board with a review by audit in mid-
2020. 

Risks  

145 Risks associated with the programme of work are being identified, 
managed and reviewed throughout the duration of the programme and 
overseen by the SEND and Inclusion Resources Board. Key risks of the 
programme are outlined below.  

(a) Assumptions regarding levels of funding and the extent of 
targeted reductions possible do not manifest themselves. 
The work is based on several assumptions regarding funding, 
pattern of demand and areas identified for savings.  If these 
assumptions become inaccurate and funding pressures increase, 
the deficit may increase, the Council may reconsider the position 
on requesting a transfer from the Schools Block and/or further 
savings would be required in other areas of HNB spend in order 
to make the HNB more sustainable. 

(b) Increasing demand on the HNB may result in adverse 
impacts on finance and service delivery. The programme of 
work outlined in this report is being developed and implemented 
with the aim of mitigating this strategic risk. Without a programme 
of work to make the HNB more sustainable, based on current 
HNB funding and expenditure patterns and current demographic 
demand, it is likely that further overspending will continue into 

Page 588



 

35 
 

future financial years. Dedicated programme management 
resources and an agreed governance structure are in place to 
ensure that the programme is sufficiently resourced and planned, 
overseen and delivered to time, cost and quality requirements.  

(c) Unintended detrimental impacts to services for children and 
young people and the customer’s journey coupled with 
increased service costs.  A public consultation on the proposals 
has been conducted and a full Equality Impact Assessment has 
been carried out and is included within the attached Consultation 
Report (Appendix 4). The work we are doing also requires careful 
consideration of how changes in one service area may impact on 
another area of service provision. For example, a significant 
change in one element of the system such as Top up Funding 
provided to mainstream schools, could then lead to increased 
exclusions, more referrals for special school places or the PRU, 
commissioning external providers, additional requests for EHCPs 
or increased legal challenges from families. This could result in 
increased costs and potentially a detrimental impact to the young 
person on their journey through the system and the services 
offered. The work being done and the proposals in this report are 
seeking to mitigate against these potential consequences through 
identifying, documenting and communicating project 
interdependencies at programme initiation stage, and throughout 
the life of the programme. Close attention will be given to the end-
to-end processes both within the SEND and inclusion services 
and links to services in the wider council and with external 
providers, while focussing on the journey of the child or young 
person.    

(d) Allocation of financial support to SEND and Inclusion 
services is disproportionate to need. The work being 
conducted and the initial proposals in this report are seeking to 
ensure the ‘right support at the right time in the right place’ for 
children and young people with SEND and inclusion support 
needs, within the resources available to us. The programme 
provides the opportunity to have oversight of current SEND and 
Inclusion services provision, spending and impact, and to 
research, identify and propose changes and preferred alternative 
options. The findings of reviews of current provision will be 
considered with feedback from the consultation to inform future 
funding priorities and proposed changes required to improve 
customer service provision, increase value for money and to try 
and ensure HNB funding is sustainable.   

Page 589



 

36 
 

Public Sector Equality Duty  

146 The Public Sector Equality Duty (Equality Act 2010) requires Durham 
County Council to have ‘due regard’ to the need to eliminate unlawful 
discrimination, harassment and victimisation, advance equality of 
opportunity and foster good relations between people from different 
groups. Assessing impact on equality and recording this is one of the 
key ways in which the Council can show due regard. 

147 As the nine priority areas of the HNB sustainability programme affect 0-
25 years old with SEND and their families, parents and carers there is 
potential impact for the protected characteristics of age, disability, sex 
and ethnicity. There is disproportionate impact in relation to sex (both 
male and female) and ethnicity. Significantly more males have an ECHP 
(74%). In terms of impact on women, evidence suggests they are more 
likely to have caring responsibilities for children and young people. 
Ethnicity data shows there is potential disproportionately in terms of 
ethnic minorities with special education needs (SEN). 

148 Proposals to address priorities are designed to ease funding pressures 
and contribute towards longer term sustainability for SEND education. 
Negative impact is therefore not anticipated, as proposals aim to create 
a more inclusive and targeted SEND education offer by addressing 
need yet ensuring value for money through ensuring consistency and 
quality of centrally managed services, linking funding to evidence of 
impact, extending the range of specialist places, improving staff training, 
joint commissioning to ensure consistency and value for money and 
reducing pupil exclusions. This should impact positively in terms of 
disability, age (children, young people with SEND and their parents or 
carers), sex and ethnicity.  

149 Inclusive public consultation methods ensured that responses were 
heard from a wide range of stakeholders including easy read versions of 
documentation and specific focus groups for children and young people. 
Equality monitoring of consultation respondents evidences a broad 
consultation reach. Consultation analysis shows that the majority 
strongly agree/agree with proposals apart from the ‘3 day’ provision in 
post 16 sector, which it is proposed not to progress.  

150 A full equality impact assessment is attached at Appendix D. Individual 
equality impact assessments will be carried out for specific projects 
where necessary, which will include analysis of impact on staff where 
relevant. 

Conclusion 

151 This report sets out Durham County Council's commitments towards 
improving services and using funding more effectively to support 

Page 590



 

37 
 

children and young people with SEND needs, and children that are at 
risk of exclusion. This includes supporting an education system that 
prioritises the inclusion of children and young people in their local 
schools, and one which gives parents and carers confidence that their 
children's needs will be understood and met. The aim is also to offer a 
more suitable range of specialist learning provisions for young people 
who have high levels of need, and to make every effort to use all 
available resources for children and young people, more effectively and 
efficiently.  

152 The programme of work required to deliver these commitments, 
includes a review of nine key areas of service provision. The results of 
the public consultation identified that the majority of consultees support 
all but one of the proposals associated with these priority areas for 
review. It is proposed therefore that these projects now be developed 
and implemented to reflect the key messages conveyed by 
stakeholders through the consultation, which emphasise the importance 
of: allowing all children to be educated locally; promoting collaborative 
working between professionals; closer collaboration and communication 
with parents and carers; providing more training and opportunities for 
early screening and intervention; ensuring value for money is assessed 
through evidence of need and impact; and promoting a better 
understanding of pupils’ behaviours and needs amongst teachers, 
parents and other students.   

153 While the Government has made additional High Needs Block funding 
available in 2020/2021, financial modelling has shown that this will be 
insufficient to cover the current overspend position and bring the 
accumulated HNB deficit back into balance. Therefore, in reviewing the 
key areas of service provision the Council will aim to achieve savings of 
circa £1.5 million per year over each of the next five years commencing 
from 2020/2021, while continuing to ensure that the right support is 
provided, at the right time, in the right place for children and young 
people across the County who have higher needs.  

154 A report on progress made against the delivery of the work programme 
and proposed financial strategy will be reported back to Cabinet in 
Summer 2020.  

Background papers 

• Cabinet Report on High Needs Block Funding for SEND and Inclusion 
Support, 10 July 2019: 

https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=154&MId=11

264&Ver=4 

Page 591

https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=154&MId=11264&Ver=4
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=154&MId=11264&Ver=4
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=154&MId=11264&Ver=4
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=154&MId=11264&Ver=4


 

38 
 

• Consultation on High Need Block Funding for SEND and Inclusion Support, 
17 July – 17 October 2019:  

http://www.durham.gov.uk/consultation 

• Schools Forum Report on High Needs Block Funding for SEND and 
Inclusion Support: 

http://www.durham.gov.uk/media/31265/Schools-Forum-Meeting-24-
October-
2019/pdf/SchoolsForumMeeting24October2019.pdf?m=637074187039700
000 

• County Durham’s SEND Strategy 2019/2020:  

http://www.countydurhamfamilies.info/kb5/durham/fsd/service.page?id=vvu
oPhoG4Ak& 

 

Author 

Karin Laybourne 

Team Leader, Senior Project Manager, 
Transformation Team, Resources 

Tel: 03000 268042 

 

  

Page 592

http://www.durham.gov.uk/consultation
http://www.durham.gov.uk/consultation
http://www.durham.gov.uk/media/31265/Schools-Forum-Meeting-24-October-2019/pdf/SchoolsForumMeeting24October2019.pdf?m=637074187039700000
http://www.durham.gov.uk/media/31265/Schools-Forum-Meeting-24-October-2019/pdf/SchoolsForumMeeting24October2019.pdf?m=637074187039700000
http://www.durham.gov.uk/media/31265/Schools-Forum-Meeting-24-October-2019/pdf/SchoolsForumMeeting24October2019.pdf?m=637074187039700000
http://www.durham.gov.uk/media/31265/Schools-Forum-Meeting-24-October-2019/pdf/SchoolsForumMeeting24October2019.pdf?m=637074187039700000
http://www.durham.gov.uk/media/31265/Schools-Forum-Meeting-24-October-2019/pdf/SchoolsForumMeeting24October2019.pdf?m=637074187039700000
http://www.durham.gov.uk/media/31265/Schools-Forum-Meeting-24-October-2019/pdf/SchoolsForumMeeting24October2019.pdf?m=637074187039700000
http://www.durham.gov.uk/media/31265/Schools-Forum-Meeting-24-October-2019/pdf/SchoolsForumMeeting24October2019.pdf?m=637074187039700000
http://www.durham.gov.uk/media/31265/Schools-Forum-Meeting-24-October-2019/pdf/SchoolsForumMeeting24October2019.pdf?m=637074187039700000
http://www.countydurhamfamilies.info/kb5/durham/fsd/service.page?id=vvuoPhoG4Ak&
http://www.countydurhamfamilies.info/kb5/durham/fsd/service.page?id=vvuoPhoG4Ak&
http://www.countydurhamfamilies.info/kb5/durham/fsd/service.page?id=vvuoPhoG4Ak&
http://www.countydurhamfamilies.info/kb5/durham/fsd/service.page?id=vvuoPhoG4Ak&


 

39 
 

Appendix 1:  Implications  

Legal Implications 

Sections 45-53 of the School Standards and Framework Act 1998 sets out the 

funding framework governing schools finance.  

The Children and Families Act 2014 covers the SEND reforms and is 

accompanied by statutory guidance for organisations to follow through the 

SEND code of practice: 0 to 25 years (2015).  

The overarching legal implication within the report is the Equality Act 2010 

with respect to the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED). Section 149 of the Act 

details the requirement when taking decisions to have due regard to the need 

to advance equality of opportunity for people with protected characteristics, 

foster good relations between such groups and eliminate unlawful 

discrimination. It is necessary the impact on those groups is fully analysed as 

part of the review of the consultation responses. 

Finance 

The report highlights the overspend and deficit position in the HNB. The 

outturn position for 2018/19 was a £7.4 million overspend in the HNB and the 

latest updated forecast would indicate an over spend of £9.3 million for 

2019/20, with £5.6 million of this being supported by the Council’s general 

fund (Budget Support Reserve).   

While the Government has made additional High Needs Block funding 

available in 2020/2021, financial modelling has shown that this will be 

insufficient to cover the current overspend position and bring the accumulated 

HNB deficit back into balance. Therefore, in reviewing the key areas of service 

provision the Council will aim to achieve savings of circa £1.5 million per year 

over each of the next five years commencing from 2020/2021, while 

continuing to ensure that the right support is provided, at the right time, in the 

right place for children and young people across the County who have higher 

needs. 

The report sets out several actions as part of an HNB sustainability plan which 

seeks to support children and young people with SEND within the resources 

available.  Alongside this, the Council and other local authorities are 

continuing to lobby the Government for additional resources.   

  

Page 593



 

40 
 

Consultation 

Section 19 of the Children and Families Act 2014 makes clear that local 

authorities must ensure that children, young people, parents and carers are 

involved in decisions about local provision. The report outlines the approach to 

and findings of a public consultation, aimed mainly at early years settings, 

schools, special schools and colleges along with other stakeholders including 

children and families, which was conducted over a three-month period from 17 

July to 17 October 2019. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

As the nine priority areas of the HNB sustainability programme affect 0-25 
years old with SEND and their families, parents and carers there is potential 
impact for the protected characteristics of age, disability, sex and ethnicity. 
There is disproportionate impact in relation to sex (both male and female) and 
ethnicity. Significantly more males have an ECHP (74%). In terms of impact 
on women, evidence suggests they are more likely to have caring 
responsibilities for children and young people. Ethnicity data shows there is 
potential disproportionately in terms of ethnic minorities with special education 
needs (SEN). 
 
Proposals to address priorities are designed to ease funding pressures and 
contribute towards longer term sustainability for SEND education. Negative 
impact is therefore not anticipated, as proposals aim to create a more 
inclusive and targeted SEND education offer by addressing need yet ensuring 
value for money through ensuring consistency and quality of centrally 
managed services, linking funding to evidence of impact, extending the range 
of specialist places, improving staff training, joint commissioning to ensure 
consistency and value for money and reducing pupil exclusions. This should 
impact positively in terms of disability, age (children, young people with SEND 
and their parents or carers), sex and ethnicity.  
 
Inclusive public consultation methods ensured that responses were heard 
from a wide range of stakeholders including easy read versions of 
documentation and specific focus groups for children and young people. 
Equality monitoring of consultation respondents evidences a broad 
consultation reach. Consultation analysis shows that the majority strongly 
agree/agree with proposals apart from the ‘3 day’ provision in post 16 sector, 
which it is proposed not to progress.  
 
A full Equality Impact Assessment is attached to this report within Appendix 4. 
Individual Equality Impact Assessments will be carried out for specific projects 
where necessary which will include analysis of impact on staff where relevant.  
  

Page 594



 

41 
 

Climate Change 

An intended outcome of this programme of work, is to increase support for 

young people to attend local schools, rather than travel to schools that are 

further away, both within and outside of the county. The successful delivery of 

the programme will result in reduced miles travelled by pupils via car, taxi and 

/ or public transport, thereby reducing carbon dioxide emissions and 

potentially a reduced contribution to local traffic congestion.  

The joint commissioning of equipment and auxiliary aids will help to reduce 

waste and consumption of resources, through the improved oversight, 

management and reuse and maintenance of equipment.  

It is intended that the reviews of our business processes within the SEND 

Casework team will result in reduced printing and paper consumption, through 

the increased use of digital systems and the implementation of modern ways 

of working. The potential for developing a customer portal within the Synergy 

data management system is also being explored. Implementation of a 

customer portal, use of video conferencing for meetings and exchanging 

information, should help to reduce the need for staff and customer travel to 

meetings. The digital mail system “Flite” is already being used by the team, 

and the use of this system will be promoted to other areas of the service, as 

necessary and appropriate. 

Human Rights 

None  

Crime and Disorder 

None 

Staffing 

There may be changes required in staffing based on the proposals outlined in 

the report.   

Accommodation 

None 

Risk 

The programme of work being overseen by the SEND and Inclusion 

Resources Board is being progressed as part of a programme management 

approach and includes developing a risk register. Key risks are summarised in 

the main body of this report. Careful consideration of risks and possible 

unintended consequences is taking place regarding each of the areas of work.   

Page 595



 

42 
 

Procurement 

Commissioning and procurement implications are being considered for each 

of the proposals in the HNB sustainability plan. 

  

Page 596



 

43 
 

Appendix 2:  HNB Forecast Outturn Position 2019/2020  
2019/2020 

 

DSG High Needs Block 

2019/20 
Original 
Budget 

£ 
million 

2019/20 
Revised 
Budget 

£ 
million 

2019/20 
Forecast 
Outturn 
£ million 

Over / 
(Under) 
Spend 

£ 
million 

2019/20 
Previous 
Forecast 
Outturn 
reported 

to 
Schools 
Forum £ 
million 

Change 
£ 

million 

Delegated to Alternative Provision 5.500 5.515 5.515 0 5.515 0 

Delegated to Special Schools 24.000 23.862 23.862 0 23.862 0 

Delegated to EMP 0.776 0.683 0.683 0 0.683 0 

Top-up funding-Primary 6.000 5.500 5.599 0.099 5.538 0.061 

Top-up funding-Secondary 1.500 1.200 1.121 -0.079 1.303 -0.182 

Targeted funding-Primary 0.800 0.600 0.600 0 0.550 0.050 

Targeted funding-Secondary 0.250 0.250 0.080 -0.170 0.100 -0.020 

Targeted funding-Special 0.000 0.000 0.115 0.115 0.115 0 

Top-up-Special (individual pupils) 0.000 0.500 1.680 1.180 1.621 0.059 

Top-up-Special (changes in no/mix) 0.000 0.500 0.500 0 0.500 0 

Income from schools (turnaround) -0.400 -0.400 -0.400 0 -0.400 0 

Income from schools (perm ex) 0 -0.400 -0.450 -0.050 -0.400 -0.050 

Additional EMP 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Additional Alternative Provision 0 0.090 0.108 0.018 0.108 0 

Communities of Learning 1.145 1.145 0.894 -0.251 0.894 0 

Allocations to Schools 39.571 39.045 39.907 0.861 39.989 -0.082 

Nursery Outreach 1.274 1.600 1.600 0.000 1.600 0 

Equalities and Intervention Team 1.882 1.728 1.731 0.003 1.728 0.003 

SEND Sensory 1.436 1.299 1.274 -0.025 1.282 -0.008 

Learning Difficulties 0.823 0.531 0.482 -0.049 0.481 0.001 

Management and support 0.698 0.594 0.594 0 0.594 0 

Behaviour Panels 0.600 0.600 0.574 -0.026 0.574 0 

Looked After Children Education 0.217 0.217 0.217 0 0.217 0 

Pupil Referral Unit - Transport 0.000 0.600 0 -0.600 0 0 

Equipment 0.075 0.075 0.075 0 0.075 0 

LA recharges to DSG 0.825 0.711 0.711 0 0.711 0 

Centrally managed 7.830 7.955 7.258 -0.697 7.262 -0.004 

Independent and NMSS - pre-16 2.600 3.800 3.198 -0.602 3.174 0.024 

Independent and NMSS - post-16 1.800 1.800 2.972 1.172 3.013 -0.041 

Maintained schools outside of Durham 1.000 1.200 1.200 0 0.450 0.750 

Further Education providers 2.200 2.300 3.997 1.697 3.210 0.787 

Income from other Local Authorities -0.600 -0.600 -0.600 0 -0.600 0 

External provision 7.000 8.500 10.767 2.267 9.247 1.520 

Total 54.401 55.500 57.932 2.431 56.498 1.434 

Grant available 48.801 48.801 48.592 0.209 48.592 0 

Budget shortfall -5.600 -6.699 -9.340 -2.640 -7.906 -1.434 

Shortfall met by council reserves 5.600 5.600 5.600   5.600 0 

Shortfall charged to HNB DSG 0 1.099 3.740   2.306 1.434 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 597



 

44 
 

 

Appendix 3: Results of a consultation with all schools on options 
for reducing HNB pressures 

 

Question 1: Which of the following options would you prefer?  

a) Agree to a one-off transfer of £1.5 million from the Schools Block to 

HNB in 2020/21, representing a transfer of circa 0.48% to support the 

identified funding pressures in the HNB and the deficit position which 

needs to be recovered, or: 

b) Agree to no transfer from Schools Block to HNB in 2020/21. Support 

instead further work on additional targeted reductions to make the HNB 

more sustainable and recover the deficit position.   

 

A total of 128 leaders responded to the survey.  

86 people, or around two thirds (67%) of the respondents did not agree to a 

transfer from the Schools Block. One third of respondents, 42 (33%) agreed to 

a transfer from the Schools Block. 

 

Page 598



 

45 
 

Question 2: If choosing Option B, please select up to three preferred areas for 

further savings to be identified from the list below along with your comments: 

 

 

Out of the 86 respondents that chose not to transfer from the Schools Block, 

77 selected their preferred areas for further savings to be identified.  

Respondents identified Centrally Managed Services (61%); Communities of 

Learning and Behaviour Partnerships (57%) and Post 16 funding (35%) 

support as the top three preferred areas for further savings to be identified, 

followed by the Pupil Referral Unit (22%); Targeted Funding (16%); Special 

Schools (13%) and Top up Funding (12%).   

    

Page 599



 

  46 
 

Number of respondents by educational phase: 

 

104 respondents identified the educational phase that they represented.  Most 

respondents were from primary schools (65%), followed by secondary schools 

(16%), special schools / alternative providers (11%) and nursery provision 

(8%).   

  

Page 600



 

  47 
 

Appendix 4:  Consultation Report  

 

Cabinet 

15 January 2020 

Findings of a Consultation 

on the High Needs Funding 

for SEND and Inclusion 

Support 

Ordinary Decision  

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

John Pearce, Corporate Director of Children and Young People’s 
Services 

John Hewitt, Corporate Director of Resources 

Councillor Olwyn Gunn, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Children and 
Young People’s Services 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide  

Purpose of the Report 

1 This report details the process and findings of a public consultation on 
“Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) and Inclusion 
Support Funding”, conducted by the Council between 17 July – 17 
October 2019. 

2 The findings of the consultation outlined within this report will help to 
inform decision making on proposed changes to support funding for 
children and young people with SEND and inclusion needs.  

3 This document is scheduled to be considered by Durham County 
Council’s Cabinet as part of a wider report on “High Needs Block (HNB) 
funding for SEND and Inclusion Support” on the 15 January 2020.  

4 This Consultation Report will subsequently be updated to incorporate 
the decisions made by Cabinet and will be used to provide feedback on 

Page 601



 

  48 
 

the consultation to stakeholders, to include consultees and partner 
organisations during Spring 2020.  

Recommendation(s) 

5 Cabinet is recommended to: 

(a) Note the overall findings of the public consultation set out within 
this report; 

(b) Note the indicated levels of customer and stakeholder support for 
proposed changes to funding and reviews of service provision for 
children and young people with special educational needs;  

(c) Consider for approval the recommendations stemming from 
analysis of the findings of the consultation, as set out in 
paragraphs 187 - 215; and 

(d) Consider this consultation report alongside the recommendations 
within a report to Cabinet, on “HNB Funding for SEND and 
Inclusion Support”, which proposes a five-year financial strategy 
and actions for change in SEND and Inclusion service provision, 
reflecting the findings of this consultation and the latest forecast 
HNB financial position. 

  

Page 602



 

  49 
 

Background 

6 At its meeting on 10 July 2019, Cabinet considered a report outlining 
the growing spending pressures on the High Needs Block (HNB) of the 
Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) which provides funding for special 
education needs and disability (SEND) and inclusion support services 
for children, young people and young adults.  

7 As a result of ongoing austerity and increasing customer demands and 
needs which are becoming more complex, the Council is currently 
spending 19% more than available budget on SEND and Inclusion 
provision.  

8 By working collaboratively across several services, County Durham 
Schools and with numerous partners, the Council intends to address the 
spending pressures without adversely affecting support for individual 
children and young people, or on schools and other budgets. 

9 The work includes reviewing all areas of spending to reduce 
expenditure where possible, while seeking to secure increased value for 
money, and ensuring that we continue to provide the right support, at 
the right time, in the right place for children and young people across 
the county, who have higher needs, within the resources available.  

10 Nine priority areas for review have been identified through work 
undertaken with key stakeholders to date, for further development and 
implementation. These areas have been chosen in large part due to 
their impact on HNB spend:  

(a) Centrally Managed Services 

(b) Special Schools 

(c) Joint Commissioning of Services: Integrated Therapies  

(d) Joint Commissioning of Services: Equipment, Auxiliary Aids and 
Adaptations (EAAA) 

(e) Top up Funding 

(f) Targeted Support Funding  

(g) Post 16 Funding Support 

(h) Financial support provided through Local Partnerships of Schools 

(i) Pupil Referral Unit (PRU) and Alternative Provision 

Page 603



 

  50 
 

11 Subject to Cabinet approval in January 2020, proposals on the above 
key areas of focus will be developed to deliver outcomes that reflect the 
views of our customers and stakeholders, which have been identified 
through a formal consultation.  

12 The consultation on SEND and inclusion support funding was held over 
a three-month period between 17 July – 17 October 2019.  

13 This report details the proposals set out within, and process and outputs 
of the consultation. It outlines the consultation approach to include the: 
targeted stakeholder groups; consultation and communication methods 
used; and the measures taken to ensure equality and accessibility 
considerations have been addressed. 

14 Detailed analysis of the results of the questionnaire issued through the 
consultation is then presented, highlighting the: number of responses 
received; types of respondents; results from the closed questions; and 
individual comments received in response to each of the nine areas for 
review. Analysis of the feedback obtained through stakeholder focus 
groups, and written correspondence received throughout the 
consultation, is then outlined, and the findings and implications, 
including any impacts to equality, are drawn out.  

15 The findings and recommendations stemming from the information set 
out below will inform the next steps for a programme of work and five-
year financial strategy that will be fully developed subject to Cabinet 
approval in January 2020.  

  

Page 604



 

  51 
 

Development of the Proposals 

16 The consultation was developed based on engagement work previously 
undertaken by the Council with a range of stakeholders to include: 

(a) Schools Forum Reference Group (SFRG) 

(b) Durham Schools Forum  

(c) Durham Association of Primary Headteachers (DAPH) 

(d) Durham Association of Secondary Headteachers (DASH) 

(e) Head Teacher Briefing Groups  

(f) Communities of Learning partnerships (CoLs 1-15) 9 

(g) Behaviour Partnership Panels in North Durham, South West 
Durham, East Durham, Central Durham and Primary Panel  

(h) Parents working with Making Changes Together (MCT)  

(i) Children and young people through the Extreme Group; and  

(j) Special Schools Leadership Teams 

17 Development of the proposals was also informed by the 
recommendations stemming from previous engagement and 
participation exercises to include:  

(a) High Needs Review (December 2017);  

(b) Social Communication and Interaction (including ASC) Review 
(2018); and  

(c) Consultation with County Durham schools and special schools 
throughout 2018/2019. 

18 In order to address the spending pressures in the HNB for County 
Durham, a SEND and Inclusion Resources Board (SIRB) was 
established within the Council earlier this year. The Board brings 
together colleagues from the Council’s Children and Young People’s 
Services, Commissioning, Finance and Transformation services to 

                                         
9 Communities of Learning (CoLs) and Behaviour Partnerships (BPs) are partnerships between 
schools and Durham County Council to assist the inclusion of children who require support and 
interventions that are additional to, or different from, most of their peers. There are 15 CoLs in County 
Durham, comprising clusters of nursery, primary, secondary and special schools, 4 secondary 
Behaviour Panels and a Primary Panel. 

  

Page 605



 

  52 
 

provide cross council oversight of resources for SEND and Inclusion, 
including HNB spending and related council budgets.   

19 Under the direction of the SIRB and in consultation with the Durham 
Schools Forum and Schools Forum Reference Group (SFRG), the 
Council have been working with wider stakeholders, to identify 
proposed changes that will improve the lives of children with additional 
needs, in line with the County Durham SEND Strategy 2019-202010, 
while seeking to use HNB funding more effectively.  

20 The Council aims to continue working with its customers and 
stakeholders to further develop and implement these proposals in line 
with the findings of the consultation.  

21 It is envisaged that reductions in spending and service improvement will 
be achieved by focussing on efficiencies, securing increased value for 
money, improved clarity and consistency around service provision that 
better matches changing customer demands, and emphasising early 
intervention and partnership working.   

22 The proposals for change resulting from work conducted to date, are set 
out alongside supporting information about the consultation, within the 
Consultation Document11, and are summarised below. 

The Proposals  

23 The Council aims to improve services and use funding more effectively 
by meeting the following commitments: 

(a) To support an education system where inclusion of children and 
young people in their local schools is the norm, giving parents 
and carers confidence that their children’s needs will be 
understood and met.  

(b) To offer a range of specialist learning provisions for some young 
people who have a high level of needs.  

                                         
10 County Durham ‘s SEND Strategy is available to view at: 
http://www.countydurhamfamilies.info/kb5/durham/fsd/service.page?id=vvuoPhoG4Ak& 
 
11 The Consultation Document: “High Needs Block funding for Special Educational Needs and 
Disabilities (SEND) and Inclusion Support, Consultation Information, 17 July – 17 October 2019” is 
available to view on the Council’s website at: 
 
http://www.durham.gov.uk/media/30363/SEND-High-Block-consultation-supporting-
document/pdf/SENDHighBlockConsultationSupportingInformation.pdf?m=636989737785300000 
 

Page 606

http://www.countydurhamfamilies.info/kb5/durham/fsd/service.page?id=vvuoPhoG4Ak&
http://www.countydurhamfamilies.info/kb5/durham/fsd/service.page?id=vvuoPhoG4Ak&
http://www.durham.gov.uk/media/30363/SEND-High-Block-consultation-supporting-document/pdf/SENDHighBlockConsultationSupportingInformation.pdf?m=636989737785300000
http://www.durham.gov.uk/media/30363/SEND-High-Block-consultation-supporting-document/pdf/SENDHighBlockConsultationSupportingInformation.pdf?m=636989737785300000
http://www.durham.gov.uk/media/30363/SEND-High-Block-consultation-supporting-document/pdf/SENDHighBlockConsultationSupportingInformation.pdf?m=636989737785300000
http://www.durham.gov.uk/media/30363/SEND-High-Block-consultation-supporting-document/pdf/SENDHighBlockConsultationSupportingInformation.pdf?m=636989737785300000


 

  53 
 

(c) To make every effort to use all the resources available to young 
people effectively and efficiently. 

24 The Council’s proposed approach to the changes is defined within the 
Consultation Document as: 

(a) Transforming the ways in which we work, whilst ensuring the best 
outcomes for children and young people using the services.  

(b) Reviewing all areas of spending to identify ways to improve 
efficiency, promote early support, working in partnership, and 
change what we offer where possible, whilst also recognising the: 
specific needs of individual children and young people; the overall 
volume of young people with SEND needs; and the changing 
pattern of demand on different service areas.  

25 Overall, the proposals:  

(a) suggest a new approach to meeting needs more effectively for 
children and young people;  

(b) suggest how the Council might be able to support children with 
very high needs, with less reliance on placements a long way 
from home;  

(c) look at how the Council might make specialist support available to 
children in mainstream schools who would benefit;  

(d) outline new ways of meeting the needs of children who are 
excluded or for whom mainstream school is not the best option; 
and   

(e) suggest how the Council’s approach to Post 16 education might 
help young people with SEND progress towards employment and 
independent living.  

26 In line with the above, the Council have consulted on proposals for each 
of the following key areas of focus, through this formal consultation:  

(a) Centrally Managed Services  

Local authorities use their HNB to pay for central services relating to 
SEND and alternative education provision, as permitted by government 
regulations. Centrally Managed Services12 provided by Durham County 

                                         
12 Information on the full range of services can be viewed in the: Support and Services for 
Schools and Settings 2019-20.pdf directory at: 
https://search3.openobjects.com/mediamanager/durham/fsd/files/support_and_services_for_schools_
and_settings_2019-20_2.pdf   

Page 607

https://search3.openobjects.com/mediamanager/durham/fsd/files/support_and_services_for_schools_and_settings_2019-20_2.pdf
https://search3.openobjects.com/mediamanager/durham/fsd/files/support_and_services_for_schools_and_settings_2019-20_2.pdf
https://search3.openobjects.com/mediamanager/durham/fsd/files/support_and_services_for_schools_and_settings_2019-20_2.pdf
https://search3.openobjects.com/mediamanager/durham/fsd/files/support_and_services_for_schools_and_settings_2019-20_2.pdf


 

  54 
 

Council include functions such as: support to nursery pupils and 
children with sensory and learning difficulties; services provided by the 
Equalities and Intervention Team; and SEND management and support 
positions.  

It is proposed that the Council continue to provide Centrally Managed 
Services in the future to ensure a consistent approach and quality of 
service and carry out extensive reviews to ensure value for money and 
a reduction in costs where possible. 

(b) Special Schools 

Six generic special schools and four special schools specialising in 
Social, Emotional and Mental Health (SEMH) needs, exist in Durham to 
provide specialist teaching and support for children and young people 
with the most complex special education needs. Funding from the HNB 
is provided for a set number of places in each school. Whilst there is a 
broad range of specialist provision in the county, there are currently 37 
vacant places in County Durham, resulting from over planned 
placement in generic schools and under planned placement in SEMH 
schools. In contrast, places are being sought in the private independent 
sector (sometimes out of County Durham), the cost of which can often 
be significantly higher than a place in local special schools and can 
include extra transport costs. This is placing a higher cost demand on 
the available funding.  

It is proposed that the range of specialist places offered in County 
Durham is extended, so children can access services locally rather than 
attend out of area, high cost independent placements. It is also 
proposed that the number of existing SEMH places are reduced to be in 
line with placement trends over the last three years.  

(c) Joint Commissioning of Services: Integrated Therapies    

Children and young people can require access to therapies to meet a 
clinical health need, or a special educational need or both from a range 
of providers. The current system of provision can be confusing and can 
lead to delays in service. It is proposed that commissioning activity 
across the Durham Clinical Commissioning Groups, Durham County 
Council and schools is brought together into one streamlined system. 
This would enable children to receive a prompt assessment to 
determine the level, frequency, type and focus of therapy tasks required 
and identify how these can be delivered in accessible settings by 
education, health and care staff. Through the consultation, the Council 
has sought views on the following proposals:  

i. To bring together the resources from education, health and care 
to improve local access to speech and language therapy, 

Page 608



 

  55 
 

physiotherapy and occupational therapy for children and young 
people.  

ii. To develop new ways of offering therapies locally which meet the 
aspirations and preferences of families within the available 
resources.  

iii. To make the best use of therapists to offer prompt assessments, 
delivery of appropriate therapy in local settings and promote the 
confidence of families.  

(d) Joint Commissioning of Services: Equipment, Auxiliary Aids 
and Adaptations (EAAA) 

Current arrangements for providing EAAA are complex and regularly 
require input from colleagues across education, health and care 
settings. A strategic review has taken place and it is now planned to 
work on a clearer and more consistent approach with updated guidance 
and streamlined processes. This is expected to lead to better, swifter 
support and increased value for money which collectively will support 
better use of HNB funding.  

It is proposed that, assistance requested by schools for HNB funding in 
future will only be used to purchase items that are deemed to be 
specialist (not normally available in a school or other educational 
setting). In addition, it is proposed that a review of the existing guidance 
is undertaken in order that all schools apply a consistent approach. 

(e) Top up Funding Support 

Top up Funding is the provision of HNB funding to schools when 
provision to meet an individual child or young person’s SEND needs 
would cost more than the school’s Core Funding budget. At present 
every school decides on the amount of extra funding they need for each 
child. This has resulted in differences in the amount of support a young 
person gets depending on how the school completes an application.  

It is proposed that in future, the Council apply a ‘banding system’ to Top 
up Funding to support schools, to ensure SEND needs are consistently 
and more appropriately met, in a timely manner. It is also proposed to 
refresh the SEND planning tools currently available on The Local Offer 
SEND Planning Tools webpage, to communicate the new system. 

(f) Targeted Support Funding 

When schools have a high number of students with Top up Funding, 
they are still required to provide core funding for each pupil from the 
school’s budget. This can mean that schools with a high number of 

Page 609



 

  56 
 

students with Top up Funding can find that they do not have enough 
core funding. Therefore, Targeted Support Funding is provided to help 
schools increase their core funding. The amount of Targeted Support 
Funding that a school receives is currently determined by a formula and 
does not require schools to provide evidence of whether they need 
more money or what the additional money will be used for.  

The Council have proposed to provide Targeted Support Funding when 
a school applies for help. To receive the funding, the school’s 
application would have to meet conditions, to be set in consultation with 
schools.  

(g) Post 16 Funding Support 

This provides support to the education costs of young people over 16 
years of age with an Educational Health Care Plan (EHCP). This has 
created a new and growing demand on the HNB in recent years since 
the SEND reforms were introduced in 2014. A review of all applications 
in 2018/19 took place and from this, a fair pricing model for support was 
developed and discussed with providers.  

It is proposed to roll out the fair pricing policy and application criteria to 
all providers of Post 16 provision in County Durham.  

(h) Financial Support Provided Through Local Partnerships of 
Schools 

In Durham, fifteen Communities of Learning (CoL) partnerships along 
with four Secondary Behaviour Partnerships (BP) and a Primary 
Behaviour Partnership (BP) exist to assist schools locally in providing 
the right support to children and young people with SEND and Inclusion 
needs. The CoLs and Secondary Behaviour Panels receive HNB 
funding direct. In turn, the Secondary Panels donate five Emotional 
Wellbeing and Effective Learning (EWEL) credits each to the Primary 
Panel to provide early assessment and help for young people 
individually or to support training for staff.  

It is proposed that the Council continue to support schools and key 
providers to work in local partnerships to identify and meet the needs of 
children and young people with SEND and other vulnerable learners in 
their area. It is also proposed to only release funds on receipt of a clear 
business plan and for partnerships to report back on the impact of the 
funding for children and young people.  

  

Page 610



 

  57 
 

(i) Pupil Referral Unit (PRU) and Alternative Provision 

The Woodlands PRU is the County Council’s provision for permanently 
excluded pupils and those identified as close to permanent exclusion. 
The aim of The Woodlands is to deliver a tailored academic, social, 
emotional and therapeutic programme to support young people to move 
on successfully to their next steps in education, employment or training. 
The Woodlands has an on-site capacity of 75 but routinely has more 
than twice this number of permanently excluded pupils on roll. Off-site 
alternative education provision supported by the HNB fund is used to 
accommodate this enduring additional demand. This has caused 
increasing budget pressures, which is replicated nationally.  

In May 2019, a national review13 of permanent exclusion, alternative 
provision and PRU provision found that whilst permanent exclusion is 
sometimes appropriate, it should be a last resort. The review calls on 
local authorities, schools, and other agencies to establish effective 
partnership working to intervene earlier to avoid exclusion. The Council 
are seeking views through the consultation, on reducing the numbers of 
children and young people on the roll of The Woodlands PRU.  

It is proposed that more resources are provided to the Behaviour Panels 
so they can buy additional early interventions and therapeutic support to 
reduce the number of permanent school exclusions, and help increase 
the number of young people, particularly in years 7 and 8, being 
reintegrated more swiftly into mainstream or specialist schools from The 
Woodlands PRU. 

Planning the Consultation 

27 The consultation on the above proposals was planned and implemented 
in accordance with the Council’s Consultation Statement and 
Consultation Protocol (March 2019) and undertaken in compliance with 
statutory and government guidance, as well as the general 
requirements of public law. 

28 A Consultation Task Group comprising lead officers from the Council’s 
CYPS, Commissioning, Finance and Transformation services was 
established to develop and implement the consultation plan, and ensure 
key messages were conveyed to all stakeholders involved, in a timely 
manner.  

                                         
13 Timpson Review, May 2019 can be viewed at: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/80
7862/Timpson_review.pdf 
 

Page 611

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/807862/Timpson_review.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/807862/Timpson_review.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/807862/Timpson_review.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/807862/Timpson_review.pdf


 

  58 
 

29 In conducting this consultation, the Council have ensured the 
involvement of children, young people, parents and carers in shaping 
proposals for change and have obtained their views to feed into 
decisions about local SEND and inclusion support provision. This is in 
accordance with Section 19 of the Children and Families Act 2014 and 
guidance within the SEND Code of Practice 2015, which emphasise 
that local authorities must ensure that children, young people, parents 
and carers are involved in decisions about local provision.   

The Consultees 

30 Although the consultation was open to the general public, specific focus 
was given to individuals and groups that have an interest in, or are 
affected by the SEND and inclusion agenda, to include: 

(a) Children and young people with SEND and inclusion support 
needs, and their families. 

(b) Leadership teams of: schools, special schools, nursery schools, 
other Early Years providers, Post 16 providers including colleges, 
the Pupil Referral Unit (PRU) and providers of alternative 
education. 

(c) Parent and carer support groups 

(d) Integrated Steering Group for County Durham 

(e) Durham Schools Forum 

(f) Schools Forum Reference Group (SFRG) 

(g) Durham Association of Primary Head Teachers (DAPH) 

(h) Durham Association of Secondary Head Teachers (DASH) 

(i) SEND Information, Advice and Support Service 

(j) Area Action Partnerships (AAPs) 

(k) SEND Strategic Partnership 

(l) SEND Co-ordinators in schools (SENDCo) 

(m) SENDCO Networks 

(n) Chairs of School Governing Bodies 

(o) Chairs of Communities of Learning (CoLs) and Behaviour 
Partnerships (BPs) 

Page 612



 

  59 
 

(p) Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) 

(q) Elected Members of Durham Council 

(r) Senior Officers in Durham County Council  

(s) Durham County Council employees  

Consultation and Communication Methods  

31 A comprehensive programme of events, briefings, workshops and 
written notifications to stakeholders was delivered between 17 July and 
17 October 2019 as detailed in Table 1, Appendix A. This included: 

(a) The launch of a consultation web page14 containing: an 
introductory video; the Consultation Document setting out details 
of the consultation; and the Consultation Questionnaire. The web 
page was viewed a total of 3,568 times and the introductory video 
was viewed 174 times from the Council’s website, over the three-
month consultation period. 

(b) Writing to all partners to advise of the consultation launch and 
how to take part. Over 600 email notifications were sent to 
members of over 300 stakeholder groups to include: all education 
providers and suppliers of alternative education provision; and a 
broad range of other partner organisations. All schools were 
initially contacted in July 2019 and then again in September 2019, 
as a reminder about, and to encourage participation in, the 
consultation.  

(c) Issuing a press release and placing posters in GP surgeries and 
other venues, publicising the consultation and links to the web 
page. A notification was also placed on the Schools Extranet and 
refreshed weekly to maximise coverage. Articles were also 
placed in the SENDCO newsletter, Durham Voice and the 
Council’s staff magazine “Buzz”.  

(d) Posting information via social media, incorporating the link to the 
website, questionnaire and the video to reach over 67,982 people 
via Facebook and Twitter. These posts received 688 reactions, 
comments and shares and the video has been watched over 
21,000 times, via Facebook during the consultation period.  

                                         
14 The Consultation web page is available to view at:  

http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/21797/Consultation-on-support-for-SEND-and-young-people-who-
need-support-to-stay-in-education 
 

Page 613

http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/21797/Consultation-on-support-for-SEND-and-young-people-who-need-support-to-stay-in-education
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/21797/Consultation-on-support-for-SEND-and-young-people-who-need-support-to-stay-in-education
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/21797/Consultation-on-support-for-SEND-and-young-people-who-need-support-to-stay-in-education
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/21797/Consultation-on-support-for-SEND-and-young-people-who-need-support-to-stay-in-education


 

  60 
 

(e) Over 100 people feeding back their views through face-to-face 
discussions on the proposals during meetings, presentations and 
workshops held with the professional organisations and support 
groups (listed at Appendix A). Five focus groups were also held 
with children, young people, parents and carers at meetings of 
the: Little Treasures, Rollercoaster, Extreme, and Making 
Changes Together (MCT) support organisations. 

(f) Providing information to senior officers, elected Members and 
School Governors via: CYPS Overview and Scrutiny Committee; 
Corporate Management Team (CMT), CYPS Medium Term 
Financial Planning Board, Resources Management Team, 
Transformation CMT Group, Adults Management Team; the 
SEND and Inclusion Board and Chairs of School Governing 
Bodies via the School Governor Support Service.  

Equality and Accessibility Considerations  

32 An “Easy Read” version15 of the Consultation Document was made 
available on the consultation web page to ensure messages could be 
understood by consultees with additional needs. Presentations to 
children and young people with special educational needs were adapted 
using suitable questions and presentation materials based on the Easy 
Read version of the Consultation Document.  

33 Paper copies and alternative formats of the consultation documents 
were made available and promoted via the website, all correspondence, 
leaflets, posters, press releases, social media, presentations and formal 
documents. 

34 The introductory video16 included a transcript, aiding accessibility for 
consultees with a hearing impairment.  

The Questionnaire Respondents  

35 A total of 266 people responded to the questionnaire, the majority (91%) 
of which were female, aged between 35 and 54 years (71%) and of 
white British origin (96%). 

                                         
15 The Easy Read version of the Consultation Document is available to view at:  
 
http://www.durham.gov.uk/media/30850/SEND-Consultation-easy-read-version-
/pdf/SENDConsultationEasyRead.pdf?m=637033678768700000 
 
16 The introductory video is available to view at:  
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/21797/Consultation-on-support-for-SEND-and-young-people-who-
need-support-to-stay-in-education 
 

Page 614

http://www.durham.gov.uk/media/30850/SEND-Consultation-easy-read-version-/pdf/SENDConsultationEasyRead.pdf?m=637033678768700000
http://www.durham.gov.uk/media/30850/SEND-Consultation-easy-read-version-/pdf/SENDConsultationEasyRead.pdf?m=637033678768700000
http://www.durham.gov.uk/media/30850/SEND-Consultation-easy-read-version-/pdf/SENDConsultationEasyRead.pdf?m=637033678768700000
http://www.durham.gov.uk/media/30850/SEND-Consultation-easy-read-version-/pdf/SENDConsultationEasyRead.pdf?m=637033678768700000
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/21797/Consultation-on-support-for-SEND-and-young-people-who-need-support-to-stay-in-education
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/21797/Consultation-on-support-for-SEND-and-young-people-who-need-support-to-stay-in-education
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/21797/Consultation-on-support-for-SEND-and-young-people-who-need-support-to-stay-in-education
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/21797/Consultation-on-support-for-SEND-and-young-people-who-need-support-to-stay-in-education


 

  61 
 

36 Most of the respondents (59.4%) were parents or carers of children or 
young people with special educational needs or disabilities. Just over a 
quarter (26.7%) of respondents represented schools, to include 
headteachers/providers, teachers, and governors. 9.4% people 
responded as “other”, to include local authority employees, SEND 
related professionals, and a small number of members of the general 
public. Only 4.3% of respondents represented parents/carers of a child 
or young person without special education needs or disabilities.   

Diagram 1: Number of Responses by Respondent Type 

 

37 Over half of the responses received from education providers 
represented primary schools (55%), followed by: special schools (18%); 
pre-schools (10%); secondary schools (10%) and Post 16 education 
providers (5.9%). 

Diagram 2: Number of Responses by Sector 

 

151

35
25

11 8

24

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

A parent or carer
of a child or

young person
with special

education needs
or disabilities

A provider/head
teacher

A teacher/tutor A parent or carer
of a child or

young person
without special

education needs
or disabilities

A school
governor

Other

38

12

7 7
4

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

Primary school Special school Pre-school Secondary school Post 16 learning
provider

Page 615



 

  62 
 

Questionnaire Results  

 Questions 1 - 3: Beliefs and Commitments 

38 Almost three quarters of respondents (74%) either strongly agreed or 
agreed with the Council’s commitments set out within the consultation 
(see paragraph 23 of this report). 

Diagram 3: Question 1 - Do you agree or disagree with our beliefs and our 
commitments? 

 

39 Question 2 enquired as to what impact these commitments would have 
upon the respondent, their child or organisation. In response to this 
question, a total of 320 comments were received, from which the 
following key messages emerged (see also Table 2, Appendix B):  

i. Funding cuts/underfunding will have negative impact on services 
(49 related comments were received)  

ii. Trained professionals (including teachers/TAs) are needed to 
support children in schools including those with mental health 
needs (41 related comments were received)  

iii. Support the proposals (40 related comments were received) 

iv. Supports a more inclusive education system (39 related 
comments were received)  

v. More funding is needed to support children in school (37 related 
comments were received) 

Page 616



 

  63 
 

vi. Provision should meet the needs of all the young people that 
require it (31 related comments were received)  

vii. SEND education provision should be in all schools (19 related 
comments were received)  

viii. SEN schools should remain (17 related comments were received) 

ix. Early intervention is key (11 related comments were received) 

40 Other comments relating to the perceived impacts of this proposal 
included the need for: “parents to continue to fight for funding”; a fairer 
system; consideration of the impact of family and carers; value for 
money through a clear banded system; meeting the needs of young 
people below the level of need threshold; more collaborative working 
between professionals; more support for Post 16 education; and 
allowing children to be educated locally.  

41 Question 3 asked respondents that disagreed with the commitments of 
the Council, to provide suggestions for further proposals. In response, 
81 suggestions were received that centred around the most common 
themes listed below (see also Table 3, Appendix B):  

i. More funding is needed - the Council should apply for more 
funding from central Government (18 related comments were 
received) 

ii. Value for money of provision should be assessed against 
individual need or impact (15 related comments were received) 

iii. Training is needed on SEND for staff in schools and for parents / 
volunteers (11 related comments were received) 

iv. Early screening and intervention is needed to identify children 
with additional needs (9 related comments were received)  

v. Cuts should be made elsewhere (8 related comments were 
received) 

vi. Provide inclusive schools, local to the child (4 related comments 
were received)  

42 Other comments included the following suggestions, to: streamline 
services so that parents deal with fewer providers; remove the red tape 
that surrounds access to SEND provision; make more provision 
available for Post-16 / young people transitioning into education; 
provide better quality assurance processes for funding; divide funding 
locally, to be allocated through a board; and set up more SEND 
schools.    

Page 617



 

  64 
 

Questions 4 - 6: Centrally Managed Services 

43 In response to question 4, almost two thirds (65%) of respondents either 
strongly agreed or agreed with the proposals for maintaining Centrally 
Managed Services.  

Diagram 4: Question 4 - Do you agree or disagree with the proposed approach 
of maintaining Centrally Managed Services?  

 

44 Question 5 enquired into the perceived impact of the proposals on the 
respondents, their child or organisation. A total of 60 comments were 
received in answer to this question, from which the following most 
common messages were identified:  

i. In favour of Centrally Managed Services to meet the broadening 
needs of children (22 related comments were received)  

ii. Not in support of Centrally Managed Services / it is unfair / more 
difficult to get funding (17 related comments were received) 

iii. Reductions should not have a negative impact on the case / 
support provided (7 related comments were received)  

iv. Centrally Managed Services can be managed/monitored/quality 
controlled (5 related comments were received) 

45 Other comments received in response to this question included 
suggestions that the review should focus on: improving efficiency and 
value for money, while providing support to children in need (see Table 
5, Appendix B).  

Page 618



 

  65 
 

46 Respondents that disagreed with the proposals for Centrally Managed 
Services were then asked through question 6, to provide suggestions 
for alternative proposals. In response, 20 comments were received 
based around the following most common themes: 

i. Additional support staff, including specialists and volunteers are 
needed in schools (9 related comments received)  

ii. Centrally managed budgets are not suitable (3 related comments 
were received)  

iii. Additional funding is needed / need to seek funding from Central 
Government (2 related comments were received)  

47 Further comments included suggestions relating to: streamlining the 
processes; having a designated SEND professional in each 
establishment; and using local knowledge for allocating services where 
they are required. One respondent commented that cost reductions 
could have a negative impact on children. 

Questions 7 – 8: Special Schools  

48 In response to question 7, over half of the respondents (57%) either 
strongly agreed or agreed with the proposed changes to special schools 
(see Diagram 5 below).   

Diagram 5: Question 7- Do you agree or disagree with the proposed changes to 
special schools? 

 

49 Question 8 enquired into the impact that the proposed changes to 
special schools would have on the respondent, their child or 
organisation. A total of 131 comments were received in response to this 
question, from which the following key messages emerged:  

Page 619



 

  66 
 

i. Do not reduce Social Emotional and Mental Health (SEMH) 
places / increase places (37 related comments were received) 

ii. Increase provision to meet the child’s needs including in 
mainstream schools (37 related comments were received)  

iii. Support the proposals, provision must be child centric (16 related 
comments were received) 

iv. Support should be offered close to home (14 related comments 
were received) 

v. There are gaps in provision of the current service (8 related 
comments were received) 

50 Other comments received in response to this question related to a need 
for: additional information on the proposals; training for school staff and 
GPs; the provision of more special education schools; and early 
assessment and referrals / access to the educational psychologist (see 
also Table 8, Appendix B).   

51 Where respondents disagreed with the proposals for special schools, a 
total of 36 comments were received, centred around the following most 
common themes:  

i. Do not reduce provision for SEMH (9 related comments were 
received) 

ii. Training/investment in schools/staff in SEMH is needed (5 related 
comments were received) 

iii. Deal with cases on an individual basis (4 related comments were 
received) 

52 Other responses received to this question, included suggestions such 
as: seek further funding from Central Government; improve referral / 
assessment protocols; allocate funding more appropriately; mainstream 
SEMH provision into schools; ensure transparency of school budgets; 
and hold joint meetings with schools and the local authority to plan 
future needs and obtain support (see Table 9, Appendix B).   

  

Page 620



 

  67 
 

Questions 10 – 12: Joint Commissioning of Services: Integrated 

Therapies 

53 In response to question 10, a large majority of respondents (86%) either 
strongly agreed or agreed with the proposals to jointly commission 
children’s therapies across County Durham, as is illustrated in Diagram 
6 below. 

Diagram 6: Question 10 - Do you agree or disagree with the proposal to jointly 
commission children’s therapies across County Durham?  

 

54 Question 11 asked respondents to identify the impact this change would 
have on them, their child or their organisation. A total of 69 comments 
were received in answer to this question. The majority (47) of 
comments, pointed to the joint commissioning of services being a 
positive change, with benefits to include: the speeding up of service 
provision; ensuring better access to services; and a focus on 

understanding a child’s needs.  

55 Other feedback received, included suggestions to provide: additional 
support in schools, along with training for staff and therapists; an 
improved system that benefits the family; a service based on the child’s 
needs; and improved communication with families (see also Table 11, 
Appendix B). 

56 Where respondents disagreed with the proposals, a total of 7 comments 
were received in answer to question 12, relating to 3 key messages: 
specialist services need to be accessible; additional therapists and 

Page 621



 

  68 
 

support staff are required; and more support is needed for integrated 
therapies overall. 

Questions 13 – 18: Joint Commissioning of Services: Equipment, 

Auxiliary Aids and Adaptations (EAAA) 

57 Question 13 asked whether respondents agreed or disagreed with the 
proposal that high needs funding should only be used to purchase items 
that are deemed to be specialist (not normally available in school or 
another educational setting). It can be seen from Diagram 7, that two 
thirds of respondents (66%) either strongly agreed or agreed to this 
proposal. 

Diagram 7: Question 13 - Do you agree or disagree with the proposal that high 
needs funding only be used to purchase items that are deemed to be specialist 
(not normally available in school or educational setting)? 

 

58 Question 14 asked about the impact that this proposal would have upon 
the respondent, their child or their organisation. In response, a total of 
32 comments were received, from which the following key themes 
emerged: 

i. Explanation is needed of what is defined as “specialist” 
equipment (6 related comments were received) 

ii. Funding should be targeted at pupils’ needs (4 related comments 
were received) 

iii. The proposal would result in inappropriate allocation of funding (3 
related comments were received) 

Page 622



 

  69 
 

iv. The proposal is not possible in practice (3 related comments were 
received) 

v. Target funding to specialist equipment / alterations of space (3 
related comments were received) 

59 Other comments received in response to this question suggested a 
perceived need for: ringfenced funding for this provision; funding from 
the health sector; transparent and fair procedures; and training for 
teachers. Some respondents noted their support for the proposal and 
others mentioned it may result in a reduction in costs. Meanwhile, one 
other respondent noted the proposal could have a negative impact on 
the child and the school budget (see Table 14, Appendix B).   

60 Question 15 asked respondents to provide alternative suggestions on 
how to reduce costs in this area of provision. 18 responses were 
received and centred around the following common messages:  

i. Extra funding is needed for equipment and staff (4 related 
comments were received)  

ii. There is insufficient detail to comment (3 related comments were 
received) 

iii. Therapists to spend more time with children (3 related comments 
were received) 

iv. Share non specialist equipment through a mobile lending library 
(3 related comments were received) 

61 Other responses to this question included suggestions such as: parent 
and carers to help in selecting the equipment; centralising SEND 
funding; linking with charities to provide equipment; and schools to be 
made accountable for decisions around funding equipment (see also 
Table 15, Appendix B).  

62 In response to Question 16, a large majority of respondents, (87%), 
either strongly agreed or agreed with the proposal to develop a new 
system to store and reuse equipment, auxiliary aids and adaptations 
(see Diagram 8).   

Page 623



 

  70 
 

Diagram 8: Question 16 - Do you agree or disagree with the proposal to 
develop a new system to store and reuse equipment, auxiliary aids and 
adaptations? 

 

63 Question 17 enquired into the impact that this proposal may have on the 
respondent, their child or organisation. A total of 56 comments were 
received in answer to this question, from which the following most 
common messages emerged: 

i. Easy access to equipment and service (13 related comments 
were received) 

ii. Reuse and monitoring of equipment (12 related comments were 
received) 

iii. Budget savings (6 related comments were received) 

iv. Support for the proposal (6 related comments were received) 

64 Other themes emerging from the responses to this question were 
positive and included: more funding for education and equipment would 
be available; technology / software would be kept up to date; health and 
safety would not be compromised; timescales for use of equipment 
would need to be provided; and resources could be shared with other 
authorities (see Table 17, Appendix B).  

65 Question 18 asked respondents who disagreed with this proposal, to 
provide any alternative suggestions on how to reduce the costs. 9 
comments were received to include: invest in employee training on 

Page 624



 

  71 
 

using equipment; monitor the use of equipment; service the equipment; 
issue the right equipment first time round; and apply for more funding.  

Questions 19 – 26: Top up Funding and Targeted Funding 

66 In response to question 19, a large majority of respondents (89%) either 
strongly agreed or agreed with the proposal to continue to provide Top 
up Funding throughout the support of SEN children (see Diagram 9 
below).  

Diagram 9: Question 19 - Do you agree or disagree that we should continue to 
provide Top up Funding throughout the support of SEN children? 

 

67 In response to question 20, over half of respondents (56%) either 
strongly agreed or agreed with the proposal to align Top up Funding to 
a banding system which is set through consultation with schools (see 
Diagram 10 below).  

  

Page 625



 

  72 
 

Diagram 10: Question 20 - Do you agree or disagree that Top up Funding 
should be aligned to a banding system which is set through consultation with 
schools? 

 

68 Question 21 enquired into the perceived impact that the above proposal 
would have on the respondent, their child or organisation. A total of 166 
responses were received, based around the following key themes: 

i. Implement a clear streamlined approach that is fair, with follow up 
to assess impact (33 related comments were received) 

ii. Funding would be based on the child’s needs (19 related 
comments were received) 

iii. Risk of under / over funding issues (18 related comments were 
received) 

iv. More information is required around categorising the banded 
system (17 related comments were received) 

v. Children may fall through the system (16 related comments were 
received) 

vi. Lack of focus on the child’s individual needs (15 related 
comments were received)  

Page 626



 

  73 
 

vii. A banding system would keep support consistent (15 related 
comments were received) 

69 Other comments received in respect of this proposal related to the 
perceived need for: communication with the family; a system that 
accounts for the emotional needs of the child; a flexible banding system; 
and the development of the banded system being based on consultation 
and research. Some respondents were not in favour of the proposed 
system and some felt it could cause conflict. Meanwhile other 
respondents noted that a banding system could speed up the 
responses to funding applications (see Table 21, Appendix B). 

70 Question 22 requested that respondents who disagreed with the 
proposal, provide any alternative suggestions for reducing costs and 
making funding arrangements consistent. A total of 32 comments were 
received in response, to include the following key messages: 

i. Funding should be based on a child’s needs (7 related comments 
were received) 

ii. Funding should be based on the specific needs of the child and 
the school (5 related comments were received) 

iii. More information is needed on the proposed banding system (5 
related comments were received) 

iv. Monitoring the use of funding and children’s progress should be 
put in place (4 related comments were received) 

v. Communication should take place with those who apply for the 
funding (3 related comments were received) 

71 Other responses centred around suggestions to include: invest time in 
engaging and obtaining the support of carers and family; require 
providers to provide proof of need of more funding; schools should work 
together; and invest in software to help meet children’s needs (see 
Table 22, Appendix B).   

  

Page 627



 

  74 
 

72 Question 23 asked respondents whether they agreed or disagreed with 
the proposal that the Council should provide targeted support funding. 
The majority (87%) of respondents either strongly agreed or agreed with 
this proposal (see Diagram 11).   

Diagram 11: Question 23 - Do you agree or disagree that we should provide 
targeted support funding? 

 

73 In response to question 24, over two thirds of respondents (68%) 
agreed or strongly agreed with the proposal that targeted funding 
should be provided through schools making an application for this 
funding, (see Diagram 12 below).  

  

Page 628



 

  75 
 

Diagram 12: Question 24 - Do you agree or disagree that targeted support 
funding should be provided through an application process? 

 

74 Question 25 enquired into the impact that the above proposal may have 
on the respondent, their child or organisation. A total of 91 responses 
were received to this question, from which the following common 
messages emerged: 

i. Need a clear, fair, streamlined application process (27 related 
comments were received) 

ii. It would be time consuming (16 related comments were received) 

iii. It would make a positive impact (14 related comments were 
received) 

iv. The application process would be complicated (11 related 
comments were received) 

v. It would cause a delay in support being provided (10 related 
responses were received) 

75 Other feedback from the respondents suggested that the process 
should involve the input of those affected (e.g. the school, parents) and 
that a working group should be consulted in developing the proposals 
(see Table 25, Appendix B).   

76 Question 26 asked respondents who disagreed with the proposal, to 
provide any alternative suggestions on how to reduce the costs 
associated with targeted funding and ensure that funding goes to 

Page 629



 

  76 
 

schools where it is needed most. In response, 22 comments were 
received, centred around suggestions for a system that is based on:   

i. A simple, fair, streamlined application process (6 related 
comments were received) 

ii. The child’s needs (5 related comments were received) 

iii. Research, data and recommendations (4 related comments were 
received) 

77 Other suggestions received in answer to this question related to: 
including families/carers and schools in the process; providing a set 
amount of funding with an option for schools to apply for more, based 
on needs; and evenly distributing pupils across the schools.   

Questions 27 – 32: Proposals for Post 16 Funding Support 

78 Question 27 asked respondents whether they agreed or disagreed with 
the roll out of a fair pricing model to all Post 16 providers. Over two 
thirds of respondents either strongly agreed or agreed to this proposal 
(see Diagram 13 below). 

Diagram 13: Question 27 - Do you agree or disagree with the roll out of a fair 
pricing model to all Post 16 providers? 

 

79 Question 28 enquired into the impact that the above proposal may have 
on the respondent, their child or organisation. A total of 45 comments 
were received in response to this question, from which the following 
themes emerged: 

Page 630



 

  77 
 

i. Positive and agree about the pricing model (14 related comments 
were received)  

ii. Concerns over support with a 3-day week (9 related comments 
were received) 

iii. Clarification is needed around the pricing model (6 related 
comments were received) 

iv. The proposal needs to be developed further (5 related comments 
were received) 

80 Other comments received in response to this question centred on a 
requirement for the model to be based on the child’s needs. A small 
number of respondents felt that the proposal would have a negative 
impact, while the same number felt that there would be very little or no 
impact. (See Table 28, Appendix B). 

81 Question 29 asked those respondents that disagreed with the proposal 
to provide any alternative suggestions. A total of 7 comments were 
received in answer to this question relating to the following common 
themes: 

i. Need to consider the child’s individual needs (3 related comments 
received) 

ii. Need to consider levels of funding for different needs (2 related 
comments received)  

iii. Consider a 5-day funding model (1 related comment received) 

iv. Provide additional equipment and software to support needs (1 
related comment received) 

82 Question 30 asked if the respondent agreed or disagreed with the 
typical offer of provision being three days for a period of two years in the 
Post 16 sector. Diagram 14 shows that only 18% of respondents agreed 
to this offer of provision and almost half of the respondents (47%) either 
disagreed or strongly disagreed with it.  

  

Page 631



 

  78 
 

Diagram 14: Question 30 - Do you agree or disagree with the typical offer of 
provision being three days for a period of two years in the post-16 sector? 

 

83 In response to question 31, 45 comments were received, based mainly 
around the following key themes: 

i. The proposed offer of provision would be restricting (15 related 
comments were received) 

ii. There would be no / very little impact (9 related comments were 
received) 

iii. Support should be based on the child’s needs (8 related 
comments were received) 

84 Other comments received suggested that the offer of provision: could 
lead to less pressure for the student and provide more time for the 
young person to engage in other activities; and help to ensure improved 
financial planning and consistency across the sector. Meanwhile, two 
respondents felt that the 3-day offer would discriminate against SEN 
children and perceived that the proposal could be against the law.   

85 Question 31 asked those respondents that disagreed with the proposal 
to provide any alternative suggestions. In answer to this question, a 
total of 32 comments were received from which the following key 
messages emerged: 

i. The proposed offer of provision would be restrictive (9 related 
comments received) 

Page 632



 

  79 
 

ii. Increase the length of time / days they can attend (6 related 
comments were received) 

86 Other comments that were received included: a need to distinguish 
between Post 16 and Further Education; that pupils are entitled to a full-
time education; and provision should provide clear pathways and 
assessments for progression (see Table 32, Appendix B).  

Questions 33 – 38: Proposal to review financial support through 
local partnerships of schools: Communities of Learning (CoLs)  
and Behaviour Panels (BPs) 

87 It can be seen from Diagram 15 that just less than half of respondents 
(49%) either strongly agreed or agreed with the proposal that CoLs and 
BPs should be required to develop a business plan before the money 
they require is allocated. Meanwhile 29 % disagreed or strongly 
disagreed with this proposal.  

Diagram 15: Question 33 - Do you agree or disagree that behaviour panels and 
communities of learning should be required to develop a business plan before 
the money they require is allocated? 

 

88 Question 34 enquired into the impact that the above proposal may have 
on the respondent, their child or organisation. A total of 48 comments 
were received in answer to this question, from which the following key 
messages emerged: 

i. It would increase teacher workload / paperwork (9 related 
comments were received) 

Page 633



 

  80 
 

ii. It would ensure targeted support funding (5 related comments 
were received) 

iii. It would mean the money is spent effectively (4 related comments 
were received) 

iv. Remove CoL funding and instead invest in schools (4 related 
comments were received) 

v. It would make the process clearer (3 related comments were 
received)  

vi. Provides help and support according to need (3 related 
comments were received)  

89 Other responses to this question related to concerns over: children 
potentially missing vital support as a result of the proposal; the system 
being too complex; and possible delays in provision. A small number of 
respondents suggested that: support should be made available for 
panel chairs to develop the plan; and a need for governance / 
accountability structures to be in place to ensure cost effective use of 
spend (see Table 34, Appendix B). 

90 Question 35 asked those respondents that disagreed with the proposal 
to provide any alternative suggestions. 22 comments were received 
from which the following most common messages emerged: 

i. Process would be too time consuming (3 related comments 
received)  

ii. Reduce paperwork (2 related comments were received) 

iii. Reduce funding for CoLs (2 related comments were received) 

iv. Consider the individual child’s needs (2 related comments were 
received) 

91 Other feedback received included the following suggestions: allocate 
money directly to schools; require schools to complete an annual 
review; trust the CoLs to develop plans and support children; use 
funding to increase inclusion in mainstream schools; provide support for 
panel chairs to develop a plan; make mainstream schools accountable 
for reducing exclusions; schools to work together to seek solutions to 
issues; and train staff to ask questions as to why pupils are not 
attending school (see Table 35, Appendix B).   

92 With reference to question 36 and Diagram 16 below, the majority 
(73%) of respondents either strongly agreed or agreed to the proposal 

Page 634



 

  81 
 

that BPs and CoLs should be required to report on the impact of the 
funding on children and young people. 

Diagram 16: Question 36 - Do you agree or disagree that behaviour panels and 
communities of learning should be required to report on the impact of the 
funding on children and young people? 

 

93 When asked about the impact that the above proposal may have on the 
respondent, their child or organisation (question 37), a total of 44 
comments were received, from which the following key messages 
emerged: 

i. Would result in accountability (8 related comments were 
received) 

ii. Time and money implications in the extra reporting (8 related 
comments were received) 

iii. Would provide evidence of impact (7 related comments were 
received) 

94 Other comments received on the perceived impacts were positive and 
included: increased visibility of spending; ensuring the right provision; 
ensuring better managed support; ensuring CoLs report on their impact; 
improved quality of alternative provision; good practice would be 
supported; need to ensure correct training in school for staff;  and would 
ensure value for money. A small number of responses were negative to 
include: it would be hard to report on the impact; and children will not 
get the help that they need (see Table 37, Appendix B). 

Page 635



 

  82 
 

95 Where respondents disagreed with the proposals, question 38 invited 
any alternative suggestions on how to ensure value for money. The 9 
responses included: review attendance records; use methods to gauge 
child’s happiness / feeling of support; approach the Secretary of State 
for more funding; reduce management posts; do not employ panels; talk 
to parents and children; and discontinue the CoLs.   

Questions 39 – 44: Proposals for the Pupil Referral Unit (PRU) and 
Alternative Provision  

96 In response to question 39, almost two thirds of respondents (64%) 
either strongly agreed or agreed with the proposal to devolve more 
resources for permanently excluded pupils to locality-based panels (see 
Diagram 17 below).  

Diagram 17: Question 39 - Do you agree or disagree with the proposal to 
provide more resources to the behaviour panels? 

 

97 When asked about the impact that the above proposal may have on the 
respondent, their child or organisation (question 40), a total of 36 
comments were received, from which the following key messages 
emerged: 

i. Early support is essential / need to provide earlier holistic support 
(7 related comments received) 

ii. Agree with the proposal (3 related comments received) 

Page 636



 

  83 
 

iii. Allow the child to remain in mainstream education longer (3 
related comments received) 

98 Other responses referred to a need to: support young people rather 
than isolate / exclude them; provide pastoral support; invest more in the 
PRU; collaborate with social care and mental health services as a 
priority; allow children to transition back into mainstream education; and 
prevent the use of the PRU as a ‘stop gap’ for children with SEN (see 
also Table 40, Appendix B).   

99 Question 41 asked those respondents that disagreed with the proposal 
to provide any alternative suggestions. 7 responses were received to 
include (see also Table 41, Appendix B): 

i. Make representation to the Secretary of State for an increase in 
funding 

ii. Do not change the system unless it is better for the child  

iii. Fundraise with schools 

iv. Pool of funding to support schools in short term e.g. supply staff 

v. Not sure if will affect the number of exclusions 

vi. More permanent alternative provision is needed 

vii. Centrally fund places through the local authority not the 
Behaviour Panels 

  

Page 637



 

  84 
 

100 In response to question 42, over one third of respondents (44%) either 
strongly agreed or agreed to the proposal to reintegrate more 
permanently excluded children and young people into schools, while 
one third of respondents (33%) disagreed with the proposal (See 
Diagram 18 below). 

Diagram 18: Question 42 - Do you agree or disagree with the proposal to 
reintegrate more permanently excluded children and young people into 
schools? 

 

101 When asked about the impact that the above proposal may have on the 
respondent, their child or organisation (question 43), a total of 34 
comments were received, from which the following key messages 
emerged: 

i. Depends on the situation/needs careful consideration on a case 
by case basis (4 related comments were received) 

ii. Schools need to have support (including financial) in place to 
reduce disruption to other children (3 related comments were 
received) 

iii. Agree with the proposal, providing the child has the right support 
based on child’s needs, and a designated support staff member 
(3 related comments received) 

iv. Schools should not be put under pressure to re-integrate a child 
(2 related comments received) 

Page 638



 

  85 
 

v. Every child should be given opportunity to attend mainstream 
school (2 related comments received)  

vi. Excluded children are normally disruptive to other children (2 
related comments were received)  

vii. The sooner pupils are found a permanent school the easier it will 
be to integrate them (2 related comments were received) 

102 A range of other comments are presented in Table 43, Appendix B. 
Positive responses included: agree with proposals, provided that all 
stakeholders agree; exclusion and / or alternative provision should be 
the last resort; and reintegrate years 7 and 8 in smaller local settings. 
Negative comments included: children who are already struggling will 
be left to struggle further; mainstream schools are not always equipped 
to provide the right support; it would be detrimental to the service that 
schools provide to children; spreads disruption and danger; puts 
pressure on other pupils and staff; and the proposal undermines the 
rights of a headteacher to exclude. 

103 Question 44 asked those respondents that disagreed with the above 
proposal to provide any alternative suggestions. In response, 13 
individual comments were received (see Table 44, Appendix B), to 
include: 

i. This is not always the answer, it depends on the individual case 

ii. Separate smaller class sizes 

iii. Provide support and funding for home schooling 

iv. Only reintegrate child when they have a formal behaviour 
diagnosis 

v. Need a radical improvement in support within mainstream 
schools 

vi. Make a representation to Secretary of State for further funding 

vii. Maintain and expand current provision 

viii. Greater liaison between schools and PRU 

ix. Does not address issues facing vulnerable children 

  

Page 639



 

  86 
 

Feedback from Focus Groups and Stakeholder Meetings 

Chairs of Communities of Learning (CoL) Meeting, 30 September 2019 

104 Fifteen CoLs exist in County Durham and are funded from the HNB 
budget to develop support and provision to meet the needs of children 
and young people with SEND. Funding is used to enable children’s 
needs to be assessed, focused plans and support to be put in place, 
and to run intervention programmes and train school staff.  

105 At their meeting held on 30 September 2019, Chairs of each CoL 
partnership received a presentation on the consultation proposals for 
HNB funding for SEND and inclusion Support. Subsequently the Chairs 
discussed the proposals and provided feedback on the proposals that is 
summarised below. 

Proposals for Top up Funding 

106 Overall the group agreed with the proposals to change the Top Up 
Funding system and agreed that the system needs clarity, consistency 
and transparency. The Chairs conveyed that more accountability is 
required in order to identify the impact of the funding. All Chairs agreed 
that this should be supported by a robust quality assurance process. 
Some noted that the paperwork for applying for this funding often gets 
more focus than the needs of the child.   

107 The group also noted the waiting times for the current Top up Funding 
process as being too long and that this can have a detrimental impact 
on the child. 

108 It was expressed that where there are complex cohorts of pupils, and it 
was suggested that cohort-led Top-up Funding would be a good use of 
resources. 

Proposals for Communities of Learning (CoLs) 

109 Overall the group agreed with the proposals that COLs and BPs should 
be accountable. 

110 It was also agreed that there is a role for CoLs and BPs to stimulate 
innovative practice and that they have an important early intervention 
role. 

  

Page 640



 

  87 
 

Proposals for Centrally Managed Services 

111 Discussion turned to some of the services provided within this area and 
the groups questioned if there was enough capacity. Some individuals 
spoke of the difficulty in accessing these services. 

112 Some groups felt there was a need to target services to individuals with 
more acute needs. 

Proposals for Special Schools 

113 Overall, the group agreed with the proposals to extend the range of 
specialist provision in the County and agreed that in-county provision 
needs to be as good as out of County provision. It was recognised that 
there is a gap between mainstream and specialist provision.  

114 Some of the group conveyed that there was limited availability and 
options for primary places in special schools and without enhanced 
provision, primary schools struggle to meet the needs of pupils with 
SEND. The group emphasised that schools should be upskilled to 
support SEMH issues. 

Proposals for Joint Commissioning of Services 

115 Overall, the group agreed to supporting the proposals for 
commissioning of services for both integrated therapies and equipment. 

116 Some noted that a lot of these services are being privately sought and 
paid for by schools or delivered by schools. 

117 Discussions around recycling of equipment took place and all attendees 
confirmed that they believed this proposal to be a good idea. 

Durham Schools Forum Meeting, 25 September 2019  

118 Thirty-three members of the Durham Schools Forum attended this 
meeting, where they received a presentation on the consultation 
proposals. Forum members subsequently discussed the proposals in 
small focus groups and provided feedback, which is summarised below.   

Do you agree or disagree with the Council’s beliefs and 
commitments? 

119 One group noted that they agreed with the first statement (see 
paragraph 23) noting the potential conflict that can arise between 
parental choice and the needs of the child.  

Page 641



 

  88 
 

120 Another group noted confidence was growing from seeing a plan where 
savings can be made whilst still meeting the requirements set out by the 
SEND Code of Practice. 

121 Some participants mentioned a feeling of “groundhog-day” in respect of 
the consultation. One member inferred that the outcomes of previous 
consultations had been ignored and it was perceived that the Council’s 
Cabinet would not act upon the views of the schools and the Durham 
Schools Forum. 

122 One group felt that the beliefs are worded in such a way that no one 
could disagree with. 

123 One group suggested adding in “To ‘collectively’ support…” to 
emphasise partnership working and a collective approach. 

124 The group also suggested adding: “within County Durham” to 
emphasise that the approach would, in the first instance, be to make 
every effort to use in-county resources primarily, before going out of the 
county to seek and secure appropriate provision. 

Proposals for Joint Commissioning of Services 

125 Overall, the groups welcomed more joined-up working between schools 
and health professionals, however they also requested that clarity be 
provided around the process for a recommendation of needs. The 
groups cited inconsistencies in schools where they make 
recommendations for items, including for example, for pupils with 
hearing impairments.   

126 It was also noted that due to the slow speed of access to, costs of, and 
waiting lists for cognitive learning / sensory support services, schools 
are purchasing more comprehensive and more timely support from 
private/external providers. 

Proposal for Special Schools Provision 

127 Some groups agreed with the proposal for special school provision and 
one group noted the need to consider enhancing specialist provision in 
mainstream schools.   

128 Some participants stated they understand that some parents are 
choosing to go out of the county as they believe County Durham’s 
provision does not provide the suitable placements they need, and/or 
they do not understand that needs can be met within mainstream 
schools.  

Page 642



 

  89 
 

129 It was noted that a strong focus should be given to the transition 
between primary and secondary schools for children with SEND. 

130 It was perceived that funding reductions were being proposed for 
special schools, and some participants believed that these savings 
could be met through improved targeting, to avoid paying for empty 
places.   

131 One group enquired as to whether special schools could accommodate 
more people for the same funding and be asked to look at value for 
money. The group conveyed that special schools should be made to 
look at how they meet their quotas. It was suggested that funding 
should be reduced where vacant places were not filled. One group 
suggested that special schools with accumulated reserves could 
proportion them out. The question as to whether this would be possible 
was also raised. 

Proposal for Top-Up and Targeted Funding Support 

 

132 Some groups felt that the application process currently in place for Top 
up Funding is ineffective. 

133 Some groups suggested providing more finances to the primary sector 
to provide early intervention and help mitigate issues arising later in 
secondary schools. 

134 Some groups suggested considering training around SEN in schools to 
reduce the requirement for Top-up Funding. It was felt that this should 
be based on best practice for SEND provision, shared across all 
schools. 

135 One group noted that Top up Funding and targeted funding are very 
similar types of funding and queried whether they could be combined to 
provide clarity and reduce confusion. 

136 One group noted that where schools can’t offer suitable support for 
children with SEND, they often discourage families from sending their 
child there, rather than using Top up Funding. It was suggested that the 
availability of the Top up Funding needs to be more visible to parents so 
that they understand what schools can do. It was acknowledged that 
there is now a SEND Parents Toolkit which can help to provide 
information and advice. 

Proposal for Pupil Referral Unit (PRU) and Alternative Provision  

137 The groups noted that the PRU is oversubscribed, and most pupils on 
roll are attending alternative provision, which was perceived by some 
members to be “often very good”.  However, some groups generally 

Page 643



 

  90 
 

acknowledged that the outcomes for pupils need to improve. Concerns 
were raised over lack of quality assurance for independent providers.  

The groups agreed a need for an increase in the number of pupils who 
are reintegrated into schools from the PRU. It was suggested that 
schools “need to change too” when receiving these pupils back to avoid 
further exclusions.  

CYPS Overview and Scrutiny Committee Meeting, 26 September 2019 

138 On 26 September 2019, Durham County Council’s CYPS Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee received a report and presentation on the 
consultation, from the Council’s Head of Early Help, Inclusion and 
Vulnerable Children. Members of the committee raised questions and 
received answers to their questions about the consultation during the 
committee meeting. CYPS Overview and Scrutiny Committee also 
provided the below written response to the consultation following the 
meeting: 

139 “The Children and Young People’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
welcome the opportunity to respond to the consultation as they 
welcome ways to improve services. 

140 Members of the committee received a presentation outlining the aim of 
the consultation, the proposal and the areas of consultation.  Comments 
made by members at the meeting have formed the committee response 
below. 

141 Children and Young People’s Overview and Scrutiny agreed the 
importance of ensuring that we provide the right support at the right 
time, in the right place in a sustainable and affordable way to children 
and young people with special educational needs and disabilities. 

142 Members indicated that an announcement by the Government for 
additional funding for children with special educational needs would be 
welcomed as it would reduce the costs and ease pressures, but at this 
stage it is only an announcement and not a settlement and therefore 
cannot be relied upon. 

143 Members indicated that there is a bond of trust between children, young 
people, their families and carers with the department that delivers the 
service and it is important that the voice of the child is retained within 
the services delivered. 

144 Members indicated that currently the Top up Funding process was very 
stressful and would benefit from a smoother process”. 

  

Page 644



 

  91 
 

Parents and Carers Focus Groups, 10 September – 17 October 2019  

145 Consultation on the proposals took place via focus groups held with 
members of the following parent and carer support groups: 

• Little Treasures - a volunteer run charity who support autistic adults 
and children right across the North East. Two focus groups were 
held on: 10 September 2019 at the Oakes Leisure Centre, Peterlee; 
and on 20 September 2019 at Lanchester Community Centre.    

• The Rollercoaster Group - a support group for parents/carers who 

are looking after a child or young person with any kind of emotional 

or mental health problem. A focus group session was held with 

members of this group on 2 October 2019 at The Riverside, Chester-

Le-Street.   

 

• Making Changes Together (MCT) - a group of parent carer 

volunteers from County Durham who represent the interests of 

parents and carers of children and young people with SEND in 

County Durham. They work in partnership with the Council and 

health and other organisations (locally, regionally and nationally) to 

influence service provision and highlight the issues and needs of the 

families they represent. A focus group was conducted with MCT at 

Lee House, Peterlee on 17 October 2019.  

 

146 The feedback received from all five groups is summarised below.  

Proposals for Top up Funding 

147 Overall, the groups supported the introduction of banding levels for Top 
up Funding and welcomed a review to provide clearer guidance and 
funding accountability for all settings. Some parents/carers highlighted 
their struggle to navigate the system and therefore need to rely on staff 
in schools for advice on the funding available.  However, they stated 
that they often felt let down by the support and knowledge of some staff.  
They would therefore welcome increased training for both school staff 
and parents. 

148 There was a very strong request from all groups to be involved in the 
development process for this proposal should it be implemented, and to 
ensure schools review support plans with parents and inform them of 
the impact of the money that has been spent on their child. Parents 
strongly felt that improved communication was needed between 
schools, parents and professionals.  

Page 645



 

  92 
 

149 Some parents felt that the Council needed to take on more of an active 
role in assessing the quality of reviews of Educational Health Care 
Plans (EHCPs). 

Proposals for Special schools  

150 A lot of support emerged from each group for providing specialist 
support in mainstream schools, particularly to ensure children remain 
within their local community and to be closer to home and to their peers. 
Some parents welcomed increased provision of specialist units attached 
to mainstream schools to help ensure children and young people 
remain in mainstream provision.    

151 Some parents referred to what they considered to be good practice 
models in some mainstream schools and noted an opportunity for 
sharing this knowledge and experience with other mainstream schools, 
as it is believed to be very successful. 

152 It was highlighted that there is not enough specialist provision in 
secondary schools, especially in respect of the sensory environment 
and the need to accommodate children and young people with sensory 
processing needs. The subject of sensory support was also raised as 
an issue by other parents as being an area for improvement in all 
schools, complemented by appropriate sensory training for teaching 
staff.    

153 Some parents felt that a review should be carried out of special school 
provision to assess what is lacking in the current specialist provision. 

154 Some parents would welcome a curriculum that prepares children for 
adulthood earlier than is currently being delivered.   

Proposals for Joint Commissioning of services:  Integrated 

therapies 

155 Overall the groups support the proposals for combining services and 
integrating them into schools. Some parents were able to identify where 
integrated therapies were being delivered well in some special schools 
and would welcome sharing the learning from this approach with other 
schools.    

156 Parents welcomed the opportunity for increased communication 
between parents/carers and professionals.   

 

 

Page 646



 

  93 
 

Proposals for Joint Commissioning of Services:  Equipment, 
auxiliary aids and adaptations (EAAA) 

157 Overall the groups supported the proposals for joint commissioning of 
EAAA. 

158 Some parents proposed an idea for the local authority’s libraries to 
provide a service for shared equipment. 

Proposals for Pupil Referral Unit (PRU) and Alternative Provision 

159 Parents felt that providing more training for staff in schools would save 
money and prevent children from going to the PRU if teachers had more 
awareness and knowledge of the child’s behaviours and needs.  

160 The groups agreed that exclusion of children needs to stop as it has an 
impact on parent and sibling mental health. It was agreed that a family 
approach is needed.   

161 The groups expressed that there should be an opportunity for SEN and 
mainstream schools to share best practice. 

Proposals for Communities of Learning (CoLs) and Behaviour 

Partnerships (BPs) 

 

162 Overall, all groups agreed with the proposals to ask COLs and BPs for 
business cases to show the expected impact.   

163 Some parents suggested that the business planning aspect also 
involved parental engagement.   

Other areas discussed: 

164 Parents expressed a view that a review of home to school transport 
costs should be conducted as there are potential inconsistencies with 
pricing and some parents felt it was an area that could create savings.  

165 The groups also suggested that instead of giving money to taxi firms to 
pay for transport, money should be given to the families to allow them to 
organise their own transport. 

166 Parents and carers also felt that more awareness is needed around 
summer born babies. Participants suggested that teachers should have 
more training to identify if a child can be deferred by a school year.  

167 Ideas were also discussed around providing community funding for 
short breaks for families living in areas that no longer receive this 
service.  

Page 647



 

  94 
 

The Extreme Group, 14 September 2019 

168 A focus group session was also conducted with the Extreme group 
involving seven young people with SEND. This organisation provides a 
representative voice for children and young people with SEND living in 
County Durham. Facilitated by Investing in Children, the group work 
together to share their views and to identify how services can make 
positive changes based on the experiences of children and young 
people with SEND. The consultation session was held on 14 September 
2019 at the Sjovoll Centre, Pity Me, Durham. Discussion held with this 
group of young people focussed upon the questions which are set out 
below alongside the responses received.  

What things are most important to young people in County 
Durham?  What have been your experiences of schools/colleges? 

169 The group felt that the following things are most important to young 
people in County Durham: 

• Provide support where it is needed 

• More teaching assistants. The group noted that some young people 
need one-to-one support and there aren’t enough teaching 
assistants to cope with their needs and support other students too. 

• Supporting children with autism or other disabilities – the group felt 
that this could be achieved through a better understanding of young 
people’s needs. 

170 The group expressed their view that teachers sometimes are not able to 
spot the needs of a young person. An example from the group cited a 
community special school which has a class for Autism that could not 
be accessed without a diagnosis of autism. Staff were not able to 
identify this need, which leads to young people missing out on care and 
support. 

171 Young people experience some staff being unaware of personal needs 
and limitations. This was exemplified in the following experience: “Staff 
used to shout at me for not being able to dress myself. I need support 
due to my condition to get dressed”.  

172 The group noted that bullying isn’t addressed by staff.  

What do you like about school/college? 

173 In response to this question, the following responses were received: 

• School and college – the friendships. 

Page 648



 

  95 
 

• Some of the teaching staff, good members of staff make a big 
difference. 

• I like isolation. I would choose it because I can escape from being 
around too many people. 

What has been really helpful for young people with SEND? 

174 Responses to this question included: 

• “A teacher / support assistant understanding how to support young 
people and their SEND needs. There needs to be a better 
understanding in schools/college as they will not support without a 
statement.” 

• “College friendships have been encouraged by staff.” 

• “If lessons were spread out a little more for me, I would find that 
helpful because I need extra time because of my condition. I need 
support with spelling etc. which takes me more time than I have 
between lessons”. 

• “More understanding of the reasons why I am behaving this way is 
needed, staff don’t understand that I act this way because of my 
condition”.   

• “Smaller class sizes would be helpful for me, I struggle when there 
are too many people in my class”.   

• “Better explanation of tasks too, sometimes I can’t understand 
instructions if they aren’t clear”. 

175 Other responses included: the need for a greater focus on encouraging 
the development of life skills and independence; and a need for a better 
understanding of individual abilities .  

What would I change first? 

176 The group identified the following priorities for change:  

• Provide schools for students who are between mainstream and 
special education. 

• Address bullying that targets children and young people with SEND 
and illness.  

• Increase the understanding of teachers and students. 

  

Page 649



 

  96 
 

Special School Headteachers Meeting, 16 October 2019 

177 Headteachers of 7 special schools in County Durham were presented 
with information on the consultation at their meeting held 16 October 
2019. Discussion subsequently took place and the following feedback 
was obtained.    

178 The headteachers raised concerns that vocational, health and social 
care services have “gone over night”. It was noted that more children 
are surviving at 24 weeks of age with a high complexity of needs, and 
these children have now reached school age. Anxiety and mental health 
issues are increasing, more pupils are being diagnosed with autism, 
and parent’s expectations have changed. Once their child has been 
diagnosed, it was felt that there is a belief amongst parents that they 
can be “cured”. It was agreed that this context is creating a much more 
complex picture.  

179 In addition, the headteachers noted that the NHS is no longer providing 
speech, Occupational Therapy or other services and community 
services are unable to provide the training that they used to. 

180 The group expressed a view that it is falling more and more on to the 
schools to buy-in or provide, through staff training, these services. All of 
which are costs that are coming from the education budget. It was noted 
by the group that they experience Children and Adults Mental Health 
Services (CAMHS) in crisis with a minimum 4 month waiting list in 
County Durham, resulting in no report from the one service holding all 
the information.  

181 Concerns were expressed by the group about the consultation and 
whether it has gone to right people. It was felt that some parents the 
schools work with don't tend to get involved in focus groups, won't 
respond to schools, let alone a consultation call. The headteachers also 
expressed a view that the consultation is based on facts and figures 
from the financial statements (which are often wrong) and with a lack of 
understanding of the reasons behind the figures.  

182 The group discussed planning and placement. It was acknowledged 
that schools appear to have under used spaces, but for example if there 
are only spaces in years 7 & 8, they can't use these spaces to 
accommodate a year 11 pupil. It was also expressed by the 
headteachers that special schools cannot decide not to run a year - 
schools need to staff all years, whether they are full or not. The special 
schools require an operating capacity that covers all years.   

183 The group discussed concerns in respect of young people being 
admitted to the PRU and then leaving the PRU with an EHCP, that 

Page 650



 

  97 
 

requires a special school place. The group noted that EHCPs serve to 
meet an educational need and should not be used to fill a gap in 
provision. The group repeatedly expressed that a child should not be at 
special school if they are a danger to the school or themselves. The 
headteachers agreed that they don't feel they are being listened to in 
this regard. The group noted that they are finding that often parents had 
had to fight to get their child into a school and are not prepared to allow 
their child to go elsewhere even if it’s no longer the right place for them. 

184 In relation to CoLs, the group felt that special schools need their own 
CoL as currently there is no short-term crisis support offer for them.  
The group expressed that they had the finances taken away from them, 
to fund a purely advisory partnership. They considered it had become 
more a “monetary partnership”.    

185 The group suggested that consideration be given to special schools 
offering training and advice for special needs, to mainstream schools.  It 
was noted that there is currently a gap in specialist knowledge, and 
mainstream schools are poaching employees from the specialist 
schools. 

186 The group agreed that the priority should be about meeting children’s 
needs, not stripping the money out of the sector. The group also agreed 
that a current lag in funding / budget setting information is currently 
affecting a school’s ability to provide for children and there are no staff 
to meet any extra needs. The group recommended that consideration 
be given to how to fund schools at a base rate that will give assurance 
for staffing levels. 

Analysis and Implications  

187 The results of the consultation illustrate that the majority of the 
respondents support all but one of the proposals (relating to a 3-day 
week Post 16 provision) for making changes to SEND and inclusion 
support funding.  

188 The information contained within this report has informed the 
recommendations within a wider report on “HNB Funding for SEND and 
Inclusion support” scheduled to be considered by Cabinet on 15 
January 2019. The common messages, ideas and suggestions received 
through the consultation will also be used by the SEND and Inclusion 
Board to shape, plan and deliver the programme of work that is required 
to ensure our services meet the needs of our children and young people 
within the resources available. Analysis of the consultation findings, and 
the implications for each proposed area of work are summarised below.   

  

Page 651



 

  98 
 

Commitments  

189 The majority of respondents agreed with the proposed commitments set 
out by the Council (paragraph 23). Many cited the importance of an 
inclusive education system that: allows children to be educated locally, 
caters for their needs in school; parents have confidence in; promotes 
collaborative working between professionals; provides training and 
opportunities for early screening and intervention; and ensures value for 
money assessed through evidence of need and impact. In addition, 
young people with SEND emphasised the importance of having their 
needs understood and met within school, and for a better understanding 
of behaviours and needs amongst teachers and other students.  

190 In view of the consultation feedback, it is recommended that the 
commitments set out at paragraph 23 are adopted by the Council, 
subject to incorporating the suggested adjustments presented in 
paragraphs 123 and 124 of this report.  

Centrally Managed Services 

191 Most respondents agreed with the proposals for continuing to provide 
Centrally Managed Services and conducting extensive reviews to 
ensure value for money and a reduction in costs. Many respondents 
perceived Centrally Managed Services to be meeting the broadening 
needs of children and young people, while others mentioned the 
difficulty in accessing services and resource capacity issues. Some 
respondents suggested that these services should be targeting those 
with the most acute needs. Respondents overall agreed that Centrally 
Managed Services should be closely managed, monitored and quality 
controlled to ensure continuous improvement and efficiency savings are 
achieved wherever possible. 

192 It is recommended that the proposals for continuing to provide Centrally 
Managed Services and conducting extensive service reviews are 
implemented.  

Special Schools 

193 Most respondents were in favour of the proposed changes to special 
schools, to include increasing provision to meet children’s needs locally 
in special schools. Some respondents noted a lack of options offered for 
primary children in special schools. Opportunities to increase provision 
and upskill staff in SEMH in mainstream schools was noted, while 
maintaining special schools’ provision was also felt to be important. 
Overall there is support for provision that is close to home and for 
providing a high-quality alternative to costly out of county service 
provision. Parents and carers felt strongly that more specialist provision 
in mainstream schools would help ensure children remain within their 

Page 652



 

  99 
 

community to be closer to home and to their peers. Young people with 
SEND suggested that schools that are somewhere between 
mainstream and special education should be provided.  

194 Concerns were raised through the consultation by special schools 
headteachers over children receiving EHCPs while attending the PRU, 
suggesting that special education was being used as a stop gap. Other 
issued raised included a lag in funding/budget setting with the Council, 
which is affecting the schools’ ability to provide for children. It was 
suggested that consideration be given to funding schools at a base rate 
to provide assurance of staffing levels.  

195 In view of the above, it is recommended that the Council continues to 
work with headteachers of special schools to extend the range of 
specialist places offered in County Durham so that children can access 
services locally. This should enhance the offer provided by special 
schools to ensure that there is the capacity to meet current and future 
needs of children and young people with SEND. As part of this review, 
attention should be given to budget setting issues, and the issue of 
EHCPs being issued for children attending the PRU. Investigation into 
the possibility of special schools providing training and advice to 
mainstream schools should also be considered. It is also recommended 
that consideration be given to enhanced provision in local schools.  

Joint Commissioning of Services: Integrated Therapies 

196 Most respondents agreed with the proposals to jointly commission 
children’s therapies across County Durham and Darlington, through the 
Council working with schools and Clinical Commissioning Groups. 
Respondents were very positive about the proposed changes citing 
benefits to include the speeding up of service provision, improved 
access to services and a focus on understanding the child’s needs. 

197 It is recommended that the proposals for joint commissioning of 
integrated therapy services are implemented. 

Joint Commissioning of Services: Equipment, Auxiliary Aids and 
Adaptations (EAAA)  

198 Most respondents agreed to the proposals that additional funding is 
used to purchase specialist equipment (not normally available in school 
or other educational setting) to support children with significant needs; 
and that a new system is developed for storing and reusing equipment. 
Respondents felt that the proposals would: improve ease of access to 
equipment; increase the reuse, maintenance, monitoring and 
management of equipment; and help realise budget savings. It was 
noted that a lot of equipment was being privately sought and paid for by 
schools presently.  

Page 653



 

  100 
 

199 It is recommended that the proposals for joint commissioning of 
equipment, auxiliary aids and adaptations are implemented. It is also 
recommended that consideration be given to the suggestions contained 
within the consultation feedback to include: the use of libraries to share 
non specialist equipment, linking with charities to help provide 
equipment, and working with parents and carers to help select 
equipment.   

Top up Funding Support 

200 Most respondents agreed to the proposal to continue with Top up 
Funding to support children with special educational needs and 
disabilities. Some respondents emphasised the need for more training 
in schools, which could help to reduce the need to apply for Top up 
Funding. In addition, young people with SEND emphasised that having 
more trained staff in school and receiving support where and when it 
was needed was one of the most important aspects for them.  

201 The majority of respondents agreed to the proposals for a banded 
system, many citing it should provide a clear, streamlined and fair 
approach, based on the child’s needs, while allowing for the impact of 
measures to be assessed. While there were some concerns around the 
potential for a reduced focus on a child’s individual needs, overall, it 
was felt that a banded system would help to ensure support is 
consistent and fair. Parents and carers responding to this consultation 
found it difficult to navigate the current system and do not receive 
enough advice and information from schools on the funding and support 
available. Parents and carers strongly felt that better communications 
are needed between the parents, schools, and other professionals and 
expressed a request to be involved in the development of the new 
system.  

202 It is recommended that the proposal to develop in coproduction with 
parents and schools a clear and consistent banding system to help 
schools plan how to meet the needs of children before seeking Top up 
Funding, is implemented.  

203 In addition, it is recommended that clear guidance be developed in 
coproduction to help people understand the new system and ensure 
support is provided based on the child’s needs. It is also recommended, 
that parents/carers and schools are consulted in the development of the 
new system and schools are encouraged to involve parents/carers in 
completing Top up Funding applications for their child and reviewing the 
impact of funding on their child. Promotion of the Top up Funding 
system amongst parents and carers should also be conducted with 
signposting to the refreshed SEND Parents Toolkit and other 
appropriate guidance taking place.  

Page 654



 

  101 
 

Targeted Funding Support 

204 A large majority of respondents agreed with the proposal to continue to 
support targeted funding. Most respondents also agreed that schools 
should be required to make an application for this funding, noting again 
that a clear, streamlined application process would have a positive 
impact for children. Some respondents raised concerns that the process 
would be complicated and could delay support. Others suggested that 
the system should be: developed in consultation with parents/carers 
and schools; be based on consultation and research; and funding 
should be biased towards primary schools to aid early intervention.  

205 It is recommended that the above proposals for targeted funding be 
developed and implemented based on best practice research, in 
collaboration with a working group of parents/carers and schools, and 
reflecting the feedback outlined above.     

Post 16 Funding Support  

206 The majority of respondents agreed that there should be a fair pricing 
model in place for Post 16 providers. Further clarification of this model 
was requested by some respondents, and it was noted that the model 
should allow decisions to be based on the young person’s needs. 

207 Most respondents disagreed with the proposal to support a three-day 
per week provision for Post 16 education over two years. Respondents 
raised concerns that the model would be restrictive. Some noted that 
“all pupils are entitled to a full-time education” and that this should be 
supported by clear pathways and assessments for progression. 
Respondents were concerned that the proposal could discriminate 
against children and young people with special educational needs and / 
or disabilities and it could be against the law. 

208 It is recommended that information on the pricing model be shared with 
stakeholders as appropriate, and the proposal to roll out of a fair pricing 
model to all Post 16 be implemented.   

209 It is recommended that the proposal for a typical offer of provision being 
three-days per week over two years in the Post 16 sector should not be 
implemented, and other cost saving measures are explored.  

Review of Financial Support Provided to Local Partnerships of 
Schools 

210 The majority of respondents agreed with the continuation of the CoL 
and BP Panels and with the proposal that they should be required to 
produce a business plan as part of an application process for funding, 
and that they should be required to report on the impact of funding. 

Page 655



 

  102 
 

Respondents noted that the proposal would help to: target funding 
where it is most needed; ensure more effective and transparent use of 
money; and increased accountability. Parents and carers expressed a 
strong view that the business planning should involve more parental 
engagement.  

211 It is recommended that proposals be further developed and 
implemented to include a robust and transparent governance structure 
for assessing funding applications and agreeing funding allocations, and 
for monitoring and conducting annual reviews of spend. It is also 
recommended that clear and timely guidance and support on the new 
system be made available to all CoL and BP Chairs. It is also 
recommended that consideration be given to ensuring and facilitating 
parental involvement in the business planning process.    

212 In addition, it is recommended that consideration be given to the costs 
and benefits of establishing a CoL for special schools.  

Pupil Referral Unit (PRU) and Alternative Provision 

213 The majority of respondents agreed to the proposal to devolve more 
resources for permanently excluded pupils to locality-based panels. 
Consultation feedback indicated that early support provided by the 
panels was essential and the proposal would assist in allowing children 
to remain in mainstream education longer.  

214 A small majority of the respondents agreed to the proposal to 
reintegrate more permanently excluded children and young people into 
schools. Respondents expressed that consideration should be given on 
a case-by-case basis and schools would need support in place to 
reduce any disruption to other children and that support should also be 
provided for the child based on their needs. Parents and carers noted 
that the provision of more training in mainstream schools may help 
prevent so many pupils going to the PRU, as teachers would have a 
better awareness and knowledge of the child’s behaviours and needs. 

215 It is recommended that the above proposals for the PRU and alternative 
provision be developed for implementation taking into account the 
comments and suggestions received throughout the consultation 
feedback received.    

  

Page 656



 

  103 
 

Equality Analysis  

216 As the nine priority areas of the HNB sustainability programme affect 0-
25 years old with SEND and their families, parents and carers there is 
potential impact for the protected characteristics of age, disability, sex 
and ethnicity.  

217 Inclusive public consultation methods ensured that responses were 
heard from a wide range of stakeholders including easy read versions of 
documentation and specific focus groups for children and young people. 
Equality monitoring of consultation respondents evidences a broad 
consultation reach.  

218 Regarding the public survey, there were 266 respondents, the majority 
(91%) of which were female and aged between 35 and 54 years (74%) 
and of white British origin (96%). Most respondents (59.4%) were 
parents or carers of a child or young person with SEND. 

219 Survey respondents, who were a parent or carer of a child or young 
person with SEND, stated their age as: under 25 years: 2.1%, 26-34 
years: 22.4%, 35-44 years: 44.2%, 45-54 years: 27.2%, 55-64 years: 
3.4% and, 65-74 years: 0.7% 

220 The age of the child or young person parents/carers who responded to 
the survey were looking after: under 5 years: 7.3%, 5-10 years: 49.3%, 
11-15 years: 32.7%,16-19 years: 10% and, 20-25 years: 0.7% 

221 15% of survey respondents who were a parent or carer of a child or 
young person with SEND considered themselves to be a disabled 
person which is similar to disability levels within the general population 
for working age groups. 

222 A full Equality Impact Assessment is attached to this report at Appendix 
D. Individual Equality Impact Assessments will be carried out for 
specific projects where necessary.  

Conclusion 

223 The report outlines the findings of a detailed public consultation on 
SEND and inclusion support funding, conducted with a wide range of 
stakeholders between 17 July – 17 October 2019.  

224 The consultation proposals relate to nine key priority areas for review 
which aim to help ease funding pressures and make the HNB more 
sustainable, by ensuring funding is spent more effectively and 
efficiently, while seeking to improve services for children and young 
people with additional needs.  

Page 657



 

  104 
 

225 Analysis of the consultation responses has identified that the majority of 
consultees either agree or strongly agree with all but one of the 
proposals associated with these priority areas.  

226 It is proposed that the nine key projects are further developed and 
implemented to reflect the supported proposals and the key messages 
conveyed by stakeholders through the consultation feedback, which 
emphasise the importance of: allowing all children to be educated 
locally; promoting collaborative working between professionals; closer 
collaboration and communication with parents and carers; providing 
more training and opportunities for early screening and intervention; 
ensuring value for money is assessed through evidence of need and 
impact; and promoting a better understanding of pupils’ behaviours and 
needs amongst teachers, parents and other students. It is proposed that 
the unsupported proposal for three-day provision in the Post 16 sector 
is not taken forward at this time, and other opportunities for savings and 
improvements are explored. 

227 The consultation findings outlined within this report will inform decision 
making on proposed changes to support funding for children and young 
people with SEND and inclusion needs. This Consultation Report is 
scheduled to be considered by Durham County Council’s Cabinet as 
part of a wider report on “High Needs Block (HNB) funding for SEND 
and Inclusion Support on the 15 January 2020”.  

228 This Consultation Report will subsequently be updated to incorporate 
the decisions made by Cabinet and will be used to provide feedback on 
the consultation to stakeholders, to include consultees and partner 
organisations during Spring 2020.  

Background papers 

• Cabinet Report on High Needs Block Funding for SEND and Inclusion 
Support, 10 July 2019: 

https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=154&MId=11

264&Ver=4 

• Consultation on High Need Block Funding for SEND and Inclusion Support, 
17 July – 17 October 2019:  
http://www.durham.gov.uk/consultation 

Author 

Karin Laybourne 

Team Leader, Senior Project Manager, 
Transformation Team, Resources 

Tel: 03000 268042 

Page 658

https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=154&MId=11264&Ver=4
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=154&MId=11264&Ver=4
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=154&MId=11264&Ver=4
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=154&MId=11264&Ver=4
http://www.durham.gov.uk/consultation
http://www.durham.gov.uk/consultation


 

  105 
 

Appendix A: Consultation Plan   

 

Action  Date 

Consultation Launch 17/09/19 

   Press Release 17/07/19 

   Launch of Web Page – Consultation Document, Video and Questionnaire 17/07/19 

Communications  

    A5 Posters in GP surgeries, other community venues 16/08/19 

Publications  

    Buzz magazine 27/09/19 

    Durham Voice  18/07/19 

    Easy Read Document 06/09/19 

Social Media  

    DCC Facebook and Twitter  19/07/19 

Notifications   

     All Schools 17/07/19 

     Post 16 Providers 17/07/19 

     Voluntary and Community Services 17/07/19 

     DCC Members 17/07/19 

     CYPS staff 17/07/19 

     Parent and Carer support groups 17/07/19 

     Alternative Providers 17/07/19 

     Pupil Referral Unit (PRU) 17/07/19 

     Chairs of School Governing Bodies 17/07/19 

     Extranet Article  17/07/19 

     Schools Forum Reference Group 17/07/19 

     SEND and Inclusion Resources Board 17/07/19 

     SENDCO Staff 17/07/19 

     SENDCO Newsletter 17/07/19 

     Independent Providers 17/07/19 

     Clinical Commissioning Groups 17/07/19 

Presentations and Updates at Stakeholder Meetings   

      Transformation CMT Group 14/08/19 

      Adults Management Team 15/08/19 

      SIRB 16/08/19 

      SEND Strategic Partnership  10/09/19 

      Durham Association of Primary Headteachers 12/09/19 

Page 659



 

  106 
 

Action  Date 

      Durham Association of Secondary Headteachers 14/10/19 

      Integrated Steering Group for Children  16/09/19 

      Durham Schools Forum Reference Group 17/09/19 

      COL Chairs meeting 30/09/19 

      CYPS Overview and Scrutiny Committee 26/09/19 

      Behaviour Panels Chairs’ Meeting 03/10/19 

      SENDCO Primary, Secondary and Special Schools Networks (x 6)  08 – 18/10/19 

Focus Groups and Workshops  

      Durham Schools Forum - Workshop 25/09/19 

      Little Treasures - Focus Groups x2 10 & 20/09/19 

      Rollercoaster Group - Focus group 02/10/19 

      Extreme Group - Focus group 14/10/19 

      Special Schools Headteachers Meeting – Focus Group 16/10/19 

      Making Changes Together (MCT) - Focus group 17/10/19 

Open Forum for All Schools 14/10/19 

Consultation reminders 16/09/19 

         Letters to schools and parents/carers 12/09/19 

         Extranet Article Refresh - weekly 17/10/19 

Close of Consultation 17/10/19 

  

Page 660



 

  107 
 

Appendix B:  Questionnaire Results  

 

Beliefs and Commitments 
 
Question 1: Do you agree with our beliefs and our commitments? 
 
Table 1. Responses to Question 1 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 117 44.5% 

Agree 75 28.5% 

Neither agree nor disagree 27 10.3% 

Disagree 23 8.7% 

Strongly disagree 21 8.0% 

Total 263 100.0% 
 

 
Question 2: What impact do you feel this would have upon you, your child or your 

organisation? 

Table 2. Responses to Question 2 grouped by theme  

 Frequency 

Funding cuts/underfunding have negative impact on services 49 

Trained professionals (including teachers/teaching assistants) needed 
to support children in schools including with mental health 

41 

Support proposals 40 

Inclusive education system 39 

More funding needed to support children in school 37 

Provision should meet the needs of all the young people that require it 31 

Education provision in all schools for SEND 19 

SEN schools should remain 17 

Early intervention is key 11 

Parents will still need to fight for funding 5 

Improve delay in identifying appropriate provision needed 5 

Fair system is needed for allocating provisions to all schools 5 

Further detail needed on proposals 4 

Consider impact on family too/education for family/carers to empower 
them 

4 

Clear banded system needed/value for money 3 

Meet the needs of young people including those below the high level of 
need threshold 

3 

Not in favour of proposals/takes away choice 3 

More collaborative working between professionals 2 

Not enough support for Post 16 education 1 

Allow children to be educated locally 1 

Total 320 

 

 
 

Page 661



 

  108 
 

Question 3: If you disagree or strongly disagree do you have any further proposals 
that will improve high needs provision and bring about the necessary savings to 
make our funding sustainable? 
 
Table 3. Responses to Question 3 grouped by theme 

 Frequency 

More funding is needed/apply for funding to central Government 18 

Value for money of provision, assess against individual need/impact 11 

Training on SEND for staff in schools and parents/volunteers 11 

Early screening and intervention of children to identify any additional 
needs 

9 

Make cuts elsewhere 8 

Inclusive schools local to the child 4 

More information required 3 

Streamline services so parents deal with fewer providers 3 

Remove red tape to accessing SEND provision 2 

Support proposals 2 

Hold schools accountable 2 

More provision for post-16/engagement with young person who is 
transitioning into education 

2 

Better quality assurance on processes for funding 2 

Audit provider costs 1 

Reduce transport costs 1 

Divide funding locally, allocated through a board 1 

Set up SEND schools 1 

Total 81 

 

Proposals for Centrally Managed Services  
 
Question 4: Do you agree or disagree with the proposed approach of maintaining 
Centrally Managed Services? 
 
Table 4. Responses to Question 4 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 30 37.0% 

Agree 23 28.4% 

Neither agree nor disagree 11 13.6% 

Disagree 10 12.3% 

Strongly disagree 7 8.6% 

Total 81 100.0% 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 662



 

  109 
 

Question 5: What impact do you feel this would have upon you, your child or your 
organisation? 
 
Table 5. Responses to Question 5 grouped by theme 

 Frequency 

In favour of Centrally Managed Services to meet broadening needs of children 22 

Not in support of Centrally Managed Services/unfair/more difficult to get 
funding 

17 

Reductions should not have negative impact on case/support 7 

Centrally Managed Services can be managed/monitored/quality controlled 5 

Review should focus on improving efficiency but providing support children 
need 

3 

None/Not applicable 3 

Need further information on changes after review 2 

Value for money needed 1 

Total 60 

 

Question 6: If you disagree or strongly disagree with the proposed approach, do you 
have any alternative suggestions on how to reduce these costs? 
 
Table 6. Responses to Question 6 grouped by theme 
 

 Frequency 

Additional support staff, including specialists and volunteers needed in schools 9 

Centrally managed budgets not suitable 3 

Additional funding needed/seek funding from Central Government 2 

Streamline processes 2 

Designated person in each establishment 1 

Cost reductions will impact negatively on children 1 

Best support possible for children not cost reductions 1 

Local knowledge needed to allocate services where needed 1 

Total 20 

 

  

Page 663



 

  110 
 

Proposals for Special Schools Provision 

Question 7: Do you agree or disagree with the proposed changes to special school 
provision? 
 
Table 7: Responses to Question 7  

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 32 28.3% 

Agree 33 29.2% 

Neither agree nor disagree 17 15.0% 

Disagree 15 13.3% 

Strongly disagree 16 14.2% 

Total 113 100.0% 
 

 

Question 8: What impact do you feel this would have upon you, your child or your 

organisation? 

Table 8: Responses to Question 8 grouped by theme 

 Frequency 

Do not reduce SEMH places/increase places 37 

Increase provision to meet child’s needs including mainstream schools 37 

Support proposals, must be child centric 16 

Support should be offered close to home 14 

Gaps in provision of current service 8 

Additional information needed on proposals 6 

School staff and GPs need training 5 

More SEN schools are needed 4 

Early assessment and referral needed/access to educational psychologist 3 

None/Not Applicable 1 

Total 131 

 
  

Page 664



 

  111 
 

Question 9: If you disagree or strongly disagree with the proposed changes to 

special school provision, do you have any alternative suggestions on how to reduce 

these costs? 

Table 9: Responses to Question 9 grouped by theme 

 Frequency 

Do not reduce provision for SEMH 9 

Training/investment in schools/staff in SEMH 5 

Deal with cases on an individual basis 4 

Seek further funding from Central Government 3 

Improved referral/assessment protocols needed 3 

None/Not Applicable 3 

Allocate funding more appropriately 3 

SEMH should be within mainstream schools 2 

On site alternative provision needed 2 

Ensure transparency of school budgets 1 

Joint meetings with schools and local authority to plan future 
needs/obtain support 

1 

Total 36 

 

Proposals for Joint Commissioning of Services: Integrated Therapies 

Question 10: Do you agree or disagree with the proposal to jointly commission 
children's therapies across County Durham? 
 
Table 10: Responses to Question 10 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 42 53.8% 

Agree 25 32.1% 

Neither agree nor disagree 5 6.4% 

Disagree 3 3.8% 

Strongly disagree 3 3.8% 

Total 78 100.0% 

 
 

  

Page 665



 

  112 
 

Question 11: What impact do you feel this would have upon you, your child or your 
organisation? 
 
Table 11: Responses to Question 9 grouped by theme 

 Frequency 

Joining services/commissioning will be positive/speed up service/better 
access to services/understand a child’s needs 

47 

Additional support needed in schools/staff training and therapist training 6 

Current system inadequate 5 

Current system works fine i.e. Health 3 

Specific system using assessment which benefits the family 2 

Not sure/none 2 

Base service on child need not funding 2 

Better communication needed with families 1 

Further information is needed 1 

Total 69 

 
Question 12: If you disagree or strongly disagree with the proposal, do you have any 
alternative suggestions on how to reduce these costs or change the way these 
services are delivered? 
 
Table 12: Responses to Question 12  

 Frequency 

Specialist services need to be accessible 3 

Additional therapists and support staff 2 

Support for Integrated therapies 1 

Not supporting proposal 1 

Total 7 
 

 
Proposals for Joint Commissioning of Services: Equipment, Auxiliary Aids and 
Adaptations (EAAA)  
 
Question 13: Do you agree or disagree with the proposal that high needs funding 
only be used to purchase items that are deemed to be specialist (not normally 
available in school or educational setting)? 
 
Table 13: responses to Question 13 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 20 35.7% 

Agree 17 30.4% 

Neither agree nor disagree 11 19.6% 

Disagree 4 7.1% 

Strongly disagree 4 7.1% 

Total 56 100.0% 

 
 
 
 

Page 666



 

  113 
 

Question 14: What impact do you feel this would have upon you, your child or your 
organisation? 
 
Table 14: Responses to Question 14 grouped by theme 

 Frequency 

Explanation of definition needed 6 

Funding should be targeted at pupils needs 4 

Inappropriate allocation of funding 3 

Not possible in practice 3 

Target funding to specialist equipment/alterations of space 3 

Ringfence funding needed 2 

Negative impact on school budget 2 

Support proposal 2 

Need transparent and fair procedures 1 

None 1 

Reduction in costs with proposal 1 

Funding should come from health 1 

Very little impact 1 

Training should be given to teachers 1 

Negative impact on chid 1 

Total 32 

 
Question 15: If you disagree or strongly disagree with the proposal that high needs 

funding only be used to purchase items that are deemed to be specialist, do you 

have any alternative suggestions on how to reduce these costs? 

Table 15: Responses to Question 15 grouped by theme 

 Frequency 

Extra funding needed for equipment and staff 4 

Insufficient detail to comment 3 

Therapists spending more time with children 3 

Sharing equipment/mobile lending library of less specialist equipment 3 

Equipment delays 1 

Parent and carers helping select equipment 1 

Centralise SEN schooling 1 

Link with charities to provide equipment 1 

Schools to be accountable for decisions around funding equipment 1 

Total 18 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 667



 

  114 
 

Question 16: Do you agree or disagree with the proposal to develop a new system to 
store and reuse equipment, auxiliary aids and adaptations? 
 
Table 16: Responses to Question 16  

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 32 59.3% 

Agree 15 27.8% 

Neither agree nor disagree 6 11.1% 

Disagree 0 0.0% 

Strongly disagree 1 1.9% 

Total 54 100.0% 

 
 
Question 17: What impact do you feel this would have upon you, your child or your 
organisation? 
 
Table 17: Responses to Question 17 grouped by theme 

 Frequency 

Easy access to equipment and service 13 

Reuse and monitoring of equipment 12 

Budget savings 6 

Support of proposal 6 

Funding for education and equipment 3 

Technology/software up to date 3 

Delivery of approach 3 

Little or no impact on people/organisation 3 

Inefficient uses of resources 2 

Invest in new system 1 

More inclusive schools needed 1 

Health and safety not compromised 1 

Timescales on equipment provided 1 

Share resources with other authorities 1 

Total 56 

 
Question 18: If you disagree or strongly disagree with the proposal to develop a new 
system to store and reuse equipment, auxiliary aids and adaptations, do you have 
any alternative suggestions on how to reduce these costs? 
 
Table 18: Responses to Question 18 

   Frequency 

Invest employee training on using equipment 2 

Monitoring of equipment 2 

Servicing of equipment 2 

Right equipment first time 2 

Apply for more funding 1 

Total 9 

Page 668



 

  115 
 

Proposals for Top up Funding and Targeted Funding Support  
 
Question 19: Do you agree or disagree that we should continue to provide top-up 
funding throughout the support of SEN children? 
 
Table 19: Responses to Question 19 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 75 63.6% 

Agree 30 25.4% 

Neither agree nor disagree 6 5.1% 

Disagree 5 4.2% 

Strongly disagree 2 1.7% 

Total 118 100.0% 

 

Question 20: Do you agree or disagree that top-up funding should be aligned to a 
banding system which is set through consultation with schools? 
 
Table 20: Responses to Question 20 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 20 17.1% 

Agree 45 38.5% 

Neither agree nor disagree 21 17.9% 

Disagree 20 17.1% 

Strongly disagree 11 9.4% 

Total 117 100.0% 

 
 

  

Page 669



 

  116 
 

Question 21: What impact do you feel a banding system would have upon you, your 
child or your organisation? 
 
Table 21: Responses to Question 21 grouped by theme 

 Frequency 

Take a clear streamline approach that is fair with follow 
up 

33 

Funding based on child’s needs 19 

Under/over funding issues 18 

More information around categorising banding system 17 

Children falling through the system 16 

No focus on individual child needs 15 

Banding system to keep support consistent 15 

Lack of emotional knowledge to support child 6 

Banding system could cause conflict 5 

Not in favour of system 5 

Banding system speeds application of funding up 4 

Neither agree or disagree with banding system 4 

Liaise/communicate with family 3 

Flexibility of the banding system 2 

Working group consultation needed 1 

Same amount of funding for all schools 1 

Use system that meets children’s needs as a collective 1 

Research on previous numbers 1 

Total 166 

 
Question 22: If you disagree or strongly disagree with the proposal to introduce a 
banding system, do you have any alternative suggestions on how to reduce these 
costs and make top-up funding arrangements more consistent? 
 
Table 22:  Responses to Question 22 grouped by themes 

 Frequency 

Funding based on child’s needs 7 

Specific needs of child and school 5 

More information around banding system 5 

Monitoring funding and the progress 4 

Communication with those who apply for funding 3 

Support from carers/family 2 

Apply for more funding 1 

Stigmatisation 1 

Time used effectively 1 

Proof of need of more funding 1 

Schools work together 1 

Invest in software to help with needs 1 

Total 32 

 
  

Page 670



 

  117 
 

Question 23: Do you agree or disagree that we should provide targeted support 
funding? 
 
Table 23: Responses to Question 23 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 52 43.7% 

Agree 51 42.9% 

Neither agree nor disagree 9 7.6% 

Disagree 7 5.9% 

Strongly disagree 0 0.0% 

Total 119 100.0% 

 
 
Question 24: Do you agree or disagree that targeted support funding to schools 
should be provided through schools making an application for it? 
 

Table 24: Responses to Question 24 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 29 26.9% 

Agree 44 40.7% 

Neither agree nor disagree 15 13.9% 

Disagree 19 17.6% 

Strongly disagree 1 0.9% 

Total 108 100.0% 

 
 
Question 25: What impact do you feel the application process would have upon you, 
your child or your organisation? 
 
Table 25: Responses to Question 25 grouped by themes 

 Frequency 

Need of clear, fair, streamlined application 
process 

27 

Time consuming 16 

Positive impact 14 

Application process complicated 11 

Delay in support 10 

Include input from those affected (e.g. school 
parents) 

6 

Information unclear 4 

Individual schools to apply 2 

Consultation and work group 1 

Total 91 

 

Page 671



 

  118 
 

Question 26: If you disagree or strongly disagree with the proposal to develop an 
application process, do you have any alternative suggestions on how to reduce 
these costs and ensure that funding goes to the schools that need the support the 
most? 
 
Table 26: Responses to Question 26 grouped by themes 

 Frequency 

Simple, fair streamlined application 6 

Based on child’s needs 5 

Research, use data and recommendations 4 

Include families/carers and schools as part of team 3 

Stronger case for funding 2 

Set amount with option to apply for more based on school needs 1 

Evenly distribute pupils across schools 1 

Total 22 

 
Question 27: Do you agree or disagree with the roll out of a fair pricing model to all 
post-16 providers? 
 
Table 27: Responses to Question 27 grouped by themes 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 22 38.6% 

Agree 17 29.8% 

Neither agree nor disagree 9 15.8% 

Disagree 2 3.5% 

Strongly disagree 7 12.3% 

Total 57 100.0% 

 
 
 
Question 28: What impact do you feel the fair pricing model would have upon you, 
your child or your organisation? 
 
Table 28: Responses to Question 28 grouped into themes 

 Frequency 

Positive about pricing model 14 

Concerns over support with a 3-day week 9 

Clarification around the pricing model 6 

Needs to be developed more 5 

Based on child’s needs 3 

Negative impact 3 

Very little or no impact 3 

Access to further education 1 

Consistent approach 1 

Total 45 

 
  

Page 672



 

  119 
 

Question 29: If you disagree or strongly disagree with the proposal to roll out of a fair 
pricing model to all post-16 providers, do you have any alternative suggestions on 
how to reduce these costs and make funding fair across organisations? 
  
Table 29: Responses to Question 29 grouped into themes 

 Frequency 

Consider child’s individual needs 3 

Consider levels of funding for different needs 2 

Consider 5-day model funding 1 

Additional equipment and software to support 1 

Total 7 

 
Question 30: Do you agree or disagree with the typical offer of provision being three 
days for a period of two years in the post-16 sector? 
 
Table 30: Responses to Question 30 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 4 7.3% 

Agree 6 10.9% 

Neither agree nor disagree 20 36.4% 

Disagree 14 25.5% 

Strongly disagree 11 20.0% 

Total 55 100.0% 

 
 
 
Question 31: What impact do you feel the typical provision would have upon you, 
your child or your organisation? 
 
Table 31: Responses to Question 31 grouped by themes 

 Frequency 

Would be restricting (3 days per week for 2 years) 15 

None/very little 9 

Support needs to be based on child’s needs 8 

Would need to scale back offer 3 

Support would need to be flexible 3 

It discriminates against SEN children 2 

Impact unknown 1 

Catastrophic impact 1 

Lead to less pressure 1 

Would help to ensure that planning can be more forward thinking 1 

3 days would give young people time to engage in other activities 1 

Total 45 

 
  

Page 673



 

  120 
 

 
Question 32: If you disagree or strongly disagree with the proposed typical offer of 
provision being three days for a period of two years in the post-16 sector, do you 
have any alternative suggestions on how this should be done and how we can 
reduce these costs? 
 
Table 32: Responses to Question 32 grouped into themes 

 Frequency 

It would be restrictive (3 days per week for 2 years) 9 

Increase the length of time/days they can attend 6 

Support needs to be based on child’s needs 5 

Need to distinguish between Post 16 & Further Education 2 

Would ensure more funding 2 

Pupils entitled to full time education 2 

Consolidate services 1 

Make representations to Secretary of State for an increase 
in funding 

1 

Requires clear pathways, progression and assessments 1 

Should not consider saving money in special schools 1 

Local authority central provision supported by existing 
SEMH schools 

1 

N/A 1 

Total 32 

 
  

Page 674



 

  121 
 

Proposal to review financial support provided through local partnerships of 
schools: Communities of Learning and Behaviour Partnerships 
 
Question 33: Do you agree or disagree that behaviour panels and communities of 
learning should be required to develop a business plan before the money they 
require is allocated? 
 
Table 33: Responses to Question 33 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 12 20.3% 

Agree 17 28.8% 

Neither agree nor disagree 13 22.0% 

Disagree 10 16.9% 

Strongly disagree 7 11.9% 

Total 59 100.0% 

 
 
Question 34: What impact do you feel the requirement to develop business plans 
would have upon you, your child or your organisation? 
 
Table 34: Responses to Question 34 grouped into themes 

 Frequency 

Would increase teacher workloads/paperwork 9 

Would ensure targeted support funding 5 

It would mean money is spent effectively 4 

Remove CoL funding and instead invest in schools 4 

Would make the process clearer 3 

Provide help and support according to need 3 

Would result in children missing vital support 2 

No impact 2 

Already produces business plan 2 

System too complex 2 

It would cause even more delays/be time consuming 2 

Support for panel chairs to develop plan 2 

Accountability structures would need to be in place 1 

Ensure proof of spend 1 

Would ensure that any plans are cost effective 1 

No, to a business plan for BPs 1 

Yes, to a business plan for CoLs 1 

It would lessen confusion 1 

Money wasting 1 

Achievable for them to develop business plan 1 

Total 48 

 
  

Page 675



 

  122 
 

Question 35: If you disagree or strongly disagree with the proposal, do you have any 
alternative suggestions on how to ensure value for money? 
 
Table 35: Responses to Question 35 grouped by theme 
 

 Frequency 

Process would be too time consuming 3 

Less paperwork 2 

Reduce funding for CoLs 2 

Look at individual child’s needs 2 

Allocate money directly to schools 1 

Ask Schools complete yearly review 1 

No to a business plan for BPs 1 

Yes, to a business plan for CoLs. 1 

Trust CoLs to develop plans and support children 1 

Already a process in place to ensure value for money 1 

Partnerships & schools working closely together 1 

Use funding to increase inclusion in mainstream schools 1 

Stop discriminating children with Autism Spectrum 
Disorder (ASD) / Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder 
(ADHD) 

1 

Provide support for panel chairs to develop plan 1 

Hold mainstream schools accountable for reducing 
exclusions 

1 

Schools work together to seek solutions to issues 1 

Train staff to ask questions as to why pupils are not 
attending schools 

1 

Total 22 

 
Question 36: Do you agree or disagree that behaviour panels and communities of 
learning should be required to report on the impact of the funding on children and 
young people? 
 
Table 36: Responses to Question 36 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 17 30.9% 

Agree 23 41.8% 

Neither agree nor 
disagree 

7 12.7% 

Disagree 8 14.5% 

Strongly disagree 0 0.0% 

Total 55 100.0% 

 
 
  

Page 676



 

  123 
 

Question 37: What impact do you feel the requirement to report on the impact of 
funding would have upon you, your child or your organisation? 
 
Table 37: Responses to Question 37 grouped by theme 
 

 Frequency 

Would mean there is accountability 8 

Time and money implication in the extra 
reporting 

8 

Provide evidence of impact 7 

Give everyone visibility of spending 3 

Ensure the right provision 3 

Hard to report on impact 3 

None 3 

Ensure better managed support 2 

Ensure CoL report on their impact 2 

Improve the quality of Alternative Provision 
(AP) 

1 

Would support good practice 1 

Children will not get the help they need 1 

Need to ensure correct training in schools 
for staff 

1 

Would ensure value for money 1 

Total 44 

 
Question 38: If you disagree or strongly disagree with the proposal, do you have any 
alternative suggestions on how to ensure value for money? 
 
Table 38: Responses to Question 38 grouped by theme 

 Frequency 

None / Not Applicable 2 

Review attendance records 1 

Use methods to gauge child’s happiness/feeling 
of support 

1 

Go to Secretary of State for more funding 1 

Less management 1 

Do not employ panels 1 

Talk to parents and children 1 

Discontinue CoLs 1 

Total 9 

 
  

Page 677



 

  124 
 

Proposals for the Pupil Referral Unit (PRU) and Alternative Provision 
 
Question 39: Do you agree or disagree with the proposal to provide more resources 
to the behaviour panels? 
 
Table 39: Responses to Question 39 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 11 20.8% 

Agree 23 43.4% 

Neither agree nor 
disagree 

10 18.9% 

Disagree 6 11.3% 

Strongly disagree 3 5.7% 

Total 53 100.0% 

 
 
Question 40: What impact do you feel this would have upon you, your child or your 
organisation? 
 
Table 40: Responses to Question 40 grouped by theme 

 Frequency 

Early support essential 5 

Agree with proposal 3 

Allow child to remain in mainstream education longer 3 

None 3 

Need to provide earlier holistic support 2 

Unable to comment 2 

Need a better understanding of SEN in mainstream schools 2 

Support young people rather than isolation or exclusion 1 

Need to provide pastoral support 1 

Depends on individual case 1 

Its already difficult to get behaviour support 1 

Durham County Council invest more in waves or PRU 1 

Collaboration with Social Care and Mental Health Services a priority 1 

Allow children to transition back into mainstream education 1 

Children sometimes need the support offered at Woodlands 1 

Stop using PRU as a stop gap for SEN children 1 

Stop discriminating against children with ASD/ADHD 1 

Children need support from people who see them the most 1 

Exclusion should not happen to a child with a diagnosis 1 

Need to understand intentions 1 

Additional cost of staff time/provision and impact on the child to 
integrate back into full time education after being at the PRU 

1 

Lack of inclusivity in mainstream schools needs to be challenged by 
local authority 

1 

It will stop children being moved around 1 

Total 36 

 
  

Page 678



 

  125 
 

Question 41: If you disagree or strongly disagree with the proposal to provide more 
resources to the behaviour panels, do you have any alternative suggestions on how 
to reduce the consequent costs? 
 
Table 41: Responses to Question 41 grouped by theme 

 Frequency 

Make a representation to Secretary of State for an 
increase in funding 

1 

Do not change system unless it is better for the 
child/staff 

1 

Fundraising within schools 1 

Pool of funding to support schools in short term e.g. 
supply staff 

1 

Not sure if will affect the number of exclusions 1 

Do not feel sufficiently knowledgeable to comment 1 

More permanent Alternative Provision (AP) is needed 1 

Child needs to be found another place as soon as 
possible 

1 

Centrally funded places through local authority not the 
Behaviour Panels 

1 

Total 9 

 
Question 42: Do you agree or disagree with the proposal to reintegrate more 
permanently excluded children and young people into schools? 
 
Table 42:Responses to Question 42 

 Frequency Percent 

Strongly agree 6 12.5% 

Agree 15 31.3% 

Neither agree nor 
disagree 

11 22.9% 

Disagree 12 25.0% 

Strongly disagree 4 8.3% 

Total 48 100.0% 

 
 
  

Page 679



 

  126 
 

Question 43: What impact do you feel this would have upon you, your child or your 
organisation? 
 
Table 43: Responses to Question 43 grouped by theme 

 Frequency 

Depends on the situation/needs careful consideration on a case by 
case basis 

4 

Schools need to have support (including financial) in place to reduce 
disruption to other children 

3 

As long as the child has the right support/based on child’s needs/and 
designated support staff member 

3 

Schools should not be put under pressure to re-integrate a child 2 

Every child should be given opportunity to attend mainstream school 2 

Excluded children are normally disruptive to other children 2 

The sooner pupils are found a permanent school the easier it will be to 
integrate them 

2 

All children need to learn 1 

Agree with proposals 1 

As long as all stakeholders agree 1 

Children who are already struggling will be left to struggle further 1 

Exclusion should be the last resort 1 

Mainstream schools not always equipped to provide right support 1 

Detrimental to the service schools provide children 1 

Put pressure on other pupils and staff 1 

Undermines the rights of a headteacher to exclude 1 

Spread the disruption and danger 1 

More of an issue for secondary schools 1 

AP should be used as a last resort 1 

Reintegrate years 7 & 8 in smaller local settings 1 

Care needs to be taken as to where they are placed 1 

Should not be given an EHCP whilst at the PRU 1 

Train staff to understand why children behave in the way they do 1 

Total 34 

 
  

Page 680



 

  127 
 

Question 44: If you disagree or strongly disagree with the proposal to reintegrate 
more permanently excluded children and young people into schools, do you have 
any alternative suggestions on how to reduce these costs? 
 
Table 44: Responses to Question 44 grouped by theme 

 Frequency 

This is not always the answer, it depends on the 
individual case 

1 

Separate smaller class sizes 1 

Provide support and funding for home schooling 1 

Only reintegrate child when they have a formal 
behaviour diagnosis 

1 

None 1 

No home schooling 1 

Need to understand provision within schools 1 

Need a radical improvement in support within 
mainstream schools 

1 

Make a representation to Secretary of State for further 
funding 

1 

Maintain and expand current provision 1 

Increase life chances for children 1 

Greater liaison between schools and PRU 1 

Does not address issues facing vulnerable children 1 

Total 13 

 

About You 

Question 45: Are you responding as: 

Table 45: Types of Respondent 

 Frequency Percent 

A parent or carer of a child or young person with special 
education needs or disabilities 

151 59.4% 

A provider/head teacher 35 13.8% 

A teacher/tutor 25 9.8% 

A parent or carer of a child or young person without special 
education needs or disabilities 

11 4.3% 

A school governor 8 3.1% 

Other 24 9.4% 

Total 254 100.0% 

 

  

Page 681



 

  128 
 

If other, please specify: 

Table 46: Other respondents 

 Frequency 

Local Authority employee 6 

Relative 4 

SENDCo 4 

Paediatrician 3 

Interested party/member of public 2 

Advisory teacher 1 

Former carer of SEN children 1 

Former school governor 1 

Special school nurse 1 

Support mainstream education/high SEND children/care leaver 1 

Total 24 

 

Question 46: What type of school/learning environment do you teach or work in? 
 
Table 47:Number of respondents by sector  

 Frequency Percent 

Primary school 38 55.9% 

Special school 12 17.6% 

Pre-school 7 10.3% 

Secondary school 7 10.3% 

Post 16 learning 
provider 

4 5.9% 

Total 68 100.0% 

 
Question 47: What is the age of the child or young person you care for? 
 
Table 48: Age of child or young person cared for by number of respondents 

 Frequency Percent 

Under 5 years old 11 6.8% 

5-10 years old 80 49.7% 

11-15 years old 54 33.5% 

16-19 years old 15 9.3% 

20-25 years old 1 0.6% 

Total 161 100.0% 

 
Question 48: Are you: 
 
Table 49: Number of respondents by gender 

 Frequency Percent 

Male 26 10.5% 

Female 221 89.5% 

Total 247 100.0% 

 
 
 

Page 682



 

  129 
 

Question 49: Do you consider yourself to be a disabled person? 
 
Table 50: Number of respondents with a disability 

 Frequency Percent 

Yes 32 12.9% 

No 216 87.1% 

Total 248 100.0% 

 
Question 50: What is your age? 
 
Table 51: Age range of respondents 

 Frequency Percent 

5-10 1 0.4% 

20-25 2 0.8% 

26-34 49 19.9% 

35-44 94 38.2% 

45-54 79 32.1% 

55-64 16 6.5% 

65-74 5 2.0% 

Total 246 100.0% 

 
Question 51: What is your religion or belief? 
 
Table 52: Religious background 

 Frequency Percent 

Christian 149 63.7% 

Buddhist 1 .4% 

Jewish 1 .4% 

None 82 35.0% 

Baha'i 1 .4% 

Total 234 100.0% 

 

Question 52: How would you describe your sexual orientation? 

Table 53: Sexual orientation 

 Frequency Percent 

Heterosexual/straight 221 97.4% 

Gay woman/lesbian 1 .4% 

Bisexual 5 2.2% 

Total 227 100.0% 

 
  

Page 683



 

  130 
 

Question 53: What is your ethnicity? 
 
Table 54: Ethnicity  

 Frequency Percent 

White British 231 97.5% 

White Non-British 2 .8% 

Black or Black 
British 

1 .4% 

Mixed Race 2 .8% 

Travelling 
Community 

1 .4% 

Total 237 100.0% 

 
  
Format of return 
 
Table 55: Number of responses by format of return  

  Frequency Percent 

PC 115 43.2% 

Mobile 139 52.3% 

Tablet 12 4.5% 

Total 266 100.0% 

 

  

Page 684



 

  131 
 

Appendix C:  Key Stakeholder Groups  

 

Durham Schools Forum 

The Durham Schools Forum is a formal advisory and decision-making body 
on matters relating to school funding. It consists of: school and academy 
representatives to include headteachers and school governors; providers of 
education for young people aged 14-19 years; early years education 
providers; providers of education in the voluntary/independent sector; and 
diocese and union representatives. 

The Forum meets at least four times a year and is open to the public. 

It provides a means of communication between local authorities and schools 
on funding matters affecting schools. It must be consulted on any changes to 
the formula used to fund schools, and the financial impacts of any proposed 
changes.  

It is consulted annually on financial issues relating to: 

• Pupils with special educational needs 

• Use of pupil referral units  

• Early Years education 

• Administration of the allocation of central government grants paid 
to schools via the local authority 

• Contracts for provision of services to schools. 

Communities of Learning Partnership (CoLs) and Behaviour 
Partnerships (BPs) 

There are 15 CoLs within County Durham, that are allocated funding from the 
HNB to develop support and provision to meet the needs of children and 
young people with SEND. Funding is used to enable children’s needs to be 
assessed, focused plans and support to be put in place, and to run 
intervention programmes and train school staff. In 2015, four Secondary 
Behaviour Partnership Panels were set up, followed in 2016, with a Primary 
Behaviour Partnership Panel to support the management of behaviour issues 
and to support inclusion in mainstream education.    

 

  

Page 685



 

  132 
 

Little Treasures 

Little Treasures are a volunteer run charity who support autistic adults and 
children right across the North East. They aim to relieve the needs of autistic 
adults, children, young people and their parents, carers and siblings by 
providing facilities for play and recreation in the interests of social welfare in a 
safe and secure environment, and by providing support and practical advice to 
parents and carers. 

The Rollercoaster Group 

The Rollercoaster Group are a support group for parents/carers who are 
supporting a child or young person with any kind of emotional or mental health 
problem including: 

• anxiety 

• low mood 

• depression 

• self-harm 

• eating disorders 

• sleep problems 

• suicidal thoughts 

• obsessions and compulsions 

The group offers opportunities to meet other parents/carers, obtain support 
and attend events offering information and advice. 

Making Changes Together (MCT) 

MCT are a group of parent carer volunteers from County Durham who 
represent the interests of parents and carers of children and young people 
with special educational needs and or disabilities in County Durham. 

They do this by working in partnership with the Local Authority, Health and 
Social Care also other groups and organisations (locally, regionally and 
nationally) to influence service provision and highlight the issues and needs of 
the families they represent.  

They are funded by the National Network of Parent Carer Forums (NNPCF) 
and the Local Authority to coordinate, promote and deliver parent participation 
locally. They deliver workshops, bi annual parent carer conferences and 

Page 686



 

  133 
 

various events within County Durham to obtain views from all parent carers 
and influence “Changes Together”. 

The Extreme Group 

The Extreme Group is a representative voice for children and young people 
with SEND living in County Durham. 

Facilitated by Investing in Children, the group work together to share their 
views and to identify how services can make positive changes based on the 
experiences of children and young people with SEND. 

 

  

Page 687



 

  134 
 

Appendix D:  Equality Impact Assessment  

 

Durham County Council Equality Impact Assessment 

NB: The Public Sector Equality Duty (Equality Act 2010) requires Durham County 

Council to have ‘due regard’ to the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination, 

harassment and victimisation, advance equality of opportunity and foster good 

relations between people from different groups. Assessing impact on equality and 

recording this is one of the key ways in which we can show due regard. 

Section One: Description and Screening 

Service/Team or Section 
 

CYPS and Resources 

Lead Officer 
 

Martyn Stenton, Early Help, Inclusion and 
Vulnerable Children 

Title 
 

High Needs Block Funding for SEND and 
Inclusion Support  
 

MTFP Reference (if 
relevant) 
 

 

Cabinet Date (if relevant) 
 

15 January 2020 
Previous Cabinet dates: 10 July 2019 

Start Date 
 

5 June 2019 

Review Date 
 

January 2020 (after Cabinet) 

 

Subject of the Impact Assessment 

Please give a brief description of the policy, proposal or practice as appropriate (a 
copy of the subject can be attached or insert a web-link): 
 

There are growing spend pressures in relation to the High Needs Block (HNB) of 
the Designated Schools Grant (DSG) which provides funding for special education 
needs and disability (SEND) and inclusion services for children, young people 
(CYP) and young adults.  

A combination of austerity across the public sector, implementation of the SEND 
reforms (which has increased support to cover young people and young adults up 
to 25 years old) and changing needs means that there are insufficient resources 
including from the High Needs Block (HNB) of the Dedicated Schools Grant 
(DSG).  This is also the case in many other local authorities.   

Page 688



 

  135 
 

In simple terms the council is currently spending 19% more than funded for which 
is not sustainable. Addressing this spending pressure is complex and involves 
collaboration across teams and partners. This means trying to address areas of 
pressure from the HNB without significantly impacting support for individual 
children and young people and minimising impact on schools’ budgets. 

A SEND and Inclusion Resources Board has been established. It brings together 
colleagues from the council’s Education Services, SEND and Inclusion, 
Commissioning and Finance and gives cross council oversight on resources for 
SEND and Inclusion, including HNB spending and related council budgets.  This 
board now has oversight of the High Needs Block Sustainability Plan.  

All areas of spending are being reviewed, making reductions in HNB spending 
where feasible, whilst also recognising the specific needs of individual children and 
young people, the overall volume of young people with SEND needs and the 
volatile and changing pattern of demand on different service areas.  

Transport budget for pupils to pupil referral unit 

One particular area of decision for Cabinet (July 2019) is the proposal for Home to 
Schools Transport costs for pupils attending Pupil Referral Units (PRU), currently 

charged to the HNB, to be charged to the CYPS Home to School Transport budget 

in 2019/20 and met from corporate contingencies in year. The estimated costs for 

2019/20 are £600,000. 
 
This proposed change in funding stream should not have an impact on children or 
their families. It will reduce pressures on the HNB but will add a pressure to the 
home to school transport budget in children and young people’s services.   
 
Consultation update November 2019 

Public consultation took place from 17 July to 17 October 2019 and a full analysis 
of consultation has been undertaken as part of the report to Cabinet on 15 January 
2020. Consultation analysis has been used to inform this impact assessment. 

The consultation focussed on the following nine priority areas of the HNB 
sustainability plan: 

o Centrally managed services.  Centrally managed services include 
functions such as support for sensory needs and learning difficulties. 
It is proposed to continue with these services to ensure consistency 
and quality and to carry out extensive reviews to ensure value for 
money. 

o Special schools.  Ten special schools provide for children with the 
most complex needs. Some families are seeking places in the private 
independent sector (sometimes out of the county). It is proposed that 
the range of specialist places in Durham is extended so children can 
access services locally rather than attend out of area, high cost 
independent placements. It also proposed to reduce Social, 
Emotional and Mental Health (SEMH) places in line with placement 
trends.  

Page 689



 

  136 
 

o Joint commissioning of services: Integrated therapies.  
Propose to: 

• Pool resources from education, health and care to improve 
local access to speech, language, physio and occupational 
therapies. 

• Develop new ways of offering therapies locally. 

• Make best use of therapists. 
o Joint commissioning of services: Equipment, auxiliary aids and 

adaptations (EAAA). Plans to work on a consistent approach with 
updated guidance to support better use of funding. Proposed funding 
only to be used to purchase ‘specialist’ items.  

o Top up funding. Proposed to apply a ‘banding system’ to funding. 
o Targeted support funding. Specific conditions to be met, set via 

consultation with schools, to receive targeted funding support. 
o Post 16 funding. Proposed to roll out a fair pricing model and 

application criteria to all post 16 provision. 
o Financial support provided through local partnerships of 

schools. Council to continue to support schools and key providers to 
work in local partnerships. Funds will only be released on receipt of a 
clear business plan and agreement to monitoring of impact. 

o Pupil referral unit and alternative provision. Consultation sought 
views on reducing numbers on roll at the Woodlands Pupil Referral 
Unit. Proposed more resources for behaviour panels made available 
to help reduce the number of exclusions and increase swifter 
reintegration excluded pupils.  

 
Cabinet (15 January 2020) are being asked to agree proposals in accordance with 
consultation findings. 
 
Additional equality analysis 
 
Individual equality impact assessments may need to be developed (in addition to 
this overarching assessment) for specific action/proposals as the programme 
develops to ensure decision makers are fully aware of equality implications. 
 

 

Who are the main stakeholders? (e.g. general public, staff, members, specific 
clients/service users): 
 

Children, young people and young adults (0-25 year olds) with special educational 
needs and disabilities (SEND)  
Parents and carers of children and young people with SEND 
Schools, including the council’s 10 special schools, post 16 providers 
Council and education staff 
General public 
Partners – colleges, health services 
 

 

Page 690



 

  137 
 

Screening 

Is there any actual or potential negative or positive impact on the following 
protected characteristics? 
 

Protected Characteristic Negative Impact 
Indicate: Y = Yes, 
N = No, ? = unsure 
 

Positive Impact 
Indicate: Y = Yes, 
N = No, ? = unsure 
 

Age 
 

? ? 

Disability 
 

? ? 

Marriage and civil partnership  
 

N N 

Pregnancy and maternity 
 

? ? 

Race (ethnicity) 
 

? ? 

Religion or Belief 
 

N N 

Sex (gender) 
 

? ? 

Sexual orientation 
 

N N 

Transgender 
 

N N 

 

Please provide brief details of any potential to cause adverse impact. Record full 
details and analysis in the following section of this assessment. 
 

Areas of work include analysis of spend and use of resources to ensure value for 
money which should not necessarily negatively impact children and young people 
with SEND and their families/carers but will ease funding pressures and contribute 
towards longer term sustainability.  
 
Equality analysis for individual proposals (where necessary) will draw out specific 
impacts, including any potential negative impact, to ensure decision makers are 
fully aware of equality implications.  
 

 

How will this policy/proposal/practice promote our commitment to our legal 
responsibilities under the public sector equality duty to: 

• eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation,  

• advance equality of opportunity, and  

• foster good relations between people from different groups? 
 

Page 691



 

  138 
 

The sustainability plan aims to create more inclusive and targeted support to 
address need. For example, work is underway with Headteachers across the 
county to promote inclusive practice, making sure that young people have access 
to a curriculum that is appropriate to their aspirations and needs. This supports our 
public sector equality duty.  
 
Inclusive public consultation methods ensured that responses were heard from a 
wide range of stakeholders. Access considerations included an easy read version 
of consultation documentation. Focussed workshops were held, including specific 
sessions for children and young people to ensure key stakeholder voices were 
heard. An introductory video presented by the Head of Early Help, Inclusion and 
Vulnerable Children also aided accessibility.  
 

 

Evidence 

What evidence do you have to support your findings?  
Please outline your data sets and/or proposed evidence sources, highlight any 
gaps and say whether or not you propose to carry out consultation. Record greater 
detail and analysis in the following section of this assessment. 
 

This equality impact assessment has been updated in section two with top-
level consultation results with a relevance to equality however it should be 
read in conjunction with the consultation findings document published with 
Cabinet Papers (15 January 2020) which sets out detailed analysis of all 
consultation feedback.  
 
Key SEND data 

Durham Insight SEND data17: 
https://www.durhaminsight.info/jsna/starting-well/send/ 

• The school age population in County Durham is 75,000 

• 11,250 pupils in County Durham with SEN 

• 8,256 pupils have needs met through SEN support 

• 2,994 CYP have needs met through EHCP 

• 39% of young people with an EHCP are educated in a special school 

• Young people with SEND are more likely to be excluded from school 

• 55% of looked after children have a recognised SEND 

• 176 young people with SEND are in non-maintained provision 
 
Consultation: 

https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/21797/Consultation-on-support-for-SEND-and-
young-people-who-need-support-to-stay-in-education 

Consultation analysis shows that the majority strongly agree / agree with proposals 
apart from the ‘3 day’ provision in post 16 sector.  

                                         
17 https://www.durhaminsight.info/jsna/starting-well/send/ 
 

Page 692

https://www.durhaminsight.info/jsna/starting-well/send/
https://www.durhaminsight.info/jsna/starting-well/send/
https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/21797/Consultation-on-support-for-SEND-and-young-people-who-need-support-to-stay-in-education
https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/21797/Consultation-on-support-for-SEND-and-young-people-who-need-support-to-stay-in-education
https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/21797/Consultation-on-support-for-SEND-and-young-people-who-need-support-to-stay-in-education
https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/21797/Consultation-on-support-for-SEND-and-young-people-who-need-support-to-stay-in-education
https://www.durhaminsight.info/jsna/starting-well/send/
https://www.durhaminsight.info/jsna/starting-well/send/


 

  139 
 

 
Related Cabinet Reports: 

High needs block funding for SEND and inclusion support, 10 July 2019 
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s111225/SEND%20HNB%20V1.0.p

df 
 
SEND Strategy Refresh, Cabinet, 15 May 2019 
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=154&MId=11038&V
er=4 

Mainstream Primary and Secondary Funding Formula Funding 19-20 and transfer 
of the High Needs Block (HNB), Cabinet, 12 December 2018 
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=154&MId=10661&V
er=4 

 

Screening Summary 

On the basis of this screening is there: 
 

Confirm which refers 
(Y/N) 

Evidence of actual or potential impact on some/all of the 
protected characteristics which will proceed to full 
assessment? 
 

Yes  

No evidence of actual or potential impact on some/all of the 
protected characteristics? 
 

No 

 

Sign Off 

Lead officer sign off: 
Head of Early Help, Inclusion and Vulnerable Children 
 

Date: 
5 June 2019, Updated 
13 November 2019 

Service equality representative sign off: 
Equality and Diversity Team Leader 
 

Date: 
5 June 2019, Updated 
13 November 2019 

 

  

Page 693

https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s111225/SEND%20HNB%20V1.0.pdf
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s111225/SEND%20HNB%20V1.0.pdf
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s111225/SEND%20HNB%20V1.0.pdf
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s111225/SEND%20HNB%20V1.0.pdf
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=154&MId=11038&Ver=4
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=154&MId=11038&Ver=4
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=154&MId=11038&Ver=4
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=154&MId=11038&Ver=4
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=154&MId=10661&Ver=4
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=154&MId=10661&Ver=4
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=154&MId=10661&Ver=4
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=154&MId=10661&Ver=4


 

  140 
 

Section Two: Data analysis and assessment of impact 

Please provide details on impacts for people with different protected characteristics 

relevant to your screening findings. You need to decide if there is or likely to be a 

differential impact for some. Highlight the positives e.g. benefits for certain groups, 

advancing equality, as well as the negatives e.g. barriers for and/or exclusion of 

particular groups. Record the evidence you have used to support or explain your 

conclusions. Devise and record mitigating actions where necessary. 

Protected Characteristic: Age 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Record of evidence to support 
or explain your conclusions on 
impact. 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

The proposals will impact 
0-25 years old with SEND 
and their families, 
parents/carers. It is not 
anticipated that proposals 
will impact negatively on 
these groups as they are 
designed to ease funding 
pressures and contribute 
towards longer term 
sustainability. 
 
Proposals aim to create a 
more inclusive and 
targeted SEND education 
offer by addressing need 
yet ensuring value for 
money, linking funding to 
evidence of 
impact/improvement, 
extending the range of 
specialist places, 
improving staff training, 
joint commissioning to 
ensure consistency and 
value for money and 
reducing pupil exclusions. 
This should impact 
positively in terms of age 
(for children, young 
people with SEND and 
their parents or carers). 
 
Children and young 
people who have needs 
meet through an 

Of the 75,000 children and 
young people of school age in 
County Durham over 11,200 
pupils are identified as having 
SEN. 
 
8,256 pupils have needs met 
through SEN support. 
 
2,994 children and young 
people have complex needs met 
through EHCP, age groups: 
Under 5 years = 92 (3.1%) 
5-10 years = 937 (31.3%) 
11 to 15 years = 1,132 (37.8%) 
16 – 19 years = 710 (23.7%) 
20-25 years = 123 (4.1%) 
 
55% of looked after children 
have a recognised SEND 
(Source: Durham Insight)  
 
266 people responded to the 
questionnaire, the majority 
(91%) of which were female and 
aged between 35 and 54 years 
(74%) and of white British origin 
(96%). 
 
Most respondents (59.4%) were 
parents or carers of a child or 
young person with SEND. 
 
Survey respondents who are a 
parent or carer of a child or 

Based on 
consultation 
findings, Cabinet 
recommended to 
agree to all 
proposals apart 
from the ‘3 day’ 
post 16 proposal. 
 
The proposal for a 
typical offer of ‘3 
day’ provision for 
Post 16 should not 
progressed and 
further options be 
explored. 
 
Individual equality 
impact 
assessments to be 
carried out for 
specific projects 
where necessary 
(to include impact 
on staff where 
relevant).  
 

Page 694



 

  141 
 

education, health and 
care plan (EHCP) range 
from 0 to 25 years, with 
higher proportions being 
within the 5 to 15 years 
age groups and will 
experience the greatest 
impact of proposals. 
 
Survey respondents who 
are a parent or carer of a 
child or young person with 
SEND predominately fall 
into the 26 to 54-year-old 
category which is likely to 
be reflective of the age 
group of parents/carers 
impacted. 
 
Consultation analysis 
shows that the majority 
strongly agree/agree with 
proposals apart from the 
‘3 day’ provision in post 
16 sector. Based on 
consultation findings, 
Cabinet are requested to 
agree to all proposals 
apart from the ‘3 day’ post 
16 proposal. 
 
There are potential 
impacts on staff 
(potentially more likely to 
impact certain age 
groups) which may 
become evident as 
proposals develop which 
will be covered by 
individual impact 
assessments where 
necessary. 
 
 

young person with SEND stated 
their age as: 
Under 25: 2.1% 
26-34: 22.4% 
35-44: 44.2% 
45-54: 27.2% 
55-64: 3.4% 
65-74: 0.7% 
 
The age of the child or young 
person parents/carers who 
responded to the survey were 
looking after: 
Under 5: 7.3% 
5-10: 49.3% 
11-15: 32.7% 
16-19: 10% 
20-25: 0.7% 
 
Focussed workshops for various 
stakeholders including specific 
sessions for children and young 
people were held. 
 
Young people with SEND 
emphasised the importance of 
having their needs understood 
and met within school and for 
better understanding of 
behaviours and needs amongst 
teachers, parents and students. 
 
Consultation analysis shows 
that the majority strongly agree / 
agree with proposals apart from 
the ‘3 day’ provision in post 16 
sector.  
 
Regarding the proposal of a 
typical offer of 3 days for a 
period of 2 years in the post-16 
sector respondents overall did 
not agree with this as it was 
thought to be restricting and 
support should be based on a 
young person’s needs. Some 
thought this offer of 3 days was 
discriminatory. 
 

Page 695



 

  142 
 

See below (disability) for 
summary of consultation 
responses with relevance to 
equality.  
 

 

Protected Characteristic: Disability 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

The proposals will impact 
0-25 years old with SEND 
and their families, 
parents/carers. It is not 
anticipated that proposals 
will impact negatively on 
these groups as they are 
designed to ease funding 
pressures and contribute 
towards longer term 
sustainability. 
 
Proposals aim to create a 
more inclusive and 
targeted SEND education 
offer by addressing need 
yet ensuring value for 
money, linking funding to 
evidence of 
impact/improvement, 
extending the range of 
specialist places, 
improving staff training, 
joint commissioning to 
ensure consistency and 
value for money and 
reducing pupil exclusions. 
This should impact 
positively in terms of 
disability. 
 
There is overall support 
for the council’s beliefs 
and commitments (apart 
from ‘3 day’ proposal for 
post 16).  
 

Of the 75,000 children and 
young people of school age in 
County Durham over 11,200 
pupils are identified as having 
SEN. 
 
2,994 children and young people 
in Durham have complex needs 
met through an education, 
health and care plan (EHCP).  
 
Children and young people with 
SEND are disproportionately 
represented in exclusion and are 
more likely to be NEET (not in 
education, employment or 
training). 
 
The county has 10 special 
schools with 39% of young 
people with an EHCP, educated 
in a special school.  
(Source: Durham Insight)  
 
Just over a quarter of 
questionnaire respondents 
(26.7%) represented schools, 
including headteacher or 
providers, teachers and 
governors. Over half of these 
responses represented primary 
schools (55%), followed by 
special schools (18%), pre-
schools (10%), secondary 
schools (10%) and post 16 
providers (5.9%). 
 
15% of survey respondents who 
are a parent or carer of a child or 

As above 
 
Consideration to 
suggestions raised 
via consultation 
such as use of 
‘equipment’ 
libraries to share 
less specialist 
equipment and use 
of charity sector. 
 
Updated guidance 
to be produced to 
help people 
understand top up 
system and ensure 
support is based 
on need. 

Page 696



 

  143 
 

young person with SEND 
considered themselves to be a 
disabled person which is similar 
to disability levels within the 
general population for working 
age groups. 
 
Access considerations included 
an easy read version of the 
consultation documentation. 
 
Consultation analysis shows that 
the majority strongly agree / 
agree with proposals apart from 
the ‘3 day’ provision in post 16 
sector.  
 
Many consultation respondents 
cited the importance of an 
inclusive education system that 
allows children to be educated 
locally, caters for their needs in 
school, parents have confidence 
in, promotes collaborative 
working between professionals, 
provides training and 
opportunities for early 
intervention, and, ensures value 
for money assessed through 
evidence of need and impact.  
 
In terms of impact, qualitative 
consultation responses included: 

• Underfunding will have a 
negative impact on 
services 

• More support is needed 
for children with mental 
health needs 

• The county’s 10 special 
schools should remain 

• More collaborative 
working between 
professionals is positive 

• Support should be offered 
close to home 

• Joint commissioning is a 
positive change 

• Link with charities for 
specialised equipment 

Page 697



 

  144 
 

• Make access to 
specialised equipment 
easy 

• Work with parents to 
select specialised 
equipment 

• A banding system for top 
up finding would keep 
support consistent 

• Improved accountability 
for financial support 
through partnerships is 
positive 

• Early support from 
behaviour panels is 
essential 

 
In terms of further suggestions, 
where respondents disagreed 
with proposals, comments 
included: 

• Council should apply for 
more money from central 
government 

• Better/more training for 
staff, volunteers and 
parents 

• Additional support staff, 
including volunteers, 
needed 

• Better communication 
between parents, carers, 
schools and professionals 

• Cuts should be made 
elsewhere 

• Services need to be 
accessible 

• Funding should always be 
based on child’s/young 
person’s needs 

• Consideration of pupil 
reintegration should be on 
a case by case basis 

 

 

  

Page 698



 

  145 
 

Protected Characteristic: Marriage and civil partnership  

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

N/A 
 

  

 

Protected Characteristic: Pregnancy and maternity 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

No disproportionate 
impact is anticipated. 
 

No data is available for this 
protected characteristic. 

 

 

Protected Characteristic: Race (ethnicity) 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

No adverse impact is 
anticipated in terms of 
race. 
 
 
 
 
 

3.7% of survey responses who 
are a parent or carer of a child or 
young person with SEND stated 
their ethnicity as BAME. 
 
Ethnic disproportionality in the 
identification of special 
educational needs (SEN) in 
England18 demonstrates that 
4.5% of Durham’s SEN pupils 
are from a BAME background 
which is disproportionately 
higher than the County’s BAME 
population of 1.8% (Census 
2011). However, the BAME 
population for younger age 
groups is higher when compared 
to the overall population of the 
county. 
 

As above 

 

Protected Characteristic: Religion or belief 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

                                         
18 http://www.education.ox.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/Durham-LA-pack.pdf 
 

Page 699

http://www.education.ox.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/Durham-LA-pack.pdf
http://www.education.ox.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/Durham-LA-pack.pdf


 

  146 
 

No disproportionate 
impact is anticipated. 
 
 
 
 

Survey respondents who are a 
parent or carer of a child or 
young person with SEND stated 
their religion as: 
Christian 57.4% 
Other religion than Christian 
2.2% 
None 40.4% 
 

 

 

Protected Characteristic: Sex 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

The proposals will impact 0-
25 years old with SEND and 
their families, parents/carers. 
It is not anticipated that 
proposals will impact 
negatively on these groups 
as they are designed to ease 
funding pressures and 
contribute towards longer 
term sustainability.  
 
Proposals aim to create a 
more inclusive and targeted 
SEND education offer by 
addressing need yet 
ensuring value for money, 
linking funding to evidence of 
impact/improvement, 
extending the range of 
specialist places, improving 
staff training, joint 
commissioning to ensure 
consistency and value for 
money and reducing pupil 
exclusions. This should 
impact positively in terms of 
sex as evidence suggest that 
the majority of parents or 
carers are likely to be 
female. 
 
There are significantly more 
males (74%) with an ECHP, 
therefore proposals will have 
a disproportionate impact for 

74% of children and young 
people who have their needs 
meet through an ECHP are 
male. 
 
91.1% of survey respondents 
who are a parent or carer of a 
child or young person with 
SEND stated they were 
female. 
 
Women are more likely to 
undertake primary care 
responsibilities. 
 

As above 

Page 700



 

  147 
 

males although negative 
impact is not anticipated. 
 
Survey respondents who are 
a parent or carer of a child or 
young person with SEND are 
predominately female (over 
90%). This is likely to be 
reflective of evidence that 
women are more likely to 
undertake care 
responsibilities and will 
therefore be 
disproportionately impacted 
by proposals, although 
negative impact is not 
anticipated. 
 
There are potential impacts 
on staff (potentially more 
likely to impact women) 
which may become evident 
as proposals develop which 
will be covered by individual 
impact assessments where 
necessary. 
 

 

Protected Characteristic: Sexual orientation 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

No disproportionate impact 
is anticipated. 
 
 
 
 

97.8% of survey respondents 
who are a parent or carer of a 
child or young person with 
SEND stated they were 
heterosexual. With 2.2% 
stating they were bisexual. 
 

 

 

Protected Characteristic: Transgender 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

No disproportionate impact 
is anticipated. 
 
 

Data not collected from 
consultation respondents.  

 

Page 701



 

  148 
 

Section Three: Conclusion and Review 

Summary 

Please provide a brief summary of your findings stating the main impacts, both 
positive and negative, across the protected characteristics. 
 

As the nine priority areas of the HNB sustainability programme affect 0-25 years 
old with SEND and their families, parents and carers there is potential impact for 
the protected characteristics of age, disability, sex and ethnicity. There is 
disproportionate impact in relation to sex (both male and female) and ethnicity. 
Significantly more males have an ECHP (74%). In terms of impact on women, 
evidence suggests they are more likely to have caring responsibilities for children 
and young people. Ethnicity data shows there is potential disproportionately in 
terms of ethnic minorities with special education needs (SEN). 
 
Proposals to address priorities are designed to ease funding pressures and 
contribute towards longer term sustainability for SEND education. Negative impact 
is therefore not anticipated, as proposals aim to create a more inclusive and 
targeted SEND education offer by addressing need yet ensuring value for money 
through ensuring consistency and quality of centrally managed services, linking 
funding to evidence of impact, extending the range of specialist places, improving 
staff training, joint commissioning to ensure consistency and value for money and 
reducing pupil exclusions. This should impact positively in terms of disability, age 
(children, young people with SEND and their parents or carers), sex and ethnicity.  
 
Inclusive public consultation methods ensured that responses were heard from a 
wide range of stakeholders including easy read versions of documentation and 
specific focus groups for children and young people. Equality monitoring of 
consultation respondents evidences a broad consultation reach. Consultation 
analysis shows that the majority strongly agree/agree with proposals apart from 
the ‘3 day’ provision in post 16 sector, which it is proposed not to progress.  
 
Individual equality impact assessments will be carried out for specific projects 
where necessary, which will include analysis of impact on staff where relevant. 

 

Will this promote positive relationships between different communities? If so how? 

Proposals aim to create a more inclusive education offer which should lead to 
better integrated communities and an inclusive society. 
 

 

Action Plan 

Action Responsibility Timescales for 
implementation 

In which plan will 
the action appear? 

Individual equality impact 
assessments to be carried 

SIRB As programme 
develops 

SEND and 
inclusion 

Page 702



 

  149 
 

out for specific projects 
where necessary (to 
include impact on staff 
where relevant). 
 

resources board 
(SIRB) 

    

 

Review 

Are there any additional assessments that need to be 
undertaken? (Y/N) 

Yes, for individual 
proposals/projects 
where necessary 

When will this assessment be reviewed? 
Please also insert this date at the front of the template 

January 2020 

 

Sign Off 

Lead officer sign off: Martyn Stenton, Early Help, 
Inclusion and Vulnerable Children 

Date: 18 November 
2019 

Service equality representative sign off: Mary 
Gallagher, Equality and Diversity Team Leader 
 

Date: 18 November 
2019 

 

Please return the completed form to your service equality representative and forward 

a copy to equalities@durham.gov.uk 

 

  

Page 703

mailto:equalities@durham.gov.uk
mailto:equalities@durham.gov.uk


 

  150 
 

Approvals trail:  to be removed before Cabinet/Committee 
 

Name Title Response / 

approval 

date 

Contributors:   

Karin Laybourne Team Leader, Senior Project Manager, 

Transformation Team, Resources 

15.11.19 

Kamila Coulson Patel Solicitor – Governance, Legal and 

Democratic Services 

15.11.19 

Mary Gallagher Equality & Diversity Team Leader, 

Resources 

18.11.19 

David Watchman Principal Accountant, CYPS Finance, 

Resources 

18.11.19 

Mara Thompson Consultation & Prevention Officer, 

Resources  

08.11.19 

Approvers:   

Martyn Stenton Head of Early Help, Inclusion and 

Vulnerable Children 

08.11.19 

Paul Shadforth Strategic Manager – SEND Strategy, 

Assessment and Provision, CYPS 

13.11.19 

Su Jordan  Strategic Manager PPMO, Transformation 

Team, Resources 

14.11.19 

Paul Darby Head of Finance and Transactional 

Services, Resources 

18.11.19 

Resources Management Team  19.11.19 

Helen Lynch, Head of Legal and Democratic Services 21.11.19 

CYPS Finance Board 21.11.19 

SEND and Inclusion Board 09.12.19 

Corporate Management Team  11.12.19 

Page 704



 

  151 
 

Appendix 5: Key Projects / Areas of Review Work 

 

Centrally Managed Services   

What is it? 

The Education and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA)  makes an allocation to 
local authorities for high needs as part of the dedicated schools grant (DSG). 
The high needs block isn’t separately ring-fenced within a local authority’s 
DSG. This means that local authorities can decide to spend more or less of 
the total funding than they have been allocated for high needs, although there 
are restrictions on how much funding can be moved from the schools and 
early years funding blocks that may limit how much local authorities can add to 
their high needs budget. 

Local authorities decide how much to set aside in their high needs budget for 
the place and top-up funding given to institutions. For some institutions, such 
as academies and FE institutions, place funding is included in local authorities’ 
initial DSG allocation and then deducted by ESFA so that it can pay the 
funding direct. 

Local authorities also use their high needs budget to pay for central services 
relating to SEND and alternative provision, as permitted by the regulations. 

In Durham, Centrally Managed Services includes a range of functions 
including support to nursery pupils with SEND, equalities and intervention 
team, sensory and learning difficulties, support provided through behaviour 
panels, educational support to looked after children, Pupil Referral Unit 
transport costs and several SEND management and support posts.   

How much do we spend, what is the recent trend and forecast?  

In 2018/19 spending on Centrally Managed Services accounted for              
£8.2 million, or 15%, of the total £54.4 million spend on high needs in Durham. 
In recent years total spending on this area has been below budget and this 
has assisted in restricting the over spend position on high needs.  

What does this mean and how do we compare with other areas?  

This is a difficult area to provide comparisons for as local authorities use 
different models for delivering services and, for example, some deliver more 
services centrally whereas some authorities deliver less or none. 

 

Page 705



 

  152 
 

What is being proposed and when?  

The estimated spend in 2019/20 is £7.955 million, a reduction of £0.257 million 
on 2018/19. This is largely as a result of a reduction in recharges for 
management and support services of £0.218 million following an initial review 
(representing a reduction in these areas of 15%). A more extensive review of 
all internal recharges is also under way, this complements service review work 
and audit work which is taking place. 

What is the expected impact of this? 

The initial work which has taken place has sought to make reductions in spend 

which can be accommodated without impacting on direct spend on services for 

children and young people with SEND being funded from the HNB.   

Several areas of spend from Centrally Managed Services are subject to more 

focused pieces of work, this includes support to behaviour panels and support 

for early year pupils with SEND.   

Update on Progress 

Recent work has focussed on examining the recharges that are made to the 

High Needs Block (HNB) of the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) by the Council 

in respect of management, business support and central support services.  

While, benchmarking undertaken with other local authorities in the region has 

indicated that Durham County Council’s current recharging level is in line with 

that of other authorities, the costs of management and support services 

provided by the Council in support of HNB activity is significantly in excess of 

the current level of financial recharge. 

Further work is scheduled to examine the recharges associated with front-line 

delivery. Work has also commenced to review the provision of support for early 

years pupils with SEND.  

Feedback from the Consultation 

Most respondents agreed with the proposals for continuing to provide Centrally 
Managed Services and conducting extensive reviews to ensure value for 
money and a reduction in costs. Many respondents perceived Centrally 
Managed Services to be meeting the broadening needs of children and young 
people, while some mentioned the difficulty in accessing services, which were 
perceived by some to signal capacity issues. Some respondents suggested 
that these services should be targeting those with the acute needs. 
Respondents overall agreed that Centrally Managed Services should be 

Page 706



 

  153 
 

closely managed, monitored and quality controlled to ensure continuous 
improvement and efficiency savings are achieved wherever possible. 

Recommended Next Steps  

It is recommended that the proposals for continuing to provide Centrally 
Managed Services and conducting extensive service reviews are implemented.  

 

Special Schools 

What is it? 

Special schools provide specialist teaching and support for children and young 

people with the most complex special educational needs.  County Durham has 

a range of special schools providing a range of specialist provision. 

Name Type Age Phase 
2018/19 Place 

numbers 

Croft Generic 4 to 16 130 

Villa Real Generic 2 to 19 81 

Hope Wood Academy Generic 2 to 16* 190 

Durham Trinity Generic 2 to 16* 198 

The Oaks Secondary Generic 11 to 16* 219 

Evergreen Generic 2 to 11 180 

The Meadows SEMH 11 to 16 72 

Elemore Hall SEMH 11 to 16 86 

Walworth SEMH 4 to 11 90 

Windlestone SEMH 11 to 16 110 

Description of Type       

Generic 

Moderate Learning Difficulties (MLD), Severe 
Learning Difficulties (SLD), Autistic Spectrum 
Condition (ASC), Profound and Multiple Learning 
Difficulties (PMLD) and Conductive Education 
(teaching of Children with physical and multiple 
disabilities such as Cerebral Palsy and Spina 
Bifida) 

SEMH Social Emotional and Mental Health 

 * also offers 6th Form Provision  

 

Page 707



 

  154 
 

Special School Funding accounts for £24 million of the High Needs Funding 

Block. The investment provides County Durham with a broad offer of specialist 

provision. Special schools are primarily funded within Durham via a banded 

payment per place available. Each school is funded on a predetermined range 

of placements over a range of bands - each band attracting differing levels of 

funding: 

Annual banding funding available to special schools (pre-16) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The amounts assigned to banding for each SEND primary need has remained 

unchanged over the last 3 years, other than the amount assigned to SEMH 

which has increased from £17,350 to £19,900 in 2017/18.   

In addition, further Top-up and Targeted Funding may be granted to help the 

school accommodate young people whose needs are not met within the usual 

banding structure. 

In addition to Specialist School Placement in maintained Special School 

Provision, there are several young people who are unable to have their needs 

met in County Durham Specialist Schools due to a lack of offer or capacity 

and are consequently educated in private independent provision, some of 

which is out of County Durham Boundaries. These are covered through a 

separate HNB budget strand. 

Funding Band Unit Rate 

Conductive Education  £47,000 

Special School Band ASC £16,000 

Special School Band ASC Disc £19,900 

Special School Band ASC W/cb £19,900 

Special School Band MLD £10,000 

Special School Band MLD W/cb £13,900 

Special School Band PACC £24,497 

Special School Band PMLD £22,500 

Special School Band SEMH £19,900 

Special School Band SLD £12,000 

Special School Band SLD W/cb £15,900 

How much do we spend, what is the recent trend and forecast?  

Spend in 2018/19 and forecast spend in 2019/20 on core funding for special 

school placements from the HNB is around £24 million per annum. 

Page 708



 

  155 
 

For generic special school places year to year data is not comparable due to 

varying factors such as pupil banding changes. As these young people have 

been determined to require specialist placement, the alternative for many 

would be private independent provision with an average cost of £42,000 which 

is more than double the cost of the highest band of maintained provision 

(other than Conductive Education which is more specialist and low in pupil 

number). 

The impact on the HNB of the SEMH Special School placement is less 

complex. There are 2 bands: SEMH £19,900 and Personalised Alternative 

Curriculum Centre (PACC) £24,497. At the end of February 2019 there were: 

• 308 SEMH places and 286 students, leaving 22 vacant places 

• 40 PACC places and 25.5 students, leaving 15.5 vacant places 

• Based on the figures provided the sector had capacity for 37 places 

 

What does this mean and how do we compare with other areas?  

In December 2017, Durham County Council and the National Development 

Team for Inclusion (NDTi) reported on high needs provision made for children 

and young people with special educational needs or disabilities. The High 

Needs Review reported that Durham has an above average number of 

children and young people placed in special schools, including approximately 

100 placed outside of the county. The national average number of children 

placed in special schools was 1.07% (range 0.22%-2.06%) and for Durham it 

was 1.50% making it the 12th highest in England out of 152 authorities. 

There are significant regional differences in the figures. The North East region 

has a higher than average number of children placed in special schools, 

whereas Yorkshire and Humber, London, East of England and the South West 

have lower than average.  

In attempting to benchmark spending, regional and national comparisons on 

data are not considered to be reliable. Regional benchmarking information on 

special school banding showed different methods of resourcing schools in 

each local authority for e.g. a low banding supplemented by a high level of top 

up funding compared to higher banding rates and low levels of top up funding.  

We are working with regional colleagues to seek to establish meaningful 

comparison data.  

A series of discussions with Special School head teachers took place in April 

2019. During these discussions, accumulated reserve balances in the sector 

were explored. Reserves across the sector have remained consistently higher 

Page 709



 

  156 
 

than other schools, and at 31 March 2019 were 8% of gross expenditure for 

the 2018-19 financial year. 

Generic special schools report to using their high levels of reserves to set their 

budget whilst the Local Authority determines what their final settlement will be.  

SEMH schools’ reserves have increased annually over the last 3-year period.  

This is linked with surplus places in the sector.  

What is being proposed and when?  

The High Needs Review showed that compared with many other local 

authorities, Durham has a relatively extensive range of specialist provision. 

The review went on to acknowledge the popularity of specialist provision and 

the gaps in provision that lead to higher cost private independent provision. 

It is proposed to build on the High Needs Review through consultation 

between July 2019 and the end of September 2019 on the type and number of 

places available in our Special Schools, taking all opportunities to ensure that 

all places are appropriately filled and that the offer is in line with the needs of 

County Durham Children. The consultation will include the leadership teams of 

Special Schools, SEND and Inclusion Casework Teams, children and families 

of young people in specialist placement including the private independent 

sector. A specific focus will be provided to SEMH and Generic provisions.   

What is the expected impact of this? 

The consultation will seek to ensure that the resourcing of special schools 

particularly for SEMH placement is aligned to needs providing an improved 

offer for placements within County Durham. 

The expected impact of the consultation is: 

An enhanced offer from within the SEMH sector reducing out of area 

placement generating savings through the reduction of high cost independent 

placement 

And / or 

A reduction in SEMH places in line with the average uptake taken over the last 

3 years. There will be no impact on the children and young people in the 

provision as the places under review are vacant. This would release funding to 

support other pressures in the HNB.   

 

Page 710

https://search3.openobjects.com/mediamanager/durham/fsd/files/a_review_of_high_needs_provision_for_children_and_young_people_with_send_in_county_durham.pdf
https://search3.openobjects.com/mediamanager/durham/fsd/files/a_review_of_high_needs_provision_for_children_and_young_people_with_send_in_county_durham.pdf


 

  157 
 

Update on Progress 

Draft objectives / outcomes have been identified for the project. Improvements 

are required to: 

a) Ensure the correct range of school specialist provision is available to 

meet the needs of children and young people 

b) Reduce the requirement for provision in private out of county 

placements 

c) Ensure that a child/young person’s needs are met as close as possible 

to their home 

Recent progress made includes:  

• Work undertaken to reconciliate all Special School Placement records 

• Recruitment to a new Pupil Place Planning Officer  

• Analysis of all private independent placements has been undertaken 

• Potential new models of delivering specialist provision throughout 

County Durham has been explored 

Next steps for this project include:  

a) Development of a Specialist Placement Specification (April 2020) 

b) Engagement with the sector to align provision to need (Sept 2020) 

Feedback from the Consultation 

Most respondents were in favour of the proposed changes to special schools, 
to include increasing provision to meet children’s needs locally in special 
schools. Some respondents noted a lack of options offered for primary children 
in special schools. Opportunities to increase provision and upskill staff in 
SEMH in mainstream schools was noted, while maintaining special schools’ 
provision was also felt to be important. Overall there is support for provision 
that is close to home and for providing a high-quality alternative to costly out of 
county service provision. Parents and carers felt strongly that more specialist 
provision in mainstream schools would help ensure children remain within their 
community to be closer to home and to their peers. Young people with SEND 
suggested that schools that are somewhere between mainstream and special 
education should be provided.  

Concerns were raised through the consultation by special schools 
headteachers over children receiving EHCPs while attending the PRU, 
suggesting that special education was being used as a ‘stop gap’. Other issues 
raised included a lag in funding/budget setting with the Council, which is 
affecting the schools’ ability to provide for children. It was suggested that 

Page 711



 

  158 
 

consideration be given to funding schools at a base rate to provide assurance 
of staffing levels. 

Recommended Next Steps  

It is recommended that the Council continues to work with headteachers of 
special schools to extend the range of specialist places offered in County 
Durham so that children can access services locally. This should enhance the 
offer provided by special schools to ensure that there is the capacity to meet 
current and future needs of children and young people with SEND. As part of 
this review, focus should be given addressing the funding lag / budget setting 
issues, and the reported issue of EHCPs being issued for children attending 
the PRU.  

The need for training and investment in mainstream schools was also 
highlighted, and investigation into the possibility of special schools providing 
training and advice to mainstream schools should also be considered. In 
addition, consideration should be given to enhanced provision in local schools.  

 

Joint Commissioning of Services – integrated therapies 

What is it? 

Historically, there have been a broad range of organisations involved in 
commissioning speech and language therapy (SaLT), occupational therapy 
(OT) and physiotherapy such as Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs), local 
authorities, NHS England, schools and colleges.   

In County Durham the three Children’s Therapy Services; physiotherapy, 
occupational therapy and speech and language therapy (SaLT) were procured 
in 2012/13 and commissioned by the former Primary Care Trust (PCT) in 
County Durham and Darlington. Two providers were commissioned, County 
Durham and Darlington NHS FT to provide Physiotherapy and OT and North 
Tees and Hartlepool NHS Foundation Trust to provide SaLT. 

Over the past 18 months, work has been ongoing with the Children’s Therapy 
Services to understand what the current provision is, address and explore 
contractual concerns/issues which have arisen and engage with children, 
young people and their families regarding their experiences of accessing and 
using the services. In this time, there have been several key pieces of work 
which have taken place to inform the review of all three children’s therapy 
services. 

 

Page 712



 

  159 
 

How much do we spend, what is the recent trend and forecast?  

There isn’t any direct spending on these commissioned services from the High 
Needs Block, however, it does inform the type of placement young people 
receive and some young people go out of mainstream or special schools in 
Durham to have their needs met with integrated therapies which adds costs to 
the HNB as well as additional transport costs.   

What does this mean and how do we compare with other areas?  

There has been some benchmarking undertaken in order to understand how 
much neighbouring CCG’s were paying. This will assist in informing the 
service specification and resources available for the future new commissioning 
arrangements. 

What is being proposed and when?  

(a) It is now being proposed to jointly commission all of these children’s therapies.  

This will require the CCGs and the local authority to jointly commission 
children’s therapies across County Durham and Darlington. It will extend the 
scope to focus on prevention, early intervention and a multi-disciplinary team 
approach. Some families are currently seeking education out of the area to 
access integrated therapies which not only meets their health needs but also 
their educational needs. If the services were jointly commissioned this would 
clearly define the health and education offer and the assessment and ongoing 
treatment of children in local schools. 

Work will commence in June 2020 to develop the new service. Families have 
been engaged to date in relation to providing their views on existing services. 
The work will build on this by working in co-production to produce new 
services as part of the re-commission. The design will also ensure close 
working with schools to understand needs and aspirations of the new service 
for integration and joint commissioning with schools. 

What is the expected impact of this? 

Currently some tribunals are lost, and some children are going out of the area 

to meet their needs as we are not always able to provide an integrated health 

and education offer for children. 

This model will improve a health and education offer for all children with a 

need for therapy whether statutory or otherwise. This may need a phased 

approach dependant on resource and capacity within the organisations 

involved. 

Page 713



 

  160 
 

Update on Progress 

Work has been undertaken to engage with families to obtain their views on 

existing services. Work commenced in June 2019 to co-produce with children 

and young people with SEND, their parents/carers and schools, a new service 

model for recommission.  

Feedback from the Consultation 

Most respondents agreed with the proposals to jointly commission children’s 

therapies across County Durham and Darlington, through the Council working 

with schools and CCG’s. Respondents were very positive about the proposed 

changes citing benefits to include the speeding up of service provision, 

improved access to services and a focus on understanding the child’s needs. 

Recommended Next Steps  

It is recommended that the proposals for joint commissioning of integrated 

therapy services are implemented. 

 

Joint Commissioning of Services – Equipment, Auxiliary Aids and 

Adaptations (EAAA) 

What is it? 

Schools and education authorities have had a duty to provide reasonable 

adjustments for disabled pupils since 2002: originally, under the Disability 

Discrimination Act 1995 (the DDA 1995); and, from October 2010, under the 

Equality Act 2010. From 1 September 2012, the reasonable adjustments duty 

for schools and education authorities also includes a duty to provide auxiliary 

aids and services for disabled pupils. 

What does this mean and how do we compare with other areas? 

The current arrangements for the provision of equipment, auxiliary aids and 
adaptations to support educational outcomes in Durham is complex and 
regularly requires input from colleagues in educational settings, health provider 
trusts and DCC Education officers.    
 

What is being proposed and when? 

One of the recommendations from this review has been to implement a 
consistent approach by schools in the inclusion of auxiliary aids, equipment 
and adaptations as part of costed provision maps and the holistic needs of the 

Page 714



 

  161 
 

child/young person prior to the application of any additional funding from the 
high needs block. A revision of the existing guidance is required to ensure 
consistent approach and implementation. 
 
Further work is underway to streamline processes for the identification, 
assessment and purchasing of auxiliary aids, equipment and adaptions for 
children and young people which will make best use of resources and achieve 
value for money. 
 

What is the expected impact of this? 

• Children and young people are correctly identified, and families are 
clear on the process. 

• There is appropriate identification of needs across all agencies in line 
with Education, Health and Care Planning processes. 

• There is a streamlined assessment process that considers the needs for 
EAAA for children and young people across their education, health and 
care needs. 

• A multi-agency approach is used for the approval of assessments, 
EAAA and funding splits by each partner. 

• A procurement solution is in place which will achieve high quality EAAA 
and demonstrate value for money. 

• Appropriate safe insurance arrangements in place across all EAAA 

• Consistent multi-agency monitoring and reviewing processes. 

• Effective and efficient storage and re-use of EAAA. 

• Effective transition process agreed by all partners. 
 

Update on Progress 

A strategic review across all equipment, auxiliary aids and adaptations has 
been conducted which considered: 

• Views of parent/ carers and children/young people in relation to the 
current arrangements.   

 

• How children and young people are identified and assessed.   
 

• Who approves and funds items, how these are procured, monitored 
and reviewed and transition arrangements. 

Recommendations stemming from this review include implementing a 
consistent approach by schools to plan holistic provision against Education, 
Health and Care needs. 

Page 715



 

  162 
 

Feedback from the Consultation 

Most respondents agreed to the proposals that additional funding is used to 
purchase specialist equipment (not normally available in school or other 
educational setting) to support children with significant needs; and that a new 
system is developed for storing and reusing equipment. Respondents felt that 
the proposals would: improve ease of access to equipment; increase the reuse, 
maintenance, monitoring and management of equipment; and help realise 
budget savings. It was noted that a lot of equipment was being privately sought 
and paid for by schools presently. 

Recommended Next Steps  

It is recommended that the proposals for joint commissioning of equipment, 
auxiliary aids and adaptations are implemented and work continues to develop 
the proposals in collaboration with customers and stakeholders. It is 
recommended that consideration be given to the suggestions contained within 
the consultation feedback to include: the use of libraries to share equipment 
classed as less-specialist, linking with charities to help provide equipment, and 
working with parents and carers to help select equipment. 

 

  

Page 716



 

  163 
 

Top Up Funding and Targeted Funding Support  

What is it? 

Top up Funding (TuF) is the provision of HNB funding to schools when 

provision to meet an individual child or young person’s SEND needs would 

cost more than the school’s Core Funding budget.  In mainstream schools this 

is the first £6,000, in Enhanced Mainstream Provision this is the first £10,000 

and in specialist provision this is the banding that the pupil is placed under.    

TuF is provided as part of the Graduated Approach in place across Durham 

resourcing young people who have needs met through SEN support and those 

young people with an Education Health and Care Plan (EHCP). This 

graduated approach ensures that demand for statutory assessment is not 

driven by a need for resources and prevents unnecessary delay in making 

provision. 

To request TuF, schools provide evidence of additional need through an 

application process with criteria as follows:  

• The level of additional needs budget allocated to the school (LA may 

request further information on how a school is using this money, before a 

decision is made). 

• How the £6,000 has been used to provide additional and appropriate 

interventions. 

• Whether there are at least 3 good quality support plans demonstrating the 

graduated approach and the ‘Assess, Plan, Do, Review’ cycles. 

• How outcomes have been robustly evaluated, reviewed and adapted 

where needed. 

• How well the provision is reflected in the support timetable and costed 

provision map. 

• Whether the costed provision map demonstrates ‘eligible spend’. 

 

It is acknowledged that the Notional SEN budget awarded to a school is a finite 

resource and where a school has been able to accommodate more high cost 

SEN placements than would normally be anticipated of a school of its size / 

educational phase, then additional Targeted Support can be provided to 

support the school. 

The calculation of Targeted Support funding is a formula-based allocation that 

accounts for the schools SEN Budget, School Role, Educational Phase and the 

number of higher costs SEN pupils on roll at any time. 

Page 717



 

  164 
 

Targeted Support is a non-mandatory provision and its calculation is at the 

discretion of the local authority. If targeted support is adopted by a local 

authority then its application must be transparent, objective, consistent and fair. 

 

How much do we spend, what is the recent trend and forecast?  

 

Top-up 
Funding 

2017/18 Final 
Outturn  
£ million 

2018/19 Final 
Outturn  
£ million 

2019/20 
Forecast 
£ million 

Primary 4.264 5.376 5.599 

Secondary 0.805 1.086 1.121 

Special 2.209 1.050 1.680 

Total 7.278 7.512 8.400 
 

What does this mean and how do we compare with other areas?  

The Core Funding element of TuF is a nationally set criteria. The access to 

TuF beyond this is variable across the country. The variations include: 

• TuF determined only by a Statutory Assessment – The impact of this is a 

high level of demand on statutory assessment and increased numbers of 

young people in specialist provision. 

 

• Banded TuF, as with Special School bands TuF amounts are guided by 

bands set against age, type of SEND and type of school. This has 

provided schools and decision makers with clear guidance. 

 

• Capped TuF, this is where a Local Authority has determined to pay only a 

certain amount of money in TuF – This has driven a risk in tribunal cases 

due to not being in line with Equalities Legislation. 

  

Local comparison of TuF requests show that some schools are requesting 

highly variable sums to meeting similar needs. Some schools put several TuF 

requests in while others submit very few. Whilst quality and value assurance 

does provide an improved level of consistency it does not address the level of 

expectation in those requesting TuF.  

Page 718



 

  165 
 

Within Durham, Targeted Support Funding is driven by a formula which 

applies each time there is a request for additional top up funding or when 

there is a change of a school roll placement for a young person with SEND.  

The amount of targeted support a school receive can therefore change over 

the course of the year and feedback from a number of schools shows they do 

not understand the formula or how it works in detail. There are significant 

variations on how targeted funding works in other local authorities, including 

some using a formula and others making it a requirement to apply for 

‘exceptional funding’ if the characteristics of a cohort are causing additional 

burdens on school finances which cannot be sustained from core funding and 

Top up Funding requests.   

What is being proposed and when?  

Earlier in the year we wrote to all schools about TuF and advised that a 

revised quality and value assurance process was being introduced to TuF 

requests and indicated that a wider review of TuF would take place. 

It is now proposed to commence a consultation with schools on a new system 

for TuF and Targeted Funding Support. 

The preferred option that we would like to consult with schools on is the 

application of a banding system to guide Top up Funding requests. 

Through feedback from schools it is recognised that the current method of 

accessing TuF is variable and on occasions problematic, in addition it is 

acknowledged that it is also unsustainable within the resources 

available. Schools report a disparity in the allocations, specifically some 

schools accessing significant resource for provision that other schools consider 

as core to their offer. A banding system for TuF would assist in guiding schools 

to plan through a refreshed set of SEND planning tools (the existing tools can 

be found on the Local Offer under SEND Planning Tools). 

Through the consultation the Council have proposed to only provide Targeted 

Funding when a school applies for specific help. In addition, it is proposed that 

to receive funding, the school’s application will have to meet a set of conditions 

that would be set, in consultation with schools. 

It is proposed to make changes effective from April 2020 to give schools time 

to understand these changes and adjust their budgets accordingly.  

What is the expected impact of this? 

Schools are supported to meet children and young people’s Special 

Educational Needs within a sustainable TuF model through the consistent and 

Page 719



 

  166 
 

proportionate resourcing of needs. The new TuF model would be clearly 

communicated with additional clarity about the application process and 

timescales for requests and determinations.   

This will raise the confidence of schools to meet needs and the confidence of 

families that schools will be able to support their community with their peers. 

This would sit alongside other changes in commissioning arrangements for 

equipment, aids, adaptations and integrated therapies.   

Update on Progress 

TuF requests are continuing to rise in both number and financial value.  

Recent work undertaken includes the:  

• Implementation of a revised quality assurance process for TuF requests 

• Exploration of banding systems in place in Durham and other local 

authorities 

• Issue of revised guidance to special schools for accessing increased 

funding for provision; and 

• A series of focus groups have been held with parents of young people 

with SEND 

Next steps include working with schools and parents to develop a new TuF and 

Targeted Funding system for County Durham and identifying how best to work 

with and engage schools in this process.  

Feedback from the Consultation 

Top up Funding 

Most respondents agreed to the proposal to continue with Top up Funding to 
support children with special educational needs and disabilities. Some 
respondents emphasised the need for more training in schools, which could 
help to reduce the need to apply for Top up Funding. In addition, young people 
with SEND emphasised that having more trained staff in school and receiving 
support where and when it was needed was one of the most important 
priorities for them.  

A smaller majority of respondents agreed to the proposals for a banded 
system, many citing it should provide a clear, streamlined and fair approach, 
based on the child’s needs, while allowing for the impact of measures to be 
assessed. While there were some concerns around the potential for a reduced 
focus on a child’s individual needs, overall, it was felt that a banded system 
would help to ensure support is consistent and fair. Parents and carers 
responding to this consultation found it difficult to navigate the current system 

Page 720



 

  167 
 

and do not receive enough advice and information from schools on the funding 
and support available. Parents and carers strongly felt that better 
communications are needed between the parents, schools, and other 
professionals and expressed a request to be involved in the development of 
the new system.  

Targeted Funding 

A large majority of respondents agreed with the proposal to continue to support 
targeted funding. Most respondents also agreed that schools should be 
required to make an application for this funding, noting again that a clear, 
streamlined application process would have a positive impact for children. 
Some respondents raised concerns that the process would be complicated and 
could delay support. Others suggested that the system should be: developed in 
consultation with parents/carers and schools; be based on consultation and 
research; and funding should be biased towards primary schools to aid early 
intervention.  

Recommended Next Steps   

Top up Funding 

It is recommended that the proposal to apply a clear and consistent banding 
system to help schools plan how to meet the needs of children before seeking 
Top up Funding is implemented.  

In addition, it is recommended that updated guidance is provided to help 
people understand the new system and ensure appropriate support is provided 
based on the child’s needs. It is also recommended, that parents/carers and 
schools are consulted in the development of the new system and schools are 
encouraged to involve parents/carers in completing TuF applications for their 
child and reviewing the impact of funding on their child. Promotion of the TuF 
system amongst parents and carers should also be conducted with signposting 
to the refreshed SEND Parents Toolkit and other appropriate guidance taking 
place. 

Targeted Funding 

It is recommended that the proposal to develop a targeted funding application 
process based on criteria set in consultation with schools be developed and 
implemented based on best practice research and in collaboration with wider 
stakeholders.     

 

  

Page 721



 

  168 
 

Post 16 Funding Support  

What is it? 

Unlike schools, colleges are resourced for several high needs places as 

agreed by the Local Authority. A core budget is made up of 2 elements: 

element 1: based on 16 to 19 national funding formula and element 2: £6,000 

per agreed place. Colleges are also entitled to a third element as determined 

by the Local Authority which is post 16 Top up Funding (TuF). 

Post 16 TuF is slightly different to TuF as described for schools. Colleges will 

only access TuF for young people with an EHCP and will base their costs on 

the Year 11 review of a young person’s EHCP. 

How much do we spend, what is the recent trend and forecast?  

Post 16 provision is a rising burden on the HNB. This is in part the result of 

demand for places (a positive aspect of Durham provision) and an increased 

level of Top up Funding (TuF) requested by the sector since the SEND 

reforms were introduced.   

Post-16 2017/18 Final 
Outturn  
£ million 

2018/19 Final 
Outturn  
£ million 

2019/20 
Forecast 
£ million 

Post-16 3.935 4.195 6.969 

Total 3.935 4.195 6.969 

    
 

What does this mean and how do we compare with other areas?  

In previous reports about SEND a rise in young people accessing Post 16 

provision was outlined. The drivers behind this rise are improved accessibility 

and offer and a rise in age range from 19-25 years from the SEND Reforms 

(2014). This has created a new demand on the High Needs Block and is 

locally and now nationally described as an unintended consequence of the 

2014 SEND Reforms. The chart below illustrates this rise at a national level. 

Page 722



 

  169 
 

 

    

Following a detailed review of element 3 applications for 2019, it is evident 

that the increased costs are in part due to volume increases in the Post 16 

sector but also the variability in pricing in the Post 16 sector. This is part driven 

by individual child need but also a variation in the amounts each provider 

attributes to the same costs e.g. learning support assistant rates ranging from 

£15 per hour to £25 per hour. 

To address this the SEND and Inclusion Resource Board has proposed a fair 

pricing model to all Post 16 providers with Durham young people in provision.   

The proposed fair pricing model is outlined below: 

 
 
 
 

Page 723



 

  170 
 

Tutor  £46.50 p/h 

LSA  £17.75 p/h 

Personal Care £12 p/h (only used by Special Schools Sixth Forms for Welfare 
Assistants) 

Specialist Tutor  £55 p/h 

Reviews £55 p/h for up to 2 hours per year 
(based on discussions with FE providers) 

Misc Costs E.g. Tutor Planning, Job Carving, Travel Training; Access 
Arrangements. 

Other  staff costs Job Coach 
Work Experience Support 
  
(This needs to be discussed with each provider to understand 
which members of staff undertake this work and ensure that the 
rate of pay is commensurate).  
  

  

All 2018/19 applications have been quality assured, and value assured using 

the following criteria: 

 

• Fair pricing rates 

• Number of hours that the learner is doing (540 guided learning hours, 

approx. 3 days a week) 

• Details of the course/programme 

• Are calculations accurate 

• Rationale for support that the learner is receiving 

• Is the EHCP up to date with supporting evidence 

 

Where there is a variance in proposed costs to reviewed costs, providers have 

been requested to either bring 2018/19 costs in line with quality and value 

assurance criteria or to evidence why this year’s costs could not be altered.  

This has helped to reduce HNB costs from Post 16 support in 2018/19 and will 

have a full year impact in 2019/20. 

 

All Post 16 providers have welcomed the clarity provided by the fair pricing 

model with the main providers of Post 16 provision in County Durham 

agreeing to be early adopters of the model, the remaining providers will follow 

the model for all 2019/20 placements.   

 

What is being proposed and when?  

The High Needs Review gave recommendations for County Durham to 

develop pathways into adulthood covering employment, independent living, 

Page 724



 

  171 
 

friends, relationships and community and good health. This provides detail of 

what needs to happen at each stage of a young person’s journey from age 14 

to 25. Considerable progress has been made since the High Needs Review 

with Durham reporting in the Written Statement of Action 1 Year on report:  

• Supported Internship Forum established resulting in 27 new internships for 

young people with SEND 

• Tri-Work Young Persons’ Supported Work Experience for Schools Pilot 

introduced resulting in 125 young people gaining work experience 

• Reduction in young people with SEND who are not in education, 

employment or training reduced from 20.2% to 16.1% 

 

It is recognised that this approach needs to continue and increase in scale to 

match the rising demand in Post 16 placement. 

It is proposed that further consultation with the Post 16 sector, young people 

with SEND and their parents takes place to: 

• Implement the fair pricing model fully in 2019/20 and review HNB 

payments to all providers 

• Develop improved pathways into adulthood 

 

What is the expected impact of this? 

More young people are prepared for adulthood earlier, helping to increase 

their independence. 

• Increased supported internships 

• Increased employment 

• Increased independent living 

• More consistent costs and reduced TuF spend from HNB in the Post 16 

sector.  

Update on Progress 

Work has been undertaken to result in the following deliverables: 

• A fair pricing model is now in place across the sector – most providers are 

now adopting this model 

• A revised High Needs application form process has been developed 

• A new feedback format from the local authority to providers is now in place 

 

 

Page 725



 

  172 
 

Feedback from the Consultation 

Most respondents agreed that there should be a fair pricing model in place for 
Post 16 providers. Further clarification of this model was requested by some 
respondents, and it was noted that the model should allow decisions to be 
based on the young person’s needs. 

Meanwhile, most respondents disagreed with the proposal to support a three-
day per week provision for Post 16 education over two years.  Respondents 
raised concerns that the model would be restrictive. Some noted that “all pupils 
are entitled to a full-time education” and that this should be supported by clear 
pathways and assessments for progression. Respondents were concerned that 
the proposal could discriminate against children and young people with special 
educational needs and / or disabilities and it could be against the law. 

Recommended Next Steps  

It is recommended that information on the pricing model be shared with 
stakeholders as appropriate, and the proposal to roll out a fair pricing model to 
all Post 16 be implemented.   

It is recommended that the proposal for a typical offer of provision being three-
days per week over two years in the Post 16 sector should not be 
implemented, and other options are further explored.  

Upcoming actions are recommended to include: 

• Development of provider / local authority contracts  

• Development of a forecasting model to improve input from other resource 

holders  

 

Review of financial support provided through local partnerships of 
schools - Communities of Learning and Behaviour Panels 

What is it? 

Communities of Learning (COLs) have been established for some time in 
County Durham and bring together groups of schools at a locality level. There 
are 15 COLs within County Durham which represents the size of the county 
and number of schools and communities.   

Each COL has been allocated a budget from the HNB to assist in developing 
provision to meet the needs of children and young people with SEND.   

Page 726



 

  173 
 

In 2015, 4 secondary Behaviour Partnership Panels and a Primary Panel were 
set up to support the management of behaviour issues and support inclusion in 
mainstream education.   

The Panels have sought to develop a collaborative approach to supporting some 

of the most challenging and vulnerable students by working in partnership with 

one another, other services and alternative education providers. The work done 

seeks to enhance support to reduce the number of pupils moving between local 

schools on managed moves, reduce the number of pupils that are fixed term 

excluded, particularly repeat fixed term exclusion and prevent an increase in the 

number of pupils being permanently excluded, adding further pressure on an 

already oversubscribed PRU.  

How much do we spend, what is the recent trend and forecast?  

The allocation to Communities of Learning from the HNB has been £1.145 
million per annum and to the Behaviour Panels, £0.6 million.  

Proposals to reduce this by 15% in 2019/20 to support pressures on the HNB 
were shared with the chairs of each partnership and business cases were 
requested which outline spending plans.    

What does this mean and how do we compare with other areas?  

There are various models in place for school-based partnerships in other 
areas, some operate as partnerships and networks without dedicated funding, 
some have a range of funding including allocations of HNB funding for SEND 
and Inclusion work.   

What is being proposed and when?  

 

As expected with local partnerships the use of funding has varied across 
localities, some partnerships have used their full allocations, and some have 
historically carried forward under spends. Given the pressure on HNB 
resources, communications with COL and BP chairs has taken place and in 
line with the overall budget pressure of around 15% the partnerships were 
asked to put together more detailed business plans for how they would use 
funding with a 15% proposed reduction for the period up to December 2019 
outlining:  
 

(a) the proposals for funding and how they link to SEND and Inclusion 
priorities;  

(b) how the impact on children and young people with SEND and 
Inclusion needs will be measured and evaluated;  

(c) ongoing staffing commitments; and  

Page 727



 

  174 
 

(d) initial consideration of longer-term implications if the funding is not 
available or available to the same level after December 2019.  

 

Business plans were received and assessed to seek to maximise the support 
available for children and young people with SEND within the resources 
available. Funding allocations were agreed in July 2019 with each partnership 
based on agreed business cases for April – December 2019.   

What is the expected impact of this? 

We are seeking to continue to support collaborative work across schools and 

ensure any HNB resource has maximum impact to support SEND and 

Inclusion needs which cannot be met through other means.   

Update on Progress 

Each Community of Learning and Behaviour Partnership have produced a 

business plan outlining: funding proposals, anticipated impact, and how it will 

be monitored and measured.   

The target was to achieve overall a 15% reduction in previously agreed 

funding levels whilst supporting the most valuable pieces of work in each of 

the partnerships. 

Business cases were considered by a Panel on 26 June 2019 and new 

funding agreements are now in place. 

This has achieved a 18% saving, equating to £330,000 for 2019/2020.  

Feedback from the Consultation 

Most respondents agreed with the proposal that Communities of Learning and 
Behaviour Partnerships should be required to produce a business plan as part 
of an application process for funding, and that they should be required to report 
on the impact of the funding that has been allocated. Many positive responses 
were received in support of this proposal. Respondents noted that the proposal 
would help to: target funding where it is most needed; ensure more effective 
and transparent use of money; and increased accountability. Parents and 
carers expressed a strong view that the business planning should involve more 
parental engagement.  

Recommended Next Steps  

It is recommended that the above proposals be developed and implemented. 
This should include a robust and transparent governance structure for 
assessing funding applications and agreeing funding allocations, and for 

Page 728



 

  175 
 

monitoring and conducting annual reviews of spend. It is also recommended 
that clear and timely guidance and support on the new system be made 
available to all CoL and BP Chairs. It is also recommended that consideration 
be given to ensuring and facilitating parental involvement in the business 
planning process.    

In addition, it is recommended that consideration be given to the benefits of 
establishing a CoL for special schools.  

It is proposed to undertake a more detailed review, including consultation with 
each of the current partnerships regarding funding and support arrangements 
from January 2020. 

 

Pupil Referral Unit and Alternative Provision 

What is it? 

The Woodlands Pupil Referral Unit (PRU) is the Durham County Council 
provision for both permanently excluded pupils and those identified as close to 
permanent exclusion. The aim of The Woodlands is to deliver a personalised 
academic, social and therapeutic programme to allow every individual to move 
on successfully to their next steps in education, employment or training. 

For pupils aged 11-16 the provision is located across 2 bases ‘The Elms’ and 
‘The Maples’ in Ferryhill, Durham. The Elms and the Maples have a capacity of 
70 pupils. 

For pupils age 5-11 the provisions are co-located within a mainstream primary 
school in Langley Park (The Willows) and a second primary base (The 
Beeches) located at Broom Cottages Primary School, Ferryhill. Each Primary 
base has a capacity of 15 pupils. 

A further site, The Bridge, is located in Lanchester. The Bridge supports 
students who have been identified by their mainstream provision as being at 
risk of permanent exclusion due to their presenting behaviours. The Bridge 
currently provides 16 placements at each key stage. The length of placements 
varies based on the needs of the student.   

85 young people who have been permanently excluded from schools to the roll 
of The Woodlands (Pupil Referral Unit) also currently access alternative 
provision, because they are unable to access on-site provision which has a 
capacity of 75, but with a current roll of 160 (as of November 2019). 

Page 729



 

  176 
 

Alternative Provision (AP) refers to any education not in a mainstream or 
special school or academy. Alternative education supports over 500 young 
people across the county. Most have been referred directly from schools or 
through the Behaviour Partnership Panels. These young people have struggled 
in mainstream school and alternative provision provides a more vocational or 
therapeutic pathway. Sometimes it is used to re-engage young people with 
education, to reintegrate them and improve attendance. Alternative provision 
can be anything from half a day a week accessing re-engagement programme 
or college place to a full-time alternative package.  

Durham County Council maintains a directory of those providers with minimum 
standards. There are currently 14 unregistered providers on the list. Being an 
unregistered provider means that the provider can only offer up to three days 
per week. Young people who attend this sort of provision will attend school, 
college or another provider for the rest of the week. They remain on the roll of 
their home school. There are also five registered alternative education 
providers offering full-time education.  

How much do we spend, what is the recent trend and forecast?  

The HNB funds the costs of the PRU and some commissioned alternative 
provision places. Other funding for alternative provision comes from schools 
directly from their budgets or via behaviour panel funding.   

Alternative Provision 2017/18 Final 
Outturn  
£ million 

2018/19 Final 
Outturn  
£ million 

2019/20 
Forecast 
£ million 

Alternative Provision 4.098 4.981 5.623 

Total 4.098 4.981 5.605 
 

What does this mean and how do we compare with other areas?  

The PRU provision is significantly over its original capacity. There is a similar 

picture across the region and nationally. This means that many young people 

from year 7 -11 are accessing off-site alternative provision because there is no 

space for them at the main PRU site. This has caused increasing budget 

pressures, which is replicated nationally.  

 

The Timpson review published in May 2019 covered a national review of 

permanent exclusion, AP and PRU provision. The report notes that whilst 

permanent exclusion is sometimes appropriate, it should be a last resort.  It 

calls on local authorities, schools and other partners to establish effective 

partnership working to intervene earlier to avoid exclusion. In Durham, we 

have been developing this since 2015 when we set up four locality based 

Secondary Behaviour Partnership Panels and one Primary Panel. The HNB 

funding for these panels buys early intervention and therapeutic support from 

Page 730



 

  177 
 

the Emotional Wellbeing and Effective Learning (EWEL) Team. This 

intervention supports young people back into school instead of resulting in 

permanent exclusion with the consequent costs. 

 

What is being proposed and when?  

We have commissioned Ben Bryant, ISOS Partnership (who has undertaken 
work nationally and in other local areas) to support a review across County 
Durham with the aim of strengthening inclusion and the use of AP.  The work 
includes: 

• A survey of secondary head teachers in June 2019 to better understand 
what schools see as working well and what needs to be improved. ISOS 
will analyse the data; 

• Analysis and benchmarking of the current approach to inclusion and AP in 
Durham, comparing this to other areas and providing validation of areas of 
strength and identifying areas for improvement; 

• Discussions with LA officers from a range of teams and representatives 
from behaviour panels;  

• Initial feedback and workshops with head teachers from July 2019. 

We are implementing the secondment of a Secondary School Leader to take a 
strategic role across the Four Secondary Behaviour Partnership Panels to 
review alternative provision (AP). Two further posts will support the 
development of Quality Assurance and Curriculum Developments with AP 
providers and a focus on working with Bishop Auckland College on an AP 
pathway for schools in the South West of County Durham.  

What is the expected impact of this? 

This work is intended to ensure high quality support for inclusion and strong 
AP.  It is also intended to reduce permanent exclusion and increase 
reintegration to mainstream schools. In turn, this is intended to reduce the 
pressure on the HNB.  If there are fewer young people permanently excluded, 
there will be less need for young people to be educated off-site which will also 
reduce pressure on the transport budget. 

Update on Progress 

The ISOS review has now been completed and a final written report provided 
to the Council in early November 2019. Workshops are due be held with head 
teachers and Chairs of the Behaviour Partnership Panels to consider the 
recommendations and to develop a formal action plan for implementation.  

Page 731



 

  178 
 

In the meantime, outline objectives / outcomes have been drafted for the 
project:  

▪ To reduce reliance on commissioned alternative providers 
▪ To enable early identification of pupils at risk of permanent exclusion 
▪ To enable early preventative actions to prevent permanent exclusion 
▪ To ensure the right provision at the right place 
▪ To improve the transition between Primary and Secondary schools 
▪ To provide a strategic rather than reactive service to ensure an 

equitable, effective and sustainable offer. 

Work is underway to baseline the current provision and identify performance 
data against which to measure the success of the future model of provision 
based on: 

• Attendance of pupils, before and after alternative provision  

• The potential chosen pathway for Post 16 pupils 

• The cost of alternative provision  

• Functional qualifications achieved which allow pupils to access the next 
progress level  

Gap analysis of the requirements for implementing the recommendations of 
the review will need to be undertaken, in respect of the following areas:  

• Transition from Primary to Secondary schools  

• Two potential models being explored: 
o Model 1 – a devolved model where schools have responsibility for 

pupils and a share of HNB – this would require strong oversight 
and quality assurance framework 

o Model 2 – to be Panel based, which all schools would be part of (to 
include academies as far as possible) – providing collective and 
individual responsibility. Funding would remain with the Council, 
but the Panel would be custodian of the money.  

• Trial of PIP pathway plans 

• Virtual Head for Alternative Provision – potential LA officer post 
overseeing the provision, or a team to support transition from the 
provision back to mainstream 

The above areas will first be discussed at a meeting with head teachers, BP 
chairs, Academies and the local authority following consideration of the final 
report from ISOS.  

Feedback from the Consultation 

Most respondents agreed to the proposal to devolve more resources for 
permanently excluded pupils to locality-based panels. Consultation feedback 
indicated that early support provided by the panels was essential and the 

Page 732



 

  179 
 

proposal would assist in allowing children to remain in mainstream education 
longer.  

A small majority of the respondents agreed to the proposal to reintegrate more 
permanently excluded children and young people into schools. Feedback 
suggested that this would need careful consideration on a case-by-case basis 
and schools would need support in place to reduce any disruption to other 
children and that support should also be provided for the child based on their 
needs. Parents and carers noted that the provision of more training in 
mainstream schools may help prevent so many pupils going to the PRU, as 
teachers would have a better awareness and knowledge of the child’s 
behaviours and needs. 

Recommended Next Steps  

It is recommended that the above proposals for the PRU and AP be developed 
for implementation taking into account the comments and suggestions received 
throughout the consultation feedback received.    

 

  

Page 733



 

  180 
 

Appendix 6: Summary of Recommendations 

 

Table 1: Summary of Recommendations  

Key Area  Cabinet 
Report 
reference 

Recommendations   

    It is recommended that the Council: 

Centrally 
Managed 
Services  

paragraphs  
83 - 89 

• Continue to provide centrally managed 
services in the future and carry out extensive 
reviews to ensure value for money and a 
reduction in costs where possible.  

Special Schools paragraphs 
90 - 96 

• Extend the range of specialist places offered 
in County Durham, so children can access 
services locally rather than attend out of 
area, high cost independent placements.   

• Reduce the number of SMEH places to be in 
line with placement trends over the last 3 
years.  

Joint 
Commissioning: 
Integrated 
Therapies 

paragraphs 
97 - 101 

• Bring together the resources from education, 
health and care to improve local access to 
speech and language therapy, physiotherapy 
and occupational therapy for children and 
young people.  

• Develop new ways of offering therapies 
locally which meet the aspirations and 
preferences of families within the available 
resources.  

• Make the best use of therapists to offer 
prompt assessments, delivery of appropriate 
therapy in local settings and promote the 
confidence of families.  

Joint 
Commissioning: 
Equipment, Aids 
and Adaptations 

paragraphs 
102 - 105 

• Ensure assistance requested by schools for 
HNB funding in future will only be used to 
purchase items that are deemed to be 

Page 734



 

  181 
 

specialist (not normally available in a school 
or other educational setting).  

  
• Conduct a review of the existing guidance in 

order that all schools apply a consistent 
approach. 
  

Top up Funding paragraphs 
106 - 114 

• Apply a ‘banding system’ to Top up Funding 
to support schools, to ensure SEND needs 
are consistently and more appropriately met, 
in a timely manner.  

• Refresh the SEND planning tools currently 
available on The Local Offer SEND Planning 
Tools webpage, to communicate the new 
system. 

Targeted 
Funding 

paragraphs 
115 - 118 

• Offer Targeted Funding Support through an 
application process with set criteria agreed 
with schools.  

• Make the changes effective from April 2020 
to give schools time to understand these and 
plan accordingly.  

Post 16 Funding  paragraphs 
119 - 126 

• Roll out the fair pricing policy and application 
criteria to all providers of Post 16 provision in 
County Durham. 

• Do not take forward a proposal to support a 
three-day week provision for Post 16 
education over two years.  

Financial 
Support to 
Partnerships of 
Schools 

paragraphs 
127 - 132 

• Continue to support schools and key 
providers to work in local partnerships to 
identify and meet the needs of children and 
young people with SEND and other 
vulnerable learners in their area.  

• Only release funds on receipt of a clear 
business plan and for partnerships to report 
back on the impact of the funding for children 
and young people.  

Page 735



 

  182 
 

PRU and 
Alternative 
Provision 

paragraphs 
133 - 140 

• Provide more resources to Behaviour Panels 
so they can buy additional early interventions 
and therapeutic support and increase the 
number of young people back into school, 
avoiding permanent exclusion and the 
associated costs. 

• Increase the number of young people, 
particularly in years 7 and 8, to reintegrate 
quickly into mainstream or specialist schools 
from The Woodlands (PRU). 

  

Page 736



 

             

        

 Cabinet 

 15 January 2020 

 Council Activity Report 

 Ordinary Decision 

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Terry Collins, Chief Executive 

Councillor Simon Henig, Leader of the Council 

 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To provide an update on work to support some of the council’s key 
priorities. 

Executive summary 

2 The report provides an update on progress towards delivering some of 
the council’s key priorities. 

3 This month’s report covers: 

(a) Tourism figures 2018 

(b) #Durham19 - Year of Culture review 

(c) Tackling fuel poverty 

(d) Staff festive fundraising 

Recommendation 

4 Cabinet is recommended to note the contents of this update. 

  

 

Page 737

Agenda Item 8



Background 

5 The council undertakes a great deal of work across the county. 

6 This report offers an overview of some key projects. 

Tourism figures 

 

7 The visitor economy continues to be of the utmost importance to the 
prosperity of County Durham, with tourism spend continuing to 
increase. 

8 The latest figures from Visit County Durham (VCD) show the economic 
impact of tourism increased in County Durham in 2018, despite national 
challenges to the sector. 

9 In February of 2018, the ‘Beast from the East’ effectively closed 
England for a week and discouraged many people from leaving their 
homes. The heatwave over the summer also led to a fall in visitor 
numbers at attractions, parks, gardens, forests and the coast, with 
anecdotal feedback suggesting people preferring to stay at home and 
enjoy their own gardens. The football World Club further contributed to 
this, with England’s performance increasing interest in the tournament 
and resulting in more people staying inside to watch the games. 

Page 738



10 Despite these challenges, visitor spend in County Durham in 2018 was 
£913.8 million, an increase of 1.4 per cent from the previous year. In 
Durham City, visitor spend went up by 3.1 per cent.  

11 Whilst the number of visitors to the county was the same as 2017, the 
number of people staying for one or more night increased by 4.2 per 
cent. In Durham City, the number of overnight visitors increased by 5.2 
per cent, and in the Vale of Durham the average number of nights 
visitors stayed was up by 5.6 per cent. 

12 The total number of people employed in tourism in 2018 was 11,998 – 
an increase of 2.7 per cent. 

13 This continued success in the face of such challenges can be attributed 
to several factors. Once again, the council, its partners and other 
groups and organisations delivered a strong events programme, 
including new additions such as the North Pennines Stargazing 
Festival. The opening of Auckland Tower also prompted an increase in 
visitors to Bishop Auckland. 

14 VCD’s marketing strategy focused on short breaks and encouraged 
people to extend their visits. It also saw the adoption of a more joined 
up approach to promoting County Durham’s diverse tourism offer, 
linking into national campaigns and Celebrate Durham. This was 
boosted by a grant from the Discover England Fund, which allowed 
VCD to create new online itineraries focusing on heritage and the 
county’s outdoor offer. 

15 Visitors who stay the night spend more money than those who visit for 
the day, which is why it is important to have diverse array of 
accommodation on offer. In 2018, 24 new accommodation 
establishments opened in the county, including Hotel Indigo in Durham 
City, providing an additional 1,268 beds. 

#Durham19 - Year of Culture update 

16 County Durham has seen continued growth and investment in cultural, 
sporting and heritage activity during the past few years thanks to support from 
the county council and its partners. 

17 2019 saw the results of this sustained investment with an unprecedented year 
of openings, activities, festivals, events and anniversaries across the county. 
Designated as the county’s Year of Culture, and badged as #Durham19, a 
year-long marketing campaign was delivered by Visit County Durham, 
Durham County Council, the County Durham Cultural Partnership and 
partners from across the county. 

18 Whilst the tourism figures for 2019 are not available yet, the following gives an 
overview of some of the year’s highlights and the impact it has had.  

Page 739



19 #Durham19 was launched at a celebration event in Durham Town Hall and 
showcased to a national audience as part of a reception at the Houses of 
Parliament in April.  

20 It was promoted at Newcastle airport and in regional newspaper advertorials 
throughout the year, in a Times Christmas supplement, and also at Kings 
Cross and Westminster Tube Station in the run up to the Westminster 
reception raising the profile of Durham regionally and nationally as a visitor 
destination. 

21 There was a great focus on our local food and drink offer and 2019 saw both 
the return of the Bishop Auckland Food Festival in April and the introduction of 
a new Food Festival in Seaham in June. 

22 The ever-popular Bishop Auckland Food Festival’s line-up included 
MasterChef presenter Gregg Wallace amongst other well-known TV chefs 
and celebrities. The festival saw a record turnout of over 29,000 during the 
two days.  

23 The inaugural Seaham Food Festival line-up featured celebrity chefs John 
Torode and Phil Vickery. Unfortunately, terrible weather put pay to the first 
day, and with-it John Torode’s appearance, but thankfully the weather 
improved dramatically on the Sunday and the festival was able to go ahead. 

24 Almost 15,000 visited on Sunday. The turnout was so great that many traders 
sold two days' worth of produce in a single day, with some selling out 
altogether. Town centre businesses also reported a bumper day's trade. 

 

25 In June and July, the country watched on as England won the Cricket World 
Cup after reaching their first world cup final in 27 years. 

26 And for County Durham the matches played in the county at the Emirates 
Riverside Ground in Chester-le-Street were also a major success. An 
estimated 70,000 people from around the world flocked to the county to enjoy 
the fixtures at the ground and to the fan zone in Durham City. Almost 70% of 
visitors were from out of county and even popstar Rihanna turned up to cheer 
on her team.  

Page 740



27 The county ground, with the beautiful backdrop of Lumley Castle, was 
showcased to a huge international TV audience of over 6.6 billion, with 68 
hours of dedicated TV time to Durham matches.  

28 Retailers in Chester-le-Street enjoyed a boost to business with cricket fans 
stopping off on their way to and from the ground. More than 27,000 people 
visited the free-to-enter Cricket World Cup fan zone in Durham City to 
experience the cricket on big screens, food, entertainers, music and cricket 
themed games and activities.  

 

29 Through the AAPs, 100 tickets were given to community and voluntary groups 
across the county and two local heroes, Janice Nokni and Jan Vincent from 
Aspire, were chosen to lead the Cricket World Cup out at the first match, 
honouring their community work towards women’s development. 

30 As part of the work on the Cricket World Cup, #Durham19 was commended at 
national level by DCMS, VisitBritain and the England and Wales Cricket Board 
for combining sport and culture and using events as a driver for visitors. They 
also commended the level of stakeholder engagement across the county and 
the Team Durham attitude.  

31 Visit County Durham was invited to present at a Cricket World Cup Host City 
and Destination Management Organisation meeting at The Guildhall, London, 
in recognition of its success in making the most of the opportunities presented 
by the international profile of the Cricket World Cup. The meeting was 
attended by representatives from DCMS, VisitBritain and cities around the 
UK. 

32 The year culminated with the tenth anniversary edition of Lumiere, the UK’s 
largest light festival. Favourite installations from the past, along with some 
brand-new ones were part of the biggest festival ever. 165,000 people came, 

Page 741



despite the exceptionally poor weather, and we also welcomed our millionth 
visitor since the festival began in 2009. 

 

33 We do not have the economic impact figures yet for 2019 festival but the five 
previous Lumiere events brought joint economic benefits of £28.7million. 

34 Along with many international artists who brought their artworks to the city, we 
were joined by other international visitors including representatives from 
Galway’s 2020 Capital of Culture team, South African trade delegates, visitors 
from our Twin Town, Tübingen, and guests from Sweden. 

35 #Durham19 was not just about promoting the county to visitors, we wanted to 
involve the community as much as possible and give all our residents the 
chance to participate in culture. 
 

36 At Lumiere this included: 
(a) the BRILLIANT programme, whereby four local people had their 
creative ideas brought to life; 

(b) various community initiatives including Bottle Festoon which 
involved around 1,000 children in its creation and Friendship Tree, a 
collaboration with the International Relations Team, involving young 
people from the county and our German Twin Town, Tübingen; 

(c) many of the installations were also interactive, including the Keys of 
Light, where around 200 piano players of all ages and musical experience 
were invited to play to the crowds, whilst their music was turned into a 
colourful light projection on the walls of Rutherford Court. 

Page 742



 
 

37 Another example of community engagement was the programme of activity 
surrounding the 50th anniversary of the Apollo Pavilion at Peterlee’s Sunny 
Blunts Estate. Celebrations kicked off in spectacular fashion at the end of 
March with Apollo 50, a light installation presented in partnership with 
Artichoke, the producers of Lumiere. German artists/architects Mader 
Wiermann were commissioned to present the installation that reflected the 
Brutalist architecture of the structure and its link to the moon landings. 

 

38 The Apollo Pavilion’s 50th actual birthday celebration was held in July - at the 
same time as the anniversary of the moon landing. A free musical 
extravaganza took place at the structure featuring performances from Mr 
Wilson's Second Liners and Oompah Brass, as part of Durham's BRASS 
Festival, and Barry Hyde, lead singer of the Futureheads, who worked with 
local schools to create a new song to mark the occasion. 

Page 743



39 In September, the Pavilion was once again in the spotlight when the structure 
became the subject of another art installation, in this instance Steve 
Messam’s Apollo. 

 

40 The activity came full circle in November when students from East Durham 
College, who had worked with Artichoke and the London Guild Hall for Art and 
Design, saw results of their work projected onto the side of Dunelm House, 
another brutalist structure, as part of Lumiere. 

41 Many more events and activities took place in our local communities 
throughout the year - far too many to list here but here are some of the 
highlights: 

(a) A year of celebratory activity marking Norman Cornish’s centenary 
including a Cornish Trail in his hometown of Spennymoor, exhibitions in 
Spennymoor Town Hall, at Greenfield Gallery at Newton Aycliffe, at the 
Mining Art Gallery in Bishop Auckland, at Palace Green Library and Gala 
Gallery in Durham City, and at The Bowes Museum, Barnard Castle all 
marking the centenary of the internationally-recognised painter’s birth. 
Beamish Museum is also rebuilding Cornish’s house as part of the museum’s 
new 1950s town. 

(b) The first event of the year, Durham Vocal Festival, saw Durham 
reverberating with the sound of world class vocal performances taking place 
at 14 venues around the county including the Cathedral and Gala Theatre. 
More than 3,500 of our children and young people were involved, many of 
whom took part in activities linked to the 66 schools which participated in a 
variety of events and activities. 

Page 744



(c) During February, more than 3,400 people visited Durham Town Hall 
and 1,400 visited Clayport Library as part of the city’s Chinese New Year 
celebrations.  

(d) Towards the end of February, the annual Fire and Ice festival took 
place in Durham, with intricate sculptures of heroes and villains dotted around 
the city. A spectacular ice sculpture of Grace Darling brought Durham to the 
nation’s attention when it was featured in The Times on Saturday 23 
February. 

(e) The second Durham Adventure Festival attracted thousands of people 
to the city centre for three action-packed days of talks, film screenings and 
more at the end of April. Legendary climber Sir Chris Bonington head-lined a 
packed programme. 

(f) The annual OVO Tour Series returned on Saturday May 18. 
Thousands of spectators turned out to watch the thrills of competitive cycling 
in Durham City. 

(g) On 1 June, Durham Cathedral's central tower reopened to the public 
following a three-year renovation project. 

(h) Celebrations to mark five decades of partnership between County 
Durham and its German twin town, Tübingen, took place in June with as part 
of Tübingen50.  

(i) Record-breaking crowds of more than 40,000 experienced the 
excitement and diversity of 21st century brass thanks to BRASS - County 
Durham's liveliest music festival in July.  

 

(j) During the first weekend of BRASS, the annual Durham Miners’ Gala, 
celebrated the county’s industrial heritage. Organised by Durham Miners’ 
Association, it drew tens of thousands to the city. In July the council’s Cabinet 

Page 745



agreed a £1.1million contribution towards plans to restore the magnificent 
Redhills: Durham Miners Hall into a vibrant community and arts hub helping to 
preserve its rich heritage for generations to come. 

(k) The Durham City Running Festival took place at the end of the July. 
This year it was extended to a three-day celebration incorporating the annual 
Durham City 5k and 10k Run and a new family activity event, headed-up by 
three-time London marathon winner Paula Radcliffe, amongst other activities. 
Almost 3,000 runners took part in the Durham City Run in sweltering 
conditions on what was the hottest day of the year. 

 

(l) A visit from The Flying Scotsman to Locomotion at Shildon for just over 
two weeks from the end of July celebrated the museum’s 15th anniversary. 

(m) Spectacular performances of Kynren: an epic tale of England took 
place every Saturday evening from June until mid – September in Bishop 
Auckland. 

(n) September saw several agricultural shows taking place including the 
biggest of the year at Wolsingham which attracted record numbers, providing 
a boost to the Weardale economy.  

(o) In October, the annual Durham Book Festival saw a must-see line-up 
of writers, artists and thinkers entertain and inspire people of all tastes and 
ages. Headliners included Alexander McCall Smith, Joanne Harris and Mark 
Haddon.  

(p) Also, in October The Take-Off Festival, the country’s leading children’s 
theatre festival, returned to the county for a week of world-class shows for 
families which included over 70 performances in 10 venues across the county 
and a spectacular Family Day finale. 

Page 746



(q) November saw the completion of The Auckland Project’s multi-million-
pound redevelopment of Auckland Castle. The reopening brought national 
press coverage. 

(r) A variety of Christmas activities including Crook Winter Light Parade, 
Durham City and Barnard Castle Christmas Festivals, Raby Castle Christmas 
Market and Gala Theatre’s pantomime, Aladdin rounded up the year. 

42 In 2020, the council, Visit County Durham and cultural partners are once 

again looking at a programme activity across the year. ‘Year of Cathedrals, 
Year of Pilgrimage 2020’ is a national theme that is being celebrated in 
the county as Durham’s Year of Pilgrimage. Part of the celebrations will 
see the launch of new walking trails across the region, which tell the 
fascinating stories of the Northern Saints. 

Tackling fuel poverty 

 

 

 

43 Between April 2018 and September 2019, the council’s housing 
solutions team co-ordinated and delivered a range of intervention 
programmes to tackle fuel poverty across the county. 

44 Fuel poverty occurs when a household cannot afford to maintain an 
internal household temperature adequate for the health and wellbeing of 
the occupants (21c). In County Durham 33,500 (14 per cent) of 
households are in fuel poverty. 

Page 747



45 The Warm Homes and Energy Conservation Act introduced a national 
fuel poverty strategy funded by the Energy Company Obligation (ECO) 
at £1.9b up to 2022. 

46 The council’s Affordable Warmth Strategy and Action Plan co-ordinates 
the delivery of local and national fuel poverty intervention programmes 
to provide vulnerable residents with warmer, healthier homes and 
reduced energy costs. 

47 Between April 2018 and September 2019, more than £3.08m of external 
funding has been secured in County Durham to assist 1,389 fuel poor 
households who received ECO grants for new oil or gas boilers and 
cavity wall loft insulation measures. 

48 The league table for fuel poverty grant uptake from the Department of 
Energy and Industrial Strategy (BEIS) shows the council is eighth 
nationally due to the actions it has taken to tackle fuel poverty. 

Warm Homes campaign 

49 The County Durham Warm Homes campaign, managed by the housing 
solutions team, co-ordinates countywide promotions of fuel poverty 
intervention programmes. It promotes uptake and awareness and 
provides support for fuel poor households. Countywide mail-outs in 
partnership with the council’s revenues and benefits service are just one 
of the ways in which grants are promoted to vulnerable households. 

Working in partnership 

50 The housing solutions team has worked with public health on the 
following fuel poverty and health intervention projects. 

(a) Managing Money Better (MMB) – part of the Warmer Homes 
initiative, the service assists households in switching to lower 
energy tariffs and switching energy providers. During 2018/19 
MMB helped 386 households save more than £66,000 on their 
energy bills and fuel debt write off. 

In quarters one and two of 2019/20, a further 242 households 
received assistance from MMB saving a total of £56,690 off their 
energy bills. 

In recognition of this support to residents the MMB service 
received a national “Heat Hero” award from the national fuel 
poverty charity for the work to assist fuel poor households. 

Page 748



The council is planning to extend the MMB service to assist more 
residents in County Durham and will be recruiting an additional 
officer in the following months. 

(b) Energy Company Obligation Flexible Health Criteria (ECO 
Flex) - ECO Flex provides low income households with grants for 
new oil or gas boilers, central heating and insulation measures to 
make their homes warmer and reduce their energy bills. In 
2018/19, a total of 912 fuel poor households received energy 
efficiency measures equating to £2.6m of external grant funding. 

Government figures show this is the highest uptake in the north 
east and the council recently received an award in recognition. 

In quarters one and two of 2019/20, a further 452 households 
received boiler and insulation grants totalling £479,920 of external 
funding drawn down into County Durham. 

(c) GP mail-out – In 2018, the Durham Dales Easington and 
Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Group agreed that all GP 
surgeries would work with the council’s Warm Homes Campaign 
to assist their patients with fuel poverty and cold related ill health. 

This has resulted in a rolling programme where GP surgeries 
write to their patients with COPD or asthma to offer advice and 
support from through the council’s Warm Homes team. To date, 
388 patients have contacted the campaign for assistance. 

(d) Solid Wall Insulation Project – The solid wall innovation project 
received £2.5m of European funding and aims to provide 220 
homes in the county with the latest technology in solid wall 
insulation. 

(e) Warm and Healthy Homes – This project supports low income 
households with grant assistance for boiler repairs and 
assistance with gap funding or any client contribution requirement 
for warmer homes. This funding is provided from the council and 
public health contributions. 

(f) Clinical Commissioning Group, Warm Homes champion – To 
ensure fuel poverty is embedded into CCG actions the council 
has recruited a Warm and Healthy Homes Champion from the 
CCG Patient Reference Group (PRG).  The champion, who 
promotes fuel poverty grants from within GP practices, recently 
received an award for this work from the national fuel poverty 
charity. 

Page 749



The council hopes to recruit warm homes champions from other 
GP practices and has begun work with the Patient Reference 
Groups to commence recruitment. 

(g) Housing and Health Matrix – This uses countywide housing 
data from the fuel poverty database, housing condition database 
and health data to assess the localities with the worst housing 
and health conditions. This matrix is currently being used to assist 
with the GP mail out. 

(h) Funding opportunities – The housing solutions team has 
successfully bid for £2.2m of funding to install fully funded central 
heating measures in the homes of low-income private residents 
with ill health. 

The funding will also allow the joint working with GP surgeries to 
continue and expand using the existing mechanisms described in 
this report. 

Staff festive fundraising 

51 The council’s staff and elected members have a history of working with 
partners to support local charities all-year-round, but particularly in the 
run-up to Christmas. In 2019, the authority held several festive charity 
appeals, with people once again demonstrating overwhelming 
generosity. 

52 There were four corporate charity appeals, all of which aimed to help 
County Durham residents facing hardship over the festive season. 

 

 

Page 750



53 For the first time, staff and members were asked to donate to an advent 
calendar collection. Between 11 and 29 November, more than 500 
advent calendars were donated at collection points at the council’s main 
strategic sites. The calendars were then distributed by foodbanks 
across the county to children who wouldn’t otherwise have been able to 
join in the fun of a traditional Christmas countdown. 

54 Donations included non-chocolate advent calendars and calendars 
which were suitable for children with allergies too, to ensure nobody 
missed out. 

 

 

 

55 Between 18 and 29 November there were also donations made to a 
collection for local foodbanks, which support families who are unable to 
afford the type of items that many people take for granted. As well as 
providing emergency food parcels to families throughout the year, the 
foodbanks also help them celebrate Christmas by supplying special 
festive hampers. 

56 In an effort to ensure no one in the local community went hungry at 
Christmas, people were asked to purchase an extra item from the 
foodbank Christmas shopping list, such as a box of crackers or festive 
biscuits, with their regular grocery shop.  

57 The donations were collected at foodbank drop-off points in strategic 
council sites around the county and used by County Durham Foodbank, 
East Durham Trust, Junction 7, Salvation Army Crook, Woodhouse 
Close Church Community Centre, Weardale Foodbank, PACT House 
and our One Point hubs and family centres to create special Christmas 
parcels for those in need. 

Page 751



58 Outside of the festive period, donations of other non-perishable goods 
are made at council buildings all-year round. 

59 The council continued its annual tradition of helping the Salvation Army 
bring festive cheer to youngsters by holding a toy collection. Between 2 
and 13 December, hundreds of new toys for children and gifts for 
teenagers were left under the Christmas Tree in County Hall or dropped 
off at the members support office.  

60 People were asked to leave their donated toys unwrapped so that they 
could be sorted appropriately but also so that families in need could 
wrap the presents themselves. 

61 Cllr Katie Corrigan, Chairman of the council, visited The Salvation Army, 
in Consett, to join them in sorting the presents before they were 
distributed.  

 

62 Staff in members support also sold raffle tickets in aid of the toy appeal, 
raising money for extra toys. 

63 Finally, staff helped to raise almost £1,000 for the Chairman’s charity, 
Age UK County Durham, on Wednesday 18 December, by taking part in 
the council’s own Christmas Jumper Day.  In return for a minimum 
donation of £1, people were encouraged to swap their suits for their 
best festive gear, including Christmas jumpers, t-shirts, jewellery or 
even a bit of tinsel. 

 

Background papers 

 

• None 

 

Page 752



Contact: Michelle Atkinson Tel:  03000 268 049 

  

Page 753



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

Not applicable. 

Finance 

Not applicable. 

Consultation 

Not applicable. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

Not applicable. 

Climate Change 

Not applicable. 

Human Rights 

Not applicable. 

Crime and Disorder 

Not applicable. 

Staffing 

Not applicable. 

Accommodation 

Not applicable. 

Risk 

Not applicable. 

Procurement 

Not applicable. 

 

 

 

Page 754



 

             
Cabinet 

15 January 2020 

 Local Lettings Agency 

 Ordinary Decision 

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Ian Thompson, Corporate Director of Director of Regeneration and 
Local Services 

Councillor Kevin Shaw, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Strategic 
Housing and Assets 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide. 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To provide an update regarding company type and governance 
structure of the Local Lettings Agency (LLA) and to provide a general 
update on the scheme. 

Executive Summary 

2 On 10 July 2019 Cabinet approved the following: 

 in principle the establishment of an LLA for County Durham to 
help meet housing need with firm proposals on the specific 
delivery model to be used to be outlined in a further report; and 

 delegated authority to the Corporate Director for Regeneration 
and Local Services to lease properties from landlords on an 
individual basis for use in discharging the Council’s duties under 
the Homelessness Reduction Act. 

3 This report sets out the proposed structure and governance of the LLA 
and recommends applying to Homes England for Registered Provider 
status to allow the LLA to meet housing need. 

Recommendations 

4 Cabinet are requested to: 

(a) approve the establishment of the LLA as a company limited by 
guarantee as proposed in this report; 

 

Page 755

Agenda Item 9



(b) note that the LLA will apply to Homes England for Registered 
Provider status; and 

(c) delegate authority to the Corporate Director of Regeneration and 
Local Services to enter into such ancillary agreements as are 
necessary to give full effect to the terms of this report. 

 

  

Page 756



Background 

Demand and Issues 

5 Within County Durham there is a gap in the housing market for those 
individuals who are unable to provide a good tenancy history when 
applying for housing; there are 1,600 households currently excluded 
from the housing register.  Being excluded from the housing register 
prevents an individual or family from bidding for properties through the 
Council’s Choice Based Lettings (CBL) scheme known as Durham Key 
Options.  Reasons for exclusions include previous rent arrears and anti-
social behaviour.  Once excluded it is difficult to re-join without help and 
support even when circumstances change.  The housing register is 
used by Durham Key Options partners to advertise for and to find 
suitable tenants for their properties. 

6 The Council has legal duties to secure housing to those who are eligible 
under Part 7 of the 1996 Housing Act and various duties owed under 
the Homeless Reduction Act 2017.  The Council does not have to 
provide this housing itself but can struggle at times to source suitable 
accommodation.  This can result in the Council having to provide 
temporary accommodation in the form of bed and breakfasts and hotels.  
This is an expensive and sub-optimum solution for the Council and 
homeless people. 

7 An LLA is a general term applied to schemes that secure access to 
decent, affordable private rental accommodation for households in need 
and on low incomes who would previously have been unlikely to access 
housing. 

8 Durham also has a number of rough sleepers across the county who do 
not, for various reasons, want or need access to supported 
accommodation.  In addition, the Council does not owe them a 
homeless duty but they would benefit from help in finding suitable 
accommodation which would enable them to move away from sleeping 
rough.  The aim of the LLA will also be to provide housing and support 
where necessary for these persons in the hope that they can move on 
to a more permanent tenancy.  Table 1 detailed below shows the 
number of rough sleepers and provides evidence that over the last three 
months there has been a steady flow of new people to the streets. 

Table 1 
Rough Sleeper New  Returner Entrenched Total 
July 12 5 5 22 
August 14 3 6 23 
September 6 9 3 18 

NB: 
New: new to rough sleeping 

Page 757



 Returner: has rough slept before and has returned to the streets 
Entrenched: has rough slept consistently for 2 or more months 

9 The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) 
is aware of the various barriers to housing and has recently made 
funding streams available to assist local authorities to establish LLAs for 
the purpose of acquiring housing by either purchasing properties or by 
entering into lease agreements with private owners with the intention of 
renting those properties directly to those in need and helping to remove 
or reduce the barriers.  This funding has been made available to help 
the Government reach its aim to end homelessness and rough sleeping 
by 2027. 

10 The Council has been successful in obtaining £252,538 funding from 
the MHCLG in 2019/2020 under the Rapid Rehousing Pathway (RRP) 
programme which was first launched in August 2018. 

11 The Council is currently undergoing a second round of bidding for 
further funding for the LLA for 2020/2021. 

12 In 2018, 5,976 empty homes surveys were sent out with 2,106 surveys 
returned.  Of these 261 owners advised the Council that they would be 
interested in leasing their property.  Officers will ensure that any 
properties that are leased as part of the scheme are able to satisfy the 
housing needs of people who have been excluded from the register and 
will prioritise leasing properties from owners who are registered with the 
council as an accredited landlord. 

Main Implications 

Local Lettings Agency 

13 The LLA is an arm’s length company set up to support the Council’s 
efforts to implement the Council’s Housing & Homelessness Strategy by 
improving the standard of accommodation and management within 
Durham’s private rented sector by helping to bring empty homes back 
into use, prevent people from becoming homeless, providing housing to 
those in need and reducing the number of homeless families living in 
bed and breakfast accommodation. 

14 The LLA will do this by leasing properties from owners for up to five 
years and then letting those properties directly to the tenants 
themselves.  The Council will then receive income from letting to the 
tenant by way of a rent and enhanced housing benefit.  It will source 
properties in the right areas providing appropriate accommodation to a 
range of people. 

15 The LLA will provide housing for those excluded from the housing 
register or unable to access housing from other providers (both private 

Page 758



and social).  By providing intensive support and working closely with 
partner organisations the objective is to ensure that tenancies are 
sustained. 

16 The LLA will also provide housing management functions for all 
Housing Solutions housing stock acquired under various funding 
schemes e.g. Homes England’s Move on Fund. 

17 Staff resources within Corporate Property and Land (CPaL) and Legal 
and Democratic Services will be affected by the implementation of the 
LLA however funds raised by the LLA will cover this process.  Service 
agreements between departments will be developed. 

Company Type 

18 Following advice and information provided by the Council’s Legal and 
Democratic Services regarding the various types of companies and 
other forms of business structures available, it is thought that the 
structure which will best suit the LLA and its intended non-profit making 
purposes, is that of a company limited by guarantee. 

19 There are no shares in a company limited by guarantee, therefore it 
does not require a share capital, and there is no liability. 

20 Bespoke articles of association will be drafted for use by the LLA. 

Governance 

21 The responsibility for the effective management of the LLA will fall on its 
board of directors and its composition will be assessed as part of the 
application for RP status. 

22 The Regulator of Social Housing, Homes England, in its guidance 
document entitled “Becoming a Registered Provider” states that it is of 
paramount importance that the Board collectively possess the right mix 
of skills, experience and perspectives to be able to manage the LLA 
effectively. 

23 It is also vital that the LLA manages any potential conflicts of interest it 
or its directors encounter.  Training will be provided to Board members 
and a robust conflicts of interest policy will be adopted by the LLA to 
mitigate this risk. 

24 In addition to bespoke articles of association, a Members’ Agreement 
will be entered into between the LLA and the Council formalising the 
relationship between the two whilst demonstrating the LLAs 
independence from the Council. 

Page 759



Registered Provider Status 

25 The report recommends the company becomes a registered provider.  
The table below details the advantages and disadvantages of this. 

Advantage Disadvantage 
Becoming an RP allows the creation 
of a separate company for the Council 

Registration process can be 
long and arduous 

RP status allows more financial 
freedom for the company allowing the 
company to use profits more freely.  
NB: majority of profits need to be used 
for the provision of social housing. 

Activities need to relate to 
the provision of social 
housing.  Social housing 
assets cannot be put at risk. 

RP status will allow the Council to 
reclaim all the enhanced housing 
benefit subsidy 

 

 
26 To become an RP the company needs to comply with Regulatory 

Standards set out by Homes England.  It must also meet Governance 
Financial and Viability Standards and be able to maintain these; a 
summary is detailed in the table below. 

Standard  Summary of Requirement  
Governance and 
Financial Viability  

Ensure effective governance and resource 
management that delivers long-term 
financial viability 

Value for Money  Obtain best value from assets and 
resources 

Rent  Charge rent in line with Government rules  
Home  Keep homes safe, decent and in a good 

state of repair 
Tenancy  Let homes and manage tenancies in a fair, 

transparent and efficient way 
Neighbourhood and 
Community  

Keep the wider area clean and safe, help to 
tackle anti-social behaviour and promote 
community wellbeing 

Tenant Involvement 
and Empowerment  

Understand and respond to the diverse 
needs of tenants, provide choice and 
opportunities for involvement, resolve 
complaints fairly and promptly 

 
27 The registration process is in two parts: 

 preliminary application process where the company must 
evidence that it is: 
- an English body; 

Page 760



- providing or intending to provide social housing; and 
- is the landlord of the social housing; 

 
 the second stage is more detailed where the company must 

prove it can: 
- meet the Governance and Financial Viability Standard at 

the point of registration and demonstrate that it can sustain 
its financial viability on an ongoing basis; and 

- has in place management arrangements that enable it to 
demonstrate the capacity to meet the other regulatory 
standards. 

Interim Arrangements 

28 Properties are in the process of being acquired to meet the targets set 
out in the finding agreement with MHCLG. 

29 In view of the time period required to set up the LLA company and 
achieve Registered Provider status with Homes England a Council 
interim arrangement has been put in place whereby the Council will 
administer the scheme and handover the arrangements to the new 
company when it is established. 

Viability 

30 Under the proposed model, the company would acquire properties 
through a leasehold arrangement from owners or social landlords who 
would be offered a discounted guaranteed rent for the duration of the 
lease.  The properties would then by managed by the company to 
provide housing for identified client groups. 

31 A range of delivery models exist, and three options in particular have 
been modelled over a five-year period as follows: 

(a) scenario 1: company limited by shares whereby properties are let 
on assured shorthold tenancies at private sector market levels, 
with no enhanced housing benefit.  Essentially a pure landlord 
function; 

 
(b) scenario 2: charitable incorporated company whereby properties 

are let on assured shorthold tenancies at private sector market 
levels with tenant support being provided and attracting enhanced 
housing benefit; 

 
(c) scenario 3: registered provider of social housing with properties 

let at social rent levels, and tenant support services being 
provided and attracting enhanced housing benefit.  Properties are 

Page 761



let on introductory tenancies after one year.  If the tenancy has 
been successful the applicant will be transferred to a flexible 
tenancy for a further 2 years. 
 

32 Subject to the financial modelling detailed below the scenario option 
that best supports the delivery of the outcomes for the project is 
scenario 3. 

33 A number of assumptions have been used to inform the financial 
modelling which impact on the financial position and viability of each of 
the scenarios.  Some of the key factors that impact on the financial 
position of the LLA are summarised below: 

(a) level of rental income charged to tenants; 
 
(b) level of lease payments to landlords for use of their properties; 
 
(c) eligibility for enhanced housing benefit for specific tenants; 
 
(d) void levels; 
 
(e) bad debt levels; 
 
(f) repairs and maintenance costs of properties; 
 
(g) housing management costs including the number and grade of 

staff involved in providing tenancy support and sustainment 
services; 

 
(h) rate of acquisition of properties from landlords; 
 
(i) annual company running costs; and 
 
(j) level of grant income from MHCLG. 
 

34 Management of the housing portfolio and provision of tenancy support 
services will require staffing resource.  Under scenario 1 a much-
reduced level of support is required as tenancy support services would 
not be provided.  Under scenarios 2 and 3 more staffing resource will be 
required to provide the tenancy support services and satisfy eligibility for 
enhanced housing benefit.  The staffing roles identified for the LLA are 
detailed below and Appendix 2 details how the staff numbers vary over 
the 5 year period for each of the roles detailed below: 

  

Page 762



Staffing Grade 
Housing manager 14 
Team leader 12 
Surveyor / landlord liaison 9 
Housing management officer 7 
Support officer 6 

 
35 The outcomes of the financial modelling for the three scenarios are 

shown in Appendix 3 which projects the income and expenditure 
account and balance sheet position over a five-year period. 

36 All the scenarios have been modelled assuming different levels of 
enhanced benefit.  The actual levels being offered throughout Durham 
varies from £220 per week to £380 per week.  For the purposes of this 
modelling the minimum level of £220 per week has been modelled 
alongside £250 per week and £280 per week for exemplification 
purposes.  A summary of the outputs is detailed below. 

Income and Expenditure Account 

£220 per week enhanced housing benefit 
Surplus / 
(Deficit) 

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 Total 

Scenario 1 156,133 (132,508) (254,303) (356,999) (383,382) (971,059) 
Scenario 2 201,963 (150,944 (266,050) (321,218) (344,356) (880,605) 
Scenario 3 171,221 (233,222) (391,657) (474,573) (503,369) (1,431,600 

 
Cost to the Council arising from Scenario 2: 
Council 
Cost 

(121,232) (316,769 (472,416) (562,362) (563,144) (2,035,923) 

 
£250 per week enhanced housing benefit 
Surplus / 
(Deficit) 

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 Total 

Scenario 1 156,133 (132,508) (254,303) (356,999) (383,382) (971,059) 
Scenario 2 262,681 9,580 (18,526) (18,416) (30,379) 204,940 
Scenario 3 231,940 (71,142) (143,583 (171,695) (189,315) (343,796) 
 
Cost to the Council arising from Scenario 2: 
Council 
Cost 

(145,479) (380,122) (674,835) (675,773) (675,773) (2,551,982) 

 
  

Page 763



£280 per week enhanced housing benefit 
Surplus / 
(Deficit) 

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 Total 

Scenario 1 156,133 (132,508) (254,303) (356,999) (383,382) (971,059) 
Scenario 2 323,400 168,621 219,556 267,096 257,875 1,236,548 
Scenario 3 292,658 88,099 99,130 123,225 113,084 716,197 
 
Cost to the Council arising from Scenario 2: 
Council 
Cost 

(161,643) (422,358 (749,816) (750,859) (750,859) (2,835,535) 

 
37 The modelling indicates that under Scenario 1 a deficit is incurred in all 

years except the first year which benefits from grant income of 
£253,538 from Government (assumed for all scenarios). 

38 Scenario 2 returns a viable financial position for the company at the 
higher levels of enhanced benefit assumed (i.e. £250 per week and 
£280 per week).  Scenario 2 generates a higher company surplus 
compared to Scenario 3 because rent levels charged to tenants are 
higher (at £92 per week compared to £74 per week).  Under Scenario 3, 
having RP status would require rents to be charged at social levels and 
not private market levels hence rental income is lower in this scenario. 

39 However, there is a cost to the Council under Scenario 2 as not all of 
the enhanced benefit awarded to the company by the Council can be 
reclaimed from Government.  Effectively only 60% of the enhanced 
benefit that is above a rent officer referral level can be claimed from 
Government via grant leaving 40% falling as a cost to the Council itself 
(identified as cost to the Council in the tables).  Taking this issue into 
account brings Scenario 2 into an overall deficit position when taking 
both the company income/expenditure and cost to the Council into 
consideration. 

40 Scenario 3 returns a viable financial position under the highest level of 
enhanced benefit only (i.e. £280 per week).  This demonstrates that the 
level of enhanced benefit awarded under the arrangements will need to 
be sufficient to cover service charge costs relating to tenancy support 
services. 

41 The outcomes of the financial modelling are heavily influenced by the 
assumptions used and key changes to these assumptions can impact 
on the viability and sustainability of the proposed lettings agency.  One 
factor that is key to viability is the level of enhanced benefit that can be 
claimed.  The higher the level of benefit awarded, the more financially 
sustainable would be the LLA.  A range of other factors such as voids 
levels, repairs, dilapidations and particularly the cost of tenancy support 
staff also impact on the financial position.  All of these factors would 

Page 764



need to be very carefully managed to sustain a viable financial position 
for the company. 

Invest to Save 

42 The LLA will help to reduce the financial implications of not joining up 
the service, in particular decreasing the number of homeless 
applications and in dealing with the outcome of and support required 
following failed tenancies, medical interventions and those who have 
been the subject of the criminal justice system.  By providing housing 
with support these costs will reduce. 

43 The average cost of a homeless application to the Council is £2,501 
based on national statistics.  However, if the client is more complex 
these costs can escalate.  The reduction of failed tenancies also 
reduces the significant costs of temporary accommodation including 
bed and breakfasts. 

44 A table detailing the costs to the public purse is included in the business 
plan.  These costs are associated with many Housing Solutions clients. 

Process to Acquire 

45 To meet funding requirements the Council must lease 70 properties in 
its first year.  This could be facilitated through the statutory requirement 
for the Council to house via Part 7 of the Housing Act 1996 allowing 
time for the RP status to be developed and the legal governance put in 
place. 

46 The LLA will work closely with CPaL to lease suitable properties. 

47 Initially the LLA will identify and inspect properties, using a structural 
surveyor for all inspections.  Following the survey, a decision will be 
made on whether to rent the property in conjunction with CPaL. 

48 CPaL will then authorise the acquisition of the property. 

49 CPaL will complete the necessary delegated authority approvals for the 
entering into of the leases with the private landlords.  This will be 
undertaken on an individual property basis to ensure any relevant 
issues relating to that property are addressed. 

Conclusion 

50 There is a gap in the provision of housing for those people who, for a 
variety of reasons, are not able to be included on the housing register. 

51 It is clear that an LLA can help meet the needs of this group in Durham 
as evidenced in other local authority areas. 

Page 765



52 The initial funding by central Government goes some way to providing a 
solid platform in establishing an environment whereby homelessness 
can be prevented and issues relating to poor housing through people 
having no choices alleviated. 

Background papers 

53 None. 

Other useful documents 

54 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/governance-and-financial-
viability-standard-code-of-practice 

55 https://www.gov.uk/guidance/regulatory-standards 

Author(s) 

Marion Rucker    Tel:  07384 247366 

  

Page 766



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

The Council has the power under Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 to 
establish a company which will assist it to discharge its duties under the 
Housing Act 1996 and the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017.  The company 
will be required to pay for any Council resources, accommodation and staff 
who devote time to its work.  Consideration will need to be given to any State 
Aid implications of Council support if it is possible that the agency could be 
operating in a competitive market.  It is noted that the intention is to provide for 
individuals who have been unable to access housing elsewhere. 

Finance 

The direct financial implications are detailed in the report which provides 
outcomes of financial modelling including revenue surplus/deficit and balance 
sheets for the proposed company using a range of assumptions over a five 
year period.  In addition, where there are direct financial implications for the 
Council these are also identified.  Overall, a viable financial position can be 
achieved subject to management costs being recoverable against enhanced 
housing benefit. 

There are financial implications to the Council but these need to be measured 
against the unseen financial implications of those who do not have access to 
housing.  This includes crime, hospital visits, neighbourhood teams who are 
all impacted by rough sleepers. 

Consultation 

None. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

None. 

Climate Change 

None. 

Human Rights 

None. 

Crime and Disorder 

There are issues associated with rough sleeping in Durham which does 
contribute on low level crime.  Providing housing and support to rough 
sleepers should decrease the level of crime associated with this client group. 

Page 767



Staffing 

The LLA will require staffing to manage the service.  This can initially be 
provided through time release and secondments.  The project needs to be 
intensively managed to recruit and employ staff once financial thresholds are 
reached. 

Accommodation 

The LLA will provide accommodation for those in housing need. 

Risk 

Risks were approved with the report to Cabinet in July 2019 report; a copy is 
available upon request. 

Procurement 

None. 

  

Page 768



Appendix 2:  Assumptions used in Financial Modelling 

 
 Scenario 1 Scenario 2 Scenario 3 
Rent income per week £92 £92 £74 
Lease payment to landlord per week £74 £74 £74 
Enhanced benefit (rent + support) 
per week* 

0 £220 / £250 / 
£280 

£220 / £250 
/ £280 

Voids 7.5% 7.5% 7.5% 
Bad Debts 10% 10% 10% 
Repairs/maintenance per unit /year £1,000 £1,000 £1,000 
Percentage tenants on enhanced 
benefit  

0% 100% 100% 

Support hours per tenant per week 0 4 4 
    
Acquisition of properties per month 6 6 6 
Average properties managed:    
Year 1 35 35 35 
Year 2 98 98 98 
Year 3 149 149 149 
Year 4 177 177 177 
Year 5 180 180 180 
    
Company costs (annual) £35,000 £35,000 £35,000 
    
One off grant from MHCLG Year 1 253,538 253,538 253,538 

*under Scenario 2 an additional £18 per week has been added on top of the 3 
enhanced benefit levels to cover the higher rent per week compared to 
scenario 3 (£92 per week less £74 per week under scenario 3). 

 Grade Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 
Staffing (full time 
equivalents): 

 FTE FTE FTE FTE FTE 

Housing manager 14 0.5 0.5 1 1 1 
Team leader 12 0.75 2 3 3 3 
Surveyor / Landlord 
Liaison 

9 1 0 0 0 0 

Housing management 
officer 

7 6.5 17 26 30 30 

Support officer 6 1 1 1 1 1 
 

 

Page 769



Appendix 3: Financial Position £220 Enhanced Benefit 

 

 

Financial Modelling - £220 enhanced benefit per week

Yr 1 Yr 2 Yr 3 Yr 4 Yr 5 Yr 1 Yr 2 Yr 3 Yr 4 Yr 5 Yr 1 Yr 2 Yr 3 Yr 4 Yr 5
£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Income and Expenditure Account

TURNOVER 153,450 400,950 597,960 711,810 712,800 449,142 1,173,564 1,750,204 2,083,438 2,086,335 418,454 1,093,379 1,630,619 1,941,084 1,943,784

Administrative Expenses (202,484) (245,215) (342,976) (374,126) (374,376) (488,821) (1,036,585) (1,507,567) (1,711,110) (1,711,360) (488,821) (1,036,585) (1,507,567) (1,711,110) (1,711,360)

(49,034) 155,735 254,984 337,684 338,424 (39,679) 136,978 242,636 372,328 374,975 (70,367) 56,793 123,052 229,974 232,424

Other Operating Income 253,538 0 0 0 0 253,538 0 0 0 0 253,538 0 0 0 0
Depreciation 0 (253,400) (452,500) (626,260) (651,600) 0 (253,400) (452,500) (626,260) (651,600) 0 (253,400) (452,500) (626,260) (651,600)

OPERATING PROFIT 204,504 (97,665) (197,516) (288,576) (313,176) 213,859 (116,422) (209,864) (253,932) (276,625) 183,171 (196,607) (329,448) (396,286) (419,176)

Interest receiveable 748 (1,983) (12,115) (24,346) (37,536) 774 (1,662) (11,514) (23,208) (35,060) 720 (3,755) (17,536) (34,209) (51,522)
205,252 (99,648) (209,631) (312,922) (350,711) 214,633 (118,084) (221,377) (277,141) (311,685) 183,891 (200,362) (346,984) (430,495) (470,699)

Interest payable and similar expenses (12,670) (32,860) (44,672) (44,077) (32,671) (12,670) (32,860) (44,672) (44,077) (32,671) (12,670) (32,860) (44,672) (44,077) (32,671)

PROFIT / (LOSS) BEFORE TAXATION 192,582 (132,508) (254,303) (356,999) (383,382) 201,963 (150,944) (266,050) (321,218) (344,356) 171,221 (233,222) (391,657) (474,573) (503,369)

Taxation (36,448) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

PROFIT / (LOSS) FOR THE FINANCIAL PERIOD 156,133 (132,508) (254,303) (356,999) (383,382) 201,963 (150,944) (266,050) (321,218) (344,356) 171,221 (233,222) (391,657) (474,573) (503,369)

Retained earnings b/fwd 0 156,133 23,625 (230,678) (587,677) 0 201,963 51,018 (215,031) (536,249) 0 171,221 (62,001) (453,658) (928,231)
Retained earnings c/fwd 156,133 (132,508) (254,303) (356,999) (383,382) 201,963 (150,944) (266,050) (321,218) (344,356) 171,221 (233,222) (391,657) (474,573) (503,369)

156,133 23,625 (230,678) (587,677) (971,059) 201,963 51,018 (215,031) (536,249) (880,605) 171,221 (62,001) (453,658) (928,231) (1,431,600)

Scenario 2 - Cost to DCC
Cost for DCC (estimated only as valuation office assesses subsidy level) (121,232) (316,769) (472,416) (562,362) (563,144)

Yr 1 Yr 2 Yr 3 Yr 4 Yr 5 Yr 1 Yr 2 Yr 3 Yr 4 Yr 5 Yr 1 Yr 2 Yr 3 Yr 4 Yr 5
£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Balance Sheet 

FIXED ASSETS land & buildings 1,267,000 2,009,100 2,425,400 1,925,840 1,274,240 1,267,000 2,009,100 2,425,400 1,925,840 1,274,240 1,267,000 2,009,100 2,425,400 1,925,840 1,274,240

CURRENT ASSETS bank 70,850 (186,252) (515,553) (879,987) (1,270,310) 80,231 (158,859) (499,906) (828,559) (1,179,856) 49,490 (271,879) (738,533) (1,220,540) (1,730,851)

LIABILITIES (Short Term and Long Term) short and long term lease (1,145,268) (1,799,221) (2,140,524) (1,633,530) (974,988) (1,145,268) (1,799,221) (2,140,524) (1,633,530) (974,988) (1,145,268) (1,799,221) (2,140,524) (1,633,530) (974,988)
corporation tax (36,448) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

NET ASSETS 156,134 23,626 (230,677) (587,676) (971,058) 201,964 51,019 (215,030) (536,248) (880,604) 171,222 (62,000) (453,657) (928,230) (1,431,599)

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Called up share capital (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1)
Retained earnings (156,133) (23,625) 230,678 587,677 971,059 (201,963) (51,018) 215,031 536,249 880,605 (171,221) 62,001 453,658 928,231 1,431,600

(156,134) (23,626) 230,677 587,676 971,058 (201,964) (51,019) 215,030 536,248 880,604 (171,222) 62,000 453,657 928,230 1,431,599

Scenario 3
RP with Enhanced Benefit

£220 £220
Scenario 1

PRS no Benefit
Scenario 2

Charity with Enhanced Benefit

£220£220£0
Scenario 1

PRS no Benefit
Scenario 3

RP with Enhanced Benefit
Scenario 2

Charity with Enhanced Benefit

P
age 770



Appendix 3: Financial Position £250 Enhanced Benefit 

 

 

 P
age 771



Appendix 3:  Financial Position £280 Enhanced Benefit 

 

 

Financial Modelling - £280 enhanced benefit per week

Yr 1 Yr 2 Yr 3 Yr 4 Yr 5 Yr 1 Yr 2 Yr 3 Yr 4 Yr 5 Yr 1 Yr 2 Yr 3 Yr 4 Yr 5
£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Income and Expenditure Account

TURNOVER 153,450 400,950 597,960 711,810 712,800 570,367 1,490,314 2,222,592 2,645,768 2,648,447 539,679 1,410,129 2,103,007 2,503,414 2,506,896

Administrative Expenses (202,484) (245,215) (342,976) (374,126) (374,376) (488,821) (1,036,585) (1,507,567) (1,711,110) (1,711,360) (488,821) (1,036,585) (1,507,567) (1,711,110) (1,711,360)

(49,034) 155,735 254,984 337,684 338,424 81,546 453,729 715,025 934,658 938,087 50,858 373,544 595,440 792,304 795,536

Other Operating Income 253,538 0 0 0 0 253,538 0 0 0 0 253,538 0 0 0 0
Depreciation 0 (253,400) (452,500) (626,260) (651,600) 0 (253,400) (452,500) (626,260) (651,600) 0 (253,400) (452,500) (626,260) (651,600)

OPERATING PROFIT 204,504 (97,665) (197,516) (288,576) (313,176) 335,084 200,329 262,525 308,398 286,487 304,396 120,144 142,940 166,044 143,936

Interest receiveable 748 (1,983) (12,115) (24,346) (37,536) 986 1,152 1,704 2,776 4,058 932 816 863 1,259 1,819
205,252 (99,648) (209,631) (312,922) (350,711) 336,070 201,481 264,229 311,173 290,545 305,328 120,959 143,803 167,303 145,755

Interest payable and similar expenses (12,670) (32,860) (44,672) (44,077) (32,671) (12,670) (32,860) (44,672) (44,077) (32,671) (12,670) (32,860) (44,672) (44,077) (32,671)

PROFIT / (LOSS) BEFORE TAXATION 192,582 (132,508) (254,303) (356,999) (383,382) 323,400 168,621 219,556 267,096 257,875 292,658 88,099 99,130 123,225 113,084

Taxation (36,448) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

PROFIT / (LOSS) FOR THE FINANCIAL PERIOD 156,133 (132,508) (254,303) (356,999) (383,382) 323,400 168,621 219,556 267,096 257,875 292,658 88,099 99,130 123,225 113,084

Retained earnings b/fwd 0 156,133 23,625 (230,678) (587,677) 0 323,400 492,021 711,577 978,673 0 292,658 380,757 479,888 603,113
Retained earnings c/fwd 156,133 (132,508) (254,303) (356,999) (383,382) 323,400 168,621 219,556 267,096 257,875 292,658 88,099 99,130 123,225 113,084

156,133 23,625 (230,678) (587,677) (971,059) 323,400 492,021 711,577 978,673 1,236,548 292,658 380,757 479,888 603,113 716,197

Scenario 2 - Cost to DCC
Cost for DCC (estimated only as valuation office assesses subsidy level) (161,643) (422,358) (749,816) (750,859) (750,859)

Yr 1 Yr 2 Yr 3 Yr 4 Yr 5 Yr 1 Yr 2 Yr 3 Yr 4 Yr 5 Yr 1 Yr 2 Yr 3 Yr 4 Yr 5
£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Balance Sheet

FIXED ASSETS land & buildings 1,267,000 2,009,100 2,425,400 1,925,840 1,274,240 1,267,000 2,009,100 2,425,400 1,925,840 1,274,240 1,267,000 2,009,100 2,425,400 1,925,840 1,274,240

CURRENT ASSETS bank 70,850 (186,252) (515,553) (879,987) (1,270,310) 201,669 282,143 426,702 686,364 937,297 170,927 170,880 195,012 310,804 416,946

LIABILITIES (Short Term and Long Term) short and long term lease (1,145,268) (1,799,221) (2,140,524) (1,633,530) (974,988) (1,145,268) (1,799,221) (2,140,524) (1,633,530) (974,988) (1,145,268) (1,799,221) (2,140,524) (1,633,530) (974,988)
corporation tax (36,448) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

NET ASSETS 156,134 23,626 (230,677) (587,676) (971,058) 323,401 492,022 711,578 978,674 1,236,549 292,659 380,758 479,889 603,114 716,198

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Called up share capital (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1)
Retained earnings (156,133) (23,625) 230,678 587,677 971,059 (323,400) (492,021) (711,577) (978,673) (1,236,548) (292,658) (380,757) (479,888) (603,113) (716,197)

(156,134) (23,626) 230,677 587,676 971,058 (323,401) (492,022) (711,578) (978,674) (1,236,549) (292,659) (380,758) (479,889) (603,114) (716,198)

Scenario 1 Scenario 2 Scenario 3
PRS no Benefit Charity with Enhanced Benefit RP with Enhanced Benefit

PRS no Benefit Charity with Enhanced Benefit RP with Enhanced Benefit

£0 £270 £270

£0 £280 £280
Scenario 1 Scenario 2 Scenario 3

P
age 772



 

 

                 
  Cabinet 

  15 January 2020 

  County Durham Enhanced Engagement  

with Children and Young People 

   
 

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

John Pearce, Corporate Director of Children and Young People’s 

Services 

Councillor Olwyn Gunn, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Children and 

Young People’s Services 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide  

Purpose of the report 

1 The purpose of this report is to gain Cabinet’s agreement to implement 
a number of recommendations that will enhance how the council 
engages with children and young people.  

Executive summary 

2 The council successfully use a wide range of participation and 
engagement mechanisms to understand the voice of the child and how 
this influences service provision and project development. The report, 
‘Durham County Council Engagement with Children and Young People 
– As Citizens and Service Users’, presented to Cabinet on 10 July 
2019, described these current mechanisms, outlined the key messages 
given by children and young people (CYP) during engagement and how 
the council has acted on them.  

3 The Children and Young People’s Strategy 2019-2022 highlighted the 
importance of embedding a culture in service design, delivery and 
review, which recognises and values the importance of the voice of the 
child. To do this it was agreed that the council would look to explore 
how existing methods of including CYP in decision making processes 
could be enhanced.  

4 This report details the results of further work carried out, over the past 
few months, to identify ways of enhancing CYP engagement and 
participation structures in several ways and celebrating their successes. 
The options explored included: 

Page 773

Agenda Item 10



 

 

(a) the development of a County Durham Youth Council (CDYC); 

(b) representation, drawn from CDYC, at the UK Youth Parliament; 

(c) County Durham Children and Young People’s Awards by which 
the successes of CYP across County Durham will be celebrated 
at an annual awards ceremony co-produced with representatives 
from the Durham County Council (DCC) and the County Durham 
Youth Council. 

Recommendation(s) 

5 Cabinet is recommended to: 

(a) agree that DCC officers run annual elections to appoint CYP 
representatives to a new County Durham Youth Council with 
CDYC electing two members to the UK Youth parliament;  

(b) agree to set up a County Durham Youth Council Implementation 
Fund to support CYP focused project delivery; 

(c) agree to support the recruitment of an Engagement Officer, to be 
employed on a permanent basis from April 2020, to support the 
County Durham Youth Council and the UK Youth Parliament 
representatives; 

(d) agree in principle to the development of a countywide awards 
programme to begin in Summer 2020 and for marketing and 
communications relating to the enhanced suite of engagement 
mechanisms proposed in the report. 

 

  

Page 774



 

 

Background 

6 Cabinet were presented with a report entitled ‘Durham County Council 
Engagement with Children and Young People – As Citizens and Service 
Users’ on 10th July 2019. Cabinet agreed that officers should explore 
options to enhance engagement mechanisms for children and young 
people and agreed that a proposal be presented at this meeting. 

7 The following sections detail the results, conclusions and 
recommendations drawn for the proposed enhancements. 

County Durham Youth Council  

8 In July 2019 the Head of Education and Skills, alongside Education 
Advisers, hosted two pupil voice workshops that provided an 
opportunity for primary and secondary aged pupils to share their 
thoughts on a range of topics. Workshops were arranged through the 
Durham Associations of Primary and Secondary Head Teachers and 
saw young people aged 9-17 from nine different schools share their 
thoughts about living in County Durham and having a voice which is 
heard. 

9 Officers also facilitated a workshop at the June Children and Families 
Partnership (CFP) meeting held at Durham Johnston School. 20 young 
people from Year 8 to Sixth Form discussed their ideas about setting up 
a countywide youth council and how the council could ensure inclusivity, 
as well as their thoughts on a countywide awards programme and 
electing a young mayor. Further consultation has also taken place at 
September’s CFP meeting at Parkside Academy in Willington. 

10 In addition, two more consultative events were held at Elemore Hall 
School and Hope Wood Academy in September, to further explore the 
perceptions of young people who attend special schools across County 
Durham. 

County Durham Youth Council rationale 

11 Following the extensive consultations with CYP in primary, secondary 
and special schools, all parties have indicated that they would welcome 
a countywide youth council whose remit it would be to address 
overarching themes that affect young people countywide and 
nationwide. Common emerging themes include the climate emergency, 
mental health, poverty and improving the say of CYP. Sitting at a county 
level, young people would have the scope to work with cross-service 
teams to affect meaningful change.  

County Durham Youth Council set up 

12 In response to the emerging themes, Education Durham advisers have 
looked at what it would take to set up a youth council with a view to this 

Page 775



 

 

being operational from 2020 onwards. Other youth council structures 
have been explored to establish what will work most effectively in our 
County. Most local authorities have their own youth council, including 
our geographic neighbours. Officers have contacted key personnel 
responsible for the set up and running of youth councils in 
Northumberland, North Yorkshire, Cumbria, Manchester and Liverpool 
and have taken elements from each structure to formulate a County 
Durham model.   

13 It is proposed that from February 2020, 11-17-year olds will be elected 
by their school/college to have a seat on the youth council. This model 
works well in other counties as it ensures a cross-section of areas are 
represented. Promotional information and guidance for staff will be 
issued to ensure that nominations consider issues of equality (see 
Equalities Impact Assessment - appendix 2). 

14 There will also be two seats available for young people who are 
electively home-educated or Not in Education, Employment or Training. 
Based on the most recent data, 575 CYP are in one of these categories, 
which is equivalent to one of our small secondary schools. There will 
also be one allocated seat on the youth council for young people in 
care/care leavers. In order to reach these CYP, we will set up a network 
(database) of contacts with voluntary sector organisations and propose 
building a website to share useful information with CYP and their 
parents/carers. CYP would contact the Council with expressions of 
interest in being involved in the CDYC. Two advisers would meet with 
interested parties to informally discuss the role and, depending on 
levels of interest, two candidates would be selected based on their 
commitment to the role, a supporting statement from an appropriate 
adult and their willingness to attend meetings and events. 

15 Following an initial welcome meeting in April, the Youth Council’s 
agenda and operational structure will be decided by the young people 
themselves. If all schools/colleges nominate two representatives, the 
Youth Council will have around 80 members. Young people may want 
to elect youth portfolio holders, an executive committee, or set up 
working groups based on priorities. It is anticipated that a proposed 
implementation fund will enable young people to affect meaningful 
changes. 

16 Inclusivity is of paramount importance and has been highlighted as a 
potential issue by CYP. Officers are, therefore, exploring options to 
organise additional countywide youth voice activities with primary, 
secondary and special school pupils at ‘Big Meets’. These would be 
open forums, facilitated by the Youth Council, on a specific subject e.g. 
mental health. These events would give a wider range of children the 
opportunity to discuss issues and solutions in line with youth council 
operations. This event would be facilitated by Youth Council members, 

Page 776



 

 

thus strengthening primary and secondary links, and giving Youth 
Council members the opportunity to develop their engagement and 
leadership skills. 

Estimated resource requirements 

17 Financial costs to set up and run the CDYC (elections, meetings, 
transport, administration and marketing) are estimated at circa £10,000 
per year. Once the CDYC has met and agreed priorities, it is suggested 
that they are allocated a project implementation fund of £20,000 per 
year to support project delivery.  

UK Youth Parliament 

18 Education Durham Advisers met with County Durham’s three current 
UK Youth Parliament (UKYP) representatives in June. The young men, 
who all attend Durham Sixth Form Centre, put themselves forward to be 
UKYP representatives in 2018 after getting in touch with the British 
Youth Council. As there were no seat holders representing the County 
at the time, an election was held within their Sixth Form and they were 
accepted as UKYP representatives thereafter. They attended the 
UKYP’s sitting in the House of Commons in November 2018.   

19 Census data indicates that the number of 11-18-year olds has fallen 
slightly over the past five years. Consequently, in 2019-20 County 
Durham only qualifies for two UKYP seats. Current UKYP 
representatives are turning 19 this year and have moved onto 
university, resulting in them rescinding their seats.  

20 If it is agreed to establish the CDYC, all CDYC members will be given 
the opportunity to stand as members of the UK Youth Parliament. 
Young people will need to apply for this role which will involve sharing a 
manifesto highlighting their vision. Applications will be accepted in 
different formats to meet the needs of all young people. Once 
applications have been submitted, CDYC members will vote for the two 
UKYP representatives. The two applicants with the highest number of 
votes will assume the role and those in third and fourth place will be 
deputy UKYP representatives, shadowing the work of the UKYP 
representatives.  

21 The UK Youth Parliament is run by the British Youth Council, which 
Durham County Council, as a local authority, became members of in the 
Summer of 2019. This helped to facilitate the running of the ‘Make Your 
Mark’ ballot (MYM) in County Durham in the Autumn of 2019.  

22 Make Your Mark is the UK’s largest youth ballot which gives young 
people the chance to vote on issues that are most important to them. 
Only 155 11-18-year olds in County Durham completed the ballot in 
2018, but, this year, 15,699 votes were cast from 19 schools and 
colleges. County Durham’s results were sent to the UK Youth 

Page 777



 

 

Parliament and the top five issues nationally were debated in the UK 
Youth Parliament’s sitting in the House of Commons in November 2019. 
These debates included County Durham’s top priorities: ‘protect the 
environment’, ‘put an end to knife crime’ and ‘improve mental health 
services’. It is anticipated that, once set up, County Durham Youth 
Council may wish to focus some of their work around the identified 
priorities, which would enable the County Durham Youth Council to 
receive additional support from the British Youth Council. 

23 UKYP representatives will have the opportunity to attend regional and 
national youth conferences organised by the British Youth Council. 
UKYP reps will also represent the County at the UK Youth Parliament’s 
sitting in the House of Commons which takes place annually in 
November.  

Estimated resource requirements 

24 Financial costs to set up and support UK Youth Parliament 
representatives (elections, meetings, transport, administration and 
marketing) are estimated at circa £5,000 per year. It is suggested that 
UK Youth Parliament projects, which deliver against the priorities 
identified in the Make Your Mark ballot, are also funded from the 
£20,000 project implementation fund mentioned in paragraph 17 above. 

Additional resource requirement to support both the County Durham 
Youth Council and the UK Youth parliament 

25 Establishing and running County Durham Youth Council (CDYC) and 
supporting County Durham representation on the UK Youth Parliament 
will require ongoing dedicated staff time and financial backing. It is 
estimated that staff time to support the work will be three days per 
week, with an additional one day per week administration support; at an 
estimated cost of £35,000 per year. 

County Durham Children and Young People’s Awards 

26 Celebrating the contributions and success of Children and Young 
People across County Durham is a priority for the council and its 
partners. Research has been undertaken to scope out the awards on 
offer across teams, services and organisations to explore the 
effectiveness of the current approach to awards. Across County 
Durham, a wide range of awards are on offer for CYP. Some are 
service specific and CYP would only be aware of the award following 
involvement with that service, however some awards are Countywide. 
Consultation has taken place across the following services and 
organisations to gather the information about the awards on offer: 

(a) Children’s Social Care; 

(b) Early Help, Inclusion and Vulnerable Children; 

Page 778



 

 

(c) Education; 

(d) 3 Towns AAP; 

(e) Health; 

(f) Criminal Justice; 

(g) Fire Brigade.  

Children’s Social Care 

27 The service hosts an annual Care Leavers Award in October – named 
the ‘Exceptional People in Care Awards’ - as decided by young people. 
The awards are held during National Care Leavers week to celebrate 
those who are making a success of their lives. The annual Celebrate 
Me awards, which run each July, also recognises the successes and 
contributions of young people year 10 and below who are looked after. 
Some individual teams across the service offer specific awards for their 
CYP on an ad hoc basis such as the Seaham ‘Child of the Month’ 
award which recognises achievements of their young people. The 
fostering service hold annual events each March to recognise the 
dedication and commitment of those who provide safe and nurturing 
homes to CYP.  

Early Help, Inclusion and Vulnerable Children 

28 The Early help, Inclusion and Vulnerable Children service host the 
annual Young Parent’s Celebration event in July and the DurhamWorks 
Achievements award in May. The young parent’s celebration event 
recognises teenage parents who have completed a course to help 
develop their life skills and the Young Achievements Award celebrates 
the employment, training and education success of young people 
involved with the DurhamWorks service. 

Education 

29 Consultation across the education service highlighted that most awards 
are hosted by individual schools. The 100% attendance award is hosted 
by the council each September to recognise those young people who 
have exceptional commitment to school attendance throughout the 
academic year. Further consultation needs to be held with schools and 
young people to identify the best approach to awarding education 
achievements at a County level.  

3 Towns AAP  

30 3 Towns AAP have longstanding awards for CYP aged 9-18 who live in 
the local area. The awards, which run regularly, though not annually, 
recognise the real differences young people make to the communities of 
Crook, Willington and Tow Law. The awards cover a wide range of 

Page 779



 

 

topics such as Help in the Community, Green Champion, Team Work, 
Young Hero, Young Person’s Choice Award, Youth Project of the Year, 
Young Carers Award, Young Role Model and a Wild Card Award.  

Criminal Justice 

31 The High Sheriff of Durham and County Durham Community 
Foundation present the ‘High Sheriff Awards’ in March for organisations 
supporting young people in the North East.  

Fire Brigade 

32 County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Service participate in 
the national ‘Excellence in Fire and Emergency Awards’ which have 
been running annually in December for the last six years. The awards 
include one category for children and young people – ‘Youth Champion 
of the Year’, which is given to an individual or team that has excelled on 
a young people’s course, demonstrating clear improvement in 
behaviour, performance and positive contribution to their community. 

Other awards 

33 Durham Constabulary, Durham County Council along with partners and 
local businesses fund and host the Young Heroes Awards (a joint 
initiative between all three organisations) every May. The awards 
recognise inspirational young people who have made a positive 
contribution to the community with acts of bravery, personal 
achievement and random acts of kindness.  

34 Shildon Town Council host the annual Children and Young People 
Awards each November for talented and exceptional young people in 
Shildon and the surrounding area. A wide range of awards are on offer 
such as the Performing Arts Award, Henry Nicholson ‘Can Do’ Award, 
Sports and/or Physical Activity Award, Young Person’s Choice, 
Community Champion Award, School Award and Special Achievement 
and Recognition Award.  

35 The Bridge Young Carers Service, Durham County Council and Health 
partners host a Young Carers Awards evening during November to 
celebrate the achievements of young carers in County Durham and 
recognise the help they receive from practitioners. Called the High Five 
awards, they are centred on the Durham High Five Themes: Be Strong, 
Be Safe, Be Healthy, Be You and Be a Voice. There are also special 
awards for young carers in the categories of Outstanding Achievement, 
Community Champion and Family Success. 

Next steps 

36 Consultation highlights a wide range of awards on offer across the 
county for our CYP. Developing a countywide award for CYP would 

Page 780



 

 

enable us to celebrate successes from across teams, services and 
youth organisations. We have consulted with young people at Children 
and Families Partnership meetings and through primary, secondary and 
special school workshops and feedback has highlighted that whilst 
school-based awards celebrate local achievements, particularly 
academic achievements, young people would like more recognition for 
additional achievements including voluntary/charity work. Once the 
Youth Council is set up, members will decide upon award categories 
which will then be shared with schools, colleges and youth 
organisations.  

37 From April 2020, schools, colleges and youth organisations will be able 
to nominate young people for awards, which will be presented at a 
County-wide event in July. This will be a co-produced event with CYP at 
the heart of decision making.  

38 Other areas host annual ‘Child Friendly Awards’ across the local 
authority which enables them to effectively celebrate all the work that is 
happening across a wide geographical area. This may be an approach 
for us to consider, as it would enable us to host an annual county 
council initiative to celebrate the achievements of young people for a 
wide range of successes. Adopting a countywide approach would 
highlight the council’s commitment to celebrating the achievements of 
our young people, further encouraging young people to be actively 
involved in participation across County Durham.   

Estimated resource requirements 

39 There will be some financial costs and staff resource time associated 
with organising and running countywide awards. It is estimated that 10 
to 15 staff days will be required to support the County Durham Youth 
Council to co-produce and run the awards. There will also be costs for 
marketing, producing the awards, administration materials and running 
the awards ceremony. It is estimated that total costs would be circa 
£8,000, depending on the number of awards, venue, speakers and 
entertainment. 

Age relevant engagement mechanisms 

40 Age relevant engagement mechanisms are methods of engaging with 
CYP that they are most likely to access in large numbers across the 
county e.g. using the current social media apps. Discussions took place 
with officers from the council Communications and Marketing team to 
discuss age related mechanisms to increase engagement activity for 
CYP. The consensus was that available council channels are quite 
limited with regards to age appropriate mechanisms, there is also the 
question around viability of channels and which media CYP use. 

Page 781



 

 

41 Young people have told us that they would like e-communications to be 
considered as a tool for sharing messages. Rather than developing a 
costly website at this stage, the council’s website could host a central 
page that could be linked to from forums which young people are 
already engaged with. You tube could be used to promote stories and, if 
appropriate, posters and flyers could be produced for specific activities, 
events or to promote messages. Once the CDYC has been established 
we will discuss other options to appropriate communication channels to 
ensure they are current, relevant and ultimately fit for purpose. 

42 Officers agreed that existing communication points through schools, 
colleges and community groups should be used to share messages with 
young people. Placing relevant information on the schools extranet to 
reach pupils and teachers would be a useful avenue to use, and further 
engagement work could be carried out face to face at existing or new 
community events or groups.                  

Estimated resource requirements 

43 There will be costs associated with marketing and communications work 
for the enhanced suite of engagement mechanisms including digital 
campaign, artwork, new website/microsite, banner stands at £8,000 in 
year one and £4,000 in subsequent years. 

Future plans 

Children and Young People Participation and Engagement Strategy 

44 The Children and Young People’s Strategy 2019 – 2022 identifies that 
involving CYP in decision making will be key to ensuring the best 
possible services are provided to improve outcomes for CYP. To 
facilitate this, it will be essential that partners follow an agreed 
framework and methodology, linked to appropriate performance 
management frameworks, which will provide clarity, structure and 
accountability for all multi-agency participation and engagement 
activities with CYP.  

45 To establish this framework and methodology it is proposed that a CYP 
Participation and Engagement Strategy (CYP PES) is developed and 
agreed by partners and CYP. For this to be adopted by all stakeholders, 
partner organisations and CYP, it will need to be co-produced with 
partner and CYP representatives.  

46 To facilitate the CYP PES development process Durham County 
Council, partners and children and young people would work together to 
develop a bespoke CYP PES, based on best practice and the needs of 
children and young people across the county. The key stakeholders in 
developing and adopting the CYP PES are representatives of Durham 
County Council and partner services with links to improving the lives of 

Page 782



 

 

children and young people, and the children and young people 
themselves.  

47 Identifying representatives from the council and partner services will be 
a simple process, utilising existing networks such as the Children and 
Families Partnership, the Safe Durham Partnership, the Integrated 
Steering Group for Children and the Health and Wellbeing Board. 
However, identifying CYP that would be representative of other CYP 
across the county would, currently, be difficult as the networks are not 
fully established.  

48 Therefore, in order to ensure buy in from as many CYP as possible, it 
would be prudent to develop the CYP PES with the children and young 
people elected to the County Durham Youth Council, as one of their first 
projects following the elections in early 2020.  

Conclusions 

49 Ensuring young people have a voice which is embedded in designing, 
delivering, monitoring and evaluating local services for children and 
young people is central to the work of the council and partner 
organisations. This report details several enhancements that will weave 
children’s rights into systems, structures, policies and practice which will 
bring about positive outcomes for children and young people, making 
real differences to their quality of life. Adopting these enhancements will 
build on progress which has been made over recent years.  

50 It is proposed that in order to enhance engagement mechanisms for 
CYP across County Durham a two-tier approach should be introduced 
in 2020/21 (a summary model can be seen in appendix 3). The new 
mechanisms to raise the voice of CYP should complement each other 
and be enhanced countywide and nationally. This has resulted in the 
following conclusions: 

(a) at a countywide level – set up and establish a County Durham 
Youth Council; 

(b) at a national level – elect two new representatives to the UK 
Youth Council. 

51 To maximise the benefits, it will be essential for all partner organisation 
to be involved with the new enhanced engagement mechanisms. Future 
development should, once the two-tier approach has been established, 
include DCC working with partners and CYP to further investigate the 
options of establishing AAP Youth Forums and County Durham 
becoming a Unicef Child Friendly County.  

52 To support this work DCC would work with the CDYC to develop a 
Children and Young People Engagement and Participation Strategy, 

Page 783



 

 

which would include the identification of age relevant engagement 
mechanisms. 

53 Finally, it will be important to celebrate the work of the newly 
established enhanced engagement mechanisms, and Durham County 
Council and the CDYC should work together to plan and run an annual 
countywide County Durham CYP Awards event. A timetable and key 
milestones for the enhanced engagement mechanisms can be seen in 
appendix 4. 

Background papers 

• Children and Young People’s Strategy 2019 – 2022; 

• ‘Durham County Council Engagement with Children and Young 
People – As Citizens and Service Users’ Cabinet Report 10 July 
2019. 

Other useful documents 

• None 

 

Contact: Richard Crane Tel: 03000 265731 

 Gordon Elliott Tel: 03000 263604 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 784



 

 

Appendix 1 - Implications                                                                                              

Legal Implications 

None 

Finance 

The financial implications of further enhancing children and young people’s 
engagement will be included as base budget pressures in MTFP (10). 

Consultation 

Future consultation to establish the proposed enhanced engagement 

mechanisms will be carried out when and as required.  

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

An Equality Impact Assessment has been undertaken as part of the process 

for developing the Youth Council proposal and in attached at Appendix 2. 

Climate Change 

N/A 

Human Rights 

N/A 

Crime and Disorder 

N/A 

Staffing 

Proposed estimates for staffing resources are detailed in the report. Further 

staffing implications will be considered as proposals develop. 

Accommodation 

N/A 

Risk 

To not introduce the enhanced engagements fully would risk developing 

services without the voice of children and young people being truly embedded.  

Procurement 

To be considered as proposals develop. 

  

Page 785



 

 

Appendix 2 –Equalities Impact Assessment                                                                                              

Durham County Council Equality Impact Assessment 
NB: The Public Sector Equality Duty (Equality Act 2010) requires Durham County 
Council to have ‘due regard’ to the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination, 
harassment and victimisation, advance equality of opportunity and foster good 
relations between people from different groups. Assessing impact on equality and 
recording this is one of the key ways in which we can show due regard. 
 

Section One: Description and Screening 
Service/Team or Section 
 

Children and Young People Services 

Lead Officer 
 

Richard Crane 

Title 
 

County Durham Youth Council/UKYP 
representation 

MTFP Reference (if relevant) 
 

 

Cabinet Date (if relevant) 
 

January 2020 

Start Date 
 

January 2020 

Review Date 
 

January 2021 

 
Subject of the Impact Assessment 

Please give a brief description of the policy, proposal or practice as appropriate (a 
copy of the subject can be attached or insert a web-link): 
 

Following extensive consultations with children and young people across all phases 
and types of school and setting, we propose setting up a County-wide youth council 
to ensure that young people have a platform to have their voices heard, to share 
opinions and to address priorities for CYP moving forward.  
 
The rationale behind this is that young people have told us that they don’t feel they 
have their voices heard beyond their immediate (i.e. school/ college) environment 
or that they can make a real difference. They would welcome meeting up with young 
people across the County to address issues that have potential to affect all young 
people, including environmental concerns, access to mental health services and 
poverty.  
 
Education advisers have researched youth council models across many other local 
authorities including Northumberland, North Yorkshire, Cumbria, Manchester and 
Liverpool and have taken elements from each model to create an approach that 
factors in the broad geographical reach of our County. We have also explored where 
we have strongest links to communicate with young people: presently through 
Education Durham who have a network of 271 schools and colleges but also through 
the ‘pupil placement and attendance’ team that monitors young people who are 
electively home educated or Not in Education Employment or Training (NEET). 

Page 786



 

 

 
We propose that schools and colleges hold elections to nominate two 
representatives to sit on the Youth Council. We will issue guidance to schools to 
ensure that elections are carried out fairly and that all young people have the 
potential to stand. We will advise against, for example, asking CYP to submit written 
manifestos as this could discriminate against pupils with literacy difficulties. 
 
At present, there are around 450 secondary-aged NEET young people in County 
Durham. This figure typically fluctuates to 500 during the Spring term. Based on the 
most recent data available (2018) 125 CYP were electively home-educated. On this 
basis, we propose that two additional seats are made available for young people 
who don’t access school/ college education. This figure has been arrived at based 
on the fact that some of our smaller schools have 500 or fewer pupils.  
 
As these young people wouldn’t be subject to a school/ college-based election we 
propose that young people initially get in touch via email or phone and they will be 
invited in to meet with a small and informal panel of 2 people to discuss why they 
would like to sit on the Council. If necessary, two CYP will be selected based on 
outcomes of the panel discussion.  
 
County Durham is also eligible for two seats on the UK’s Youth Parliament. It is 
proposed that, once the Youth Council is established, members will be able to apply 
to represent the County. As part of the application process, CYP will be asked to 
share their vision for the role, which can be done in numerous forms including 
through a written statement, pre-recorded video or presentation in order to meet any 
SEND needs of individuals. Applicants will need to commit to attending up to 3 
British Youth Council conferences and the UK Youth Parliament’s sitting in the 
House of Commons which takes place annually in November. It should be noted 
that there will be no cost for young people to attend these events. Members of the 
Youth Council will then all be granted 2 votes to decide upon their UK Youth 
Parliament representatives.  
 

 

Who are the main stakeholders? (e.g. general public, staff, members, specific 
clients/service users): 

11-17 year olds living in and/ or attending school/ college in County Durham  
 

 
Screening 

Is there any actual or potential negative or positive impact on the following protected 
characteristics? 
 

Protected Characteristic Negative Impact 
Indicate: Y = Yes 
N = No    ? = unsure 
 

Positive Impact 
Indicate: Y = Yes 
N = No    ? = unsure 
 

Age 
 

N Y 

Disability 
 

N Y 

Page 787



 

 

Marriage and civil partnership  
(workplace only) 

N/A N/A 

Pregnancy and maternity 
 

N N 

Race (ethnicity) 
 

N N 

Religion or Belief 
 

N N 

Sex (gender) 
 

N N 

Sexual orientation 
 

N N 

Transgender 
 

N N 

 

Please provide brief details of any potential to cause adverse impact. Record full 
details and analysis in the following section of this assessment. 
 

At a governor’s briefing event in the Autumn 2019, one primary-school governor 
expressed disappointment that the Youth Council will initially be open to 11-17 year 
olds as opposed to primary pupils. It was explained that the sensitive nature of some 
of the topics being discussed at secondary- and special school consultations, 
including knife crime, sexual discrimination and drug/ alcohol abuse led to the 
considered decision being taken that initially, a secondary-aged council would be 
established, with a view to exploring options for a junior council subsequently. In 
order to fully involve primary aged pupils in decision-making, we have agreed to host 
a ‘youth summit’ event, which will bring together primary pupils from across the 
County to discuss issues that they tell us are important to them. Moreover, we are 
exploring options to more regularly capture the views of CYP including looking at 
child-friendly app-based tools. In Y2 we will look at the potential for setting up a 
children’s youth council for primary-aged pupils to run alongside our main youth 
council. 
 
Because of our current and proposed mitigating actions we do not anticipate a 
negative impact upon primary school aged children.  
 

 

How will this policy/proposal/practice promote our commitment to our legal 
responsibilities under the public sector equality duty to: 
 

• eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation,  

• advance equality of opportunity, and  

• foster good relations between people from different groups? 
 

The project gives younger people a voice and aims to improve relations and 
communication between them and those in older age groups. It has the potential to 
break down the negative stigma that young people can also feel due to the way they 
can be portrayed in the media, for example.  
 

Page 788



 

 

We have explored numerous models for setting up a Youth Council: particularly in 
relation to an election process. The model we are proposing will allow all young 
people aged 11-17 a fair chance to sit on the council and will positively benefit this 
age group through facilitating regular meetings for young people. In addition, the 
suggested £20,000 implementation fund will enable young people to affect 
meaningful change across the County. This is the first time that young people will 
have the means to make changes on this scale.  
 
By asking for representation from every school/ college, it encourages participation 
from groups that could otherwise be marginalised, including those with SEND/ 
SEMH difficulties. It also takes into consideration young people living in rural areas 
such as Weardale and Teesdale. The inclusion of seats for electively home 
educated and NEET young people means that these groups also have the 
opportunity to be represented, which wouldn’t be the case if our only engagement 
vehicles were schools and colleges.  
 

 
Evidence 

What evidence do you have to support your findings?  
Please outline your data sets and/or proposed evidence sources, highlight any gaps 
and say whether or not you propose to carry out consultation. Record greater detail 
and analysis in the following section of this assessment. 
 

Education Durham advisers have consulted with a broad range of CYP in 
preparation for the set-up of the County Durham Youth Council, ensuring that 
protected characteristics including gender, age and SEND have been considered.  
 
Consultations have been carried out over an extensive period with the following 
groups:  
 

• Primary schools 

• Secondary schools 

• Special schools (SEND)  

• Special schools (SEMH)  
 
In so doing, we have collated opinions from CYP of different ages (9-25), genders, 
SEND profiles and pupils whom are currently looked after. (Further data can be 
provided if required.) Whilst all consultations have been based around similar 
themes, approaches and resources have been adapted to meet the needs of all 
participants. As an example, we chunked activities for the SEMH session and 
ensured the session time was kept to 1 hour maximum to respond to the needs of 
the group. Similarly, we adapted resources for a visually impaired secondary pupil.   
 
When we approach schools to elect two youth council representatives, we will issue 
guidance to ensure that staff consider equality of opportunity for all young people. 
Guidance will highlight to staff the importance of ensuring: 

• all pupils are made aware of the opportunity (using varied mechanisms to 
communicate this with CYP) 

• the application process is inclusive (i.e. if a manifesto is required, that this 
can be submitted in various forms)  

Page 789



 

 

• that all pupils are given the opportunity to vote for their 2 Youth Council 
members 

 
When schools and colleges put forward their two elected representatives, we will 
ask for equalities information to be sent to enable us to review and monitor the 
diversity of the youth council. If necessary, we will contact schools for additional 
information to ensure that individual needs can be met during meetings. Any gaps 
in representation will be identified and we will seek to carry out additional 
consultations with young people in these groups where appropriate to ensure that 
our youth council is truly reflective of the breadth of young people that make up 
County Durham. This could be done through our Youth Summits, for example. From 
our conversations with other youth council staff, a variety of young people tend to 
be represented, however it is important that we monitor this for ourselves. 
 
County Durham Youth Council members will also be influential in shaping the 
organisational and logistical structure of the Council, including where and when to 
meet. This is to ensure that all young people are included in important decisions 
around making meetings accessible.  

 
Screening Summary 

On the basis of this screening is there: 
 

Confirm which 
refers (Y/N) 

Evidence of actual or potential impact on some/all of the protected 
characteristics which will proceed to full assessment? 
 

N 

No evidence of actual or potential impact on some/all of the 
protected characteristics? 
 

N 

 
 
Sign Off 

Lead officer sign off: 
Richard Crane – Head of Education  
 

Date: 21st Nov 2019 

Service equality representative sign off: 
 

 

Date:  20th November 
2019 

 
If carrying out a full assessment, please proceed to section two. 
If not proceeding to full assessment, please return completed screenings to your 
service equality representative and forward a copy to equalities@durham.gov.uk 
If you are unsure of potential impact, please contact the corporate research and 
equalities team for further advice at equalities@durham.gov.uk 

 

 

 

Page 790

mailto:equalities@durham.gov.uk
mailto:equalities@durham.gov.uk
mailto:equalities@durham.gov.uk
mailto:equalities@durham.gov.uk


 

 

Appendix 3 – Youth Voice: Enhanced Engagement Summary Model 

 

 

 

Two CYP will be voted by the CDYC to be 
members of the UK Youth Parliament. Their 
role will be to represent the views of County 

Durham's CYP on a national platform. 

The Youth Council will be made up of 2 reps 
from all secondary/ special schools and 

colleges, plus 2 reps whom are electively 
home educated or Not in Education, 

Employment or Training. The Council will 
address issues that are important to CYP. 

Youth Summits will bring together primary 
pupils and non-CDYC members from 

secondary/ special schools, colleges and CVS 
organisations to share their thoughts and 

ideas across the County.

An annual awards event will celebrate the 
many successes of CYP across the County. 

CDYC members will decide upon award 
categories and consultation feedback will 

inform the planning of the event. 

Page 791



 

 

Appendix 4 – Timeline and Milestones                                                                                             

January – July 2020 summary 

 January February March April May June July 

Youth 
Council 

Youth council set up  Youth council operational 
Promote YC 

opportunities to 
schools, colleges 

and network 

In-school 
elections for 2 

reps plus 
applications 

from EHE/ NEET 
CYP 

EHE/ NEET 
meetings and 

school rep 
information 

forwarded to 
DCC 

 

20th April – first 
CDYC meeting 

 24th June – 
second CDYC 

meeting 

 

UKYP Reps UKYP rep set up UKYP reps in post  
Promote YC opportunities to schools, colleges and 

network 
 

Information on 
roles and 

responsibilities of 
UKYP reps shared 

with CDYC 
 

Candidates work 
on applications 

Application 
deadline (after 

exams) and 
CDYC vote for 

two reps 

UKYP reps 
take up post 

Awards 
event   

Event preparation Nominations and invitations  Event  
Book venue Seek sponsorship and promote 

event through comms channels 
CDYC to decide on 
awards categories; 
share immediately 

with schools, 
colleges and 

network 

Nominations 
window closes 

20.05.2020; all CYP 
receive letter of 

commendation and 
shortlisted CYP and 
families are invited 
to awards evening 

 

Deadline for 
nominees and 

families to 
confirm 

attendance 

1st July 2020: 
Awards event 

 

P
age 792



 

             

        

 Cabinet 

15 January 2020 

 WASPI Concessionary Travel Scheme 

 Ordinary Decision 

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Ian Thompson, Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local 
Services 

Councillor Carl Marshall, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Economic 
Regeneration 

 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide. 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To consider the introduction of a discretionary local travel concession to 
assist women across County Durham who have been most impacted by 
the Government’s State Pension Age (SPA) changes. 

Executive summary 

2 The Government’s changes to statutory SPA have left women waiting 
longer for their pension income than was initially set out in the 1995 
Pensions Act.  These women are also having to wait longer for benefits 
that are commensurate with the SPA, including their English National 
Concessionary Travel Pass (ENCTS). 

3 Women born between December 1953 and November 1954 have seen 
their SPA increase by 18 months (the maximum increase brought about 
by the 2011 Pensions Act) and are considered to have suffered the 
greatest financial hardship as a result of the pension changes. 

4 In order to help alleviate some of the financial hardship caused by the 
changes in SPA, it is proposed to introduce a discretionary travel 
scheme for those women most impacted by the changes in SPA, which 
would operate in a similar way to the English National Concessionary 
Travel Scheme (ENCTS). 

 

Page 793

Agenda Item 11



Recommendation(s) 

5 Cabinet is recommended to: 

(a) Approve the introduction of a local concessionary travel scheme 
from 1 March 2020 for those women born between December 
1953 and 5 November 1954 who have not already reached State 
Pension Age. 

  

Page 794



Background 

6 We have received a number of requests from residents, local members 
and MPs asking us to consider providing assistance with travel costs for 
women who have been affected by the 2011 state pension age 
changes. 

7 The pension age changes have resulted in some women being 
financially worse off, due to waiting longer for pension income than was 
initially set out in the 1995 Pensions Act.  These women are also having 
to wait longer for benefits that are commensurate with the State 
Pension Age, including their English National Concessionary Travel 
Pass (ENCTS). 

Pension Changes 

8 The Pensions Act 1995 was brought in to equalise the State Pension 
Age (SPA) for men and women.  This resulted in the SPA for women 
increasing from 60 to 65 over the period from April 2010 to 2020. 

9 The Pensions Act 2011 accelerated the latter part of this timetable, 
starting in April 2016, when women’s SPA was 63 years, such that their 
SPA would now reach 65 years in November 2018.  The equalised SPA 
would then have risen to 66 by April 2020. 

10 Because of concerns expressed at the short notice of these significant 
changes for some women, the Government made a concession when 
the legislation was in its final stages.  This limited the maximum 
increase under the 2011 Act to 18 months. 

11 The Pensions Act 2014 further increased the State Pension Age from 
66 to 67 between 2026 and 2028. 

12 The chart below shows how women’s SPA changed, as a result of the 
Pensions Acts of 1995, 2007, 2011 and 2014.  

Page 795



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

WASPI Campaign 

13 The campaign ‘Women against State Pension Inequality (WASPI)’ was 
launched in 2015 and is one of a number of groups which are lobbying 
on this issue.  WASPI aims to “achieve fair transitional state pension 
arrangements for women born in the 1950s (born on or after 6 April 
1951)”. 

14 WASPI agrees with the equalisation of the SPA but does not agree with 
the “unfair way the changes were implemented – with little or no 
personal notice (1995/2011 Pension Acts); faster than promised (2011 
Pension Act); and no time to make alternative plans”. 

Women Affected 

15 In total, there are approximately 35,000 women in County Durham who 
have been impacted by the Government’s pension changes (i.e. those 
born between June 1950 and April 1960).  Some of these women have 
already reached state pension age and are therefore automatically 
entitled to a concessionary bus pass. 

16 Whilst all women born in the 1950s have been affected by the 1995 
Pensions Act to equalise the SPA (as have all women born later), it is 
the 2011 Act, which accelerated the increase, which is considered to 
have had the most adverse effect on a proportion of these women. 

17 The Department for Work and Pensions disclosed in a Freedom of 
Information Request that some women were not notified of the changes 
resulting from the 1995 Pension Act until 2009.  This would mean, for 

Page 796



example, that a woman born in December 1953 could have found out at 
the age of 56 that their retirement age was rising from 60 to 63 years 
and 9 months.  They were then subsequently informed, in 2011, that the 
accelerated timetable would add an additional 18 months to this 
timescale. 

18 The age group most affected by these changes are women born 
between December 1953 and 5 November 1954, whose SPA has 
increased by 18 months; the maximum increase brought about by the 
2011 Pensions Act.  It is therefore considered that this age group has 
suffered the greatest financial hardship as a result of the pension 
changes. 

Concessionary Travel Scheme 

19 In order to help alleviate some of the financial hardship caused by the 
changes in SPA, the Council has powers under the Transport Act 1985 
to implement a discretionary travel scheme, which would operate in a 
similar way to the English National Concessionary Travel Scheme 
(ENCTS). 

20 The ENCTS is a national scheme, that provides free off-peak local bus 
travel (between 9.30am and 11pm Monday to Friday, and all day at 
weekends and on public holidays) to everyone of state pensionable age 
on all local buses anywhere in England. 

21 In addition to ENCTS, the Council provides County Durham pass 
holders with non-statutory, local concessions, allowing free bus travel 
between 11pm and midnight on Monday to Friday, and 50 pence single 
fares for travel before 9.30am. 

22 A discretionary travel scheme for those women most affected by the 
SPA changes would have similar benefits to ENCTS card holders.  
However, because the scheme is a locally implemented scheme, it 
would only allow concessionary travel for journeys boarding or alighting 
at bus stops within the administrative boundary of County Durham. 

23 Initial discussions have been held with Nexus (the transport authority for 
Tyne & Wear) and dialogue continues with the north east authorities to 
explore the possibility of expanding this scheme to become a regional 
offer. 

24 The main bus operators are supportive of the local concessionary travel 
scheme and have agreed the principles and outline terms for 
reimbursement of revenue foregone.  However, it is necessary to 
formally publish the scheme and agree operational details, it is therefore 
proposed that the travel concession would begin on 1 March 2020. 

Page 797



25 There are approximately 3,000 women in County Durham who were 
born between 6 December 1953 and 5 November 1954, the group most 
impacted by the SPA changes.  However, some of this cohort have 
already qualified for their ENCTS bus pass.  It is therefore estimated 
that up to 1,000 women could benefit from the introduction of the 
scheme from 1 March 2020 as described above. 

26 Women born on or before 5 November 1954 will be able to apply for 
their travel pass from 1 February 2020 and start using it from 1 March 
2020.  Applications for the scheme would be managed in the same way 
as for standard ENCTS passes i.e. through the Council’s customer 
access points or by post. 

Financial consideration 

27 There are approximately 3,000 women in County Durham Born between 
December 1953 and November 1954.  Of these 2,000 will have reached 
the qualification age for a concessionary travel pass under the ENCTS 
scheme by 1 March 2020.  This leaves approximately 1,000 women 
who would be eligible to apply under the proposed local scheme. 

28 Based on data from existing ENCTS users, the likely take up of passes 
amongst this cohort would be around 70%, with each pass holder 
making an average number of journeys costing £180 per annum in 
reimbursement costs. 

29 The estimated cost of reimbursement to bus operators for the local 
concessionary travel scheme has been forecast at £54,000. In addition, 
there would be a cost for production and issue of passes estimated to 
be £2,500. 

30 All women within this cohort will have reached statutory pension age 
(and therefore qualify for free travel under ENCTS) by 5 November 
2020.  The estimate of £56,500 is therefore the total estimated cost of 
implementing the discretionary travel scheme, and not an annual 
recurring figure. 

31 It is proposed that the costs of these proposals would be funded from 
reserves. 

Alternative options 

32 To extend the scheme to all WASPI women (i.e. those born up to April 
1960) would add an additional 20,300 women to the cohort of eligibility 
and give benefits for some women for up to a maximum of six years and 
two months.  The estimated cost of this option is in excess of £1million 
and is considered to be cost prohibitive in the current financial 
conditions. 

Page 798



Equality Act Compliance 

33 From a legal perspective, the Equality Act 2010 recognises that some 
groups (e.g. women) are disadvantaged in some areas of life due to 
past or current discrimination and makes it lawful to take ‘positive 
action’.  For positive action measures to be considered lawful, three 
conditions must be satisfied: 

• The employer or service provider must reasonably think that the 
group in question suffers a disadvantage, has different needs, or 
has a disproportionately low level of participation; 

• The employer or service provider takes action with the aim of 
enabling or encouraging the group to overcome or minimise their 
disadvantage, meeting their needs, or enabling or encouraging 
participation; and 

• The action is a proportionate means of achieving that aim - that 
is, that the action is both appropriate and necessary to achieve 
the aim. 

34 Action that involves different treatment that does not meet all three 
conditions is likely to be considered unlawful.  In line with similar 
concessionary travel schemes introduced in Manchester and West 
Midlands, it is considered that the proposed scheme will meet the 
relevant legal requirements and will comply with the Equality Act 2010 if 
implemented by the Council. 

35 A full Equality Impact Assessment included as appendix 2 

Conclusion 

36 In order to relieve some of the financial hardship for women who have 
seen their State Pension Age increase by 18 months (the maximum 
increase brought about by the 2011 Pensions Act), it is proposed to 
implement a local concessionary travel scheme for women born on or 
before 5 November 1954. 

Background papers 

• None. 

  

Page 799



Other useful documents 

• UK Parliament Briefing Paper “State Pension age increases for 
women born in the 1950s” 
https://researchbriefings.files.parliament.uk/documents/CBP-
7405/CBP-7405.pdf 

 

Contact: Adrian White Tel:  03000 267455 

  

Page 800

https://researchbriefings.files.parliament.uk/documents/CBP-7405/CBP-7405.pdf
https://researchbriefings.files.parliament.uk/documents/CBP-7405/CBP-7405.pdf
https://researchbriefings.files.parliament.uk/documents/CBP-7405/CBP-7405.pdf
https://researchbriefings.files.parliament.uk/documents/CBP-7405/CBP-7405.pdf


Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

It is considered that the proposed scheme will meet the relevant legal 
requirements and will comply with the Equality Act 2010 if implemented by the 
Council. 

Finance 

The total estimated cost of the local concessionary travel scheme has been 

forecast at £56,500.  All women within this cohort will have reached statutory 

pension age by 5 November 2020, and therefore will qualify for free travel 

under ENCTS.  This proposal is therefore a time limited commitment and not 

an annual recurring figure. It is proposed that these costs will be funded from 

reserves. 

Consultation 

Internal only. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

A full equality impact assessment is included at appendix 2. 

Climate Change 

The scheme encourages use of sustainable travel, which is considered 

beneficial to the environment in reducing carbon emissions and improving air 

quality. 

Human Rights 

None. 

Crime and Disorder 

None. 

Staffing 

The scheme will be managed by existing staff resources that facilitate the 

statutory concessionary travel scheme. 

Accommodation 

None. 

  

Page 801



Risk 

None. 

Procurement 

Concessionary passes will be sourced under the existing pass supplier 

arrangements. 

  

Page 802



Appendix 2:  Equality Impact Assessment 

 

Durham County Council Equality Impact Assessment 

NB: The Public Sector Equality Duty (Equality Act 2010) requires Durham County 

Council to have ‘due regard’ to the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination, 

harassment and victimisation, advance equality of opportunity and foster good 

relations between people from different groups. Assessing impact on equality and 

recording this is one of the key ways in which we can show due regard. 

Section One: Description and Screening 

Service/Team or Section 

 

REAL, Transport and contract services 

Lead Officer 

 

Adrian White, Head of transport and contract 
services 

Title 

 

WASPI Discretionary local travel concession  

MTFP Reference (if 
relevant) 

 

N/A 

Cabinet Date (if relevant) 

 

11 December 2019 

Start Date 

 

November 2019 

Review Date 

 

November 2020 

 

  

Page 803



Subject of the Impact Assessment 

Please give a brief description of the policy, proposal or practice as appropriate (a 
copy of the subject can be attached or insert a web-link): 

 

Cabinet are being asked to consider the introduction of a discretionary local travel 
concession to assist women across County Durham who have been most 
impacted by the governments State Pension Age (SPA) changes. 

The government’s statutory changes to equalise SPA for men and women has left 
women waiting longer for their state pension income than was initially set out in the 
1995 Pensions Act. These women are also having to wait longer for benefits that 
are commensurate with the SPA, including their English National Concessionary 
Travel Pass (ENCTS). 

The Pensions Act 2011 accelerated the timetable for equalization of state pension 
ages of men and women. This has resulted in some women being worse off 
financially as a consequence of having to wait longer for their pension income than 
was initially set out in the 1995 Pensions Act, alongside a shorter notice period in 
which to adjust.  

Women born between 6 December 1953 and 5 November 1954 have seen their 
SPA increase by 18 months (the maximum increase brought about by the 2011 
Pensions Act) and are considered to have suffered the greatest financial hardship 
as a result of the pension changes. 

 

The campaign ‘Women against State Pension Inequality (WASPI)’ was launched 
in 2015 and is one of a number of groups who are lobbying on this issue. WASPI 
aims to “achieve fair transitional state pension arrangements for women born in 
the 1950s (born on or after 6 April 1951)”. 

 

WASPI agrees with the equalisation of the SPA but does not agree with the “unfair 
way the changes were implemented – with little or no personal notice (1995/2011 
Pension Acts); faster than promised (2011 Pension Act); and no time to make 
alternative plans”. 

 

In order to help alleviate some of the financial hardship caused by the changes in 
SPA, it is proposed to introduce a discretionary travel scheme for those women 
most impacted by the changes in SPA, which would operate in a similar way to the 
English National Concessionary Travel Scheme (ENCTS). 

 

 

Page 804



Who are the main stakeholders? (e.g. general public, staff, members, specific 
clients/service users): 

 

County Durham residents, especially women born between 6 December 1953 and 
5 November 1954 

 

 

Screening 

Is there any actual or potential negative or positive impact on the following 
protected characteristics? 

 

Protected Characteristic Negative Impact 

Indicate: Y = Yes, 

N = No, ? = unsure 

 

Positive Impact 

Indicate: Y = Yes, 

N = No, ? = unsure 

 

Age 

 

Y Y 

Disability 

 

N N 

Marriage and civil partnership  

(workplace only) 

N N 

Pregnancy and maternity 

 

N N 

Race (ethnicity) 

 

N N 

Religion or Belief 

 

N N 

Sex (gender) Y Y 

Page 805



 

Sexual orientation 

 

N N 

Transgender 

 

N N 

 

Please provide brief details of any potential to cause adverse impact. Record full 
details and analysis in the following section of this assessment. 

 

The proposal is likely to have a negative impact on women who have been 

affected by the 2011 changes but fall outside of the cohort to receive the pass. 

However, the women within the chosen cohort to benefit experience the greatest 
increase in pension age and are at the greater disadvantage. The increase 
reduces across later age ranges. Therefore, the negative impact for the women 
outside the chosen cohort is smaller. 

 

Men born between 1953 and 1960 for whom the SPA increased from 65 to 

66 will also be negatively impacted as they have seen an increase in SPA. 

However, the rate for men is slower than for women. Furthermore, evidence shows 
that women are more likely to have experienced disproportionate socio-economic 
disadvantage compared to men. 

 

 

How will this policy/proposal/practice promote our commitment to our legal 
responsibilities under the public sector equality duty to: 

• eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation,  

• advance equality of opportunity, and  

• foster good relations between people from different groups? 
 

The proposed initiative is likely to have a positive impact on female residents of the 
county born between 6 December 1953 and 5 November 1954. Although some of 
these women have already qualified for their ENCTS bus pass, it is estimated that 

Page 806



up to 1250 women could benefit from the introduction of a concessionary fare 
scheme from 1 February 2020. 

 

The initiative will enable women, in this cohort, to be granted a bus pass earlier 
than will be the case based upon the 2011 changes which will have a positive 
impact, especially for women from lower socio-economic groups, and help to 
minimise the disadvantages experienced by this group of women. 

 

 

Evidence 

What evidence do you have to support your findings?  

Please outline your data sets and/or proposed evidence sources, highlight any 
gaps and say whether or not you propose to carry out consultation. Record greater 
detail and analysis in the following section of this assessment. 

 

Chart 1: Changes in women’s SPA as a result of the Pensions Acts of 1995, 2007, 
2011 and 2014. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The age group most affected by these pension changes are women born between 
6 December 1953 and 5 November 1954, whose SPA has increased by 18 
months; the maximum increase brought about by the 2011 Pensions Act. It is 

Page 807



therefore considered that this age group have suffered the greatest financial 
hardship as a result of the pension changes. 

There are approximately 3000 women in County Durham who were born between 
these dates, however, some of this cohort have already qualified for their ENCTS 
bus pass. It is therefore estimated that up to 1250 women could benefit from the 
introduction of a concessionary fare scheme from 1 February 2020. 

The women more likely to apply for the bus pass are bus users. Women of this 
age cohort who use buses frequently, are more likely to be on lower incomes as 
bus users are generally more likely to be financially worse off (lower car 
ownership, lower income, bigger reliance on public transport/buses).  

 

Bus statistics state that women carry out a higher number of local bus stages per 
person per year (67 in England in 2016) than men (52 in England in 2016).1 

 

Background Data: Working age employment rates, economic in/activity and 
total weekly earnings in County Durham by sex (ages 16-64)2 

Employment rate: 79.1% (Male), 69.3% (Female) 

Full time employment rate: 89.4% (Male), 60.4% (Female) 

Economically inactive: 17% (Male), 27.5% (Female) 

Total average weekly earnings: £516 (Male), £352 (Female) 

 

 

 

Screening Summary 

On the basis of this screening is there: 

 

Confirm which 
refers (Y/N) 

Evidence of actual or potential impact on some/all of the protected 
characteristics which will proceed to full assessment? 

Y 

                                         
1 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/666759/
annual-bus-statistics-year-ending-march-2017.pdf 
 
2 https://www.durhaminsight.info/economy-and-employment/ 
 

Page 808

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/666759/annual-bus-statistics-year-ending-march-2017.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/666759/annual-bus-statistics-year-ending-march-2017.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/666759/annual-bus-statistics-year-ending-march-2017.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/666759/annual-bus-statistics-year-ending-march-2017.pdf
https://www.durhaminsight.info/economy-and-employment/
https://www.durhaminsight.info/economy-and-employment/


 

No evidence of actual or potential impact on some/all of the 
protected characteristics? 

 

N 

 

Sign Off 

Lead officer sign off: 

Adrian White, Head of transport and contract services 

 

Date: 28 Oct 2019 

Service equality representative sign off: 

Mary Gallagher, Equality and diversity team leader 

 

Date: 30 Oct 2019 

 

Page 809



Section Two: Data analysis and assessment of impact 

Please provide details on impacts for people with different protected characteristics 

relevant to your screening findings. You need to decide if there is or likely to be a 

differential impact for some. Highlight the positives e.g. benefits for certain groups, 

advancing equality, as well as the negatives e.g. barriers for and/or exclusion of 

particular groups. Record the evidence you have used to support or explain your 

conclusions. Devise and record mitigating actions where necessary. 

Protected Characteristic: Age 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Record of evidence to support 
or explain your conclusions on 
impact. 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

Positive impact on County 
Durham residents who are 
women born between 6 
December 1953 and 5 
November 1954, not already 
in receipt of a bus ENCTS 
pass. 

 

This is particularly positive 
for women of this age group 
(65 years old) who come 
from a lower socio-economic 
background and will help to 
minimise the disadvantages 
experienced by this age 
group of women. 

 

The proposal is likely to 
have a negative impact on 
women who have been 

affected by the 2011 
changes but fall outside of 
the cohort to receive the bus 
pass at an earlier date. 

 

The age group most affected 
by these changes are women 
born between 6 December 
1953 and 5 November 1954, 
whose SPA has increased by 
18 months; the maximum 
increase brought about by the 
2011 Pensions Act. It is 
therefore considered that this 
age group have suffered the 
greatest financial hardship as 
a result of the pension 
changes. 

Institute for Fiscal Studies3 
states: 

• Employment rates for 
women born in the 50s 
is lower than those 
born after the 1950s 

• Only 55% of women 
were in employment in 
1975. The majority of 
these women were 
working part-time (over 
80%). 

 

The above evidence 
demonstrates that women of 
this age group are less likely 

If proposal agreed 
develop a comms 
plan to ensure 
women in this 
cohort are aware 
of the initiative 

 

                                         
3 https://www.ifs.org.uk/uploads/BN234.pdf 
 

Page 810

https://www.ifs.org.uk/uploads/BN234.pdf
https://www.ifs.org.uk/uploads/BN234.pdf


However, the women within 
the chosen cohort to benefit 
experience the greatest 
increase in pension age and 
are at the greater 
disadvantage. The increase 
reduces across later age 
ranges. Therefore, the 
negative impact for the 
women outside the chosen 
cohort is smaller. 

 

Men born between 1953 and 
1960 for whom the SPA 
increased from 65 to 

66 will also be negatively 
impacted as they have seen 
an increase in their SPA. 

However, the rate for men is 
slower than for women. 
Furthermore, evidence 
shows that women are more 
likely to have experienced 
disproportionate socio-
economic disadvantage 
compared to men. 

 

to have built up valuable 
occupational pensions 
compared to younger age 
groups to enable financial 
independence in later years 
and would have been more 
reliant on receiving state 
pension at an earlier age. 

 

 

 

 

Protected Characteristic: Disability 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

People with a disability are 
eligible for a disabled 
persons bus pass so will not 
be impacted by this 
proposal. 

 

  

 

Page 811



Protected Characteristic: Marriage and civil partnership  (workplace only) 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

   

 

Protected Characteristic: Pregnancy and maternity 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

   

 

Protected Characteristic: Race (ethnicity) 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

   

 

Protected Characteristic: Religion or belief 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

   

 

Protected Characteristic: Sex (gender) 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

Page 812



Positive impact on County 
Durham residents (women) 
born between 6 December 
1953 and 5 November 1954, 
not already in receipt of a 
bus ENCTS pass. 

 

This is particularly positive 
for women of this age group 
who come from a lower 
socio-economic background 
and will help to minimise the 
disadvantages experienced 
by this group of women. 
Evidence suggests that 
women are more likely to 
use buses compared to men 
which is a further positive of 
receiving a bus pass earlier 
than SPA. 

 

The proposal is likely to 
have a negative impact on 
women who have been 

affected by the 2011 
changes but fall outside of 
the cohort to receive the bus 
pass at an earlier date. 

 

However, the women within 
the chosen cohort to benefit 
experience the greatest 
increase in pension age and 
are at the greater 
disadvantage. The increase 
reduces across later age 
ranges. Therefore, the 
negative impact for the 

Working age data for 
County Durham by sex 
(2019)4 

Employment rate:  

79.1% (Male), 69.3% (Female) 

Full time employment rate: 
89.4% (Male), 60.4% (Female) 

Economically inactive:  

17% (Male), 27.5% (Female) 

Total average weekly 
earnings:  

£516 (Male), £352 (Female) 

 

Women born in the 50s5: 

• Were much more likely 
to drop out of the labour 
market around the time 
they had their first child. 
Only 40% of women 
born in 1958 were still 
in work 2 years after 
the birth of their first 
child. 

• Were much more likely 
to be in lower paid jobs 
than men 

• Have disproportionately 
smaller or no pension 
pots compared to men 
due, in part, to reduced 
job opportunities and 
time out of labour 
market for caring 
responsibilities.  

 

If proposal agreed 
develop a comms 
plan to ensure 
women in this 
cohort are aware 
of the initiative 

 

                                         
4 https://www.durhaminsight.info/economy-and-employment/ 
 
5 https://www.ifs.org.uk/uploads/BN234.pdf 
 

Page 813

https://www.durhaminsight.info/economy-and-employment/
https://www.ifs.org.uk/uploads/BN234.pdf
https://www.ifs.org.uk/uploads/BN234.pdf


women outside the chosen 
cohort is smaller. 

 

Men born between 1953 
and 1960 for whom the SPA 
increased from 65 to 

66 will also be negatively 
impacted as they have seen 
an increase in their SPA. 

However, the rate for men is 
slower than for women. 
Furthermore, evidence 
shows that women are more 
likely to have experienced 
disproportionate socio-
economic disadvantage 
compared to men. 

 

The above evidence 
demonstrates that women of 
this age group are less likely 
to have built up valuable 
occupational pensions 
compared to men to enable 
financial independence in later 
years and would have been 
more reliant on receiving state 
pension at an earlier age. 

 

Women are more likely to use 
buses compared to men.6 

 

Protected Characteristic: Sexual orientation 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

 

 

  

 

Protected Characteristic: Transgender 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

   

                                         
6 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/666759/
annual-bus-statistics-year-ending-march-2017.pdf 
 

Page 814

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/666759/annual-bus-statistics-year-ending-march-2017.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/666759/annual-bus-statistics-year-ending-march-2017.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/666759/annual-bus-statistics-year-ending-march-2017.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/666759/annual-bus-statistics-year-ending-march-2017.pdf


Section Three: Conclusion and Review 

Summary 

Please provide a brief summary of your findings stating the main impacts, both 
positive and negative, across the protected characteristics. 

 

The proposal has both positive and negative impacts in relation to sex (women 
and men) and age.  

 

There is a positive impact for County Durham residents (women) born between 6 
December 1953 and 5 November 1954, not already in receipt of a bus ENCTS 
pass. The proposal will be particularly beneficial to women from lower socio-
economic groups and will help to minimise the disadvantages experienced by this 
group of women. 

 

The proposal is likely to have a negative impact on women who have been 

affected by the 2011 pension changes but fall outside of the cohort to receive the 
pass. However, as the increase in SPA reduces across later age ranges, the 
negative impact for the women outside the chosen cohort is smaller. 

 

Men born between 1953 and 1960 for whom the SPA increased from 65 to 

66 will also be negatively impacted as they have seen an increase in SPA 
although the rate for men is slower than for women. Furthermore, evidence shows 
that women are generally more likely to have experienced disproportionate socio-
economic disadvantage compared to men. 

 

 

Will this promote positive relationships between different communities? If so how? 

 

 

 

  

Page 815



Action Plan 

Action Responsibility Timescales for 
implementation 

In which plan will 
the action appear? 

If proposal agreed develop 
a comms plan to ensure 
women in this cohort are 
aware of the initiative 

 

Head of 
transport 

February 2020  

    

    

    

    

 

Review 

Are there any additional assessments that need to be 
undertaken? (Y/N) 

N 

When will this assessment be reviewed? 

Please also insert this date at the front of the template 

November 2020 

 

Sign Off 

Lead officer sign off: 

Adrian White, Head of transport and contract services 

 

Date: 

5.11.19 

Service equality representative sign off: 

M Gallagher, Equality and diversity team leader 

 

Date: 

5.11.19 

 

Please return the completed form to your service equality representative and forward 

a copy to equalities@durham.gov.uk 

Page 816

mailto:equalities@durham.gov.uk
mailto:equalities@durham.gov.uk


1 
 

 

            

Cabinet Cabinet 

  15 January 2020 

Environment and Sustainable 

Communities Overview and Scrutiny 

committee’s review of Durham County 

Council’s proposed allotment policy  

Ordinary decision 

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

John Hewitt, Corporate Director of Resources 

Councillor Eddy Adam, Chair of the Environment and Sustainable 
Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide 

Purpose of the Report 

1 The report presents the key findings and recommendations of the 
Environment and Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee’s review focusing on Durham County Council’s (DCC’s) 
proposed allotment policy.  A copy of the review report is attached as 
appendix 2.   

Executive summary 

 

2 The Environment and Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee (ESC OSC) agreed in July 2017 to undertake a scrutiny 
review looking at DCC’s proposed future allotment policy.  The following 
terms of reference were agreed by the committee on 6 October 2017:  

(a) Examine and understand DCC’s current allotment service and 
policy; 

 
(b) Examine and comment on DCC’s future allotment policy including 

the proposed countywide tenancy agreement and consider the 
possible implications of introduction; 

 

 

Page 817

Agenda Item 12



 

2 
 

(c) Consider the proposed options for the further devolved 
management of DCC’s allotment estate to Town and Parish 
Councils where applicable or self-managed allotment associations; 

 
(d) Consider options for DCC’s future management of non-allotment 

plots currently included in DCC’s allotment portfolio; 
 
(e) Consider and compare DCC’s proposed allotment policy with 

allotment policies implemented by other local authorities. 
 

(f) Comment on the proposed consultation arrangements for the policy. 
 
3 The review group gathered evidence from DCC officers, the Northern 

Region Allotment Association and Town and Parish Council 
representatives.  The group also had the opportunity to speak to 
allotment tenants and relevant DCC members when they visited 
allotment sites at Gilesgate, Sherburn, Bowburn, West Cornforth and 
Langley Moor. 

   
4 The executive summary of the review can be found on pages 2 – 5 of 

the appended report (appendix 2) and contains the review reports 
conclusions that relate to: 

(a) Subject to further close work with tenants a transition period for the 
removal of large animals no longer permitted in the proposed policy 
and tenancy agreement from DCC allotment sites; 

 
(b) Ensuring that animals housed on DCC allotment sites have the 

required welfare documentation including passports, licenses and 
microchipping; 

 
(c) Ensuring that the future management of DCC’s allotment portfolio 

sites is the responsibility of one service team; 
 
(d) The future of allotment sites not used for purpose being determined 

by a review group of DCC officers with the future of each site 
determined on a site by site basis; 

 
(e) The opportunity to establish area allotment associations; 
 
(f) DCC entering into discussions with Town and Parish Councils to 

determine whether they are interested in managing DCC allotment 
sites in the future;   

 

Page 818



 

3 
 

(g) Recognising the contribution made by co-workers to the cultivation 
of a plot by acknowledging previous years of commitment while not 
registered;   

 

(h) Actively encouraging co-workers to register their interest in a 
particular allotment plot; 

 

(i) The feasibility of providing smaller sized allotment plots if there is 
demand; 

 

(j) The possibility of undertaking a rental review.   
 

5 The review report contains eight recommendations that relate to the 
conclusions above.  The service has provided a response to the 
review’s conclusions and recommendations which is included in this 
report. 

Recommendations 

6 Cabinet is recommended to: 

(a) note the recommendations contained in the review report: 

Recommendation 1 

(i) That in relation to the requirements of the proposed policy 
and tenancy agreement concerning the housing of large 
animals no longer permitted on allotment plots, the five 
year period identified in the proposed transition 
arrangements should apply.  In addition, that DCC ensures 
animals currently housed on DCC allotment plots have the 
required welfare documentation. 

Recommendation 2 

(ii) That the Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local 
Services ensures that all DCC directly managed allotment 
sites in the county are managed by one DCC service team. 

Recommendation 3 

(iii) That the Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local 
Services establishes a review group to undertake a 
complete review of Allotment sites not used for purpose 
and that the review group: 

• Considers each site on an individual basis; 

Page 819



 

4 
 

• Undertakes site based consultation meetings;  

• Considers whether tenancy agreements on 
retained sites are transferred to match the 
purpose for which the plot is used e.g. garage 
use; 

• Ensures that the sale of sites is handled under the 
Land Disposal Policy subject to Ministry of 
Housing, Communities and Local Government 
approval where the site is a statutory allotment. 

 
Recommendation 4 

(iv) That the Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local 
Services establishes area allotment associations where 
appropriate to take over day to day management and 
control. 

Recommendation 5 

(v) That the Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local 
Services undertakes discussions with Town and Parish 
Councils that have expressed an interest in taking over the 
management of allotment sites.  Should any Town and 
Parish Council wish to take over the management of any 
current DCC allotment site then advice and support should 
be provided by DCC for an agreed period.  

Recommendation 6 

(vi) That DCC, subject to legal advice, reconsiders the process 
for the allocation of plots to co-workers within the proposed 
policy by acknowledging their previous contributions whilst 
not registered.  In addition, DCC needs to actively publicise 
the need for co-workers to register. 

Recommendation 7 

(vii) That DCC, should there be demand, considers the 
feasibility of providing smaller sized allotment plots where 
appropriate. 

 

 

Recommendation 8 

Page 820



 

5 
 

(viii) That DCC considers undertaking a rental review of all DCC 
allotment sites, however, as part of this review recognition 
is given to the health and wellbeing benefits associated 
with the cultivation of allotment plots. Should the rental 
review determine an increase in rent per allotment plot and 
that increase is significant, then DCC should introduce this 
increase via annual incremental increases. 

(b) agree that the review report attached at appendix 2 is shared with 
the County Durham Environment Partnership; 

(c) That a review of the progress made against the recommendations 
contained in this report will be undertaken six months after the 
report is considered by Cabinet.

Page 821



 

 
 

Background 
 
7 The Environment and Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee agreed at its meeting in July 2017 to undertake a scrutiny 
review focusing on DCC’s proposed allotment policy.  A scoping report 
which included the terms of reference for the review was agreed by the 
committee at its meeting on the 6 October 2017. 

 
8 Allotment provision in the county is the responsibility of DCC and 

various Town and Parish Councils with DCC currently responsible for 
167 allotment sites in the county.  During the last five years the service 
has undertaken steps to improve the management of allotment sites 
including increased engagement, improved enforcement, the 
introduction of handover inspections and investment taking place on 
sites.  
 

9 Although DCC has undertaken steps to improve the management of 
allotment sites it is recognised that there is still work to be done 
particularly in relation to a consistent management approach across all 
DCC allotment sites.   

10 The development of a countywide lettings policy and tenancy 
agreement supported by transition arrangements would provide this 
consistent approach to the management of DCC allotment sites in the 
future.   

11 The proposed policy reflects the need for sites to be used for genuine 
allotment use, ensures compliance with planning and animal welfare 
regulations and continues to provide opportunities for communities to 
continue to access the wider benefits that come from allotment use. 

12 The ESC OSC was invited by the Cabinet Portfolio Holder to consider 
DCC’s proposed new countywide allotment policy which had been 
developed by the Regeneration and Local Services (ReaL) Service 
Grouping working with the Northern Region Allotment Association.   

13 The project plan for the review identified nine meetings for the review 
group where they would receive evidence from relevant DCC officers, 
the Northern Region Allotment Association, Town and Parish Council 
representatives and allotment holders via feedback from the 
consultation. 

 
14 In addition, the group visited several DCC allotment sites in the county 

allowing members to see various categories of allotment sites under 
either direct management by DCC or via allotment associations. 

 
 

Page 822



 

 
 

Conclusions of review 
 
15 In 2009 following Local Government reorganisation, DCC became 

responsible for directly managing 167 allotment sites in the county.  
Whilst DCC has improved the management of its allotment sites during 
the last five years there are still inconsistencies in site management.  It 
is recognised that the introduction of a countywide lettings policy and 
tenancy agreement would improve consistency in site management 
across DCC’s allotment portfolio significantly.  The review group looked 
in detail at the proposed new countywide policy and transition 
arrangements, the current overall management of the service and the 
proposed approach to individual tenancies and make recommendations 
in all three areas. 

16 When considering the proposed new policy and transition arrangements 
the review group were supportive of the proposals but were concerned 
about the length of the proposed transition period for large animals no 
longer permitted on allotment sites.  However, further review work 
highlighted that steps are already being taken with new tenants and that 
this approach will gradually over a period of time return plots to proper 
allotment use.  Whilst, the review group supports this approach in order  
to have a consistent management approach across the allotment 
portfolio the group recommends that the proposed transition 
arrangements subject to further close working with tenants include a 
five year transition period for the removal of large animals from DCC 
allotment sites.  

17 Members also found that some animals currently housed on allotment 
sites require specific welfare documentation such as horses and ponies 
which require licenses, passports and microchipping.  In addition, 
animals categorised as farm animals require specific documentation 
under the Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs 
(DEFRA) regulations. It is recommended that the appropriate processes 
are put in place to ensure that animals housed on DCC allotment sites 
have the required welfare documentation. 

18 Concerning the overall management of the service, the review group 
carried out visits to five allotment sites in the county to see first hand the 
management challenges faced by the Allotment Team and allotment 
associations.  During the visits, Members found that currently two DCC 
service teams directly manage DCC’s allotment portfolio, the Allotment 
Team and the Asset Services Team.  This split in management between 
the two service teams has further added to inconsistencies in 
management approach with allotment sites being managed differently in 
relation to engagement, enforcement, investment in sites, frequency of 
inspection and rents charged.  In order to ensure a consistent 
management approach the review group recommends that DCC’s 

Page 823



 

 
 

allotment portfolio becomes the management responsibility of one 
service team. 

19 Turning to the management of DCC’s allotment sites, the review of the 
allotment portfolio in 2018 placed the 167 directly managed allotment 
sites into the following:  

• Allotment sites used for purpose are sites where the majority of plots 
are currently used for the proper purposes – 107 DCC sites. 

• Allotment sites mainly used for purpose are sites where the majority 
of plots are not currently used for the proper purposes of an 
allotment but could be converted back to allotment use relatively 
easily – 23 DCC sites. 

• Allotment sites not used for purpose are sites where the majority of 
plots are not currently used for the proper purposes of an allotment 
and conversion back to allotment use would be difficult, costly or not 
sustainable in the long run – 37 DCC sites. 

During visits to allotment sites not used for purpose Members found that 
these sites were being used as garages, work yards and storage areas, 
gardens and to provide grazing for large animals.  The review group 
recommends that DCC undertakes a complete review of allotment sites 
not used for purpose on a site by site basis to consider options for the 
future use of these sites and as part of the review process consultation 
is undertaken with local councillors, tenants, waiting list applicants and 
residents. 
 

20 In relation to where overall management responsibility lies, there are 
many examples of successful management by local associations and 
Town and Parish Councils. It is recognised that management by a local 
association can work well as it gives more local community control.  The 
ReaL Service Grouping had considered several options for the future 
management of DCC allotment sites retained for allotment use.  The 
options include direct let by DCC, self-management by associations, 
lease to associations, transfer to a trust and transfer to Town and Parish 
Councils.  The review group found that some allotment sites in the 
county have a small number of plots and therefore do not have 
sufficient allotment tenants to form a self-managed association.  The 
review group recommends that in those areas of the county where the 
number of members on an allotment site is too few to establish an 
allotment association, then allotment sites in close proximity to each 
other be given the opportunity to form an area allotment association 

 
21 Turning to the Town and Parish Council role in the management of 

allotment sites, it was confirmed that those Councils established post 
1999 are the primary authority to manage allotment sites in their area.   
It is recommended by the review group that DCC enters into discussion 

Page 824



 

 
 

with the various Town and Parish Councils in the county to ascertain as 
to whether they are in a position to take over the management of 
allotment sites.  Should any Town and Parish Council wish to take over 
the management of allotment sites then DCC will provide appropriate 
advice and support for an agreed period.   

22 The final area considered in the review was individual tenancy 
arrangements. A public consultation on the proposed new policy, 
tenancy agreement and transition arrangements was undertaken from 
the 4 February 2019 to 31 March 2019 to seek the views of allotment 
holders, interested parties and the general public.  A question was 
asked in the consultation as to whether allotment tenants should be 
able to pass their plot onto a family member or friend (co-worker).  The 
response to this question was particularly high with over 80% 
responding yes.  DCC’s current and future policy requires that co-
workers are registered but it was confirmed by the Allotment Team that 
most co-workers are not registered.  For a co-worker to inherit the plot, 
DCC’s proposed policy states that they must have been registered for 
three years and that no applicant on the waiting list has been on the 
waiting list longer than the co-worker has been registered.  This process 
gives priority to those applicants at the top of the waiting list.  The 
review group recommends that a co-worker’s previous contribution to 
the cultivation of a plot should be recognised in the proposed policy, 
subject to legal advice, by acknowledging their previous years of 
commitment. In addition, DCC needs to consider how it can actively 
encourage co-workers to register their interest in a particular allotment 
plot. 

23 Responses received from the consultation process also suggest that 
DCC should consider the feasibility of providing smaller sized plots on 
some allotment sites.  Smaller sized plots would be more manageable 
for tenants who find large plots difficult to cultivate and do not need or 
want to grow as much fruit and vegetables.  The review group 
recommends that the service look at the feasibility of providing smaller 
sized plots if there is demand on DCC allotment sites. 

24 DCC currently charges £45-£55 rent per allotment plot per year with 
rents increased on an annual basis by £1 per allotment plot.  This 
results in DCC providing a high level of subsidy each year for those 
allotment plots directly let by DCC.  In addition, when comparing rents 
regionally with seven local authorities, DCC charges the second lowest 
annual rent per allotment plot.  Whilst recognising the health and 
wellbeing benefits associated with the cultivation of allotment plots, the 
review group recommends that DCC considers undertaking a rental 
review.  Should it be determined following the rental review that rents 
will be increased and the increase in the annual rent per allotment plot 

Page 825



 

 
 

is significant, then this increase should be introduced via annual 
incremental increases. 

Service response 

25 The service has responded to say that it welcomes the scrutiny review 
report ‘Durham County Council’s proposed allotment policy’, with the 
key findings of the review used to further develop the proposed 
allotment policy, tenancy agreement and transition arrangements. 

26 Many of the recommendations are accepted in full.  It is felt however 
that in light of consultation feedback, the recommendation regarding 
ceasing the keeping of large animals needs careful consideration, with 
further assessments required, including dialogue with tenants, which 
may result in exemption sites or longer periods of notice.  It is also 
proposed by the service that they prepare a countywide needs 
assessment report on allotments, which will guide further decisions on 
disposal of the sites currently not utilised for allotments.  A more 
detailed report responding to the recommendations will be prepared for 
members consideration in the New Year. 

Conclusion  

27 Whilst DCC has taken steps to improve the management of its allotment 
sites it is recognised that there is a need for more work to be done to 
ensure a consistent management approach is introduced across all our 
allotment portfolio.  

28 The introduction of the proposed policy and tenancy agreement 
supported by transition arrangements will provide that consistent 
approach to management which can be applied across the allotment 
portfolio.   

29 The review group support the introduction of the policy, tenancy 
agreement and transition arrangements and have made 
recommendations which will further assist in the development of a 
consistent management approach.   

  

Page 826



 

 
 

 

Background papers 

• The Scrutiny review report – Review of DCC’s proposed allotment 
policy 

Other useful documents 

• None 

 

Contact: Ann Whitton Tel:  03000 268143 

 Diane Close Tel:  03000 268141 

   

  

Page 827



 

 
 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

The report of the Environment and Sustainable Communities Overview and 

scrutiny committee is presented to Cabinet in accordance with paragraph 12 

of the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny procedural rules. 

Finance 

Not applicable 

Consultation 

Not applicable 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

An Equality Impact Assessment initial screening has been carried out on the 

review report and is attached at appendix 3.  A full EIA will be undertaken by 

the relevant Service Grouping following the agreement by Cabinet of any of the 

recommendations contained in the review report. 

Human Rights 

Not applicable 

Climate Change 

It is recognised that the proper use of allotment sites contributes to the natural 

habitat of local wildlife.   

Crime and Disorder 

Not applicable 

Staffing 

Not applicable 

Accommodation 

Not applicable  

Risk 

Not applicable 

Procurement 

Not applicable 

Page 828



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Environment and Sustainable 

Communities Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee 

 

Review of Durham County Council’s 

proposed allotment policy 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2019 

Appendix 2 

Page 829



 

 

 

Contents 
Chair’s Foreword ........................................................................................................ 1 

Executive Summary ................................................................................................... 2 

Recommendations .................................................................................................. 6 

Background ................................................................................................................ 8 

Current Allotment Management ................................................................................. 9 

DCC’s Allotment Portfolio ....................................................................................... 9 

Current allotment policy ...................................................................................... 9 

Future DCC Allotment Policy .................................................................................... 11 

New allotment lettings policy ................................................................................ 11 

Transition arrangements ................................................................................... 12 

Management of allotment sites ................................................................................ 15 

Allotment review 2015 .......................................................................................... 16 

Allotment sites not used for purpose ................................................................. 17 

Future management options ............................................................................. 19 

The Role of Town and Parish Councils in the Management of Allotment Sites .... 20 

Consultation ............................................................................................................. 22 

Allotment Rent .......................................................................................................... 24 

 

 

Page 830



 

 

Please call 03000 268143 

Page 831



 

1 
 

Chair’s Foreword 
Allotment provision in the county is the responsibility of 
Durham County Council (DCC) and various Town and 
Parish Councils.  DCC is currently responsible for 167 
allotment sites in the county with a number of these 
sites inherited from District Councils following Local 
Government re-organisation in 2009.   
 

DCC during the last five years has taken steps to improve 
the management of its allotment sites.  These steps have 
included increased engagement with tenants and 
associations, improved enforcement and significant 

investment taking place on sites, the introduction of handover inspections and a 
records management system, improved customer services arrangements, the 
introduction of social media to promote the benefits of allotments and plot 
availability within the county.   
 

However, we realise that there is still more work to be done to ensure that a 
consistent management approach is introduced across all our allotment 
portfolio.  We propose to introduce a new countywide lettings policy.  This 
policy will reflect the need for sites to be used for genuine allotment use, 
ensure compliance with planning and animal welfare regulations and continue 
to provide opportunities for communities to access the wider benefits that 
come from allotment use.  
 

In 2017, the Environment and Sustainable Communities Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee was invited by the Cabinet Portfolio Holder to consider 
DCC’s proposed new countywide allotment policy which was developed by the 
Council working with the Northern Region Allotment Association.  Within this 
context a review group was established to consider the proposed new policy 
and tenancy agreement. The group engaged with Town and Parish Councils 
to get their views on DCC’s proposed future management arrangements and 
visited a number of allotment sites in the county to see first hand some of the 
current challenges and improvements made. 
 

From the outset, the group focused on ensuring that the proposed new policy 
was fit for purpose, would be subject to extensive consultation with relevant 
stakeholders and has a programme of transition arrangements for its 
implementation. 
 

I would like to take this opportunity to thank the Cabinet Portfolio Holder for his 
initial invitation, the Members of the review group, DCC officers and in 
particular Mark Farren (Allotment Manager), Town and Parish Council 
representatives, the Northern Region Allotment Association, residents and 
allotment holders who participated in and supported the review process. 
 

Councillor Eddy Adam  

Chair Environment and Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee  

Page 832



 

2 
 

Executive Summary 
 

1 In 2009 following Local Government reorganisation, DCC became 
responsible for directly managing 167 allotment sites in the county.  
Whilst DCC has improved the management of its allotment sites during 
the last five years there are still inconsistencies in site management.  It 
is recognised that the introduction of a countywide lettings policy and 
tenancy agreement would improve consistency in site management 
across DCC’s allotment portfolio significantly.  The review group looked 
in detail at the proposed new countywide policy and transition 
arrangements, the current overall management of the service and the 
proposed approach to individual tenancies and make recommendations 
in all three areas. 

  
2 When considering the proposed new policy and transition arrangements 

the review group were supportive of the proposals but were concerned 
about the length of the proposed transition period for large animals no 
longer permitted on allotment sites.  However, further review work 
highlighted that steps are already being taken with new tenants and that 
this approach will gradually over a period of time return plots to proper 
allotment use.  Whilst, the review group supports this approach in order 
to have a consistent management approach across the allotment 
portfolio the group recommends that the proposed transition 
arrangements subject to further close working with tenants include a five 
year transition period for the removal of large animals from DCC 
allotment sites.  
 

3 Members also found that some animals currently housed on allotment 
sites require specific welfare documentation such as horses and ponies 
which require licenses, passports and microchipping.  In addition, 
animals categorised as farm animals require specific documentation 
under the Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs 
(DEFRA) regulations. It is recommended that the appropriate processes 
are put in place to ensure that animals housed on DCC allotment sites 
have the required welfare documentation. 
 

4 Concerning the overall management of the service, the review group 
carried out visits to five allotment sites in the county to see first-hand the 
management challenges faced by the Allotment Team and allotment 
associations.  During the visits, Members found that currently two DCC 
service teams directly manage DCC’s allotment portfolio, the Allotment 
Team and the Asset Services Team.  This split in management between 
the two service teams has further added to inconsistencies in 
management approach with allotment sites being managed differently in 
relation to engagement, enforcement, investment in sites, frequency of 
inspection and rents charged.  In order to ensure a consistent 

Page 833



 

3 
 

management approach the review group recommends that DCC’s 
allotment portfolio becomes the management responsibility of one 
service team. 
 

5 Turning to the management of DCC’s allotment sites, evidence provided 
during the review of the allotment portfolio in 2018 placed the 167 
directly managed allotment sites into the following:  
 

• Allotment sites used for purpose are sites where the majority of plots 
are currently used for the proper purposes – 107 DCC sites. 

• Allotment sites mainly used for purpose are sites where the majority 
of plots are not currently used for the proper purposes of an 
allotment but could be converted back to allotment use relatively 
easily – 23 DCC sites. 

• Allotment sites not used for purpose are sites where the majority of 
plots are not currently used for the proper purposes of an allotment 
and conversion back to allotment use would be difficult, costly or not 
sustainable in the long run – 37 DCC sites. 

 

During visits to allotment sites not used for purpose Members found that 
these sites were being used as garages, work yards and storage areas, 
gardens and to provide grazing for large animals.  The review group 
recommends that DCC undertakes a complete review of allotment sites 
not used for purpose on a site by site basis to consider options for the 
future use of these sites and as part of the review process consultation 
is undertaken with local councillors, tenants, waiting list applicants and 
residents. 
 

6 In relation to where overall management responsibility lies, there are 
many examples of successful management by local associations and 
Town and Parish Councils. It is recognised that management by a local 
association can work well as it gives more local community control.  The 
ReaL Service Grouping had considered several options for the future 
management of DCC allotment sites retained for allotment use.  The 
options include direct let by DCC, self-management by associations, 
lease to associations, transfer to a trust and transfer to Town and Parish 
Councils.  The review group found that some allotment sites in the 
county have a small number of plots and therefore do not have 
sufficient allotment tenants to form a self-managed association.  The 
review group recommends that in those areas of the county where the 
number of members on an allotment site is too few to establish an 
allotment association, then allotment sites in close proximity to each 
other be given the opportunity to form an area allotment association.      

 
7 Turning to the Town and Parish Council role in the management of 

allotment sites, it was confirmed that those Councils established post 
1999 are the primary authority to manage allotment sites in their area.   

Page 834



 

4 
 

It is recommended by the review group that DCC enters into discussion 
with the various Town and Parish Councils in the county to ascertain as 
to whether they are in a position to take over the management of 
allotment sites.  Should any Town and Parish Council wish to take over 
the management of allotment sites then DCC will provide appropriate 
advice and support for an agreed period.  
 

8 The final area considered in the review was individual tenancy 
arrangements. A public consultation on the proposed new policy, 
tenancy agreement and transition arrangements was undertaken from 
the 4 February 2019 to 31 March 2019 to seek the views of allotment 
holders, interested parties and the general public.  A question was 
asked in the consultation as to whether allotment tenants should be 
able to pass their plot onto a family member or friend (co-worker).  The 
response to this question was particularly high with over 80% 
responding yes.  DCC’s current and future policy requires that co-
workers are registered but it was confirmed by the Allotment Team that 
most co-workers are not registered.  For a co-worker to inherit the plot, 
DCC’s proposed policy states that they must have been registered for 
three years and that no applicant on the waiting list has been on the 
waiting list longer than the co-worker has been registered.  This process 
gives priority to those applicants at the top of the waiting list.  The 
review group recommends that a co-worker’s previous contribution to 
the cultivation of a plot should be recognised in the proposed policy, 
subject to legal advice, by acknowledging their previous years of 
commitment. In addition, DCC needs to consider how it can actively 
encourage co-workers to register their interest in a particular allotment 
plot. 

 
9 Responses received from the consultation process also suggest that 

DCC should consider the feasibility of providing smaller sized plots on 
some allotment sites.  Smaller sized plots would be more manageable 
for tenants who find large plots difficult to cultivate and do not need or 
want to grow as much fruit and vegetables.  The review group 
recommends that the service look at the feasibility of providing smaller 
sized plots if there is demand on DCC allotment sites. 

 

10 DCC currently charges £45-£55 rent per allotment plot per year with 
rents increased on an annual basis by £1 per allotment plot.  This 
results in DCC providing a high level of subsidy each year for those 
allotment plots directly let by DCC.  In addition, when comparing rents 
regionally with seven local authorities, DCC charges the second lowest 
annual rent per allotment plot.  Whilst recognising the health and 
wellbeing benefits associated with the cultivation of allotment plots, the 
review group recommends that DCC considers undertaking a rental 
review.  Should it be determined following the rental review that rents 

Page 835



 

5 
 

will be increased and the increase in the annual rent per allotment plot 
is significant, then this increase should be introduced via annual 
incremental increases. 

 

 

 

Page 836



 

6 
 

Recommendations 

 

Recommendation 1 

That in relation to the requirements of the proposed policy and tenancy 
agreement concerning the housing of large animals no longer permitted on 
allotment plots, the five year period identified in the proposed transition 
arrangements should apply.  In addition, that DCC ensures animals currently 
housed on DCC allotment plots have the required welfare documentation. 
 
Recommendation 2 
 
That the Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local Services ensures that 
all DCC directly managed allotment sites in the county are managed by one 
DCC service team. 
 
Recommendation 3 
 
That the Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local Services establishes a 
review group to undertake a complete review of allotment sites not used for 
purpose and that the review group:  
 

• Considers each site on an individual basis; 

• Undertakes site based consultation meetings;  

• Considers whether tenancy agreements on retained sites are 
transferred to match the purpose for which the plot is used e.g. 
garage use; 

• Ensures that the sale of sites is handled under the Land Disposal 
Policy subject to Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government approval where the site is a statutory allotment. 

 
Recommendation 4 
 
That the Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local Services establishes 
area allotment associations where appropriate to take over day to day 
management and control. 
 
Recommendation 5 
 
That the Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local Services undertakes 
discussions with Town and Parish Councils that have expressed an interest in 
taking over the management of allotment sites.  Should any Town and Parish 
Council wish to take over the management of any current DCC allotment site 
then advice and support should be provided by DCC for an agreed period.  
 
 

Page 837



 

7 
 

 
Recommendation 6 
 
That DCC, subject to legal advice, reconsiders the process for the allocation 
of plots to co-workers within the proposed policy by acknowledging their 
previous contributions whilst not registered.  In addition, DCC needs to 
actively publicise the need for co-workers to register.   
 
Recommendation 7 
 
That DCC, should there be demand, considers the feasibility of providing 
smaller sized allotment plots where appropriate. 
 
Recommendation 8 
 
That DCC considers undertaking a rental review of DCC’s allotment portfolio, 
however, as part of this review recognition is given to the health and wellbeing 
benefits associated with the cultivation of allotment plots. Should the rental 
review determine an increase in rent per allotment plot and that increase is 
significant, then DCC should introduce this increase via annual incremental 
increases. 

 
Recommendation 9 
 

That a review of the progress made against the recommendations contained in 
this report will be undertaken six months after the report is considered by 
Cabinet. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 838



 

8 
 

Background 
11 At its meeting on 14 July 2017, the Environment and Sustainable 

Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee when determining its 
work programme for the ensuing year agreed to the inclusion of a 
focused review on DCC’s future allotment policy. 

 
12 The terms of reference for the project was agreed by the committee at 

its meeting on 6 October 2017 and Members confirmed that the scope 
of the review was to examine DCC’s future allotment policy and to 
consider and comment on the proposed consultation arrangements.  

 
13 The Allotment Act 1922 defines the term ‘allotment garden’ as ‘an area 

which is wholly or mainly cultivated by the occupier for the production of 
vegetable or fruit crops for consumption by the plot holder or their family 
including the keeping of small livestock as agreed by the allotment 
authority’.  This description remains important because it defines the 
permitted use of an allotment plot. 

 
14 It is recognised that allotment gardening is a pursuit that provides wide 

ranging benefits to local communities and can make a positive change 
to the quality of people’s lives by producing good quality, low cost food 
and provides healthy exercise.  

 
15 Statutory allotment sites are those that a local authority has acquired for 

allotment gardening while temporary sites were acquired for other 
purposes and are being used as allotment sites in the interim.  Statutory 
allotment sites are protected in law and require consent from the 
Secretary of State for disposal or other uses, while temporary sites are 
not protected no matter how long they have been allotments. 

 
16 Historically, the provision of allotments within County Durham has been 

the responsibility of DCC, District Councils and Town and Parish 
Councils.  Prior to Local Government Reorganisation (LGR) in 2009 a 
number of District Councils did not transfer their allotments to the 
control of Town and Parish Councils which resulted in the management 
of these allotment sites transferring to DCC.  
 

17 In addition, DCC has a duty to provide allotments in areas of the county 
that are not parished.  This resulted in DCC at LGR being responsible 
for managing 175 allotment sites containing 3630 individual allotment 
plots spread across the county. 

 

 
 
 
 

Page 839



 

9 
 

Current Allotment Management 
 

DCC’s Allotment Portfolio  

 
18 Since LGR some Town and Parish Councils have taken over 

responsibility for managing what were previously DCC allotment sites 
resulting in DCC now being responsible for 167 allotment sites.  The 
Allotment Team is currently responsible for directly managing 102 sites, 
55 sites are self- managed by an allotment association supported by the 
Allotment Team and a further 10 sites at LGR were transferred to 
DCC’s Asset Services Team and remain under their management.   
  

19 Pre-LGR each council within County Durham was responsible for 
determining its own approach to managing allotment sites resulting in a 
mix of management approaches throughout the county.  However, the 
approach can be generalised as follows: 
 

• Mixed approach to enforcement, resulting in some parts of the 
county, tenants undertaking actions over many years that aren’t in 
keeping with the legal definition of an allotment site. 

• Differing levels of investment in repairs and maintenance.  Whilst 
some councils had invested adequately in the repair and 
maintenance of sites others had not resulting in collapsed fencing 
derelict buildings left on plots, paths/tracks in poor condition and 
vacant plots not maintained. 

• No handover surveys undertaken resulting in a lack of accountability 
for the condition of the plot on termination of tenancy.  

• Varied position with association managed sites, with some sites well 
managed however others were not set up in a legally correct 
manner and/or weren’t supported or monitored. 

• Mixed picture with record keeping across the county with some 
councils having the required documentation whereas other councils 
had missing agreements and incomplete details. 

 

Current allotment policy 

 
20 Following the transfer of the allotment sites from the District Councils, 

DCC in 2010 introduced a harmonised tenancy agreement, however it 
was not backed up by a policy and it has never been fully enforced.  In 
2012 following extensive consultation DCC approved a harmonised 
countywide allotment lettings policy for DCC managed sites.  The 
lettings policy provided regulation in relation to residency and eligibility 
for an allotment plot, co-workers/plot partners, levels of rent, use of land 
and cultivation of plots, erection of structures on allotment sites and the 
keeping of animals. 

Page 840



 

10 
 

 
21 In developing the 2012 policy DCC’s intention was to: 

 

• Ensure plots were used as genuine allotments. 

• Ensure plot use supports wider Council priorities including mental and 
physical wellbeing and justified the financial subsidy that tenants 
receive.  

• Protect the Council from future costs such as the demolition of 
buildings and repair of land damaged by animals. 

• Ensure compliance with planning requirements in relation to building 
size and construction. 

• Avoid negative publicity about animal welfare.   
 

22 However, when it came to the implementation of the policy a number of 
challenges were identified. The policy was considered over-prescriptive 
on some issues such as the number of chickens and shed maintenance 
requirements, it jeopardised the significant investment that some 
tenants had made in non-allotment activities on their sites and did not 
include transition arrangements to ease the impact of the proposed 
changes.   

 
23 As a result of the above challenges the 2012 countywide allotment 

lettings policy was not implemented however the DCC Allotment Team 
over the last five years has developed and implemented a programme 
of work to improve the management of DCC allotment sites which 
includes:  

 

• Improved engagement with tenants and associations by being on sites 
more often. 

• Increased enforcement so more tenants are being required to use 
their plots in the proper manner. 

• More investment has taken place in the sites to tackle major issues 
and bring derelict and vacant sites back into use. 

• Introduced handover/takeover inspections ensuring that new tenants 
are required to return plots in the same or a better condition. 

• Reviewed customer services arrangements. 

• Introduced a records management system. 

• Use social media to promote the benefits of allotments and plot 
availability. 

• Provide support to various allotment associations in the county who 
manage DCC allotment sites. 

 
 
 

Page 841



 

11 
 

Future DCC Allotment Policy  
 

Key Findings 
 

Subject to further close working with tenants a five year transition 

period should be introduced for the rehoming of large animals 

housed on DCC allotment sites and no longer permitted by the 

proposed policy. 

Need for animals housed on DCC allotment sites to have the required 

welfare documentation. 

New allotment lettings policy  

 
24 DCC will continue to directly manage allotment sites in the future 

and needs to develop an allotment lettings policy that both provides a 
transparent mechanism for managing our allotments and facilitates 
ways to address current challenges that exist on our allotment sites. 

 
25 DCC’s proposed countywide allotment lettings policy has been 

developed by the Allotments Team working with the Northern Region 
Allotment Association and looking at examples of current regional 
allotment policies.  The proposed policy provides guidance on: 

 
Plot use 
 

• Ensuring that plots are used as genuine allotments in order to 
comply with legislation. 

• Ensure that communities in County Durham can access the wider 
benefits that come from genuine allotments such as improved 
physical and mental health, community development and 
environmental protection.  

• Provide justification for the council subsidy that allotment tenants 
receive if the allotment is used for genuine allotment purposes. 

 
Future costs 

• Preventing activities that can lead to significant future costs for the 
council such as demolition costs for permanent buildings once 
tenancy ended and repair of land damaged by animals. 

 
Planning 

• Ensuring compliance with planning requirements for allotment 
buildings including the size and construction of buildings. 

 
 
 

Page 842



 

12 
 

Animal welfare 

• Ensuring that animals unsuited to allotments are not kept on our 
sites. 

 
26 As part of the review process the group received detail of DCC’s current 

allotment lettings policy and DCC’s proposed countywide allotment 
lettings policy.  The information provided to the group identified any new 
areas in the proposed policy and changes to areas in the current policy 
that will still be included in the proposed policy going forward.   

 
27 The proposed policy identifies five new areas relating to tenancy limits, 

plot boundaries and fencing, vermin, water supply and rainwater 
capture, re-use and the storing of waste on plots. 

 
28 In addition, the proposed policy is more specific in a number of areas 

relating to: 

• Eligibility and plot allocation. 

• Keeping and housing of animals and livestock. 

• Treatment of weeds. 

• Requirements for the keeping of bees. 

• Restrictions on cropping and the percentage of the site that can be 
used for fruit trees. 

• Change in percentage of plot used for housing permitted animals. 

• Increase in the permitted height of hedges and fences. 

• Ensuring compliance with current regulations for buildings and 
structures. 

• Restrictions to prevent vehicles being kept on sites. 

• Expands the range of issues that could be dealt with under the 
criminal activities clause in the policy. 

• Management of bonfires or burning on sites. 

• Termination of a tenancy and the need to improve the condition of 
allotments when they are handed back to DCC. 

• A change in the rent year. 
 
29 Included in the proposed policy is the eviction process which will be 

subject to the normal three months enforcement period involving two 
warnings (informal warning and the formal warning) followed by the 
Notice to Quit and then eviction.   

 

Transition arrangements 

 
30 A key element which had resulted in DCC’s 2012 allotment lettings 

policy not being implemented was the lack of transition arrangements.  
The proposed policy will have transition arrangements detailing 
timeframes for the implementation of the various requirements in the 
policy. The majority of the requirements in the proposed policy would 

Page 843



 

13 
 

need to be complied with immediately.  However, in relation to some 
requirements contained in the proposed policy there are a series of 
planned transition periods for compliance as follows:    

 

• 1 year transition period for: 

• Tenants who have moved outside of the county boundary 

• Dogs being kept on plots 

• Hedges that need to be reduced in height to 1.5m 

• Vehicles being kept on plots 
 

• 5 year transition period for: 

• Large animals no longer permitted by the policy 

• Tenants who keep bees currently but are without the British 
Bee Keepers Association qualification 

 

• Once the current tenant gives up the plot in relation to: 

• Tenants who are under 18 years of age 

• Tenants with more than two plots 

• Permitted animals not authorised by/registered with DCC 

• Small animals no longer permitted by the policy 

• More than 25% of the plot used for fruit trees/bushes 

• Fences higher than 1.5m or made with inappropriate materials 

• Large trees already on plots 

• Existing water supplies to individual plots 

• All building issues except for poor maintenance or non-
cultivation in greenhouses and poly-tunnels 

 
31 The review group agreed the transition periods detailed for the 

proposed policy with the exception of the five year transition period for 
large animals no longer permitted by the proposed countywide allotment 
lettings policy.  The group commented that the transition period was too 
long and thought that a three year period was more appropriate in 
relation to this particular requirement.  Following a detailed discussion, it 
was suggested by the review group that feedback from the extensive 
consultation to be undertaken with stakeholders should be used to 
inform the transition periods in the proposed policy for the removal of 
animals no longer permitted on allotment sites. 

 
32 An extensive public consultation was undertaken by the Service 

Grouping which ran from 4 February to 31 March 2019.  The 
consultation covered and required feedback on: 
 

• the proposed policy and tenancy agreement; 

• proposed transition arrangements; 

• handing plots on to family and friends; 

Page 844



 

14 
 

• site transfers to Town and Parish Councils; 

• management of sites by associations; 

• rent levels 
(for further detail on the public consultation see page 22). 

33 The proposed policy and tenancy agreement are more prescriptive in 
relation to the keeping and housing of animals and livestock.  In 
addition, the proposed transition arrangements identify varying 
timescales for the removal of animals no longer permitted in the policy 
from allotment sites.  The consultation included a specific question in 
relation to the transition arrangements asking whether respondents 
agreed or disagreed with the proposals to have differing times to comply 
with the tenancy agreement.  Half of those that responded were in 
favour of the transition arrangements however a significant number, 
32% were against. 

 
34 In relation to consultation responses on the proposed policy, tenancy 

agreement and transition arrangements, the highest number of 
comments received related to the keeping of various animals on 
allotment plots including horses, ponies, hens, rabbits, pigeons, 
cockerels, pigs, goats, dogs, ducks, geese and ferrets. 

 
35 A number of the responses received from the consultation related to the 

housing of horses and ponies and the use of allotment land for grazing 
purposes.  Comments suggested that tenants using allotment plots for 
grazing were unable to afford the cost of land designated as grazing 
land.   
 

36 The review group was informed that current tenants using allotment 
plots for the stabling of horses did not want change and had therefore 
responded to the consultation expressing their views. 
 

37 It was highlighted by the Allotment Team that work is already ongoing 
with tenants and associations in the county changing how allotment 
sites are managed.  Currently tenants who have taken over plots since 
2015 are required to comply fully with the new tenancy agreement 
which includes restrictions on the housing of animals on allotment plots.  
This approach will gradually over a period of time return allotment plots 
to proper allotment use.     
 

38 The review group recognises that the above approach allows the 
management of allotment sites to be changed gradually over a period of 
time, however, this could be a lengthy time period.  Following a detailed 
discussion by the group the consensus was that there is a need for a 
defined transition period for the removal of large animals currently 
housed on allotment sites.  It was agreed by the review group that a five 
year transition period is sufficient time for allotment tenants to make 

Page 845



 

15 
 

alternative arrangements for the rehoming of large animals no longer 
permitted on DCC allotment sites.  In addition, a specified transition 
period would provide consistency in enforcement of the proposed policy 
and tenancy agreement.  It was recommended by the review group that 
the five year transition period identified in the proposed transition 
arrangements should apply for the removal of large animals from DCC 
allotment sites. 
 

39 The review group commented on the importance of ensuring that all 
animals currently housed on DCC allotment sites have the required 
welfare documentation including passports/licensing and microchipping 
and in relation to those animals categorised as farm animals the 
required documentation by Department for Environment, Food and 
Rural Affairs (DEFRA).  It was recommended by the review group that 
the service should ensure that this documentation is available and can 
be presented for all animals currently on DCC allotment plots.   

 
Recommendation 1 
 
That in relation to the requirements of the proposed policy and tenancy 
agreement concerning the housing of large animals no longer permitted on 
allotment plots, the five year period identified in the proposed transition 
arrangements should apply.  In addition, that DCC ensures animals currently 
housed on DCC allotment plots have the required documentation. 

Management of allotment sites 

 
Key Findings 
 

Management of DCC’s allotment sites needs to be the responsibility 

of one service team within the ReaL Service Grouping.  

Decisions on the future of allotment sites not used for purpose 

should be undertaken by an officer working group. 

Need to provide an opportunity to establish area allotment 

associations. 

Legal position clarifies that Town and Parish Councils formed prior to 

1999 cannot be compelled to take over the management of allotment 

sites.  Town and Parish Councils established post 1999 are the 

primary authority to manage allotment sites in their area. 

Discussions to be undertaken with Town and Parish Councils 

regarding the possible transfer of allotment sites.   

Page 846



 

16 
 

Transfer of allotment sites to Town and Parish Councils should only 

take place with the agreement of the local council with DCC providing 

advice and support for an agreed period. 

Allotment review 2015 

 
40 In 2015 the service carried out a full review of DCC’s total allotment 

portfolio consisting of 167 allotment sites spread across the county.  
The results of the 2015 were updated in 2018, in preparation for DCC 
reviewing its allotment management arrangements.  The review placed 
DCC allotment sites into the following: 

 

• Allotment sites used for purposes are sites where the majority of 
plots are currently used for the proper purposes of an allotment – 
107 DCC sites. 

• Allotment sites mainly used for purpose are sites where the majority 
of plots are not currently used for the proper purposes of an 
allotment but could be converted back to allotment use with relative 
ease – 23 DCC sites. 

• Allotment sites not used for purpose are sites where the majority of 
plots are not currently used for the proper purposes of an allotment 
and conversion back to allotment use would be very difficult and 
costly or where site is not sustainable in the long run – 37 sites. 

 
41 In October 2017, as part of the scrutiny review process the group visited 

a number of DCC allotment sites in the county to see examples of all 
three site categories and sites under different forms of management 
including sites directly managed by DCC and allotment associations.  
The visit provided Members with the opportunity to see ‘first hand’ a 
number of challenges experienced on our allotment sites including: 

 

• Non-allotment use of plot (e.g. garages, parking areas, work yards, 
animal compounds, private gardens etc.). 

• Sub-letting/co-workers/family plots – plots have previously been 
illegally passed on or sold and there is an expectation by current 
tenants that this practice can continue in the future. 

• Livestock/animals on plots that aren’t suited to allotments. 

• High fencing that makes the inspection of plots difficult. 

• Accumulations of waste on plots. 

• Oversized buildings that contravene planning regulations. 
 

42 Whilst visiting Sherburn allotment complex at Sherburn Village, a site 
currently used for non-allotment purposes including work yards, 
Members were informed that management of the site is split between 
DCC’s Allotment Team and Asset Services Team.  This split in 
management arrangements exists on other DCC directly managed sites 

Page 847



 

17 
 

and is a result of the asset transfer process during LGR.  It was 
confirmed that Asset Services are responsible for nine allotment sites of 
which seven are leased. 

 
43 The split in management arrangements between the two service teams 

has resulted in DCC allotment sites being managed differently in 
relation to engagement, enforcement, investment and inspection.  In 
addition, there is no correlation in relation to rents charged for what are 
designated allotment sites.  The review group commented that any 
future DCC allotment management arrangements need to have 
consistency in approach and in order to achieve this the review group 
recommends that all DCC allotment sites in the future are the 
responsibility of one DCC service team. 

 
Recommendation 2 
 
That the Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local Services ensures that 
all DCC directly managed allotment sites in the county are managed by one 
DCC service team. 
 

Allotment sites not used for purpose 

 
44 DCC’s current allotment portfolio contains 37 allotment sites not used 

for purpose with the majority of these sites used for stabling, grazing 
land, work yards, garages, parking spaces and house gardens (not 
used for the proper purposes of an allotment) and where conversion 
back to allotment use would be very difficult and costly.  During the 
visits undertaken by the review group Members saw clear examples 
that some DCC allotment sites are being used for purposes other than 
allotment use. 

 
45 In relation to DCC’s future management arrangements for allotment 

sites not used for purpose, it is proposed that the approach will consist 
of establishing a review group of officers from the Allotments, Assets 
and Legal Services to undertake a site-by-site review.  The review 
would look at options including: conversion back to allotments; retain 
but lease out as garages/stables/gardens etc.; sell as individual plots 
with priority to sitting tenants or as a whole site for development with the 
ReaL Management Team ultimately determining as to whether the site 
is to be retained.  Those sites which are agreed for disposal will follow 
the normal DCC disposal process. 

 
46 All future management options have potential impacts including: 

 

Page 848



 

18 
 

• Conversion back to allotments - tenants may be unhappy at having 
to use their plots for allotment purposes only and there will be a 
significant cost to DCC for converting plots back to allotment use.   

• Leasing plots for alternative use – revised tenancy agreement with 
clauses that suit the use of the plot, revised rents (garage-£60 
including VAT plus on-off licence fee of £180 including VAT, 
stabling/grazing – rent based on size and demand and private 
garden – rent based on size) and future management responsibility 
and associated resources. 

• Selling plots/sites – resource to prepare and process sales, 
requirements to achieve fair market value and inclusion of 
restrictions on use /or clawback for change of use. 

 
47 In addition, any allotment site not used for purpose which is designated 

a statutory allotment site which is to be leased for alternative use or 
sold, would require an application by the authority to the Ministry of 
Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG), for the site to 
be no longer designated as a statutory site.  As part of this process 
DCC has to identify alternative land provision for use as a statutory 
allotment if there is an under supply of allotments in that particular area.  
This process can be challenging in relation to local land availability and 
cost. 

 
48 It was confirmed to the review group at its meeting on the 10 June 2019 

that a Project Officer would be appointed to oversee and progress the 
work in relation to allotment sites not used for purpose.  Once the future 
of allotment sites not used for purpose have been determined the 
remaining allotment sites will be DCC’s future allotment portfolio to 
which the proposed policy, tenancy agreement and transition 
arrangements will apply.  

   
49 The review group supports the proposed approach and recommends 

that DCC undertakes a complete review of allotment sites not used for 
purpose consisting of a site by site review including consultation with 
local councillors, tenants, applicants on the waiting list and residents.   

 
Recommendation 3 
 
That the Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local Services establishes a 
review group to undertake a complete review of allotment sites not used for 
purpose and that the review group:  
 

• Considers each site on an individual basis; 

• Undertakes site based consultation meetings;  

Page 849



 

19 
 

• Considers whether tenancy agreements on retained sites are 
transferred to match the purpose for which the plot is used e.g. 
garage use; 

• Ensures that the sale of sites is handled under the Land Disposal 
Policy subject to Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government approval where the site is a statutory allotment. 

 

Future management options 

 
50 The options proposed by the ReaL Service Grouping for the future 

management of DCC allotment sites retained for allotment use (i.e. 
allotment sites used for purpose and allotment sites mainly used for 
purpose plus any allotment sites not used for purpose retained for 
allotment use following the review) are: 

 

• Direct Let by DCC – DCC owns the site and leases individual plots 
directly to tenants.  DCC is responsible for all repairs and 
maintenance and takes full responsibility for enforcement action.  
This is a high cost, high control option with greater staff involvement 
and there is low tenant engagement. 
 

• Self-Management by Associations – DCC would retain ownership of 
the sites and would continue to directly lease plots to tenants but 
responsibility for the day-to-day management of the sites would be 
transferred to an Allotment Association.  This would include waiting 
list management, plot allocation, all repairs and maintenance and 
early enforcement procedures.  However, DCC would retain the 
authority to undertake formal enforcement and evict tenants from the 
plots.  The costs associated with this option is reduced from the first 
option.  This option would have a moderate level of control from 
DCC but would have a high reliance on competent volunteers. 
 

• Lease to Associations – Again, DCC would retain ownership of the 
site, but would lease in full to an association who would sub-let plots 
to individual tenants on their own tenancy agreements.  The 
association would take all responsibility for managing the site and 
the individual plot holders.  This would have a low level of DCC 
control and would be a lower cost option to the authority.  It would 
have a very high reliance on competent volunteers and would create 
higher tenant engagement in relation to site issues. 
 

• Transfer to a Trust – This option is similar to leasing to associations 
but all or a large number of sites would be leased to a trust, which 
could then lease the entire sites to a sub group as well as plots to 
individual tenants.  Transfer of ownership to the trust is also an 
option rather than lease only.  This option would have little or no 

Page 850



 

20 
 

DCC control and there would be no cost to the authority.  There 
would be high reliance on volunteers. 
 

• Transfer to Town and Parish Councils – Ownership of sites is 
transferred to the relevant local council with all responsibilities and 
benefits associated with managing allotments being transferred with 
them.  This option would result in no DCC control and there would 
be no cost to the authority.  However, local councils come in various 
sizes and there could be capacity issues for some to take control of 
all allotment sites. 
 

51 During visits undertaken by the review group it was highlighted by the 
Allotment Team that there are a number of allotment sites in the county 
where the number of allotment plots on those sites are too few for 
tenants on those sites to form self-managed allotment associations. 

 
52 It is recommended by the review group that in those areas of the county 

where the number of allotment members on an allotment site is too few 
to establish a self-managed association then DCC actively promotes the 
option of area allotment associations with DCC preparing the 
appropriate self-management agreements.  These area associations 
would consist of allotment tenant representatives from a number of 
allotment sites in close proximity to each other.    
 

Recommendation 4 
 
That the Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local Services establishes 
area allotment associations where appropriate to take over day to day 
management and control. 
 

The Role of Town and Parish Councils in the Management of 

Allotment Sites 

53 Under the Small Holdings and Allotments Act 1908, councils are under 
a duty to provide a sufficient number of allotments if they are of the 
opinion that there is a demand for them.  Subsequent Acts of 
Parliament have built on this to give further guidance in relation to the 
management of allotments.  

 
54 The Local Government (Parishes and Parish Councils) Regulations 

1999, regulation 10 states that: “Land held for the purpose of the 
Allotments Act 1908 to 1950 where immediately before the order in an 
area constituted as a parish by an order it shall on the order date 
transfer to and be vested in the parish or if there is no such council, the 
parish meeting for that parish.” 

 

Page 851



 

21 
 

55 At the beginning of this review, the authority had interpreted the Local 
Government (Parishes and Parish Councils) Regulations 1999, 
regulation section 10 to mean that all allotment sites in areas where 
there are local councils should be transferred to them. 

 
56 As part of the review process Members of the review group, at their 

meeting on the 16 February 2018 met with representatives of local 
councils some of which had responsibility for allotment sites and some 
that did not.  During the meeting the review group received evidence on 
how they currently managed allotments and their views and opinions in 
relation to DCC transferring ownership of allotments to them. 
 

57 Those Town and Parish Councils that had taken over responsibility for 
the management of allotment sites stressed that parish clerks were 
employed for a limited number of hours per week/month and that the 
management of allotment sites were currently taking a large proportion 
of their time and that they struggled to fit in other duties.  Not only was 
allotment management time-consuming it was also costly and many 
local council representatives reiterated the issue of costs incurred in 
relation to repairs and maintenance.  Those representatives that did not 
have control of allotment sites were concerned at the amount of 
involvement needed to manage allotments including the cost when they 
have limited resources and access to legal advice. 

 
58 The number of allotment sites currently under DCC management 

proposed for transfer to each local council was different.  The largest 
number suggested to be transferred was 31 sites to a Town Council 
with approximately 1446 allotment plots that were in varying degrees of 
condition.  Even those local councils receiving only a few sites may find 
that they were in poor condition.  

 
59 Following engagement with local council representatives DCC was 

challenged on its interpretation of The Local Government (Parishes and 
Parish Councils) Regulations 1999, regulation 10 and changed its 
stance with DCC’s legal services advising that DCC could not compel 
transfer of the management of allotment sites to local councils 
established prior to 1999.  Transfer of allotment sites to local councils 
would only take place if the local council was prepared to undertake the 
future management of these sites.  It was confirmed that Town and 
Parish Councils established post 1999 are the primary authority to 
manage allotment sites in their area.  
 

60 As part of the consultation process on the proposed policy, tenancy 
agreement and transition arrangements respondents were asked 
whether they agreed or disagreed with DCC’s approach to encourage 
local Town and Parish Councils (where they exist) to take over 

Page 852



 

22 
 

allotment sites in their area.  It was confirmed that 50% of respondents 
were in favour of the approach with 17% against.  
 

61 The review group recommends that the Regeneration and Local 
Services service grouping have discussions with Town and Parish 
Councils in relation to taking over the management of allotment sites 
and that during these discussions detail should be provided of the 
financial risk analysis.  Where Town and Parish Councils are willing to 
undertake the management of sites, arrangements are made to transfer 
these sites to the respective Town and Parish Council with DCC 
providing advice and support for an agreed period. 

 
Recommendation 5 
 
That the Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local Services undertakes 
discussions with Town and Parish Councils that have expressed an interest in 
taking over the management of allotment sites.  Should any Town and Parish 
Council wish to take over the management of any current DCC allotment site 
then advice and support should be provided by DCC for an agreed period. 

Consultation 

 
Key Findings 
 

Over 80% of respondents to the consultation disagreed with the 
proposal that tenants could not pass their plots on to family or 
friends (co-workers). 
 
DCC needs to reconsider the process for the allocation of allotment 
plots to co-workers and how it publicises the need for co-workers to 
register. 
 
That the service looks at the feasibility of providing smaller sized 
plots. 
 

 
62 A public consultation was held from 4 February 2019 until 31 March 

2019 that sought the views of allotment holders, interested parties and 
the general public on the proposed allotment policy, tenancy agreement 
and transition arrangements.  A press release and social media posts 
highlighted that the consultation was taking place with consultation 
packs available at customer access points, libraries and were available 
online.  Individual letters had been sent to all tenants, co-workers, 
waiting list applicants, Associations and Town and Parish Councils. 
 

Page 853



 

23 
 

63 The service received 322 responses to the consultation questionnaire.  
The majority of responses to the consultation were received from 
allotment tenants, with 10% of all tenants on the allotment list 
responding.  Of the responses received, most tenants indicated that 
they used over half their plot for growing fruit and vegetables and 
agreed with the general direction of the proposed policy and tenancy 
agreements. 
 

64 In relation to co-workers (family or friends who help work the plot), many 
respondents disagreed with the proposal that tenants could not pass 
their plots on to family or co-workers.  Over 80% of responses received 
felt that tenants should be allowed to pass on their plots to co-workers 
(see question from consultation below).  However, the review group was 
informed that DCC’s current policy requires co-workers to be registered 
although most co-workers are not.  It was confirmed by the service that 
the system in place for registration is straight forward and the need to 
register is publicised. 
 

Do you feel that allotment tenants should be able to pass their plot 
onto a family member or a friend? 

11% No, plots should be offered to the next person on the waiting list 

12% Yes, but only if they have been registered as helping with the 
plot longer than anyone on the waiting list. 

34% Yes, but only if they have been registered as assisting with the 
plot for several years 

35% Yes, regardless of whether other people are waiting for a plot on 
that site. 

 
65 For co-workers to inherit a plot they must have been registered for three 

years and no applicant on the waiting list has been on the list longer 
than the co-worker has been registered.  Therefore, DCC’s current 
allotment policy gives residents on the waiting list priority over co-
workers in the allocation of plots.   

 
66 Due to the high number of responses to the above question the review 

group felt that there is a need for further consideration to be given to the 
process for the allocation of plots to co-workers.  The group commented 
that co-worker’s previous contribution to the continued cultivation of a 
plot should be recognised.  The review group recommends that, subject 
to legal advice, the proposed policy should reflect this by acknowledging 
their previous years of commitment to working the plot.  In addition, 
DCC needs to actively encourage co-workers to register their interest in 
a particular allotment plot. 
 

67 Responses received from the consultation process in relation to the 
policy and tenancy agreement suggests smaller sized plots would be 
more manageable for tenants who found large plots difficult to cultivate 

Page 854



 

24 
 

and did not need or want to grow as much fruit and vegetables.  It was 
recommended by the review group that the service consider the 
feasibility of providing smaller sized plots if there is a demand. 
 

68 Following feedback from the consultation the review group suggests 
that the service has a structured approach to the implementation of the 
proposed changes in policy and tenancy agreement to ensure a smooth 
transition.  The service responded that it is intended to have a 
programme of implementation and they would work with Legal Services 
to introduce a sensible structured formal phasing of the proposed policy, 
tenancy agreement and transition arrangements. 

 
Recommendation 6 
 
That DCC, subject to legal advice, reconsiders the process for the allocation 
of plots to co-workers within the proposed policy by acknowledging their 
previous contributions whilst not registered.  In addition, DCC needs to 
actively publicise the need for co-workers to register.   
 
Recommendation 7 
 
That DCC, should there be demand, considers the feasibility of providing 
smaller sized allotment plots where appropriate. 

Allotment Rent 
 
Key Findings 

 
DCC has increased allotment rent by £1 per allotment plot per year 

with the cost of a DCC directly let plot £45-£55 per year. 

DCC currently subsidies each directly let plot by £110.37 per year. 

County Durham on a regional basis charges the second lowest rent 

per allotment plot.  

If a significant increase in rent per allotment plot is introduced, then 

this increase should be via annual incremental increases. 

 

69 DCC currently charges £45 to £55 rent per plot per year however the 
total cost to DCC per plot per year is £160.37 which is based on direct 
costs and overheads split equally over the number of DCC direct let 
plots.  This results in DCC subsidising each directly let plot per year by 
£110.37.  It was confirmed that DCC has increased the rent per 
allotment plot by £1 per year in line with the Retail Price Index.  It was 

Page 855



 

25 
 

highlighted that the provision of plots at a subsidy can be justified by the 
wider social and health benefits of allotments. 

 
70 In relation to DCC sites managed by associations (self-managed), DCC 

receives no rental income in relation to the self-managed sites however 
the total cost to DCC per plot per year of £21.73 is also the total amount 
of subsidy per plot per year.  
 

71 When comparing the annual rent charged for an allotment plot on a 
regional basis County Durham has the second lowest rent amongst 
similar authorities.  The table below shows the current rent charged per 
allotment plot by various North East local authorities.  

 
Council Annual Rent for 

200m² - 250m² 
Plot 

Darlington £145.00 

South Tyneside £98.70 - £105.60 

North Tyneside £85.50 - £103.50 

Middlesbrough £69.00 

Hartlepool £57.00 - £65.00 

Gateshead £52.00 

Durham  £49.00 

Stockton £35.00 

 
72 The review group recognise there is a growing awareness of the role 

gardening plays in both preventing and alleviating mental ill health.   
The physical benefits of regular spells of gardening help keep plot 
holders fit, maintain a good gait and balance in older gardeners and 
help with cognitive decline. 

 
73 The extensive public consultation on the proposed policy and transition 

arrangements (for further detail of consultation see page 22), had 
included a question asking whether respondents agreed or disagreed 
that the council should charge its tenants and associations more for an 
allotment plot.  The number of respondents that agreed to an increase 
in rents was higher than expected with 30% of respondents agreeing to 
an increase whilst 43% of respondents were against. An additional 
analysis, as shown in the chart below suggests that 18% of respondents 
felt that allotment holders should pay the full costs of providing their 
plots.  However, over 50% thought that tenants should pay more rent 
than they are currently paying but there should still be a subsidy from 
the local authority. 
 

Page 856



 

26 
 

 
Source: Presentation to Review Group 10 June 2019 

 

74 It was recommended by the review group that a rental review is 
undertaken by DCC’s Allotment Team as part of the ongoing review of 
DCC’s future allotment management arrangements.  The review group 
recognise the health and wellbeing benefits associated with allotment 
gardening and felt that this should be taken into consideration when 
undertaking the review.  It was felt by the review group that a rental 
review would be timely with the possible introduction of the proposed 
policy, tenancy agreement and transition arrangements and would also 
provide an opportunity for DCC to consider the level of subsidy currently 
provided.  In addition, the review group also recommends that should 
DCC determine to undertake a rental review and this review results in 
an increase in rental charges, should this increase in annual rent per 
allotment plot be significant, then this increase should be introduced via 
annual incremental increases. 

  
Recommendation 8 
 
That DCC considers undertaking a rental review of DCC’s allotment portfolio, 
however, as part of this review recognition is given to the health and wellbeing 
benefits associated with the cultivation of allotment plots. Should the rental 
review determine an increase in rent per allotment plot and that increase is 
significant, then DCC should introduce this increase via annual incremental 
increases.  

 

Page 857



This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

Appendix 3 

Durham County Council Equality Impact Assessment 

NB: The Public Sector Equality Duty (Equality Act 2010) requires Durham County 

Council to have ‘due regard’ to the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination, 

harassment and victimisation, advance equality of opportunity and foster good 

relations between people from different groups. Assessing impact on equality and 

recording this is one of the key ways in which we can show due regard. 

Section One: Description and Screening 

Service/Team or Section 
 

TAP – Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

Lead Officer 
 

Tom Gorman  

Title 
 

 
Review of Durham County Council’s proposed 
allotment policy 

MTFP Reference (if 
relevant) 
 

 

Cabinet Date (if relevant) 
 

15 January 2020 
 

Start Date 
 

October 2017 

Review Date 
 

 
 

 

Subject of the Impact Assessment 

Please give a brief description of the policy, proposal or practice as appropriate (a 
copy of the subject can be attached or insert a web-link): 
 

The purpose of the Scrutiny review was to understand Durham County Council’s 
(DCC’s) current allotment policy, to examine the proposed allotment policy and to 
consider and comment on the proposed consultation.  The review had the 
following key lines of enquiry:  

• Examine and understand DCC’s current allotment service and policy 
including implementation challenges experienced.  

• Examine and comment on DCC’s future allotment policy including: 
o The proposed policy and tenancy agreement and consider the 

possible implications of introduction. 
o The proposed options for the further devolved management of DCC’s 

allotment estate to Town and Parish Councils where applicable or 
self-managed allotment associations. 

o The options for DCC’s future management of non-allotment plots 
currently included in the allotment portfolio. 

Page 859



 2 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

• Consider and compare DCC’s future allotment policy with allotment policies 
implemented by other local authorities. 

• Comment on the proposed consultation arrangements for DCC’s future 
allotment policy. 

 
The review highlighted that following Local Government re-organisation in 2009, 
DCC is responsible for the management of 167 allotment sites in the county 
whether directly managed or via Allotment Associations.     
 
During the last five years DCC has taken steps to improve the management of 
allotment sites by: increasing engagement with tenants and associations; 
improving enforcement and investment on sites; introducing handover inspections 
and a records management system; improved customer services arrangements 
and use social media to promote plot availability and the health benefits of 
allotments.   
 
However, DCC recognises that more work needs to be undertaken to ensure that 
there is a consistent management approach introduced across all DCC allotment 
sites and sees the introduction of a countywide policy and tenancy agreement 
supported by transition arrangements as providing an opportunity for consistency.  
The proposed policy promotes the proper use of allotment plots, compliance with 
planning and animal welfare regulations and continues to provide access to the 
wider benefits that come from allotment use.   
 
The review report has made recommendations in relation to the proposed policy 
and tenancy agreement, overall management of sites and transition arrangements 
with a view to removing the opportunity for inconsistency when the proposed policy 
is implemented. 
 
It is recommended that: 
 

• A five year transition period is introduced for the removal of large animals no 
longer permitted on DCC allotment plots; 

 

• Animals housed on DCC allotment sites have the required welfare 
documentation including passports, licenses and microchipping; 

 

• The future management of DCC’s allotment portfolio is the responsibility of 
one service team; 

 
• The future of allotment sites not used for proper allotment purpose will be 

determined by a review group of DCC officers with the future of each site 
determined on a site by site basis; 
 

• DCC provide an opportunity to establish area allotment associations; 
 

• DCC enters into discussions with Town and Parish Councils to 
determine whether they are interested in managing DCC allotment 
sites in the future; 

Page 860



 3 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

 

• DCC recognises in the proposed policy the contribution made by co-
workers to the cultivation of a plot by acknowledging their previous 
years of commitment while not registered;   
 

• DCC actively encourages co-workers to register their interest in a 
particular allotment plot; 
 

• DCC considers the feasibility of providing smaller sized allotment 
plots if there is demand; 
 

• DCC whilst recognising the health benefits associated with allotments, 
considers undertaking a rental review;   

 
 

 

Who are the main stakeholders? (e.g. general public, staff, members, specific 
clients/service users): 
 

 
Residents of County Durham, current allotment tenants, applicants on waiting lists, 
allotment associations, Town and Parish Councils and the Northern Region 
Allotment Association. 
 
 

 

Screening 

Is there any actual or potential negative or positive impact on the following 
protected characteristics?  

Protected Characteristic Negative Impact 
Indicate: Y = Yes, 
N = No, ? = unsure 
 

Positive Impact 
Indicate: Y = Yes, 
N = No, ? = unsure 
 

Age 
 

N Y 

Disability 
 

N Y 

Marriage and civil partnership  
(workplace only) 

N Y 

Pregnancy and maternity 
 

N Y 

Race (ethnicity) 
 

N Y 

Religion or Belief 
 

N Y 

Sex (gender) N Y 

Page 861



 4 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

  

Sexual orientation 
 

N Y 

Transgender 
 

N Y 

 

Please provide brief details of any potential to cause adverse impact. Record full 
details and analysis in the following section of this assessment. 
 

Negative impact is not anticipated as a result of the proposed recommendations.  
 

 

How will this policy/proposal/practice promote our commitment to our legal 
responsibilities under the public sector equality duty to: 

• eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation,  

• advance equality of opportunity, and  

• foster good relations between people from different groups? 
 

It is uncertain at this point of the potential impact depending on the 
recommendations adopted by Cabinet. However, the physical and mental health 
benefits of regular spells of gardening together with the nutritional value of 
vegetables and fruit grown on an allotment plot will have a positive effect on all 
protected characteristics 
 
The recommendations made by the review will help to ensure a consistent 
approach across the county in the management of allotment sites ensuring that 
allotment plots are used for the proper purpose of cultivation.  DCC will continue to 
promote the availability of allotment plots using various media including social 
media to ensure that all the residents of County Durham are aware of the allotment 
provision in County Durham and the application process.   
 
A specific recommendation in relation to the provision of smaller sized plots will be 
of benefit to certain protected characteristics (age and disability) providing an 
opportunity to access smaller more manageable plots and take advantage of the 
associated health benefits (mental and physical) from having an allotment plot.    
 

 

Evidence 

What evidence do you have to support your findings?  
Please outline your data sets and/or proposed evidence sources, highlight any 
gaps and say whether or not you propose to carry out consultation. Record greater 
detail and analysis in the following section of this assessment. 
 

Page 862



 5 

EIA Template October 2015 

 

As part of the review process evidence was received from the Allotment Team 
(ReaL Service Grouping) on the current allotment policy, detail of why it had not 
been implemented in full, improvements in management in the last five years and 
allotment policies adopted by other Local Authorities via the Northern Region 
Allotment Association.   
 
In addition, the review group considered the proposed policy, tenancy agreement 
and transition arrangements developed by the Service Grouping and visited 
several allotment sites in the county to see ‘first hand’ direct management by DCC 
and by allotment associations on behalf of DCC.  The group also met with Town 
and Parish Councils to discuss their management approach and any 
issues/challenges they may have and to discuss with those T&PCs that currently 
do not manage sites whether they would consider taking over in the future the 
management of allotment sites with the help and support of DCC. 

 

Screening Summary 

On the basis of this screening is there: 
 

Confirm which refers (Y/N) 

Evidence of actual or potential impact on 
some/all of the protected characteristics 
which will proceed to full assessment? 
 

Individual EIAs will be undertaken 
by the relevant service grouping 
following agreement by Cabinet of 
any of the recommendations 
contained in the review report. 

No evidence of actual or potential impact on 
some/all of the protected characteristics? 
 

 

 

Sign Off 

Lead officer sign off: 
Tom Gorman, O&S Manager 

Date: 18 November 
2019 

Service equality representative sign off: 
Mary Gallagher, Equality Team Leader 
 

Date: 18 November 
2018 

 

If not proceeding to full assessment please return completed screenings to your 

service equality representative and forward a copy to equalities@durham.gov.uk 

 

Page 863

mailto:equalities@durham.gov.uk
mailto:equalities@durham.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

             

  Cabinet 

15 January 2020 

 Humanitarian Support in County 

Durham 

 Ordinary Decision  

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Jane Robinson, Corporate Director of Adult and Health Services 

Councillor Angela Surtees, Portfolio Holder for Social Inclusion 

 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide. 

Purpose of the Report 

1 This report provides an update on County Durham’s support for 
vulnerable refugees and seeks approval to participate in the UK’s global 
resettlement programme following the conclusion of current 
resettlement schemes in 2020. 

Executive summary 

2 In 2015 County Durham pledged to play its part in supporting the UK’s 
commitment to assist some of the world’s most vulnerable refugees.  
With no significant experience of delivering humanitarian support, the 
council developed a model to support refugee resettlement in County 
Durham in a collaborative approach with partners and services.   

3 Since 2016, when County Durham welcomed its first refugee arrivals, 
the county has supported 259 individuals in 56 family groups over eight 
separate phases.  The programme is on track to deliver Cabinet’s 
commitment to support between 250 and 300 vulnerable refugees by 
the conclusion of current resettlement programmes in 2020. 

4 The county is recognised regionally and nationally as an example of 
best practice in delivering a successful resettlement programme that 
effectively supports vulnerable refugee families starting a new life in the 
UK. 

 

Page 865

Agenda Item 13



5 The Home Office continues to encourage local authorities to engage in 
refugee and asylum support programmes.  The main schemes include 
the Vulnerable Persons’ and Vulnerable Children’s Resettlement 
Programmes which County Durham is supporting, and a separate 
asylum process which accommodates asylum seekers throughout the 
UK under private contract arrangements which County Durham is not 
engaged in.  Local authorities are not funded to support individuals 
seeking asylum under the asylum accommodation scheme and 
evidence shows a significant impact on participating councils and the 
voluntary and community sector, who are not reimbursed for additional 
work and services required.  In 2017 partners expressed a strong view 
that the county should not engage in asylum accommodation 
arrangements, as they did not allow the council to co-ordinate arrivals 
and provide associated support.  Concerns were also expressed that 
support infrastructure and services for individuals seeking asylum were 
lacking in the county.  

6 Pledges under the UK’s key resettlement schemes for vulnerable 
refugees are scheduled to conclude in 2020.  In summer 2019 the 
government announced its commitment to a long-term programme for 
refugee resettlement, consolidating key programmes into a global 
resettlement scheme from April 2020.  Numbers and funding for year 
one only are confirmed presently but are equivalent to current schemes.  
The Home Office has confirmed it will seek identical terms for the 
programme for year two onwards as part of the Comprehensive 
Spending Review. 

7 County Durham’s participation in a refugee resettlement programme 
following the conclusion of existing resettlement schemes in 2020 would 
demonstrate the council’s commitment to contribute to the UK’s 
humanitarian assistance effort in a way which offers genuine support to 
vulnerable individuals and families in line with local circumstances. 

Recommendation(s) 

8 Cabinet is recommended to: 

(a) note progress on County Durham’s commitment to assist 
between 250 and 300 individuals under the Vulnerable Persons’ 
and Vulnerable Children’s Resettlement Programmes. 

(b) agree to participate in the UK’s new global refugee resettlement 
programme over the next four years following conclusion of the 
current resettlement schemes in 2020, proportionate with the 
county’s share of the national population, subject to: 

(i) the government confirming future funding arrangements in 
line with the current programme; and 

Page 866



(ii) ongoing monitoring continues to demonstrate that the 
programme to resettle refugees can be effectively delivered 
in the county. 

(c) agree that in the event it is considered that the programme 
cannot continue to be effectively delivered, the Director of 
Neighbourhoods and Climate Change, in consultation with the 
Portfolio Holder for Social Inclusion and the key partners 
highlighted in paragraph 43, is delegated authority to determine 
whether the level of involvement should reduce or cease. 

  

Page 867



Background 

9 In 2015 the government announced a commitment to assist 20,000 
vulnerable refugees caught up in the crisis in Syria.  This was followed 
by an announcement to support 3,000 vulnerable children and their 
families displaced in the Middle East and North Africa Region.  The 
government appealed to local authorities to help deliver this promise 
through the Vulnerable Persons’ Resettlement Scheme and the 
Vulnerable Children’s Resettlement Scheme. 

10 Durham Humanitarian Support Partnership was established to consider 
how the county could play its part, ensure that support for refugees 
placed in the county is joined up and to promote cross-service and 
agency working, as well as engagement with communities.  The 
Partnership, chaired by the council, included representation from 
Clinical Commissioning Groups, County Durham Housing Forum, the 
Voluntary and Community Sector, North East Regional Faiths Network 
and North East Churches Acting Together.   

11 The Partnership proposed that the county should offer resettlement 
support proportionate to the council’s share of the UK population, 
equating to approximately 200 refugees over the lifetime of the 
programme.  It also recommended an evaluation of the programme’s 
first year be undertaken to determine if the county’s support could be 
expanded.  Cabinet agreed the proposals in December 2015. 

12 The evaluation of Durham’s first year support painted a positive picture 
of resettlement, with council services, partner organisations and the 
voluntary and community sector working together effectively to make a 
difference to the lives of extremely vulnerable people and local 
communities accepting and welcoming refugee families into their midst.   

13 In November 2017 Cabinet agreed to increase the county’s support to 
between 250 and 300 individuals, under schemes which are adequately 
resourced to allow the county to successfully resettle arrivals, including 
the Vulnerable Persons’ Resettlement Scheme, suitable cases under 
the Vulnerable Children’s Resettlement Scheme and, where possible, 
unaccompanied asylum seeking children, if the level of care and 
support required are available. 

14 County Durham has also been encouraged to engage in UK asylum 
accommodation arrangements and discussions have been held with the 
Home Office.  This scheme is distinct from refugee resettlement 
programmes and is delivered via a private contract with the contractor 
securing accommodation and providing support services for asylum 
seekers within a participating local authority area.  Local authorities are 
not funded to offer support to individuals seeking asylum.  Evidence 
presented by authorities involved in the scheme, and an investigation by 

Page 868



the Home Affairs Select Committee, show a significant impact on 
participating authorities and local voluntary and community sector 
organisations, who are not reimbursed for additional work and services 
provided. 

15 In November 2018 the LGA Asylum, Migration and Refugee Task Group 
met the Immigration Minister to discuss local authority concerns about 
the asylum dispersal system and new asylum accommodation 
contracts.  The Minister expressed a commitment to improve 
engagement and to revisit existing ratios, exploring how asylum seekers 
could be allocated across areas.  The Home Office established a 
national Chief Executives Group, which has met three times since 
December 2018.   

16 One of the priorities of both the LGA Task Group and the Chief 
Executive/Home Office Group is the development of a more equitable, 
place-based approach to asylum dispersal in the UK.  A change plan 
has been developed outlining a process to achieve this, aiming to more 
closely align the regional proportions of dispersed asylum seekers to 
the regional proportions of the national population over the 10 year 
cycle of the asylum accommodation contract.  The approach will be 
driven by a year-on-year proportional reduction in areas which 
accommodate the highest proportion of asylum seekers, alongside a 
managed increase in less-affected areas. 

17 Following the work of the Chief Executive’s Group, consideration is now 
being given to how disparity can be addressed within regions.  This has 
yet to commence in the North East, primarily because the challenges of 
implementing a new asylum accommodation contract has been the 
focus, but it is likely to be the subject of discussions with local authority 
Leaders and Chief Executives.  There has been no change in the 
government’s position that involvement in asylum dispersal 
arrangements should be voluntary and there is no commitment to 
mandate local authorities to participate. 

18 The first year review of resettlement support sought partners’ views on 
participation in the asylum accommodation scheme.  Significant 
reservations were expressed about the system, Durham’s capacity and 
resources to deliver additional services arising from the scheme and the 
lack of support infrastructure for individuals seeking asylum.  Partners 
recommended that the county should focus its humanitarian support 
efforts on schemes which are adequately resourced to provide support 
for individuals arriving in the area.  Cabinet agreed the approach in 
November 2017 and County Durham is not participating in asylum 
accommodation arrangements.   

  

Page 869



UK global resettlement programme 

19 The UK’s resettlement programmes aim to support refugees in crises 
and are distinct from national asylum arrangements.  Arrivals under 
resettlement schemes have refugee status, can access public services, 
work and claim benefits; whilst participating local authorities receive 
government funding to provide full resettlement support. 

20 With pledges under the UK’s key resettlement schemes scheduled to 
conclude in 2020, in June 2019 the government announced its 
commitment to a long-term programme for resettlement, recognising the 
global humanitarian need, with over 68.5 million people around the 
world forced from their homes and nearly 25.4 million refugees fleeing 
persecution; whether due to conflict, religious belief, sexuality or any 
reason under the Refugee Convention. This seeks to provide certainty 
to partners on the future of the UK’s refugee resettlement offer.  

21 The announcement confirmed the UK will consolidate its main 
resettlement schemes into a global resettlement programme from April 
2020, broadening its geographical focus beyond the Middle East and 
North Africa region, and being better placed to swiftly respond to 
international crises in coordination with global partners.  The priority will 
be to continue to resettle the most vulnerable refugees and target those 
greatest in need of assistance, identified and referred by the United 
Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR).   

22 In 2020-2021, the first year of operation, the scheme aims to resettle 
around 5,000 of the world’s most vulnerable refugees, equivalent to the 
number of refugees assisted each year under current resettlement 
programmes. 

23 Although a global scheme, the North East Migration Partnership 
(NEMP) confirmed the scheme will continue to largely focus on 
refugees in the Middle East and North Africa, in line with concentration 
of need. 

24 Numbers and funding for year one only are confirmed presently, which 
the Home Office indicated is linked to Comprehensive Spending Review 
timescales.  It has confirmed it will seek identical terms for the 
programme for year two onwards, i.e. equal tariff funding, the same 
additional funding streams, including exceptional costs and health, and 
five years of ongoing funding. 

25 The NEMP is organising an event in early 2020 to discuss the success 
of the current programmes with political leaders and is seeking a 
potential ministerial presence. 

Page 870



26 As a participating authority, County Durham has been approached by 
the NEMP, on behalf of the Home Office, to discuss how the council 
wishes to progress and potential future pledges. 

The resettlement support programme in County Durham 

27 A model for resettling refugee arrivals in County Durham was developed 
by key services and partners, recognising the county’s distinctive 
characteristics, including the challenges presented by smaller and rural 
communities, the lack of diversity in many areas and communities and 
the lack of established infrastructure and support mechanisms.   

28 The partnership-focused approach to resettlement agreed by the 
council included the adoption of several key principles: 

(a) Resettling arrivals in the county’s main towns/areas, avoiding 
isolation in smaller villages and settlements.  The first year review 
of resettlement agreed that some larger villages and areas with 
good access and transport links to the City centre should also be 
considered, in consultation with partners to confirm suitability. 

(b) Assisting family groups, who are more likely to support one 
another and settle within County Durham’s communities. 

(c) Resettling arrivals in clusters of small family groups, offering a 
self-supporting mechanism within communities. 

29 A phased approach has been adopted, welcoming arrivals to the county 
in two main phases each year.  This allows effective programme 
planning, enabling the council to arrange accommodation in appropriate 
areas and provide the full range of resettlement support services during 
the first year, including education, English language, employability and 
resettlement support, and ensures best value from allocated funding.  

30 Durham Humanitarian Support Partnership recommended resettlement 
in the county’s main towns/areas which were assessed against key 
criteria including availability of suitable housing, health provision/GP 
access, school places, Jobcentre Plus access, cohesion and policing 
issues.  This concluded that ten areas would be appropriate for 
resettlement.  A further evaluation is undertaken with partners for each 
phase of resettlement, to confirm suitability and identify issues.   

31 Following the first-year evaluation of the scheme, it was agreed that 
some smaller communities with good access to other facilities, e.g. 
close to the City centre, may be suitable locations for resettlement.    

32 The county’s model recognises and balances community impact with 
resettling an appropriate number of families in each phase, thus 

Page 871



allowing provision of dedicated intensive resettlement support in each 
area for the first 12 months. 

33 Since 2016, when County Durham welcomed its first refugee arrivals, 
the county has supported 259 individuals in 56 family groups over eight 
separate phases.  Plans and preparations are continuing for the final 
phase of resettlement support under the current programme. 

34 The council is widely regarded as delivering an effective, successful 
resettlement programme.  County Durham is cited as an example of 
best practice by the Strategic Migration Partnership for authorities with 
no previous experience of resettlement, or for areas with less diverse 
communities.  In June 2019 the county was ranked 12 in the UK for the 
number of refugees supported under resettlement programmes.   

Material considerations 

35 The council has developed an effective programme to plan, co-ordinate 
and successfully support refugee families arriving in the county.  The 
first-year evaluation of support outlined a positive picture of successful 
resettlement and collaborative partnership working.  Families have 
resettled well and have indicated high levels of satisfaction with the 
support provided and welcome received from services, partners and 
local neighbours and communities.   

36 There have been positive early outcomes, including volunteering 
opportunities and significant progress in the development of English 
language skills.  Children and young people have settled exceptionally 
well in schools and further education, supported by the council’s English 
as an Additional Language (EAL) and Medical Needs Team and 
Employability Team.  Achievements include individuals securing 
employment, awards of excellence for progress and achievement, a 
police Young Heroes Award, outstanding exam results and in 2019 one 
student secured a university place, despite having no English language 
on arrival in the county two years ago. 

37 The government’s announcement of a UK global resettlement scheme 
includes a pledge to ensure the scheme is well-funded, allowing 
provision of the best possible support to refugees.  Although funding 
arrangements have been approved for year one only, the Home Office 
has confirmed it will be seeking identical terms for the programme as 
part of the Comprehensive Spending Review. 

38 The council’s experience suggests funding for the scheme fully meets 
costs incurred and has enabled the council to adopt innovative, 
partnership-focused approaches to delivery.  Additional funding is 
available, and has been accessed, to meet exceptional costs in year 

Page 872



one, including special educational needs and adaptations, and a 
reserve has been established to cover costs in future years. Local 
authorities taking part in asylum dispersal arrangements may use this 
funding to balance the impact of such initiatives, for example if the 
county were to take part in the UK’s asylum accommodation 
programme in the future. 

39 The concentration of need means a global resettlement scheme will 
continue its focus on the Middle East and North Africa.  The council has 
demonstrated it can effectively resettle refugee arrivals from these 
areas, with a dedicated resettlement team including Arabic-speaking 
support officers to deliver translation and interpreting support.  The 
additional staffing resource within the council’s Housing Solutions and 
Employability Services and the Education EAL Team offer the 
opportunity to enhance wider services. 

40 In contrast to the asylum accommodation scheme, where councils are 
unable to withdraw involvement, local authorities can determine 
individual support for resettlement and how this will be delivered.  This 
flexibility allows the county to plan its support based on local 
circumstances, and to review this in response to future events. 

41 County Durham is the only North East local authority not engaged in the 
UK’s asylum accommodation programme.  As part of the evaluation of 
resettlement support in 2017 partners strongly expressed the view that 
it would be inappropriate to engage in this scheme as it did not allow the 
county to co-ordinate arrivals and provide associated support similar to 
that offered by the resettlement programme.  Participation in a global 
resettlement scheme, which is resourced to facilitate successful 
resettlement of refugee families, allows a planned, co-ordinated 
approach which recognises the importance of suitably supporting 
vulnerable refugees. 

42 The resettlement of a small number of families each year under the 
resettlement programme offers an opportunity to increase diversity and 
potentially improve understanding, eliminate barriers and promote the 
acceptance of difference in some of the county’s communities.   

43 County Durham has established a reputation for a successful 
resettlement offer and is cited as a model of best practice by the 
Strategic Migration Partnership.  The input of key partners is an 
essential component in the successful delivery of the programme in the 
county.  Durham Humanitarian Support Partnership established the 
strategic direction for humanitarian support within County Durham, 
strongly supporting participation in resettlement schemes which are co-
ordinated by the council and fully funded by government.  The 
Partnership last met in 2017.  A working group is consulted for each 

Page 873



phase and includes members of the wider Partnership.  In order to 
inform a final view and recommendation about future participation, the 
working group of key services and partners was convened in December 
2019, chaired by the Portfolio Holder for Social Inclusion, with 
representation from health, police, the voluntary and community sector, 
Department for Work and Pensions, education and housing. 

44 Partners expressed high levels of satisfaction with the effectiveness of 
the programme, the collaborative approach to co-ordination and support 
and a genuine sense of pride at the successful resettlement of 
vulnerable families within the county.  Members were keen to endorse 
the resettlement programme and express appreciation of the council’s 
efforts, which partners felt had exceeded the high expectations of those 
involved.  The working group reiterated its view that the county should 
focus on delivering humanitarian support via the resettlement 
programme and confirmed a strong commitment to continue to resettle 
families within County Durham.  The concerns expressed previously 
about participation in the asylum accommodation programme were still 
felt to be valid. 

The challenges  

45 Whilst social housing providers have been keen and willing partners in 
the resettlement programme, securing housing in suitable areas is 
fundamental.  It is desirable to work with social providers, but the 
council may also need to explore other options where social housing is 
limited, including accredited private landlords.  The council’s agreement 
to establish a local lettings agency in the county may offer one such 
mechanism in future.  This approach would be in line with the council’s 
Housing Strategy and would support efforts to raise standards across 
the private rented sector, improving the quality of the county’s housing 
stock and wider housing environment.  The costs of using the council’s 
lettings agency to secure accommodation could be met from 
resettlement programme funding.  

46 Families have settled well within the county, with a largely warm 
welcome from communities.  It is recognised that compassion for the 
plight of refugees may diminish, as the crisis in Syria becomes a less 
influential news topic, despite the ongoing humanitarian disaster.  This 
may be exacerbated by future political and economic events.  It is 
therefore difficult to predict whether and what tensions may arise. 

47 A continuation of the county’s model to focus on main towns/areas or 
villages/areas with good access and transport links to the City centre 
means some communities will see additional refugee families resettled.  
However, the lettings agency approach might provide access to other 
suitable locations with little social housing stock.  The programme is 

Page 874



carefully planned, with two phases each year.  It is likely therefore that 
the arrival of additional families would be spread over several years, 
with a small number (approximately five families) resettled in each 
phase in line with the county’s share of the UK population.  Arrivals may 
also be offset by families relocating to other parts of the county or the 
UK.   

48 The council’s resettlement offer includes a dedicated staffing resource 
supporting the programme within the Housing Solutions, Employability 
and EAL teams.  There is a funding reserve to prepare for a planned 
reduction in resettlement provision over the duration of the scheme.  
Nevertheless, withdrawing future engagement would inevitably impact 
Teams and staffing in the future. 

49 Any proposal to discontinue resettlement support at this stage is 
unlikely to be supported by partners.  The programme evaluation found 
that partners were extremely positive about the collaborative nature of 
the scheme and their involvement in each phase.  The consultation 
event with partners in December 2019 confirmed there is strong interest 
and support for continued involvement in resettlement from all partners, 
including voluntary and community and church representatives, who are 
active, dedicated delivery partners keen that the county plays its part in 
offering humanitarian support to vulnerable people.   

Conclusion 

50 In 2015 County Durham pledged to play its part in supporting the UK’s 
commitment to assist some of the world’s most vulnerable refugees.  
The county had no significant experience of delivering humanitarian 
support and therefore utilised the knowledge of partners and services to 
develop a model to support resettlement in County Durham.  Four years 
on and County Durham is delivering a successful resettlement 
programme that effectively supports vulnerable refugee families starting 
a new life in the UK and is recognised as an example of best practice.   

51 The global humanitarian need persists, with over 68.5 million people 
around the world forced from their homes and nearly 25.4 million 
refugees fleeing persecution.  The government’s announcement of a UK 
global resettlement programme, to ensure it can contribute to the need 
for humanitarian support, even during a time of austerity, recognises 
this. 

52 In contrast to the national asylum accommodation programme, the 
resettlement scheme provides flexibility to co-ordinate support in line 
with local circumstances and is well resourced to provide appropriate 
support for vulnerable families arriving in the county.  Continued 
participation in the scheme demonstrates a positive contribution to the 

Page 875



UK’s wider humanitarian support effort.  At the same time, resettlement 
support is not a contractual commitment and allows the county’s offer to 
be amended if there are significant changes, including the availability of 
housing, cohesion issues and future funding arrangements.   

53 The council has worked successfully with partners to establish a truly 
collaborative, highly-commended programme in the county.  The 
programme’s success has positively reflected on the council, bringing 
national and regional recognition.  County Durham’s resettlement 
scheme has been a finalist in four prestigious national awards, the 
county has shared its experience and insight on numerous occasions at 
a regional level, has represented the region at Home Office national 
events and supported other authorities with peer mentoring.  
Withdrawing participation from such a successful programme could 
therefore be strongly criticised, at a time when local authorities are 
being urged to participate in other initiatives, including unfunded 
schemes. 

54 Delivering a successful programme can be challenging, but there are a 
significant number of positive elements linked to involvement in the 
scheme, not least the genuine contribution the county is making to the 
lives of vulnerable individuals.  It is therefore recommended that, 
subject to confirmation of future funding arrangements, the county 
should support the scheme over the next four years, resettling a small 
cluster of families in each phase proportionate to the county’s share of 
the population.  This would amount to approximately five families 
arriving twice per year and reflects the council’s pledge under the 
Vulnerable Persons’ Resettlement Scheme, with a commitment to 
review future participation thereafter. 

55 The Home Office is keen to seek expressions of interest for participation 
from 2020 and the NEMP is facilitating discussions with participating 
local authorities.   

Background papers 

• None. 

Other useful documents 

• Cabinet Report: Durham Humanitarian Support Partnership, 
16 December 2015 

• Cabinet Report: Review of Humanitarian Support in County 
Durham, 15 November 2017 

Author(s) 

Gordon Elliott    Tel:  03000 263605 

Page 876



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

None. 

Finance 

The government provides funding for local authorities engaging with the 
Vulnerable Persons’ Resettlement Scheme and the Vulnerable Children’s 
Resettlement Scheme (VCRS).  First year funding has been agreed for the 
UK’s global resettlement scheme, confirming a refugee’s resettlement costs 
will be fully funded by central government during the first 12 months.  
Resources are allocated on a tariff basis, with additional costs covered under 
an exceptional costs fund.  Local authorities are also provided with tariff 
funding to meet support costs in years 2-5, tapering from £5,000 per person in 
the second year in the UK to £1,000 per person in year five.  Funding is also 
provided to local authorities supporting unaccompanied asylum-seeking 
children.  Direct funding for local authorities is not allocated under the asylum 
accommodation and support contract. 

Consultation 

Consultation with partners is a key element of the approach set out in this 

report. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

There is a significant requirement for language support for refugees.  The 

vulnerable nature of refugees assisted under the scheme will include support 

to individuals with complex needs, including physical and mental health 

issues. Government funding is intended to meet these costs. 

The resettlement programmes prioritise those in the greatest need who cannot 

be supported in the region and prioritises people requiring urgent medical 

treatment, survivors of torture and violence, and women and children at risk. 

There is a need to ensure that accommodation meets the needs of the 

individuals resettled and links are made with health. 

Climate Change 

None. 

Human Rights 

Human Rights is a key driver for the government’s implementation of a global 
resettlement scheme for the UK, and the operation of the Vulnerable Persons’ 

Page 877



Resettlement Scheme, the Vulnerable Children’s Resettlement Scheme and 
the National Transfer Scheme for Unaccompanied Asylum-seeking Children. 

Crime and Disorder 

Durham Humanitarian Support Partnership and the county’s resettlement 
support model involves input from the police.  The police continue to be 
engaged in the implementation of each phase of the resettlement programme 
and have designated a senior officer to co-ordinate liaison. 

Staffing 

A proportion of the resources provided by government to support the 

resettlement schemes is being used to employ a team to assist refugees to 

settle in the county.  This funding would also support a staffing resource to co-

ordinate and support refugee arrivals under a UK global resettlement 

programme. 

Accommodation 

Close liaison with housing providers is central to successful implementation of 

the resettlement support scheme.  The use of the council’s local lettings 

agency would also support the provision of accommodation for families 

supported under the scheme.   

The refugee resettlement support team is accommodated within the council’s 

estate. 

Risk 

The government has announced the contribution that will be made to councils 

taking part in the global resettlement scheme, along with a commitment to 

costs in year one.  There is a risk that the government may change funding 

arrangements in future years.  There is also a risk that resettlement costs 

incurred in years two to five may not be fully covered by the tariff funding 

provided.  However, the council’s experience of the scheme over the past 

three years suggests the funding provided meets all resettlement costs. 

Procurement 

None. 

Page 878



 
 

   

 

        

 Cabinet 

15 January 2020 

 Health Protection Assurance Annual 

Report 2018-19 

 Ordinary decision  

 

Report of Corporate Management Team  

Jane Robinson, Corporate Director of Adult & Health Services 

Amanda Healy, Director of Public Health 

Councillor Lucy Hovvels, Portfolio Holder for Adult and Health 

Services 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

All. 

Purpose of the Report 

1 This report provides an update to Cabinet on health protection 
assurance arrangements in County Durham. 
 

2 Updates come from the implementation of the health protection action 
plan, which is overseen by the Health Protection Assurance and 
Development Group (HPADG). 

Executive summary 

3 In County Durham, new health protection assurance arrangements 
were established in August 2018 following a cross-organisational event 
focusing on this topic. 

4 The HPADG was subsequently convened and oversees the 
implementation of a local health protection action plan. 

5 HPADG meets quarterly and seeks assurance on five main strands of 
health protection activity, in addition to data and communications which 
are threaded throughout: 

• Screening programmes 

• Immunisation programmes 

• Outbreaks and communicable diseases 

 

Page 879

Agenda Item 14



 
 

• Strategic regulation interventions 

• Preparedness and response to incidents and emergencies 
 
6 Key achievements overseen by HPADG to date include: 

• Sustained local coverage of national cancer screening 
programmes above the national and regional averages 

• Sustained local uptake of national childhood vaccinations above 
the national and regional averages (see Appendix 2) 

• Working group established to raise awareness and increase 
uptake of vaccinations at Aycliffe Secure Centre, including 
promoting vaccination uptake amongst staff members 

• Establishing a County Durham and Darlington Flu Prevention 
Board to improve uptake, particularly amongst priority groups 

• Development of a local operating protocol to ensure a rapid 
response to non-routine outbreaks of infectious diseases – the 
first of its kind in the North East, and 

• Changes to licensing policy include encouragement of licensees 
to raise alcohol health awareness, make the offer of free tap 
water visible, and support local efforts to take action on obesity 

• Review of Scientific & Technical Advice Cell (STAC) 
arrangements to increase robustness of cover arrangements. 
 

7 Areas for future development include 

• Improving uptake of certain vaccinations including shingles and 
pneumococcal 

• Ensuring equitable coverage and uptake of screening and 
immunisations programmes 

• Taking account of a national review of adult screening 
programmes, and a forthcoming national immunisations strategy 

• Development of a sexual health strategy for County Durham 

• Ensuring health protection and public health related emergency 
preparedness is assured during organisational change. 

Recommendation(s) 

8 Cabinet is requested to: 

(a) note the content of the report; 
(b) note that local performance continues to be higher than England 

and regional averages and above target for most screening and 
immunisation programmes; 

(c) note that the report provides broad assurance that effective 
processes are in place for each of the key strands of health 
protection activity; 

Page 880



 
 

(d) note that the DPH is seeking further assurance in relation to flu 
immunisation and the outcome of a national review of screening, 
and; 

(e) support further identification and response to emerging health 
protection priorities. 

Background 

9 The protection of the health of the population is one of the five 
mandated responsibilities given to local authorities as part of the Health 
and Social Care Act 2012. The Director of Public Health (DPH) for 
County Durham is responsible under legislation for the discharge of the 
local authority’s public health functions. 

10 The health protection element of these statutory responsibilities and the 
mandatory responsibilities of the DPH are as outlined below: 

(a) The Secretary of State’s public health protection functions; 
(b) Exercising the local authority’s functions in planning for, and 

responding to, emergencies that present a risk to public health; 
(c) Such other public health functions as the Secretary of State 

specifies in regulations; 
(d) Responsibility for the local authority’s public health response as a 

responsible authority under the Licensing Act 2003, such as 
making representations about licensing applications; 

(e) A duty to ensure plans are in place to protect their population 
including through screening and immunisation. 

 
11 Within Durham County Council, the remit for health protection is 

delivered by Public Health in conjunction with the Community Protection 
Service (CPS) and the Civil Contingencies Unit (CCU).  The local 
Clinical Commissioning Group employs an Infection Prevention and 
Control Team (IPCT) through an agreement with Public Health. 

12 Public Health England (PHE)’s core functions include protecting the 
public from infectious diseases, chemicals, radiation and environmental 
hazards and supporting emergency preparedness, resilience and 
response. Teams responsible for delivering these functions in the North 
East sit within the PHE Centre based in Newcastle upon Tyne. 

13 NHS England (NHSE), working jointly with PHE, is responsible for 
commissioning and quality assuring population screening and 
immunisation programmes. This includes a team covering the Cumbria 
and the North East, also based in Newcastle. 

14 Regular liaison between Directors of Public Health (DsPH), the Centre 
Director of PHE in the North East, and the Head of Public Health for 
NHSE in Cumbria and the North East occurs via monthly North East 

Page 881



 
 

DsPH meeting and monthly telephone catch ups as well as via the 
Public Health Oversight Group. 
 

Health protection assurance arrangements in County Durham 
 

15 The HPADG, chaired by the DPH, was established in 2018, and aims to 
enable the Director of Public Health to fulfil the statutory role in assuring 
the Council and Health and Wellbeing Board that satisfactory 
arrangements are in place to protect the health of the local population. 

16 The HPADG has developed a detailed action plan built on five pillars of 
health protection, in addition to data and communications which are 
threaded throughout: 

• Screening programmes 

• Immunisation programmes 

• Outbreaks and communicable diseases 

• Strategic regulation interventions 

• Preparedness and response to incidents and emergencies 

17 The action plan is supported by a scorecard that includes a range of 
appropriate health protection indicators and outcomes (see Appendix 
2). 

18 The Health, Safety and Wellbeing Safety Strategic Group (HSWSG) is 
in place in DCC to ensure that suitable priority is given to the 
management of Health, Safety and Wellbeing across the Council. This 
includes representation from Public Health. 

19 NHSE established a County Durham & Darlington Screening and 
Immunisations Oversight Group which provides assurance to the DPH 
in relation to screening and immunisation programmes.  In addition, the 
management of incidents and the quality assurance for screening 
programmes are reported separately to the DPH.  Programme boards 
have been established for each of the screening and immunisation 
programmes. 

20 PHE established the County Durham and Darlington Area Health 
Protection Group and this brings together organisations involved in 
protecting the health of the population. The group meets quarterly and 
is attended by a Consultant in Public Health. The purpose of the group 
is to provide a forum to discuss strategic and operational health 
protection issues; review outbreaks and incidents (local, regional and 
national) and learn from lessons identified; provide a forum where 
cross-boundary and cross-organisational issues can be discussed and 
solutions identified; identify local priorities alongside implementing 
national policy and guidance, and identify any joint training and 

Page 882



 
 

development needs. The group does not have a formal accountability or 
governance structure. 

21 PHE NE has a bespoke surveillance system in place for communicable 
diseases with daily and weekly alerts for exceedances and identification 
of linked cases. The DPH is informed of outbreaks, incidents and 
exceedances via email alerts. The DPH is represented at all local 
outbreak control meetings and outbreak reports are also shared. 

22 The DsPH for County Durham and Darlington established the County 
Durham and Darlington Healthcare Acquired Infections (HCAI) 
Assurance Group in 2004.  This group is chaired by a DPH and has 
wide membership from all provider organisations, enabling the DsPH to 
have a clear line of sight to all providers in County Durham and 
Darlington. HCAI information is also reported directly to CCGs where 
action plans are put in place to address identified issues.  These are 
reported to the CCGs’ Governing Bodies as part of the regular quality 
reports. 

23 County Durham has retained an in-house team of community IPCT 
nurses who can support the care homes, GP surgeries with infection 
control issues (especially reducing rates of reportable infections such as 
C difficile, MRSA and E.coli bacteraemia).The team also complete 
yearly environmental audits to ensure care homes and GP practices are 
compliant with current legislation. As a result of joint working with 
colleagues in Adult and Health Services, DCC training sessions have 
been provided for domiciliary care trainers. 

24 The IPCT deal with alert organisms on a daily basis and offer advice 
and support to care homes, staff and patients on HCAI. Progress 
against national targets are fed back to the DPH on a monthly basis. 

25 NHS England established the County Durham and Darlington and Tees 
Local Health Resilience Partnership (LHRP) in 2013.  This has now 
merged with the LHRP in the north of the patch to form a North East 
group. One of the responsibilities of the LHRP is to provide the DPH 
with assurance that the health sector has well tested plans to respond 
to major incidents that contribute to multi-agency emergency planning. 
The LHRP is co-chaired by NHSE and a DPH and attended by a County 
Durham Consultant in Public Health. 

26 NHSE and CCGs have a duty to cooperate with local authorities on 
health and well-being under the NHS Act 2006. This includes 
cooperating on health protection, including the sharing of plans. The 
2012 Health and Social Care Act makes clear that both NHE England 
and the CCGs are under a duty to obtain appropriate advice in the 
protection of the public health. CCGs are also Category 2 responders 

Page 883



 
 

under the Act giving them a duty to provide information and cooperate 
with civil contingency planning as needed. 

27 The Civil Contingencies Unit (CCU) is essentially the local authority’s 
point of contact for business continuity and emergency planning both 
internally and externally in response to incidents and emergencies.  The 
CCU are also a conduit for information for multiple agencies through the 
LRF and have a duty officer on call at all times.  

28 CCU holds a community risk register which provides assurance to the 
DPH about key risks to the community including: pandemic influenza; 
flooding; adverse weather; emerging infectious disease; fuel shortage; 
widespread long duration electricity network failure; animal disease and 
building collapse. 

29 The CCU produce extensive emergency preparedness plans on 
‘Resilience Direct’ and work with the LRF to co-ordinate the training 
exercise calendar. This also includes running exercises for the local 
university.  

30 All internal plans are reviewed on a regular basis. The DPH is involved 
in the initial development of relevant plans and is sent updates once 
plans are reviewed. Access to LRF plans is through ‘Resilience Direct’ 
from the LRF or the CCU.  The DPH is a member of the LRF. 

31 Durham County Council leads the recovery co-ordination group, 
responsible for community engagement and recovery assurance in the 
event of an incident (for example an extensive fire that may have led to 
land contamination).  

32 PHE’s Health Protection, NHSE’s Screening and Immunisation and the 
local IPCT produce annual reports. 

33 PHE’s annual report covers the NE geography and includes details of 
the prevention and surveillance of communicable diseases, their 
response to communicable disease outbreaks and incidents; 
emergency preparedness, resilience and response, environmental 
issues and quality and health inequality issues in health protection. The 
annual report is supplemented by quarterly reports to the DPH that 
detail outbreaks and issues in County Durham.  

34 NHSE’s annual flu programme report describes uptake amongst eligible 
groups and highlights areas for improvement. This is preceded by a 
local evaluation of the flu programme delivered locally. 

35 The IPCT annual report details the range of support and interventions 
initiated to reduce HCAI and reports in year activity details. This report 
also includes the work plan for the IPCT for the upcoming year. 

Page 884



 
 

36 The DCC Community Protection Service (CPS) provides assurance to 
national regulators including Department for Environment, Food & Rural 
Affairs (DEFRA), Food Standards Agency (FSA) and Health & Safety 
Executive (HSE) through the implementation and regular reporting on 
their air quality strategy; contaminated land strategy; food safety plan; 
food hygiene plan; annual enforcement programme; various licensing 
and enforcement polices and disease contingency plans. Services 
provided by CPS are regulated nationally by the FSA, HSE and DEFRA 
to provide further assurance on the quality of service provision. 

37 A Local Air Quality Management Area currently exists within Durham 
City. Action and implementation plans are in place to reduce Nitrogen 
Dioxide emissions and improve air quality standards within that area. 

Updates on key areas 
 
38 Data provided below are collated from numerous sources and compiled 

in the scorecard attached at Appendix 2. 

Screening and immunisations  
 

Screening 
 

39 Breast screening coverage rates in County Durham are consistently 
above the 70% minimum standard.   

40 Coverage rates for cervical screening are higher than the England 
average, but fail to meet the 80% standard. Rates are showing a slight 
decline in recent years.  

41 A Cervical Cancer Task and Finish Group has been set up by a Public 
Health Advanced Practitioner to increase and reduce inequalities in 
uptake. Actions to be taken forward by the Group include improving 
communications and community engagement and exploring incentives 
to service users and providers. 

42 County Durham has the second highest coverage for bowel screening 
in Cumbria and the NE (above 60%) and is performing above the 
England and regional average. 

43 Where data is available for the seven antenatal and new-born screening 
programmes, performance for the County Durham population is good.   
Some data is missing from CDDFT due to problems with their IT 
systems, which is currently being addressed although this remains a 
concern. 

Page 885



 
 

44 The diabetic retinopathy screening programme covering County 
Durham and Darlington consistently exceeds the national quality 
standard attendance rate of 80%. 

45 The Abdominal aortic aneurysm screening programme covers the North 
East and North Cumbria.  By the end of March 2018, 100% of eligible 
individuals were offered AAA screening. Testing rates also reached the 
acceptable standard (77.2%). 

46 A report on the independent review of adult screening programmes led 
by Professor Sir Mike Richards was published in October 2019. This 
stated that the national decline in bowel, breast and cervical cancer 
screening ‘must be reversed’ and made several recommendations to 
reform the current system. These include the creation of single a) 
advisory and b) commissioning/ quality assurance functions. 

Immunisations 
 

47 Overall, the universal childhood immunisation programmes demonstrate 
high uptake rates across County Durham, with rates generally above 
national targets and averages (see Appendix 2). This includes the 
following coverage: 

• 97.3% of the combined diphtheria, tetanus, whooping cough, 
polio and Haemophilus influenzae type b (Dtap / IPV / Hib) 
vaccine at 1 year 

• 97.4% of pneumococcal vaccine (PCV) at 1 year 

• 98.8% of the Dtap / IPV / Hib vaccine at 2 years 

• 97.5% of the PCV booster at 2 years 

• 97.14% for one dose of Measles, Mumps and Rubella at 2 years 

• 98.1% for one dose of MMR at 5 years 

• 96.4% for two doses of MMR at 5 years 

48 The World Health Organisation withdrew measles elimination status 
from the UK in 2018 (after granting it in 2017) as the percentage of 
children receiving a 2nd dose of MMR at 5 years old fell to 87.8% 
nationally. 

49 The evaluation of the 2018/19 seasonal flu vaccination programme led 
to the establishment of a County Durham and Darlington Flu Prevention 
Board in July 2019. Separate papers are available on the flu 
programme evaluation and the development of the Board. Highlights 
from the work overseen by the Board are given in the following 
paragraphs.  

50 The DCC staff vaccination programme, which is targeted at staff who 
provide up close and personal care, has been extended to include a 

Page 886



 
 

parallel scheme covering around 300 staff working in integrated teams 
with the NHS.  

51 Preliminary results of the internal campaign indicate that: 

• Of the five staff teams that received a voucher only offer, 51% of 
identified eligible staff intended to receive a vaccination through 
the voucher scheme (or are eligible through the NHS). This 
compares with a 25% uptake of the voucher offer within the four 
staff teams last year. 

• 55% of identified eligible staff intended to receive a vaccination at 
on on-site clinic (or are eligible through the NHS). This compares 
with a 18% uptake through on-site clinics in the previous year. 

52 The Board has a coordinated action and communications plan that 
complements the plans of member organisations. 

53 Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board were challenged to 
champion flu vaccination within their organisations and have fed this 
work back to the Board. 

54 An evaluation of the 2019/20 campaign will be produced by the Board in 
Spring 2020.   This will inform the flu programme for 2020/21.  

55 Uptake of Shingles vaccine remains stubbornly low. Discussions have 
been held with NHSE on ways to improve uptake locally.  

56 There is a national shortage of pneumococcal vaccine covering 23 
strains of the bacteria that may be impacting on uptake.  

57 There have been challenges in the delivery of the flu programme in 
2019/20 relating to the complexity of commissioning arrangements and 
interdependencies within the vaccine supply chain. These issues have 
led to the DsPH in the region and the local Flu Prevention Board writing 
to NHSE to raise their concerns. 

58 The recent Government Green Paper on prevention proposed a vaccine 
strategy in addition to the implementation of the existing Measles and 
Rubella Elimination Strategy. It was expected that the Department of 
Health and Social Care, working with PHE and NHS England, would 
deliver this comprehensive strategy this Autumn. 

Communicable disease control and outbreaks 
 

59 IPCT support a network of infection control champions provided by the 
care homes, who have the potential to attend regular study days 
depending on resources. This was particularly valuable in 2018/19 as, 
due to a reduction in capacity within the IPCT, care homes undertook 

Page 887



 
 

self-audits of infection control practices. Targeted homes were visited 
and re-audited against their returns. IPCT expect to be back at full 
capacity in Winter 2019. 

60 In hours, information about infection exceedances and outbreaks is 
easily communicated between organisations. There are also good 
working arrangements between the health protection team and 
Environmental Health officers in hours. 

61 The CCU provides a conduit for dissemination of information across the 
local authority both inside and outside of normal working hours.  
However, dissemination of information across and within CCGs, NHSE, 
local authorities, PHE and provider organisations can be challenging in 
the event of an outbreak when out of hours.  

62 There is no formal environmental health officer rota out of hours, which 
can lead to delays in gathering the requisite information for risk 
assessments to be accurately undertaken in the event of an outbreak of 
infectious disease.  Whilst the CCU cannot elicit information required for 
outbreak risk assessments, they are the best route for PHE to make 
contact with an EHO out of hours.  A proposal relating to out of hours 
cover is currently being considered in DCC.  

63 It can be challenging to mobilise NHS resources to respond to cases or 
outbreaks of infection such as influenza, pneumococcal outbreaks, 
meningococcal infection, hepatitis A in care homes or schools that 
require swab testing, or provision of antivirals, vaccination or antibiotics. 
Much of what happens currently works informally on the basis of 
longstanding relationships. There is no formal commissioning of 
services to meet these requirements besides the contract with 
Harrogate and District Foundation Trust, which provides vaccination 
services children. Work is well underway to develop a protocol to 
describe how the system will respond to these incidents. 

64 The presence of several prison establishments in Durham presents 
challenges in the management of infectious diseases, particularly blood 
borne viruses and TB. Changes in IT systems expected in 2020 are 
expected to improve communications between primary care and 
prisons. 

65 The Public Health in Prisons North East meetings have been held since 
June 2017.  These are chaired by one of the Consultants in Health 
Protection. The meetings allow for the dissemination and discussion of 
key material and learning relating to health protection and infection 
control; opportunities for individual prisons to share learning and good 
practice in relation to public health; and CPD for prison staff and 
commissioners in relation to public health. 

Page 888



 
 

66 A working group has been established in relation to health protection at 
Aycliffe Secure Centre. Public Health (PH), Occupational Health (OH), 
and Adult Social Care attended an initial meeting.  

67 Public health and colleagues from PHE developed a briefing 
programme around Blood Borne Virus, MMR and Flu. The briefing 
raised awareness and the implications of any illness and the importance 
of being vaccinated to protect against common and rarer viruses. Efforts 
are underway to improve vaccination rates through a combination of 
onsite delivery or signposting into primary care.  

68 The Sexual and Reproductive Health Activity Dataset (SRHAD) together 
with Genito-urinary Medicine Clinic Activity Dataset (GUMCADv2), form 
the basis for the sexual health dataset collected from sexual health 
clinic settings. The integrated sexual health service (ISHS) is requested 
to provide data analysis relating to GUM attendances, activity and 
sexually transmitted infection (STI) trends on a quarterly basis. 

69 PHE Sexual and Reproductive Health profiles continue to show County 
Durham as having a lower than average diagnosis rate for STI’s.   

70 Antimicrobial resistance (AMR) remains a growing threat to public 
health. At the time of writing, NHS Durham Dales, Easington And 
Sedgefield (DDES) ranked 10th highest amongst 191 CCGs in the 
number of prescribed antibiotic items per 1000 resident individuals. 
North Durham ranked 38th highest. The CCGs employ a Medicines 
Optimisations Team who take the lead on appropriate prescribing 
practices.  PHE are leading campaign work on this and more in depth 
action is anticipated locally in 2020.  

71 In September 2019, PHE published an Infectious Diseases Strategy 
2020-2025. This is organised around six core functions: Prevent & 
protect; Detect & control; Prepare & respond; Build & apply; Advise & 
collaborate; Generate & share. Implications for practice will be 
considered at the next meeting of the HPADG in December 2019. 

Strategic regulation intervention 

72 The Community Protection Service (CPS) delivers key frontline services 
which are mainly regulatory in nature and encompass environmental 
health, trading standards and licensing functions. The service is 
adopting a more strategic and risk-based approach to regulation and 
works closely with a range of key partners to achieve better regulatory 
outcomes which protect and promote the health and wellbeing of local 
communities. The Service is now responsible for community safety, 
including Anti-Social behaviour and the Vulnerability Interventions 

Page 889



 
 

Pathway Team who signpost into a variety of support services including 
addictions, mental health, alcohol and drug misuse and crisis services. 

73 CPS’ food safety team are integral to the management of cases and 
outbreaks of food-borne infection.  The incidence of some 
gastrointestinal (GI) infections is similar higher in Durham compared to 
the England average. However, the latest annual data date back to 
2017. 

74 Despite team capacity issues and a constant uncertainty around 
workload (due to the nature of the work), the team work to deliver 
proactive projects alongside their statutory duties (including business 
and housing inspections, air water and land quality improvement work) 
and reactive work (including infectious disease outbreaks and accidents 
in the workplace etc.)  These projects include a ‘community action 
team’, and the ‘better business for all’ initiative. 

75 The team are also capitalising on their access to businesses and people 
in the community to deliver health improvement initiatives alongside 
their statutory duties.  Examples of this include alcohol harm reduction 
linked to licensing applications, smoking cessation linked to illicit control 
work, and gas safety inspections linked to food hygiene inspections.  
Future opportunities include work on falls, and fuel poverty linked to 
housing inspections, including a recent empty property protocol to 
reduce the risk of arson and antisocial behaviour as well as improving 
the health of the wider community. 

76 There may be challenges around succession planning, as 38% of staff 
are over 50. 

77 In October 2019 DCC published a revised Licensing Act 2003 
Statement of Licensing Policy for 2019 to 2024. Changes to licensing 
policy include the encouragement of licensees to raise alcohol health 
awareness, make the offer of free tap water visible, and support local 
efforts to take action on obesity. 

Preparedness and response to incidents and emergencies 

78 The LHRP has played a key role in coordinating communications 
between Government and health organisations across the North East 
region in planning and preparing for EU Exit. Representation from the 
Public Health team has ensured there is a clear line of communication 
into the local Brexit group. 

79 There are now 2 Control of Major Accident Hazards (COMAH) sites in 
Durham.  

Page 890



 
 

80 The Cabinet Office has extended the period for the National Capabilities 
Survey (NCS) to 3 years. County Durham is due next in or around May 
2020. 

81 An Excess Death Framework has been written by the excess deaths 
task and finish group, co-chaired by Durham and Darlington DPHs. The 
next stage for the framework is for it to undergo an exercise. This will be 
in the form of a table top exercise, Exercise Coil, which will be held at in 
February 2020. Planning for the exercise is currently ongoing. The 
exercise will be focusing on excess deaths caused by a series of 
heatwaves. 

82 The Director of Public Health, along with other DsPH across the North 
East are part of a Scientific & Technical Advice Cell rota in a major 
incident when a STAC is called by the Strategic Co-ordinating Group 
the DPH will chair the STAC.  The DPH has undergone Major Incident 
Gold Command Training this year.  This is to ensure the DPH can 
operate at SCG level and understands the working arrangements of 
STAC and the SCG. 

83 Following a major incident on Teesside were a STAC was called 
changes have been made to the arrangements.  These include a review 
of contractual arrangements with PHE and additional CPH training to 
ensure cover arrangements locally and across the North East. 
 

Main implications 
 

84 It is critical that the DPH receives assurance in relation to the health 
protection functions of: screening; Immunisation; outbreaks and 
communicable disease management; strategic regulation interventions 
and; preparedness and response to incidents and emergencies. 
 

85 Following engagement with representatives from Public Health England, 
NHS England, DDES CCG and DCC Civil Contingencies Unit, 
Department for Environment, Health and Consumer Protection and 
community infection control assurance mechanisms are now in place 
through the formulation of a health protection action plan.  This action 
plan has identified priority areas for action, achievement of which will be 
monitored through the HPADG and health protection scorecard.  The 
HPADG group meets quarterly and reports to the HWB. 

Conclusion 

86 The health protection functions delivered by a range of organisations in 
County Durham continue to demonstrate good overall performance. 

87 On the whole, good communication exists between the commissioners 
of the various programmes and the DPH and remedial and corrective 

Page 891



 
 

interventions are instigated when necessary.  Escalation procedures are 
in place in the event the DPH needs to raise concerns. There have 
been some challenges this year in relation to the seasonal flu 
vaccination programme.  Furthermore, the reporting of antenatal and 
newborn screening needs to be resolved. 

88 There remain areas for potential improvement across screening and 
immunisation services, Communicable disease control and outbreaks, 
Strategic regulation intervention, and Preparedness and response to 
incidents and emergencies.  This includes understanding and 
addressing variation in access to services by sociodemographic 
characteristics. Monitoring towards achievement of the identified actions 
will be undertaken by the HPADG and using the health protection 
scorecard. The HPADG meets quarterly and reports to the HWB. 

Background papers 

• None 

Other useful documents 

• None 

Contact:   Amanda Healy, Director of Public Health  

  Tel: 03000 264323 

    

Page 892



 
 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

 
Legal Implications 
Section 2B NHS Act 2006 places a duty on each local authority to take such 
steps as it considers appropriate for improving the health of the people in its 
area. 
The steps that may be taken include: 
providing information and advice; providing services or facilities designed to 
promote healthy living;  providing services or facilities for the prevention, 
diagnosis or treatment of illness; providing financial incentives to encourage 
individuals to adopt healthier lifestyles;  providing assistance (including 
financial assistance) to help individuals to minimise any risks to health arising 
from their accommodation or environment; providing or participating in the 
provision of training for persons working or seeking to work in the field of 
health improvement; making available the services of any person or any 
facilities; providing grants or loans (on such terms as the local authority 
considers appropriate). 
 

Finance 
Funding for the staff flu vaccination programme comes from the Public Health 
(health protection) budget. 

 
Consultation 
There is no requirement for consultation in relation to this report. 

 
Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 
There are no implications in relation to the Public Sector Equality Duty in 
relation to this report. 

Climate Change 

Exposure to potential harms arising from the effects of climate change would 

fall within the umbrella of health protection, for example severe weather 

patterns. 

Human Rights 
This report has no implications for human rights. 

 
Crime and Disorder 
This report has no implications for crime and disorder. 

 
Staffing 
This report has no implications for staffing. 

 

Page 893



 
 

Accommodation 
Not applicable. 

 
Risk 
No risks are identified for the Council. 

 
Procurement 
Not applicable. 
  

Page 894



 
 

 

Appendix 2:  Health protection scorecard 

 

See attached. 

 

Page 895



This page is intentionally left blank



Health Protection performance scorecard Durham County Council 04/06/19

Significantly worse than England
Not significantly different to England
Significantly better than England

-

No. Measure

N 2.19 - Cancer diagnosed at early stage (experimental statistics) % 2017     1,171 49.3% 52.4% 52.2%

N C24a - Cancer screening coverage - breast cancer % 2018   49,295 77.8% 77.0% 74.9%

Y C24b - Cancer screening coverage - cervical cancer (25 - 49 years) % 2019   62,576 76.7% 74.2% 69.8%

Y C24c - Cancer screening coverage - cervical cancer (50 - 64 years) % 2019   38,824 77.3% 76.3% 76.2%

N C24d - Cancer screening coverage - bowel cancer % 2018   53,245 61.1% 60.4% 59.0%

N C25a - Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm Screening - Coverage % 2017/18     2,616 83.2% 82.3% 80.8%

N C25b – Diabetic eye screening - uptake  (%) % 2017/18 - - 84.1% 82.7%

N C25d - Infectious Diseases in Pregnancy Screening – HIV Coverage  (%) % 2017/18 - - 99.5% 99.6%

Y C25e - Infectious Diseases in Pregnancy Screening – Syphillis Coverage  (%) % 2017/18 - - 99.5% 99.5%

Y C25f - Infectious Diseases in Pregnancy Screening – Hepatitis B Coverage  (%) % 2017/18 - - 99.6% 99.5%

N C25g - Sickle Cell and Thalassaemia Screening – Coverage  (%) % 2017/18 - - 99.5% 99.6%

N C25h - Newborn Blood Spot Screening – Coverage  (%) % 2017/18 - - 98.6% 96.7%

N C25i - Newborn Hearing Screening – Coverage  (%) % 2017/18 4,912 99.5% 99.0% 98.9%

N C25j - Newborn and Infant Physical Examination Screening – Coverage  (%) % 2017/18 - - 94.5% 95.4%

Health Protection scorecard - November 2019
Significance not tested
No sub-regional data available

Recent 
trend

Measure Period England
County Durham

Indicator
Data updated 
since previous 
scorecard?

Above national goal
Close to national goal
Below national goal

Sc
re

en
in

g

North 
East

1

P
age 897



Health Protection performance scorecard Durham County Council 04/06/19

No. Measure

Recent 
trend

Measure Period England
County Durham

Indicator
Data updated 
since previous 
scorecard?

North 
East

12 months          

Y D03b - Population vaccination coverage - Hepatitis B (1 year old) % 2018/19 - 100% - -

Y D03c - Population vaccination coverage - Dtap / IPV / Hib (1 year old) % 2018/19     4,958 95.4% 92.1%
<90% 90% to 95%  ≥95%

3.03iv - Population vaccination coverage - MenC ** From 1st July 2016 the dose of MenC offered at 3 months is to be 
discontinued and so the 1 year evaluation 3.03iv indicator will become obsolete within the next two years (data for 2016/17 will be 
the last collection) **

<90% 90% to 95%  ≥95%
D03f - Population vaccination coverage - PCV (1 year old) %

<90% 90% to 95%  ≥95%

Y D03g - Population vaccination coverage - Hepatitis B (2 years old) % 2018/19 - 100% - -

D03h - Population vaccination coverage - Dtap / IPV / Hib (2 years old) % 2018/19
<90% 90% to 95%  ≥95%

D03m - Population vaccination coverage - Hib / MenC booster (2 years old) % 2018/19 94.7% 90.4%
<90% 90% to 95%  ≥95%

D03k - Population vaccination coverage - PCV booster (2 years old) % 2018/19 94.7% 90.2%
<90% 90% to 95%  ≥95%

D03j - Population vaccination coverage - MMR for one dose (2 years old) % 2018/19 94.5% 90.3%
<90% 90% to 95%  ≥95%

D03l - Population vaccination coverage - Flu (2-3 years old) % 2018/19 4,874 44.4 44.9%
<40% 40% to 65% >65%

D04b - Population vaccination coverage - MMR for one dose (5 years old) % 2018/19 96.6% 94.5%
<90% 90% to 95%  ≥95%

3.03vi - Population vaccination coverage - Hib / Men C booster (5 years old) % 2017/18 95.1% 92.4%
<90% 90% to 95%  ≥95%

D04c - Population vaccination coverage - MMR for two doses (5 years old) % 2018/19 91.4% 86.4%
<90% 90% to 95%  ≥95%

D04e - Population vaccination coverage - HPV vaccination coverage for one dose (females 12-13 years old)  % 2017/18 85.5% 86.9%
                                                       <80% 80% to 90% ≥90%

D04f - Population vaccination coverage - HPV vaccination coverage for two doses (females 13-14 years old) % 2017/18 85.5% 83.8%
                                                        <80% 80% to 90% >90%

N Persons entering substance misuse treatment - Percentage of eligible persons completing a course of hepatitis B vacc 2016/17 32 3.6% 6.0% 8.1%

D05 - Population vaccination coverage - Flu (at risk individuals) % 2018/19 33,857 49.0% 49.2%
<55% ≥55%

D06a - Population vaccination coverage - Flu (aged 65+) % 2018/19 78,105 71.4% 73.1% 72.0%
<75% %≥75% 

D06b - Population vaccination coverage - PPV (aged 65+) % 2017/18 37,998 70.2% 71.0% 69.5%

<65% 65% to 75% ≥75%
D06c - Population vaccination coverage - Shingles vaccination coverage (70 years old) % 2017/18 3,513 47.6% 45.0% 44.4% No trend

<50% 50% to 60% ≥60%

N

Y

Y

N

N

N

Y

Y

Y

Y

N

Y

N

Y

Y

Y

89.7%    2,487 

97.2%

96.4%    5,077 

    5,315 

    5,318 

    5,298 

97.5%

    2,325 87.9%

48.0%

97.3%

*98.7% 97.8%

2-3 years

    5,164 

    5,768 

97.5%

97.1%

98.8%    5,386 

92.8%95.7%97.4%    4,964 

Im
m

s 
an

d 
Va

cc
s

5 years 

Other Children and young people

Other   

    5,399 2015/16%

2018/19

94.2%96.7%

24 months          

44.0%

98.1%

2

P
age 898



Health Protection performance scorecard Durham County Council 04/06/19

No. Measure

Recent 
trend

Measure Period England
County Durham

Indicator
Data updated 
since previous 
scorecard?

North 
East

D02a - Chlamydia detection rate / 100,000 aged 15-24 R/100,000 2018 980 1504 1815 1975
<1,900 1,900 to 2,300 ≥2,300

N D02b - All new STI diagnoses (exc Chlamydia aged <25) / 100,000 R/100,000 2018 1944 586 640 851

N Gonorrhoea diagnosis rate per 100,000 population R/100,000 2018 288 55 66.5 98.5

N Syphilis diagnoses rate per 100,000 population R/100,000 2018 32 6.1 9.3 13.1

D07 - HIV late diagnosis (%) R/100,000 2016-18 20 33.3% 42.9 42.5

≥50% 25% to 50% <25%
N Legionnaire’s disease confirmed incidence rate / 100,000 R/100,000 2016 3 0.57 0.53 0.61
Y Typhoid and paratyphoid confirmed incidence rate / 100,000 R/100,000 2018 2 38.0% 0.15 0.61
N D08b - TB incidence (three year average) R/100,000 2016-18 31 2 4.4 9.2
N 3.05i - Treatment completion for TB (%)* % 2017 4 50 74.7 84.7
N Measles (reported cases confirmed, Year to date) R/100,000 Q2 2018 0 0 0.15 -
N Measles new diagnosis rate R/100,000 2018 1 0.2 0.5 1.7
N Mumps (confirmed cases,quarterly number and annualised rates) R/100,000 Q2 2019 14 10.4 1.3 -
N Whooping cough (confirmed cases,quarterly number and annualised rates) R/100,000 Q2 2019 6 4.55 3.31 -
N Rubella (confirmed cases, year to date) R/100,000 Q2 2019 0 0 0 - No trend
N Meningococcal Infection (confirmed cases,quarterly number and annualised rates) R/100,000 Q2 2019 1 0.76 1.2 -
N Scarlet Fever (all notifications) R/100,000 Q2 2019 20 15.2 27.2 -
N Haemophilus Influenzae Type B (HiB) R/100,000 Q2 2019 0 0 0 -
N Non-typhoidal Salmonella (incidence) R/100,000 2017 92 17.6 16.6 15.7
N Quarterly Salmonella Enteritidis (incidence) R/100,000 Q2 2019 5 3.8 3.2 -
N Quarlerly Salmonella Typhimurium (incidence) R/100,000 Q2 2019 5 3.8 1.8 -
N Quarterly Salmonella other (incidence) R/100,000 Q2 2019 9 6.8 5.7 -
N Campylobacter (incidence) R/100,000 2017 689 132 123 97

N Quarterly Campylobacter (incidence) R/100,000 Q2 2019 168 127.5 126.7 -

N Cryptosporidium (incidence) R/100,000 2017 75 14.4 10.4 7.3
N Quarterly Cryptosporidium (incidence) R/100,000 Q2 2019 11 8.3 4.7 -
N Giardia (incidence) R/100,000 2017 35 6.7 11.9 8.5
N Quartlerly Giardia (incidence) R/100,000 Q2 2019 10 7.6 8.6 -

N STEC serogroup O157 (incidence) R/100,000 2017 10 1.9 1 1

Se
xu

al
 h

ea
lth

Y

N

In
fe

ct
io

us
 d

is
ea

se
s

3

P
age 899



Health Protection performance scorecard Durham County Council 15/11/2018

Indicator STP England

Count Value Count Value Value Value

Y All C. difficile rates by CCG and financial year R/100,000 2018/19 48 19.3 60 21.9 28.8 22

Y All MRSA bacteraemia rates by CCG and financial year R/100,000 2018/19 3 1.2 2 0.7 1 1.4

N CCG-assigned MRSA rates by CCG and financial year R/100,000 2016/17 1 0.4 3 1.1 0.57 0.4

Y All MSSA bacteraemia rates by CCG and financial year R/100,000 2018/19 50 20.1 59 21.5 27.7 21.8

N Trust-assigned MRSA counts by CCG and financial year R/100,000 2016/17 3 3 4 4 - 315

N Third party-assigned MRSA counts by CCG and financial year R/100,000 2016/17 0 0 0 0 - 276

Y All E. coli bacteraemia rates by CCG and financial year R/100,000 2018/19 180 72.3 301 109.6 104.7 77.7

N Counts and 12-month rolling rates of C. difficile infection, by CCG and month R/100,000 Sep-18 8 20.2 8 22.2 28.7 23.8

N Counts and 12-month rolling rates of all MRSA bacteraemia cases, by CCG and month R/100,000 Sep-18 0 2 0 0.7 1.2 1.5

N Counts and 12-month rolling rates of MSSA bacteraemia cases, by CCG and month R/100,000 Sep-18 4 17.4 6 20.4 27.9 21.7

N Counts and 12-month rolling rates of E. coli bacteraemia by CCG and month R/100,000 Sep-18 17 71.1 22 91 101 76.2

N Counts and 12-month rolling rates of hospital-onset E. coli bacteraemia, by CCG and month R/100,000 Sep-18 8 17.1 3 10.1 20.1 13.8

N Counts and 12-month rolling rates of community-onset E. coli bacteraemia, by CCG and month R/100,000 Sep-18 14 61 17 73.9 81 62.4

H
ea

lth
 C

ar
e 

Ac
qu

ire
d 

In
fe

ct
io

n
Durham Dales, 
Easington And 
Sedgefield CCG

North Durham CCG
North 

Durham 
recent 
trend

DDES 
recent 
trend

PeriodMeasure

Data 
updated 
since 
previous 
scorecard?

4

P
age 900



Document is Restricted

Page 901

Agenda Item 17
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 915

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 1075

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 1097

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 1127

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 1173

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 1219

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 1275

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 1287

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 1291

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 1303

Agenda Item 18
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 1319

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 1325

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the meeting held on 11 December 2019
	4 Selective Licensing Scheme - Report of Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local Services [Key Decision: REAL/05/19]
	4 Selective Licensing Evidence 2 Report
	4 Selective Licensing Evidence 3 Appendix A - The data
	4 Selective Licensing Evidence 4 Appendix B - Schedule 4
	4 Selective Licensing 5 EIA

	5 Leisure Transformation - Report of Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local Services [Key Decision: REAL/11/19]
	Leisure A Appendix 2 Physical-Activity-A-Social-Solution-2017
	1 Appendix 3a
	1 Appendix 3b active-lives-adult-november-17-18-report
	1 Appendix 4 ALS DURHAM - Stage 2 Condition Review costs
	1 Appendix 5 Durham CC_Social Value analysis_v3.0_4global_120819
	1 Appendix 6 Sport England Facilities Planning Model Sports Halls
	1 Appendix 6a
	1 Appendix 7 Alliance Leisure - UK Leisure Framework Process Summary
	1 Appendix 8 -  LFFP DCFA

	6 Roads and Street Works Permit Scheme - Report of Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local Services [Key Decision: REAL/10/19]
	7 High Needs Block Funding for SEND and Inclusion Support - Joint Report of Corporate Director of Children and Young People's Services and Corporate Director of Resources
	8 Council Activity Report - Report of Chief Executive
	9 Local Lettings Agency - Report of Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local Services
	10 County Durham Enhanced Engagement with Children and Young People - Report of Corporate Director of Children and Young People's Services
	11 WASPI Concessionary Travel Scheme - Report of Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local Services
	12 Environment and Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny committee's review of Durham County Council's proposed allotment policy - Report of Corporate Director of Resources
	12 Review OandS Report App 2
	12 Review OandS Report App 3

	13 Humanitarian Support in County Durham - Report of Corporate Director of Adult and Health Services
	14 Health Protection Assurance Annual Report 2018-19 - Joint Report of Corporate Director of Adult and Health Services and Director of Public Health
	14 Health Protection Appendix

	17 Leisure Transformation - Report of Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local Services [Key Decision: REAL/11/19]
	17 Appendix 2 Alliance Leisure - Phase 1 report
	17 Leisure Report B phase 1 Appendix 2 - Durham Catchment Assessment Report
	17 Leisure Report B phase 1 Appendix 4 - Durham Competitor Analysis Summary Report 180618
	17 Leisure Report B phase 1 Appendix 7 - Durham County Sports Halls National Run Report 28 August 2018
	17 Leisure Report B phase 1  Appendix 8 -  Durham County Swimming Pools National Run Report 28 Aug 2018
	17 Appendix 3 a DURHAM - Leisure Prospectus Stage 2 Design Feasibility
	17 appendix 3 b ALS DURHAM - Stage 2 Indicative Capital Investment Summary
	17 Appendix 3 c ALS DURHAM - Stage 2 Combined Summary
	17 Appendix 3 d ALS DURHAM - Stage 2 Condition Review (003)

	18 North East First Credit Union Financial Support - Joint Report of Corporate Director of Resources and Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local Services [CORP/R/20/01]
	18 NEFCU Appendix 2
	18 NEFCU Appendix 3


